
 

 
County Hall, New Road, Oxford, OX1 1ND 

www.oxfordshire.gov.uk  Media Enquiries 01865 323870 
 

 
To: Members of the Cabinet 

 

Notice of a Meeting of the Cabinet 
 

Tuesday, 21 September 2021 at 2.00 pm 
 

County Hall, New Road, Oxford OX1 1ND 
 

Please note that Council meetings are currently taking place in-person (not virtually) with 
Covid-safety measures at the venue.  Meetings will continue to be live-streamed and 

those who wish to view them are strongly encouraged to do so online to minimise the risk 

of Covid-19 infection. 
 

If you wish to view proceedings, please click on this Live Stream Link.  However, that will 
not allow you to participate in the meeting. 

 

If you still wish to attend this meeting in person, you must contact the Committee Officer 
by 9am four working days before the meeting and they will advise if you can be 

accommodated at this meeting and of the detailed Covid-19 safety requirements for all 
attendees. 

 
Please note that in line with current government guidance all attendees are 

strongly encouraged to take a lateral flow test in advance of the meeting. 

 
 

 
Membership 

Councillors 
 

Liz Leffman Leader of the Council 

Liz Brighouse OBE Deputy Leader of the Council 

Glynis Phillips Cabinet Member for Corporate Services 

Neil Fawcett Cabinet Member for Community Services & Safety 

Dr Pete Sudbury Cabinet Member for Climate Change Delivery & 
Environment 

 
Yvonne Rees  
Chief Executive September 2021 

  
Committee Officer: Colm Ó Caomhánaigh 

Tel: 07393 001096; E-Mail: 
colm.ocaomhanaigh@oxfordshire.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack

http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/
https://oxon.cc/Cabinet21092021


 

Tim Bearder Cabinet Member for Highways Management 

Duncan Enright Cabinet Member for Travel & Development Strategy 

Calum Miller Cabinet Member for Finance 

Jenny Hannaby Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care 

Mark Lygo Cabinet Member for Public Health & Equality 

 
The Agenda is attached.  Decisions taken at the meeting 

will become effective at the end of the working day on Wednesday 29 September 2021  
unless called in by that date for review by the appropriate Scrutiny Committee. 

Copies of this Notice, Agenda and supporting papers are circulated 
to all Members of the County Council. 

 

Date of next meeting: 19 October 2021 
 



 

 

 

Declarations of Interest 
 
The duty to declare….. 

Under the Localism Act 2011 it is a criminal offence to 
(a) fail to register a disclosable pecuniary interest within 28 days of election or co-option (or re-

election or re-appointment), or 
(b) provide false or misleading information on registration, or 
(c) participate in discussion or voting in a meeting on a matter in which the member or co-opted 

member has a disclosable pecuniary interest. 

Whose Interests must be included? 

The Act provides that the interests which must be notified are those of a member or co-opted 
member of the authority, or 

 those of a spouse or civil partner of the member or co-opted member; 

 those of a person with whom the member or co-opted member is living as husband/wife 
 those of a person with whom the member or co-opted member is living as if they were civil 

partners. 
(in each case where the member or co-opted member is aware that the other person has the 
interest). 

What if I remember that I have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest during the Meeting?. 

The Code requires that, at a meeting, where a member or co-opted member has a disclosable 
interest (of which they are aware) in any matter being considered, they disclose that interest to 
the meeting. The Council will continue to include an appropriate item on agendas for all 
meetings, to facilitate this. 

Although not explicitly required by the legislation or by the code, it is recommended that in the 
interests of transparency and for the benefit of all in attendance at the meeting (including 
members of the public) the nature as well as the existence of the interest is disclosed. 

A member or co-opted member who has disclosed a pecuniary interest at a meeting must not 
participate (or participate further) in any discussion of the matter; and must not participate in any 
vote or further vote taken; and must withdraw from the room. 

Members are asked to continue to pay regard to the following provisions in the code that “You 
must serve only the public interest and must never improperly confer an advantage or 
disadvantage on any person including yourself” or “You must not place yourself in situations 
where your honesty and integrity may be questioned…..”. 

Please seek advice from the Monitoring Officer prior to the meeting should you have any doubt 
about your approach. 

List of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests: 
Employment (includes“any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit 
or gain”.), Sponsorship, Contracts, Land, Licences, Corporate Tenancies, Securities. 

 
For a full list of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and further Guidance on this matter please see 
the Guide to the New Code of Conduct and Register of Interests at Members’ conduct guidelines. 
http://intranet.oxfordshire.gov.uk/wps/wcm/connect/occ/Insite/Elected+members/ or contact 
Glenn Watson on 07776 997946 or glenn.watson@oxfordshire.gov.uk for a hard copy of the 

document.  

 
 

If you have any special requirements (such as a large print version of 
these papers or special access facilities) please contact the officer 
named on the front page, but please give as much notice as possible 
before the meeting. 

http://intranet.oxfordshire.gov.uk/wps/wcm/connect/occ/Insite/Elected+members/
mailto:glenn.watson@oxfordshire.gov.uk


 

 

 

AGENDA 
 
 

1. Apologies for Absence  
 

2. Declarations of Interest  
 

 - guidance note opposite 
 

3. Minutes (Pages 1 - 22) 
 

 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 20 July 2021 (CA3a) and resumed on 
30 July 2021 (CA3b) and to receive information arising from them. 

 

4. Questions from County Councillors (Pages 23 - 24) 
 

 Any county councillor may, by giving notice to the Proper Officer by 9 am two working 
days before the meeting, ask a question on any matter in respect of the Cabinet’s 

delegated powers. 
 
The number of questions which may be asked by any councillor at any one meeting is 

limited to two (or one question with notice and a supplementary question at the 
meeting) and the time for questions will be limited to 30 minutes in total. As with 

questions at Council, any questions which remain unanswered at the end of this item 
will receive a written response. 
 

Questions submitted prior to the agenda being despatched are shown below and will be 
the subject of a response from the appropriate Cabinet Member or such other councillor 

or officer as is determined by the Cabinet Member, and shall not be the subject of 
further debate at this meeting. Questions received after the despatch of the agenda, but 
before the deadline, will be shown on the Schedule of Addenda circulated at the 

meeting, together with any written response which is available at that time. 
 

5. Petitions and Public Address  
 

 Currently council meetings are taking place in-person (not virtually) with Covid-safety 
measures operating in the venues.  However, members of the public who wish to speak 

at this meeting can attend the meeting ‘virtually’ through an online connection.  While 
you can ask to attend the meeting in person, you are strongly encouraged to attend 
‘virtually’ to minimise the risk of Covid-19 infection. 

 
Please also note that in line with current government guidance all attendees are 

strongly encouraged to take a lateral flow test in advance of the meeting. 
 
Normally requests to speak at this public meeting are required by 9 am on the day 

preceding the published date of the meeting. However, during the current situation and 



- 2 - 
 

 

to facilitate these new arrangements we are asking that requests to speak are 
submitted by no later than 9am four working days before the meeting i.e. 9 am on 
Wednesday 15 September 2021.  Requests to speak should be sent to 

colm.ocaomhanaigh@oxfordshire.gov.uk .  You will be contacted by the officer 
regarding the arrangements for speaking. 

 
If you ask to attend in person, the officer will also advise you regarding Covid-19 safety 
at the meeting.  If you are speaking ‘virtually’, you may submit a written statement of 

your presentation to ensure that if the technology fails, then your views can still be 
taken into account. A written copy of your statement can be provided no later than 9 am 

2 working days before the meeting. Written submissions should be no longer than 1 A4 

sheet.  
 

6. Business Management & Monitoring Report - July 2021 (Pages 25 - 
116) 

 

 Cabinet Member: Cabinet Member for Finance 
Forward Plan Ref: 2021/048 

Contact: Louise Tustian, Head of Insight & Corporate Programmes Tel: 07741 
607452/Kathy Wilcox, Chief Accountant Tel: 07788 302163 
 

Report by Corporate Director Customers & Organisational Development and Director of 
Finance. 

 
This report sets out Oxfordshire County Council’s (OCC’s) progress towards the 
Corporate Plan priorities for 2021/22 – July 2021. This Cabinet report will concentrate 

on the latest performance and risk position (July 21). 
 
Cabinet is RECOMMENDED: 
 
a) To note July business management and monitoring report. 

 
b) To approve virements set out in Annex 2b which include transferring £1m 

from the Covid-19 reserve to fund relevant expenditure within the 
directorates as set out in Annex C paragraph 72. 

 

c) To approve the revised Music Service fees and charges as set out in Annex 
C paragraph 85 and Annex C-5. 

 

7. Workforce Report and Staffing Data - Quarter 1 - April - July 2021 
(Pages 117 - 132) 

 

 Cabinet Member: Corporate Services 
Forward Plan Ref: 2021/049 
Contact: Sarah Currell, HR Manager – Business Systems Tel: 07867 467793 

 
Report by Corporate Director Customers, Organisational Development & Resources 
(CA7). 

 
Quarterly staffing report providing details of key people numbers and analysis of main 

mailto:colm.ocaomhanaigh@oxfordshire.gov.uk


- 3 - 
 

 

changes since the previous report. 
 
The Cabinet is RECOMMENDED to note the report. 

 

8. Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Reg 18 (Stage 2) Consultation Response 
(Pages 133 - 352) 

 

 Cabinet Member: Travel & Development Strategy 
Forward Plan Ref: 2021/122 

Contact: Dawn Pettis, Strategic Planning Team Leader Tel: 07771 983395 
 
Report by Corporate Director Environment & Place (CA8). 

 
To seek agreement of the County Council’s formal response to the OP2050 

consultation. 
 
The Cabinet is RECOMMENDED to consider the draft OCC response to the 
Oxfordshire Plan Regulation 18 (Stage 2) consultation and suggest changes to be 
made to the response as necessary. 

 

9. Community Risk Management Plan (CRMP) 2022-2026 - Public 
Consultation (Pages 353 - 380) 

 

 Cabinet Member: Community Services & Safety 
Forward Plan Ref: 2021/119 

Contact: Paul Bremble, Group Manager – Strategic Risk & Assurance Tel: 07990 
780805 
 
Report by Corporate Director, Commercial Development Assets and Investment (CA9). 

 

The 2018 Fire and Rescue National Framework requires each Fire and Rescue 
Authority to produce a publicly available Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP). 
Within Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service (OFRS) we have called this our 

Community Risk Management Plan (CRMP) to make it more meaningful to the public. 
 

Our current CRMP is due to End in March 2022 so the production of a new CRMP has 
taken place which will run from April 2022 to March 2026. The CRMP is subject to 
public consultation which will take place for 12 weeks from 22nd September 2021. 

 
The Cabinet is RECOMMENDED to accept and adopt in the final version the 

Community Risk Management Plan 2022 - 2026, for public Consultation. 

 

10. Voluntary Sector Infrastructure Contract (Pages 381 - 392) 
 

 Cabinet Member: Public Health & Equality 
Forward Plan Ref: 2021/105 
Contact: Emily Schofield, Acting Head of Strategy Tel: 07881 311707/Karina Russell, 

Senior Policy Officer Tel: 07917 921511 
 



- 4 - 
 

 

Report by Acting Head of Strategy (CA10). 

 
To seek approval for a grant agreement for a year in place of the current Voluntary 

Sector Infrastructure Contract, and the production of a wider Voluntary Sector Strategy 
across services. 
 
The Cabinet is RECOMMENDED to: 
 

a) Endorse the development of an organisational Voluntary and Community 
Sector (VCS) Strategy; 

 
b) Approve the recommendation of converting the current VCS infrastructure 

contract into a grant for the next year (2022/23) to enable the development 

of the VCS Strategy. 

 

11. Oxfordshire Street Design Guide (Pages 393 - 540) 
 

 Cabinet Member: Travel & Development Strategy 
Forward Plan Ref: 2020/174 

Contact: Chanika Farmer, Transport Development Control Lead Tel: 07557 082590 
 
Report by Corporate Director Environment & Place (CA11). 

 
Oxfordshire County Council aims to enable Oxfordshire as a whole to become zero-

carbon by 2050. This ambition extends into our role as the Local Highway Authority 
when advising and assessing new developments. The Design Guide presents how we 
can prioritise active and healthy travel through street design in new developments 

meeting our carbon ambitions and that of established transport policy. 
 
The Cabinet is RECOMMENDED to endorse the Oxfordshire Street Design Guide 
for adoption and thereafter publication of the guidance document. 

 

12. England's Economic Heartland (EEH) Governance - Endorsement to 
New Framework (Pages 541 - 554) 

 

 Cabinet Member: Leader and Cabinet Member for Transport & Development Strategy 

Forward Plan Ref: 2021/160 
Contact: James Gagg, Principal Infrastructure Planner Tel: 07776 997303/John Disley, 

Infrastructure Strategy & Policy Manager Tel: 07767 006742 
 
Report by Corporate Director Environment & Place (CA12). 

 
Following discussions with Government and its Members, and in context of the 

emerging Oxford to Cambridge Arc Governance, England’s Economic Heartland (EEH), 
the sub-national transport body for the area which includes Oxfordshire, has produced 
a new governance framework, including changes to the political oversight process. 

 
The Cabinet is RECOMMENDED to 

 
a) Confirm that England’s Economic Heartland (EEH), the sub-national 



- 5 - 
 

 

transport body encompassing Oxfordshire, should be considered as a 
‘strategic’ outside body as per the definitions set out in Table 1 below;  

 

b) Endorse the new full EEH governance framework as set out in Annex 1; 
and 

 
c) Confirm appointment of the leader of the Council to the new EEH Political 

Forum, proposed to be called the Strategic Transport Leadership Board. 

 

13. Watlington Relief Road - Preferred Options and In Principle Use of 
Statutory Powers (Pages 555 - 692) 

 

 Cabinet Member: Travel & Development Strategy 
Forward Plan Ref: 2021/073 

Contact: Marco Assucena, Programme Lead – South & Vale Tel: 07922 849387 / Helen 
Powdrill, Programme Lead - Countywide, Tel: 07554 103476 / John McLauchlan, Head 

of Infrastructure Planning Office, Tel: 07554 103512 
 
Report by Corporate Director Environment & Place (CA13). 

 
Following completion of Stage 0 Options Appraisal Report and consultation, to seek 

acceptance to continue with the design of the identified preferred option.  
 
The Cabinet is RECOMMENDED to 

 
a) Approve the revised alignment route (figure 1) and approve progression 

into Design and Procurement Stage 2 of the project.  
 
b) Approve in principle the use of The Oxfordshire County Council 

(Watlington Relief Road) Compulsory Purchase Order 202[x] in parallel 
with negotiations for private acquisition, with such powers of compulsory 

purchase used only as a matter of last resort. If Compulsory Purchase 
Order (CPO) is required to deliver the project, we will seek further 
approval, subject to the scheme meeting all CPO requirements and the 

paper will be brought back to Cabinet, once the necessary approval has 
been sought, including public engagement on preferred options and 

submission of a planning application for the scheme. 

 

14. Forward Plan and Future Business (Pages 693 - 696) 
 

 Cabinet Member: All 
Contact Officer: Alison Bartlett, Democratic Support Officer Tel: 07741 607515 
 

The Cabinet Procedure Rules provide that the business of each meeting at the Cabinet 
is to include “updating of the Forward Plan and proposals for business to be conducted 
at the following meeting”.   Items from the Forward Plan for the immediately forthcoming 
meetings of the Cabinet appear in the Schedule at CA14.  This includes any updated 

information relating to the business for those meetings that has already been identified 

for inclusion in the next Forward Plan update. 
 



- 6 - 
 

 

The Schedule is for noting, but Cabinet Members may also wish to take this opportunity 
to identify any further changes they would wish to be incorporated in the next Forward 
Plan update.  

 
The Cabinet is RECOMMENDED to note the items currently identified for 

forthcoming meetings. 
 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

CABINET 
 

MINUTES of the meeting held on Tuesday, 20 July 2021 commencing at 2.00 pm 

and finishing at 4.00 pm 

 
Present: 

 

 

Voting Members: Councillor Liz Leffman – in the Chair 
 Councillor Liz Brighouse OBE (Deputy Chair) 

Councillor Glynis Phillips 
Councillor Neil Fawcett 

Councillor Dr Pete Sudbury 
Councillor Tim Bearder 
Councillor Duncan Enright 

Councillor Calum Miller 
Councillor Jenny Hannaby 

Councillor Mark Lygo 
 

Other Members in 

Attendance: 
Councillors Kevin Bulmer, Ian Corkin, Ted Fenton, Nick 

Field-Johnson, Donna Ford, Dan Levy, Michael 
O’Connor, Eddie Reeves 

 
  
Officers: 

 
 

Whole of meeting Yvonne Rees (Chief Executive); Stephen Chandler, 
Corporate Director for Adult and Housing Services; Bill 

Cotton, Corporate Director Environment & Place; Kevin 
Gordon, Corporate Director for Children’s Services; 

Steve Jorden, Corporate Director Commercial 
Development, Assets and Investment; Claire Taylor, 
Corporate Director Customers & Organisational 

Development; Anita Bradley, Director for Law & 
Governance and Monitoring Officer; Colm Ó 

Caomhánaigh, Committee Officer 
 

 

The Committee considered the matters, reports and recommendations contained or 
referred to in the agenda for the meeting, together with a schedule of addenda 

tabled at the meeting and decided as set out below.  Except insofar as otherwise 
specified, the reasons for the decisions are contained in the agenda, reports and 
schedule, copies of which are attached to the signed Minutes. 

 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



CA3a - page 2 
 

 

64/21 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
(Agenda Item. 1) 

 
There were no apologies for absence. 

 

65/21 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
(Agenda Item. 2) 

 

There were no declarations of interest. 
 

66/21 MINUTES  
(Agenda Item. 3) 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 22 June 2021 were approved. 
 

67/21 QUESTIONS FROM COUNTY COUNCILLORS  
(Agenda Item. 4) 

 

The questions received from County Councillors and responses are set out 
in an Annex to these Minutes. 
 

68/21 PETITIONS AND PUBLIC ADDRESS  
(Agenda Item. 5) 

 
The following requests to address the meeting had been agreed by the 

Chair: 
 

Item 10 – Draft Oxfordshire Plan 2050: Professor Richard Harding, 
Chairman, CPRE – The Countryside Charity 

 

Item 13 – A40 HIF2 Smart Corridor: Graham Smith, Cyclox 
 

69/21 A FAIR DEAL FOR OXFORDSHIRE - SHAPING OUR IMMEDIATE 

AND LONGER-TERM PRIORITIES  
(Agenda Item. 6) 

 
Cabinet considered a report setting out the policy objectives and areas of 

priority for the new administration.  The report’s Annex had been updated in 
Addenda 3. 
 

The Performance Scrutiny Committee had met on 16 July 2021 to consider 
this report.  Councillor Eddie Reeves, Chair, summarised the comments from 

that meeting.  He commended the new administration on publishing their 
priorities before the summer. 
 

There had been varied views expressed on the priorities but Members were 
agreed that it will be ultimately judged on its delivery.  There were concerns 

expressed about the financial consequences of the proposals and while it 
was a noble aim to increase the funding available to the Council, the 
administration would inevitably be faced with a series of zero-sum decisions 

Page 2



CA3a - page 3 
 

at some point.  Members could see what was being prioritised but struggled 
to see what would consequently be deprioritised. 

 
Councillor Reeves asked when non-Cabinet Members would be able to 

engage with the further development of the corporate plan.  He suggested 
that the role of Localities be enhanced as a great resource.  Members had 
made the point that there should be more on prioritising children and young 

people. 
 

Some Members of the Committee warned of a danger of consultation fatigue, 
particularly with the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 going into consultation shortly.  
There were also questions about how we make best use of the data from 

consultation. 
 

Decarbonisation was commended across parties but there were concerns 
about how that would be achieved beyond divestment of assets and the LED 
street lighting programme. 

 
Councillor Liz Leffman introduced the report.  She stated that the new 

administration wanted to make its priorities clear and easy to understand.  
These priorities would inform the budget and work towards a fairer and 
greener county.  Councillor Leffman moved the Recommendations. 

 
Councillor Liz Brighouse added that promises made to the electorate in the 

recent Council elections were reflected in the document.  They intended it to 
be a living document and would engage with residents on it.  While it was the 
beginning of a process, the Cabinet had already started to deliver, for 

example by providing over 20,000 places for young people over the summer 
to participate in activities that they would not otherwise be able to access.  

Councillor Brighouse seconded the Recommendations. 
 
Councillor Calum Miller, responding to the scrutiny committee’s questions 

about the next stages, stated that he looked forward to working with 
colleagues to flesh out the proposals and demonstrate how, by aligning the 

resources with the priorities, a programme of change can be delivered. 
 
Councillor Pete Sudbury assured Councillor Reeves that divestment from 

buildings will not be counted as a carbon saving – they will report on like for 
like.  It was also planned to include indirect emissions such as the data 

centre and road maintenance as well as reporting on the effects of Council 
decisions. 
 

The Recommendation was put, including the revised Annex document in 
Addenda 3. 

 
RESOLVED: to 

a) approve the approach to the development of a new strategic 

plan for the period commencing 2022/23, including a 
programme of public consultation ‘Oxfordshire 

Page 3



CA3a - page 4 
 

Conversations’ and stakeholder engagement to take place 
in the autumn.   

b) endorse the priorities of the Oxfordshire Fair Deal Alliance as set 
out in paragraph 6 (and the attached annex) to form the basis of 

these conversations and a new strategic plan. 

 

70/21 BUSINESS MANAGEMENT & MONITORING REPORT - MAY 2021  
(Agenda Item. 7) 

 
Cabinet had before it a report setting out Oxfordshire County Council’s 

(OCC’s) progress towards Corporate Plan priorities for 2021/22 during April 
and May 2021. 
 

Councillor Calum Miller introduced the report and moved the 
Recommendation.  He noted that of the 22 indicators 11 were Green, 4 

Amber and 6 Red which was a small improvement on last month.  He also 
drew attention to two risks rated Red: demand management for children’s 
services and staff shortages in the construction industry. 

 
Planned savings of £16.1m were expected to be delivered in this financial 

year, though it should be noted that 25% were rated amber and needed to be 
monitored closely.  Since the last Cabinet meeting the Government had 
allocated £10.9m to support the Council’s Covid response.  The specific 

recommendations on virements and writing off bad debts were within the 
Council’s budget. 

 
Councillor Glynis Phillips seconded the Recommendations. She noted the 
continuing strong performance of the Customer Service Centre with a 96% 

satisfaction rating and 89% of calls resolved on first contact.  An 
improvement on figures for abandoned calls was expected when new 
features in the system upgrade take effect. 

 
Councillor Liz Brighouse reported on developments in her portfolio including 

the expansion of the School Streets pilot, enabling children to have carbon-
free journeys and a safer environment around their schools.  This was 
supported by Government finance but more was needed. 

 
Councillor Brighouse added that there had been an inspection of the Youth 

Justice Service in May in which it had been seen very positively.  She paid 
tribute to the strong team.  Absence rates in schools were lower than the 
national average which was due to hard work by officers and schools. 

 
The number of contacts to the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) were 

51% higher in May than in pre-Covid times.  This reflected the situation 
across the country and represented a major risk.  The Council was working 
to reduce its dependency on agency staff in children’s social care by training 

its own staff and working to retain them in the county. 
 
RESOLVED: 
  

Page 4



CA3a - page 5 
 

a) To note April and May 21 business management and monitoring 
report. 

 
b) To approve the virement set out in Annex C- 2b and note 

virements set out in Annex C-2c; 
 
c) To approve the bad debt write off set out in paragraph 44 of 

Annex C. 

 

71/21 CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING REPORT - MAY 2021  
(Agenda Item. 8) 

 
Cabinet considered the first monitoring report and Capital Programme 

update for 2021/22, setting out the monitoring position for 2021/22 based on 
activity to the end of May 2021 and providing an update to the Capital 

Programme approved by Council in February 2021 to take into account 
additional funding and new schemes. 
 

Councillor Calum Miller drew particular attention to the increases outlined in 
paragraphs 3 and 4.  The forecast expenditure for 2021/22 had increased by 

£3.4m compared to the latest approved capital programme which was largely 
due to deferred expenditure from the previous year. 
 

The 10 year Capital Programme had increased by £49.2m compared to the 
capital programme approved by Council in February 2021, due equally to 
slippage from last year and new grant funding. 

 
Borrowing for this year was estimated to be £70m some of which was 

borrowed on behalf of others, such as OxLEP.  Councillor Miller thanked 
officers for their prudent management of borrowing in the past.  He referred 
to the recommended additions to the capital fund, in particular, potential 

forward funding for the A40 Access to Witney Scheme ahead of the receipt 
of S106 contributions. 

 
Councillor Miller stated that he was confident that these represented prudent 
capital investments for the Council and moved the Recommendations. 

 
Councillor Glynis Phillips seconded the proposal. 

 
RESOLVED to: 

 

a) agree the inclusion in the Capital Programme of the following 
grants funded schemes: 

i. £1.5m Green Homes Grant programme (Paragraph 27); 
ii. £2.1m Public Sector De-Carbonisation Grant programme 

(Paragraph 28), 

    
b) agree the inclusion in the Capital Programme of the following 

schemes: 

Page 5



CA3a - page 6 
 

i. the New St Edburg’s expansion to 3 Form Entry Primary 
School with a budget of £10.3m funded from s106 

contributions (Paragraph 42); 
ii. the A420 Coxwell Road Junction scheme with a budget of 

£1.80m funded from s106 contributions (Paragraph 44), 
 

c) agree the increase in the budget for the following schemes: 

i. £2.2m for the Benson Relief Road scheme funded from 
Housing & Growth Deal grant and s106 contributions 

(Paragraph 46); 
ii. £0.5m for the Carterton Community Safety Centre funded 

from s106 contributions (Paragraph 29), 

 
d) note the risk that forward funding of up to £7.0m may be required 

on the A40 Access to Witney scheme (Paragraph 48) ahead of 
receipt of s106 contributions, 
 

e) approve the updated Capital Programme at Annex 2 (taking into 
account recommendations 1-4)  

 

72/21 SEND TOP-UP FUNDING FOR SCHOOLS  
(Agenda Item. 9) 

 

Cabinet considered a report recommending that the increase in Top-Up 
funding for 2020-21 be maintained for the academic year 2021-22. 

 
Councillor Ian Corkin, Shadow Cabinet Member for Children, Education and 
Young People’s Services, spoke to support the Recommendation which was 

an extension of the policy of the last administration.  He described the 
problems in this area as complex with a complicated financial backdrop 

across the country.  He paid tribute to the work by the Corporate Director for 
Children’s Services, Kevin Gordon, and his team in trying to resolve the 
situation. 

 
Councillor Corkin suggested that the long-term solution should include 

 strong partnership working in co-production with parents, carers and 
young people at the formative stages of policy development; 

 joint commissioning across education, health and social care;  

 a focus on core processes so that needs can be identified early and 
accurately; 

 a commitment to deliver specialised in-county provision including a 
‘mainstream plus’ option. 

 preparation for adulthood which should include engagement with local 
employers 

 

Councillor Liz Brighouse thanked Councillor Corkin for his support and 
responded that the points he had raised were being examined.  The problem 

was that a solution was needed quite quickly but there would be a 
consultation process in the autumn.   
 

Page 6



CA3a - page 7 
 

Councillor Brighouse added that when the previous administration provided 
the top-up funding, they had envisaged that the government review would be 

complete by now but it had been further delayed.  She asked Councillor 
Corkin to use his network to impress upon government the urgency of the 

matter. 
 
Councillor Glynis Phillips proposed an amendment to Recommendation a) to 

include the amount of the increase - £3.2.  This was seconded by Councillor 
Brighouse. 

 
The following comments from the Performance Scrutiny Committee that 
discussed this Cabinet proposal at its meeting on 16 July 2021 were read 

out: 
 

 Members supported this important provision. 

 The pressure on schools had increased following cuts to other services 

for children with SEN. 

 Training for teaching staff was a key support.  There was a need to 
recognise that fatigue can be a significant factor. 

 What was being done to achieve a more sustainable solution and to 
create more capacity for special needs education within the county? 

 Did the increase in numbers of children with SEN reflect an actual 
increase in need or were we getting better at identifying these needs?  Do 

we need to re-evaluate the criteria? 

 Some schools have a much higher proportion of children with SEN.  
Should the funding allocations take account of that? 

 When it came to looking at reform, schools and teachers were key 
stakeholders that needed to be central to any consultation. 

 
Kevin Gordon thanked the scrutiny committee for the points which were very 

relevant and useful.  He was pleased to see an overall consensus on the 
problems.  He had been working with schools for the last nine months on the 
new approach.  The SEND budgets belonged to schools – the Council was a 

custodian of the funds. He proposed to come back to future meetings with 
more briefings on reforms that will address the points raised. 

 
The amended Recommendations were put to the meeting. 
 
RESOLVED to: 

 

a) Agree an increase of £3.2m in Top-Up funding for Early Years 
settings, mainstream Primary, mainstream Secondary and 
Special Schools. The increase will only be available in the year 

2021-2022.   
 

b) Note that for Secondary Schools, the increased top-up is 
applicable where the formulaic approach is insufficient for 
schools to meet the needs of the child. This decision would not 

reduce the amount of Top-Up funding a Secondary school 
currently receives.  

Page 7



CA3a - page 8 
 

 
c) Note that system reform is required for SEND in Oxfordshire. A 

public consultation on this is planned for later in 2021. The 
interim arrangements above for Top-Up funding are a holding 

position while the detailed work in this complex area are worked 
through.  

 

73/21 DRAFT OXFORDSHIRE PLAN 2050 REG 18 (STAGE 2)  
(Agenda Item. 10) 

 

Cabinet had been asked to agree the process for public consultation on the 
Oxfordshire Plan and further consider the Council’s formal response at the 
September Cabinet meeting. 

 
The following speaker had been agreed with the Chair: 

 
Professor Richard Harding, Chair, CPRE - The Countryside Charity 
welcomed the commitment in the draft to carbon reduction and 

environmental protection.  However, they were concerned that the 
consultation document was not fit for purpose because  

 it did not make clear the tough decisions needed 

 it will let the Oxford-Cambridge Arc proposal dominate 

 it will undermine the role of local councillors. 

 
The draft plan presented a wide range of policies which were to be imposed 

on all the local councils because otherwise different approaches might be 
taken and this could result in less certainty and clarity for developers. 

 
Professor Harding maintained that the public deserved a revised consultation 
document that sets out the preferred growth and spatial options and provides 

adequate information to allow the impacts, risks and benefits to be 
compared.  

 
Councillor Duncan Enright introduced the report.  The plan involved a new 
partnership enabling the County, City and Districts to speak with one voice.  

It would actually reinstate local democratic control.  The main themes chosen 
from public consultation were climate change, environmental quality, strong 

communities, travel, jobs and homes.  Five spatial options were listed for 
feedback.  It was expected that the next stage will draw from all five options. 
 

Councillor Enright stated that the plan took into account the local plans 
already adopted up to the 2030s.  Oxfordshire had been one of the most 

enthusiastic supporters of the Arc and in fact the leaders of the Arc were 
thinking of taking a similar planning approach to Oxfordshire’s in other areas.  
The document was not intended to be proscriptive so this would be a 

genuine consultation. 
 

Other Members of Cabinet made the following observations: 
 

Page 8



CA3a - page 9 
 

 Everyone should get involved in the consultation especially anyone who 

had concerns about the level of growth planned in Oxfordshire. 
 

 The Plan set out what good growth looked like.  However, current policies 

were going in the opposite direction – particularly in regard to carbon 
reduction.  It will be very difficult to set out a plan to 2050 that will meet 

the challenges in this paper. 
 

 Green spaces had provided a lifeline for people during the pandemic 

lockdown.  The Cabinet Member for Public Health will be looking closely 
at the proposals for healthy place shaping. 

 

 The Plan involved a lot of weighty documents.  An executive summary 

would be appreciated.  Members need to engage with their communities 
and parish councils to ensure that we get their views on the questions 
asked and not rely just on the website for feedback. 

 

 Standards need to be prescriptive in the final document and not advisory, 

to ensure that they are effective.  Carbon offsetting should not be 
accepted.  Buildings need to be efficient in themselves and reducing the 
financial drag of energy costs would be a big help to the poorest families. 

 

 Some of the poorest areas did not have parish councils.  We need to 

ensure that their voices are heard. 
 

 There were interesting proposals around market towns but their main 

problem was poor road infrastructure.  Getting old railway lines reopened 
and freight moved off the roads would be of huge benefit to market towns. 

 
Councillor Sudbury seconded the Recommendations.  Councillor Enright 

reminded Members that Cabinet itself would be submitting a response for the 
consultation and that would be discussed at the September meeting. 
 
RESOLVED to 
 

a) Consider and agree the process for the Oxfordshire Plan 
Regulation 18 (Part 2) document for public consultation 
commencing on 30 July; 

b) Further consider the Plan at its meeting on 21 September after an 
all member seminar, with a view to making formal 

representations on the Oxfordshire Plan Regulation 18 (Part 2) by 
the closing date of 8 October 2021. 

 

74/21 A40 ACCESS TO WITNEY - IN PRINCIPLE USE OF STATUTORY 

POWERS  
(Agenda Item. 11) 

 
Cabinet had been asked to approve the preferred option and in principle use 

of a compulsory purchase order for this scheme. 
 

Page 9



CA3a - page 10 
 

Councillor Duncan Enright summarised the report.  The scheme was making 
changes around the periphery of Witney designed to reduce traffic in the 

town and improve air quality as well as making walking and cycling more 
attractive.  He proposed the Recommendations. 

 
Councillor Pete Sudbury referred to the predicted increases in traffic outlined 
in the report and noted that he and his Cabinet colleagues were working to 

turn that around.  He asked if this scheme would still be necessary if they 
were successful in that. 

 
Councillor Enright responded that the need for a scheme similar to this one 
had been identified as long as thirty years ago so it was long awaited. 

 
Councillor Sudbury seconded the Recommendations. 

 
RESOLVED to: 
 

a) Note the progress in developing the A40 Access to Witney 
project specifically the recent public engagement event 

undertaken to inform the preferred scheme options. 
 
b) Approve Officer’s preferred option recommendation and for the 

formal adoption by the Council of the A40 Access to Witney as 
an approved scheme. 

 
c) Approve in principle the development of The Oxfordshire County 

Council (A40 Access to Witney) Compulsory Purchase Order 

202[x] in parallel with negotiations for private acquisition, with 
such powers of compulsory purchase used only as a matter of 

last resort, in order to bring forward the timely development of 
the A40 Access to Witney project. Formal authority for the 
making of The Oxfordshire County Council (A40 Access to 

Witney) Compulsory Purchase Order 202[x] will be reported to 
Cabinet, and necessary approval sought, following public 

engagement on preferred options and submission of a planning 
application for the scheme. 

 

d) Approve the preparation and service of statutory notices for the 

Requisition of Information pursuant to Section 16 Local 

Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (as amended) 

to assist with determining the interests in the land required for 

the delivery of the scheme. 

 

e) Approve the preparation of The Oxfordshire County Council (A40 
Access to Witney) Compulsory Purchase Order 202[x] in draft , 
together with a draft Order Map, draft Order Schedule, draft 

Statement of Reasons and all necessary land referencing activity 
in advance of seeking formal authority to make the Order. 

 

Page 10



CA3a - page 11 
 

75/21 A40 HIF 2 SMART CORRIDOR - PREFERRED OPTIONS AND 

FUNDING  
(Agenda Item. 12) 

 

Cabinet had before it a proposal to approve the scheme, preferred options 
and finding for this project. 
 

The following speaker had been agreed: 
 

Graham Smith, Cyclox and representative of Cycling UK, called for improved 
safety measures for walking and cycling at the Eynsham Roundabout.  The 
original design to widen the approaches had no crossing facilities.  There 

were now Toucans in the East-West directions which were welcome.  
However, consultation showed that safe crossing facilities were needed on 

the other roads.  Officers have said that this was not feasible and suggested 
alternatives but Members needed to take back control and insist that safe 
crossings are provided for walkers and cyclists. 

 
Councillor Duncan Enright responded that the details on the scheme were 

still being worked out and there was still an opportunity to make safety 
improvements at the roundabout. 
 

Other Cabinet Members asked if the crossing was used by children travelling 
to school and if Cabinet would have a further opportunity to ensure that the 

concerns around the design of the roundabout had been taken on board.  
 
Councillor Enright confirmed that the roundabout was used by school 

children and also noted that a medical centre was proposed that would 
require pedestrian and cycling access.  He agreed that it was important to 

provide safe options for the north-south axis at the roundabout and noted 
that there was also a separate proposal for an underpass being examined.  
The scheme was to go for planning approval in September with detailed 

design from October. 
 

Councillor Enright proposed the Recommendations which were seconded by 
Councillor Pete Sudbury  
 
RESOLVED to: 

 
a) Note the progress in developing the A40 HIF2 Smart Corridor 

project specifically the recent public engagement event 
undertaken to inform the preferred scheme options. 

 
b) Approve Officer’s preferred options recommendation and for the 

formal adoption by the Council of the A40 HIF2 Smart Corridor as 
an approved scheme. 

 

c) Note the preferred options are confirmed as fully funded 
following the recent agreement to amend the Grant 

Page 11



CA3a - page 12 
 

Determination Agreement with Homes England, securing the full 
£106.756m budget. 

 
d) To notify Cabinet of the Statutory Blight regime that requires the 

Council to respond to claims for Statutory Blight pursuant to Part 
VI, Chapter II and Schedule 13 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 (as amended) which would be a consequence of it 

formally approving the preferred route. 
 

e) In respect to Statutory Blight delegate authority to the Director 
for Property, Investment & Facilities Management and the 
Director of Law and Governance to agree appropriate terms in 

accordance with statutory provisions. 

 

76/21 FIBRE BROADBAND FOR PUBLIC BUILDINGS  
(Agenda Item. 13) 

 
Cabinet had before it a proposal on awarding a contract to the winning bidder 

of the council’s procurement of full-fibre broadband for public buildings. 
 

Councillor Glynis Phillips introduced the report.  Since 2013/14 broadband 
has been seen as an essential service.  The previous Cabinet went to public 
procurement to provide lower cost broadband for council and other public 

sector buildings.  This report detailed the outcome from that and proposed to 
delegate authority to award the contract.  She move the Recommendation. 

 
Councillor Neil Fawcett welcomed this provision especially for libraries and 
heritage facilities.  The previous year had shown how important digital 

access had become.  He seconded the Recommendation. 
 

Councillor Phillips thanked Craig Bower, Programme Director, Digital 
Infrastructure Team, in particular for his negotiating skills. 
 
RESOLVED to approve delegated authority to the Corporate Director, 
Customers, Organisational Development and Resources, in 

consultation with the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for  Corporate Services 
for awarding a contract to the winning bidder of the council’s 
procurement of full-fibre broadband for public buildings, up to the 

value of £8m (Oxfordshire County Council Funding of £5m and 
Department of Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) funding of £3m). 

 

77/21 DELEGATED POWERS - JULY 2021  
(Agenda Item. 14) 

 

It was noted that there had been no executive decisions taken in the period 
reported April to June 2021. 
 

 

78/21 FORWARD PLAN AND FUTURE BUSINESS  
(Agenda Item. 15) 

 

Page 12



CA3a - page 13 
 

The Cabinet considered a list of items (CA16) for the immediately 
forthcoming meetings of the Cabinet together with changes and additions set 

out in the schedule of addenda.  
 
RESOLVED:to note the items currently identified for forthcoming 
meetings. 

 

It was agreed to adjourn the meeting and consider Item 11 Department for 
Transport Active Travel Fund – Tranche 3 at a time and date to be confirmed 

in order for the Cabinet to obtain more information. 
 
 

 in the Chair 

  

Date of signing   

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 13



 

ITEM 4 – QUESTIONS FROM COUNTY COUNCILLORS 
 

 

Questions Answers 

1. COUNCILLOR DAN LEVY 

 
 

Can I ask Councillor Enright what measures are being 

taken to ensure that any outstanding concerns of 

residents and active travellers are being addressed as 

part of the continuing design of the A40 corridor from 

Shores Green to Wolvercote?  In particular there are 

continuing concerns about   

1. access arrangements at Barnard Gate, so as to 
restrict rat running through South Leigh  

2. the crossings in the section which will be 
between Eynsham and Salt Cross, and which 

will be used by people crossing between the 
two villages, including many schoolchildren, 
people on bikes and other mobility aids, people 

going to the single medical centre covering the 
villages and many others.  These crossings will 

primarily be two stage pelican crossings across 
a dual carriageway.  

3. Arrangements on the cycle routes along each 

COUNCILLOR DUNCAN ENRIGHT, CABINET MEMBER FOR TRAVEL 

AND DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY 
 

1. The current proposals use the southern arm to provide a new service 

road to Ambury Close and Fir Tree Farms (details shown on Annex 
A1 General Arrangement plan within the related Cabinet paper on 

today’s agenda), as the proposals remove the dedicated access to 
these properties from the A40. The current access points to these 
premises will no longer be safe as the scheme proposes a dual 

carriageway arrangement at this location, so traffic will only have a 
“left in-left out” option with a high proportion of large slow moving 

vehicles. 
 
Any closure of this southbound through route would need further 
traffic modelling work to understand diversion of traffic and formal 
consultation with the residents and businesses who use this stretch 

of road before any such decision could be taken. There would also 
need to be a Traffic Regulation Order statutory process. I have 

asked that this be further investigated by officers within the relevant 
Localities Team. 

 
2. It is correct that the project is futureproofed in terms of the level of at 

grade crossing provision which is inbuilt to cater for the new Salt 

P
age 14



CA3a - page 2 
 

Questions Answers 

side of the A40 as it crosses Lower Road and 
the B4449 by Eynsham roundabout, where the 

proposed arrangement has no protection for 
cyclists from fast-moving traffic.  

Clearly we want the A40 changes to work in so far as 

they encourage bus use, but does he agree that we 

also need to ensure that cycling and other active 

travel is encouraged both along the A40 and across it, 

and that there is still work to do to make this a 

reality?  

 

Cross Garden Village and the desire lines which will form to move 
between the two. Design work is ongoing in respect to the effective 

operation of these signalised crossings and how they can be timed 
effectively, during both peak and off peak traffic periods, to ensure 

minimum crossing times for pedestrians and cyclists. Officers are 
also exploring through the design process how these crossings can 
be linked with intelligent technology to limit the impact on the flow of 

the A40 for both public transport and private vehicles. 
 
Officers are developing this next layer of detail for the scheme and 
there will continue to be engagement with those interested 

stakeholders as the design process evolves.  
  
3. The current proposals which have been amended as a result of 

engagement with the various cycling groups and that feedback 
received through the formal public engagement process. They now 

include signal controlled crossings both north and south of the 
roundabout. Details are shown on Annex A2 Sheet 1 General 
Arrangement plan within the related Cabinet paper on today’s 

agenda. 
  

Encouraging modal shift to public transport and walking and cycling is a 
core objective of the A40 HIF2 scheme. The scheme designs as 

presented today provide a step-change in the quality of active travel 
infrastructure along this section of the A40, making the journey for 
walkers and cyclists more convenient and safer. There will continue to be 

P
age 15



CA3a - page 3 
 

Questions Answers 

more work to be undertaken beyond the current stage as the project 
progresses through subsequent stages of detailed design. This process 

will refine the design proposals further, optimising them to ensure best 
use of the Housing Infrastructure and other grant funding the Council has 

secured to deliver this project. 
 

2. COUNCILLOR DAN LEVY 
 

 

 The County Council has agreed to undertake a 

feasibility study for a railway from Oxford to Carterton 

via Eynsham and Witney.  When will this be 

undertaken, and assuming that the feasibility study 

produces a positive result, what measures are being 

taken to ensure that the current expected changes to 

the A40 do not physically prevent building a rail or 

light rail link?  

 

COUNCILLOR DUNCAN ENRIGHT, CABINET MEMBER FOR TRAVEL 
AND DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY 

 

The Council is currently scoping out a proposal to commission a 

feasibility study for an Oxford to Carterton rail line. The output of this rail 
feasibility study will help determine what future proposals for the A40 
corridor and the wider transport network should look like. Nothing in the 

A40 scheme rules a route alongside the A40 out. We are working with 
the Witney-Oxford Transport Group on this proposal and awaiting the 

outcome of a funding bid submitted by the Group to the Government’s 
‘Restoring Your Railways’ fund to accelerate this work.  The A40 
programme would provide significant bus priority and highway 

improvements along this transport corridor with considerable potential for 
integration with rail.  
 

3. COUNCILLOR DAVID BARTHOLOMEW 
 

While reviewing Cabinet papers on Wednesday 14th, 
I noted an error in the Business Management & 

Monitoring Report that the Cabinet Member for 

COUNCILLOR CALUM MILLER, CABINET MEMBER FOR FINANCE 
 

I am grateful to Cllr Bartholomew for his careful reading of the Business 
Management & Monitoring Report and for spotting my oversight. He 

offered at Council last week to be a careful scrutineer of my work and I 

P
age 16



CA3a - page 4 
 

Questions Answers 

Finance had inadvertently overlooked, and advised 
officers accordingly. Would he like to join me in 

thanking officers for the rapidity of their response in 
issuing updated tables on paragraph 21 of the main 

report and paragraph 9 of Annex C later that day? 

thank him for taking up that role so promptly. I am happy to join him in 
thanking officers for speedily issuing corrected tables. 

P
age 17



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

CABINET 
 

MINUTES of the meeting held on Friday, 30 July 2021 commencing at 12.00 pm 

and finishing at 12.20 pm 

 
Present: 

 

 

Voting Members: Councillor Liz Leffman – in the Chair 
 Councillor Liz Brighouse OBE (Deputy Chair) 

Councillor Glynis Phillips 
Councillor Tim Bearder 

Councillor Calum Miller 
Councillor Mark Lygo 
 

Other Members in 
Attendance: 

 
 

  
Officers: 
 

 

Whole of meeting Yvonne Rees, Chief Executive; Bill Cotton, Corporate 
Director Environment and Place; Lorna Baxter, Director 

for Finance; Sukdave Ghuman, Head of Legal; Colm Ó 
Caomhánaigh, Committee Secretary  
 

 
The Committee considered the matters, reports and recommendations contained or 
referred to in the agenda for the meeting, together with a schedule of addenda 

tabled at the meeting, and decided as set out below.  Except insofar as otherwise 
specified, the reasons for the decisions are contained in the agenda, reports and 

schedule, copies of which are attached to the signed Minutes. 
 

 

Page 19



CA3b - page 2 
 

 

79/21 DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORT TRANCHE 3 ACTIVE TRAVEL BID  
(Agenda Item. 1) 

 
Cabinet considered this item from the adjourned meeting on 20 July 2021 

having seen the list of schemes being considered for the bid as attached in 
Annex B. 
 

Councillor Eddie Reeves, Leader of the Opposition, while noting the absence 
of an apology for remarks made by the Cabinet Member for Highway 

Management at Full Council, welcomed the press release the previous day 
announcing the deferral of the East Oxford Low Traffic Neighbourhood 
proposal in order to take stock and have a wider consultation on the impacts. 

 
Councillor Reeves noted the concerns about the consultation which had 

been overseen by the previous administration.  He reminded Members that 
these were trial consultations and the new administration could improve 
them.  He was happy for the Recommendation to be adopted and for a bid to 

be as high as possible but asked that schemes not be implemented until the 
objectors are heard.  There was a need to include other interests such as 

businesses and religious organisations.  He hoped that this administration 
would do better than the last. 
 

Councillor Michael O’Connor, Deputy Chair, Performance Scrutiny 
Committee, gave the comments from that committee’s discussions on the 
Tranche 3 proposal as follows: 

 

 Strongly supportive of the bid and that it should be for significantly bigger 

than previous allocation of £3m 

 Concerns that cycling was getting more attention than walking.  Designs 

should ensure that they are not in conflict. 

 While design of cycle paths was generally good there had been situations 

where they meet roads that the design had not been satisfactory for 
cyclists. 

 Schemes should be in compliance with LTN 1/20 design notes. 

 There has been a focus on the city and larger towns but all of the county 
needed to be considered. 

 Consultations should include all stakeholders and all those affected, 
including across county boundaries. 

 There were concerns about how responses from different stakeholders 
were weighted. 

 We should look at consultations conducted by some London Boroughs as 

exemplars. 

 Consultations should not be solely online. 

 Where schemes are trials, objections should be addressed as far as 
possible. 

 Local representatives at all levels, who know their areas very well, should 
be involved from the beginning. 

 

Page 20



CA3b - page 3 
 

Councillor Tim Bearder responded that he had not intended his remarks at 
Council to be offensive and he apologised to anyone who was offended by 

them. 
 

He agreed with most of the comments from the scrutiny meeting.  Some of 
the difficulties were caused by the very short deadlines imposed by the 
Government.  However, he very much welcomed the Government’s 

announcement of a £338m package for Active Travel and changes to the 
Highway Code giving walking and cycling great priority.  The Council wanted 

to work in harmony with the Government on this. 
 
Councillor Bearder noted that the Government wanted proper assessment of 

schemes and it was in that light that he had deferred a decision on the East 
Oxford Low Traffic Neighbourhood to allow more consideration of the impact 

on blue-badge holders and traders for example. 
 
Councillor Bearder described this proposal as a step-change from the 

previous bids.  The schemes added up to between £10-15m compared to 
£4m for the last bid.  He would have liked to have more consultation and he 

thanked Members, officers and representatives of cycling groups for their 
input in the short time that was available.  He moved the Recommendation. 
 

Councillor Glynis Phillips proposed an amendment so that it reads “to 
authorise officers, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Highway 

Management, to finalise …”.  This was seconded by Councillor Mark Lygo. 
 
Cabinet Members raised other issues as follows: 

 

 Had any new schemes been proposed as part of the request to Members 

for ideas which only closed yesterday? 

 How will schemes be prioritised if the Council was awarded less than the 

full amount being requested? 

 The emphasis on best practice designs was very welcome 

 We should see more social prescribing of walking and cycling from this. 

 Members should champion the schemes in their localities. 

 It was unfortunately that Government did not trust local authorities to 

spend money on this themselves but they have to bid against each other.  
The Council was becoming just a delivery arm of Government. 

 
Councillor Bearder agreed that schemes would have to be prioritised and as 
part of that officers were working with the Department of Transport to see 

which schemes most closely met the criteria for the bids.  New ideas had 
come in and could be added to some existing schemes or in some cases 

would be added to a list for the longer-term.  He agreed to keep all Members 
up to date on the bidding process. 
 

The Recommendation was agreed as amended. 
 

RESOLVED to authorise officers, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Highway Management, to finalise and submit Oxfordshire 

Page 21



CA3b - page 4 
 

County Council’s bid to the Department for Transport Active Travel 
Fund Tranche 3 submission. 

 
 

 in the Chair 

  
Date of signing   

 
 

 
 

Page 22



CABINET – 21 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 

ITEM 4 – QUESTIONS FROM COUNTY COUNCILLORS 
 

 

Questions 

1. COUNCILLOR MICHELE PAULE to COUNCILLOR TIM BEARDER 
 

1. What monitoring is currently being carried out to assess the impact of the Temple Cowley and Florence 
Park Low Traffic Neighbourhood trial scheme on the city council wards of Littlemore, Rose Hill and Lye 

Valley,  & what does this monitoring show to be the scheme’s current impact on vehicle movements 
and air pollution in particular on Hollow Way, Church Cowley Road, Henley Avenue and Oxford Road 
Littlemore?  

2. What criteria will be used to assess the success of the Florence Park and Temple Cowley LTNs? What 
factors will the cabinet member take into account when deciding whether to make the scheme 

permanent? 
 

 

 

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 4



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  CABINET REPORT - 21st September

BUSINESS MANAGEMENT AND MONITORING REPORT 
July 2021 

Report by Corporate Director for Customers and Organisational Development 
and Director of Finance 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

a. To note July business management and monitoring report.

b. To approve virements set out in Annex 2b which include transferring £1m from the
Covid-19 reserve to fund relevant expenditure within the directorates as set out in
Annex C paragraph 72

c. To approve the revised Music Service fees and charges as set out in Annex C
paragraph 85 and Annex C-5.

Executive Summary 
1. This report sets out Oxfordshire County Council’s (OCC’s) progress towards

Corporate Plan priorities for 2021/22 – July 2021. This Cabinet report will
concentrate on the latest performance and risk position (July 21).

Introduction 

2. The Council recognises the importance of timely, accurate and accessible 
performance and budget management information as part of its commitment to 
both transparency and demonstrating efficiency and effectiveness.

3. These monthly business management reports are part of a suite of performance, 
leadership risk and budget documents which set out our ambitions, priorities and 
financial performance. The Corporate Plan sets out the Council’s ambitions for 
the next two years, under our vision for Thriving Communities. It also shows our 
priority activities for the current business year.

4. Our Corporate Plan, Medium Term Financial Plan, Outcomes Framework and 
previous business management reports, can be found on the Council’s website.1-

5. This report summarises performance and risk within these Business 
Management & Monitoring Reports. Further information is provided in three 
annexes:

a. Annex A: Performance July 21
b. Annex B: Leadership Risk Register July 21
c. Annex C: Summary of Financial Position July 21

6. The continuing impact of the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic on the Council’s 
performance can be seen in this report. The majority of officers continue to work 
from home, other than those whose work requires otherwise, in those cases the 
appropriate risk assessments are taken and government guidelines are followed. 
We are proud of the quick and efficient response delivered by our services to 
support our communities and the new regulations given during the pandemic. 

1 Corporate Plan and Medium Term Financial Plan:https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/council/about-your-council/plans-performance-and-policies/financial-plans  
Outcomes Framework and previous reports: https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/council/about-your- council/plans- performance-and-policies/performance-reports 

Page 25

Agenda Item 6

https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/council/about-your-council/plans-performance-and-policies/financial-plans
http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/council/about-your-council/plans-
http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/council/about-your-council/plans-


Progress towards delivery of Oxfordshire County Council’s Corporate 
Plan 

7. Oxfordshire County Council’s vision for Oxfordshire has six priorities which show
our ambitions for the county. Our Corporate Plan specifies outcomes which
describe the changes we expect to see as a result of the Council’s actions.
Performance indicators show the extent to which those outcomes are being
achieved, and in turn measures and targets show progress towards the
indicators. Collectively, this arrangement is called the Outcomes Framework.

8. This year’s Outcomes Framework includes 6 outcomes, 26 Indicators (1 Annual,
3 Quarterly and 22 Monthly) and 98 measures (1 Annual, 12 Quarterly, 85
reported Monthly).

9. Every reporting period, the indicators are given a Red, Amber or Green (RAG)
rating in these reports, signifying whether or not progress is on track. In deciding
RAG ratings, we consider data on current performance and an assessment of
progress.

10. Each month we use snapshot tables to indicate the main areas of change since the
previous report. The report therefore shows that at end of July 2021 the 22 monthly
indicators were rated as follows:

RAG 
July July % YTD YTD % 

Green 12 
 

54% 13 59% 
Amber 5 23% 4 18% 
Red 5 23% 5 23% 

Indicator “OCC19 Children are supported to attend school” is being monitored over the Autumn Term 
starting in September. At present this indicator is not recorded, but frequency and target will be confirmed 
in January 2022. 

11. The information below provides a snapshot of progress towards Corporate Plan
outcomes during July 2021 (latest data and Year to Date position), including some
of our performance highlights. A full account of progress towards our Corporate
Plan priorities is at Annex A. 

We listen to our diverse residents to ensure that we can 
continuously improve our services 
Performance highlights 

• The online training for FixMyStreet Super-User Volunteers continues to progress
well with 5 in July. In addition, we have arranged a Teams demonstration for the
FixMyStreet Super-User system in September for Cllr Bearder and other
councillors. We are continually improving the content of the session with the aim
to simplify the use of the system for the Super User’s.

• During July 6,542 contacts were recorded from all channels, of which, 4,498
contacts (88%) were resolved at first point of contact.

• 95.5% of agreed invoices were paid within 30 days. This Measure includes invoices
processed via the social care finance systems, as well as those paid via the
self-service purchase order process. The social care invoices are processed by

Page 26



OCC's Social Care Payments team and are then automatically passed to the 
corporate finance system (SAP) to make payment; these invoice account for 
20-30% of invoices paid each month. Invoices paid via the self-service portal are 
performing slightly above target and the Social Care invoices slightly under. A 
business process review has been completed with the Social Care Payments team 
and changes to process are being planned to improve the timeliness of their 
processing to bring it up to target. 

Areas for improvement 
• The 2021/22 budget includes planned directorate savings of £16.1m.  £12.1m or

75% are expected to be delivered by year end. £3.8m or 24% are rated amber and
£0.2m or 1% are rated red. Directorates are working to ensure that these are
achieved as planned and updates will be provided in future reports.

The below table illustrates the summary of performance for the indicators
under the priority – We listen to our diverse residents to ensure that
we can continuously improve our services

PERFORMANCE SUMMARY 

OUTCOMES INDICATORS July 
RAG 

Direction of 
travel 

Our services 
improve 

1. Improvement Following Audit or Inspection Green ↔ 

2. Listening to residents Green ↔ 

We deliver value 
for money 

3. The Council is financially resilient Green ↔ 

4. Effective financial management and
governance

Amber ↓ 

We tackle inequality, help people live safe & healthy lives & 
enable everyone to play an active part in their community 

Performance highlights 
• Residents can now rely on a more experienced and well-prepared fire service,

thanks to the knowledge crews have gained while adapting to the challenges of the
recent pandemic. That is the message from Oxfordshire County Council’s Fire and
Rescue Service, described in a new short film, designed to highlight recent
collaborations with other emergency services and showcase new ways of working
over the last year. The film is being used as part of the service’s induction and
training resources. It will also be shared on social media to thank residents and
show the broad range of community safety initiatives offered by Oxfordshire’s
firefighters.

• During July 272 people were sign posted to health services via informal
conversations in libraries. Output remains above target, as library business return
to normal.

Page 27



Areas for improvement 
• In July 74.36% of emergency call attendance were made within 11 minutes and

87.82% were made in 14 minutes. Both short of the 80% and 95% targets
respectively. The service continues to work hard to maintain our response
standards, we are seeing a change in our historical figures due to a change in the
way we report on incident in and out of scope, this is highlighted within the data set
in comparison to last year. Incident attendance times are challenged when identified
as missing the target times - this is complimented by our Resource Management
Team reviewing our appliance availability at key stations and areas on a daily basis
to ensure we have the right resource in the right places. The average response time
for quarter 1 is 8 minutes 30 seconds.

• There were four fatalities on the roads in July: three were distracted car drivers and
the other was a pedestrian struck by a car. The Road Safety Team have been active:
promoting speed awareness at an event at the M40 J8a services and on the A40
around Burford where fire crews had erected 'Fatal 4' signage.

The below table illustrates the summary of performance for the indicators under the
priority – We tackle inequality, help people live safe & healthy lives & enable
everyone to play an active part in their community.

PERFORMANCE SUMMARY 

OUTCOMES INDICATORS 
July 
RAG 

Direction of 
travel 

People are helped 
to live safe and 
healthy lives 

5. Numbers of people helped to live safe and
healthy lives Amber ↓ 

6. Timeliness of emergency response Red ↔ 

We provide services that enhance quality of life and we take 
action to reduce the impact of climate change & protect the 
local environment 

Performance highlights 
• The council’s climate action programme project is one of six finalists in the

Leadership in Responding to the Climate Emergency category of the Municipal
Journal (MJ) Awards 2021.

• A new telephone number (01223 849731) has been launched for Oxfordshire
residents to call for urgent out of hours highways related issues. People can now
report a highways matter to Oxfordshire County Council outside normal office hours
– including evenings, weekends and bank holidays – if there are concerns about it
causing an accident or damaging property. The call adviser will discuss the urgency
of the issue and take appropriate action as required.

• Good weather, easing of COVID-19 restrictions and the start of the holiday activity
programme, resulted in visitor numbers higher than predicted, at The Oxfordshire
Museum, recording 24%. History Service visitor numbers were 20% lower than
predicted, due to COVID-19, reflecting on the take-up of limited seating, but
increased in seat availability and return of casual visitors. August should see a
significant upturn.

Page 28



Official Sensitive Agenda Item 3 

• Young musicians in Oxfordshire have been given special permission to share a
unique virtual performance of John Lennon’s famous 1970s song “Imagine” that they
put together during lockdown. Oxfordshire County Council’s Music Service
approached the ex-Beatle’s estate with the project and were thrilled to be given
permission for their performance which will be shared on social media on July 3 and
will be allowed to remain live until October 3. The video can be viewed here:
https://youtu.be/Yk51u-vmjr8

Areas for improvement 
• In July, a further 309 LED lanterns were installed (as per the programme), raising

the total number of assets now fitted with LED lanterns to 20,799. This means that
35% of the streetlights within the County are now fitted with efficient LED
equipment.

• Most of the waste landfilled is bulky waste from the Household Waste Recycling
Centres (HWRC) and collected from residents by the district councils. Due to the
closure of the HWRCs and suspension of district council bulky collections for a
period at the start of the pandemic landfill dropped to a very low figure early last
year. It then slowly recovered to 3.01% for last year. The forecast for this year
remains uncertain until more data is available. While showing an increase from last
year this is a small proportion of residual waste, over 95% of which continues to
be sent to Ardley ERF for energy recovery. (Data for this measure is reported 1
month in arrears. This is due to complexities of obtaining and verifying data from
numerous sources and ensuring accuracy in the forecasting system that has a high
number of variables.)

The below table illustrates the summary of performance for the indicators under
the priority – We provide services that enhance quality of life and we take
action to reduce the impact of climate change & protect the local
environment.

PERFORMANCE SUMMARY 

OUTCOMES INDICATORS July 
RAG 

Direction 
of travel 

Our quality of life in 
Oxfordshire is enhanced 

8. Condition of highways Green ↔ 

9. Participation in cultural
services

Green ↔ 

Our local environment is 
protected, and climate 
change is tackled 

10. Reduction in carbon equivalent
emissions from OCC’s activities Green ↔ 

11. Reduced carbon impact of our
transport network Green ↔ 

12. Air quality Green ↔ 

13. Household waste re-used,
recycled or composted Red ↔ 

Page 29

https://youtu.be/Yk51u-vmjr8


We strive to give every child a good start in life and protect 
everyone from neglect 

Performance highlights 
• Children Education and Families want to celebrate the educational results of the

children we care for. The young people have worked hard and achieved some great
results. A number received A* results and at least 6 have been accepted by
universities, including Oxbridge entrants. Especially, at a time when learning was
made difficult

• Despite the increase in contacts coming into the MASH, entrants to the social care
system are not growing as the family solutions plus model starts to take hold. The
teams have adult facing practitioners who are working with parents to help address
their needs. This means that children can continue to be cared for in their own
homes and that fewer need higher levels of social care intervention – such as a
child protection plan

• Children across the county are invited to join the Wild World Heroes, Summer
Reading Challenge 2021, at Oxfordshire libraries from Saturday 10 July. The
competition held in partnership with charity the Reading Agency, encourages
children to borrow and read any six library books over the summer. The Summer
Reading Challenge is a great way for children to keep up their reading skills and
confidence over the summer holidays and prevent the common holiday reading dip.

• Children and young people will benefit from an expansion of the holiday activities
and food programme this summer, thanks to a £400,000 investment by Oxfordshire
County Council. The money – made available to the council by the Department for
Education – will fund wellbeing pursuits, life skills and health care initiatives for five- 
to 16-year-olds, such as swimming lessons, bike riding, dental care and hygiene. 

Areas for improvement 
• In the first 4 months of the year the number of contacts to the MASH has been 56%

higher than pre Covid levels. This is being managed by the council funding of 7
additional staff from COVID-19 funds to help manage demand within the MASH. The
additional number of MASH contacts does risk the additional demand moving
throughout the system. The number of cared for children remains above target with
delays in the court system meaning fewer children are leaving the care system. This
increases the pressure on placements and means there are fewer placements for
children entering the care system and moving within it. We would have expected 100
children to have left the cared for system in the last 4 months, but so far only 89
children have left. High caseloads mean workers have less time to work with
individual families. The number of children we cared for remains above target. The
number of children becoming cared for is increasing.

Increasing workload is also affecting recruitment and retention. This is exacerbated
by a national shortage of qualified and experienced social workers in child in
need/protection teams. Traditionally, Oxfordshire has had a good track record of
recruiting and retaining social workers, but national and regional pressures are now
beginning to impact, additional agency teams have been sourced for temporary
periods in order to address bottlenecks of work.

• We are experience difficulties in accessing placements for cared for children, again
this is a national issue of placement sufficiency.  The service is supporting a small

Page 30



number of children in temporary arrangements whilst extensive national searches 
for placements are undertaken  

• Timeliness of Education, Health and Care Plans is below target and has been falling
since October last year. This is being driven by increased demand for Statutory
Assessment. The impact of the increased demand is not only felt within the Special
Education Needs Casework team, but across all teams who help complete the
assessment and who similarly do not have capacity within their services to meet this
demand for statutory assessment.

The below table illustrates the summary of performance for the indicators under the
priority - We strive to give every child a good start in life and protect everyone
from neglect.

PERFORMANCE SUMMARY 

OUTCOMES INDICATORS July 
RAG 

Direction 
of travel 

15. We provide help early on so children are less
likely to be in need Red ↔ 

16. Number of looked after children Amber ↔ 

17. Number of child protection plans Green ↑ 

18. Timeliness completing Education, Health
&Care Plans Red ↓ 

19. Children are supported to attend school N/A N/A 

Indicator “OCC19 Children are supported to attend school” is being monitored over the Autumn Term 
starting in September. At present this indicator is not recorded, but frequency and target will be confirmed in 
January 2022.

We enable older and disabled people to live independently and 
care for those in greatest need 

Performance highlights 
• We are transforming the way we deliver adult social care through the Oxfordshire

Way approach co-designed with our voluntary sector partners.  Our vision is that
‘we want the people of Oxfordshire to live well in their community, remaining fit and
healthy for as long as possible’ and we are working with partners in health, district
councils, voluntary sector and care providers to deliver this vision.

• Within small localities we are working together with our partners as one team to
deliver right support at the right time. We have also started a new conversation
about prevention, looking across the partnership at opportunities to join our efforts
for greater impact e.g. by mapping existing resources and making better use of
research to demonstrate the impact of preventative working. This is already having
a positive impact on people’s lives as more people are being supported in the
community and fewer people are waiting to be allocated a social worker.

• The new £5 million investment from Oxfordshire County Council will go to the
Resonance Supported Homes Fund (RSHF), a social impact investment fund that
helps to provide accommodation for vulnerable groups, such as those with learning

Page 31



disabilities, on behalf of local authorities. Supported living accommodation enables 
people to live in their own homes, with care and support provided on site. The fund 
will help to provide up to an additional 25 support living accommodation units for 
adults in Oxfordshire with care and support needs. 

Areas for improvement 
• We are already planning for winter and ensuring that we can help patients return

home from hospital as soon as possible. Our new Home First service was
established in November 2020 in partnership with Oxfordshire Clinical
Commissioning Group, Age UK, Oxford University and Oxford Health Foundation
Trusts. It is an evidence-based approach to hospital discharges, that aims to
achieve greater levels of independence for people in their own home following a
period of being unwell. Age UK help people return home where they need vital
practical help to return home, such as ensuring there is food in the home and they
actively review the patient lists with the social workers and hospital colleagues.
The Home Service has now helped over 2400 people.

The below table illustrates the summary of performance for the indicators under the 
priority - We enable older and disabled people to live independently and care 
for those in greatest need 

PERFORMANCE SUMMARY 

OUTCOMES INDICATORS July 
RAG 

Direction 
of travel 

Care services 
support 
independent living 

20. Number of people with control over their
care

Green ↔ 

21. People needing social care are
supported to stay in their own home Green ↔ 

We support a thriving & inclusive local economy that 
recovers strongly from the COVID crisis 

Performance highlights 
• In July, twelve enhancements to rural bus services in Oxfordshire have been given

funding to keep operating until April 2022. Oxfordshire County Council will use
£275,000 of its existing Local Authority Bus Subsidy Grant (LABSG) from the
government to provide short-term interim support to the services which would
otherwise have faced withdrawal in August 2021. Three routes are being saved in
full through the interim grant, with the other nine having specific routes, journeys or
days of operation being supported.

• The Fire Protection team is continuing to complete the backlog of fire safety audits.
The Trading Standards team is still doing a lot of work around business
interventions. It is encouraging to see that the ‘Buy with Confidence’ approved trader
scheme has increased its membership and the average overall user score for the
various services sitting at 98.4%.

• 10% of the number of highway trees surveyed within 4-year cycle, was above 8%
target during June. 61% of the planned annual programme for inspecting 72 parishes
has been completed as at end July 2021.

Page 32



Areas for improvement 

• Participation in innovation funding bids or new projects in support of Living
Oxfordshire achieved one new project against the target 2.5 projects per month. this
month (HySPERT), which is the 8-month feasibility project funded by Innovate UK, in
collaboration and led by ULEMCo Ltd. The specialist hydrogen commercial vehicle
company, with Oxfordshire Fire & Rescue Service, Oxfordshire CC, develop a
bespoke hydrogen fuel cell based zero- emission niche vehicle chassis platform. It
will be adaptable for special purpose applications, like fire- pumping appliances and
refuge trucks. The total funding for this project is £356k, with funding for OCC of £87k.

The below table illustrates the summary of performance for the indicators under the
priority - We support a thriving & inclusive local economy that recovers
strongly from the COVID crisis.

PERFORMANCE SUMMARY 

OUTCOMES INDICATORS July  
RAG 

Direction of 
travel 

Everyone has access to 
good homes and jobs 

22. Infrastructure delivery supports growth Amber   ↓ 

23. Number of new homes Amber        ↔ 

Businesses are able to 
grow and develop 24. Support for a strong local economy Red   ↓ 

People and communities 
Have excellent transport 25. Levels of disruption to journeys Green        ↔ 

Risk Management 

12. The most senior level of risk management in the Council is carried out collectively
by the Chief Executive’s Direct Reports (CEDR). CEDR manages the Council’s
“leadership risks” – those risks that are significant in size and duration and could
impact on the performance of the Council as a whole, and in particular on its
ability to deliver its strategic priorities. This may include operational risks
escalated from services to the leadership level due to the potential scale of their
impact.

13. The Council’s Leadership Risk Register (see Annex B) forms the basis of our
COVID-19 risk management approach.

14. The 2021/22 Risk opportunities and management strategy has been reviewed and
refreshed, reflecting on the risks associated with the corporate plan and priorities
of the council. The scoring matrix has changed to a 5 x 5 matrix, further details
included in Annex B.

Page 33



Risk 
Ref Risk Title Residual 

Risk 
Score 

D’tion 
of 

travel 
Latest Update 

LR1 
Demand management - 
Children 

20 High 
Risk ↔ 01/09/2021 - Mitigating actions 

and comments updated 

LR2 
Safeguarding of vulnerable 
children 

15 Medium 
Risk ↔ 09/09/2021 – Potential impact and 

mitigating actions updated 

LR3 
High needs block 
funding 

15 Medium 
Risk ↔ 01/09/2021 - No changes 

LR4 Safeguarding of 
vulnerable adults 

10 Medium 
Risk ↔ 03/08/2021 – No changes 

LR5 Demand management - Adults 12 Medium 
Risk 

↔ 25/08/2021 - Risk manager and 
comments updated 

LR6 Capital Infrastructure Programme 
Delivery 

15 Medium 
Risk 

↑ 
01/09/2021 – Residual score increased, 
mitigating actions and comments 
updated 

LR7 Local resilience, community 
resilience, cohesion 

8 Medium 
Risk ↔ 17/08/2021- No changes 

LR8 Management of partnerships (non- 
commercial) 

6 Low Risk ↔ 06/08/2021 - No changes. 

LR9 Supply chain management 8 Medium 
Risk 

↔ 03/08/2021 - No changes. 

LR10 Corporate governance 2 Low Risk ↔ 17/08/2021 – No changes 

LR11 Workforce management 9 Medium 
Risk 

↔ 18/08/2021 - Comments updated. 

LR12 Organisational Change and 
Service Design 

12 Medium 
Risk 

↔ 18/08/2021 - Comments updated. 

LR13 Financial resilience 10 Medium 
Risk 

↔ 25/08/2021 – No changes 

LR14 Health and Safety 8 Medium 
Risk 

↔ 17/08/2021 - Comments updated 

LR15 
Business Continuity and 
recovery plans 

8 Medium 
Risk ↔ 11/08/2021 – Comments updated 

LR16 Cyber security 12 Medium 
Risk ↔ 18/08/2021 - Comments updated. 

LR17 ICT Infrastructure 8 Medium 
Risk ↔ 18/08/2021 - No changes. 

LR18 

Covid-19. Assurance that the 
Council can maintain and initiate 
new services and support to those 
impacted by the coronavirus 

9 Low Risk ↔ 04/08/2021 – Controls updated 

LR20 Construction, Resources and Skills 
Shortages 

16 High 
Risk ↔ 26/08/2021 – No changes 

Page 34



15. The table above provides a summary of the Council’s leadership risks at 01st
September 2021. Risks are assessed for both their likelihood (on a scale of 1-5) and
their impact if they were to happen (on a scale of 1-5), which are then combined to give
each risk a score. Once all management controls are taken in consideration, each risk’s
“residual score” is recorded. This can be seen in detail in Annex B.

16. There was one score change on the Leadership Risk Register during July, “LR6 Capital
Infrastructure Programme Delivery” has increased its residual score from 10 (Medium
Risk) to 15 (Medium Risk). For further details please go to Annex B Leadership Risk
Register July.

Financial Management 
Summary of the Council’s financial position 

18. This report is the second financial monitoring information for the 2021/22 financial year
and covers the period up to the end of July 2021.  This report is on an exception basis,
focusing on key risk, issues and areas of emerging pressures.

19. The table below sets out the forecast position for 2021/22.  The forecast overspend of
£0.4m reflects the ongoing impact of pressures and vacancies reported within the
directorates at the end of the 2020/21 financial year.  Further detail is set out in the
directorate sections below. Where variations to the budget are reported, management
action is being taken and the forecast is likely to change by the end of the year.

Directorate Latest 
Budget 

£m 

Forecast 
Spend 

£m 

Variance 

£m 

Variance 

% 
Children Services 139.6 140.3 0.7 0.5 
Adult Services 198.5 198.5 0.0 0.0 
Public Health 0.2 0.2 0.0 0.0 
Environment & Place 61.0 62.1 1.1 1.8 
Customers, Organisational 
Development & Resources 

33.3 33.1 -0.2 -0.6

Commercial Development, Assets 
and Investments 

50.3 49.1 -1.2 -2.4

Total Directorate Budgets 482.9 483.3 0.4 0.1 

Corporate Measures -482.9 -482.9 0.0 0.0 
Total Forecast Position 0.0 0.4 0.4 0.1 

20. General Balances at 31 March 2021 were £34.6m and are forecast to be £34.2m by 31
March 2022 and reflect to the current forecast directorate overspend of £0.4m.      This
compares to the risk assessed level of £28.8m for 2021/22 which is equivalent to 6.0%
of the net revenue budget.

21. See Annex C for further details and commentary.

Contact Officers: 
Louise Tustian, Head of Insight and Corporate Programmes – 07741 607452
Kathy Wilcox,  Head of Financial Strategy - 07788 302163

CLAIRE TAYLOR 
Corporate Director for 
Customers, Organisational 
Development and Resources 

LORNA BAXTER 

Director of Finance 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



We listen to our diverse residents to ensure that we can continuously improve our services and 

Status of Indicators 31/07/2021 
OCC01 Improvement Following Audit or Inspection: Status 

OCC02 Listening to residents: Status 

OCC03 The Council is financially resilient: Status 

OCC04 Effective financial management and governance: Status 

Measure Director Portfolio Holder Period 
Actual 

Period Target Status Comment YTD YTD Target YTD 

OCC01.01 % actions dealt with on 
time after external inspection by 
Ofsted, CQC, HMICFRS  

Rob MacDougall Cllr N Fawcett 70% 70% Of the 10 actions agreed, 7 have been completed, we 
expect to close 2 in Q3 and the last in Q4 2022 

65% 65% 

OCC02.01 Proportion of potholes 
reported on FixMyStreet that require 
OCC action  

Bill Cotton Cllr T Bearder 53% 50% This measure indicates how successful the 
FixMyStreet interface is at communicating to the 
public what we will and won't fix in line with our 
Highways Maintenance Policy. 

Total public enquiries recorded on FixMyStreet in 
relation to pothole and other carriageway issues in 
July was 820. 53% are made up of: 
• 243 (30%) now repaired
• 154 (18%) don't warrant immediate action but
have been placed onto our longer-term planning
programme (Dragon, Drainage, resurfacing
programmes)
• 39 (5%) waiting for Milestone to repair

The remaining 47% represents: 
• 189 (23%) did not meet our intervention criteria
• 144 (18%) are still awaiting a decision from
officers
• 32 (4%) were duplicates of other reports
• 19 (2%) were the responsibility of other
organisations

FixMyStreet systems have received several recent 
upgrades. This forms part of wider FMS / customer 
enquiry improvements. Service is also due to create a 
forum with other Councils using FixMyStreet to 
compare metrics and explore differences in 
approach. 

53% 50% 

OCC02.02 Increase the number of 
FixMyStreet Super-user volunteers 
from among members of the public 

Bill Cotton Cllr T Bearder 5 4 The online training for FixMyStreet Super-User 
Volunteers continues to progress well with 5 in July. 2 
of which were unable to attend last month’s training. 
Bookings for August are currently at 3. In addition, we 
have arranged a Teams demonstration for the FMS SU 
system in September for Cllr Bearder and other 
councillors. We are continually improving the content 
of the session with the aim to simplify the use of the 
system for the SU’s. 

16 16 

Annex A- Performance July

P
age 37



Measure Director Portfolio Holder 
Period 
Actual Period Target Status Comment YTD YTD Target YTD 

OCC02.03 Increase resident 
satisfaction with service received 
via calling customer Service Centre 

Mark Haynes Cllr G Philips 48% NA As part of the new telephony platform, introduced on the 
7th June to the Customer Service Centre, there is a new 
online customer satisfaction survey. As part of the 
implementation of the new platform, the CSC are 
currently designing and trialling the new customer 
satisfaction survey and will report against the indicator in 
Quarter 3 onwards 

80% 

OCC02.04 Increase the % of callers 
whose enquiry is resolved at first point 
of contact 

Mark Haynes Cllr G Philips 88% 75% 6,542 contacts were recorded from all channels, of 
which, 4,498 contacts (88%) were resolved at first 
point of contact. 

90% 75% 

OCC02.05 Reduce the % of calls to the 
Customer Services Centre which are 
abandoned by the caller 

Mark Haynes Cllr G Philips 6% 10% During July, the Customer Service Centre received 
12,606 inbound calls, with record up 19%, against 
June, with the abandonment rate increasing, slightly, 
to 6.13% from 6.03%. Registration services remain 
consistent with pre-pandemic levels. Contacts for 
Blue Badge and Concessionary Bus Passes has risen 
by 16.5% compared to June as lockdowns were 
further eased. Contacts for Highway Enquiries has 
risen, by 20.5% compared to June but are still 
down (compared to July 2020, by 13.7%), and calls to 
Adult Social Care increased, by 30% compared to 
June. (and compared to July 2020, they are down 
18.5%). Calls to Children Social Care increased, by 
19% in July, compared to June, however, compared to 
July 2020, they are up 1.5% 

9% 10% 

OCC02.07 Customer satisfaction 
with Registration Service 

Mark Haynes Cllr N Fawcett 90% 90% Slightly lower percentage rate, this month, although 
still on target. Births have an 86% satisfaction 
rate, with Deaths at 90% and Ceremonies at 96%. A 
couple of negative comments, from clients having to 
wait too long for birth appointments; these have been 
reduced, due to the high number of Notice and Civil 
Partnership appointments, which the service is trying 
to accommodate and cope with a big surge in 
ceremony bookings.  Some clients are not happy about 
having to wait longer for death 
certificates arriving in the post. Satisfaction, with 
ceremonies, continues to be high and a couple of 
comments are included below:- 

The staff were amazing. I can't sing their praises 
enough. 
Our ceremony was wonderful, in particular Sandra did 
a brilliant job and many of our guest’s comment 
on how well she did. 

94% 90% 

OCC03.01 Overall forecast 
revenue variance across the 
Council  

Lorna Baxter Cllr C Miller 0.1% 0.0% The overall forecast financial position for 2021/22 is 
an overspend of £0.4m. As set out in Annex C this 
reflects an overspends in Environment & Place 
(£1.1m) and Children's Services (£0.7m) offset by 
underspends by Customers, Organisational 
Development and Resources (-£0.2m) and 
Commercial Development, Assets, and Investments 
(-£1.2m). 

0.1% 0.0% 

NA - -

Annex A- Performance July

P
age 38



Measure Director Portfolio Holder 
Period 
Actual Period Target Status Comment YTD YTD Target YTD 

OCC03.02 Achievement of planned 
savings  

Lorna Baxter Cllr C Miller 75.31 95.00 The 2021/22 budget includes planned directorate savings 
of £16.1m. £12.1m or 75.31% are expected to be 
delivered by year end. £4.0m or 24.69% are rated amber 
and red.  Updates will be included in future reports. 

75.31 95.00 

OCC03.03 General balances are 
forecast to remain at or above the 
risk assessed level 

Lorna Baxter Cllr C Miller £34,200,0 £28,800,000 General Balances on 31 March 2021 were £34.6m and 
are forecast to be £34.2m by 31 March 2022 and 
reflect to the current forecast directorate overspend of 
£0.4m. This compares to the risk assessed level of 
£28.8m for 2021/22 which is equivalent to 6.0% of 
the net revenue budget. 

£34,200,000 £28,800,000 

OCC03.05 Net increase in in-house 
foster placements (excl kinship) 

Kevin Gordon Cllr L Brighouse 5.00 1.70 5 additional foster carers have been approved in July, 
so the net increase in the first 4 month is 6. This 
remains below the expected position for the year to 
date. It remains difficult to attract new carers despite 
a raft of advertising and media coverage and their 
remains a significant risk to the year-end forecast 
which is amber 

1.50 1.70 

OCC04.01 Directorates deliver 
services and achieve planned 
performance within agreed budget 

Lorna Baxter Cllr C Miller 0.1% 1.0% There is a forecast directorate overspend of £0.4m. This 
primarily relates to an overspends on Growth & 
Economy and Children's Social Care offset by 
underspends by Property, Investment and Facilities 
Management and Customer Services.  The 
current position is subject to management action and are 
likely to change by the end of the year 

0.1% 1.0% 

OCC04.02 Total outturn variation for 
the dedicated schools grant (DSG) 
funded services 

Lorna Baxter Cllr C Miller 0.00% 0.00% There is no variance for DSG funded services 
excluding the High Needs Block. 

0.00% 0.00% 

OCC04.03 Use of nonDSG 
revenue grant funding 

Lorna Baxter Cllr C Miller 100.00% 95.00% All non-DSG grants are expected to be spent during 
2021/22.  

100.00% 95.00% 

OCC04.05 % of agreed invoices 
paid within 30 days 

Lorna Baxter Cllr C Miller 95.50% 95.00% This measure tracks invoices paid within 30 days of 
receipt and includes invoices processed via the 
social care finance systems, as well as those paid via 
the self-service purchase order process. The social 
care invoices are processed by OCC's Social Care 
Payments team and are then automatically passed to 
the corporate finance system (SAP) to make 
payment; these invoice account for 20-30% of 
invoices paid each month. 

Invoices paid via the self-service portal are 
performing slightly above target and the Social Care 
invoices slightly under. A business process review 
has been completed with the Social Care Payments 
team and changes to process are being planned to 
improve the timeliness of their processing to bring it 
up to target. 

94.08% 95.00% 

-

Annex A- Performance July

P
age 39



Measure Director Portfolio Holder 
Period 
Actual Period Target Status Comment YTD YTD Target YTD 

OCC04.06 Invoice collection rate - 
Corporate Debtors 

Lorna Baxter Cllr C Miller 94.71% 95.00% This measure identifies the percentage of invoices 
that have been paid by the period 90-120 days; this 
is when all standard recovery effort should have been 
completed and the invoice should have been referred 
to the Corporate Senior Recovery officer if not paid. 

The collection rate remained consistent with last 
month, just below target at 94.7%. However, if we look 
at high value invoice collection rate performance is 
above target at 96.9%. Looking at the value of 
invoices collected the figure is 99.7%; of t h e  
£14.3m invoiced only £0.04m remains outstanding. 

Collection of high value invoices are prioritised to 
minimise potential losses for the council and reduce 
impact of the debtor impairment balance having to be 
topped up at year end 

94.16% 95.00% 

OCC04.07 Debt requiring 
impairment -  Corporate Debtors 

Lorna Baxter Cllr C Miller £423,721 £300,000 £423,721 £300,000 

OCC04.08 Debt requiring 
impairment - ASC contribution 
debtors 

Lorna Baxter Cllr C Miller £3,289,33 £2,700,000 The £2.5m target is a stretch target to be achieved 
by March 22. Analysis of previous years indicates 
bad debt levels tend to rise at the start of the 
financial year and will fall away is latter half of the 
year. At the end of the last financial year £0.13m 
was able to be withdrawn from the impairment 
balance. 

Debt requiring impairment (debt that has potential to be 
unrecoverable) increased this month to £3.3m, 
£0.6m above the current Adult contributions' 
impairment balance. The DRI is £0.4m more this 
period than at the same point in 20-21. As reported 
last month some of the difference is explained by the 
change between this and last financial year in charging 
arrangements for the Covid 19 Hospital Discharge 
scheme; discharges from hospital into new packages 
were funded 100% by Health until September 2020. 

Further analysis is ongoing to better understand 
where the additional debt is occurring. New 
procedures are being introduced in the next period 
which will reduce the number of care recipients who 
are charged a default full cost charge; this will reduce 
emerging debt later in the year. Default full cost 
financial assessments (FA) can lead to over inflation 
of income and debt, it is therefore important the 
process to apply a default FA is robust. The service is 
now monitoring this process. 

The Adults Income team continue to manage a 
backlog of case work linked to the Covid 19 pause 
(April – September 20-21). There are now five 
complex cases referred to legal services, with a value 
of £0.3m, these are in the process of being referred to 
outside counsel for opinion. 

Delays with state systems i.e., Court of Protection, 
Probate Office, house sales and HMCTS continue to 
impact. 

£3,289,339 £2,700,000 

OCC04.09 Average cash balance 
compared to forecast average cash 
balance 

Lorna Baxter Cllr C Miller 530,216,0 428,000,000 Balances are higher than forecast in the original 
budget due to extra grant receipts and higher than 
forecast capital balances 

530,216,000 428,000,000 

Annex A- Performance July

P
age 40



Measure Director Portfolio Holder 
Period 
Actual Period Target Status Comment YTD YTD Target YTD 

OCC04.10 Average interest rate 
achieved on in-house investment 
portfolio 

Lorna Baxter Cllr C Miller 0.48% 0.58% The forecast interest rate receivable was partly 
based on the assumption that short term money 
market rates would be higher for the first 6 months of 
the year. The higher than forecast average cash 
balance also means that we are required to place 
funds with a larger number of counterparties, which 
has resulted in a lowering of the return. 

We are expecting the return to increase as new 
investment products are invested in during the year. 

0.48% 0.58% 

OCC04.11 Average annualised 
return achieved for externally 
managed funds 

Lorna Baxter Cllr C Miller 3.75% 3.75% External fund returns are forecast to be in line with 
budget. 

3.75% 3.75% 

OCC04.13 Invoice Collection Rate  
– ASC contribution debtors

Lorna Baxter Cllr C Miller 89.36% 92.00% The invoice collection rate remained consistent with 
last month, below the 92% target at 89.4%. As in 
quarter one there is a consistent reduction in invoices 
being paid by direct debit when compared to the same 
period last year. Further analysis is underway within 
the Social Care finance team to understand the 
reduction in collection rates and introduce strategies 
to increase uptake of direct debit. Payment by direct 
debit is a proven method of reducing the risk of 
delayed payments. 

89.91% 92.00% 

Annex A- Performance July

P
age 41



We tackle inequality, help people live safe & healthy lives & enable everyone to play an active part in their community 

Status of Indicators 31/07/2021 
OCC05 Number of people helped to live safe and healthy lives: Status 

OCC06 Timeliness of emergency response:  Status 

Measure Director Portfolio Holder 
Period 
Actual 

Period 
Target Status Comment YTD 

YTD 
Target YTD 

OCC05.01 Number of vulnerable children and 
adults helped to live more secure and 
independent lives 

Rob MacDougall Cllr N Fawcett 256 513 We are dealing with a steady stream of requests for Safe and 
Well visits to residents and expect the numbers to increase now 
that pandemic restrictions have been lifted. 

991 2,053 

OCC05.03 50% increase in all cycle journeys 
within Oxford for all purposes by 2031  

Bill Cotton Cllr P Sudbury Data collection and current travel patterns are still being 
worked through, as lockdown restrictions are being eased. 
Service team will be reviewing against the pre-2020 data. 
This is turn will help to validate Active Lives and Annual 
Travel Surveys for which we have historic figures and can 
project / report against. The 2021 figures are due to be 
released later in the year (timing tbc) which would give us a 
2019/21 average, on which the 2021-22 target is based. 
The issue is likely to remain the reliability and volatility of 
data because of COVID, so much will depend on what the 
2021 figure looks like in relation to the 2015/17 baseline and 
this years' target. 

2015/17 baseline for LCWIP: 306,000 trips 2031 
LCWIP target: 460,000 trips 
2021/22 target: 350,000  

Service team are continuing to work through the Oxford inner 
cordon data and investigating if it can be utilised as a way of 
monitoring the Oxford LCWIP target. 

Updates included in the service level dashboards and in the 
Unity system for Corporate Performance Team's reference. 
Updates to continue being excluded from the monthly 
corporate Business Management & Monitoring Report for 
CEDR and Cabinet at this stage. This is due to 2021 figures 
being released later in the year. 

- -NA NA NA NA

Annex A- Performance July

P
age 42



Measure Director Portfolio Holder 
Period 
Actual 

Period 
Target Status Comment YTD 

YTD 
Target YTD 

OCC05.04 % of people cycling for travel at 
least 3 times a week from Active Travel Survey 

Bill Cotton Cllr P Sudbury Similar to the commentary for above measure, service team 
have a 2015/17 baseline figure for Oxfordshire. Data collection 
and current travel patterns are still being worked through. The 
survey should be repeated this year, which would give us a new 
baseline figure. The main question is how ambitious we think 
our target should be. 

2015/17 Baseline: 510,000 trips 
2031 target: based on doubling  1,020,000 Or 50% 
increase (765,000) 
2021/22 target: 646,000 (doubling), 578,000 (50% 
increase) 

Updates included in the service level dashboards and in the 
Unity system for Corporate Performance Team's reference. 

Updates to continue being excluded from the monthly 
corporate Business Management & Monitoring Report for 
CEDR and Cabinet at this stage. This is due to 2021 figures 
being released later in the year. 

OCC05.05 Number of people sign posted to 
health services via informal conversations in 
libraries 

Ansaf Azhar Cllr N Fawcett 272 200 Output remains above target, as library business returns to 
normal. 

213 150 

OCC06.01 More people alive due to 365 Alive 
prevention, protection and emergency 
response activity 

Rob MacDougall Cllr N Fawcett 64 88 There four fatalities on the roads in July: three were 
distracted car drivers and the other was a pedestrian struck 
by a car. The Road Safety Team have been active: promoting 
speed awareness at an event at the M40 J8a services and on 
the A40 around Burford where fire crews had erected 'Fatal 4' 
signage. 

279 356 

OCC06.02 % of emergency call 
attendances made within 11 minutes 

Rob MacDougall Cllr N Fawcett 74.36% 80.00% We continue to work hard to maintain our response standards, 
we are seeing a change in our historical figures due to a change 
in the way we report on incident in and out of scope, this is 
highlighted within the data set in comparison to last year. 
Incident attendance times are challenged when identified as 
missing the target times - this is complimented by our 
Resource Management Team reviewing our appliance 
availability at key stations and areas on a daily basis to ensure 
we have the right resource in the right places. Our average 
response time for Q1 is 8 minutes 30 seconds. 

76.71% 80.00% 

OCC06.03 % of emergency call 
attendances made within 14 minutes 

Rob MacDougall Cllr N Fawcett 87.82% 95.00% We continue to work hard to maintain our response standards, 
we are seeing a change in our historical figures due to a change 
in the way we report on incident in and out of scope, this is 
highlighted within the data set in comparison to last year. 
Incident attendance times are challenged when identified as 
missing the target times - this is complimented by our 
Resource Management Team reviewing our appliance 
availability at key stations and areas on a daily basis to ensure 
we have the right resource in the right places. Our average 
response time for Q1 is 8 minutes 30 seconds. 

88.69% 95.00% 

- -NA NA NA NA

Annex A- Performance July

P
age 43



We provide services that enhance quality of life and we take action to reduce the impact of the climate change & protect the local environment 

Status of Indicators 31/07/2021 
OCC08 Condition of highways: Status 
OCC09 Participation in cultural service:  Status 

OCC10 Reduction in carbon equivalent emissions from OCC's 
activities: Status 
OCC11 Reduced carbon impact of our transport network:  Status 
OCC12 Air quality:  Status 

OCC13 Household waste re-used, recycled or composted: Status 

Measure Director Portfolio Holder Period Actual Period 
Target 

Status Comment YTD YTD Target YTD 

OCC08.01 Defects posing immediate risk of 
injury are repaired with 24 hours 

Bill Cotton Cllr T Bearder 99.8% 100.0% Rate covers all defects April to June 2021. (Data for 
t h i s  measure is reported 1 month in arrears. This is 
due to complexities of obtaining and verifying data from 
numerous sources.) 

98.9% 100.0% 

OCC08.02 Defects creating potential risk of 
injury repaired within 28 calendar days 

Bill Cotton Cllr T Bearder 99.8% 90.0% Rate covers all defects April to June 2021. (Data for 
t h i s  measure is reported 1 month in arrears. This is 
due to complexities of obtaining and verifying data from 
numerous sources.) 

99.7% 90.0% 

OCC08.03 Kilometres of highway resurfaced Bill Cotton Cllr T Bearder 3.0 2.1 The annual plan target for 2021 total surfacing 
programme has been calculated as 3% of the network 
(excluding patching). 

As of 31st July, 2.25% of the network has been resurfaced 
(cumulative rate) and is on track against the target of 3%. 

101.6 87.9 

OCC09.01 Number of visits to Heritage services 
(Museum of Oxford), local History & VCH inc 
outreach 

Mark Haynes Cllr N Fawcett 7,523.00 6,100.00 Good weather, easing of COVID-19 restrictions and the 
start of the holiday activity programme, resulted in 
visitor numbers higher than predicted, at The 
Oxfordshire Museum, recording 24%. History Service 
visitor numbers were 20% lower than predicted, due to 
COVID-19, reflecting on the take-up of limited seating, 
but increased in seat availability and return of casual 
visitors. August, should see a significant upturn. 

16,870.00 13,800.00 

OCC09.02 Number of active borrower (users 
who have borrowed at least on item during year) 

Mark Haynes Cllr N Fawcett 40,374.00 40,000.00 Output continues to increase, but not as quickly as 
anticipated, presenting the risk of dropping below target 
next month. 

143,335.0 0 135,000.0 

OCC09.03 Digital engagement with Heritage 
Services - social media reach, website hits & 
e-mail

Mark Haynes Cllr N Fawcett 109,647.00 95,500.00 The overall, above target, figure for the Museums 
Service, History Service and Victoria County History is 
due to the Museums Service level of activity being well 
in excess of forecast across all platforms. The History 
Service figure is 6% lower than predicted. The Victoria 
County History total is 3% lower than predicted and 
assumes a continuing fall-back from the very high 
lockdown user stats for British History O n l i ne . 

418,390.0 0 381,500.0 

OCC09.04 Number of physical visits to 
Libraries 

Mark Haynes Cllr N Fawcett 72,984.00 50,000.00 Visits to libraries continue to return to normal levels, and 
more quickly than forecasted. However, visits for July are 
still only around 31% of what we would expect in a normal 
July month (around 230k). Return to full pre-COVID 
opening hours, in September, should see a larger increase. 

210,409.0 0 135,000.0 

Annex A- Performance July

P
age 44



Measure Director Portfolio Holder Period Actual 
Period 
Target Status Comment YTD YTD Target YTD 

OCC09.05 Number of library issues books, 
DVD, CD's, eBooks & audio 

Mark Haynes Cllr N Fawcett 228,101.00 100,000.00 Issues have returned to nearly pre-COVID levels much 
more quickly than forecasted. The figure, for July, is 
around 70% of what we would expect in a normal July 
month. Historically, July and August have been peak 
months, but issues due to customers reading on 
holidays, plus the impact of the Summer Reading 
Challenge, have impacted the records for this month. 

783,321.0 0 250,000.0 

OCC09.06 Digital engagement with library 
services (social media reach, website hit, 
library app) 

Mark Haynes Cllr N Fawcett 177,443.00 175,000.00 Figures for April-June have been revised, as data has 
been corrected. July figures include an estimate for Social 
Media (25K). Facebook has changed how it provides data 
and this will require a complete revision of how we report 
on this, to ensure consistency. 

730,240.0 0 700,000.0 

OCC09.07 Number of children & young 
people accessing the Music Service 

Mark Haynes Cllr N Fawcett 5,227.00 5,368.00 Currently, on school holidays, therefore, no 
activities running at present, as teachers are on leave. 
We expect to see last minute orders to come in, 
towards the end of August, from both, schools, and 
private tuition. 

5,227.00 5,368.00 

OCC10.01 Yearly reduction in carbon equivalent 
emissions from Council estates & activities  

Bill Cotton Cllr T Bearder 29% 6% This is an annual measure. Draft greenhouse gas 
emission reporting for 2020/21 is ready and it has been 
added in the forward plan to go to CEDR on 4th October 
and informal cabinet on 19th October 2021. 

In 2020/21, council's overall emissions were 16,149 tonnes 
CO2e. A total reduction of 3,015 tonnes CO2e 
i.e., 15.7% compared to 2019/20.

Net Zero 2030 Target (Council estates and activities): 
Emissions within the scope of our carbon neutrality target, 
decreased by 2,605 tonnes CO2e (29%) to 10,442 tCO2e 
in 2020/21 from 13,047 tonnes in 2019/20. This was 
supported by: 
• The Streetlighting LED conversion and
• Electricity grid decarbonisation accounted for 608
tonnes CO2e (24.9%) of the corporate emissions
reduction.
• In addition, changed working patterns driven by covid
have led to business mileage carbon dropping (68%)
from 1,204 tonnes in 2019/20 to 386 tonnes in 201/21.
Gas usage in buildings did not change and electricity
usage dropped by around 16%.

Note: There is risk of bounce back in emissions in 
2021/22, as a significant proportion of the emissions 
reduction in 2020/21 has been due to changes in working 
associated with the COVID lockdown. 

29% 6% 

OCC10.02 No. of streetlights fitted with LED 
Lanterns by March 2022 

Bill Cotton Cllr T Bearder 309.00 350.00 In July 2021 a further 309 LED lanterns were installed 
(as per the programme), raising the total number of 
assets now fitted with LED lanterns to 20,799. This 
means that 35% of the streetlights within the County 
are now fitted with efficient LED equipment. 

The target for the end of March 2022 is for 55% of the 
streetlights to have been converted. This means the number 
required to be converted for the year is 13,327. In-year 
progress of 1,329 lanterns installed leaves 11,998 still to be 
carried out to meet the annual target. The remaining 
11,998 lanterns are programmed in for delivery before 
March 22 at which point the 55% target will have been met. 

The overall programme is amber due to a delay in the 
start to the programme, but the in-year element is on 
track. 

1,329.00 1,540.00 

Annex A- Performance July

P
age 45



Measure Director Portfolio Holder Period Actual 
Period 
Target Status Comment YTD YTD Target YTD 

OCC10.05 Total number of electric vehicle 
charging points by end of March 2022 

Tim Spiers Cllr P Sudbury 12 12 Following the exit of electrical infrastructure partner, 
SSE Enterprise, from Park and Charge, project lead Zeta 
have now selected a preferred supplier to take over this 
work. This work is planned to be funded by: 

An application for OZEV On-street Residential 
Chargepoint Scheme (ORCS) grant which will fund 
75% of the costs. This application has been made 
b y  OCC for all the district council car parks and 
was submitted 23/7/21 
Zeta will be issuing a bond in July/August to fund the 
remaining 25% -  this is imminent 

Timing for the remaining project is still to be confirmed as 
there are a number of ongoing discussions but the outline 
timing we are working to is: 

Outcome of ORCS application - mid-August Car 
park legal work complete - mid-September Car 
park installation work start -  October 2021 
Car Park installation work finish - end February 2022 
Project completion -  March 2022 

12 12 

OCC10.06 % of Climate Action Programme 
priority actions rated as green 

Bill Cotton Cllr T Bearder 62.00% 100.00% Delivery of Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme (PSDS) 
projects is proceeding at both OCC and CDC. Bids have 
been submitted for PSDS Skills Fund for costing of further 
estate retrofit work. Specialist post needed at OCC to 
develop investment pipeline. 

£3m bid submitted to sustainable warmth fund to 
support homes in fuel poverty. 

Banbury Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
draft completed; Community Cycling & Walking activation 
projects being delivered in Witney, Bicester and Oxford. 

'Climate Action at OCC' eLearning course now available to 
all staff. 'Carbon Literacy' 1-day peer - to- peer training 
course piloted with 9.3/10 evaluation. 

Green Homes Grant delivery delayed due to supply chain 
challenges and late issue of funding. BEIS considering 
deadline extension for all Local Authority Delivery 
schemes. 

Review of policy, governance process and capital uplift 
required for zero-carbon new builds, including schools, due 
end Q3. 

64.50% 100.00% 

OCC11.01 % of highway maintenance 
construction, demolition & excavation waste 
diverted from landfill 

Bill Cotton Cllr T Bearder 99.6% 90.0% Rate is the average for April to June 2021.  (Data for 
this measure is reported 1 month in arrears. This is due 
to complexities of obtaining and verifying data from 
numerous sources.) 

98.8% 90.0% 

OCC12.01 Minimise the number of traffic routes 
diverted into Air Quality Management areas  

Bill Cotton Cllr P Sudbury 0 9 No diversions have been sign posted through Air 
Quality Management Areas. 

0 9 

Annex A- Performance July

P
age 46



Measure Director Portfolio Holder Period Actual 
Period 
Target Status Comment YTD YTD Target YTD 

OCC12.02 % change of average Monthly 
traffic flows in or near AQMAs 

Bill Cotton Cllr P Sudbury -9.00% 0.00% Traffic flows remain significantly lower than normal due 
to the continued effects of increased working from home 
and reduced social activity even though legal 
restrictions have now ended. 

-11.25% 0.00% 

OCC13.01 Total % of household waste which is 
reused, recycled or composted 

Bill Cotton Cllr P Sudbury 59.06% 62.00% Figures for June are the forecast end of year performance 
and is the combined effort of OCC and the City and District 
Councils. Forecasts continue to be variable until more data 
becomes available. Achieving the overall recycling target 
for this year will be challenging and will require coordinated 
working by all partners across the Oxfordshire Resources 
and Waste Partnership. 

Waste tonnages across the board remain above pre- 
Covid levels continuing from last year's exceptional high 
volume during the Covid pandemic. 

(Data for this measure is reported 1 month in arrears. 
This is due to complexities of obtaining and verifying data 
from numerous sources and ensuring accuracy in the 
forecasting system that has a high number of variables.) 

58.72% 62.00% 

OCC13.02 % of household waste recycled Bill Cotton Cllr P Sudbury 29.6% 31.0% As per above commentary for measure reference 
OCC13.01.  

30.3% 31.0% 

OCC13.03 % of household waste composted Bill Cotton Cllr P Sudbury 29.20% 30.50% As per above commentary for measure reference 
OCC13.01.  

28.04% 30.50% 

OCC13.04 % of household waste re-used Bill Cotton Cllr P Sudbury 0.22% 0.50% As per above commentary for measure reference 
OCC13.01.  

0.33% 0.50% 

OCC13.05 % of Household waste sent to 
landfill (forecasted end of year position) 

Bill Cotton Cllr P Sudbury 4.05% 3.00% Most of the waste landfilled is bulky waste from the HWRCs 
and collected from residents by the district councils. Due to 
the closure of the HWRCs and suspension of district council 
bulky collections for a period at the start of the pandemic 
landfill dropped to a very low figure early last year. It then 
slowly recovered to 3.01% for last year. 

The forecast for this year remains uncertain until more 
data is available. While showing an increase from last year 
this is a small proportion of residual waste, over 95% of 
which continues to be sent to Ardley ERF for energy 
recovery. 

(Data for this measure is reported 1 month in arrears. 
This is due to complexities of obtaining and verifying data 
from numerous sources and ensuring accuracy in the 
forecasting system that has a high number of variables.) 

4.54% 2.75% 

Annex A- Performance July

P
age 47



Measure Director Portfolio Holder Period Actual 
Period 
Target Status Comment YTD YTD Target YTD 

OCC13.06 % of Household waste recycled, 
composted, re-used at Household Waste 
Recycling Centres 

Bill Cotton Cllr P Sudbury 63.97% 62.00% The figure for June is the forecast end of year 
performance. Forecasts continue to be variable until 
more data becomes available. 

All HWRCs returned to operating at full capacity when 
Covid restrictions eased. Signs remain in place requesting 
customers to maintain social distancing. 

(Data for this measure is reported 1 month in arrears. 
This is due to complexities of obtaining and verifying data 
from numerous sources and ensuring accuracy in the 
forecasting system that has a high number of variables.) 

62.84% 62.00% 

OCC13.07 Average weight of waste produced per 
household in Oxfordshire 

Bill Cotton Cllr P Sudbury 1,056.00 980.00 The figure for June is the forecast end of year performance 
as actual weight fluctuates on a monthly / seasonal basis. 
Last year the average weight of waste produced per 
household increased for the first time since 2016/17 due to 
Covid restrictions and more people working at home during 
the pandemic. 

It is expected that households will continue to produce 
more waste this year than pre-Covid but quantities 
could reduce as restrictions ease. This is difficult to 
predict, and the forecast is currently highly uncertain. 

(Data for this measure is reported 1 month in arrears. 
This is due to complexities of obtaining and verifying data 
from numerous sources.) 

1,079.00 980.00 

Annex A- Performance July

P
age 48



We strive to give every child a good start in life & protect everyone from neglect 

Status of Indicators 31/07/2021 
OCC15 We provide help early on so children are less likely to be in need: Status 
OCC16 The number of children looked after:  Status 

OCC17 Number of child protection plans: Status 

OCC18 Timeliness of completing education, health, and care plans: Status 

OCC19 Children are supported to attend school: Status 

Measure Director Portfolio Holder Period Actual Period 
Target Status Comment YTD YTD Target YTD 

OCC15.01 Number of contacts into the MASH Kevin Gordon Cllr L Brighouse 2,523.00 1,516.00 In the first four months of the year the number   
of concerns to the MASH has been 56% higher 
than pre Covid levels. This is being managed by 
the council funding of 7 additional staff to help 
manage demand within the MASH, but does risk 
the additional demand moving throughout the 
system 

2,365.25 1,516.00 

OCC15.02 Number of early help assessments Kevin Gordon Cllr L Brighouse 295.00 167.00 Performance is above target (677 assessments 
so far this year; compared with a target of 500 
for this point in the year). However, you are still 
more likely to be the subject of a social care 
assessment than an early help assessment. 
Going forward we are looking to support a step 
change in the number of early help assessments 
to help support people without the need for social 
care intervention 

1,096.00 668.00 

OCC15.03 Number of early help assessments 
completed by health visitors 

Ansaf Azhar Cllr L Brighouse 6.00 17.00 So far this year just 37 early help assessments 
have been completed by health visitors. This is 
3.4% of all early help assessments 

9.25 17.00 

OCC15.04 Number of social care 
assessments  

Kevin Gordon Cllr L Brighouse 567.00 605.00 Significant work has been undertaken to test 
thresholds for social care assessments and ensure 
that we only assess children where appropriate. 
Although the number of incoming assessments for 
June fell, we remain concerned about the overall 
increase in demand which could still lead to an 
increase in assessments across the year, and the 
slowdown of children leaving the statutory social 
care system which is increasing caseloads. 

536.50 605.00 

OCC16.01 Number of children we care for Kevin Gordon Cllr L Brighouse 789.00 766.00 The number of children we cared for remains 
above target. The number of children becoming 
cared for is increasing and delays in the court 
system mean fewer children are leaving the care 
system. We would have expected 100 children to 
have left the cared for system in the last 3 
months, but only 89 have . 

787.50 769.00 

Annex A- Performance July

P
age 49



Measure Director Portfolio Holder Period Actual Period 
Target Status Comment YTD YTD Target YTD 

OCC17.01 Number of child protection plans Kevin Gordon Cllr L Brighouse 496.00 500.00 The number of children the subject of a child 
protection remains around 500. Fewer children 
are being becoming the subject of child 
protection plans, but also fewer children are 
being stepped down from child protection plans, 
to child in need or early help plans. High 
caseloads mean workers have less time to work 
with individual families; in some areas of the 
service caseloads are 40% higher than target 
levels 

490.25 500.00 

OCC18.01 % of Education Health & Care 
Plans completed within 20 weeks 

Kevin Gordon Cllr L Brighouse 52.00% 59.00% Performance is below target and has been falling 
since October last year. This is being driven by 
increased demand for Statutory Assessment; 
teams are staffed to deal with an average of 10 
requests a week, but so far this year there have 
been an average of 30 per week. The impact of 
the increased demand is not only felt within the 
Special Education Needs Casework team, but 
across all teams who help complete the 
assessment and who similarly do not have 
capacity within their services to meet this demand 
for statutory assessment. 

55.75% 59.00% 

OCC19.01 Number of electively home 
educated children 

Kevin Gordon Cllr L Brighouse 846.00 Measure is to be monitored only. Though some 
people proactively choose to educate their children 
there can be occasions when home education 
reflects people's view on services or where it can 
mean vulnerable children are not seen by 
professional staff. 7 of the children are known to 
social care and 47 have an education, health and 
care plan the council's education service which 
needs to monitor children who are electively home 
educated. 

921.00 

OCC19.05 Mainstream Total No. entitled 
students conveyed by contracted transport 
services per month 

Bill Cotton Cllr T Bearder 6,600.00 Numbers typically start to reduce at this time of the 
year. However, it's perhaps not as marked as 
previous years because of the different assessment 
system currently used due to Covid. 

6,675.00 

OCC19.06 Special Education Needs entitled 
students conveyed by contracted transport 
services 

Bill Cotton Cllr T Bearder 1,139 Demand has remained relatively constant. 
Service is planning for the new intake in 
September 2021. 

1,119 

OCC19.07 Continuing Education (FE 
Colleges) entitled students conveyed by 
contracted transp. serv 

Bill Cotton Cllr T Bearder 20 Most colleges finished early July 2021. Those that 
remain are attending non-college establishments. 

158 

NA

NA

NA

NA

NA

NA

NA

NA

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Annex A- Performance July

P
age 50



Measure Director Portfolio Holder Period Actual Period 
Target Status Comment YTD YTD Target YTD 

OCC19.08 Travel model shift (Bus Passes, 
Direct Travel, Independent Travel Training) 

Bill Cotton Cllr T Bearder 199 200 The new uptake of Direct Travel Payments 
continues to remain low for these months, but new 
applications are still being   accepted and will be 
reported at the start of September 2021. 

The Independent Travel Training programme has now 
delivered a further 3 students who can now travel 
independently with another being trained. The result 
of all of this activity will be reported in September 
2021 when the students recommence education. 

782 800 

Annex A- Performance July

P
age 51



We enable older and disabled people to live independently and care for those in greatest need 

Status of Indicators 31/07/2021 
OCC20 Number of people with control over their care: Status 
OCC21 People needing social care are supported to stay in their own homes: Status 

Measure Director Portfolio Holder 
Period 
Actual 

Period 
Target Status Comment YTD YTD Target YTD 

OCC20.01 % of people with safeguarding 
concerns who define the outcomes they want 

Stephen Chandler Cllr J Hannaby 94.3% 90.0% Performance remains better than target and has 
improved in each of the last 2 months 

93.1% 90.0% 

OCC20.02 % of people receiving adult 
social care with a personal budget 

Stephen Chandler Cllr J Hannaby 91.00% 92.00% Performance has improved since the start of the 
year. It remains 1% point below the target which 
should be hit by year end. 

90.50% 92.00% 

OCC20.03 % of people 65 plus using Adult 
Social Care services receiving a direct payment 

Stephen Chandler Cllr J Hannaby 22.00% 17.00% Performance remains above target and higher than 
the national average 

22.50% 17.00% 

OCC20.04 % of people under 65 using Adult 
Social Care services receiving a direct 
payment 

Stephen Chandler Cllr J Hannaby 41.00% 39.00% Performance remains above the target and the 
national average 

41.75% 39.00% 

OCC20.05 Reduce number of older people 
needing placement in a care home to > than 
14 per week 

Stephen Chandler Cllr J Hannaby 28.00 61.00 Performance continues better than target as we are 
purchasing more home care and allowing people to 
stay in their own home for longer 

33.50 61.00 

OCC21.01 Increase the number of home care 
hours purchased per week to 25,300 hours 
by March 2022 

Stephen Chandler Cllr J Hannaby 26,012.00 24,997.00 Performance remains above target. We are purchasing 
more home care allowing more people to stay in their 
own home for longer and reducing the need for 
inappropriate care home admissions. 

25,987.25 24,935.50 

OCC21.02 Reduce by 10% the number of 
people aged 18-64 entering permanent 
residential care 

Stephen Chandler Cllr J Hannaby 1.00% 3.25% Performance remains better than target. Increased 
home care hours are allowing more people to stay at 
home 

1.25% 3.25% 

OCC21.03 % 18-64 age service users with LD 
support, living on own or with family 

Stephen Chandler Cllr J Hannaby 87.30% 76.00% Oxfordshire has a high use of direct payments and 
high numbers of people in supported living which 
means fewer people need residential care. 

88.43% 76.00% 

OCC21.04 % of older people in long term 
care supported to live in own home 

Stephen Chandler Cllr J Hannaby 59.00% 57.00% Increase in home care and reducing care home 
admissions means more of the people we support are 
supported at home 

59.43% 57.00% 

Annex A- Performance July

P
age 52



We support a thriving & inclusive local economy that recovers strongly from the covid crisis 

Status of Indicators 31/07/2021 
OCC22 Infrastructure delivery supports growth:  Status 
OCC23 Number of new homes: Status 
OCC24 Support for a strong local economy: Status 
OCC25 Levels of disruption to journeys:  Status 

Measure Director Portfolio Holder 
Period 
Actual Period Target Status Comment YTD YTD Target YTD 

OCC22.01 Percentage of the Capital 
Programme delivered in line with budget 

Bill Cotton Cllr D Enright -3.00% 7.90% This measures the capital infrastructure major 
programme. 36% of the agreed programme for 21/22 
has been spent or committed as at end of July 2021. 

This has reduced from previous month's revised rate 
(39%) due to a re-baselining of some projects and the 
anticipated construction phases slipping into 
subsequent Financial Years. 

A number of major schemes across the programmes are 
forecast to enter into construction contracts in this 
financial year. 

The expected year end outturn position is 87% of the 
budget against a target of 95%. 

36.00% 31.60% 

OCC23.01 We support the delivery of new 
affordable housing starts by March 2022 

Bill Cotton Cllr D Enright 694.00 1,322.00 The programme has not met the agreed three-year 
target. This is due to low grant rates offered to 
Registered Providers and consequent lack of take up 
in early years. COVID-19 also delayed approx. 600 
units programmed for year three. The programme has 
been extended to March 2022. The extended 
programme for the fourth year provides the capacity to 
deliver the agreed target and utilise the allocated 
budget from Ministry for Housing, Communities and 
Local Government (MHCLG). 

Discussions with (MHCLG) have led to a principled 
agreement that the programme will be extended to a 
fourth year with the possibility of further 5th year 
extension, on a scheme-by-scheme basis to ensure 
delivery of COVID delayed homes. In addition, 
MHCLG have agreed a revised competitive grant 
regime that will see Oxfordshire agreeing grant rates 
with Homes England via a joint assessment process. 
This will be a national exemplar. MHCLG have received 
and approved a revised programme that will deliver 
the Deal commitments for affordable housing. 

Please note the target of 1,322 new affordable 
housing starts is by end of March 2022. The status of 
the overall programme remains amber and early Year 
4 delivery aligns with expected position. Latest 
figures will be confirmed in next month's report 
following end of quarter reporting to Homes England. 

694.00 1,322.00 

Annex A- Performance July

P
age 53



Measure Director Portfolio Holder 
Period 
Actual Period Target Status Comment YTD YTD Target YTD 

OCC24.01 No of businesses given support by 
trading standards intervention or via risks 
inspection 

Rob 
MacDougall 

Cllr N Fawcett 242 294 The Fire Protection team is continuing to complete the 
backlog of fire safety audits. The Trading Standards 
team is still doing a lot of work around business 
interventions. It is encouraging to see that the ‘Buy 
with Confidence’ approved trader scheme has increased 
its membership and the average overall user score for 
the various services sitting at 98.4%. 

1,011 1,124 

OCC24.02 Participation in innovation funding bids 
or new projects in support of Living Oxfordshire 

Tim Spiers Cllr D Enright 1.00 2.50 We have one new project, this month (HySPERT), 
which is the 8-month feasibility project funded by 
Innovate UK, in collaboration and led by ULEMCo Ltd. 
The specialist hydrogen commercial vehicle company, 
with Oxfordshire Fire & Rescue Service, Oxfordshire 
CC, develop a bespoke hydrogen-fuel cell based zero- 
emission niche vehicle chassis platform. It will be 
adaptable for special purpose applications, like fire- 
pumping appliances and refuge trucks. The total 
funding for this project is £356k, with funding for 
OCC of £87k. 

8.00 10.00 

OCC25.01 Percentage of utility works that 
have passed inspections 

Bill Cotton Cllr N Fawcett 74.22% 90.00% From 1,055 sample A/B/C inspections conducted in July 
(including all follow up inspections) 783 passed. This 
equates to 74.2% pass rate. 

This is below the target of 90%, due to our increasing 
vigilance with the quality and timing of works on the 
network.  Increasing numbers of inspections are taking 
place with more defects being identified with the 
quality of the live works and the reinstatements. 
Failures are attributed to all the utility companies (at 
varying numbers) and these are being pursued with 
the Works Promoters to drive improvements. This is 
being pursued through escalation with the companies 
concerned and issuing of fixed penalty not i ces . 

79.31% 90.00% 

OCC25.02 Number of overrun days on 
carriageway work phases identified & action 
taken 

Bill Cotton Cllr T Bearder 11.00 15.00 Overrunning works are being identified and charged in 
accordance with the Oxfordshire Permit Scheme and 
income expectation. 

21.50 15.00 

OCC25.03 Reduce the number of return 
repairs to the Council's own works 

Steve Jorden Cllr T Bearder 1.40% 5.00% The reported rate is for July. The level of non- 
compliant defects is expected to be low. This is 
because approximately 90% of all pothole defects are 
repaired as 'cut' defects rather than 'sweep and fill'. 
This continues to be monitored. During July there were 
38 return repairs/visits to own works (NCDs). Total 
potholes fixed were 2,705. 

0.58% 5.00% 

OCC25.04 Delivery of the 2021-22 
Programme - number of highway trees 
surveyed within 4-year cycle 

Bill Cotton Cllr P Sudbury 10.00% 8.00% 4-year inspection programme is in place. 61% of the
planned annual programme for inspecting 72 parishes has
been completed as at end July 2021.

61.00% 32.00% 

OCC25.05 % of frequent bus services 
departing within scheduled intervals 

Bill Cotton Cllr T Bearder 97.80 90.00 Performance in July is on track against target, and the 
reported rate is in accordance with the PIP 
(Punctuality Improvement Partnership) agreement. 

97.80 90.00 

Annex A- Performance July

P
age 54



1 ‐ Insignificant
2 ‐ Minor LR10-

4 ‐ Major LR7- LR9 - LR14 
- LR15 - LR17 LR5- LR12 - LR16

Annex B –  Leadership Risk Register as at 09/09/2021

Risk Scorecard – Residual Risks
Probability

1 ‐ Remote 2 ‐ Unlikely 3 ‐ Possible 4 ‐ Probable 5 ‐ Highly Probable
LR1 

LR20 

Strategic risks that are significant in size and duration, and will impact on the reputation and performance of the 
Council as a whole, and in particular, on its ability to deliver on its corporate priorities
Risks to systems or processes that underpin the organisation’s governance, operation and ability to deliver 
services

Risk Definition
Leadership

Operational

Im
pa

ct

5 ‐ Catastrophic LR4- LR13 LR2- LR3 - LR6

3 ‐ Moderate LR8-LR18 LR11-

P
age 55



P
age 56



Ref
Name and 

Description of risk
Potential impact Controls Control assessment Lead Member Risk owner Risk manager

Direct’n 
of travel

Mitigating actions 
(to address control issues)

Comments
Last 

updated+A1:R2

2021/22

Pr
ob

ab
ili
ty

Im
pa

ct

Ra
tin

g Fully effective
Partially effective
Not effective Pr

ob
ab

ili
ty

Im
pa

ct

Ra
tin

g

Maintain a good early‐help and prevention offer, in partnership with key 
stakeholders to ensure diversion from high cost services. Partial 

Continue to provide area early help networks and LCSS support to 
universal professionals to ensure good access to early help for families

Efficient assessment of need and risk – strong ‘Front door’ arrangements including 
effective MASH. 

Fully

1. Continued funding of additional workers
2. Continued working with partners to reduce unnecessary demand

Child protection numbers continuing to reduce safely: continue to drive successful 
achievement of child protection plans and step‐down of statutory intervention, and 
monitor re‐referrals.  Partial 

Continue with monthly Child Protection panels to scrutinise and 
accelerate progress to good outcomes

All services are tasked with managing activities within allocated budgets including 
additional Covid funding for agency staff.

Partial 

All budgets are monitored monthly, but additional demand driven by 
covid means some budgets are insufficient. Negotiation with CEDR on use 
of additional Covid funding to cover these budgets

Work with resourcing arm of HR to recruit and retain qualified social 
workers and agency workers. Review of MOC in the SE Region is in 
progress.

Procurement of additional teams for frontline social care agreed and in 
progress

Vulnerable children and young people are 
ineffectively safeguarded and come to harm, and 
their educational needs unmet.

Potential for statutory requirements not being met.

Poor timeliness and prioritisation of services 
leading to poor engagement from partners and the 
community. 

Reduced confidence in the Council's ability to 
deliver services 

Financial – significant overspend in annual budgets 

Demand 
management -
Children- : 
managing the  
impact of 
increased demand 
on council services 

The service has been adversely affected by Covid. Forecasting future 
demand is unpredictable. A medium term assessment of demand will be 
undertaken as part of budget and business planning over the year.

Key demand measures such as caseloads and activity into the MASH and 
FS+ are reviewed at DLT monthly and reported through to CEDR by the 
Business Monitoring report.   The market for permanent and agency 
social workers is insufficient to meet demand across the region. This is 
driving higher agency rates, undermining the SE memorandum of 
cooperation, and failing to secure sufficient staff in Oxfordshire. 
Caseloads are high as a consequence.                                      

01/09/2021 ‐  
Mitigating 
actions  and 
comments 
updated.

Residual risk level 
(after existing 

controls)

Inherent (gross) 
risk level 

(no Controls)

4 5 20 CIIr L. Brighouse Kevin Gordon
Hannah 

Farncombe 
4 5 20 ↔

LR1

P
age 57



Ref
Name and 

Description of risk
Potential impact Controls Control assessment Lead Member Risk owner Risk manager

Direct’n 
of travel

Mitigating actions 
(to address control issues)

Comments
Last 

updated+A1:R2

2021/22

Pr
ob

ab
ili
ty

Im
pa

ct

Ra
tin

g Fully effective
Partially effective
Not effective Pr

ob
ab

ili
ty

Im
pa

ct

Ra
tin

g

Residual risk level 
(after existing 

controls)

Inherent (gross) 
risk level 

(no Controls)

Maintain strong focus on good practice, performance reporting and statutory 
requirements, ensuring timely record keeping, compliance with procedures and acting 
on any poor performance indicators at an early stage. 

Fully
No further actions required

Monitored weekly through CEF Performance Dashboard and Performance Management 
Framework.  Fully

No further actions

Every child known to social care services is RAG rated and face to face visits to all 
children open to CSC have been reinstated subject to individual risk assessments.

Efficient assessment of need and risk by having strong children's ‘Front door’ 
arrangements in place, including effective MASH.  Fully

Completion of CEF Self‐evaluation report every quarter which is submitted to Ofsted at 
the Annual Conversation. Fully

Quality assurance framework in children's social care  for reach, effectiveness and 
impact. Fully

Review of capacity to meet QA and continuous improvement requirements 
underway

Safeguarding complaints submitted to Ofsted are reviewed and investigated in a timely 
manner.  Outcomes are reported to Ofsted.   Fully

No further actions

School attendance is monitored daily, attendance team staff undertaking home visits to 
encourage attendance, in partnership with schools.    Fully

Numbers of electively home educated children are monitored. Fully

LR2 Safeguarding of 
vulnerable  children: 
ensuring there are 
effective 
arrangements in place 
for safeguarding 

Reduced trust in the Council and partners.
Notification of poor performance may affect the Council’s 
current service judgements and lead to Central Government 
intervention, resulting in a higher financial cost related to 
improvement activity and intervention.

4 5 15 ↔

Excess demand still seen in the MASH which is mitigated by additional workers as 
agreed by CEDR

As above demand in the service is high due to Covid and children have 
been safeguarded due to the additional investment in front line staff

Demand at the front door can be unpredictable and we need to be able to 
be flexible to respond.

09/08/2021 ‐ 
Potential impact 
and mitigating 
actions updated.

5 20 CIIr L. Brighouse Kevin Gordon
Lara Patel & 
Hayley Good

3

P
age 58



Ref
Name and 

Description of risk
Potential impact Controls Control assessment Lead Member Risk owner Risk manager

Direct’n 
of travel

Mitigating actions 
(to address control issues)

Comments
Last 

updated+A1:R2

2021/22

Pr
ob

ab
ili
ty

Im
pa

ct

Ra
tin

g Fully effective
Partially effective
Not effective Pr

ob
ab

ili
ty

Im
pa

ct

Ra
tin

g

Residual risk level 
(after existing 

controls)

Inherent (gross) 
risk level 

(no Controls)

SEND assurance board meets fortnightly to provide oversight at strategic level

Fully

The assurance board is meeting fortnightly and any key updates on actions will 
be reported here.

As above demand in the service is high due to Covid and children have been 
safeguarded due to the additional investment in front line staff

The national SEND review is expected,  data not yet known, and is expected to include 
references to how mainstream schools should meet the needs of SEND pupils. Aligned 
with this the local SEND transformation programme has a project to manage demand Partial 

Demand at the front door can be unpredictable and we need to be able to be 
flexible to respond.     

A paper is being drafted to cabinet to identify the level of additional top up funding 
required. Paper to include potential 'sunset clause' with schools based on support level 
of children with special needs

Partial 

Cabinet paper on pressures currently being drafted

01/09/2021 ‐ No 
changes

↔

LR3 High needs block 
funding: Deficit in 
national funding and 
increasing local 
demand

The national High Needs Dedicated Schools Block funding 
allocation for Oxfordshire is some £11million less than the 
cost of provision locally, reflecting both the increase in 
demand identified in the specialist placement risk, but also a 
shortfall in the government’s grant.

4 5 20 CIIr L. Brighouse Kevin Gordon
Hayley Good & 
Sarah Fogden

3 5 15

P
age 59



Ref
Name and 

Description of risk
Potential impact Controls Control assessment Lead Member Risk owner Risk manager

Direct’n 
of travel

Mitigating actions 
(to address control issues)

Comments
Last 

updated+A1:R2

2021/22

Pr
ob

ab
ili
ty

Im
pa

ct

Ra
tin

g Fully effective
Partially effective
Not effective Pr

ob
ab

ili
ty

Im
pa

ct

Ra
tin

g

Residual risk level 
(after existing 

controls)

Inherent (gross) 
risk level 

(no Controls)

 Oxfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board oversees and scrutinises the safeguarding of 
vulnerable adults across all partners in Oxfordshire

The act brought in the principles of 'Making Safeguarding Personal'. Oxfordshire is 
recognised as doing this well. Part of the principle is that people own their own risks ‐ so 
it can never be completely mitigated away.
Centralised Safeguarding Team which leads on incoming safeguarding concerns  and the 
completion of all subsequent safeguarding activity.

Clear statement of the minimum standards expected of care providers (from the County 
Council, the Care Quality Commission and the Oxfordshire Association of Care 
Providers) 

Working closely with the Care Quality Commission to identify and share issues to ensure 
they are dealt with appropriately. The Care Governance Group which is led by the 
council includes both the safeguarding lead for the Council and the Care Quality 
Commission.
 Publicise and provide clear communication on the ways in which a person can raise a 
safeguarding concern.
Daily, weekly, monthly performance reports in place on the activity in the safeguarding 
team. Quarterly performance report to the Performance Subgroup of the board on 
wider partnership issues.
Cross partnership training plan in place.

CIIr J. Hannaby Stephen Chandler Melanie PearceMonitoring of providers by the Council's Quality and Contracts Team. This includes 
performance information (complaints, safeguarding referrals, etc.), contract monitoring 
meetings, and quality monitoring visits and gathering feedback. These are measured 
against ten quality standards and an internal traffic light system. 

155 2 5 10 ↔

• Vulnerable people not protected from abuse or neglect.
• Serious injury or death of a vulnerable adult
• Significant reputational damage for the council

Safeguarding of 
vulnerable adults:   
Failure to safeguard 
vulnerable adults.
The Care Act 2014 
places a duty on the 
council to work with 
other parts of the 
health and care 
system to safeguard 
adults at risk of abuse 
or neglect. Roles, 
responsibilities and 
accountability are set 
out in the act with the 
council being required 
to take the lead 
coordinating role.

LR4

3

06/08/2021 ‐ No 
changes

The number of concerns reported to the council is increasing the methodology 
and approach through the consultation service is struggling to meet demand.   
The services is realigning resources to ensure adequate priority is possible.  The 
timings of responding to and dealing with concerns and enquiries are monitored 
daily and reported via Operational Services management team. 

The quality of providers in Oxfordshire remains higher than elsewhere as 
evidence by the CQC ratings though clearly due to lock down there has been a 
reduction in the number of on site inspections carried out nationally by CQC, the 
resumption of inspections has started and we will review accordingly. Multi 
agency meetings have continued to take place to ensure appropriate sharing of 
information and other intelligence; regular audits of case work in place and a 
prioritised programme of quality visits has commenced. 

No additional actions are felt to be required but we will respond to any issues 
raised in the on‐going monitoring.   The current state of overall safeguarding 
activities and quality monitoring is reviewed monthly by the Directorate 
Management Team (DLT).

P
age 60



Ref
Name and 

Description of risk
Potential impact Controls Control assessment Lead Member Risk owner Risk manager

Direct’n 
of travel

Mitigating actions 
(to address control issues)

Comments
Last 

updated+A1:R2

2021/22

Pr
ob

ab
ili
ty

Im
pa

ct

Ra
tin

g Fully effective
Partially effective
Not effective Pr

ob
ab

ili
ty

Im
pa

ct

Ra
tin

g

Residual risk level 
(after existing 

controls)

Inherent (gross) 
risk level 

(no Controls)

Reduced delivery of affordable housing and related impact 
on the community

Additional strain on the highways network that could restrict 
the county’s ability to improve productivity.
Lack of a strategic framework for future growth in the 
county.
 Constraint on economic development .

Stephen Chandler Pippa Corner ↔

a. The service has an agreed model for predicting demographic pressure and this is 
funded by the Council, a robust system is in place to monitor demand, the councils 
response to demand and any ongoing pressures.
b. Investment in services to reduce demand (e.g. reablement) and to support emerging 
models of support (Community Led).
c. A pooled budget arrangement is in place with health which allows whole system 
investment and prioritisation.   d. Referrals into the service via First point of contact and 
then onwards into locality teams continues to show and increase compared to the same 
time last year.  The increase in referrals have been managed effectively and have 
ensured more people are supported outside of long term care.                                               
e. Medium and long term impact from Covid is still not fully known though we are 
starting to see increased activity in all our key areas (Hospital activity, Community 
activity and Safeguarding activity).

25/08/2021 ‐ 
Risk manager 
and comments 
updated

HIF1 potentially could cost OCC £6m per month after the end 
date of Nov '24. HIF2 could cost OCC £2m per month after 
Feb '25. Other risks could include: Withdrawal of funding, 
lack of accelerated homes delivered and potential 
breakdown in collaborative working across Oxfordshire local 
authorities.  

Lack of investment in road infrastructure to support current 
housing delivery and future planned growth leading to a 
sever impact on the network or the Council objecting to new 
development.

LR6 Capital Infrastructure 
Programme Delivery

3 5 15

A Director has been allocated to focus on OCC Infrastructure Delivery which will address 
senior management capacity challenges. The role focuses on delivering the capital 
programme and establishing internal processes to speed up delivery e.g. a Programme 
Management Office has been established, a new ICT system for more effective Project 
Management is being introduced (Oct 2020) and new governance structure to deal with 
the volume of schemes in the pipeline and provide, for example, technical programme 
management, risk/assurance  management, performance management and a broader 
partnership function.                                                                                                                         
Temporary Additional skills and resources have been brought in to assist with the 
programme management of the major elements of the programmes.

CIIr D. Enright Bill Cotton

Demand management 
‐Adults‐ Adult social 
care services aren't  
help people remain 
independent and 
healthy for as long as 
possible

LR5

4 4 16 3 4 12

More people present with higher social care needs, reflecting 
not just the growth in needs in the population, but also the 
change in informal care, which will not rise as quickly as 
demand.  People with needs, who did not come forward for 
care previously, now start to come forward with greater 
public awareness of social care.  
Those people who do come forward, have higher levels of 
need.  
People moving to social care funded services as health 
services also face reduced funding.

CIIr J. Hannaby

01/09/2021 ‐ Risk 
reviewed, residual 
score increased, 
mitigating actions 
and comments 
updated.

3 5 15 ↑

A Service Improvement Plan has been enacted that links to the Communities 
directorate redesign and will ensure the long term resources and skills are put in 
place and all processes are modernised and to manage this large and complex 
set of programmes. 
A corporate Assurance Board has been set up, chaired by the CEO to ensure the 
cross council focus and support is in place to capture any issues early and enable 
the prioritisation of resources and effort where needed.                                               

Owen Jenkins

Mitigating Action that were put in place have taken effect and significant 
progress has been made in scheme delivery, and although some residual risk 
remains, the situation is improving, hence the risk reduced across the majority of 
schemes. However emerging cost pressures and programme pressures as a 
result of further scheme development have increased the risk of delivery on 
some key schemes. These are currently being assessed and an action plan being 
developed to mitigate     

Risk at target level but a permanent risk due to demographic pressures. These 
are being managed well in Oxfordshire and responding to demand is a core 
thread of the Adults transformation programme.

Main issue in managing demand remains the performance of the reablement 
pathway (subject of a separate risk) which is monitored monthly with action plan 
in place.  A retender of the reablement support provider was completed during 
August 21 with new service commencing in October 21.                                               
ASC transformation and Making it Happen approach have begun, in partnership 
with the voluntary sector and is progressing in line with plans, impacts are as 
expected.

P
age 61



Ref
Name and 

Description of risk
Potential impact Controls Control assessment Lead Member Risk owner Risk manager

Direct’n 
of travel

Mitigating actions 
(to address control issues)

Comments
Last 

updated+A1:R2

2021/22

Pr
ob

ab
ili
ty

Im
pa

ct

Ra
tin

g Fully effective
Partially effective
Not effective Pr

ob
ab

ili
ty

Im
pa

ct

Ra
tin

g

Residual risk level 
(after existing 

controls)

Inherent (gross) 
risk level 

(no Controls)

Impact on Council's ability to deliver services if disruption 
affects particular locations, customers or staff. 

Thames Valley Police and Safer Community Partnership are monitoring communities to 
identify any issues that may indicate escalating community tensions.

Health Protection Board, MOAC and Surveillance Cell in place to manage 
pandemic surveillance, implementation of restrictions and Oxfordshire System 
communications.

Potential reduction in public trust if the council is not seen to 
be acting appropriately. 

Government Road Map to Recovery being reviewed by all relevant groups.

Ongoing management of existing relationships held at Cabinet and senior officer level, 
including sharing of priorities and early discussion of potential changes or challenges

Maintain oversight of partnerships in the county to reflect new recovery systems 
working arrangements, including bi‐laterals.

Supported by regular engagement and interaction at different levels of the 
organisation, including joint working initiatives and shared posts.

 New working relationships with VCS and infrastructure support contract are 
being developed, with new support arrangements to be in place by April 2022.

Formal/informal meetings with main bodies and sector representatives. Community development strategy and approach to be produced and 
implemented jointly with VCS and partners.

Participation and engagement in local partnerships, forums and project / policy 
development work.

 Partners' engagement with / involvement in Community Resilience work will 
help to minimise the likelihood of this risk.

The Civilian / Military Partnership is implementing changes to how it operates, and has 
supported the Council to achieve Gold status under the Armed Forces Employer 
Recognition Scheme. 

Support Democratic Services with new Member induction packs and support 
new Portfolio Holder through advising and briefing of relevant relationships to 
establish as priority. 

Health and Wellbeing Board has oversight of development of Integrated Care System 
and pooled budget arrangements.

Growth Board retains oversight of the implementation of the Housing and Growth Deal 
and Housing Infrastructure Fund schemes. 
Systems structures in place to deliver on‐going response to CV‐19  and plan for 
recovery. 

Liaison and planning arrangements in‐place with VCS for Covid‐19  community 
response, VCS resilience and recovery planning.

3 4 12

Local and community 
resilience : ensuring 
there are plans in 
place to support and 
engage communities 
with regards to 
resilience, cohesion, 
and community 
tension 

↔

Impacts of UK Transition being monitored by specific Oxfordshire System group 
and community tension risk being reviewed by Local Resilience Forum.

Covid remains the main factor envisaged to cause community tension although 
there is no significant intelligence being raised to this effect and rising cases are 
being managed by surge testing 

17/08/2021 ‐ No 
changes

LR7

Communication network in place including local Members to provide single consistent 
messaging via multiple trusted sources should it be needed.

2 4 8CIIr N. Fawcett Yvonne Rees Rob MacDougall

8 CIIr G. Phillips Claire Taylor Emily Schofield  2 3 6 ↔

06/08/2021 ‐ No 
changes

LR8 Management of 
partnerships (non‐
commercial) 
maximising the use of 
effective partnerships 
to deliver strategic 
outcomes and 
community benefit.  

Deterioration of key relationships could reduce the Council’s 
ability to: 
• meet desired outcomes for residents,
• achieve efficient delivery 
• take opportunities to improve services.
It also has the potential to negatively affect public 
confidence in the Council (e.g. through inspection outcomes)
Failure to work effectively with the local Voluntary & 
Community Sector (VCS) might impact on our ability to both 
support and utilise the capacity and capability of the sector 
to help generate community resilience, community 
willingness to effectively address local needs and help to 
reduce demand for services (e.g. prevention). 2 4

P
age 62



Ref
Name and 

Description of risk
Potential impact Controls Control assessment Lead Member Risk owner Risk manager

Direct’n 
of travel

Mitigating actions 
(to address control issues)

Comments
Last 

updated+A1:R2

2021/22

Pr
ob

ab
ili
ty

Im
pa

ct

Ra
tin

g Fully effective
Partially effective
Not effective Pr

ob
ab

ili
ty

Im
pa

ct

Ra
tin

g

Residual risk level 
(after existing 

controls)

Inherent (gross) 
risk level 

(no Controls)

Council governance framework is regularly reviewed and updated by senior managers 
and members.

Continue to undertake control measures throughout 2021‐22 and respond to 
specific matters as they arise.

Constitution ‐ updated and annually reviewed by Monitoring Officer and Full Council ‐ 
Amendments made to the Constitution to facilitate virtual/remote public meetings.

System of internal control ‐ co‐ordinated by the Corporate Governance Assurance 
Group; overseen by the Chief Internal Auditor; elected member oversight by Audit & 
Governance Committee, which reviews the Annual Governance Statement.

Annual Governance Statement – annual opportunity to review the effectiveness of 
internal controls; signed by Leader and three statutory postholders (HOPS, MO, CFO); 
overseen by Audit & Governance Committee.

Corporate Governance Assurance Group leading a project to review/align 
governance processes between Cherwell DC and Oxon CC. CEDR has agreed a 
quarterly reporting process  for CEDR/ELT and Corp Gov Assurance Group

Meetings have returned successfully to physical form (Annual Council), in 
compliance with COVID safe rules

The Procurement team has a contract in place for a credit check service that analyses 
the financial position of an organisation to determine a credit score. This information is 
used in the Tender evaluation process to select a suitable supplier and to monitor 
ongoing performance of current suppliers. Current suppliers that see a drop in their 
financial rating would trigger an alert that would be considered by the applicable 
contract manager. 

The Procurement team has a contract in place for a credit check service that 
analyses the financial position of an organisation to determine a credit score. 
This information is used in the Tender evaluation process to select a suitable 
supplier and to monitor ongoing performance of current suppliers. Current 
suppliers that see a drop in their financial rating would trigger an alert that 
would be considered by the applicable contract manager. 

The Contract Management Intelligence Team, as part of Provision Cycle, is taking 
a more proactive role in identifying risks in the supplier and marketplace more 
generally. As part of the implementation of Provision Cycle, contract 
management procedures are being discussed with Service Areas, in order to 
agree respective roles. 

03/08/2021 ‐ No 
changes

Supply chain 
management: 
ensuring effective 
delivery through the 
supply chain

LR9

2 4 8 CIIr C. Miller Steve Jorden  Melissa Sage 2 4 8 ↔

Delays to meeting service requirements or service provision.

Business Continuity Plans are in place which ensure that appropriate  leadership of the 
Covid‐19 response.

Control measures implemented throughout 2019/20 and updates on key issues are 
reported to Audit & Governance Committee.

Democratic decision‐making processes are in place and reviewed as part of the 
Constitution Review and with regard to COVID regulations and virtual meetings 
processes

2

LR10 Corporate 
governance: creating 
and embedding an 
effective and robust 
management and 
governance system 
that provides 
accountability and 
transparency. 

Inconsistent, uncompliant or potentially unlawful 
actions/decisions. 
Inability to support Council's democratic functions / 
obligations (e.g. remote public meetings, remote voting).
Elements of the Covid‐19 response may be compromised or 
delayed.

2 2 CIIr G. Phillips

Annual Governance Statement process for reflecting back on the year 2020/21 is 
now completed, with approval from the Audit & Governance Committee.  
Process now begun for embedding Local Code of Corporate Governance and 
Annual Governance Statement process (for 2021/22 year) with ELT and CEDR. 
CEDR approved plan and first meeting held with ELT.  
ELT members being approached outside the meeting with detailed follow up.

Elections successfully delivered and Induction Programme has completed its first 
phase. Consultation with the administration, CEDR and potential councillor 
working group to develop future stages. Sessions delivered to councillors on the 
constitution, finance, code of conduct, equalities and service overviews.

Anita Bradley Glenn Watson 1 2 ↔

Induction rolled out; decision making meetings continue to be  held in physical 
form, with access rights in person and virtually for the public and other 
participants, and doing so in line with changing public health situation (e.g. 
relocation of meetings outside of Oxford City). The new administration formed.     

17/08/2021 ‐ No 
changes

Proposals for a Constitution Review for Oxon CC agreed by Audit & Governance 
Committee and Full Council in March agreeing a fuller review to be owned by the 
new incoming Council after the May 2021 elections.  
Cross party working group to be proposed to Audit & Governance Committee in 
September with timeline for the review.

4

P
age 63



Ref
Name and 

Description of risk
Potential impact Controls Control assessment Lead Member Risk owner Risk manager

Direct’n 
of travel

Mitigating actions 
(to address control issues)

Comments
Last 

updated+A1:R2

2021/22

Pr
ob

ab
ili
ty

Im
pa

ct

Ra
tin

g Fully effective
Partially effective
Not effective Pr

ob
ab

ili
ty

Im
pa

ct

Ra
tin

g

Residual risk level 
(after existing 

controls)

Inherent (gross) 
risk level 

(no Controls)

 On‐going monitoring of issues and HR data. Development and adoption of sector relevant workforce plans .

Development of new People and Organisational Development strategy.

The ability to interrogate and access key data (ongoing) in order to inform 
workforce strategies.

Ongoing service redesign will set out long term service requirements . Development of new Learning & Development strategy, including 
apprenticeships.
Post Covid‐19 recovery plans to support the workforce are under commission.

The impact of the risk occurring would be failure to realise 
improved service delivery, quality and inability to respond to 
growing demands. 

 All projects identify benefits to be delivered and long term financial implications 
(upfront costs and savings), supported by project plans.

Initial consultation work on IT reorganisation complete, key posts now filled with 
staff supporting both CDC and OCC giving more alignment.

It may  cause inefficiencies,  increasing costs and/or lack of 
delivery of planned savings. 

Financial benefits realisation articulated in all project plans, monitored via monthly 
highlight reports and our corporate reporting process

Gartner have been engaged to undertake PMO maturity baseline and to identify 
areas for further improvement.

Systematic service improvement activity focused on demand management, and 
developing a more preventative approach to our services

Continue to ensure that detailed planning and monitoring of projects fully 
understands interdependencies between projects.

The IT, Digital and Programme Board membership has been reviewed and 
refreshed to ensure all  service areas are represented.

Where joint activity is planned the Partnership Working Group review progress and 
delivery.
Capacity and expertise is managed through inhouse resources (including development 
of new skills where necessary) and the use of external professional support where 
required – a mixed economy model of delivery.

Failure to manage the workforce and develop strategic HR 
plans may result in the following:
 •Recruitment and reten on issues 
 •Increased costs of agency staff
 •Increased costs in training and development
 •Underperformance or lack of delivery

4 3 12

Workforce 
management: long 
term plans to ensure a 
capable and skilled 
workforce with the 
capacity to deliver 
required and new 
services.

LR11

Furthermore inefficiencies may result in increased costs 
and/or lack of delivery of planned savings. 

The breadth of the programme means that it is built of many 
constituent parts, so that if any one project fails, it can be 
‘tied off’, replaced or redesigned. This breadth means that 
risk is managed across a wide portfolio but it also requires 
the right capacity, skills and governance to ensure delivery. 

These will include any lessons learnt and training needs and alignment with any 
new service delivery requirements arising from Covid‐19.
Weekly review of the absence data is being undertaken to identify areas of high 
absence.

As the response to Covid evolves and we move towards a new 'norm' such as 
greater agile working, both workforce and management development will 
require a re‐focus to enable this transition for the long term.This risk remains 
stable.  Absence as a result of Covid has fallen out of the top 5 reasons for 
sickness absence in Q1.  Self ‐ isolation rules change on 16 August 2021 which 
should see a significant reduction in staff having to self‐isolate if they are double 
vaccninated although there are some exceptions for staff wokring with specific 
client groups.  The situation continues to be monitored.  Turnover (planned and 
unplanned) is significantly below the national level. 

18/08/21 ‐ 
Comments 
updated

Key staff in post to address risks (e.g. strategic HR business partners, reward manager)

CIIr G. Phillips Claire Taylor Karen Edwards 3 3 9 ↔

CIIr G. Phillips Claire Taylor Tim Spiers 3 4

CEDR continues to manage in flight change projects and directorates have been 
directed where possible that implementation of change is to continue e.g. provision 
cycle, family safeguarding, front office transformation where possible. Delays and the 
consequences thereof will be considered by CEDR as the accountable body for change 
management.

LR12 Organisational 
Change and Service 
Design: ensuring there 
are effective plans and 
governance in place to 
deliver required 
organisational change. 

4 4 16

All project resourcing considered monthly, roles allocated & additional 3rd party 
support commissioned where there is a lack of internal capacity. 

 Organisation change and service redesign has been fully incorporated into business as 
usual and so scrutiny and assurance will revert to the Performance Scrutiny and Audit & 
Governance committees. This will be supplemented by detailed financial analysis that 
reflects the explicit link between the programme of work and the council's Medium‐
Term Financial Plan.

18/08/2021 ‐ 
Comments 
updated

12 ↔

Ensure that the Council's change agenda, including all existing 
programmes, is integrated into one overall portfolio of change 
programmes that lead and inform the Service and Resource Planning 
Process, and expand in scope where further savings are required.

Ensure all change activity is fully aligned to, and supportive of, the corporate 
priority setting and Medium Term Financial Planning process.

 CEDR to regularly review the Council’s portfolio of change programmes' (both 
corporate and service focused) fitness for purpose and delivery, as part of 
quarterly reviews reported to members CEDR to review impact of Covid‐19 on 
organisational change a reprofile projects as required. 

Align work with CDC programmes wherever possible to achieve increased 
benefits. The IT Services are being closely joined which will support alignment

P
age 64



Ref
Name and 

Description of risk
Potential impact Controls Control assessment Lead Member Risk owner Risk manager

Direct’n 
of travel

Mitigating actions 
(to address control issues)

Comments
Last 

updated+A1:R2

2021/22

Pr
ob

ab
ili
ty

Im
pa

ct

Ra
tin

g Fully effective
Partially effective
Not effective Pr

ob
ab

ili
ty

Im
pa

ct

Ra
tin

g

Residual risk level 
(after existing 

controls)

Inherent (gross) 
risk level 

(no Controls)

 Progress against current year’s savings is tracked monthly and included in the Business 
Management Reports to Cabinet. Fully

Progress against future year’s savings is also tracked monthly, and if necessary 
addressed as part of the Service & Resource Planning process Additional costs, loss of 
income and non‐ achievement of savings are being tracked and inform data returns to 

Fully

Savings under the banner of Organisational Change and Service Design being monitored 
on a project/activity level with detailed planning, milestones & reporting.      Fully

Regular meetings between Directors and s151 Officer to discuss significant financial 
issues and risks.  Fully CIIr C. Miller 10 ↔

25/08/2021 ‐ No 
changes

The Government continues to provide grant funding to assist with the public 
health response and containment of further outbreaks, which is enabling 
targeting support to local businesses, communities and voluntary sector, without 
additional cost to the Council. The Government is also funding lost income on 
Sales Fees and Charges related to COVID, which we are claiming in accordance 
with the Government timetable. COVID related grants and funding are being 
reported routinely to CEDR. The longer‐ term financial impacts will become 
clearer during the recovery phase both locally and nationally, but currently 
remains uncertain. 

'The financial impact of COVID‐ 19 is being tracked and is being reported to 
CEDR, Cabinet and Performance Scrutiny Committee and as part of the monthly 
Business Management report.

Significant overspend at year end leading to:
• extensive use of general balances, taking them below their 
risk assessed level
• extensive use of earmarked reserves resulting in no funding
available for earmarked purpose
• further savings or income generation required in year or 
across the life of the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP)

Further reductions to funding will require additional savings 
or income generation opportunities above those in the 
existing MTFP. Given the scale of the reductions already 
delivered and those planned, plus continuing rising demand 
in Adults and Children’s services, the ability to respond to 
this, and quickly, could put at risk the setting of a balanced 
budget and MTFP.

Financial resilience: 
ensuring there are 
effective plans in place 
to deliver a balanced 
budget and a 
sustainable medium 
term financial strategy

LR13

155 Lorna Baxter Ian Dyson 2 53

P
age 65



Ref
Name and 

Description of risk
Potential impact Controls Control assessment Lead Member Risk owner Risk manager

Direct’n 
of travel

Mitigating actions 
(to address control issues)

Comments
Last 

updated+A1:R2

2021/22

Pr
ob

ab
ili
ty

Im
pa

ct

Ra
tin

g Fully effective
Partially effective
Not effective Pr

ob
ab

ili
ty

Im
pa

ct

Ra
tin

g

Residual risk level 
(after existing 

controls)

Inherent (gross) 
risk level 

(no Controls)

 H&S policies and procedures have been reviewed and adopted.

 Risk Assessments completed including COVID‐19.

 Provision of PPE is priority area of focus for both standard work issue and additional 
infection control requirements for COVID‐19.

Information and training programmes in place for staff and volunteers.  
Communications channels in place including COVID‐19 focussed H&S information.

H&S Governance Board maintains oversight of policy and practice with response to 
COVID‐19  covered within business continuity support structure.

Additional budget has been allocated for rectifying all H&S and compliance items across 
our buildings and to bring full statutory compliance.

We have established a H&S and Compliance function within PIFM where the right 
expertise is now in‐house to enable us to bring and maintain the right level of 
compliance.

Policies and procedures are regularly reviewed to ensure safe operating 
framework.   

H&S monitoring will be carried out in selected services to assess compliance subject to 
restrictions due to COVID‐19;

Reporting of key data and issues to Leadership Teams and through business continuity 
support structure.  This will include any incidents of work‐related exposure to COVID‐19 
as per RIDDOR.

LR14 Health and safety: 
ensuring effective 
arrangements are in 
place to meet our 
duties

Unsafe services leading to injury or loss.

Breach of legislation and potential for enforcement action.

Financial impact (compensation or improvement actions)

3 4

17/08/2021 ‐  
Comments 
updated.  

COVID‐Secure arrangements and safe working practices remain effective and are 
regularly reviewed to ensure they are inline with government guidance.  Even 
though positive outlook with reducing cases controls are expected to remain in 
place for longer term e.g. IPC procedures including PPE.

Corporate Assurance on effectiveness of H&S controls is monitored by the H&S 
Assurance Board.  Key areas of focus include:
‐ Task and Finish group established to review and recommend improvements for 
the role of Responsible Premises Manager.  This will be delivered as part of the 
Property function redesign which will  look holistically at property management 
and include system improvement.
‐ As part of delivering the future and agile working a review is underway to 
ensure the health and safety is adequality considered for home working.  This 
has included improvements around DSE Assessments, provision of work 
equipment and prevention of ill health.

Risk score remains amber to reflect increasing COVID cases  nationally and in 
Oxfordshire.  H&S Risk Assessments and Procedures remain effective in 
controlling workplace exposure and reducing transmission alongside vaccination 
programme.  To achieve 'Green' RAG rating a downward trend and low case 
numbers needed to reduce likelihood of exposure.

Currently at  Stage 4 of Roadmap.  Important to note legal duties under H&S 
legislation still apply including red to assess risks to our staff and customers and 
take appropriate mitigations in line with the current gov working safely 
guidance:  Frontline services e.g. social care continuing to apply IPC protocols 
incl. PPE etc.   H&S/FM developing proposals for return to offices with focus on 
improving ventilation, regular cleaning and encouraging hand hygiene and 
wearing of face coverings.

Lone worker mobile app project on track and onboarding of services in progress.

Field Monitoring by H&S Team has restarted ‐ Libraries and CSS Centres during 
Q2.

Corporate H&S for OCC/CDC now aligned in terms of management support and 
where possible aligned governance processes.

CIIr N. Fawcett Steven Jorden Paul Lundy 2 4 8 ↔

Home‐working arrangements supported by advice, guidance, equipment etc., frequent 
messages from CEO and Internal Comms.  Specific arrangements in place to provide 
equipment for those with specialist requirements or needs.

12

P
age 66



Ref
Name and 

Description of risk
Potential impact Controls Control assessment Lead Member Risk owner Risk manager

Direct’n 
of travel

Mitigating actions 
(to address control issues)

Comments
Last 

updated+A1:R2

2021/22

Pr
ob

ab
ili
ty

Im
pa

ct

Ra
tin

g Fully effective
Partially effective
Not effective Pr

ob
ab

ili
ty

Im
pa

ct

Ra
tin

g

Residual risk level 
(after existing 

controls)

Inherent (gross) 
risk level 

(no Controls)

A robust plan is in place and under continuous improvement.  The IT Service at CDC and OCC continue to manage cyber security threats in‐line 
with the required 'Cyber Essentials Plus' standards.

OCC and CDC  are   'Cyber Security Essentials Plus' accredited. 

OCC are currently undertaking 'Cyber Essentials Plus' accreditation. 

OCC and CDC are PSN accredited.

Launched a 'Cyber Security Awareness' project to evaluate and improve Cyber 
awareness across the Council, including new eLearning material and security 
exercises.

Implemented 'Microsoft Cloud App Security' which protects our use of cloud 
services, providing advanced threat detection against ransomware, inside 
threats and data leaks.

Trialling an email banner to highlight external emails – providing protection  
against phishing attacks, spoofed emails and scams.

LR15

LR16 Cyber security: 
assurance that 
effective controls are 
in place to prevent 
security issues. 

A serious and widespread attack (like Wannacry in Health or 
Ransomeware attacks in Hackney and Recur) could mean the 
Council will not be able to function or support services, 
causing business continuity plans to be invoked. 

There may be less serious lower level theft of data or a 
publicity type attack.

4 4 16

OCC and CDC are also working with other local government organisations to ensure a co‐
ordinated approach to Cyber Security events.

Guidance has been re‐issued to all staff on protective measures to take when home 
working, less secure apps have been disabled. 

CIIr G. Phillips Claire Taylor  Alastair Read 3 4

Health Protection Board, MOAC and Surveillance Cell in place to manage 
pandemic surveillance, lifting of restrictions and Oxfordshire System 
communications
Agile working guidance continues to be developed across services
Business Continuity Plans have been reviewed and business impact assessments 
are being completed for 21/22.

12 ↔

As part of the IT service redesign a joint OCC/CDC Cyber Security officer has been 
appointed , to undertake: 
 •Responsibility for managing security threats and preven on methods
 •Working with Informa on Management to ensure implica ons of GDPR on data 

security are understood and built in
 •Working with partners to provide training so that every OCC user is aware of 

their role in preventing cyber threats 
 •Documen ng processes and policy to define roles, responsibili es and 

procedures 
 •Maximising tech to reduce cyber risks
 •Ensuring all new and exis ng suppliers meet cyber security requirements

CIIr N. Fawcett Steve Jorden  Rob MacDougall 2 4 8 ↔

Business continuity plans remain under review to reflect the on‐going COVID situation 
.The business continuity improvement programme has led to significant and has led to 
significant improvements including to a consistent approach to business impact 
assessments, service business continuity frameworks and business continuity plans. 

Rising Covid cases in Oxfordshire have started to see a slight increase in staff 
absences. To date these are manageable levels and  short term. The change in 
isolation regulations for vaccinated staff from 16th August should ease 
departmental pressures arising from short term staff shortages.
Staff absence and impact on services continues to be closely monitored.

11/08/2021 ‐ 
Comments 
updated

Business continuity 
and recovery plans: 
Resilience to a 
additional significant 
disruption during the 
Covid‐19 Response

Essential Council Services and Covid‐19 Response services are 
unable to be recovered within a reasonable time frame. 
Impacts could include risk to life or welfare, financial loss (for 
example due to litigation) and reduction of  trust in Council 

  services

3 4 12

IT and Cyber Security Officer has been appointed to cover both OCC and CDC. 
The IT Service continues to work with colleagues and partners to manage the 
cyber security threat.
IT technical resources from OCC and CDC are working closely to ensure both 
organisations are protected from Cyber security threats. Risk is being treated as 
a high priority due to the ongoing threat to all organisations.

Our approach is guided by the National Cyber Security Centre (NCSC) and also 
informed by Gartner insight.
Presentation made to Audit and Governance Committee regarding the current 
status and plans to ensure the organisation continues to do everything possible 
to manage the ongoing threat.   
Work is being planned to increase awareness.
We are now engaging our annual PSN review.  With the changes we have put in 
place this process has become easier to execute with less requirement on 
people resources. Our ongoing patching and asset management has helped the 
process.  There is more work to be done but we have made great steps forward.   
NCSC have advised that all County Councils have an offline backup solution to 
fully mitigate against Ransomware.  To add this to out infrastructure the cost 
would be in the region of £250k that has not been budgeted for.

IT are now running an awareness programme.

18/08/2021 ‐ 
Comments 
updated

P
age 67



Ref
Name and 

Description of risk
Potential impact Controls Control assessment Lead Member Risk owner Risk manager

Direct’n 
of travel

Mitigating actions 
(to address control issues)

Comments
Last 

updated+A1:R2

2021/22

Pr
ob

ab
ili
ty

Im
pa

ct

Ra
tin

g Fully effective
Partially effective
Not effective Pr

ob
ab

ili
ty

Im
pa

ct

Ra
tin

g

Residual risk level 
(after existing 

controls)

Inherent (gross) 
risk level 

(no Controls)

Maintaining assessment to keep on top of changing needs of workforce, services 
and cyber threats under CV‐19

Ensuring sufficient staff cover is lined up to keep ICT running in the event of staff 
illness   

Replacement datacentre, disaster recovery and backup solution are fully 
operational. 

Datacentre network equipment has been updated and the amount of core space 
used rationalised.

Measures remain in place together with the resilience testing to maintain core IT 
services. 

Staff resources are assigned to the most in demand IT requirements.

An expanded duty team will support delivery of critical services out of hours

New joint cyber security officer has been appointed which enables an even 
greater focus on protecting the organisation against possible cyber‐attacks.

Business Continuity Plans and Risk have been updated since the COVID‐19 
outbreak to capture all new learnings.  Mitigation has been put in place to create 
COVID‐19 bubbles to ensure essential staff are separated in case of infection.

All projects have been prioritised to ensure that critical work can continue in 
case of 2nd or 3rd wave.
A proposal for a more cost effective and less complex DR solution has been 
agreed and procurement will start this month for installation in November.  This 
should be able to remove this risk. Procurement is happening this week. 
Installation pushed back until December.

Installation of more cost effective DR is underway.  Completion by Feb 2021. 

Due to COVID work this has been delayed.  We also fixed some networking issues 
that had caused outages over the last 3 Sundays, making the infrastructure even 
more resilient. 

We now have a migrated datacentre, the DR solution is in place and less 
complex than previous.  We have tested all parts of the solution.  We now have 
to run a full DR test to confirm our testing.

 18/08/2021 ‐ Risk 
reviewed,  no 
changes

8 ↔CIIr G. Phillips Claire Taylor Alastair Read 2 412

All servers and services have been migrated (by the end of Q4 2019/20) to the new data 
centre equipment and are operational. 

The new backup service is operational. The cloud Disaster Recovery solution is 
configured and running.

IT Staff have been reassigned to meet any increase in demand due to COVID19 business 
requirements. 

IT have secured more laptops to help ensure we have stock in case there is delivery 
issues after Brexit.         

IT support and provision for new/returning members of Staff is functioning well and 
demand is being met. IT are working with Integrated Transport to deliver and collect 
equipment required by Staff working from home.

LR17 ICT Infrastructure: 
assurance that IT 
infrastructure is 
reliable and fit for 
purpose

There is a risk of ICT failure which could disrupt our ability to 
sustain parts of the Council's services. 
We need to plan replacement as the back‐up solution has 
started to fail intermittently.
Council's ICT is inadequate and/or inappropriate to support 
extensive home‐working during CV‐19 response.
Difficulties in providing ICT support for new/returning 
members of staff (and volunteers needing access to council 
systems?)
Limited capacity/effectiveness in meeting the requirements 
of novel schemes/services required by Govt as part of CV‐19 
response

3 4

P
age 68



Ref
Name and 

Description of risk
Potential impact Controls Control assessment Lead Member Risk owner Risk manager

Direct’n 
of travel

Mitigating actions 
(to address control issues)

Comments
Last 

updated+A1:R2

2021/22

Pr
ob

ab
ili
ty

Im
pa

ct

Ra
tin

g Fully effective
Partially effective
Not effective Pr

ob
ab

ili
ty

Im
pa

ct

Ra
tin

g

Residual risk level 
(after existing 

controls)

Inherent (gross) 
risk level 

(no Controls)

LR20 Construction 
Resources and Skills 
shortages ‐ Availability 
of construction 
materials and skills 
could lead to high 
inflation for 
construction projects 
and a potential lack of 
appropriate skills and 
resources to complete 
programmes on time/ 
budget.

Impact on Property, Major Infrastructure and Maintenance 
programmes.
Projects get stalled.
Increased costs mean fewer projects can be completed 
within funding envelopes.
Skills shortages lead to increased costs.
Skills shortages lead to projects slowing down or being 
undeliverable.
Contractors unable to commit to quoted prices due to 
market conditions. 4 4 16

Grow your own – bringing in more junior staff and training them up.
Utilisation of contracted and temporary staff where necessary.
Increased supply chain base to increase the chances of success.
Closer working with supply chain partners to influence an Oxfordshire first strategy.
Communicating longer term programmes to gain market confidence.

Partial  CIIr  T. Bearder Bill Cotton Owen Jenkings  4 4 16 ↔

Further work with supply chains to secure resources for Oxfordshire.
Communication with government departments to increase flexibility and 
funding.

There maybe a need to rebalance programmes if risk is realised, and prioritise 
those projects that give the best outcomes, delaying or halting those that are 
less favourable.

26/08/2021 ‐ No 
changes

LR18

3 5 20 CIIr G. Phillips Claire Taylor

Covid‐19. Assurance 
that the Council can 
maintain and initiate 
new services and 
support to those 
impacted by the 
coronavirus pandemic 
as required by local 
circumstances and 
national requirements 
alongside maintaining 
BAU provision

The Council's Recovery Strategy (Re‐start, Re‐Cover and Re‐New) has been 
revisited and a report was submitted to Cabinet in June 2021 to reassess 
recovery planning alongside the controls and capacity that need to remain in 
place through the transitional horizon.

04/08/2021 ‐ 
Controls 
updated

•Possible reductions in frontline service delivery, events, 
meetings and customer contact. ‐ Increased level of service
demand  due to the effects of the pandemic
•Economic hardship impacting local business and potentially 
the local workforce.
•Impact on vulnerable residents who may find it harder to 
access services. 
•Increased demand on both frontline and enabling services. 
•Prolonged risk of social isolation and the mental and 
physical consequence thereof. 

System‐wide pandemic governance is in place.
The Council has prepared, revised and is delivering a Local Outbreak Management Plan 
to minimise the spread and impact of COVID‐19
Under ‘System Gold’ arrangements, we work with partners across the system to 
address the immediate concerns of the pandemic (eg to deliver contain plans, 
vaccinations and communications of key messages) as well as to plan to the recovery 
from wider pandemic impact in system‐wide recovery planning Business Continuity 
Plans have been reviewed, tested and are maintained and updated
Remote working  is in place alongside new capacity for remote and ‘hybrid’ public 
meetings with initial return to some face to face meetings and review of customer 
facing functions following Step 4 of the national roadmap.  
Staff communications stepped up, to support remote working, reinforce national 
guidelines and set out the current organisational response.
Regular updates from Director of Public Health, shared internally and externally.
Within the organisations, weekly sickness monitoring in place
Agile working guidance for the post‐Roadmap period has been issued
A RAG rating reporting system is in place to provide updates at directorate/service level 
on a fortnightly basis for areas forecasting  significant staff and service pressures due to 
COVID‐19 impact. This data is monitored at OCC/CDC Silver and escalated to CEDR 
(Gold) as required).

Robin Rogers 3 3 9 ↔

P
age 69



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Annex C 
Business Management & Monitoring Report July 2021 

Summary of Financial Position at July 2021 

Introduction 
1. This annex sets out the latest financial monitoring information for the 2021/22

financial year and is based on information to the end of July 2021. This report
focuses on key issues, risks and areas of emerging pressure.

The following additional information is provided to support the information in
this
Annex:
Annex C – 1 (a) to (f) Detailed directorate positions 
Annex C – 2a Virement Summary  
Annex C – 2b COVID-19 forecast and virement request 
Annex C – 2c Virements to Note 
Annex C – 3 Government Grants Summary 
Annex C – 4 Earmarked Reserves  
Annex C – 5 Revised Music Service Fees & Charges 

Overall Financial Position 
2. The table below sets out the forecast position for 2021/22.  The forecast

overspend of £0.4m reflects the ongoing impact of pressures and vacancies
reported within the directorates at the end of the 2020/21 financial year.  Further
detail is set out in the directorate sections below. Where variations to the budget
are reported, management action is being taken and the forecast is likely to
change by the end of the year.

Directorate Latest 
Budget 

£m 

Forecast 
Spend 

£m 

Variance 

£m 

Variance 

% 
Children Services 139.6 140.3 0.7 0.5 
Adult Services 198.5 198.5 0.0 0.0 
Public Health 0.2 0.2 0.0 0.0 
Environment & Place 61.0 62.1 1.1 1.8 
Customers, Organisational 
Development & Resources 

33.3 33.1 -0.2 -0.6

Commercial Development, Assets 
and Investments 

50.3 49.1 -1.2 -2.4

Total Directorate Budgets 482.9 483.3 0.4 0.1 

Corporate Measures -482.9 -482.9 0.0 0.0 
Total Forecast Position 0.0 0.4 0.4 0.1 

Page 71



Annex C 
Business Management & Monitoring Report July 2021 

Directorate Financial Positions 
 

Children’s Services 
 

3. As at the end of July 2021 there is a £0.7m forecast variance to the £139.6m 
budget for Children’s Services.  This is currently all within Children’s Social Care, 
but there are a number of risks which need to be monitored during the year. 

 
Service Area 2021/22 Latest 

Budget 
 

£m 

Forecast Year End 
Variation 

 
£m 

Education & Learning  32.8 0.0 
Children’s Social Care  35.9 0.7 

Children’s Social Care 
Countywide 

65.8 0.0 

Schools* 0.2 0.0 
Children’s Services 
Central Costs  

4.9 0.0 

Total Children’s 
Services  

139.6 0.0 

*Maintained Schools are funded by Dedicated Schools Grant 

 
Education & Learning  

4. Within Education & Learning the biggest risks relate to Home to School Transport 
and the Special Educational Needs service.  
 

5. There was a significant underspend in Home to School Transport in 2020/21.This 
is unlikely to be repeated this year as it was in part linked to home learning for 
many children for part of the year due to COVID-19. . . However, the benefits 
realised through alternative or more efficient transport solutions should materialise 
and result in ongoing cost reductions. This will be offset by demographic growth, 
which won’t be clear until the autumn term when school places are taken up and 
routes finalised.  
 

6. Within the Special Education Needs service there are considerable pressures on 
the SEN casework team and the Educational Psychologists due to the continued 
high number of education, health and care plan (EHCP) requests. This additional 
workload is likely to result in a budget pressure if additional staff are required to 
manage the demand. Further work has identified that the level of demand for 
assessment and additional SEN support is higher than anticipated. This is likely 
to be an affect of the COVID-19 pandemic and further work is underway to identify 
options for managing this demand. 

 
COVID-19 Impact 

7. Committed and agreed spend on COVID-19 to date is forecast to be £0.8m.  There 
are a number of emerging pressures which may increase this forecast over the 
coming months and it may be necessary to keep resources in place for longer than 
currently planned. £0.4m of the agreed spend relates to an ongoing commitment 
to support early years sufficiency by supporting providers at risk of closure. £0.2m 

Page 72



Annex C 
Business Management & Monitoring Report July 2021 

relates to meeting pressures within pediatric therapy services where waiting lists 
have increased as a result of COVID-19. The balance relates to attendance, 
elective home education, SEN casework and admissions pressures. 

Social Care 
8. Within Children’s Social Care the two key risks at present are in relation to spend

on agency social workers where it is anticipated there will be a £0.7m overspend
and placements for children we care for.

9. Recruitment and retention of front line children’s social workers is an issue in the
majority of local authorities and represents an increasing challenge in Oxfordshire.
Based on the current use of agency social workers it is anticipated that there will
be an overspend within the front line social care teams of £0.7m this year. Work
is ongoing to address the vacancies, which may reduce the pressure over the
remainder of the year if successful, but there remains a risk this pressure could
increase further. Additional work is under way to look at solutions over the longer-
term, but it is currently anticipated that a pressure will continue in to 2022/23.

10. Consideration is also being given to the impact COVID-19 has had on this area of
spend and the forecast will be updated in future reports. The main effects due to
COVID-19 relate to an increase in the hourly rate and an increase in use of agency
social workers. The regional Memorandum of Cooperation which aims to controls
the cost of agency staff has been unable to continue to operate due to service
demand regionally creating increased competition for available experienced social
workers, which in turn, has led to increased hourly rates across the region. In
addition, it appears to have had an impact on the ability of Oxfordshire to recruit
and retain experienced social workers, although recruitment of newly qualified
social workers remains stable. It is challenging to identify the exact impact of
COVID-19 on these costs, but further work is being completed to provide further
detail and an update will be provided in the next report.

11. Placement spend for children we care for is strongly linked to demand and
complexity of need and will therefore be driven by the number and needs of
children we care for across the year. Residential home placements regularly cost
in excess of £0.2m per annum and therefore a small change in demand can have
a significant effect on the budget. At present based on current placements and
assumed demand in year there is no variance to report, however there are
significant uncertainties about how the demand seen in other parts of the service
will affect the number of children we care for over the medium-term.

COVID-19 Impact
12. The effect of COVID-19 on spend within Children’s Social Care will continue to be

monitored. There is likely to be a longer-term impact on children and families due
to the social and economic impacts of the pandemic. This is seen both in terms of
increased demand and one-off costs, and also complexity of cases that front-line
teams are experiencing. This is reflected in authorities across the country.

13. The most significant increase in demand to date has been seen within social care
contacts which have been much higher over the last 12 months and are expected
to continue during much of this financial year. There is also significant pressure

Page 73



Annex C 
Business Management & Monitoring Report July 2021 

within Family Solutions Plus teams due to an increase in assessments, delays in 
court timescales, and increased complexity. At this stage there is no certainty on 
how long or how significant this increased demand will be, but it may also lead to 
an increase in children we care for over the medium term, which would affect the 
forecast for placement spend. 

14. At present the forecast spend on COVID-19 for Children’s Social Care is £1.5m,
however there are a number of emerging pressures and it may be necessary to
retain additional resources and spend for a longer period than currently forecast.
Significant pressures include £0.3m for additional resources in the MASH and
£0.8m for additional resources in Family Solutions Plus teams to increase
capacity.

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)

High Needs DSG
15. As part of the budget agreed in February 2021 it was forecast that the High Needs

DSG which funds education for children and young people with Special Education
Needs and Disabilities (SEND) would be in deficit by £11.7m in 2021/22. At
present the forecast remains in line with the budget agreed in February. As
reported within the Education section of this report demand for SEN support is
higher than had been anticipated, which is creating a pressure within services
funded by High Needs DSG. This is likely to be affected by the COVID-19
pandemic and further work is being completed to identify the extent of this
pressure.

Contain Outbreak Management Fund (COMF)
16. In 2020/21 Children’s Services was allocated £1.0m of COMF funding, with £0.4m

spent by the end of the financial year, leaving a balance of £0.6m, which is forecast
to be spent during 2021/22. Significant programmes include £0.3m to provide
additional support to young people in supported accommodation and £0.2m to
support children at risk of exploitation to access education.

Adult Services
17. The service is currently forecasting a breakeven position against a budget of

£198.5m. The directorate forecast outturn includes £0.5m of costs relating to
COVID-19.

Page 74



Annex C 
Business Management & Monitoring Report July 2021 

Service Area 2021/22 
Latest Budget 

£m 

Forecast Year 
End Variation 

£m 
Better Care Fund Pooled 
Budget 

81.9 0.0 

Adults with Care and 
Supporting Needs Pooled 
Budget 

97.2 0.0 

Non- Pool Services 14.1 0.0 
Commissioning 5.3 0.0 
Total Adult Services 198.5 0.0 

18. Reflecting the position at the end of 2020/21, £10.7m is held in the council’s
reserves. £7.9m of this will be used to meet future cost pressures within Adult
Social Care, including £2.2m for anticipated pressures relating to mental health
needs.

19. The amount transferred to reserves also includes an additional £2.5m that was
released from the Council’s contribution to the Better Care Fund Pool as a result
of an additional contribution from the Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group
(OCCG) over the last two financial years. The expectation is that £1.5m of this will
be used to support financial pressures in the Better Care Fund pool in 2021/22.

Better Care Fund Pooled Budget
20. At this early stage in the year a break-even position is reported for the council

elements of the pool but there are on-going risks and uncertainties around activity
levels and the on-going impact of the Hospital Discharge Scheme and COVID-19
pandemic.

21. To date there are no costs arising as a result of COVID-19 that require additional
funding in 2021/22.   The longer run impact of COVID-19 on the level of need in
the local population remains unclear.

22. The pool combines health and social care expenditure on care homes, activity
relating to hospital avoidance and prevention and early support activities for older
people and adults with physical disabilities.

23. The initial budget contributions to the pooled budget in 2021/22 need to be agreed
by the Joint Commissioning Executive (JCE) in September 2021.   Because of the
on-going impacts of COVID-19, OCCG are continuing to work under a temporary
financial regime. Savings flowing from changes to funding nationally, are likely to
impact on the health contribution to the pool in the second half of the year but
confirmation of the arrangements is awaited. The continued expectation is that
each partner will manage their own variations against the agreed contributions for
at least the first half of the year.

24. Subject to agreement by the JCE (but assumed within the agreed budget) the
council’s share of the Better Care Fund held within the pool is £26.337m.  This
has increased by 5.3% (£1.3m) in 2021/22.  An update on the agreed use of the

Page 75



Annex C 
Business Management & Monitoring Report July 2021 

additional funding supporting Adult Social Care services will be provided in future 
reports but it is anticipated that some of this funding will be used to support the 
cost of joint teams supporting hospital discharges. 

25. The new Live Well at Home contracts for the provision of home care and re-
ablement, are scheduled to commence on 1 October 2021.  A dedicated
mobilisation team will support the smooth transition into these new contracts. This
will require up to £0.3m of extra funding to backfill posts and cover other
associated costs; the expectation is that this will be met by the funding in the Adult
Social Care reserve.

26. The Hospital Discharge Scheme continued to provide funding for up to 6 weeks
for anyone who needs to be assessed on discharge from hospital or to avoid
admission to hospital up until 30 June 2021. From 1 July the scheme will fund up
to four weeks of care for people discharged from hospital. This will continue until
30 September 2021.  Information on whether the scheme will continue in the
second half of the year is yet to be confirmed. As at 31 July 2021 £0.3m of social
care costs had been charged against the scheme in 2021/22.

27. The total number of care home placements is currently 8% lower than in February
2020, however activity is beginning to increase, and the forecast assumes the
level of activity will continue to rise during the year.  This will continue to be
monitored and reported on in subsequent months to assess the on-going impact
of COVID-19 on levels of need. The average cost of a care home placement is
currently £848 per week; if 20 new placements over and above the forecast level
were made at the beginning of August 2021 those would cost an estimated £0.5m
for the remainder of the year.

Adults with Care and Support Needs Pooled Budget
28. A breakeven position is currently being reported. There are currently no costs

arising as a result of COVID-19 in 2021/22 that require additional funding.

29. The pool supports a mix of health and social care needs for adults of working age
with learning disabilities, acquired brain injury or mental health needs

30. The budget contributions to the pooled budget in 2021/22 will be agreed by the
JCE in September 2021. The OCCG contribution to the pool is now proposed to
be £18.3m a 3.9% increase on last year. The arrangements to manage variations
to the pool need to be agreed by the JCE but the expectation is that for the first
half of the year the arrangements for 2020/21 will continue with the council
managing the majority of any variation.

31. There is a £0.4m forecast underspend for Learning Disabilities, this will continue
to be monitored throughout the year.

32. An overspend of £0.6m relating to the cost of people with mental health needs
falling outside the scope of the Outcome Based Contract with Oxford Health
Foundation Trust is included within the forecast, with the council responsible for
£0.4m of the pressure under the current risk share arrangements.

Page 76



Annex C 
Business Management & Monitoring Report July 2021 

Non-Pool Services 
33. A breakeven position is being reported for all non-pool services.   Included in the

forecast is £0.5m of expenditure relating to costs arising from the COVID-19
pandemic.  This relates to additional staffing costs to support review activity.

Commissioning
34. A breakeven position is being reported.

35. The new Health, Education & Social Care team has now been live since February
2021. The recruitment process for a number of posts is on-going so agency staff
are providing interim cover to allow service delivery to be maintained. It is still
anticipated that the additional cost of these agency staff will be offset by staff
vacancies currently existing within the structure. An update on the latest position
will be provided on a monthly basis

COVID-19 Ringfenced Grants 
36. A fourth tranche of Infection Prevention and Control (£1.8m) and Rapid Testing

grant funding (£1.3m) to support adult social care providers with infection control
and costs associated with rapid testing needs to be used to support eligible spend
from 1 July 2021 to 30 September 2021.   £3.1m funding was received by the
council in July 2021; 70% of the Infection Prevention & Control element must be
passed to care homes and domiciliary care providers by mid - August in line with
the grant conditions. The remaining 30% is available to be used to support
infection control costs on a discretionary basis and will be passed to providers on
a similar basis to the third tranche.

37. £4.1m received through the third tranche of Infection Prevention and Control and 
Rapid Testing grant has been used to support eligible spend from 1st April 2021 
to 30th June 2021. As at 30 June 2021, £1.7m of the mandatory element of the 
Infection Prevention and Control grant had been passed on to providers, £1.2m to 
care homes and £0.5m to domiciliary care providers. The £0.7m discretionary 
element has been used to provide additional funding for domiciliary care and 
external daytime support providers, as well as people using direct payments and 
residential providers on the Oxfordshire homelessness pathway.  £0.1m of this 
grant was not utilised by the providers and needs to be repaid to the DHSC as 
stated in the guidance.  £1.0m of the mandatory element of the Rapid Test grant 
funding was passed to care homes. The £0.7m discretionary element was 
distributed to care homes and domiciliary care providers in accordance with the 
guidance.  £0.1m of this allocation was unspent by the providers at the end of the 
grant period and will be repaid to the DHSC. 

Other Government Grants 
38. The council will receive funding from DHSC to facilitate timely discharges into the

community to reduce the number of people with learning disabilities who are
inpatients, which was used to help fund housing modification within the service –
the level of funding for 2021/22 is awaited.

Public Health
39. A breakeven position is reported. Any unspent Public Health Grant will be carried

Page 77



Annex C 
Business Management & Monitoring Report July 2021 

forward through the Public Health reserves and used to fund eligible spend in 
future years. 

Service Area 2021/22 Latest 
Budget 

£m 

Forecast Year End 
Variation 

£m 
Public Health Functions 31.2 -0.4
Public Health Recharges 0.6 0.0 
Grant Income -31.6 0.0 
Transfer to Public Health 
Reserve  

0.4 

Total Public Health 0.2 0.0 

40. There are no anticipated increases in costs or loss of income arising from the
COVID-19 pandemic for this financial year but there is a possibility of a
continuation of one-off savings due to reductions in service provision in line with
national directives. Team members will be called upon for expert advice &
Information, but costs of backfill will be covered from the Test and Trace Service
Support Grant.

41. There is a £0.2m underspend relating to staff vacancies.  The sexual health
service is reporting a £0.1m underspend.  There is also a £0.1m underspend being
reported within substance misuse.

42. Following a change in the responsibility for all council funded Domestic Violence
budgets, a further £0.5m will be reported as part of Public Health in future reports
rather than within Adult Social Care.

Government Grants
43. The Public Health grant is £31.7m, this includes £0.2m awarded to Oxfordshire to

support us to deliver routine commissioning in relation to pre-exposure prophylaxis
(PrEP) for HIV.

44. The council will receive a £1.1m ringfenced grant to help fund the provision of
support within safe accommodation for victims of domestic abuse in 2021/22 in
accordance with the new Domestic Abuse Act. To meet the requirements of the
Act, a needs assessment is being undertaken, which will lead to a review of the
Domestic Abuse strategy and will direct how the funds are spent.

45. The Community Testing Programme grant (CTP) aims to accelerate a reduction
in prevalence of COVID-19 by identifying asymptomatic cases through local
testing. The county council has worked in collaboration with the district councils
and testing in Oxfordshire began in early February 2021.  The four Community
Testing Sites closed at the end of June 2021 and a final grant claim for those
arrangements was submitted to the Department of Health & Social Care (DHSC)
in July 2021.   The total cost of the four sites from April to June 2021 was
£0.645m.  The council has received grant totaling £0.535m for April & May with
the June 2021 claim outstanding.

Page 78



Annex C 
Business Management & Monitoring Report July 2021 

46. From August 2021, home test kits will be available for collection from 38 libraries
in Oxfordshire.  In addition, there is an ongoing expression of interest process to
identify community-based projects who can assist in handing out home test kits to
disproportionately affected and underrepresented Groups.   Grant funding is now
capped based on the number of sites and hours of operation and additional costs
incurred over and above existing budgeted activity need to be claimed from DHSC
monthly.   The submitted plan includes costs totaling £0.094m until the end of
September 2021.   Based on expected activity the anticipated costs are within the
maximum capped grant funding for each month.   A claim for £0.048m for costs
associated with developing the new arrangements in July 2021 has been
submitted to DHSC.

47. The council has been awarded £0.2m from Public Health England in relation to
Adult Weight Management to be spent in 2021/22. This will be used to support
additional weight management programmes addressing dietary intake, physical
activity, and behaviour change for adults who are overweight or living with obesity.

48. The Drug Treatment, Crime and Harm Reduction Grant (£0.4m) will be used to
enhance support for criminal justice clients including additional harm reduction
interventions such as needle exchange and Naloxone, additional residential
treatment capacity, dedicated workers for the Criminal Justice pathway, and a
further community based “Refresh Café” recovery project.

49. In 2020/21 the council received £2.9m Test and Trace Service Support Grant to
support the mitigation against and management of local outbreaks of COVID-19,
including the four key pillars of:

• Surveillance of data and intelligence to monitor COVID-19 activity
• Communication to support the minimisation of COVID-19 outbreaks
• Rapid testing in Oxfordshire
• Measures to interrupt further transmission

50. £1.6m is available to support eligible spend in 2021/22. As at the end of July 2021 
£1.5m had either been spent or is committed to meeting on-going costs of support 
the four pillars, leaving £0.1m of the grant uncommitted.  Final audit sign off is 
required by 30 June 2022.     

Environment & Place 
51. The latest budget for Environment & Place is £61.0m.

52. This Directorate is made up of four individual service areas: Planning & Place,
Community Operations and Growth & Economy and a directorate management
area, which includes the redesign budget saving. Each area is responsible for a
specific function to ensure an effective delivery of Council’s corporate objectives
through an effective and efficient use of council’s resources.

53. An overspend position of £1.1m (1.8%) has been forecast compared to a budget
of £61.1m. There are number of changes in the Environment and Place directorate
in July 2021 monitoring and the overspend has decreased by £0.1m. This primarily

Page 79



Annex C 
Business Management & Monitoring Report July 2021 

relates to the additional income secured within Planning & Place, though due to 
the volatile nature of this income stream, this may change. 

Service Area 2021/22 Latest 
Budget 

£m 

Forecast Year End 
Variation 

£m 
Planning & Place 3.4 -0.2
Community Operations 58.7 0.3 
Communities Management -1.2 0.0 
Growth & Economy 0.1 1.0 
Total Environment & 
Place 

61.0 1.1 

54. There are a number of issues that have been arising throughout the year and
reported previously in in the Growth & Economy service with an overspend of
£1.0m now reported. This pressure is primarily due to funding sources to support
this new team not being realised and the reliance on agency staff, in some cases,
to bring in skills that are currently not available within our current positions but
critical for the delivery of the programme.

55. There is a growing pressure in Communities Management due to service redesign
savings of £1.5m not being met in full. The service is currently working on the
redesign of the directorate and due to the part-year nature of its implementation
and potential one-off costs, plus the actions underway to find further savings to
partially mitigate against this pressure, it will be prudent to quantify the financial
impact in future reports. In addition, Parking Services is still reporting a risk in
delivering a breakeven position due to reduction in parking income, although the
income levels are slowly recovering to pre pandemic levels. This should have no
in-year impact on the revenue account, though it could impact on the longer-term
viability of the Parking Account. Again, this will be reported  in future reports.

56. The directorate is proposing a £0.3m COVID-19 budget virement to support
increased COVID-19 expenditure. The virement is made up of £0.2m attributable
to expenditure in the waste services due to increased tonnages and for additional
costs in communities management associated with Protective Equipment and
additional transport required as a result of the pandemic.

Customers, Organisational Development & Resources
57. The latest budget for Customers, Organisational Development and Resources is

£33.3m.

58. The directorate is made up of six individual key service areas: Corporate Services,
Human Resources & Organisational development, Communications Strategy &
Insight, ICT & Digital, Culture & Customer Experience and Finance. The focus of
the Directorate is working with members to set the direction of the Council and
support the organisation through a period of significant change.

Page 80



Annex C 
Business Management & Monitoring Report July 2021 

Service Area 2021/22 Latest 
Budget 

£m 

Forecast Year 
End Variation 

£m 
Corporate Services 2.4 0.0 
Human Resources & 
Organisational Development 

3.2 0.0 

Communications, Strategy & 
Insight 

2.8 -0.2

ICT & Digital 10.3 0.0 
Culture & Customer Experience 8.6 -0.3
Finance  6.0 0.3 
Total Customers, 
Organisational 
Development & Resources 

33.3 -0.2

59. Customers & Organisational development is forecasting an underspend of £0.2m
(0.6%) compared to the budget of £33.2m. There is an overall change in
underspend of £0.2m to the previous report within the directorate. The underspend
primarily relates to various underspends in Culture and Customer Experience
services. However, the service anticipates that most of the underspend will likely
be offset through recruitment within the registration services.

60. The Finance service reported an estimated £0.3m overspend based on the
position in July, this is primarily attributable to increased demand on the service
resulting in an increase of resource within the function. Due to the immediate
requirement to meet the existing demand there is a reliance on more expensive
temporary staff to deliver the work required.

61. The directorate is proposing a £0.1m COVID-19 budget virement to support the
increased COVID-19 expenditure. The cost is mostly due to additional expenditure
on staff across various services in the Directorate as a result of additional demand
during the pandemic.

Commercial Development, Assets & Investment
62. This directorate is made up of three main service areas, Legal Services (including

Procurement), Property Investment & Facilities Management and Fire & Rescue.

63. For 2021/22 the Commercial Development, Assets & Investments budget is
£50.3m.

64. As set out in the table on the next page the directorate is forecasting an
underspend of £1.2m (2.4%) as set out in the table on the next page.

Page 81



Annex C 
Business Management & Monitoring Report July 2021 

Service Area 2021/22 Latest 
Budget 

£m 

Forecast Year 
End Variation 

£m 
Property & Facilities 
Management 

18.4 -1.3

Law & Governance 7.0 0.1 
Fire & Rescue and Community 
Safety 

24.8 0.0 

CDAI Management Costs 0.1 0.0 
Total Commercial 
Development, Assets & 
Investments 

50.3 -1.2

65. The overall underspend position within the directorate is primarily due to the
ongoing restructure in Property, Investment & Facilities Management services. It
is anticipated that the restructure will be finalised by the end of the financial year.
With restructure completed the directorate will focus on delivering a balanced
budget by reviewing existing pressures and savings within the services.

66. Legal services are currently forecasting a small overspend, although there has
been no change in previously reported position, there is an underlying budget
pressure due to increases in Counsel (Barrister) spend relating to Childcare cases
and the increased reliance upon locum provision due to recruiting difficulties.

67. Legal services are currently working to recruit to outstanding posts and reviewing
childcare spend on counsel to assess how these pressures can be mitigated
throughout the year.

68. Community Safety are working to a breakeven budget position with no significant
areas of concern.

69. The Directorate is proposing a £0.2m COVID-19 budget virement to support the
increased COVID-19 expenditure. The costs are primarily attributable to increased
expenditure on cleaning staff, materials and security requirement in the Property,
Investment & Facilities Management service.

Corporate Measures

General Balances
70. General Balances at 31 March 2021 were £34.6m and are forecast to be £34.2m

by 31 March 2022, due to the current forecast directorate overspend of £0.4m.
This is £5.4m higher than the risk assessed level of £28.8m.

Reserves
71. As set out in Annex C-3 Earmarked Reserves are forecast to be £170.9m on 31

March 2022 an in-year increase of £12.2m.   The change mainly relates to the
transfer of the Covid-19 LA Support Grant (£11.9m) and the Local Council Tax
Support Grant (£4.9m) less the £2.4m transferred to the directorates to fund
Covid-19 costs for April-June 2021 as set out in the paragraph below.

Page 82



Annex C 
Business Management & Monitoring Report July 2021 

Use of Covid-19 Reserve 
72. To date, £1.4m has been transferred to Children’s Services for the pressures in

Education and Children’s Social Care.  As set out in Annex C-2b a further
drawdown of £1.0m is requested to cover COVID-19 expenditure incurred by
directorates between April and June 2021.

73. The table below sets out the forecast covid spend for 2021/22 of £18.4m of which
£9.6m will be funded by specific grants.   The remaining £8.9m will be funded from
the COVID-19 reserve.  This will leave a balance of £23.4m which will be used to
fund any additional commitments in 2021/22 and expected additional costs in
2022/23 and 2023/24. At this early point in the year, it is difficult to predict what
further resources will be needed during the autumn/winter and the forecast will be
updated in future reports.

Grants 
74. As set out in Annex C-3 government grants totaling £415.1m will be received by

the Council during 2021/22 this is an increase of £6.3m since the last report.
Changes this month include Infection Control Grant (Trance 4) (£3.1m); School
related COVID-19 grants which total £2.9m; Holiday Activities and Food
Programme (£0.6m); and a reduction in the Community Testing Grant (-£0.3m)
due to the final costs being less than expected.

75. The School Improvement and Brokerage Grant has been ringfenced from 1 July
2021 having been previously treated as an un-ringfenced grant.  The expenditure
budget relating to this grant will continue to be shown in Children’s Services, and
the income budget will now also show in Children’s Services.

Medium Term Financial Strategy Savings
76. The 2021/22 budget includes planned directorate savings of £16.1m.  £12.1m or

75% are expected to be delivered by year end. £3.8m or 24% are rated amber
and £0.2m or 1% are rated red. Updates will be included in future reports.

Additional 
Expenditure 

£m 

Income 
Losses 

£m 

Total 

£m 

Specific 
Grant 

Funding 

£m 

Balance to 
fund from 
Covid-19 
Reserve 

£m 

Children's Services    5.8     0.0     5.8   -      5.8  
Adult Services    8.0     -       8.0      7.5     0.5  
Public Health    1.8     -       1.8   1.8   -   
Environment and Place    0.8     0.1     0.9   0.0     0.9  
Customers Organisational 
Development and Resources 

   0.1     0.8     0.8   0.3     0.5  

Commercial Development, 
Assets and Investment 

   0.2     0.9     1.2   -      1.2  

 16.6   1.8   18.4     9.6    8.9 

Page 83



Annex C 
Business Management & Monitoring Report July 2021 

Strategic Measures 
77. The budgeted interest receivable for in-house Treasury Management during is

£1.9m, based on an average interest rate of 0.58%. Whilst interest rates remain
very low it is unlikely that the rate will be achieved, however as cash balances are
higher than originally expected, the forecast outturn remains in line with budget.

78. Externally managed funds are forecast to return £3.8m, in line with budget.
Financial markets are expected to remain volatile in the near future, and there
remains a risk that there could be fluctuations to the capital value of the funds,
however the statutory override for movement in value of such funds mean that any
fluctuations will be reversed out of the general fund.

79. The corporate contingency budget for 2021/22 is £5.6m.   The government had
announced a national pay freeze as part of the Spending Review in the Autumn
2020 pending negotiations with the individual pay awarding bodies.  On 14 May
2021 an offer of 1.5% for the Green Book pay award was made by the National
Employer’s for Local Government. This offer has been rejected by the Unions. The
National Employer’s have increased this offer to 1.75% which the unions are
considering.  A 1.75% increase would be a call of £2.8m on the contingency
budget.  A similar offer has been made in respect of Firefighters which has been
accepted by the unions and will be paid to staff in September 2021 at a cost of
£0.3m. There has also been an increase in the inflation rates compared to
expectations when the budget was set in February 2021. This has led to the cost
of contract inflation increasing by £0.3m above budget.  The total estimated calls
on the corporate contingency budget are approximately £3.4m, which is within the
budget available.

Debt
Corporate Debtors

80. The collection rate remained consistent with last month, just below the 95% target
at 94.7%. However, the high value invoice collection rate and value of invoices
collected are both above target at 96.9% and 99.7% respectively.

81. Debt requiring impairment (DRI) increased this month from £0.25m to £0.42m and
is now £0.13m above target. The increase this period is due to two new debt cases
reaching 120 days old. The relation to the first case, the invoices are disputed,
and the service is in consultation with the company with an aim to resolve during
August. In relation to the second case, there is a dispute to the calculation
methodology. The unpaid invoices relate to charges due back to April 2020;
consequently, a pressure of £0.12m has been recorded in the service’s budget
due to the increase of non-payment. The service is reviewing the contract and has
engaged Legal Services.

Adult Social Care Debtors
82. The invoice collection rate remained consistent with last month, below the 92%

target at 89.4%. As in quarter one there is a consistent reduction in invoices being
paid by direct debit when compared to the same period last year.  Further analysis
is underway within the Social Care finance team to understand the reduction in
collection rates and introduce strategies to increase uptake of direct debit.
Payment by direct debit is a proven method of reducing the risk of delayed

Page 84



Annex C 
Business Management & Monitoring Report July 2021 

payments. 

83. Debt requiring impairment increased this month to £3.3m, £0.6m above the current
Adult contributions' impairment balance.  The DRI is £0.4m more this period than
at the same point in 2020/21.  As reported last month some of the difference is
explained by the change between this and last financial year in charging
arrangements for the COVID-19 Hospital Discharge scheme.  Further analysis is
ongoing to better understand where the additional debt is occurring and introduce
mitigations.

84. There are now five complex cases with a value of £0.3m referred to legal services,
these cases are in the process of being referred to outside counsel for opinion. It
is likely these will take the full year to resolve.

Revised Music Service Fees and Charges

85. Cabinet is recommended to approve the Music Service charges as set out in
Annex C – 5 following an agreed initial review to commence the promotion of
driving up the number of customers using the service. This review has identified
that a number of charges are above the local market rate and have been reduced
accordingly. Some as you will see, have also been increased. The net impact on
the forecast income for the service is minimal, though any deficit will be funded
through its reserve, and further work will be undertaken by the new Head of
Service, in conjunction with Finance, to develop a strategy and plan to achieving
longer-term financial sustainability. The fees will be applied from 1st September
2021.

Page 85



Annex C - 1

Business Management & Monitoring Report
Position to the end of July 2021
Budget Monitoring

Net Budget 
(Latest 

Estimate)

Projected 
Full Year 

Spend 

Projected 
Year End 
Variance

Projected 
Year End 
Variance

Projected Year 
End Traffic Light 

underspend- Red > 1.5%

Directorate
overspend+ Amber >1.1% 

<1.5%
£000 £000 £000 £000 Green on track 

Children's Services 139,558 140,258 700 0.50% G

Adults Services 198,542 198,542 0 0.00% G

Public Health 231 231 0 0.00% G

Environment and Place 61,051 62,151 1,100 1.80% R

Customers, Organisational Development and Resources 33,260 33,068 -192 -0.58% G

Commerical Development, Assets and Investments 50,288 49,091 -1,197 -2.38% G

Directorate Total Net 482,930 483,341 411 0.09% G

P
age 86



Annex C - 1

Business Management & Monitoring Report
Position to the end of July 2021
Budget Monitoring

Net Budget 
(Latest 

Estimate)

Projected 
Full Year 

Spend 

Projected 
Year End 
Variance

Projected 
Year End 
Variance

Projected Year 
End Traffic Light 

underspend- Red > 1.5%

Directorate
overspend+ Amber >1.1% 

<1.5%
£000 £000 £000 £000 Green on track 

Contributions to (+)/from (-)reserves 30,052 30,052 0
Contribution to (+)/from(-) balances 0 -411 -411
Public Health Saving Recharge -425 -425 0
Contingency 5,605 5,605 0
COVID-19 Budget 0 0 0
Insurance 1,280 1,280 0
Capital Financing 23,705 23,705 0
Interest on Balances -10,845 -10,845 0
Strategic Measures Budget 49,372 48,961 -411
Unringfenced Government Grants -38,532 -38,532 0
Council Tax Surpluses -6,273 -6,273 0
Business Rates Top-Up -62,454 -62,454 0
Business Rates From District Councils -17,089 -17,089 0
Council Tax  Requirement 407,954 407,954 0

P
age 87



Annex C - 1a

Business Management & Monitoring Report: Children's Services
Position to the end of July 2021
Revenue Budget Monitoring

N
et Budget (Latest 

Estim
ate)

Projected Full Year 
Spend 

Projected Year End 
Variance

Projected Year End 
Variance

underspend-
overspend+

£000 £000 £000 %

CEF1 Education & Learning
CEF1-1 Management & Central Costs 1,321 1,321 0 0.0%
CEF1-2 SEND 4,313 4,313 0 0.0%
CEF1-3 Learning & School Improvement 1,174 1,174 0 0.0%
CEF1-4 Access to Learning 25,611 25,611 0 0.0%

CEF1-5 Learner Engagement Service 370 370 0 0.0%
Total Education & Learning 32,789 32,789 0 0.0%

CEF2 Children's Social Care
CEF2-1 Management & Central Costs 5,948 5,948 0 0.0%
CEF2-2 Social Care 29,994 30,694 700 2.3%

Total Children's Social Care 35,942 36,642 700 1.9%

P
age 88



Annex C - 1a

Business Management & Monitoring Report: Children's Services
Position to the end of July 2021
Revenue Budget Monitoring

N
et Budget (Latest 

Estim
ate)

Projected Full Year 
Spend 

Projected Year End 
Variance

Projected Year End 
Variance

underspend-
overspend+

£000 £000 £000 %

CEF3 Children's Social Care Countywide Services
CEF3-1 Corporate Parenting 52,565 52,565 0 0.0%
CEF3-2 Safeguarding 3,404 3,404 0 0.0%
CEF3-3 Services for Disabled Children 8,974 8,974 0 0.0%
CEF3-4 Youth Offending Service 804 804 0 0.0%

Total Children's Social Care Countywide Services 65,747 65,747 0 0.0%

CEF4 Schools
CEF4-1 Delegated Budgets 0 0 0
CEF4-2 Nursery Education Funding (EY) 0 0 0
CEF4-3 Non-Delegated School Costs 216 216 0 0.0%
CEF4-4 School Support Non-Negotiable Recharges 0 0 0
CEF4-5 Capitalised Repairs & Maintenance 0 0 0

Total Schools 216 216 0 0.0%

P
age 89



Annex C - 1a

Business Management & Monitoring Report: Children's Services
Position to the end of July 2021
Revenue Budget Monitoring

N
et Budget (Latest 

Estim
ate)

Projected Full Year 
Spend 

Projected Year End 
Variance

Projected Year End 
Variance

underspend-
overspend+

£000 £000 £000 %

CEF5 Children's Services Central Costs
CEF5-1 Management & Administration 1,021 1,021 0 0.0%
CEF5-2 Premature Retirement Compensation 3,243 3,243 0 0.0%
CEF5-3 Commissioning Recharge 600 600 0 0.0%

Total Children's Services Central Costs 4,864 4,864 0 0.0%

Total Children's Services 139,558 140,258 700 0.5%

MEMORANDUM: DEDICATED SCHOOLS GRANT - DSG Funded Expenditure (Gross)
Schools DSG 123,115 123,115 0 0.0%
High Needs DSG 65,530 77,230 11,700 17.9%
Early Years DSG 39,277 39,277 0 0.0%
Central DSG 4,616 4,616 0 0.0%
Total DSG Funded Expenditure 232,538 244,238 11,700 5.0%

P
age 90



Annex C - 1b

Business Management and Monitoring Report: Adult Services
Position to the end of July 2021
Revenue Budget Monitoring

N
et Budget 

(Latest 
Estim

ate)

Projected Full 
Year Spend 

Projected Year 
End Variance

Projected Year 
End Variance

underspend-
overspend+

£000 £000 £000 %

SCS1 Adult Social Care

SCS1-1A Better Care Fund Pool Contribution 81,933 81,933 0 0.0%

SCS1-1B Adults with Care and Support Needs Pool Contribution 97,228 97,228 0 0.0%

SCS1-2 to 9 Other Adult Social Care Services
SCS1-2 Adult Protection & Mental Capacity 3,666 3,666 0 0.0%
SCS1-3 Provider & Support Services 3,432 3,432 0 0.0%
SCS1-4 Domestic Violence & Abuse Support Service 379 379 0 0.0%
SCS1-5 Housing Related Support 1,133 1,133 0 0.0%
SCS1-6 Other Funding -8,232 -8,232 0 0.0%
SCS1-8 Adult Social Care Recharges 4 4 0 0.0%
SCS1-9 Adult Social Care Staffing & Infrastructure 13,651 13,651 0 0.0%

Total Other ASC Services 14,033 14,033 0 0.0%

Total Adult Social Care 193,194 193,194 0 0.0%

SCS2 Commissioning 5,348 5,348 0 0.0%

Total Adult Services 198,542 198,542 0 0.0%

P
age 91



Annex C - 1c

Business Management & Monitoring Report : Public Health
Position to the end of July 2021
Revenue Budget Monitoring

N
et Budget (Latest 

Estim
ate)

Projected Full Year 
Spend 

Projected Year End 
Variance

Projected Year End 
Variance

underspend-
overspend+

£000 £000 £000 %

PH 1 & 2 Public Health Functions
PH1-1 Sexual Health 6,440 6,340 -100 -1.6%
PH1-2 NHS Health Check Programme 645 645 0 0.0%
PH1-3 Health Protection 8 8 0 0.0%
PH1-4 National Child Measurement Programme 154 154 0 0.0%
PH1-5 Public Health Advice 150 150 0 0.0%
PH1-6 0 - 5 year olds 8,848 8,848 0 0.0%
PH2-1 Obesity 802 802 0 0.0%
PH2-2 Physical Activity 90 90 0 0.0%
PH2-3 Public Health General 2,161 1,961 -200 -9.3%
PH2-4 Smoking and Tobacco Control 615 615 0 0.0%
PH2-5 Children’s 5-19 Public Health Programmes 2,302 2,302 0 0.0%
PH2-6 Other Public Health Services 1,249 1,249 0 0.0%
PH2-7 Drugs and Alcohol 7,733 7,633 -100 -1.3%

Total Public Health Functions 31,197 30,797 -400 -1.3%

PH3 Public Health Recharges 633 633 0 0.0%

PH4 Grant Income -31,599 -31,599 0 0.0%
Transfer to Public Health Reserve 0 400 400 0.0%

Total Public Health 231 231 0 0.0%

P
age 92



Annex C - 1d

Business Management & Monitoring Report: Environment and Place
Position to the end of July 2021
Revenue Budget Monitoring

N
et Budget 

(Latest Estim
ate)

Projected Full 
Year Spend 

Projected Year 
End Variance

Projected Year 
End Variance

underspend-
overspend+

£000 £000 £000 %

PG2  Planning & Place    3,412 3,212 -200 -5.9%

PG3 Growth & Economy 93 1,093 1,000 1075.3%

COM1 Communities Management -1,162 -1,162 0 0.0%

COM2 Community Operations 58,708 59,008 300 0.5%

TOTAL ENVIRONMENT AND PLACE 61,051 62,151 1,100 1.8%

P
age 93



Annex C - 1e

Business Management & Monitoring Report: Customers, Organisational Development & Resources
Position to the end of July 2021
Revenue Budget Monitoring

N
et Budget 

(Latest Estim
ate)

Projected Full 
Year Spend 

Projected Year 
End Variance

Projected Year 
End Variance

underspend-
overspend+

£000 £000 £000 %

COD1 Corporate Services 2,360 2,360 0 0.0%

COD2 Human Resources & Organisational Development 3,223 3,223 0 0.0%

COD3 Communications, Strategy & Insight 2,780 2,568 -212 -7.6%

COD4 ICT & Digital 10,393 10,393 0 0.0%

COD5 Culture & Customer Experience 8,611 8,381 -230 -2.7%

COD6 Finance 5,893 6,143 250 4.2%

Total Customers, Organisational Development & Resources 33,260 33,068 -192 -0.6%

P
age 94



Annex C - 1f

Business Management & Monitoring Report: Commercial Development, Assets & Investment 
Position to the end of July 2021
Revenue Budget Monitoring

N
et Budget (Latest 

Estim
ate)

Projected Full Year 
Spend 

Projected Year End 
Variance

Projected Year End 
Variance

underspend-
overspend+

£000 £000 £000 %

CDAI1 Property & Community Facilities Management 18,420 17,125 -1,295 -7.0%

CDAI2 Law & Governance 6,993 7,091 98 1.4%

EE4 Fire & Rescue and Community Safety 24,745 24,745 0 0.0%

CDAI4 CDAI Management Costs 130 130 0 0.0%

Total Commercial Development, Assets & Investment 50,288 49,091 -1,197 -2.4%

P
age 95



Annex C - 2a - Childrens

Business Management & Monitoring Report: Children's Services
Position to the end of July 2021
Revenue Budget Monitoring

BUDGET 2021/22
Original Movement Latest
Budget to Date Estimate

£000 £000 £000

CEF1 Education & Learning
Gross Expenditure 100,922 216 101,138
Gross Income -68,284 -65 -68,349

32,638 151 32,789
CEF2 Children's Social Care

Gross Expenditure 36,146 2,929 39,075
Gross Income -2,257 -876 -3,133

33,889 2,053 35,942
CEF3 Children's Social Care Countywide Services

Gross Expenditure 72,287 -1,171 71,116
Gross Income -5,505 136 -5,369

66,782 -1,035 65,747
CEF4 Schools

Gross Expenditure 194,016 3,049 197,065
Gross Income -193,800 -3,049 -196,849

216 0 216
CEF5 Children's Services Central Costs

Gross Expenditure 5,953 -703 5,250
Gross Income -519 133 -386

5,434 -570 4,864

Expenditure Total 409,324 4,320 413,644
Income Total -270,365 -3,721 -274,086
Total Children's Services Net Budget 138,959 599 139,558

MEMORANDUM: DEDICATED SCHOOLS GRANT - DSG Funded Expenditure (Gross)
Schools DSG 123,115 0 123,115
High Needs DSG 65,530 0 65,530
Early Years DSG 39,277 0 39,277
Central DSG 4,616 0 4,616
Total Gross 232,538 0 232,538

P
age 96



Annex C - 2a - Adults

Business Management & Monitoring Report: Adult Services
Position to the end of July 2021
Revenue Budget Monitoring

BUDGET 2021/22
Original Movement Latest
Budget to Date Estimate

£000 £000 £000

SCS1 Adult Social Care

SCS1-1A Better Care Fund Pool Contribution
Gross Expenditure. 81,493 440 81,933
Gross Income. 0 0 0

81,493 440 81,933
SCS1-1B Adults with Care and Support Needs Pool Contribution

Gross Expenditure. 97,694 -466 97,228
Gross Income. 0 0 0

97,694 -466 97,228
SCS1-2 to SCS1-9 Other Adult Social Care Services 

Gross Expenditure 34,152 4,374 38,526
Gross Income -19,928 -4,565 -24,493

14,224 -191 14,033

Total Adult Social Care 193,411 -217 193,194

SCS2 Commissioning
Gross Expenditure 5,888 224 6,112
Gross Income -1,540 776 -764
Total Commissioning 4,348 1,000 5,348

Expenditure Total 219,227 4,572 223,799
Income Total -21,468 -3,789 -25,257
Total Adult Services  Net Budget 197,759 783 198,542

P
age 97



Annex C - 2a - PH 

Business Management & Monitoring Report: Public Health
Position to the end of July 2021
Revenue Budget Monitoring

BUDGET 2021/22
Original Movement Latest
Budget to Date Estimate

£000 £000 £000

PH 1 & 2 Public Health Functions
Gross Expenditure 30,921 1,100 32,021
Gross Income -228 -596 -824

30,693 504 31,197

PH3 Public Health Recharges
Gross Expenditure 633 0 633
Gross Income 0 0 0

633 0 633

PH4 Grant Income
Gross Expenditure 144 1,077 1,221
Gross Income -31,240 -1,580 -32,820

-31,096 -503 -31,599

Expenditure Total 31,698 2,177 33,875
Income Total -31,468 -2,176 -33,644
Total Public Health Net Budget 230 1 231

P
age 98



Annex C - 2a E&P

Business Management & Monitoring Report: Environment and Place
Position to the end of July 2021
Revenue Budget Monitoring

BUDGET 2021/22
Original Movement Latest
Budget to Date Estimate

£000 £000 £000

PG1 Planning & Growth Management
Gross Expenditure 0 0 0
Gross Income 0 0 0

0 0 0
PG2 Planning & Place    

Gross Expenditure 10,098 -166 9,932
Gross Income -6,686 166 -6,520

3,412 0 3,412
PG3 Growth & Economy 

Gross Expenditure 630 0 630
Gross Income -537 0 -537

93 0 93
COM1 Communities Management 

Gross Expenditure -1,162 0 -1,162
Gross Income 0 0 0

-1,162 0 -1,162
COM2 Community Operations

Gross Expenditure 102,980 -501 102,479
Gross Income -44,282 511 -43,771

58,698 10 58,708

Expenditure Total 112,546 -667 111,879
Income Total -51,505 677 -50,828
Total Environment and Place Net Budget 61,041 10 61,051

P
age 99



Annex C - 2a CODR

Business Management & Monitoring Report: Customers, Organisational Development & Resources
Position to the end of July 2021
Revenue Budget Monitoring

BUDGET 2021/22
Original Movement Latest
Budget to Date Estimate

£000 £000 £000

CODR1 Corporate Services
Gross Expenditure 2,953 -1 2,952
Gross Income -593 1 -592

2,360 0 2,360

CODR2 Human Resources & Organisational Development 
Gross Expenditure 4,395 0 4,395
Gross Income -1172 0 -1,172

3,223 0 3,223

CODR3 Communications, Strategy & Insight 
Gross Expenditure 3,859 12 3,871
Gross Income -1,090 -1 -1,091

2,769 11 2,780

CODR4 ICT & Digital 
Gross Expenditure 13,851 60 13,911
Gross Income -3,517 -1 -3,518

10,334 59 10,393

CODR5 Culture & Customer Experience
Gross Expenditure 16,496 5 16,501
Gross Income -7,885 -5 -7,890

8,611 0 8,611

CODR6 Finance
Gross Expenditure 8,449 -400 8,049
Gross Income -2,491 335 -2,156

5,958 -65 5,893

Expenditure Total 50,003 -324 49,679
Income Total -16,748 329 -16,419
Total Customers & Organisational Development and Resources Net Budget 33,255 5 33,260

P
age 100



Annex C - 2a CDAI

Business Management & Monitoring Report: Commercial Development, Assets & Investment 
Position to the end of July 2021
Revenue Budget Monitoring

BUDGET 2021/22
Original Movement Latest
Budget to Date Estimate

£000 £000 £000

CDAI1 Property, Investment & Facilities Management 
Gross Expenditure 26,556 -231 26,325
Gross Income -8,137 232 -7,905
Total Property, Investment & Facilities Management 18,419 1 18,420

CDAI2 Law & Governance 
Gross Expenditure 8,511 1 8,512
Gross Income -1518 -1 -1,519
Total Law & Governance 6,993 0 6,993

CDAI3 Community Safety
Gross Expenditure 27,598 345 27,943
Gross Income -2,852 -346 -3,198
Total Community Safety 24,746 -1 24,745

CDAI4 Management Costs
Gross Expenditure 130 0 130
Gross Income 0 0 0
Total Mangement Costs 130 0 130

Expenditure Total 62,795 115 62,910
Income Total -12,507 -115 -12,622
Total Commerical Development, Assets & Investment Net 
Budget

50,288 0 50,288

P
age 101



Annex C - 2b

Business Management Report
Position to the end of July 2021

CABINET IS RECOMMENDED TO APPROVE THE VIREMENTS AS DETAILED BELOW:

Directorate 
(CD = Cross 
Directorate)

Month of 
Cabinet 
meeting

Month of 
Directorate 
MMR

Narration Budget Book Line Service Area Permanent / 
Temporary

Expenditure
+ increase /
- decrease

£000

Income
- increase /
+ decrease

£000

CD Sep Jul Financial Transparency Grant 2021/22 CEF1-3 Learning & School Improvement T 9 0
VSMMGT Strategic Measures T 0 -9

COVID Pressures Agreed as at end of June CEF1-2 SEND Service T 63 0
2021 CEF1-4 Access to Learning T 15 0

CEF1-5 Learner Engagement T 38 0
CEF2-2 Social Care T 63 0
SCS2 Commissioning T 240 0
SCC1-3 Provider & Support Services T 0 18
COM2-2 Community Operations T 269 0
COD5 Culture & Customer Experience T 3 0
COD1 Corporate Services T 53 0
CDAI4 CDAI Management Costs T 203 0
VSMMGT Strategic Measures T -965 0

Grand Total -10 10

P
age 102



Annex C - 2c

Business Management Report
Position to the end of July 2021

NEW VIREMENTS THAT HAVE BEEN ACTIONED FOR CABINET TO NOTE 

Directorate   
(CD = Cross 
Directorate)

Month of 
Cabinet 
Meeting

Month of 
Directorate 
MMR

Narration Budget Book Line Service Area Permanent / 
Temporary

Expenditure
+ increase /
- decrease

£000

Income
- increase /
+ decrease

£000
CD Sep Jun Allocation of funding for training CEF5-1 Management & Admin T -11 0

COD3 Communications, Strategy & Insight T 11 0
Remove CEF non-grant recharges. CEF3-1 Corporate Parenting P -420 0

CEF4-4 Schools Support Service Recharges P 133 -133
CEF5-3 Joint Commissioning Recharge P -488 133
SCS2 Commissioning P 0 775

CS Sep Jun Transfer to fund Licences CEF2-1 Management & Central Costs P 12 0
CEF5-1 Management & Admin P -12 0

Realign school grants cost centres CEF4-1 Delegated Budgets P 3,770 -3,770
Transfer of Budget to align with spend. CEF2-1 Management & Central Costs P -4 0

CEF2-2 Social Care P 195 0
CEF5-2 Premature Retirement Compensation P -191 0

Resource Bases Recoupment: Adjust for expected 
recoupment in 2021-22

CEF1-2 SEND Service
P

93 -93

Jul Transfer budget from YPSA - Young Persons 
supported Accommodation re 2 x FTE EET workers 
to the service deliverying the work to match spend.

CEF1-3 Learning & School Improvement T -10 0

P 10 0
CEF2-2 Social Care T -10 0

P 10 0
CEF3-1 Corporate Parenting T 19 0

P -19 0
Ringfenced School Improvement Grant - July to 
August 2021

CEF1-3 Learning & School Improvement T 90 -90

Reducing Parental Conflict Development Grant CEF2-1 Management & Central Costs T 28 -28

Holiday Activities and Food Grant CEF2-2 Social Care T 774 -774
ATV Adopt Thames Valley budget tidy up CEFATV Adoption Thames Valley P 3 -3

EP Sep Jun Comet & BSOG Budget tidy COM2-2 Community Operations P -436 436
AS Sep Jun Payment & System Team moved to different cost 

centre & Income Cost Centre tidy up
SCS1-3 Provider & Support Services P -352 283

SCS1-9 Adult Social Care Staffing & Infrastructure P 69 0
PH Sep Jun PH Budgets 21-22 PH1 & 2 Public Health Functions P 504 0

PH4 Grant Income P -64 -440

Jul
additional funding for drug treatment, crime and 
harm reduction activity and dom abuse

PH1 & 2 Public Health Functions T 416 -416

PH4 Grant Income T 1,141 -1,141
Adult weight management grant PH1 & 2 Public Health Functions T 180 -180

P
age 103



Annex C - 2c

Business Management Report
Position to the end of July 2021

NEW VIREMENTS THAT HAVE BEEN ACTIONED FOR CABINET TO NOTE 

Directorate   
(CD = Cross 
Directorate)

Month of 
Cabinet 
Meeting

Month of 
Directorate 
MMR

Narration Budget Book Line Service Area Permanent / 
Temporary

Expenditure
+ increase /
- decrease

£000

Income
- increase /
+ decrease

£000
CODR Sep Jul Capita contract costs COD4 ICT & Digital P 60 0

COD6 Finance P -60 0
Grand Total 5,441 -5,441

P
age 104



Annex C - 3

Business Management & Monitoring Report - July 2021
Cabinet -  September 2021
Earmarked Reserves

2021/22
Balance at 

1 April 
2021

Movement Balance at    
31 March 

2022

Commentary

£m £m £m
Schools' Reserves 17.3 0.0 17.3 In accordance with the Education Reform Act 1988, the 

scheme of Local Management of Schools provides for the 
carry forward of individual schools surpluses and deficits.  
These reserves are committed to be spent on schools.  
Other School Reserves cover a number of miscellaneous 
education activities, including amounts loaned to individual 
schools against school reserves, and School Partnership 
Accounts which are operated in respect of inter-school 
activities, primarily relating 

Vehicle and Equipment Reserve 2.1 -0.9 1.2 This reserve is to fund future replacements of vehicles and 
equipment.

Grants and Contributions Reserve 22.9 -2.3 20.6 This reserve has been set up to hold unspent grants and 
contributions committed to be spent in future years.  This 
includes the Dedicated Schools Grant and Public Health 
Grant 

Government Initiatives 2.1 -0.3 1.8 This reserve is used to hold underspends on budgets 
funded by unringfenced grants held that relate to specific 
agreed outcomes or the implementation of Government 
initiatives.

P
age 105



Annex C - 3

Business Management & Monitoring Report - July 2021
Cabinet -  September 2021
Earmarked Reserves

2021/22
Balance at 

1 April 
2021

Movement Balance at    
31 March 

2022

Commentary

£m £m £m
Trading Accounts 0.5 -0.3 0.2

Council Elections 0.8 0.2 1.0

Partnership Reserves 3.0 0.0 3.0

On Street Car Parking 3.1 0.0 3.1

Transformation Reserve 1.1 3.0 4.1

Demographic Risk Reserve 6.0 3.0 9.0

This reserve holds funds relating to traded activities to 
help manage investment.

This will be used to fund future elections. In years where 
no County Elections take place any underspend on the 
Council Elections budget will be transferred to this 
reserve.

This relates to Growth Deal funding.

This surplus has arisen under the operation of the Road 
Traffic Regulation Act 1984 (section 55). The purposes for 
which these monies can be used are defined by statute.

This reserve is needed  to fund the implementation costs 
of the Council's Transformation programme.

In light of the significant pressures relating to High Needs 
DSG and other budgets with demographic volatility.  
This reserve will help to manage demographic risk. 

P
age 106



Annex C - 3

Business Management & Monitoring Report - July 2021
Cabinet -  September 2021
Earmarked Reserves

2021/22
Balance at 

1 April 
2021

Movement Balance at    
31 March 

2022

Commentary

£m £m £m
Youth Provision Reserve 0.7 -0.7 0.0 £1.0m allocated over 2019/20 and 2020/21 to provide 

seed funding for locality based youth provision

Budget Prioritisation Reserve 14.5 -2.3 12.2 This reserve is being used to support the implementation 
of the Council's proirities and the Medium Term Financial 
Plan.  

Insurance Reserve 12.5 12.5 This reserve covers the County Council for insurance 
claims that, based on the previous experience of the 
County Council, are likely to be received, as well as a 
number of insurance related issues.

Business Rates Reserve 1.0 1.5 2.5 This reserve is to smooth the volatility of Business Rates 
income.

Capital Reserves 47.1 1.1 48.2 This reserve has been established for the purpose of 
financing capital expenditure in future years.  

Investment Pump Priming Reserve 2.0 2.0

Council Tax Collection Fund Reserve 6.0 6.0

Redundancy Reserve 1.8 1.0 2.8

P
age 107



Annex C - 3

Business Management & Monitoring Report - July 2021
Cabinet -  September 2021
Earmarked Reserves

2021/22
Balance at 

1 April 
2021

Movement Balance at    
31 March 

2022

Commentary

£m £m £m
Covid-19 Reserve 14.2 9.2 23.4

Total Reserves 158.7 12.2 170.9P
age 108



Annex C - 4

Business Management Report
Government Grants 2021/22

R
ingfenced 

Directorate Issued

Esimate 
2021/22

In year 
Adjustments / 

New Allocations 
reported 

previously 
reported

In year 
Adjustments/ New 

Allocations 
reported this time

Latest 
Allocation

by
£000 £000 £000 £000

Children's Services

Dedicated School Grants 
R Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) - Schools Block DfE 123,115 0 0 123,115
R Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) - Central Block DfE 4,616 0 0 4,616
R Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) - Early Years Block DfE 39,277 0 0 39,277
R Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) - High Needs Block DfE 65,530 0 0 65,530

Subtotal DSG Grants 232,538 0 0 232,538

School Grants
R Pupil Premium DfE 6,871 0 0 6,871
R Education Funding Agency - Sixth Form Funding and Threshold DfE 224 0 0 224
R PE and Sport Grant DfE 2,265 0 0 2,265
R Universal Infant Free School Meals DfE 3,973 0 0 3,973
R Teacher's Pay Grant DfE 0 0 98 98
R Teacher's Pension Grant DfE 0 0 278 278
R Coronavirus (COVID-19) Workforce Fund DfE 0 0 3 3
R Coronavirus (COVID-19) Catch Up Premium DfE 0 0 2,329 2,329
R Coronavirus (COVID-19) National Testing Programme DfE 0 0 142 142
R Coronavirus (COVID-19) Free School Meals Additional Costs DfE 0 0 66 66

Subtotal School Grants 13,333 0 2,916 16,249

P
age 109



Annex C - 4

Business Management Report
Government Grants 2021/22

R
ingfenced 

Directorate Issued

Esimate 
2021/22

In year 
Adjustments / 

New Allocations 
reported 

previously 
reported

In year 
Adjustments/ New 

Allocations 
reported this time

Latest 
Allocation

by
£000 £000 £000 £000

Other Children's Services Grants 
R School Improvement Monitoring & Brokering Grant DfE 0 90 90
R Youth Justice Board YJB 548 0 0 548
R Asylum (USAC and Post 18) HO 1,844 0 0 1,844
R Role of the Virtual School Head DfE 0 0 0 0
R Extended Personal Adviser Duty Grant DfE 103 0 0 103
R Staying Put Implementation Grant DfE 271 0 0 271
R Remand Framework YJB 77 0 0 77
R Reducing Parental Conflict Workforce Development Grant DWP 0 28 28
R Holiday Activities and Food Programme DfE 0 0 636 636

Subtotal Other Children's Services Grants 2,843 0 754 3,597

TOTAL CHILDREN'S SERVICES 248,714 0 3,670 252,384

Adult Services
R Improved Better Care Fund DHSC 10,391 0 0 10,391
R Infection Control Grant 3 DHSC 4,123 0 4,123
R Infection Control Grant 4 DHSC 3,081 3,081
R Community Discharge Fund DHSC 0 0

TOTAL ADULT SERVICES 10,391 4,123 3,081 17,595

P
age 110



Annex C - 4

Business Management Report
Government Grants 2021/22

R
ingfenced 

Directorate Issued

Esimate 
2021/22

In year 
Adjustments / 

New Allocations 
reported 

previously 
reported

In year 
Adjustments/ New 

Allocations 
reported this time

Latest 
Allocation

by
£000 £000 £000 £000

Public Health
R Public Health Grant DHSC 31,240 429 0 31,669
R Adult Weight Management DHSC 180 0 180
R Drug Treatment, Crime and Harm Reduction Grant DHSC 400 16 416
R Domestic Abuse MHCLG 1,141 0 1,141
R Community Testing DHSC 1,045 -352 693

TOTAL PUBLIC HEALTH 31,240 3,195 -336 34,099

Environment & Place 
R Bus Service Operators Grant DfT 795 0 0 795
R Natural England DEFRA 227 0 0 227

TOTAL ENVIRONMENT & PLACE 1,022 0 0 1,022

Customers, Organisational Development & Resources
R Music Service AC 837 0 0 837
R MaaS:CAV Innovate UK 313 0 0 313
R OmniCAV Innovate UK 1 0 0 1
R Park & Charge Innovate UK 206 0 0 206
R Virgin Park & Charge Innovate UK 7 0 0 7
R Data Driven Safety Tool Innovate UK 91 0 0 91
R Quantum Gravitometer Innovate UK 69 0 0 69
R Resilient CAV Innovate UK 25 0 0 25
R Heart Park Project DFT 90 0 0 90

P
age 111



Annex C - 4

Business Management Report
Government Grants 2021/22

R
ingfenced 

Directorate Issued

Esimate 
2021/22

In year 
Adjustments / 

New Allocations 
reported 

previously 
reported

In year 
Adjustments/ New 

Allocations 
reported this time

Latest 
Allocation

by
£000 £000 £000 £000

R GTC DfT Congestion Tool DFT 59 0 0 59
R CAVL4R DFT 11 0 0 11

TOTAL CUSTOMERS,  ORGANISATIONAL DEVELOPMENT& 
RESOURCES

1,709 0 0 1,709

Commercial Development , Aseets & Investment 
R Fire Fighter's Pension Fund Grant MHCLG 1,361 0 0 1,361
R Fire Service Covid-19 Contingency Grant MHCLG 47 0 47
R Fire Fighter's New Dimensons Grant MHCLG 40 0 0 40

TOTAL COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT, ASSETS & INVESTMENT 1,401 47 0 1,448

Strategic Measures
U Lead Local Flood Authority DEFRA 45 -45 0
U Extended Rights to Free Travel DfE 278 278
U Fire Revenue Grant MHCLG 213 213
U Troubled Families - Service Transformation Grant MHCLG 685 685
U Troubled Families Attachement Fees - Phase 2 MHCLG 0 0
U Troubled Families Payment by Result MHCLG 0 0
U New Homes Bonus MHCLG 3,589 3,589
U Local Reform & Community Voices Grant DfE 515 515

P
age 112



Annex C - 4

Business Management Report
Government Grants 2021/22

R
ingfenced 

Directorate Issued

Esimate 
2021/22

In year 
Adjustments / 

New Allocations 
reported 

previously 
reported

In year 
Adjustments/ New 

Allocations 
reported this time

Latest 
Allocation

by
£000 £000 £000 £000

U Independent Living Fund DfE 3,454 3,454
U School Improvement and Brokering Grant DfE 548 -90 458
U Social Care Support Grant MHCLG 12,031 12,031
U COVID-19 MHCLG 11,896 11,896
U New Social Care Grant MHCLG 572 572
U Local Council Tax Support Grant MHCLG 4,925 4,925
U Key Stage 2  Moderation and Key Stage 1 Phonics Grant DfE 0
U Wellbeing for Education Return Grant DfE 0
R Contain Outbreak Management Fund DHSC 3,070 3,070
R Support for Clinically Extremely Vulnerable DHSC 0
R Sales, Fees and Charges Compensation MCLG 0
R Pratical Support for those Self-Isolating DHSC 124 124
R Covid Local Support Scheme (formerly Winter Support Grant) MHCLG 1,608 1,608
U Support for Care Leavers at Risk of Rough Sleeping Grant DfE 95 95
U Financial Transparancy Grant DfE 9 9
U Section 31 Grant for Business Rate Compensation MHCLG 21,908 21,908
U Business Rates Top-Up MHCLG 40,546 40,546

Subtotal Strategic Measures 101,205 4,852 -81 105,976

P
age 113



Annex C - 4

Business Management Report
Government Grants 2021/22

R
ingfenced 

Directorate Issued

Esimate 
2021/22

In year 
Adjustments / 

New Allocations 
reported 

previously 
reported

In year 
Adjustments/ New 

Allocations 
reported this time

Latest 
Allocation

by
£000 £000 £000 £000

Grants held on behalf of Local Enterprise Partnership
R Oxford Innovation Business Support BEIS 205 205
R European Regional Development Fund 900 900
R DCLG (Local Enterprise Partnership Funding) MHCLG 500 500

Subtotal Grants held on behalf of Local Enterprise Partnership 1,605 0 0 1,605

TOTAL STRATEGIC MEASURES 102,810 4,852 -81 107,581

Total All Grants 397,287 12,217 6,334 415,838

P
age 114



Annex C - 5

Revised Charges 2021/22
Customers, Organisational Development & Resources - Music Service
Service Area Charge Unit  Current 

Charge 
£ 

 Proposed 
Charge 

£ 

Change
% 

Proposed 
date 

effective 
from

Discretionary or 
Statutory

VAT Class Notes ref changes

Music Service Charges to Schools Curriculum   (per hour) 65.00           65.00              0% 01/09/2021 Discretionary EX
First Access (60 or 45 minutes) 1,550.00      1,470.00         -5% 01/09/2021 Discretionary EX Pro-rata
Play On (1 hour or 45 min) 1,850.00      1,680.00         -9% 01/09/2021 Discretionary EX Pro-rata
Play On (30 minutes) 930.00         01/09/2021 Discretionary EX Options now not available - 60 mins/45 min above 

only
Play On (40 minutes) 1,230.00      01/09/2021 Discretionary EX Options now not available - 60 mins/45 min above 

only
Summer fun 118.00         Various 01/09/2021 Discretionary EX No longer Fixed price event - now costed on a case 

by case basis recovering full service cost.
Transport Zone 1 100.00         Various 01/09/2021 Discretionary EX No longer Fixed price event - now costed on a case 

by case basis recovering full service cost.
Transport Zone 2 85.00           Various 01/09/2021 Discretionary EX No longer Fixed price event - now costed on a case 

by case basis recovering full service cost.
Transport Zone 3 70.00           Various 01/09/2021 Discretionary EX No longer Fixed price event - now costed on a case 

by case basis recovering full service cost.
Transport Zone 4 45.00           Various 01/09/2021 Discretionary EX No longer Fixed price event - now costed on a case 

by case basis recovering full service cost.
workshops 13.00           Various 01/09/2021 Discretionary EX No longer Fixed price event - now costed on a case 

by case basis recovering full service cost.
Ensembles Choir Primary 45.00           01/09/2021 Discretionary EX No longer offered

CMS Pass 159.00         01/09/2021 Discretionary EX No longer offered
County Level Ensemble 1 hrs 
groups of 10 (individual price 
£4.80)

50.00           48.00              -4% 01/09/2021 Discretionary EX

County Level Ensemble 1.5 hrs 
groups of 10 (individual price 
£7.20)

60.00           72.00              20% 01/09/2021 Discretionary EX

County Level Ensemble 2 hrs 
Groups of 10 (individual price 
£9.60)

87.00           96.00              10% 01/09/2021 Discretionary EX

Full Membership / 2.5hr ensemble 
Group of 10 (individual price £12)

105.00         120.00            14% 01/09/2021 Discretionary Ex

OCMS Full Membership / 3.5hr 
ensemble group 15 (Individual 
price £11)

76.00           165.00            117% 01/09/2021 Discretionary Ex Total price now based on 15 per group, individual 
price increase 18%

Secondary Choir Activity 55.00           01/09/2021 Discretionary EX No longer offered
Single ensemble - OCMS lessons 55.00           01/09/2021 Discretionary EX No longer Fixed price event - now costed on a case 

by case basis recovering full service cost.

P
age 115



Annex C - 5

Revised Charges 2021/22
Customers, Organisational Development & Resources - Music Service
Service Area Charge Unit  Current 

Charge 
£ 

 Proposed 
Charge 

£ 

Change
% 

Proposed 
date 

effective 
from

Discretionary or 
Statutory

VAT Class Notes ref changes

Group Tuition Group of 2 (20 minutes) 10.20           10.20              0% 01/09/2021 Discretionary EX Pro-rata in multiples of 20 minutes only
Group of 2 (30 minutes) 15.00           01/09/2021 Discretionary EX Consumed above
Group of 3 or more (variables of 20 
minutes)

7.20             6.20                -14% 01/09/2021 Discretionary EX

Adult Group of 10 (Individual price 
£11.80)

118.00         118.00            0% 01/09/2021

Hire Hire of Instruments (All other 
instruments on offer)

48.00           50.00              4% 01/09/2021 Discretionary EX

Hire of Instruments (Violin, Viola 
and Guitars only)

27.00           30.00              11% 01/09/2021 Discretionary EX

Instrument Purchase Charge 75.00           75.00              0% 01/09/2021 Discretionary SR
Oxfordshire County Youth 
orchestra

799.00         Various 01/09/2021 Discretionary EX No longer Fixed price event - now costed on a case 
by case basis recovering full service cost.

Oxfordshire schools orchestra 575.00         Various 01/09/2021 Discretionary EX No longer Fixed price event - now costed on a case 
by case basis recovering full service cost.

Oxfordshire Schools Symphony 
Orchestra

875.00         Various 01/09/2021 Discretionary EX No longer Fixed price event - now costed on a case 
by case basis recovering full service cost.

Oxfordshire Youth Music Theatre 500.00         Various 01/09/2021 Discretionary EX No longer Fixed price event - now costed on a case 
by case basis recovering full service cost.

Individual Tuition Individual 40 minutes 39.00           36.40              -7% 01/09/2021 Discretionary EX
Individual 20 minutes - Multiples of 
20 minutes only

19.20           18.20              -5% 01/09/2021 Discretionary EX Pro-rata in multiples of 20 minutes only - see 40/60 
mins price

Individual 30 Minutes 29.00           01/09/2021 Discretionary EX Only providing multiples of 20 minutes
Individual 45 minutes 44.00           01/09/2021 Discretionary EX Omly providing multiples of 20 minutes
Individual 60 minutes 59.00           54.60              -7% 01/09/2021 Discretionary EX

Late cancellation Charge Late Cancellation fee 45.00           -                  -100% 01/09/2021 Discretionary EX Removal of late cancellation penalty as not cost 
effective to administer

Extra late cancellation Charge Very late cancellation fee 55.00           -                  -100% 01/09/2021 Discretionary EX Removal of late cancellation penalty as not cost 
effective to administer

Other Charges Key stage 1 festival 4.00             Various 01/09/2021 Discretionary EX No longer Fixed price event - now costed on a case 
by case basis recovering full service cost.

launchpad band 13.00           Various 01/09/2021 Discretionary EX No longer Fixed price event - now costed on a case 
by case basis recovering full service cost.

Primary Pop 4.00             Various 01/09/2021 Discretionary EX No longer Fixed price event - now costed on a case 
by case basis recovering full service cost.

spotlight talent 4.00             Various 01/09/2021 Discretionary EX No longer Fixed price event - now costed on a case 
by case basis recovering full service cost.

Own teacher accompanist Accompanist own teacher 30.00           Various 01/09/2021 Discretionary EX No longer Fixed price event - now costed on a case 
by case basis recovering full service cost.

Not own teacher accompanist Accompanist Oxfordshire County 
Music Service teacher

45.00           Various 01/09/2021 Discretionary EX No longer Fixed price event - now costed on a case 
by case basis recovering full service cost.

P
age 116



CABINET - 21 September 2021 

 
WORKFORCE REPORT AND STAFFING DATA Q1 2021/2022 

APRIL TO JUNE 2021 

 
Report from 

Corporate Director Customers, Organisational Development & Resources 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 
1. The Cabinet is RECOMMENDED to note the report. 

 

Executive Summary 

 

2. Our workforce is the most valuable asset the council deploys.  It is our people 
that make a difference to our residents and our communities.  The very nature 
of the work, and the services we provide, is people intensive.   Our residents 

are reliant on the professionalism of our workforce to deliver high quali ty 
services and the future ambitions of the Council.    

 
3. Many of our staff have continued to work from home where possible during Q1 

due to the pandemic and in line with Government advice.  

 
4. This report provides an update for Quarter 1 on key HR activities along with a 

refreshed workforce profile at Appendix 1. 
 

Quarter 1 overview of activity. 

 General Overview of the HR, OD and Corporate Health and Safety Team 

 Organisational Development Activities 

 Equalities, Diversity and Inclusion 

 Delivering the Future Together Programme 

 Apprenticeships 

 Organisational Change and Redundancies 

 Corporate Health, Safety and Wellbeing  
 

General Overview of the HR, OD and Corporate Health and Safety Team 

 
5. The HR, OD and Corporate Health and Safety team is a team of professionals 

with a range of people expertise including HR Business Partnering and 
Advisory, Employee Relations, Resourcing, HR Business Systems, Reward, 

Page 117

Agenda Item 7



CA7 

Organisational Development, Learning and Development and Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing. 

 
6. The team has in the main continued to work from home but flexibly and subject 

to the needs of the organisation during Q1.  The team has continued to respond 
to both strategic and business as usual activities whilst maintaining advice, 
guidance and support in relation to COVID.   

 
7. We continue to update the COVID FAQ’s for staff as national advice and 

guidance changes. A weekly manager’s briefing continues to be produced 
providing updates in response to any changes to national advice along with a 
wealth of information and top tips for managers on areas such as looking after 

the wellbeing of employees and sharing good practice.   
 

8. Informal meetings continue to take place every 4 weeks with the trade unions.  
These meetings continue to focus on COVID and any resulting issues that arise.  
These are well attended by all trade unions and allow us to deal promptly with 

emerging issues whilst sharing information, maintaining good communication 
and enabling positive collaboration across Oxfordshire. 

 
Organisational Development (OD) Activities 

 

Equality and Diversity 
 

9. Work continues on the workforce action plan aligned to the Including Everyone: 
Equalities, Diversity and Inclusion Framework. 

 

10. The mentoring programme, which is available to all staff, particularly those in 
underrepresented groups, provides shadowing and mentoring opportunities to 

enable all employees to reach their full potential.  Twenty-four people have 
registered for a mentor with 6 matches made so far.  Further work is being 
undertaken to establish why the conversion of requests for mentoring 

relationships is low however early research suggests that where mentors and 
mentees require more generic requirements in areas such as career 

progression or management experience, there is a much greater conversion 
rate compared to where mentors and mentees only offer and require a very 
discrete specialism.   
 

11. Our Reverse Mentoring Programme; Mentoring for Diversity has continued 
during Q1.  15 members of the BAME Network were trained as mentors in 
February 2021 by an external provider who is experienced in reverse 

mentoring.  These 15 mentors have been matched with members of CEDR and 
ELT to provide mentoring around EDI with a focus on lived experience. The 

programme’s mid-point review meeting took place in May 2021 and reported 
very positive outcomes around learning and safe spaces to discuss difficult 
issues. Feedback from the review meeting includes comments such as 

 

 Good equality in the relationship to openly discuss issues without 
barriers or hierarchy 

Page 118



CA7 

 There has been permission to have the discussion/freedom to 
address challenging issues and freedom to voice anything 

 Improved understanding of different ways of working has been 
refreshing 

 Improved empathy and curiosity noted 

 Good platform for further work 

 
12. A final review of the programme will take place in October 2021 with the 

intention of rolling out a further programme in Q3 or Q4 (2021-2022).  In 
addition, the mentors from the BAME Network will all have the opportunity to 
individually discuss with the Organisational Development (OD) lead for the 

programme next steps and development opportunities; early conversations 
indicate that a number of the mentor cohort would like to develop their coaching 
and mentoring skills and undertake the Coaching and Mentoring 

apprenticeship. This programme will commence in Quarter 3 and on 
completion, the mentors may join the OCC wide coaching and mentoring pool, 

offering a more diverse network to potential coaches/mentees.  

13. Additional support has been put in place for the BAME community with 

professional counselling support from VITA (OCC’s Employee Assistance 
Programme). Counsellors with BAME heritage are available to support with 
historic or current racial trauma.  

Apprenticeships 

14. A vacancy arising in the Organisational Development team has been re-

purposed as an Apprenticeship Manager to lead on the development of an 
apprenticeship strategy, improve optimisation of the levy, the development and 
embedding of career pathways, to support work with our communities around 

skills gaps and social mobility and to help establish better links with young 
people across Oxfordshire who are experiencing barriers to employment.  The 

successful candidate commenced employment on 1st July 2021.  The 
development of an apprenticeship hub with some fixed term roles is underway 
to support this critical work.  

 
15. During the rolling year 1 July 2020 - 30 June 2021 there were 265 apprentices 

on programme, of these around 186 were staff undertaking an apprenticeship 
as part of their continuing professional development (CPD) or career 
progression.   
 

16. There were 129 new enrolments during the period (1 July 2020 – 30 June 2021) 
with a committed spend of just over £1.2 million across the duration of the 

apprenticeships ranging from 1 year - 5 years.  33 new enrolments in the period 
were schools. 

 

17. In Q1 2021-2022, forty new apprenticeships commenced on programme 
compared to only 6 in Q1 in 2020-2021 and a total of 92 for the whole of 2020-

2021. Comparison data indicates that new apprentice starts for Q1 2021-2022 
have increased by 650% and levy spend commitment by over 350% compared 

Page 119



CA7 

to Q1 2020-21. It should be noted that this increase is skewed considerably due 
to COVID restrictions at the beginning of the pandemic. 

 
18. Due to the impact of Covid and workplace restrictions in 2020-2021, enrolments 

in this period were 92 compared to 108 in 2019-2020 however the value of the 
apprenticeships increased due to an increased number of higher level 
apprenticeships being undertaken.  In Q1(2021-2022) enrolments and spend 

have again increased.  With the introduction of a new Apprenticeship Hub and 
more resource to widely support the embedding of apprenticeships across the 

organisation we anticipate the numbers of apprentices and spend continuing to 
rise in 21/22. 
 

Delivering the Future Together 

 
19. The Delivering the Future Together (DTFT) programme is our internal 

programme for change.  The programme is about supporting, engaging 

enabling and developing our people.  The launch of new/refreshed values and 
behaviours took place on 9 June 2021 following widespread employee 

engagement in 2020.  The refreshed values are: (1) Always learning; (2) Be 
kind and care; (3) Equality and Integrity in all we do; (4) Taking responsibility; 
and (5) Daring to do it differently.  These five values underpin the DTFT 

programme. 
 

20. Supporting DTFT is the Champion Network Lead who has successfully 
recruited over 130 Champions to support bringing the values and behaviours 
to life.  The Champions are pivotal to DTFT as they start to engage at team 

level and provide feedback to the programme board on ‘what’s working well’ 
and ‘even better if’.  The Champions will receive training during Q2 on 

facilitation skills and using Microsoft teams, particularly whilst we remain in a 
virtual meeting world.  Champions will be engaging with teams in September 
with a focus on the value of “Be kind and care”. 
 

21. Any shortfall or gaps in the organisational coverage of the Champion network 

will be identified during Q2 and a further recruitment campaign will commence 
at the end of Q2/beginning of Q3 if required. 
 

22. The DTFT programme has several broad workstreams which will be refined 
further as the programme continues, including, Managing for Performance, 

Attraction, Recruitment and Induction, Talent Management, Reward and 
Recognition, Learning and Development and Wellbeing. During Q2 these will 
be refined, and a programme plan of activities will be developed and 

prioritised.   
 

Organisational Change and Redundancies  
 

23. During Q1. the HR Business Partners and Advisory team have continued to 

support several organisational change programmes.   
 

Page 120



CA7 

24. The joint Property, Investment and Facilities Management transformation has 
completed the first phase of restructuring for the senior management tier with 

Phase 2 and 3 expected to launch in Q2/3.     
 

25. Following the go-live of the new Health, Education and Social Care 
Commissioning team on 1st March 2021, recruitment to vacancies has 
continued during Q1 and is ongoing.  The appointment to the permanent role 

of Deputy Director for HESC is complete and the new postholder joined the 
team on 5th July 2021. 

 
26. The IT structure was reviewed and realigned to deliver the new IT strategy 

and IT Transformation Programme, undertaken as a joint activity by 

Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) and Cherwell District Council (CDC). 
These adjustments to the delivery model will enable the organisation to 

implement the new IT strategy and digital improvements and create long term 
sustainability by forming a joint IT Service. 

 

27. The HR structure continues to be reviewed to ensure that the structure and 
the roles within it are focussed on organisational need.  In Q1, appointments 

were made to key roles such as the Apprenticeship Manager and the HR 
Business Partner for Schools and Education with the latter due to commence 
employment on 1st September 2021. 
 

28. In Q1 there were a total of 13 redundancies at the Council across HESC, IT 

and HR.  

 
Corporate Health, Safety and Wellbeing  

 

Wellbeing 

 
29. Recorded sickness absence has reduced slightly since Q4 from 2.87% to 

2.74% but remains slightly higher than in Q1 (2020/2021), however overall 
sickness absence remains lower than before the pandemic.   
 

30. Covid related absence increased significantly in Q1 compared to Q4 however 
the data confirms that 70% of the Covid related absences were for between 1-

3 days which would suggest these absences were resulting from staff being 
impacted by some of the side effects of the vaccine.  This also correlates with 
the vast increase and rollout of the national Covid vaccination programme. 

 
31. From February 2021, the Council was able to change the way absence can be 

recorded through the IBC.  Previously an entirely employee self-service 
activity, the change has resulted in managers also being able to record 
absence in the system should an employee be unable to do so, due to, for 

example, hospitalisation.  This change should start to improve ongoing 
reporting and accuracy of sickness absence data. 

 
32. The top 5 reasons for absence continue to include stress, anxiety and 

depression as the top reason.  Covid-19 and isolation non-working have 

Page 121



CA7 

disappeared from the top 5, with the remaining identified as injury/fracture; 
operation/post op; ear nose and throat and gastrointestinal problems.   

 
33. The number of staff absent due to stress related absence in Directorates 

appears to have levelled over the past 3 quarters although it remains a third 
higher than in Q1 2020/21.   
 

34. Management referrals to our Occupational Health (OH) provider for 
stress/anxiety and depression have in the main steadily increased since 

October 2020 although they have varied month to month.  However, in June 
2021 there was a sharp spike with referrals increasing by 100% between May 
2021 and June 202, from 16 to 32.   

 
35. Work is underway to try and further track and analyse the underlying reasons 

for the high levels of management referrals for stress/anxiety and depression 
through our OH provider including the proportions of occupational and non-
occupational stressors. 

 
36. Data reported by our Employee Assistance Programme (EAP) provider for the 

month of June 2021 confirms that 31 staff used the telephone contact service 
of which 9 of these contacts were reported as work related concerns with the 
remaining 22 contacts reported as personal issues not related to work.  A 

further 4 staff contacted our EAP for general legal and information services.  
This service operates within HMRC guidelines by providing clarity and 

information rather than advice.  On-line data usage was not available at the 
time of this report and will be followed up with our provider. 
 

37. Early indications seem to indicate that OCC’s employees use of the EAP is 
perhaps lower than it should be compared to that of other organisations.  The 

council has carried out a range of promotional activities to raise awareness of 
the EAP but this will need to be re-visited.  Verbal feedback from the trade 
unions suggests that when used by employees, feedback about the services 

provided is very positive.  Further employee feedback is being sought from the 
EAP provider. 

 
38. The council’s Employee Assistance Programme can provide staff with a fully 

comprehensive psychological support service, offering counselling sessions for 

our staff and a dedicated managers hotline. In addition, higher counselling such 
as Eye Movement Desensitisation and Reprocessing (EMDR) which is 

particularly helpful for trauma and Post- Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) and 
Cognitive Behaviour Therapy (CBT) can also be provided. 

 

39. Through our occupational health provider People Asset Management (PAM) 
we are able to provide wellbeing assessments (Psychological Occupational 

health Assessments), tailored debriefing sessions (both group and individual) 
such as dealing with anxiety in Covid times, critical incident debriefing and 
wellness sessions.  

 
40. Our intranet pages contain advice to managers about how an employee that 

reports feelings of stress should be helped and we encourage employees to 

Page 122



CA7 

complete a stress risk assessment which asks individuals to identify the areas 
of the work as identified by the HSE where they may be feeling overwhelmed, 

this enables the line manager to put in place an action plan and address any 
issues raised.  

 
41. A WAP (Wellness Action Plan) is also available on the Intranet which can be 

utilised by an employee to help advise their line manager as to how best to 

support them in the workplace and what keeps them well at work.   We also 
have a Psychological Health Questionnaire available on the Intranet to help 

employees identify whether they may need to seek support.  
 
42. We have a number of support groups throughout the council and our 

wellbeing champions are always keen to help signpost individuals to the 
relevant support.  

 
43. We also have some Stress awareness bitesize sessions available for line 

managers. Every year we run a number of webinars for staff and have had 

speakers from MIND Oxfordshire, Able futures and Access to Work over the 
last 12 months. 

 
Health and Safety - Covid 

 

44. The Corporate H&S Team continues to work with services to review and 
update risk assessments to ensure continued effectiveness of controls. This 

means reviewing arrangements in place to ensure the safety of staff and 
workplaces because the Council’s general duty of care remains in place, 
including duties under the Health and Safety legislation. 

 
45.      Some key controls remain unchanged including ensuring adequate 

ventilation, sufficient cleaning and good hand hygiene.  In higher risk roles 
infection prevention control (IPC) procedures including the use of personal 
protective equipment (PPE) will remain in place in line with government 

guidance.  By taking a gradual and proportional response, this will help limit 
the increasing number of staff having to isolate as contacts at least until 16th 

August where in accordance with the Government’s roadmap, the isolation 
rules will change whereby those persons identified as ‘contacts’ who have 
received a double vaccination and take a negative PCR test may be exempt. 

Lone Worker Mobile Technology 
 

46.      Many of our frontline staff are lone workers, this can be through visiting        
residents’ homes alone, working at night or in remote locations.  Lone workers 
can be at risk of harm including violence or ill health while working in locations 

where it is difficult to summon help or assistance.  With more of our workforce 
working agile it is important managers and staff have assurance that we know 

staff are safe and help can be sent if needed. 
 
47. The Lone Worker Technology project is implementing a mobile app based 

service within those high-risk groups to locate and escalate alerts from lone 

Page 123



CA7 

workers connected to a 24/7 monitoring service with a priority emergency 
service response. 

 
48. Teams that have already been onboarded to the system include Highways, 

Fire and Rescue and Facilities Management with Children’s and Adults Social 
Care during the summer. 

 

  
Q1 Staffing Data (1st April – 30th June 2021)  

 
49. Appendix 1 of this report provides staffing data relating to the workforce profile  

including sickness absence, turnover, apprenticeship numbers and agency 

spend.  
 

50. Workforce data and trends are published in more detail on the Council’s 
intranet. This includes a breakdown of staffing numbers and trends over the 
past five quarters by Directorates and Schools, including temporary and part 

time employees, turnover and sickness rates along with diversity and salary 
profiles.  This data provides information by service and includes the spend and 

use of agency workers.  

Equality & Inclusion Implications 

51. Equality and inclusion implications are considered across all our workstreams 

as identified in the section above.  

Sustainability Implications 

There are no sustainability implications arising from this report. 

Risk Management 

There are no risk management issues arising from this report.  

 
 

 
CLAIRE TAYLOR 

Corporate Director Customers, Organisational Development & Resources 

 
 

 
Annex: Appendix 1 - Workforce Profile Q1 

 Appendix 2 – Apprenticeship and Levy note 

  
   

 
Background papers: Nil 

 

  
Contact Officer:  Karen Edwards, Director Human Resources 

August 2021 
 
 

Page 124



APPENDIX 1 – STAFFING REPORT 
WORKFORCE PROFILE QUARTER 1 – APRIL – JUNE 2021 1 

 

Headcount and Full Time Equivalent (FTE) comparison 

Overall, the headcount has remained relatively stable in the last 

year with some minor fluctuations between quarters which are 

likely to be caused by the normal rhythm of starters and leavers 

and the end of fixed term contracts.   

Headcount and FTE at the end of Q1 (2021/22) is 5076 and 

4140.61 respectively, a marginal increase on Q1 last year.  The 

overall reduction in headcount from Q4 to Q1 is minimal, although 

there has been a major restructure in Adults Services with the 

Provision Cycle, Health Education and Social Care (HESC) 

replacing Joint Commissioning.  Key posts have now been 

recruited to with appointees taking up post during Q2. 

A detailed workforce profile showing a 5-quarter trend for each 

Directorate and Service area is available on the intranet on the 

Workforce Data webpages. 
 

 

 

 

 

5052
5070 5076

5087
5076

Q1_2021 Q2_2021 Q3_2021 Q4_2021 Q1_2122

Headcount

4108.33
4139.52

4152.92
4126.93

4140.61

Q1_2021
Q2_2021
Q3_2021
Q4_2021
Q1_2122

Employee FTE

 

885

1232

1547

834

546

30

2

5865

Adults

CDAI

Children

CODR

Env & Plc

Public Health

OxCam Arc

OCC Schools

Headcount As At 30 June 2021

 

758.25

926.25

1282.41

657.88

484.98

28.84

2

3195.96

Adults

CDAI

Children

CODR

Env & Plc

Public Health

OxCam Arc

OCC Schools

FTE As At 30 June 2021

P
age 125



APPENDIX 1 – STAFFING REPORT 
WORKFORCE PROFILE QUARTER 1 – APRIL – JUNE 2021 2 

Age and Gender 
The directorate workforce gender split remains consistent with two 
thirds women and one third men.  The full time/part time split is 
more even across genders.  44.6% of the OCC workforce 
(excluding schools) are part time.  The workforce age profile also 
remains stable and highlights a slightly older workforce with 53% of 
the workforce aged 45 years and over.    
Of the 5076 staff employed across the Council, 254 (4.6%) have 
temporary contracts.  The profile of these staff is slightly different 
from the above in that there is a slightly higher percentage (69%) of 
female employees in this group and a much higher proportion of 
employees aged under 45 (66%).  15% of these temporary 
contracts can be attributed to apprenticeships. 

 

 

Ethnicity and Disability 

The working population of Black, Asian and minority ethnic (BAME) 
in Oxfordshire per the 2011 census was 9.2%. (See below) 

 

At OCC 8.79% of the directorate workforce are recorded as BAME. 
84% are white (77.6% white British, and 6.73% white other), and 
6.88% remain undeclared.  The proportion of BAME employees 
remains higher within our social care workforce at 11.73%.  1.2% 
of the workforce have selected ‘Prefer not to say’ and there is no 
data held for 5.6% of the directorate workforce.   
Disability:  4.18% of the directorate workforce are recorded as 

having a disability, this is lower than previously recorded due to the 

disability fields in self-service being updated to remove incorrect 

data.  We are actively promoting the changes in the recording of all 

equality and diversity data and hope to reduce the number of ‘not 

known’ entries which will improve our data quality. 

 

 

Q1_2021

Q2_2021

Q3_2021

Q4_2021

Q1_2122

Age band in All Directorates by quarter

16-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65 +

Asian
3% Black

3%

Mixed
2%

No data provided
6%

Other
1%

Prefer not 
to say

1%

White
84%

Q1 Directorate 
Ethnicity Profile Chart 

Asian Black Mixed No data provided Other Prefer not to say White

P
age 126



APPENDIX 1 – STAFFING REPORT 
WORKFORCE PROFILE QUARTER 1 – APRIL – JUNE 2021 3 

 

Apprenticeships  

During the rolling year 1 July 20 - 30 June 21  there were  265  

apprentices on programme,  of these around 75% were permanent 

staff undertaking an apprenticeship as CPD.  The split across 

directorates and apprenticeships/CPD are shown to the right. 

The Levy paid in the past 12 month rolling period is £1,090,394  – 

of this approximately 40% comes from Schools.  In addition, there 

is a 10% top up from Government giving a total Levy fund of 

£1,199,434 for the period July 2020 – June 2021.   

There were 129 new enrolments during the 12-month period with a 

committed spend of £1,212,553 across the duration of the 

apprenticeships ranging from 1 year - 5 years. 28% of new 

enrolments in the period were schools.  There were 175 active 

apprenticeships in Q1.   

Directorate Apprentice CPD Total 

Adults 7 19 26 

Children 23 37 60 

CDAI 3 45 48 

Env & Plc 4 23 27 

CODR 6 23 29 

OCC Schools 7 68 75 

Grand Total 50 215 265 

 

With the impact of Covid and the restrictions in place, new 

enrolments in the 12 month period reduced slightly but the spend 

increased due to the number of higher-level apprenticeships being 

undertaken.  In Q1 of 21/22 our enrolments and spend have 

increased again, and with the introduction of a new Apprenticeship 

Hub and additional resource to support the embedding of 

apprenticeships across the organisation we will see the number of 

apprenticeships and spend continuing to rise in 21/22. 

 

 

 

 

7

23

3

4

6

7

19

37

45

23

23

68

Adults

Children

CDAI

Env & Plc

CODR

OCC Schools

Rolling 12M No of 
Apprentices on Programme 

Apprentice CPD

Black 
African Black 

Caribbean Mixed 
Asian

No data 

Other 
Asian

White 
British

White 
Irish

White 
Other

Ethnicity profile of Apprentices - Q1 

238,400

378,918

448,962

224,150

247,269

Adults

Children

CDAI

Env & Plc

CODR

Rolling 12M Commited Spending (£) on Programme 

846,158OCC Schools

P
age 127



APPENDIX 1 – STAFFING REPORT 
WORKFORCE PROFILE QUARTER 1 – APRIL – JUNE 2021 4 

Sickness Absence 

Recorded sickness absence reduced slightly during Q1 which 
follows the usual trend but is higher than for Q1 2020/21.  The 
percentage of working hours lost to sickness absence has reduced 
slightly from 2.87% (Q4) to 2.74% (Q1) but remains higher than in 
Q1 2020/21 when it was 2.43%. Sickness is still lower than before 
the pandemic and this is likely to be as a result of the increased  
ability to work more flexibly and from home, a reduction in the need 
to commute and those who were isolating but still able to work, all 
of which may have positively impacted on reduced sickness 
absence levels.  Other sectors are reporting similarly.  130 of 5076 
staff (2.56%) reported absent due to Covid related sickness during 
Q1 which is a significant increase on Q4. However, of these, 91 
were absent for between 1-3 days which is likely to have been 
directly linked to the side effects resulting from the vaccine rather 
than the virus itself. 
 

The number of employees on long term sickness (20 days or more) 
reduced slightly in Q1.   
 

The rolling absence over the last 12 months is 6.49 days absence 
per fte– which is below the target rate of 7 days per fte. 
 

From February 2021, we were able to change the way we record 
absence through the IBC and this should improve ongoing 
reporting and accuracy of absence data. 
The top 5 reasons for absence continue to include stress, anxiety 
and depression as the top reason, but Covid-19 and isolation non-
working have disappeared from the top 5, with the remaining 
identified as injury/fracture; operation/post op; ear nose and throat 
and gastrointestinal problems.   
 

The number of staff absent due to stress related absence in 
directorates appears to have levelled over the past 3 quarters 
although it is a third higher than in Q1 2020/21.   

 

 

 

 
Short Term Sickness 
by Directorate for Q1 

 
Headcount at 

end of Q1 

 
No of staff on 

short term 
sickness  Q1  

 
% of staff on 
short term 
sickness Q1 

Children 1547 372 24.05%    

Adults 885 259 29.27%    

Environment and Place 546 94 17.22%    

CODR 834 205 24.58%    

CDAI 1232 227 18.43%    

Public Health 30 9 30.00%    

Growth Deal 2 0           0.00% 

Grand Total 5076 1166 22.97%     
 

2.43% 2.16% 2.49%
2.87% 2.74%

Q1_2021 Q2_2021 Q3_2021 Q4_2021 Q1_2122

% working hours lost by quarter

1.48
1.30

1.56
1.77 1.66

0.00

1.00

2.00

Q1_2021 Q2_2021 Q3_2021 Q4_2021 Q1_2122

Total sickness fte days by quater (long term, stress related and target)

Days absence per fte Days absence per fte-long term

Days absence per fte - stress related Target

P
age 128



APPENDIX 1 – STAFFING REPORT 
WORKFORCE PROFILE QUARTER 1 – APRIL – JUNE 2021 5 

Turnover 
Turnover for Q1 for Directorates was 3% which is a marginal 
increase on Q4.  Turnover for the rolling 12-month period was 
10.7% for all Directorates, increasing to 14.5% when including 
schools.  There were no Academy conversions during Q4. 
 

 

14% of leavers during Q1 left with less than 1 years’ service,  36% 
had between 1-5 years’ service, and 37% had more than 10 years’ 
service.  55% of leavers in Childrens Services left with less than 5 
years’ service. 

 

40% (61) of the leavers in Q1 were in the over 55 age group, of 
which 25 retired (voluntary, normal and over retirement age), 8 
were made redundant, 7 left to go to alternative employment and 6 
left due to family commitments.  The average length of service of 
our employees is relatively stable at 9.5 years, with the average 
length of service of leavers for Q1 at 10.4 years.   

 

  

 

Of the top 5 reasons for leaving, 36% took up alternative employment.  

16% retired, 10% gave no reason and 7% resigned due to family 

commitments.  We are currently working towards improving our exit data 

with a revised questionnaire which prompts managers and employees to 

engage in the exit review process to help us understand why employees 

leave the Council. 

12

23

7

14

21

39

54

44

64

54

12

20

9

18

21

34

43

43

51

56

Q1_2021

Q2_2021

Q3_2021

Q4_2021

Q1_2122

All Directorates

under 1yr under 5yrs under 10yrs 10 plus yrs

0

100

Under 25 25-34 35-44 45-54 55+

Leavers by age group

1.9% 2.8% 2.0% 2.9% 3.0%

Q1_2021 Q2_2021 Q3_2021 Q4_2021 Q1_2122

% of Turnover Rate in All Directorates by quarter

% total turnover rate % Turnover (involuntary) % Turnover (voluntary)

2

9

7

3

7

21

13

9

4

7

7

4

3

19

18

6

8

4

1

Adults

Children

CDAI

CODR

Env & Plc

Public Health

under 1yr

under 5yrs

under 10yrs

10 plus yrs

Q1 Leavers by Directorate

55

15

15

11

9

Resign - Alternative Employmt

Resign - No Reason given

Retirement - Voluntary

Resign - Family Commitment

Retirement Normal Pension Date

Top 5 reasons for leaving in Q1

Length of Service of Leavers 

P
age 129



APPENDIX 1 – STAFFING REPORT 
WORKFORCE PROFILE QUARTER 1 – APRIL – JUNE 2021 6 

Agency Spend (Comensura and Off Contract) 

Agency staff expenditure (Comensura contract only) has 

decreased this quarter to £4,413,582 (a decrease of £78,783).   

There were 119 new bookings this quarter for 142 positions, 67% 

were to cover a vacancy. 18 new bookings (13%) were to cover 

Covid-19 related absences, which is a decrease on previous 

quarters.  At the end of Q1 there were 321 active bookings, a slight 

decrease (of 23) on Q4. 

 

Off contract spend (agency usage outside of the Comensura 

contract) has halved in Q1 to £1,186,976 but still double the spend 

of Q3 (£541,271).  The majority of spend outside of the Comensura 

contract is still within Environment and Place (£794,351) but has 

significantly decreased from Q4 (£2,003,799).  This expenditure  

relates to use of the MHA framework for contractors to fill 

vacancies to deliver major infrastructure projects pending the 

outcome of the Directorate review and permanent recruitment. 

 

The highest agency spend relates to the need for qualified Social Care 
staff, although Q1 is continuing to show increased spends against the 
use of Interims and Engineering & Surveying workers. The total spend in 
Q1 for all agency expenditure is £6,136,525 a decrease on last quarter 
but still significantly higher than Q1 20/21. Costs are on the increase 
across Children’s, Adults and CODR Directorates over the past 3 
quarters. 

 

 

0

500000

1000000

1500000

2000000

2500000

3000000

Adults Children CDAI Env & Place CODR Public Health

Agency Spend per Quarter by Directorate 
(Comensura & Off-Contract)

Q3 20/21 Q4 20/21 Q1 21/22

£0 £500,000 £1,000,000 £1,500,000 £2,000,000

Human Resources
Manual Labour

Driving
Management

Marketing, Sales, Communications
Social and Healthcare Unqualified

Health Care Qualified
Financial

Procurement and Logistics
Information Technology

Legal
Admin and Clerical

Engineering and Surveying
Interim

Social Care Qualified

Cost and reason for cover (Comensura only) Q1

£3,778,602 £3,964,670 £4,226,073

£6,771,336
£6,136,525

Q1_2021 Q2_2021 Q3_2021 Q4_2021 Q1_2122

Agency spend - All Directorates by quarter

P
age 130



Appendix 2 Apprenticeships and Levy Funding  

Apprenticeships and Levy Funding 
Briefing Note  

 
 
The Apprenticeship Levy was introduced in 2017.  OCC’s Apprenticeship Levy pot is 
approx. £1.2m per year; this funding can only be spent on apprenticeship training and 
not on salaries or support costs.  The levy is generated by a monthly charge of 0.5% 
on the council’s pay bill plus a 10% government top-up and lasts for 24 months. Any 
unspent levy in the council’s account that is older than 24 months is returned to the 
treasury. 
 
Only qualifications aligned to agreed apprenticeship standards can be funded by the 
levy.  When the levy was first introduced, standards were under- developed however 
there are now over 300 standards available in the UK with more being continuously 
developed. 
 
Apprentices must evidence at least 20% “off the job training” which is directly relevant 
to the apprenticeship standard.  This includes lectures, workshops, practical training, 
shadowing, mentoring, learning support, time writing assignments/assessments and 
research.  Off the job training can take place in the workplace or off site. 
 
Public Sector Apprenticeship (PSA) target 
 
The Organisational Development team is responsible for managing the Apprenticeship 
Levy and for monitoring the Public Sector Apprenticeship target (PSA).   
 
The PSA target requires large public bodies to have regard to a target of having 2.3% 
of the workforce made up of apprentices based on the average of apprenticeship starts 
since 2017.   
 
PSA figures are published annually.  The most recent national report is for 2019 which 
indicates that County Councils averaged 1.05% against the target of 2.3%. 
 
The figures that will be nationally published for 2020 for OCC are Cumulative 0.94% 
(an average of new starts since 2017) of target.  
 
The PSA target includes maintained schools in Oxfordshire, including Foundation 
schools and Voluntary Controlled schools.   
 
Apprenticeships and how they can be used 
 
Apprenticeships can be undertaken by staff in a variety of different ways and under 
various contractual arrangements. 
 
Apprenticeships training contracts 
 
These are fixed term contracted for the duration of the apprenticeship and often 
referred to as training contracts. Training contracts are offered as both internal and 
external opportunities for entry level and higher-level apprenticeships.  For example, 
an apprentice can start at Level 3 Paralegal and upon successful completion, progress 

Page 131



Appendix 2 Apprenticeships and Levy Funding  

to a further training contract to study for the Level 7 Solicitor. These types of training 
contracts appeal to people of all ages who do not wish to enter or go back to university 
to study or re-train. These types of posts are offered with no guarantee of a permanent 
role at the end of the apprenticeship. 
 
Permanent posts with career development 
 
These are permanent posts within the organisational structure that are offered as a 
permanent training post with career development or progression whereby the post 
holder (who can be internal or external) is not expected to be either qualified or fully 
qualified upon entry to the role.  The relevant level of apprenticeship is mapped to the 
role to support the employee to gain their professional qualifications via a levy funded 
apprenticeship. Recent examples of this are Finance (AAT), Audit (Intelligence 
Analyst) and Transport Planning (Transport Planning Technician).   Completion of the 
apprenticeship is a mandatory part of the role. These roles will often be the first step 
of a defined career pathway in the specialist area using apprenticeship training 
throughout. 
 
Continuous Professional Development (CPD) 
 
These are opportunities for existing staff to gain additional continuing professional 
development opportunities via the apprenticeship route.  For example, staff may wish 
to undertake a Learning Mentor apprenticeship to enable them to take the next step in 
their career towards a management role when a suitable vacancy arises and then 
undertake a first line management apprenticeship which will stand them in good stead 
for more senior management roles where they could undertake higher level 
management and leadership apprenticeships. 
 
 
 

Page 132



Divisions Affected - All 

 
 

CABINET  

21 September 2021 
 

Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Regulation 18 (Stage 2) Consultation: OCC 
Draft Response 

 

Report by Corporate Director Environment and Place 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

1. The Cabinet is RECOMMENDED to consider the draft OCC response to the 
Oxfordshire Plan Regulation 18 (Stage 2) consultation and suggest changes to 
be made to the response as necessary. 

 

Executive Summary 

 
2. As part of the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal, the Growth Board agreed 

that the city and district councils would prepare a county-wide strategic plan for 

Oxfordshire: the Oxfordshire Plan 2050. The Plans aim is to: 

 Set out the numbers of new housing to be built in Oxfordshire up to 2050; 

 Establish the broad locations for growth, i.e., the spatial growth options. 
 

3. A report on the draft Plan was considered by Cabinet at their meeting on 20 
July. Cabinet resolved to: 
 
a) Consider and agree the process for the Oxfordshire Plan Regulation 18 

(Part 2) document for public consultation commencing on 30 July;  

b) Further consider the Plan at its meeting on 21 September after an all-
member seminar, with a view to making formal representations on the 
Oxfordshire Plan Regulation 18 (Part 2) by the closing date of 8 October 

2021. 

 

4. Subsequently, an all-Member virtual seminar was held on the evening of 20 
July. A further meeting with Cllr Enright was held on 27 July to discuss the 
general approach for an OCC formal response. 

 

5. The Plan document at Annex 1 is consulting on a range of preferred and 

reasonable alternative policy options and five broad spatial options for future 
growth in Oxfordshire, as well as three option for the levels of new housing 

Page 133

Agenda Item 8



CA8 

growth. The results of the public consultation will feed into a further round of 
public consultation (Reg 19) in the spring of 2022. The Reg 19 consultation will 
set out the preferred options for policies, spatial locations and levels of new 

growth. 
 

6. The draft Plan document contains five Themes within which sit a range of policy 
proposals. There are 32 preferred policies. 

 

7. The draft Plan will not identify specific sites for new development. It will however 
outline five spatial options (or broad locations) for future growth. 

 

8. The draft response at Annex 2 outlines how the preferred policy options 
contained within the Plan correlate to the county councils agreed priorities and 

highlights some key points raised by various county council members, officers 
and teams in relation to the plan policies, text and spatial options. 

 

Background 
 

9. The Oxfordshire Growth Board (‘the Board) was established in 2014 as a Joint 
Committee1 of the six councils of Oxfordshire, together with key strategic 

partners. The Board’s establishment was premised on strengthening 
partnership arrangements across Oxfordshire for pragmatic working on key 
strategic issues. It has successfully done this by overseeing the delivery of 

cross-county projects that the councils of Oxfordshire were seeking to deliver in 
a collaborative way – between local authorities, the Local Enterprise Partnership 

and wider partners and stakeholders2. 
 
10. As part of the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal, the Growth Board agreed 

that the city and district councils would prepare a county-wide strategic plan for 
Oxfordshire: the Oxfordshire Plan 2050. The Plans aim is to: 

 Set out the numbers of new housing to be built in Oxfordshire up to 2050; 

 Establish the broad locations for growth, i.e. the spatial growth options. 

 
11. The timetable for the preparation of the Plan is: 

 

a) 30 July to 8 October 2021 – Oxfordshire Plan 2050 (Reg. 18 part 2) 
consultation 

b) Spring 2022 - Consultation on Submission (Draft) Plan (Reg. 19) 

c) September 2022 – Submission to government 
d) November / December 2022 – Examination 

e) February / March 2023 – Inspector’s report 
f) May/ June 2023 – Adoption 

 

                                                 
1 Under s101 (5), 102 Local Government Act 1972 (LGA 1972) and s9EB Local Government Act 2000 (LGA 2000) and pursuant 
to the Local Authorities (Arrangement for the Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 2012. 
2 As a Joint Committee, the Board may discharge executive functions if delegated to it by each constituent local authority, but 

each constituent authority retains the ability to exercise all executive and non-executive functions generally and specifically in 
relation to economic development including where applicable provision of housing, strategic spatial planning and strategic 
transport planning. 

Page 134



CA8 

12. A report on the draft Plan was considered by Cabinet at their meeting on 20 
July.  Cabinet resolved to: 
 
a) Consider and agree the process for the Oxfordshire Plan Regulation 18 

(Part 2) document for public consultation commencing on 30 July;  

b) Further consider the Plan at its meeting on 21 September after an all-
member seminar, with a view to making formal representations on the 
Oxfordshire Plan Regulation 18 (Part 2) by the closing date of 8 October 

2021. 

 

13. Subsequently, an all-Member virtual seminar was held on the evening of 20 
July. A further meeting with Cllr Enright was held on 27 July to discuss the 
general approach for an OCC formal response. 

 
14. Since all the local authorities agreed the Plan during meetings during July, the 

Plan is now out for public consultation until 8 October. The Plan is at Annex 1. 
 

15. The Plan team have developed a number of ways for respondents to submit 

their comments on the Plan, including via the Oxfordshire Open Thought 
website. Alternatively, respondents can use a submission form. For the OCC 

response, the submission form has been used. Responses from various county 
council officers have been submitted to the Strategic Planning Team and they 
have been included in a draft response letter to the Oxfordshire Plan team and 

is attached at Annex 2. 
 

16. It should be noted that different officers and teams have made comments on 

the same policy option. However, it is important to capture their detailed 
considerations that can then be taken forward to the next phase of the plan 

process. 
 

17. We have looked at the Oxfordshire Plan preferred policy options and matched 

them to the County Councils priorities which were agreed by Cabinet on 20 July 
2021. The priorities are: 

 

 Tackle the Climate Emergency through rapid decarbonisation, proper 

accounting of carbon emissions and ambitious targets, as well as supporting 
climate resilience. 

 Tackling inequalities and providing opportunities for everyone in Oxfordshire 

to achieve their full potential. 

 Prioritisation of wellbeing – improved outcomes for residents and improved 

air quality and access to libraries, cultural facilities and the arts 

 Review and reform of the social care system to prioritise end users and 

carers, with a focus on co-operative and community provision of social care, 
helping those who want to stay in their own homes 

 Increased investment in an inclusive, integrated, county-wide active and 

sustainable travel network fit for the 21st century to improve choice and 
reduce car journeys across the county 

 Improved access to nature and green spaces for all communities, and 
landscape-scale nature recovery across the county. 

Page 135



CA8 

 Supporting all our children and young people to achieve improved health, 
wellbeing and educational outcomes; improved provision for children with 
additional needs; all decision-making to have regard to impact on young 

people and future generations. 

 The creation of a resilient local democracy, where decisions are devolved to 

the lowest possible level and residents are meaningfully involved in the 
decisions that affect their lives. 

 Support for local employment and businesses, working with partners to 

make Oxfordshire a centre for green and sustainable technologies through 
a local ‘Green New Deal’. We will use our purchasing power and contracts 

to maximise benefit to local employment and businesses. 
 

Key Issues  

 
18. The Plan document is consulting on a range of preferred and reasonable 

alternative policy options and five broad spatial options for future growth in 
Oxfordshire, as well as three option for the levels of new housing growth. The 

results of the public consultation will feed into a further round of public consultation 
(Reg 19) in the spring of 2022. The Reg 19 consultation will set out the preferred 
options for policies, spatial locations and levels of new growth. 

 
The policy themes 

 
19. The draft Plan document contains five Themes within which sit a range of policy 

proposals: 

 

 Theme One: Addressing climate change.  

 Theme Two: Improving environmental quality. 

 Theme Three: Creating strong and healthy communities. 

 Theme Four: Planning for sustainable travel and connectivity. 

 Theme Five: Creating jobs and providing homes. 

 
20. There is a total of 32 policies in the draft Plan. A preferred policy options is set out 

with a number of reasonable alternative options. 

 
21. The Themes outlined above have a clear alignment with the county counci l 

priorities outline in paragraph 9 above.  
 
Spatial options 

 
Principles underpinning all the spatial strategy options 
 

22. All options must help deliver the Strategic Vision – though each will do this in 
different ways and to varying degrees because each is based on a different key 

driver for transformation. All options will make effective use of land by planning 
positively for reuse of previously developed or brownfield land, in including under-
utilised land & buildings as urban regeneration schemes.  

 

Page 136



CA8 

23. They will prioritise the environment as a common thread that flows from the 
Oxfordshire Strategic Vision. This includes climate change, nature recovery, 
natural capital and enhanced resilience. 

 
24. All will support Oxford as the key driver for growth within Oxfordshire and will 

support the priorities within the emerging Spatial Framework for the Oxford -
Cambridge Arc. 
 

25. It is not anticipated at this stage of consultation that one option can accommodate 
all of Oxfordshire's growth. None of the options is likely to provide 'the answer' – 

more likely that the preferred strategy at Reg 19 stage will comprise components 
from different options to deliver the overall long-term strategy and outcomes. 
 

26. The draft Plan will not identify specific sites for new development. It will however 
outline five spatial options (or broad locations) for future growth: 

 

 Option 1: Focus on opportunities at larger settlements and planned growth 
locations 

 Option 2: Focus on Oxford-led growth 

 Option 3: Focus on opportunities in sustainable transport corridors & at 

strategic transport hubs 

 Option 4: Focus on strengthening business locations 

 Option 5: Focus on supporting rural communities 
 
27. All the options outlined above have their own particular opportunities and 

challenges (articulated in the Plan) and it is recognised that the final preferred 
option (to be set out at Reg 19 stage) may be a combination of more than one 

option. It is worth noting that a high-level transport assessment of each option is 
being carried out as part of the evidence base for the draft Plan.  
 

Levels of new housing growth 
 

28. The core team have undertaken an assessment of the growth needs of 
Oxfordshire up to 2050, the Oxfordshire Growth Needs Assessment (OGNA), 
which will be published alongside the Plan given its important role as an 

evidence document. It sets out three scenarios for housing need: 
 

 One that is based on the Government's standard methodology,  

 A mid-range option, and  

 A higher one that factors in additional economic growth.  
 

29. The decision on which level of growth will be taken around Christmas 2021 to 

inform the Regulation 19 stage draft plan. In setting the level of planned housing 
provision, the OGNA will be one of the factors considered alongside a number 

of others. 
 

30. The strategy seeks to take account of the five District Local Plans that have 

been adopted in Oxfordshire and take account of the growth already committed 
in each District, totalling circa 75,000 houses. The consultation Plan clarifies 

that the housing need assessment is just a starting point, the current Local Plan 

Page 137



CA8 

growth up to 2031/35/36 has to be taken into account and leaves a smaller 
‘residual’ figure of new development to be planned for in the Oxfordshire Plan. 

 
OCC draft response to the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Regulation 18 (Stage 2) 
consultation 

 
31. The draft OCC response to the consultation is in letter form at Annex 2. Key 

general points are: 

 
32. We are pleased that the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 is, along with the Strategic 

Vision for Long Term Sustainable Development, a key document that will 
continue to drive all six local authorities in the county to work in partnership to 
deliver good growth in Oxfordshire for the next 30 years and beyond. We 

consider that the Plan will give long-term certainty over the future sustainable 
development of the county for residents and businesses. 

 
33. We welcome policies within the draft OP2050 plan that: 

 

 Strengthens and drives policies for net zero carbon homes, specifically 
construction and design standards that reduce energy demand in line with the 

energy hierarchy, and the use of gas boilers. 

 Ensure for spatial planning to accelerate and drive the UK’s transition to a zero-
carbon energy system 

 Enable greener, more inclusive strategic infrastructure provision, including 
energy and transport networks 

 Make provision for tree planting in urban areas as part of healthy place-shaping, 
urban design and biodiversity net gain. 

 
34. Whilst we support the five Themes, we would urge that work is undertaken to 

ensure that there is no conflict between the five themes and the policies 

contained within them. For example, we would not wish to see the drive towards 
a zero-carbon economy have a disproportionate negative impact on residents 

in outlying communities or with limited resources who need access to affordable  
active and public transport options. 
 

35. We note and support paragraphs 37 to 48 which outlines the important 
relationship between the Oxfordshire Plan and the Oxford to Cambridge Arc 

Spatial Framework, and in particular paragraph 46 which states: 
 

The respective timetables for the Oxfordshire Plan and the Arc Spatial 

Framework mean that the Oxfordshire Plan – together with the Strategic Vision 
– will be able to help ensure that Oxfordshire has a strong voice in the 

development of the Arc Spatial Framework and that its interests are taken into 
account. Likewise, as work on the Arc Spatial Framework gathers pace, it will  
help inform the choice of options to be considered at the next stage (Regulation 

19) of the Oxfordshire Plan process. 
 

36. We would also like to note that Oxfordshire is the only area in the Oxford to 
Cambridge Arc that is embarking on a long term, strategic Plan for the county, 
and is therefore in a good position to influence and drive ambitious Arc Spatial 

Page 138



CA8 

Framework emerging policies to allow the move to a zero-carbon economy and 
society to become a reality. 

 

37. We are pleased to see a Theme that is devoted to addressing climate change.  
The recent extreme weather events and the publication of the latest IPCC report 

has highlighted the need to take a fresh and holistic approach across the county 
to make sure we are doing everything we can to address this crisis. The policies 
on sustainable design and construction, energy, water efficiency and flood risk 

are welcomed. 
 

38. The Circular Economy should be included at the highest level as it’s such a 
cross cutting theme that impacts every area, not one on its own, and then 
incorporated into the Policies as much as possible. Ideally what we would like 

to see in the Plan is a drive towards and commitment to the Circular Economy 
alongside an explanation of what this is and how it fits across the Themes of the 

Plan.  
 

39. We support Policy Option 18: Sustainable Transport in New Development as 

being in line with the hierarchy as set out in the emerging Oxfordshire Local 
Transport and Connectivity Plan (LTCP) namely that in new development: 

 

 Reduce the need to travel in the first place by ensuring that high quality digital 
connectivity is provided 

 Secondly planning for sustainable travel modes - ensuring that new 
development is primarily designed to enable movement by active travel and 

public/shared transport, and that sites are well connected to surrounding 
sustainable transport networks 

 Finally providing for zero emission vehicle use - ensuring that any essential 

vehicle travel for people and goods is prioritised for zero carbon emission 
vehicles, with adequate charging and other supporting infrastructure provided. 

 
40. It is encouraging that the plan supports the establishment of a Nature Recovery 

Strategy and recognises the importance of the draft Nature Recovery Network 
as a valuable evidence base which will be used to achieve environmental 
benefits required under strategic policy. As an overarching policy this can permit 

change and adaptation over time, as the evidence base increases.  
 

41. Stronger wording in some parts of the plan would be beneficial, for example 
para 211 states that ‘net gains through planning are likely to be desirable’, this 
needs to ensure commitment and recommended wording would be ‘net gains 

through planning will be necessary’.  
 

42. From a broad climate perspective, we think the plan is not really putting climate 
change impacts in the frame, though the emphasis on decisive action to mitigate 
and even reverse climate change and biodiversity loss is very encouraging. 

 
43. Given recent climate events across the Globe, and the findings of recent 

research, including the IPPC report, a prudent long term strategic plan would 

probably at least lay out a set of principles designed to promote layers of 

Page 139



CA8 

resilience from individual building level right up to County and region. That might 
include: 

 

 Conscious and planned building of community networks and strengthening 
of communities. 

 Public education, training and support in building skills and knowledge 
base 

 Built-in system / supply chain redundancy, preference for local sourcing, 
and resilience by design in food, water, power supplies at each level (local, 
district, county, nation). This would include deliberate planting of trees and 

shrubs with edible fruit/nuts within and around settlements, support for 
allotments, smallholdings. 

 Sustained support for developing circular economy, reducing dependence 
on resources from external sources. 

 Building-level resilience including shutters to block sunlight in extreme heat 
events, correct orientation of new builds, measures to prevent damage 

from flash flooding, designed resilience to high winds. 

 Risk-based zoning of development and rigorous enforcement (including for 
example a complete and absolute block on building on flood plains and 
areas liable to flood in extreme circumstances).  

 Hardening and protection of critical infrastructure. 

 Proactive disaster prediction and emergency planning, down to house / 
street level. 

 Universal deployment of nature-based / agroecological defences against 
extreme climate events. 

 
44. More detailed officer comments are included in the draft letter at Annex 2. 

Financial Implications 

 
45. There are no budgetary implications for the county council. Work on the OP2050 

is undertaken within existing officer time. 
 

Comments checked by:  

Rob Finlayson, Finance BP (Communities and C,OD & CDAI) 
 

Legal Implications 

 
46. There are no legal implications for the county council. The Plan is a strategic 

plan for the four districts and the city council. 
 

Comments checked by:  
Christian Smith, Principal Solicitor Contracts 

Equality & Inclusion and Sustainability Implications 

 
47. The draft Plan contains the following Objectives that seek to ensure as far as 

possible Oxfordshire’s residents are able to lead productive and healthy lives: 

Page 140



CA8 

 

 To demonstrate leadership in addressing the climate emergency by 
significantly reducing greenhouse gas emissions. 
 

 To conserve and enhance Oxfordshire’s historic, built and natural 

environments, recognising the benefits these assets contribute to quality of 
life, local identity and economic success. 
 

 To protect and enhance Oxfordshire’s distinctive landscape character, 

recreational and biodiversity value by identifying strategic green and blue 
infrastructure, improving connectivity between environmental assets and 

securing a net gain for biodiversity. 
 

 To improve health and wellbeing by enabling independence, encouraging 
active and healthy lifestyles, facilitating social interaction and creating 

inclusive and safe communities. 
 

 To sustain and strengthen Oxfordshire’s economic role and reputation by 
building on our key strengths and relationships. 
 

 To ensure that the benefits and opportunities arising from Oxfordshire’s 

economic success are felt by all of Oxfordshire’s communities. 
 

 To meet Oxfordshire’s housing needs, including affordable housing, and to 
ensure that housing delivery is phased appropriately to support the needs of 

our communities. 
 

 To ensure that new housing is flexible to meet the varied needs of people 
through all stages of life. 
 

 To deliver high quality, innovatively designed development that ensures 

efficient use of land and resources. 
 

 To reduce the need to travel and to support people in making sustainable 
transport choices by providing inclusive, integrated, safe and convenient 

pedestrian, cycle and public transport infrastructure linking communities. 
 

 To ensure that communities are digitally connected and that innovative 
technologies are supported.  

Communications 

 
48. The Oxfordshire Plan 2050 has a website https://oxfordshireplan.org/ where the 

Regulation 18 part 2 consultation documents will sit. The website will the key 
tool for the engagement during the consultation period.  

 
49. The website will contain: 

 

 Overview text about the Oxfordshire Plan, stage reached and consultation 
purpose. 

 A consultation response form, including a series of questions included. 

 A summary leaflet. 

 A downloadable Regulation 18 (Part 2) consultation document. 

 The ability to access the key accompanying documents that the Councils will 

receive.  

Page 141

https://oxfordshireplan.org/


CA8 

 Link to the supporting evidence including the Sustainability Appraisal (SA) & 
the Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA). 

 Link to the OGNA report 

 Link to secondary evidence such as the Local Transport & Connectivity Plan 
(LTCP) and the OXIS which supports the Oxfordshire Plan but which is being 

consulted upon separately. 

 Text confirming that the County Minerals and Waste Plan is separate. 

 A download form for proposals to be submitted by site promoters. 
 

50. Online events: 
 

 District-based webinars: 2 per district, 1st to take place in 3rd week of August 

(from 16th), 2nd to take place in 3rd week of September (commencing 20th)  

 CPRE webinar date confirmed as 19th August. 

 A number of specialist webinars covering Environment and Developers. 
Each of these is to take place in the week commencing Tuesday 31st 

August. 

 OxLEP Business events: 2 events, one w/c 19th July and one in mid-
September 

 Thames Valley Chamber of Commerce: July 6th. 
 
 

The future timetable 

 

51. The scale of the work undertaken at the Regulation 18 (Part 2) stage puts the 
plan-making process in a good position to meet the future timetable that was 

agreed with MHCLG in February 2021.  
 
 

NAME:  Bill Cotton, Corporate Director Environment and Place 
 

Annexes: Annex 1 - Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Reg 18 (Stage 2) document. 
Annex 2 - Oxfordshire County Council draft response to the OP2050 
public consultation. 

 
Contact Officer: Dawn Pettis, Strategic Planning Team Leader, 

07771983395 
 
September 2021 

 

Page 142



1 
 

 
Annex 1: Oxfordshire Plan –  
Regulation 18 (Part 2) Consultation Document  
 
VERSION 30  
  

Page 143



2 
 

Foreword 
 

1. Oxfordshire is a unique and special place shaped by its beautiful and varied 
landscapes, rich cultural heritage and areas important to nature conservation. Its 
towns, villages and the City of Oxford form part of a dynamic network of places 
that have grown to support an innovation-driven economy that is nationally and 
internationally significant, with Oxfordshire forming part of the Oxford-Cambridge 
Arc. These characteristics, together with Oxfordshire's connections to other 
places, mean that, for many, Oxfordshire is a prosperous and healthy place to 
live. But there are also persistent, multi-faceted inequalities in some of our 
places, and challenges linked to climate change, congestion, housing 
affordability and threats to the natural, built and historic environments. 

 
2. The Oxfordshire Plan will change the way we plan for Oxfordshire's future. To 

fully make the most of our opportunities and to more effectively tackle the 
challenges that Oxfordshire faces requires a new partnership-based approach to 
planning: one that continues to value the vital role played by local and 
neighbourhood plans, but which also recognises that some issues require 
transformative change through concerted effort over the medium and longer-
term, are better considered on a wider geographical scale and best tackled 
through joined-up policy responses that build resilience. 

 
3. Climate change is one example. Decisions made locally have the potential to 

impact on outcomes in that area, but also more widely within Oxfordshire as well 
as beyond the county's boundaries. We also understand there are important 
linkages between climate change, where development is located, Oxfordshire's 
status as an international centre of world-leading innovation and research, 
movement and connectivity, the wellbeing of the natural environment, people's 
health and the importance of enhanced resilience across all these areas. 
Likewise, there are many factors that impact on people's wellbeing including 
housing, their physical and mental health, employment, income, education, the 
built and natural environment, access to green space and cultural facilities and a 
sense of community. 

 
4. Not all these issues are within the sphere of influence of a statutory development 

plan, but statutory planning does have an important role to play. This strategic 
plan for Oxfordshire has been jointly prepared by the four district councils – 
Cherwell District Council, South Oxfordshire District Council, Vale of White Horse 
District Council and West Oxfordshire District Council – and Oxford City Council, 
working in partnership with Oxfordshire County Council and the Oxfordshire 
Local Enterprise Partnership. 

 
5. Oxfordshire has a global reputation for innovation. We want our Plan to be bold 

and ambitious, setting out challenging policies that place Oxfordshire at the 
forefront of sustainable development because we want Oxfordshire to be an even 
better-quality place to live, work, visit and invest in 2050. Realising our ambition 
will require a step-change in Oxfordshire's approach to place-shaping: one that 
is transformational. This document sets out an innovative strategy that plans 
positively and collaboratively for inclusive growth in ways that fully align and 
integrate sustainability objectives, providing a framework for local plans. Our aim 
is to enhance environmental, social and economic wellbeing through 'good 
growth' in ways that are distinctively 'Oxfordshire' and deliver the best possible 

Page 144



3 
 

outcomes for our communities, environment and businesses, benefitting current 
and future generations.  

 
6. We hope the public and stakeholders will support our new approach to planning 

for Oxfordshire. 

 
  

Page 145



4 
 

Contents 
 

Map of Oxfordshire 

List of proposed policy options for the Oxfordshire Plan 

 
Introduction and Overview (page 7) 

• Why produce a joint plan for Oxfordshire? 

• What is the Oxfordshire Plan? 

• What is the Oxfordshire Plan seeking to achieve? 

• Oxfordshire's Strategic Vision for Long-Term Sustainable Development 

• Relationship with other plans and strategies 

• The Oxford-Cambridge Arc 

• Links with neighbouring areas and the Duty to Co-operate 

• Notes on reading this consultation document 

• Purpose of this consultation and how to get involved 

 
Oxfordshire Plan Vision and Objectives (page 22) 

 
Themes and Policies (page 24) 

• Theme One: Addressing climate change (page 24) 

• Theme Two: Improving environmental quality (page 47) 

• Theme Three: Creating strong and healthy communities (page 82) 

• Theme Four: Planning for sustainable travel and connectivity (page 92) 

• Theme Five: Creating jobs and providing homes (page 105) 

 
Spatial Strategy Options (page 131) 

Draft Spatial Strategy 

Principles to apply 

Level of committed growth 

Spatial Strategy options 

• Option 1: Focus on opportunities at larger settlements & planned growth locations 

• Option 2: Focus on Oxford-led growth 

• Option 3: Focus on opportunities in sustainable transport. corridors & at strategic 
transport hubs 

• Option 4: Focus on strengthening business locations 

• Option 5: Focus on supporting rural communities 

 

Next Steps: From Regulation 18 to Regulation 19 (page 155) 

 
Draft Monitoring Framework (page 157) 
 

Page 146



5 
 

Map of Oxfordshire 
 

 
 
 
 

  

Page 147



6 
 

List of Proposed Policy Options for the Oxfordshire Plan 
 
Theme One: Addressing Climate Change 

• Policy option 01 - Sustainable Design and Construction 

• Policy option 02 - Energy 

• Policy option 03 - Water Efficiency 

• Policy option 04 - Flood Risk 

Theme Two: Improving Environmental Quality 

• Policy option 05 - Protection and Enhancement of Landscape Characters 

• Policy option 06 - Protection and Enhancement of Historic Environment 

• Policy option 07 - Nature Recovery 

• Policy option 08 - Biodiversity Gain 

• Policy option 09 - Natural Capital and Ecosystem Services 

• Policy option 10 - Green Belt 

• Policy option 11 - Water Quality 

• Policy option 12 - Air Quality 

Theme Three: Creating Strong and Healthy communities 

• Policy option 13 - Healthy Place Shaping and Impact Assessments 

• Policy option 14 - Health Infrastructure 

• Policy option 15 - High-Quality Design for New Development and Garden Town 
Standards for New Settlements 

• Policy option 16 - Leisure, Recreation, Community and Open Space Facilities 

Theme Four: Planning for sustainable travel and connectivity 

• Policy option 17 - Towards a Net Zero Transport Network 

• Policy option 18 - Sustainable Transport in New Development 

• Policy option 19 - Supporting Sustainable Freight Management 

• Policy option 20 - Digital Infrastructure 

• Policy option 21 - Strategic Infrastructure Priorities 

Theme Five: Creating jobs and providing homes 

• Policy option 22 - Supporting the Creation of Jobs 

• Policy option 23 - Protection of Economic Assets 

• Policy option 24 - Town Centre Renewal 

• Policy option 25 - Visitor Economy 

• Policy option 26 - Culture and Arts 

• Policy option 27 - Meeting Skills and Education Needs 

• Policy option 28 - Homes: How Many? Commitments and Locations 

• Policy option 29 - Urban Renewal 

• Policy option 30 - Affordable Homes 

• Policy option 31 - Specialist Housing Needs 

• Policy option 32 - Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople 

 

Page 148



7 
 

Introduction and Overview 
 

Why produce a joint plan for Oxfordshire? 
 

7. Oxfordshire is a place of unique opportunities and assets, but there are also 
challenges. 

 
8. Oxfordshire is taking a strategic approach to planning its future. We think this is 

the best way to realise the transformational opportunities that exist to tackle 
climate change, improve the environment, secure social justice and support long-
term, sustainable, innovation-led economic growth. Addressing these issues to 
secure better outcomes requires a long-term co-ordinated approach across 
Oxfordshire. One of the particular opportunities associated with this approach to 
planning is that it helps create certainty for those making future decisions about 
investment, and offers greater potential that strategic infrastructure – physical, 
social and environmental – will be delivered in a co-ordinated way that helps 
ensure that growth is truly sustainable and inclusive. 

 
9. This joint approach to planning builds on earlier collective work undertaken in 

Oxfordshire to agree how to accommodate the level of housing growth, including 
Oxford's unmet housing needs, identified in the 2014 Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment. That work highlighted the importance of deeper and closer 
engagement and a broader-based approach to planning for Oxfordshire. 

 
10. The Oxfordshire Plan 2050 is one of the commitments made by the six 

Oxfordshire authorities as part of the ambitious 2018 Housing and Growth Deal 
with Government. The Plan is being prepared by a core team working in close 
partnership with Oxfordshire's District Councils, Oxford City Council, Oxfordshire 
County Council and the Oxfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership, and through 
the Oxfordshire Growth Board. 

 
What is the Oxfordshire Plan? 
 

11. The Oxfordshire Plan is a Joint Statutory Spatial Plan (or JSSP). It is a formal 
Development Plan Document being prepared under Section 28 of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended). Once adopted, the Plan will 
form part of the Development Plan for Oxford City Council ('the City Council') and 
each District Council ('the District Councils') in Oxfordshire: Cherwell District 
Council, South Oxfordshire District Council, Vale of White Horse District Council 
and West Oxfordshire District Council. 

 
12. The Oxfordshire Plan will set out the long-term, overarching and high-level spatial 

planning framework for Oxfordshire for the period to 2050. It will be used in the 
formulation of more detailed local plans and neighbourhood development plans 
and, where appropriate, its policies will carry weight in the determination of 
planning applications and appeals for development. It will also provide a spatial 
framework for a wide range of other plans, strategies and programmes relevant 
to Oxfordshire that have a bearing on the use of land. These include (but are not 
limited to) the Local Industrial Strategy, Oxfordshire's Infrastructure Strategy, the 
Local Transport and Connectivity Plan and the Joint Health & Wellbeing Strategy. 
Looking more widely, the Oxfordshire Plan will play an important role in helping 
shape the emerging Spatial Framework for the Oxford-Cambridge Arc. 

Page 149



8 
 

 
13. Key factors in the preparation of the Oxfordshire Plan are its scope and the 

appropriate level of detail. The Plan will only contain policies that are appropriate 
to its overarching role as part of Oxfordshire's portfolio approach to plan-making 
and strategy development. It will not, for example, include policies that are more 
appropriately made in local or neighbourhood plans, and its policies will add value 
by being Oxfordshire-specific and not simply replicating national policy. Following 
further consideration since the initial scoping published in 2018, it is proposed 
the Plan will include policies relating to: 

 

• Oxfordshire's spatial strategy; 

• tackling climate change; 

• improving environmental quality; 

• priorities for new infrastructure; 

• the scale and broad location of new development; 

• healthy place-shaping; and 

• urban renewal. 
 

14. Some policies will apply across Oxfordshire, while other policies will apply only 
to large-scale developments and/or to broad locations for new development. The 
Oxfordshire Plan should be read as a whole. 

 
15. The policies in the Oxfordshire Plan will cover 30 years and reflect the changing 

levels of certainty there are over this period. While there is greater certainty over 
the earlier part of the Plan period, there is also less scope to effect 
transformational change. Uncertainty increases further into the plan period, 
particularly around external factors such as climate and technological change, 
together with future changes to planning legislation and national policy, but so 
too does the scope for emergence of new opportunities to deliver sustainable 
development in different and better ways. The Oxfordshire Plan has an important 
role to play in setting Oxfordshire on the pathway to deliver transformational 
change based on a different approach to place-making. 

 
16. The City and District councils in Oxfordshire each have their own adopted local 

plans.  
 

Cherwell District Council Adopted July 2015 2011-2031 

Cherwell District Council Part 1 Partial Review: 
Oxford's Unmet Housing 
Need 

Adopted September 2020 

2011-2031 

Oxford City Council Adopted June 2020 2016-2036 

South Oxfordshire District 
Council 

Adopted December 2020 2011-2035 

Vale of White Horse District 
Council 

Adopted December 2016 2011-2031 

West Oxfordshire District Council Adopted September 2018 2011-2031 

Page 150



9 
 

 
17. The committed growth in these existing adopted local plans will be particularly 

important in influencing the policies for the first ten to fifteen years of the 
Oxfordshire Plan from 2020 to the early 2030s. The Oxfordshire Plan will set the 
policy framework for future local plans in each of the four Districts and the City of 
Oxford that follow the current round of plans. 

 
18. Oxfordshire also has a Minerals and Waste Local Plan which is prepared by 

Oxfordshire County Council. Part 1 of that Plan was adopted in 2017. Part 2 (Site 
Allocations) is in preparation1. 

 
19. The Oxfordshire Plan does not cover proposals that are defined as Nationally 

Significant Infrastructure. A separate planning process will apply in those cases 
as set down by the 2008 Planning Act, and the relevant supporting National 
Policy Statements. 

 
20. The Oxfordshire Plan is being developed with a substantial technical evidence 

base and has been subject to testing through Sustainability Appraisal (SA) at key 
stages and to early Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) Screening. The SA 
and HRA work continue to influence the development of the Plan. 

 
21. The Plan is also being shaped by public and stakeholder engagement. An initial 

formal Regulation 18 Part 1 consultation 'Introducing the Oxfordshire Plan' took 
place in February & March 20192. That consultation sought views on what the 
Plan's vision, aspirations, objectives and broad spatial strategy should be. The 
public's response to that consultation is set out in the Regulation 18 Part 1 
consultation report3. Taken together, the responses gave a very clear overall 
steer that there is an appetite for an approach that: 

• is ambitious, radical, innovative and creative, 

• is Oxfordshire-specific and reflective of local people's views, 

• prioritises climate change, and 

• focusses on social, economic and environmental wellbeing, and not solely on a 
narrow definition of growth. 

 
22. This Regulation 18 Part 2 consultation document has responded to these earlier 

comments by setting out an ambitious and innovative set of policy approaches 
based on five themes (addressing climate change, improving environmental 
quality, creating strong and healthy communities, planning for sustainable travel 
and connectivity and creating jobs and providing homes) and a set of spatial 
strategy options. 

 

What is the Oxfordshire Plan seeking to achieve? 
 

23. National planning policies require that Oxfordshire plans positively for growth in 
ways that achieve the three overarching objectives of sustainable development: 
economic, social and environmental. These overarching objectives of 
sustainable development are intrinsically linked. 

 

 
1 New Minerals and Waste Local Plan | Oxfordshire County Council 
2 Introducing_the_Oxfordshire_Plan_Feb_2019.pdf (oxfordshireplan.org) 
3 Reg-18-Part-1-Consultation-Summary.pdf (oxfordshireplan.org) 

Page 151

https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-and-planning/planning/planning-policy/minerals-and-waste-policy/new-minerals-and-waste-plan
https://oxfordshireplan.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/Introducing_the_Oxfordshire_Plan_Feb_2019.pdf
https://oxfordshireplan.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/Reg-18-Part-1-Consultation-Summary.pdf


10 
 

24. The approach proposed in this consultation document seeks to deliver real and 
lasting positive change in Oxfordshire by creating the right environmental, social 
and economic conditions and by building resilience. The emerging Plan: 
contributes to protecting and enhancing our natural, managed, built and 
historic environment by making prudent use of natural resources (including our 
land), improving biodiversity, improving air quality, tackling, mitigating and 
adapting to climate change and supporting low-carbon solutions; helps support 
economic prosperity by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is 
available in the right places at the right times with timely provision of infrastructure 
to meet the needs of Oxfordshire's world-leading economy; supports our 
communities by planning for energy efficient homes sufficient in number and of 
the right tenures, types and sizes to meet the needs of Oxfordshire's residents – 
current and future – in well-designed communities with accessible, inclusive, high 
quality and accessible services and public spaces and in ways that support 
communities' health, social and cultural wellbeing. 

 
25. Rather than seeing environmental, economic and social objectives as competing 

demands that need to be balanced, the approach proposed in the Oxfordshire 
Plan is to align and integrate these priorities so that they are mutually supportive. 
The emerging Plan recognises that the environment, economy, connectivity, 
social inclusion, housing and community assets are all key to Oxfordshire's 
wellbeing. The Oxfordshire Plan will be a key tool in achieving our ambitions for 
transformative and long-term sustainable development in ways that are 
distinctive to Oxfordshire and reflect local circumstances across the county. The 
aim for Oxfordshire is to deliver 'good growth'.  

 
26. What Oxfordshire means by 'good growth' is defined in the Oxfordshire Growth 

Board's 'Strategic Vision for Long-Term Sustainable Development 2050'4 that 
has been adopted by each Council. This definition of 'Good Growth' is a 'golden 
thread' that will run through the Oxfordshire Plan. The definition has been 
assessed as part of the Sustainability Appraisal of the emerging Oxfordshire 
Plan. 

 

'Good Growth' in Oxfordshire will: 

• Be clean and green, placing the county at the leading edge of UK and global 
de-carbonisation efforts by maximising all opportunities to significantly reduce 
Oxfordshire's carbon footprint, and increasing natural capital across the county. 

• Be sustainable, focusing development in ways that enhance quality of place 
and at locations which enable people to live and work nearby, improving digital 
connectivity and avoiding unnecessary travel in the first instance, but using 
opportunities to increase movement by sustainable and active modes of travel 
when needed. 

• Embrace innovation based on our technology sectors and knowledge-intensive 
activity, and develop new innovative solutions for working, learning, mobility, 
health care, resource management, sustainable design and improved public 
services. 

 
4 Sustainable Development (oxfordshiregrowthboard.org) 

Page 152

https://www.oxfordshiregrowthboard.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Strategic-Vision-full-document.pdf


11 
 

• Be healthy and inclusive, with all development addressing inequalities and 
contributing positively to the overall health and wellbeing of Oxfordshire's 
communities, environment and economy. 

• Facilitate environmental improvements and make efficient use of 
Oxfordshire's natural resources and land. 

• Enhance and expand access to the county's internationally significant historic 
environment and cultural and heritage assets. 

• Support diverse, accessible employment, generating a highly productive and 
inclusive economy based on our world-class research, innovation and 
technology. 

• Build resilience to change, with growth planned in ways that: build on strengths 
and assets to support communities during periods of change; support economic 
diversity and can accommodate changes in technology; recognise changes in 
the way that people live and work and changing demographics; and respond to 
global impacts, particularly from climate and economic changes. 

• Expect high-quality development which will have a positive impact on 

communities in terms of design, energy and water efficiency and public realm, 

utilises low impact building and construction methods and materials, and is 

properly supported by the necessary infrastructure including excellent digital 

connectivity. Everything we build or design in Oxfordshire will be fit for purpose 

in the world of 2050, respond to different circumstances, contribute to 

Oxfordshire's sense of distinctiveness and rich variety, and support connected 

communities. 

Source: Oxfordshire's Strategic Vision for Long-Term Sustainable Development, 2021 

 
 
Oxfordshire's Strategic Vision for Long-Term Sustainable Development 
 

27. The Strategic Vision was prepared and approved by the collective leadership of 
the Oxfordshire Growth Board and has been agreed by each of the Oxfordshire 
councils. The Strategic Vision was shaped by engagement with Oxfordshire's 
communities and stakeholders on a draft Strategic Vision (November 2020) and 
by expert, informal sustainability testing. The Strategic Vision sets out what 
Oxfordshire should look like in 2050 and how it can be achieved through a range 
of strategies acting together. It is a positive statement of shared strategic 
priorities designed to facilitate a step-change in the approach to planning for and 
delivering sustainable development in Oxfordshire, challenging the norm and 
drawing on new ways of thinking. 

 
28. The ambition for Oxfordshire has been set high. The Strategic Vision for 

Oxfordshire's future is outcome-focussed, driven by improvements to people's 
wellbeing and recognises that the future of Oxfordshire has the potential to 
benefit not just the wellbeing of its own residents and communities, but also the 
wellbeing of the UK and communities across the globe. 

 

Strategic Vision 2050: Outcomes for Oxfordshire 

Page 153



12 
 

By 2050, Oxfordshire will: 

• have achieved carbon neutral status, and be accelerating towards a carbon 
negative future, removing more carbon than it emits each year. Energy 
production will be sustainable. 

• be the first generation to leave the natural environment in a better state than 
that in which we found it. The natural environment will be more biodiverse, 
support social, economic and ecological resilience and have the capacity to 
adapt to change. 

• have a healthier and happier population with better physical and mental health. 
Young people will feel confident, positive and excited about their future and 
people will spend more of their later life active, in good health and with care 
available in their communities to meet their changing needs. 

• be a globally competitive economy which is sustainable, diverse and inclusive, 
generating high quality, productive and knowledge-based employment for our 
communities. It will utilise the county's strengths and resources, including its 
world-class universities and world-leading research, innovation and technology 
assets. There will be improved educational attainment and a skills system 
aligned to the needs of business and communities, helping to provide the 
conditions in which all Oxfordshire's people can benefit and thrive. 

• be a more equal place, supported by inclusive growth that gives everyone a fair 
chance in life to prosper. Deprivation and disadvantage will have been tackled 
wherever it manifests itself in our urban and rural areas, and discrimination will 
have been removed. 

• enjoy a built and historic environment which is rich and diverse, comprising high 
quality places where people want to live, work, visit and invest. Our rich and 
distinctive internationally recognised heritage assets, visitor economy and 
vibrant cultural offer will have been further enhanced and there will be improved 
access to them. 

• have energy efficient, well-designed homes, sufficient in numbers, location, 
type, size, tenure and affordability to meet the needs of our growing economy, 
young people, residents and future generations. 

• have transformed movement and connectivity within the county and beyond. 
There will be greater digital connectivity and physical mobility in and between 
places in ways that enhance environmental, social and economic wellbeing, with 
an emphasis on sustainable travel, including walking and cycling. 

• have flourishing, diverse and vibrant communities rooted in pride with our local, 
national and international connections and a strong sense of civic identity. 
Individuals and families will support each other in partnership with sustainable 
public services, a thriving voluntary and community sector and be connected to 
dynamic and socially responsible businesses. 

 
29. The Strategic Vision's definition of 'good growth' forms the basis for a set of 

Guiding Principles.  
 

Strategic Vision 2050 Guiding Principles: Headlines 

1. We will reverse the impacts of climate change. 

Page 154



13 
 

2. We will create the conditions to support a world-leading and innovation rich 
economy which is clean, prosperous, diverse, inclusive, successful and 
sustainable. 

3. We will improve our overall health and wellbeing and reduce inequalities. 

4. We will enhance our natural environment. 

5. We will reflect our distinctive and diverse communities and places. 

6. We will deliver homes that meet the needs of current and future generations. 

7. We will embrace technological changes. 

8. We will expect high-quality development. 

9. We will help people to help each other by supporting communities and 
individuals to achieve positive change for themselves. 

10. We will maximise the benefits of strong collaboration within Oxfordshire. 

11. We will proactively and positively engage and collaborate beyond 
Oxfordshire. 

 

30. Taken together, the Strategic Vision outcomes, the definition of 'good growth' and 
the Guiding Principles form the foundation for Oxfordshire's over-arching 
approach to long-term sustainable development for Oxfordshire and for 
developing plans, strategies and programmes. 

 
31. The Strategic Vision will be delivered by a wide range of plans, strategies and 

programmes, including the Oxfordshire Plan. 
 

 

 

32. The Strategic Vision does not define what its ambition looks like spatially because 
that is the role of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050. However, the Strategic Vision's 
definition of 'good growth' and the Guiding Principles help define the role that 
place-making might play in delivering the Strategic Vision outcomes. The 
Strategic Vision is being used as a tool – built on a wide consensus – to inform 
development of the policies, spatial options and overall spatial strategy in the 

Page 155



14 
 

Oxfordshire Plan, with appropriate weight attached to it and as part of the process 
of demonstrating that the Oxfordshire Plan's overall strategy is being selected 
against reasonable alternatives on a robust, consistent and objective basis. 

 

Relationship with other plans and strategies 
 

33. There are already other plans, strategies, policies and investment programmes 
(in existence or emerging), as well as legislative requirements, that will influence 
strategic-level place-shaping in Oxfordshire, including where development 
should take place. The Strategic Vision refers to these as 'strategic influencers'. 
We have 'mapped' the main strategic influencers in the following diagram. 

 
34. This context will continue to evolve as new strategic influencers emerge at 

national, sub-national or local level, or as others change. Oxfordshire will be 
shaped by these strategic influencers to varying degrees over the next 30 years 
and this is reflected in the emerging Oxfordshire Plan. In many cases the 
relationships between these strategic influencers and the Oxfordshire Plan is a 
two, rather than one-way process. 

 
35. The existing local plans will be particularly important in influencing the first 10-15 

years of the Oxfordshire Plan. The Oxfordshire Plan will act as the framework for 
the next generation of local plans that are prepared for each District and the City 
of Oxford. 

 
36. Once adopted, the Oxfordshire 2050 plan will set a policy and growth framework 

for Oxfordshire. It will form part of the Development Plan for each District and 
once adopted will be a material consideration for LPAs to consider in the 
formulation of more detailed plans locally and, where appropriate, its policies will 
carry weight in the determination of planning applications and appeals for 
development.  

 

Page 156



15 
 

 
 

Oxford-Cambridge Arc 
 

37. In the medium to longer-term, Oxfordshire's role within the Oxford-Cambridge 
Arc (the Arc) is likely to be an increasingly important influence. The Arc is a 
globally significant area between Oxford, Milton Keynes and Cambridge, forming 
a key national economic priority based on UK and world-leading innovation. 
Taken together, the Arc area houses one of the fastest growing economies in 
England, supporting over 2 million jobs and adding over £110 billion to the 
economy every year. The whole of Oxfordshire, with its world-class universities 
and world-leading research, innovation and technology assets, forms the western 
part of the Arc. 

 
38. The Arc has generated close cooperation between Councils, LEPs and 

Universities across the Arc and the Oxfordshire Growth Board has played an 
active role in developing the Arc since its inception. 
 

39. The Arc is becoming a focus for shared economic activity, joint working and 
shared prosperity and considering the joint infrastructure across a large area 
which has a major potential for GDP growth, based on its economic strengthens 
in key sectors, its universities, innovation and intellectual capital. 
 

40. The Arc provides a forum for joint work to deliver on zero carbon commitments, 
address water stress and increase electricity supply through local provision and 
support for renewables. Likewise, the emerging Oxfordshire Plan places an 
emphasis on tackling climate change, enhancing the environment, strengthening 
communities and securing sustainable transport as well as the quality of new 
growth that results. 
 

Page 157



16 
 

41. The Government's ambition is to build a better economic, social and 
environmental future for the Arc, with high-quality, well-connected and 
sustainable communities making the Arc an even more beautiful place to live, 
work and visit. 

 
42. To achieve this ambition, the 

Government, alongside local partners, is 
developing a Spatial Framework for the 
Arc. This will be a long-term strategic plan 
that helps co-ordinate infrastructure, 
environment and new developments in 
the area. The Arc Spatial Framework is 
being led by Government. In February 
2021 the Government published its 
'Introduction to the Arc Spatial 
Framework'5 and announced its intention 
to explore the establishment of an Arc 
Growth Body to 'give a clear economic 
leadership voice to the area'. 

 
43. The February 2021 document sets out the 

opportunities and challenges for the Arc 
and establishes a set of core principles that will underpin development of the 
Framework. The Framework will form a fully integrated single land use and 
infrastructure plan comprising both planning and transport policies. The 
Framework is likely to include policies relating to employment space, policies to 
enable new settlements to come forward, policies to support habitat recovery and 
provision of green space, policies relating to brownfield development and 
expansion of existing settlements, policies enabling housing needs to be met in 
full, strategic transport policies, climate resilience and air quality policies and 
strategic policies to facilitate utilities investment. 

 
44. Once complete, the Framework will 

have the status of national planning 
policy. This will give the Arc 
Framework significant weight in the 
planning system for guiding local 
plan preparation and in decision-
making, sitting alongside the NPPF 
as an important 'material 
consideration'. The Arc will also 
have national transport policy 
status, allowing it to guide the plans 
prepared by local transport bodies. 

 
45. The Introduction to the Framework 

includes an indicative timeline. The 
timeline does not include a 
publication date for the final Spatial 
Framework, but the intention is to 
publish a draft for consultation in 

 
5 Planning for sustainable growth in the Oxford-Cambridge Arc (publishing.service.gov.uk) 

Page 158

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/962455/Spatial_framework_policy_paper.pdf


17 
 

Autumn 2022. The next key stage is publication of a Vision for the Spatial 
Framework in summer 2021 following engagement with local partners and the 
public. 

 
46. The respective timetables for the Oxfordshire Plan and the Arc Spatial 

Framework mean that the Oxfordshire Plan – together with the Strategic Vision 
– will be able to help ensure that Oxfordshire has a strong voice in the 
development of the Arc Spatial Framework and that its interests are taken into 
account. Likewise, as work on the Arc Spatial Framework gathers pace, it will 
help inform the choice of options to be considered at the next stage (Regulation 
19) of the Oxfordshire Plan process. 

 
47. The Oxford-Cambridge Arc Economic Prospectus was published in Autumn 

20206. This sets the collective ambition of the Arc Leadership Group, the Arc 
Universities Group and the Arc Local Enterprise Partnerships Group.  

 
  

48. The ambition is that 'By 2050, the Arc will be the world leading place for high-
value growth, innovation and productivity. A global hub where ideas and 
companies are generated and thrive, home to exemplary models of 21st century 
development, with a high-quality environment and outstanding quality of life, and 
with a strong economic focus that drives inclusive clean growth'. 

 

Links with other neighbouring areas and the Duty to Co-operate 
 

49. As a formal Development Plan document, the Oxfordshire Plan is being prepared 
in accordance with the requirements of the Duty to Co-operate. The Duty to Co-
operate is a legal requirement set out in section 33A of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, as inserted by section 110 of the Localism Act 
2011. The Duty is reflected in the National Planning Policy Framework 20197 
(paragraphs 24-27). 

 
50. The City Council and District Councils have worked constructively, actively and 

on an on-going basis with the County Council and LEP under the auspices of the 
Oxfordshire Growth Board and other partners within and beyond Oxfordshire to 

 
6 Oxford-Cambridge Arc economic prospectus | Oxford City Council 
7 National Planning Policy Framework - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

Page 159

https://www.oxford.gov.uk/downloads/file/7378/oxford-cambridge_arc_economic_prospectus
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


18 
 

develop policies for strategic matters that cross administrative boundaries as an 
integral part of the preparation of a positive and justified strategy. 

 
51. Whilst the Oxfordshire Plan focuses on the county of Oxfordshire, it is important 

to recognise that social, environmental and economic relationships do not stop 
at Oxfordshire’s boundary. For example, many people travel in and out of 
Oxfordshire for work or to access services such as education and healthcare. We 
are engaging with the authorities that adjoin Oxfordshire to make sure that these 
relationships are given appropriate consideration throughout the plan-making 
process as we recognise that change in Oxfordshire will also be influenced by 
links with neighbouring areas such as the Thames Valley, Gloucestershire, 
Buckinghamshire and Swindon. 

 
52. We are also working closely with organisations known as 'prescribed bodies' in 

producing the Oxfordshire Plan, to ensure that cross-boundary strategic planning 
matters are appropriately addressed. This includes Natural England, the 
Environment Agency, Historic England, Highways England and NHS Clinical 
Commissioning Groups. 

 

 
 

53. It is important to note that the Oxfordshire Plan intends to meet Oxfordshire's 
development needs within the Oxfordshire boundary. We are not looking to 

Page 160



19 
 

neighbouring authorities to accommodate any of Oxfordshire's development 
needs; in particular we are not looking to neighbouring authorities to 
accommodate any of our housing needs. Engagement with adjoining authorities 
has confirmed that Oxfordshire is not being asked to accommodate any unmet 
development needs from elsewhere. 

 
54. Further detail on how we are engaging with neighbouring authorities and 

prescribed bodies can be found in the Duty to Co-operate Statement. This 
engagement will continue throughout the plan-making process. 

 
55. In addition, a Statement of Common Ground has been agreed by each of the 

Oxfordshire authorities and the Oxfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership which 
sets out how the partners are working together to address strategic planning 
matters in Oxfordshire. 

 

Notes on reading this consultation document 
 
This consultation document sets out different approaches that the Oxfordshire Plan 
might take. It has been produced so that we can share our current thinking with 
communities and stakeholders, and so that we can ask for views on what the 
Oxfordshire Plan should do. 
 
This document sets out the different approaches that the Oxfordshire Plan might 
take in two ways: 
 
1. The Policy Options 
 
The Oxfordshire Plan will set out policies that will guide new development in 
Oxfordshire. These policies will be based around five key themes: 

i. Addressing climate change; 
ii. Improving environmental quality; 
iii. Creating strong and healthy communities; 
iv. Planning for sustainable travel and connectivity; and  
v. Creating jobs and providing homes. 

 
This document sets out different options for policies that might be included in the 
Oxfordshire Plan. There are two types of option: 
 

Preferred Policy Option – This is what we think the Oxfordshire Plan should do, 
based on the evidence that we have and the engagement that we have undertaken 
with communities and stakeholders so far. 
 

Alternative Policy Option – This is a different approach that the Oxfordshire Plan 
could take, that we also need to consider. 
 
Some policy options are quite high-level and set out a broad approach that we might 
take. Other policy options are more detailed and suggest specific requirements for 
new development. 
 
Viability 
 
It is important to remember that we will be producing further evidence to inform the 
continued development of the Oxfordshire Plan, including an assessment of how 

Page 161



20 
 

different policy options might affect the financial viability of development, both 
individually and as a set. This will be completed during the preparation of the 
Regulation 19 document. We need to make sure that the policies in the Oxfordshire 
Plan are deliverable. 
 

2. The Spatial Options 
 
The Oxfordshire Plan won't allocate sites for development, but it will set out broad 
locations for growth in Oxfordshire over the next 30 years. This document sets out 
five high-level options for how we might look to distribute development in 
Oxfordshire. 
 
We want to know what you think about the different policy and spatial options in this 
document. Your views will help us to decide what is included in the Oxfordshire Plan. 
 

 
 

Purpose of this consultation & how to get involved 

This is an important step in the preparation of the Oxfordshire Plan. 

We have previously consulted the public and stakeholders on what the Plan's vision, 
aspirations, objectives and broad spatial strategy should be, consulted on a 
Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report and invited submissions in response to a 
'Call for Ideas', which included ideas on strategic locations. In addition, the 
Oxfordshire Growth Board's informal Open Thought initiative added to the debate 
and ideas by tapping into the wealth of knowledge in Oxfordshire to help identify 
solutions to accommodate changes in how we will live and work, how we will connect 
with each other and how we will manage and respond to climate change. 

We have now reached the next stage of formal consultation on the Oxfordshire Plan: 
Regulation 18 Part 2. This document sets out options for thematic-based policies 
and a number of spatial strategy options that will shape the future of Oxfordshire. 
We are seeking the public's and stakeholder views on these options and whether 
there are other options that the Oxfordshire Plan should consider. 

Our consultation will run for 10 weeks from the 30th of July to 8th October 2021. 

Based on the responses received, we will propose our preferred policies and 
strategy for growth in Oxfordshire (in a Regulation 19 stage Draft Plan), with a further 
round of consultation in May 2022, prior to the Oxfordshire Plan being submitted for 
independent Examination. 

We are also inviting 'Call for Ideas' submissions. This is because it is important that 
up-to-date information is available on sites to inform development of the Regulation 
19 stage Draft Plan. 

 

Responding to the consultation 

Anyone wishing to respond during the consultation can do so at 
www.oxfordshireopenthought.org 

Visitors will find all the details of the emerging Plan online, including the five key 
themes of addressing climate change, improving environmental quality, creating 
strong and healthy communities, planning for sustainable travel and connectivity and 

Page 162

http://www.oxfordshireopenthought.org/


21 
 

creating jobs and providing homes. There will also be options for how much we grow 
and where that growth might happen. 

The consultation document is available for download in Word format. 

People can give their views via the interactive form on the Open Thought website. 

People can give their views via the interactive form on the Open Thought website. 
Alternatively, if they wish to submit their thoughts in writing, they can send them by 
email to info@oxfordshireplan.org or can post them to Oxfordshire Plan 2050, 
Speedwell House, Speedwell Street, Oxford, OX1 1NE. 

 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 163

mailto:info@oxfordshireplan.org


22 
 

Oxfordshire Plan Vision and Objectives 
 

56. A draft vision for the Oxfordshire Plan was consulted upon at the Regulation 18 
Part 1 stage: 

 
57. 'In 2050 the people of Oxfordshire are living in sustainable communities with a 

high quality of life and strong sense of community. The integrity and richness of 
the county’s historic character and natural environment are valued and 
conserved. A wide range of secure and good quality housing options are within 
reach for all. Existing and new communities are well connected, integrated, 
distinct, attractive and desirable places to live; their design and layouts facilitate 
healthy lifestyles and sustainable travel options. Productivity has increased and 
residents are well-skilled and able to access a wide range of high-value job 
opportunities and share in wealth creation. The private and public sector continue 
to have the confidence to invest in the county. Oxfordshire has embraced the 
technological, demographic and lifestyle changes of recent decades and new 
developments are fit for the future and resilient to climate change. The wellbeing 
of residents and workers is enhanced through being part of this special place’. 

 
58. The following objectives for the Oxfordshire Plan were formed following the 

Regulation 18 Part 1 consultation: 
 

 

Oxfordshire Plan Objectives 
 

1. To demonstrate leadership in addressing the climate emergency by significantly 
reducing greenhouse gas emissions. 

2. To conserve and enhance Oxfordshire’s historic, built and natural environments, 
recognising the benefits these assets contribute to quality of life, local identity and 
economic success. 

3. To protect and enhance Oxfordshire’s distinctive landscape character, 
recreational and biodiversity value by identifying strategic green and blue 
infrastructure, improving connectivity between environmental assets and 
securing a net gain for biodiversity. 

4. To improve health and wellbeing by enabling independence, encouraging active 
and healthy lifestyles, facilitating social interaction and creating inclusive and safe 
communities. 

5. To sustain and strengthen Oxfordshire’s economic role and reputation by building 
on our key strengths and relationships. 

6. To ensure that the benefits and opportunities arising from Oxfordshire’s economic 
success are felt by all of Oxfordshire’s communities. 

7. To meet Oxfordshire’s housing needs, including affordable housing, and to 
ensure that housing delivery is phased appropriately to support the needs of our 
communities. 

8. To ensure that new housing is flexible to meet the varied needs of people through 
all stages of life. 

9. To deliver high quality, innovatively designed development that ensures efficient 
use of land and resources. 

Page 164



23 
 

10. To reduce the need to travel and to support people in making sustainable 
transport choices by providing inclusive, integrated, safe and convenient 
pedestrian, cycle and public transport infrastructure linking communities. 

11. To ensure that communities are digitally connected and that innovative 
technologies are supported. 

  

Page 165



24 
 

Themes and Policies 
 
Theme One: Addressing Climate Change 
 
 

59. Climate change is the most significant threat facing humankind today, with the 
threat of increased flood risk, severe drought and more extreme weather patterns 
resulting from greenhouse gas emissions and global warming. Such threats will 
have serious consequences for the health and wellbeing of communities without 
taking proactive steps to address the causes and mitigate the impacts of climate 
change. 

 
60. It is essential that climate change considerations run through the Oxfordshire 

Plan strategy, to support the integrity and resilience of the natural environment 
and Oxfordshire’s communities. 

 
61. Climate change is central to each of the Oxfordshire Plan themes and policies, 

as to properly address climate change, a coherent, joined-up approach 
encompassing development standards, transport and infrastructure and healthy 
ecosystems is required. 

 
62. Recent years have seen stronger national commitments to address the causes 

of climate change with strategies to accelerate clean growth and reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions becoming increasingly more prevalent. 

 
63. In 2019, the UK became the first major economy to pass net zero emissions law 

in an attempt to end the UK's contribution to global warming by 2050. 
Amendments to the Climate Change Act 2008 commit the UK Government to 
reducing greenhouse gas emissions by 100% (compared to 1990 levels) in the 
UK by 2050. The UK's 2050 net zero target is one of the most ambitious in the 
world and key to meeting the United Nations Paris Climate Agreement, which 
aims to limit global temperature increases to no more than 1.5oc above pre-
industrial levels and sets a long-term goal of net zero carbon emissions8. 

 
64. It is recognised that local areas will play a key role in developing opportunities for 

low carbon energy and in making efforts to meet national and international 
commitments to tackling climate change. 

 
65. The Oxfordshire Energy Strategy9 is a key strategic influencer on the Oxfordshire 

Plan and sets objectives to;  

• Secure smart, modern, clean energy infrastructure to support planned housing, 
industrial and commercial growth and 

• Lead nationally and internationally to reduce county-wide emissions by 50% by 
2030, on 2008 levels and set a pathway to achieve zero carbon by 2050. 

 
66. Since the adoption of the Oxfordshire Energy Strategy, all Oxfordshire 

authorities, including the County Council have declared climate emergencies 
which recognise the importance of addressing climate change, by reducing 
greenhouse gas emissions, with commitments for net zero carbon emissions. 

 
8 Paris Climate Agreement (2015) UNFCCC 
9 https://www.oxfordshirelep.com/energystrategy  

Page 166

https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-paris-agreement/the-paris-agreement
https://www.oxfordshirelep.com/energystrategy


25 
 

 

 Date of Declaration 
Council operations 

Target 
District wide target 

Cherwell District 
Council 

25/07/2019 2030 2030 

Oxford City Council 28/01/2019 2030 2040 

South Oxfordshire 
District Council 

03/04/2019 2025 2030 

Vale of White 
Horse District 
Council 

13/02/2019 2030 2045 

West Oxfordshire 
District Council 

26/06/2019 2030 2050 

Oxfordshire County 
Council 

02/04/2019 2030 2050 

 
67. The Climate Emergency declarations provide an impetus for Oxfordshire's local 

authorities to strive for carbon reductions in their own operations and through 
those things that they can influence such as planning for development within their 
areas. 

 
68. One of the main mechanisms for addressing county-wide emissions arising from 

development is the county's planning framework, with adopted local and 
neighbourhood plans setting the vision, objectives and policies for sustainable 
development. 

 
69. The adopted local plans for Oxfordshire set clear objectives for addressing 

climate change and achieving net zero carbon development, particularly the 
recently adopted Oxford Local Plan 2036 and South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 
which set clear pathways for achieving net zero residential development by 2030, 
using a combination of low carbon technology, renewable energy and energy 
efficiency. 

 
70. There is a varied policy approach taken across local plans, however, with some 

deferring to buildings regulations to determine standards for the design and 
construction of buildings. 

 
71. Achieving net zero in Oxfordshire will require reductions in emissions from all 

sources and it is the intention of the Oxfordshire Plan to drive these down as far 
as possible. The Oxfordshire Plan will also seek to establish a framework in which 
environmental enhancements can be directed to where they can be most 
effective in mitigating the impacts of climate change and offsetting any residual 
carbon emissions that cannot be eradicated at source. 

 
72. It is important that the Oxfordshire Plan takes a proactive approach to addressing 

climate change and supporting the transition to a low carbon future as required 
by the National Planning Policy Framework. It is considered that taking a 
proactive approach to guiding development and environmental enhancements 
will be beneficial to the health and wellbeing of communities and in supporting a 
green recovery in Oxfordshire. There are a wealth of business and organisations 
driving innovation in the green economy and many more involved in the supply 
chains and supporting business sectors. Driving up standards in the Oxfordshire 
Plan and setting clear ambitions for addressing the causes, building resilience to 

Page 167



26 
 

and mitigating the impacts of climate change will bring multiple benefits to the 
county, provided the right investments can be made in the right places at the right 
time and the necessary skills and opportunities are built within our communities. 

 
73. The Oxfordshire Plan aims to deliver against its climate change ambitions 

through a range of approaches including a reduction in greenhouse gas 
emissions (improved building standards, increased renewable energy 
generation) and minimising vulnerability to and improving the resilience of 
communities and the natural environment (Natural Capital, Nature Recovery, 
Water Environment and biodiversity net gain). 

 

 
Theme One – Meets the following Objectives of the Oxfordshire Plan 
 
No 1. To demonstrate leadership in addressing the climate emergency by 
significantly reducing greenhouse gas emissions. 
 
No 2. To conserve and enhance Oxfordshire's historic, built and natural 
environments, recognising the benefits these assets contribute to quality of life, 
local identity and economic success. 
 
No 9. To deliver high quality, innovatively designed development that ensures 
efficient use of land and resources. 
 

 
 

Policy Option 01 - Sustainable Design and Construction 
 

74. Central to Oxfordshire's efforts to achieve net zero carbon, in accordance with 
challenging targets will be to address the main sources of greenhouse gas 
emissions in Oxfordshire. 

 
75. An assessment undertaken as part of the Oxfordshire Energy Strategy identifies 

the main sources of greenhouse gas emissions in Oxfordshire as road transport 
and housing. 

 
76. The diagram below illustrates the contribution that a number of key sectors have 

historically made to overall carbon dioxide emissions in Oxfordshire10. Although 
there has been a decrease in overall emissions since 2008, they remain high with 
road transport, residential development, public services and commercial services 
contributing the majority of these. 

 

 
10 Aether, Oxfordshire Greenhouse Gas emission projections, 2018 update 

Page 168

https://www2.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/sites/default/files/folders/documents/environmentandplanning/climatechange/OxLEPEmissionsReport.pdf


27 
 

 
77. To successfully achieve net zero carbon emissions, the focus needs to be on the 

highest emitters in a way that ensures targets are met, without impacting on the 
delivery of necessary infrastructure and services to meet the needs of 
Oxfordshire's communities. 

 
78. It is essential that the Oxfordshire Plan takes steps to mitigate the impact of new 

development by reducing its carbon footprint. 
 

79. There are a significant number of planned houses in the pipeline that will be 
constructed to existing building standards and will therefore contribute less to 
achieving the ambitious national and local carbon reductions targets that have 
been set. 

 
80. The Government have confirmed11 that from 2025, the Future Homes Standard 

will ensure that new homes produce at least 75% lower CO2 emissions 
compared to those built to current standards. In the short-term this represents a 
considerable improvement in the energy efficiency standards for new homes. 
Homes built under the Future Homes Standard will be ‘zero carbon ready’, which 
means that in the longer-term, no further retrofit work for energy efficiency will be 
necessary to enable them to become zero carbon homes as the electricity grid 
continues to decarbonise. 

 
81. From 2021, new homes will be expected to produce 31% less CO2 emissions 

compared to current standards. This will deliver high-quality homes that are in 
line with our broader housing commitments and encourage homes that are 
future-proofed for the longer-term. 

 
82. Notwithstanding the Government commitment to improve building regulations, it 

is important to note that local authorities have the ability to set local targets for 
 

11 https://www.oxfordshiregrowthboard.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Future-Homes-Standard-
Government-response.pdf 

Page 169

https://www.oxfordshiregrowthboard.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Future-Homes-Standard-Government-response.pdf
https://www.oxfordshiregrowthboard.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Future-Homes-Standard-Government-response.pdf


28 
 

the design and construction of new buildings. The NPPF does not prevent local 
authorities from setting higher ambitions particularly in relation to energy 
efficiency standards that exceed Building Regulations. 

 
83. There is already evidence of Oxfordshire authorities setting a clear pathway to 

zero carbon through their local plan policies, as well as examples of individual 
developments and strategic growth locations achieving far greater carbon 
reductions than comparable scale developments within the same localities. 

 
84. Such achievements are a clear signal that net zero carbon can be achieved in 

developments at a range of scales, when there are strong policies in place and 
when developers have an opportunity to test construction techniques and use of 
materials supported by sufficient investment. 

 
85. For Oxfordshire to go further than existing and proposed Government standards, 

a consistent county-wide definition of net zero carbon needs to be established. 
This requires consideration of existing and emerging definitions for net zero 
carbon. 

 

 
The Eco Town Definition 
 
The definition of zero carbon for eco-towns set out in the Planning Policy Statement 
(2009) is that ,over a year, the net carbon dioxide emissions from all energy use 
within the buildings on the eco-town development, as a whole, are zero or below. 
The initial planning application and all subsequent planning applications for the 
development of the eco-town should demonstrate how this will be achieved. 
 
The definition excludes embodied carbon and emissions from transport but includes 
all buildings – not just houses but also commercial and public sector buildings which 
are built as part of the eco-town development. 
 

 

UKGBC Net Zero Carbon Buildings – A Framework Definition (UK Green 
Building Council) 
 
From November 2018 to March 2019, UKGBC brought together an extensive range 
of industry stakeholders, including a task group12, to build consensus on a 
framework definition for net zero carbon buildings in the UK13. 
 
The primary focus of the framework is to set in place a path to achieve net zero 
carbon buildings in both construction and operation (in-use energy consumption), 
whilst beginning to provide direction for addressing whole-life carbon in the industry. 
 
The Framework definition of Net Zero Carbon Buildings consists of two definitions: 
 
1. Net zero carbon – construction (for new buildings and major renovations). When 

the amount of carbon emissions associated with a building's product and 

 
12 https://www.ukgbc.org/uncategorised/zerocarbontaskgroup 
13 https://www.ukgbc.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Net zero-Carbon-Buildings-A-framework-
definition.pdf 

Page 170

https://www.ukgbc.org/uncategorised/zerocarbontaskgroup
https://www.ukgbc.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Net%20zero-Carbon-Buildings-A-framework-definition.pdf
https://www.ukgbc.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Net%20zero-Carbon-Buildings-A-framework-definition.pdf


29 
 

construction stages up to practical completion is zero or negative, through the 
use of offsets or the net export of on-site renewable energy. 

 
2. Net zero carbon – operational energy (for all buildings in operation).  

When the amount of carbon emissions associated with the building's 
operational energy on an annual basis is zero or negative. A net zero carbon 
building is highly energy efficient and powered from on-site and/or off-site 
renewable energy sources, with any remaining carbon balance offset. 

 
A third definition, 'new zero carbon – whole-life' is also proposed at a high level, but 
further work is needed to develop the detail of this approach. 
  
The framework includes five steps, shown in diagram below. Some of the steps are 
relevant to the definition for construction and some to the definition for operational 
energy. However, a building targeting net zero carbon for construction should be 
designed to achieve net zero carbon for operational energy. 
 
Each step has a set of principles that have been ordered in terms of priority and 
should be reviewed in that order. Each principle sets out the approach that should 
be followed, including a rationale for the principle, associated technical requirements 
and, where relevant, any areas for future development. 
 
Broadly speaking the definitions seek to:  
 

• ensure that a whole-life carbon assessment is undertaken, 

• prioritise reductions in energy demand and consumption over all other 
measures, 

• report annually on in-use energy consumption,  

• prioritise on-site renewable energy sources and require any off-site 
renewable energy to demonstrate additionality, 

• offset any remaining carbon using a recognised offsetting framework and 
publicly disclose this. 

 

 

Page 171



30 
 

 
 
Source: Net zero carbon buildings – A framework definition (UKGBC, April 2019) 
 

Page 172



31 
 

 

London Energy Transformation Initiative 
 
The London Energy Transformation Initiative (LETI) was established in 2017 to 
support the transition of London's built environment to net zero carbon, providing 
guidance that could be applied to the rest of the UK. 
 
A network of over 1,000 built environment professionals have worked collaboratively 
to compile evidence-based recommendations for London Plan and London 
Environment Strategy policies. The LETI Climate Emergency Design Guide defines 
what good looks like in context of the climate emergency for new buildings. 
 
The guidance focusses on delivering net zero carbon new buildings which means 
having regard to whole-life carbon, which in the context of the document means; 
 

• Operational carbon – net zero operational carbon means that buildings burn no 
fossil fuels, are 100% powered by renewable energy and achieve a high level of 
energy performance in line with national climate change targets. 

 

• Embodied carbon – The carbon emissions emitted producing a building's 
materials, their transport and installation as well as disposal at the end of life. 

 
A key recommendation of the guidance is that the Energy Use Intensity (EUI) of a 
building should replace carbon emission reductions as the primary metric used in 
policy, regulations and design decisions. EUI is an annual measure of the total 
energy consumed in a building. EUI is regarded as a good metric as it depends on 
how the building performs in use. 
 
EUI includes all the energy consumed in the building including regulated energy 
(heating, hot water, cooling, ventilation and lighting) and unregulated energy (plug 
loads and equipment e.g. kitchen white goods, ICT and AV equipment). It does not 
however include charging of electric vehicles. 
 
The guidance makes recommendations for operational energy which includes the 
fabric efficiency of building materials, window areas and energy consumption. It also 
makes recommendations for embodied carbon emissions. 
 
To achieve Net Zero Operational Carbon, LETI propose ten key requirements for 
new buildings: 
 

1. Total energy use of different building typologies not to exceed Energy Use 
Intensity (EUI) targets for energy uses in buildings including regulated and 
unregulated energy. 

2. A fabric first approach ensuring that space heating demand for all building 
types is below 15kWh/m2/yr. 

3. Annual energy use and renewable energy generation to reported for the first 
year post completion as part of a measurement and verification process. 

4. Embodied carbon of construction materials should be assessed to reduce 
impacts of construction process. 

5. Heating and hot water should not be generated from fossil fuels. 

Page 173



32 
 

6. Average annual carbon content of heat supplied (gCO2/kWh) should be 
reported. 

7. On-site renewable electricity should be maximised. 

8. Energy demand response and storage measures should be incorporated, and 
the building annual peak energy demand should be reported. 

9. An annual carbon balance calculation should be undertaken to demonstrate 
that a building achieves a net zero carbon balance. 

10. Any energy use not met on-site should be met by investment into additional 
renewable energy capacity off-site. 

 

 

 

 
Source: London Energy Transformation Initiative 

 

The Circular Economy 
 
In addition to different definitions for net zero carbon development, it is also useful 
to consider circular economy principles and how these relate to resource 
consumption, waste and carbon emissions. 
 
A circular economy keeps products, components and materials at their highest use 
and value. In a circular economy, every item or material is useful and valuable to 
another part of the economy. It provides an alternative to the current 'linear' economy 
– in which we make, use and dispose of products, components and materials and 
recover little value from them. 
 
Significant greenhouse gas emissions arise from consumption habits in society. A 
circular economy seeks to shift away from a linear pattern of resource extraction, 
use and wastage to one in which products and materials are retained and used at 
their highest use value for longer through maintenance, repairs and upgrades.  
 

Page 174

https://www.leti.london/


33 
 

As construction waste accounts for the largest proportion of waste within the 
Oxfordshire waste cycle14, circular economy principles are relevant to the 
Oxfordshire Plan, particularly efforts to achieving net zero carbon emissions through 
the design and construction of new development. 
 
The use of natural or recycled materials in construction, designing buildings for 
adaptability and changing uses over time as well as the ability to dismantle and 
recover materials at the end of a building's life would all help to minimise resource 
extraction and waste arising from construction in Oxfordshire. This would help to 
minimise carbon emissions associated with construction and development over the 
lifetime of the Plan. 
 
Consideration of circular economy principles through the Oxfordshire Plan has 
potential to deliver a wide range of benefits beyond tackling waste and reducing 
carbon emissions with positive social implications, new jobs, improved skills and 
new business opportunities15. 

 
 
Source – Useful Projects – Circular Economy in construction 
 

 
14 https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/file/planning-minerals-and-
waste/AnnualMonitoringReport2018.pdf  
15 https://usefulprojects.co.uk/circular-economy-in-construction/ 
 

Page 175

https://usefulprojects.co.uk/circular-economy-in-construction/
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/file/planning-minerals-and-waste/AnnualMonitoringReport2018.pdf
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/file/planning-minerals-and-waste/AnnualMonitoringReport2018.pdf
https://usefulprojects.co.uk/circular-economy-in-construction/


34 
 

 
86. The Government's proposals to strengthen Building Regulations and to define 

future standards for new buildings have the potential to deliver a consistent 
approach for the delivery of zero carbon buildings and take a big step on the 
pathway to net zero carbon. However, they may not be ambitious enough to meet 
targets for achieving net zero carbon in Oxfordshire. 

 
87. Consideration should be given to elements of other emerging design standards 

which could assist in accelerating our efforts, particularly where better regard is 
had to the whole-life carbon of buildings, including embodied carbon, operational 
energy use and renewable energy generation. 

 
88. The various industry consensus definitions developed by LETI and the UKGBC 

are more ambitious in scope compared to recently adopted local plan policies 
which focus on achieving carbon reductions rather than addressing whole-life 
carbon. 

 
89. Well-designed places are those that respond to the impacts of climate change 

through energy efficiency, minimising greenhouse gas emissions and embodied 
carbon, as well as adapting to anticipated events such as rising temperatures 
and increased flood risk. 

 
Policy Options 
 

90. The preferred policy approach is to define an Oxfordshire-wide definition for net 
zero carbon design and construction for development in Oxfordshire. This will 
assist in achieving the County's objectives in achieving net zero carbon 
emissions over the lifetime of the Oxfordshire Plan with multiple benefits 
including supporting the health and wellbeing of communities and encouraging 
clean growth and innovation, consistent with Strategic Vision and Oxfordshire 
Plan objectives. 

 
Preferred Policy Option 
 

 
Policy Option 01: Sustainable Design and Construction 
 
To include in the Oxfordshire Plan a policy setting out sustainable design and 
construction requirements to be applied to major residential and non-residential 
developments within Oxfordshire. 
 
This policy would be subject to viability and deliverability testing but with the 
objective to achieve net zero whole-life carbon for both residential and non-
residential buildings, taking account of embodied carbon, low energy use and 
renewable energy supply. 
 
Developments should be fossil fuel free and fossil fuels should not be used to 
provide space heating, hot water or fuel for cooking. Demand for energy should be 
balanced by the provision of on-site renewable energy generation. 
 
Carbon offsetting would only be permitted where it is demonstrable that net zero 
carbon cannot be achieved on site. 
 

Page 176



35 
 

A financial contribution based on defined calculation would be made to carbon 
offsetting projects including off-site renewable energy generation or carbon 
sequestration consistent with defined natural capital and nature recovery 
approaches defined in the Plan. 
 
Buildings should be designed to be resilient to the effects of a changing climate, 
including overheating. 
 
New buildings should be designed to be durable but flexible and adaptable to 
changing needs over time. 
 
Residential and non-residential buildings should be designed and built to maximise 
the use of natural or recycled material in construction and to enable disassembly 
at the end of a building's life in accordance with circular economy principles. 
 

 
Alternative Policy Option 01-1 
 

91. One alternative policy option is to defer standards for the design and construction 
of new buildings to district local plans. National policy does not prevent local 
authorities from setting higher ambitions, particularly in relation to energy 
efficiency standards that exceed Building Regulations. 

 
92. This is not a preferred option as different targets and timescales for achieving net 

zero carbon development in local plans could hinder efforts to achieve net zero 
carbon emissions in Oxfordshire during the lifetime of the Plan. 

 
Alternative Policy Option 01-2 
 

93. Another alternative is to defer guidance on sustainable design and construction 
to building regulations and the Future Homes and Future Buildings Standards. 

 
94. This is not a preferred option as failure to introduce more stringent national 

standards for the design and construction of new development could hinder 
Oxfordshire's efforts to achieve net zero carbon emissions during the lifetime of 
the Plan. 

 
 

Policy Option 02 - Energy 
 

95. Building standards can contribute significantly to carbon emissions reductions, 
by reducing the amount of energy required to operate a building and reducing 
the amount of energy lost through the fabric performance of a building. 

 
96. In order to achieve net zero targets however, it is necessary to consider the net 

zero carbon energy balance, to ensure that there is sufficient renewable energy 
to meet energy requirements of development. 

 
97. It is important to consider the future of energy infrastructure as part of the 

Oxfordshire Plan as the energy system, the generation and transmission and 
amount of electricity consumed, are likely to be very different by 2050. The 
electrification of heat, rise in the use of electric vehicles and increases in 

Page 177



36 
 

renewable energy generation will place new and significant burdens on an 
already constrained electricity network. 

 
98. The Government's Energy White Paper (December 2020)16 builds on their Ten 

Point Plan for a Green Industrial Revolution (November 2020)17 and establishes 
the Government's goal of a decisive shift from fossil fuels to clean energy in 
power, buildings and industry, while creating jobs and growing the economy and 
keeping energy bills affordable. It addresses how and why our energy system 
needs to evolve to deliver this goal and provides a foundation for the detailed 
actions to be taken. 

 
99. The way in which we produce and use energy is at the heart of the Energy White 

Paper. Meeting challenging targets for net zero carbon emissions will mean 
eliminating the use of fossil fuels to power the economy and heat our homes and 
an increase in clean electricity which will become the predominant form of 
energy. 

 
100. Existing energy infrastructure in Oxfordshire covers the generation, 

transmission and distribution of energy and includes gas, electricity and 
renewable energy. Homes and businesses across the county are served energy 
from a variety of different sources with varying proportions across all energy 
types. 

 
101. There is already a significant amount of energy generated in Oxfordshire 

from a range of renewable sources, but with substantial variations in type and 
volume across the districts. The following diagram illustrates this: 

 

 

 
 

102. Electricity network operators in Oxfordshire are transitioning from 
Distribution Network Operators (DNO) to Distribution System Operators (DSO) 

 
16 Energy White Paper: Powering our Net Zero Future 
17 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-ten-point-plan-for-a-green-industrial-revolution  

Page 178

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/945899/201216_BEIS_EWP_Command_Paper_Accessible.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-ten-point-plan-for-a-green-industrial-revolution


37 
 

to accommodate the changes that will be required to enable net zero carbon. 
This transition requires flexibility in the management of the electricity network to 
ensure that the supply and demand for electricity are balanced. It has implications 
for spatial planning in Oxfordshire and will influence the distribution of future 
development. 

 
103. The Climate Change Committee (CCC)18 has forecast that by 2050 

demand on electricity networks could treble as the UK moves toward its net zero 
carbon emissions future. Key to delivering the ambitions of the Oxfordshire 
Energy Strategy is to ensure that the local network infrastructure is sufficient for 
new generation and demand. 

 
104. High level analysis of capacity at primary electricity sub stations in 

Oxfordshire19 identified a number of major electricity infrastructure projects which 
still required funding, to support the level of planned housing and employment 
growth to 2031. 

 
105. The capacity of existing infrastructure and the cost and complexity of 

future upgrades to support planned growth in Oxfordshire are important 
considerations for the future planning of the county, both in terms of how much 
growth can be accommodated and where. 

 
106. The significant demand that Oxford's substations already face undermines 

the feasibility of connecting new sources of generation to the distribution network. 
This could either stop new renewable generation from being deployed or make it 
prohibitively expensive.  

 
107. Energy consumption analysis by local authority area in Oxfordshire shows 

relatively consistent levels as well as consistent fuel type proportions over the 
past 10 years, with bioenergy and wastes only partially replacing other traditional 
fuel sources. Oxfordshire's reliance on petroleum products and gas must reduce 
at a fast rate in order to meet national 2030 targets and clean energy goals. 

 
108. This need is exacerbated by the population growth expected in the county. 

Electricity consumption has shown a reduction between 2008 and 2019 in all 
local authority areas through efficiency gains. However, alongside population 
growth, other factors will result in a need to address electricity consumption (e.g. 
transition to electric vehicles and decarbonisation of heat). Targets for electric 
vehicle use raise specific concerns over the requirements for large-scale 
investment in the electrical grid and network infrastructure. 

 
109. Oxfordshire is home to two national demonstrator projects part funded by 

the UK's Industrial Strategy Challenge Fund20 with investment in industry and 
research to accelerate innovation in smart local energy systems. 

 

• Energy Superhub Oxford is focused on the electric vehicle (EV) charging network 
with a transmission-connected network of rapid electric vehicle charging, hybrid 
battery energy storage, low carbon heating and smart energy management 
technologies that reduces stress on local grids. 

 
18 https://www.theccc.org.uk/  
19 https://www.oxfordshirelep.com/sites/default/files/uploads/Oxfordshire%20Energy%20Strategy.pdf  
20 https://www.ukri.org/our-work/our-main-funds/industrial-strategy-challenge-fund/clean-
growth/prospering-from-the-energy-revolution-challenge/   

Page 179

https://www.theccc.org.uk/
https://www.oxfordshirelep.com/sites/default/files/uploads/Oxfordshire%20Energy%20Strategy.pdf
https://www.ukri.org/our-work/our-main-funds/industrial-strategy-challenge-fund/clean-growth/prospering-from-the-energy-revolution-challenge/
https://www.ukri.org/our-work/our-main-funds/industrial-strategy-challenge-fund/clean-growth/prospering-from-the-energy-revolution-challenge/


38 
 

 

• Project Local Energy Oxfordshire (LEO) is one of the most ambitious, wide-
ranging, innovative, and holistic smart grid trials ever conducted in the UK. LEO 
will improve our understanding of how opportunities can be maximised and 
unlocked from the transition to a smarter, flexible electricity system and how 
households, businesses and communities can realise its benefits. 

 

 
110. Both projects are important in demonstrating how integrated, intelligent 

local systems can deliver power, heat and mobility to users in new and better 
ways. The lessons learned will be influential in shaping the Oxfordshire Plan 
strategy including the distribution of development and investment in 
infrastructure. 

 
111. The economic benefits of a low carbon transition in Oxfordshire will be 

realised by supporting ambitious and innovative clean generation projects across 
the county and supporting projects that reduce energy demand across all sectors 
and increase energy efficiency for domestic, industrial and commercial buildings. 

 
112. The Oxfordshire Plan provides an opportunity to develop new ways of 

partnership working and to deliver innovative projects in the county. Establishing 
local smart energy networks will ensure that housing and economic growth is 
supported by clean energy and contributes to meeting net zero carbon targets. 

 
113. There is a need to significantly increase the proportion of renewable 

electricity generated within the county to achieve a net zero carbon energy 
balance. Energy systems and the grid must adapt, to operate in a way that allows 
growth and supports the de-carbonisation of both heat and transport and takes 
account of implications for electricity demand and distribution. 

 
114. The future of energy in Oxfordshire may have implications for the future 

distribution of development, and delivery of strategic scale renewable energy 
generation will have land use implications. 

 
115. It is important for the Oxfordshire Plan to consider future infrastructure 

needs and land use implications of future energy infrastructure, particularly 

Page 180



39 
 

increases in renewable energy generation capacity, to set a framework for 
delivery as part of a sustainable spatial strategy for Oxfordshire. 

 
Policy Options 
 

116. The preferred policy option is to maximise the use of renewable energy in 
new developments in Oxfordshire, to ensure that rising demands for electricity 
are matched with zero carbon energy provision, to achieve a net zero carbon 
energy balance and to support efforts to achieve net zero carbon emissions over 
the lifetime of the Oxfordshire Plan. 

 
117. This is considered to be a strategic matter, as to ensure there is sufficient 

renewable energy generation capacity in the county may require land to 
accommodate renewable energy generation technology. 

 
Preferred Policy Option 
 

 
Policy Option 02: Energy 
 
The Oxfordshire Plan would seek to minimise energy demand and maximise the 
use of renewable energy, where viable, meeting all demands for heat and power 
without increasing carbon emissions. 
 
Target for 100% of energy needs for major developments to be met from renewable 
energy sources. 

 
Developments would be required to maximise energy efficiency whilst integrating 
renewable and smart energy technologies in order to minimise energy demand. 
 
Installation and integration of these technologies should be delivered at the 
development stage to avoid more costly retrofitting after completion. 
 
The Oxfordshire Plan would support the delivery of strategic and community scale 
renewable energy schemes, particularly where their establishment can support 
development and the transition to a smart, local energy system for Oxfordshire. 
 

 
Alternative Policy Option 02-1 
 

118. One alternative policy option is to not set county-wide targets for 
renewable energy in new developments and to defer to local plans and individual 
developments. 

 
119. This option is not preferred, as establishing different approaches to 

renewable energy generation for new developments through local plans could 
undermine efforts to achieve targets for net zero carbon emissions in Oxfordshire 
over the lifetime of the Oxfordshire Plan. 

 
Alternative Policy Option 02-2 
 

120. Another alternative policy option is to set a percentage target for 
renewable energy generation in new developments e.g. minimum 10%. 

Page 181



40 
 

 
121. This option is reasonable as the continued decarbonisation of the National 

Grid will help to ensure that a zero carbon energy balance could be achieved 
nationally and locally during the lifetime of the Plan, particularly with increased 
renewable energy generation locally. It is not the preferred option as a lower 
target would potentially fall short of local targets of net zero carbon emissions 
during the lifetime of the Oxfordshire Plan. 

 
 

Policy Option 03 - Water Efficiency 
 

122. It is essential that Oxfordshire's communities, natural environment and 
businesses have access to the water they need, both now and in the future. 

 
123. Water resources serving Oxfordshire and the wider South East region are 

under increasing pressure. This is due to a range of factors including climate 
change, population growth and limitations on the amount of water that can be 
taken from rivers and aquifers to avoid harm to the natural environment. 

 
124. Thames Water's current Water Resource Management Plan forecasts 

that, without action, there will be a substantial shortfall between water supply and 
water demand within the next 25 years, significantly increasing the possibility of 
droughts.21 

 
125. The Oxfordshire authorities are working closely with Thames Water, the 

Environment Agency and other key stakeholders to understand water resource 
issues to 2050 and beyond. This engagement has fed into the production of the 
Water Cycle Study which will inform the Oxfordshire Plan. (A Phase 1 Scoping 
Study has been published as part of this consultation and a further, more detailed 
assessment will be undertaken prior to Regulation 19.) The evidence is clear that 
we need to make best possible use of Oxfordshire's water resources. 

 
126. Water efficiency standards for new development are set out in the Building 

Regulations.22 Currently, for new homes, water consumption must not exceed 
125 litres per person per day. (On average, a person in England uses 141 litres 
of water per day.23) However, local planning authorities can, where there is a 
clear local need, require new homes to meet a higher optional requirement of 
110 litres per person per day.24 All adopted local plans in Oxfordshire apply the 
optional requirement of 110 litres per person per day. 

 
127. In 2019, the Government consulted on the possibility of introducing a more 

ambitious national water efficiency standard for residential development.25 
However, the outcome of that consultation is not yet known. 

 

 
21 Thames Water (April 2020) Water Resources Management Plan 2020-2100 
22 HM Government (2015, with 2016 amendments) The Building Regulations 2010 Approved Document 
G; Sanitation, Hot Water Safety and Water Efficiency; Requirement G2 and Regulation 36 
23 DEFRA (July 2019) Consultation on Measures to Reduce Personal Water Use. 
24 MHCLG (March 2015) Planning Practice Guidance; Housing: Optional Technical Standards; 
Paragraph: 014; Reference ID: 56-014-20150327 
25 DEFRA (July 2019) Consultation on Measures to Reduce Personal Water Use. 

Page 182

https://www.thameswater.co.uk/about-us/regulation/water-resources
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/water-conservation-measures-to-reduce-personal-water-use
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-optional-technical-standards
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/water-conservation-measures-to-reduce-personal-water-use


41 
 

128. The Building Regulations do not set specific water efficiency standards for 
non-residential development, but state that reasonable provision must be made 
to prevent undue water consumption. 

 
129. There are examples of best practice that we can also look to. For example, 

the Royal Institute of British Architects (RIBA) has developed a set of 
performance targets as part of their '2030 Climate Challenge’. ‘The performance 
targets align with the future legislative horizon and set out a challenging but 
achievable trajectory to realise the significant reductions necessary by 2030 in 
order to have a realistic prospect of achieving net zero carbon for the whole UK 
building stock by 2050’. This includes water use performance targets for different 
types of development (homes, offices and schools).26 

 
130. Measures to improve water efficiency include rainwater harvesting (the 

collection of rainwater directly from the surface it falls on) and grey water 
recycling (the collection and treatment of used water from baths, showers and 
bathroom taps). Once collected, treated and stored, this water can be used for 
non-potable purposes such as toilet flushing, garden watering and clothes 
washing using a washing machine. Evidence suggests that rainwater harvesting 
and grey water recycling schemes are more efficient, cost effective and have a 
lower carbon footprint when they operate at a 'community-scale'.27 

 
131. In planning to 2050, it is reasonable to assume that more ambitious water 

efficiency standards may become achievable as technology, design and 
construction methods evolve and become more affordable over time. 

 
132. Ambitious policies in the Oxfordshire Plan are consistent with the 

opportunity that the Oxfordshire Plan represents to secure the transformational 
change that the Plan is seeking to achieve. 

 
Policy Options 
 

133. One option is to not have a strategic policy on water efficiency in the 
Oxfordshire Plan and to instead leave it to local plans to set policies in relation to 
water efficiency. However, responding to county-wide and regional pressures on 
water resources is a strategic cross-boundary planning matter. It is therefore 
considered appropriate to include a county-wide strategic water efficiency policy 
in the Oxfordshire Plan. 

 
134. If it were left to local plans to set policies on water efficiency, there is a risk 

that different approaches might be taken. This could result in less certainty and 
clarity for developers and communities. It may also make it more difficult to meet 
proposed ambitions around the delivery of transformational change, addressing 
the impacts of climate change and responding to county-wide and regional 
pressures on water resources. 

 
135. For this policy option there is a preferred policy option and two alternatives 

that follow the text box. 
 

 
26 RIBA (2021) 2030 Climate Challenge (Version 2) 
27 Artesia Consulting on behalf of OFWAT (April 2018) The Long Term Potential for Deep Reductions in 
Household Water Demand 

Page 183

https://www.architecture.com/about/policy/climate-action/2030-climate-challenge/sign-up
https://www.ofwat.gov.uk/publication/long-term-potential-deep-reductions-household-water-demand-report-artesia-consulting/
https://www.ofwat.gov.uk/publication/long-term-potential-deep-reductions-household-water-demand-report-artesia-consulting/


42 
 

Preferred Policy Option 
 

136. The preferred approach is for the Oxfordshire Plan to set ambitious 
minimum water efficiency standards for new development in Oxfordshire. This 
would help to ensure a consistent approach across the county. It is considered 
appropriate given increasing pressures on water resources, both within 
Oxfordshire and across the wider region. Setting ambitious policies in the 
Oxfordshire Plan is consistent with the opportunity that the Oxfordshire Plan 
represents to deliver long-term transformational change and to address the 
impacts of climate change. Local plans could provide further detail as 
appropriate. 

  

Page 184



43 
 

 

 
Policy Option 03: Water Efficiency 
 
The Oxfordshire Plan would seek to require the most ambitious minimum water 
efficiency standards possible for new development. 
 
For residential development, this would include exploring the potential to go beyond 
the current optional requirement of 110 litres per person per day. (For example, RIBA 
2030 Climate Challenge Targets of 75 litres per person per day.) 
 
For non-residential development, this would include exploring the potential to set 
minimum water efficiency standards for some uses. (For example, RIBA 2030 
Climate Challenge Targets or BREEAM standards.) 
 
The Oxfordshire Plan would also require development at strategic growth locations 
to maximise water efficiency through the delivery of community-scale rainwater 
harvesting and grey water recycling schemes. 
 
It would be important for the Oxfordshire Plan to provide flexibility to adapt to any 
new, more ambitious water efficiency standards that may be introduced or become 
achievable over the plan period.  
 

 
Alternative Policy Option 03-1 
 

137. Require water neutrality in Oxfordshire. (This is when the total demand for 
water is the same after new development is built, as it was before. It means that 
any new demand for water would be offset by making existing homes and 
buildings in Oxfordshire more water efficient.) 

 
138. This approach could be implemented alongside the preferred option of 

setting ambitious minimum water efficiency standards. It would represent 
transformational change and would further help to address the impacts of climate 
change. However, this is not a preferred option as at it is unclear how this 
approach could be delivered, funded and monitored. 

 
Alternative Policy Option 03-2 
 

139. Set less ambitious water efficiency standards in the Oxfordshire Plan. For 
example: 

 

i. align with the current optional requirement of 110 litres per person per day for 
new homes; 

ii. do not set water efficiency standards for non-residential development; and/or 

iii. encourage (rather than require) development at strategic growth locations to 
maximise water efficiency through the delivery of community-scale rainwater 
harvesting and grey water recycling schemes. 

 
140. This is not a preferred policy option as it would not deliver transformational 

change. There are opportunities to do more to address the impacts of climate 

Page 185



44 
 

change and to respond to county-wide and regional pressures on water 
resources. 

 

 
Policy Option 04 - Flood Risk 
 

141. Many communities across Oxfordshire have been affected by flooding. 
Flooding causes both immediate and long-term disruption to people's lives, 
businesses and wildlife. 

 
142. The risk of flooding is expected to increase in future years, with climate 

change altering weather patterns and increasing the severity and frequency of 
extreme weather events. It is important to ensure that the impacts of climate 
change on flood risk are appropriately managed and mitigated so that 
Oxfordshire's communities, businesses and natural environment are resilient, 
with the ability to adapt and thrive in the long-term, to 2050 and beyond. 

 
143. The Oxfordshire Authorities are commissioning a Strategic Flood Risk 

Assessment (SFRA) to inform the production of the Oxfordshire Plan. The SFRA 
will provide up-to-date information on flood risk, from all sources, and will be 
based upon the latest evidence and modelling, including the latest climate 
change projections. The SFRA will consider the individual and cumulative 
impacts on flood risk of growth proposed through the Oxfordshire Plan in 
combination with growth proposed in other plans (including Oxfordshire's 
adopted local plans and plans for adjoining areas as appropriate). Information in 
the SFRA will be used to apply a sequential, risk-based approach to the location 
of development. It will also identify infrastructure and other adaptations 
necessary to manage flood risk to 2050 and beyond. The SFRA will be published 
at the next stage of consultation (Regulation 19). 

 
144. In considering flood risk management and adaptation in Oxfordshire, the 

priority will be to work with natural processes wherever possible, utilising natural 
flood management methods. This approach can help to deliver wider benefits for 
people and wildlife by helping to restore habitats, improve water quality and 
increasing resilience to climate change. 

 
145. As natural flood management works best when a 'catchment-based 

approach' is taken (where efforts are coordinated to manage the flow of water 
along the whole length of a river catchment from its source to sea), the 
Oxfordshire authorities will work with the Environment Agency and other 
stakeholders to implement this approach. 

 
146. Ambitious policies in the Oxfordshire Plan would enable the local planning 

authorities to work together to secure a transformational change across the entire 
Thames catchment. 

 
Policy Options 
 

147. We could leave it to local plans to set policies in relation to flood risk; but 
increasing resilience to climate change is a strategic cross-boundary planning 
matter. It is considered appropriate to include a county-wide flood risk 
management policy in the Oxfordshire Plan. This is not the preferred option as 
there is a risk that local plans might take different approaches to flood risk. This 

Page 186



45 
 

could result in less certainty and clarity for developers and communities. It may 
also make it more difficult to meet proposed ambitions around the delivery of 
transformational change and increasing resilience to climate change. 

 
Preferred Policy Option 
 

148. The preferred approach is for the Oxfordshire Plan to provide a strategic 
planning framework for managing flood risk in Oxfordshire. This framework would 
set out flood risk management and drainage requirements relevant to 
development across Oxfordshire. It would be consistent with the opportunity that 
the Oxfordshire Plan represents to deliver long-term transformational change and 
to address the impacts of climate change, with a specific emphasis on nature-
based solutions. 

 
149. There is a significant amount of existing development in the functional 

floodplain (Flood Zone 3b) in Oxfordshire. The preferred policy approach 
incorporates recommendations from the Environment Agency to increase the 
resilience of existing development in Flood Zone 3b. In taking this approach, the 
impact on design (specifically building heights) needs to be considered. 
However, given the severity of the risks associated with flood risk, the preferred 
approach prioritises flood resilience. If this approach is consistently applied, then 
over time building heights would become more aligned as increasing numbers of 
homes are rebuilt or raised. Local plans could provide further detail as 
appropriate. 

 

 
Policy Option 04: Flood Risk 
 
The Oxfordshire Plan would require the following: 
 
1) Development to take account of both its impact on flood risk and the potential 

impacts of flood risk on the development and its future occupiers/users. 
 
2) Development to utilise natural flood management and drainage methods, 

including: 

• the use of appropriate green infrastructure;  

• the use of sustainable drainage systems (SuDS); 

• the use of design measures (such as the use of permeable external surface 
materials); 

• maximising opportunities to restore natural river flows and floodplains; 

• avoiding building over or culverting watercourses; and  

• removing existing culverts wherever possible. 
 

3) Major development to comply with Oxfordshire County Council's Local 
Standards and Guidance for Surface Water Drainage on Major Development 
in Oxfordshire (published November 2018)28 or any subsequent 
standards/guidance which might supersede this. Additional SuDS features 
may be required where there are impact pathways on habitats of national and 
international importance. 

 
28 https://www.oxfordshirefloodtoolkit.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/LOCAL-STANDARDS-AND-
GUIDANCE-FOR-SURFACE-WATER-DRAINAGE-ON-MAJOR-DEVELOPMENT-IN-
OXFORDSHIRE.pdf 

Page 187

https://www.oxfordshirefloodtoolkit.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/LOCAL-STANDARDS-AND-GUIDANCE-FOR-SURFACE-WATER-DRAINAGE-ON-MAJOR-DEVELOPMENT-IN-OXFORDSHIRE.pdf
https://www.oxfordshirefloodtoolkit.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/LOCAL-STANDARDS-AND-GUIDANCE-FOR-SURFACE-WATER-DRAINAGE-ON-MAJOR-DEVELOPMENT-IN-OXFORDSHIRE.pdf
https://www.oxfordshirefloodtoolkit.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/LOCAL-STANDARDS-AND-GUIDANCE-FOR-SURFACE-WATER-DRAINAGE-ON-MAJOR-DEVELOPMENT-IN-OXFORDSHIRE.pdf


46 
 

 
4) Where existing built development in Flood Zone 3b is proposed to be 

redeveloped or extended, opportunities would be taken to ensure that the new 
development is resilient to flooding over its lifetime. Replacement buildings in 
Flood Zone 3b to have finished floor levels above the 1 in 100 year flood level, 
plus an allowance for climate change. 

 
5) Flood risk evidence to support local plans to identify areas of the functional 

floodplain (Flood Zone 3b) where householder development and small non-
residential extensions are having a cumulative impact on flood risk. 
Opportunities to manage development in Flood Zone 3b that would otherwise 
be permitted under the General Permitted Development Order 2015 (as 
amended) to be considered. 

 
6) The Oxfordshire authorities to work with the Environment Agency and other 

stakeholders to support a catchment-based approach to flood risk 
management across the Thames catchment area. Schemes that utilise natural 
flood management methods and deliver wider benefits for Oxfordshire's 
communities, wildlife and businesses would be supported and prioritised. 

 
7) Flood risk management and mitigation measures identified within the SFRA to 

be incorporated within the policy framework as appropriate. 
 

 
Alternative Policy Option 04-1 
 

150. Include a strategic flood risk policy in the Oxfordshire Plan but reduce the 
scope of this policy. For example: 

i. Support the use of sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) but do not require 
compliance with specific local guidance/standards; and/or 

ii. Support increasing the resilience of existing development in Flood Zone 3b, but 
do not set specific requirements. 

 
151. This is not a preferred option as there is a risk that local plans might set 

different flood risk management and drainage requirements across Oxfordshire. 
This could result in less certainty and clarity for developers and communities. It 
may also make it more difficult to meet proposed ambitions around the delivery 
of transformational change and addressing the impacts of climate change. 

 
 

  

Page 188



47 
 

Theme Two: Improving Environmental Quality 
 
 

152. Oxfordshire's natural, historic and built environments are what makes 
Oxfordshire distinct and special, attracting people to live and stay in Oxfordshire 
and underpinning the health and wellbeing, quality of life and sense of identity of 
Oxfordshire's communities. 

 
153. The natural environment is the foundation of Oxfordshire’s prosperity and 

through its varied ecosystems, geodiversity and landscapes provide people with 
a range of benefits upon which human wellbeing depends. Such benefits include 
thriving wildlife, food, clean water and air and reduced risks from environmental 
hazards, such as flooding and drought.  

 
154. Protection and enhancement of all-natural assets is needed to build 

resilience in nature and within our communities and it therefore needs to be 
central to plan-making in Oxfordshire. 

 
155. From the county-wide landscape scale to the individual development and 

community scale, nature is important to the health and resilience of people and 
wildlife. 

 

 
Theme Two – Meets the following Objectives of the Oxfordshire Plan 
 
No 1. To demonstrate leadership in addressing the climate emergency by 
significantly reducing greenhouse gas emissions. 
 
No 2. To conserve and enhance Oxfordshire's historic, built and natural 
environments, recognising the benefits these assets contribute to quality of life, 
local identity and economic success. 
 
No 3. To protect and enhance Oxfordshire’s distinctive landscape character, 
recreational and biodiversity value by identifying strategic green and blue 
infrastructure, improving connectivity between environmental assets and securing 
a net gain for biodiversity. 
 

 
 
Policy Option 05: Protection and Enhancement of Landscape 
Characters 
 

156. Oxfordshire's landscapes are particularly important in defining the 
character of the county and what makes it distinctive. 

 
157. The protected landscapes of the Chilterns, Cotswolds and North Wessex 

Downs Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty cover over a quarter of the land area 
of the county. These distinctive and varied landscapes, defined by their 
underlying geology, land use practices and the many water courses that cross 
them are highly valued and protected for their natural beauty, distinctiveness and 
tranquillity. 

 

Page 189



48 
 

158. Great weight has been given to conserving and enhancing landscape and 
scenic beauty in Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty and their settings in 
Oxfordshire and this has shaped the pattern of development in the county over 
time. 

 
159. The conservation and enhancement of wildlife and cultural heritage are 

important considerations in these areas, and the Oxfordshire Plan will continue 
to support this, as AONBs continue to have the highest level of protection in 
relation to their landscape and scenic beauty. 

 

 
Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

 

160. Oxfordshire has many attractive landscapes and townscapes of distinct 
character, which are valued by residents and visitors alike. The National 
Landscape Character map of England shows Oxfordshire to be covered by eight 
different National Character Areas, which are defined by a unique combination 
of landscape, biodiversity, geodiversity, history and cultural and economic 
activity. 

 
161. At a county level, these areas are reflected in the Oxfordshire Wildlife and 

Landscape Study (OWLS) as regional character areas. In addition, OWLS define 
a number of landscape types which are recognisable by common characteristics 
defined by geology, topography, landcover and settlement pattern.  

 
Preferred Policy Option 

Page 190



49 
 

 
162. Landscape protection and enhancement is an important factor in plan-

making and as such, is a key objective of the Oxfordshire Plan. The significance 
of any impacts on landscape are dependent on the sensitivity of landscape and 
the nature of any changes proposed. An understanding of such sensitivities will 
be central in guiding the Oxfordshire Plan spatial strategy. 

 
163. The preferred policy option is to establish a positive strategy for the 

protection and enhancement of landscape and townscape features in 
Oxfordshire, due to the significance and importance of these features on the 
identity, sense of place, health and wellbeing and prosperity of Oxfordshire's 
communities. These factors drive Oxfordshire’s visitor economy. 

 
164. It is necessary for the Oxfordshire Plan to have regard to the landscape 

and townscape character of the county in terms of shaping policies, defining the 
spatial strategy and determining the spatial distribution of growth. Further 
detailed evidence on landscape sensitivity and impacts will be required as the 
Oxfordshire Plan evolves, but it is important to recognise the importance 
landscape and townscape character will have on determining the overarching 
spatial strategy for the Oxfordshire Plan. 

 

 
Policy Option 05: Protection and Enhancement of Landscape Characters 
 
The Oxfordshire Plan would establish a positive strategy for the conservation and 
enhancement of landscape and townscape features at a county-wide landscape 
scale, taking account of topography, vegetation, tranquillity, light pollution, dark 
skies, settlement pattern and landscape protection status. 
 
Landscape character and visual impact assessments would be required to support 
major new developments and urban extensions as well as the preparation of the 
Oxfordshire Plan itself and subsequent plans and strategies guiding development in 
Oxfordshire. 
 
Regard should be had to the Oxfordshire Wildlife and Landscape Study and relevant 
landscape character studies relating to parts of Oxfordshire. 
 

 
 

Policy Option 06: Protection and Enhancement of Historic 
Environment 
 

165. Oxfordshire has a rich and varied cultural heritage that defines the 
distinctive character of the county with a wealth of heritage sites, from the 
prehistoric, the Roman occupation and the Saxon, Norman, Medieval, post-
medieval and Victorian periods. 

 
166. There are numerous fine examples of heritage assets throughout the 

Oxfordshire landscape include the Neolithic long barrow at Wayland Smithy, the 
Iron Age hillforts such as Uffington Castle and Sinodin Hill, Roman temples at 
Frilford, Wiggington and the Lowbury Hill and the chalk figure of the Uffington 
White Horse, one of the most iconic examples of Iron Age art in the world. 

 

Page 191



50 
 

167. In addition, the county contains the internationally renowned medieval 
collages and buildings of Oxford, one of the region's most important tourist 
destinations. Other significant heritage assets include Blenheim Palace World 
Heritage Site, Rousham Park and former RAF Upper Heyford. These heritage 
assets, as well as locally listed buildings, form a valued and important resource 
that underpins Oxfordshire's distinctiveness and sense of place.  

 
168. It is vital that the Oxfordshire Plan recognises the importance of the 

county's cultural heritage, not just in defining the sense of place and identity, but 
for the value that it brings to the local economy, supporting the enterprise base 
and attracting significant tourist spending through the visitor economy. 

 
169. These archaeological and historic heritage assets are a finite resource 

that are highly valued by the local community as well as both nationally and 
internationally. They form an important backdrop to the characteristic sense of 
place of Oxfordshire that makes it such a vibrant and attractive place to live and 
work. The historic environment also plays an important role in community identity. 
These irreplaceable historic assets are easily disturbed and destroyed by 
unsympathetic development unless carefully managed. 

 
 

Page 192



51 
 

 

 
Oxfordshire Heritage Assets 

 
170. Approaches to the conservation and enhancement of the historic 

environment and heritage assets are well established in national and local policy 
through local plans. The Oxfordshire Plan has the potential to add value by 
setting a positive strategy for the conservation and enhancement of the historic 
environment at a landscape scale. 

 
171. Historic Landscape Characterisation identifies specific characteristics of 

an area or to better understand what makes a place special or distinct and helps 
to build an understanding of sensitivity, vulnerability and capacity for change. 
Historic landscape characterisation mapping has been undertaken for the whole 
of Oxfordshire in order to identify broad historic landscape types across the 
county. 

 

Page 193



52 
 

172. This assessment gives a broad understanding of the county’s historic 
character and indicates patterns of historic and current land use. As the 
assessment covers the whole of the Oxfordshire landscape, it also gives an 
understanding of archaeological potential within different parts of the county as 
well as the potential to support biodiversity, so there are synergies with other 
parts of the Plan relating to climate change and the natural environment. 

 
173. An understanding of the historic importance of landscapes can help shape 

the Oxfordshire Plan spatial strategy to ensure that they are protected and 
enhanced for the value that they bring in terms of recreation, education, sense of 
place and historic character. 

 
Historic Landscape Characterisation Broad Types 

 
Preferred Policy Option 
 

174. The preferred policy option is to establish a positive strategy for the 
conservation and enhancement of Oxfordshire's historic environment, due to the 
significance and importance of Oxfordshire's historic environment on the identity, 
sense of place, health and wellbeing and prosperity of Oxfordshire’s 
communities. 

 

Page 194



53 
 

175. The Oxfordshire Plan should have regard to the location, scale and 
importance of Oxfordshire's heritage assets in terms of shaping policies, defining 
the spatial strategy and determining the spatial distribution of growth. Further 
detailed evidence on heritage impact will be required as the Oxfordshire Plan 
evolves. 

 

 
Policy Option 06: Protection and Enhancement of Historic Environment 
 
The Oxfordshire Plan would establish a positive strategy for the conservation and 
enjoyment of Oxfordshire's historic environment at the strategic scale, taking 
account of the county's historic environment and heritage assets including historic 
landscapes, archaeology, Scheduled Monuments, World Heritage Site, Historic 
Parks and Gardens, Conservation Areas and Listed Buildings and their settings. 
 
Development proposals would be required to assess the impact on the historic 
environment and heritage assets including both known and potential heritage assets 
including assessing the likelihood of currently unidentified assets being identified. 
 
Regard would be had to the county's Historic Environment Record and local 
assessments relating to heritage assets including important views, conservation 
areas and locally listed buildings. 
 
Detailed historic characterisation work would be required to assess the impact of 
major development, including new settlements, urban extensions or rural 
development including proposals for the Oxfordshire Plan and spatial strategy on 
the significance of heritage assets. 
 
Development should conserve and enhance the historic environment and the setting 
of heritage assets. 
 

 
 

Policy Option 07 - Nature Recovery 
 

176. It is recognised that nature is declining around the world at unprecedented 
rates and that there has been continued decline of biodiversity nationally and 
locally over the past decade. Although there have been some conservation 
successes in Oxfordshire, nature is still in decline. 

 
177. A key finding of the 2017 'State of Nature in Oxfordshire' report29 was that 

there is continued fragmentation and loss of connectivity across the county's 
landscapes, affecting the future viability of habitats and species. Long-term 
decline in woodland and farmland biodiversity in particular has continued, 
threatening a number of associated species with extinction. 

 
178. Historically, agricultural changes have been one of the main contributing 

factors to habitat degradation and fragmentation with losses of semi-natural 
grasslands and floodplain meadows resulting from more intensive agricultural 
methods. 

 

 
29 State of Nature in Oxfordshire 2017, Wild Oxfordshire 

Page 195



54 
 

179. Climate change is also a significant contributory factor with changes in 
temperature and rainfall resulting in negative impacts on species composition 
and the integrity of habitats. Pollution and growing urbanisation and invasive 
species are also known to contribute to species decline. 

 
180. Despite widespread degradation and loss of habitats, Oxfordshire retains 

some of the finest and rarest habitats anywhere in the country such as the wet 
grasslands of Otmoor. It is important that the Oxfordshire Plan aims to protect all 
that is good and valuable while aiming to repair and recover that which has been 
lost through harmful land use practices in recent years. 

 
181. Key actions identified for Oxfordshire in the State of Nature Report 

included the need to create larger and more connected areas of high-quality 
habitat and to assist landowners and farmers in identifying financially viable ways 
of managing land in a more nature friendly way. Better planning for green and 
blue infrastructure is regarded as being beneficial for both people and nature. 

 
182. The Oxfordshire Plan has an opportunity to take a proactive approach to 

mitigating and adapting to climate change, taking account of flood risk, water 
supply, biodiversity and landscapes, and the risk of overheating and drought from 
rising temperatures. 

 
183. It is proposed that the Oxfordshire Plan takes a holistic approach to nature 

recovery and environmental enhancement, enabled by the Plan's county-wide 
coverage. This allows the plan to look at threats and opportunities for the natural 
environment at the landscape scale which isn't necessarily possible for district-
level local plans. 

 
184. The Oxfordshire Plan aims to protect and enhance the natural 

environment of Oxfordshire, including its natural capital assets, landscapes and 
wildlife. A key focus of this approach is on minimising impacts on and delivering 
net gains for biodiversity. 

 
185. Supporting the health and resilience of habitats and species and 

supporting biodiversity is fundamental to the delivery of ecosystems services for 
the multiple benefits that they bring to the health and wellbeing of the planet and 
the human populations that comprise Oxfordshire's communities. 

 
186. There is a wide distribution of wildlife rich, protected sites across 

Oxfordshire. Such sites benefit from protected status, meaning that national 
policy and adopted local plan policy steers harmful uses away from such sites 
and aims to deliver enhancements where possible. 

 
187. This well-established approach may have been successful in protecting 

individual sites but less successful in arresting the fragmentation of habitats and 
building resilience amongst species to a changing climate. Wildlife within 
protected habitats cannot survive indefinitely in isolation but need to be part of a 
wider network of habitats connected at the landscape scale. 

 
188. Conservation Target Areas (CTAs) were introduced to Oxfordshire in 2006 

to identify areas where targeted conservation action could deliver the greatest 
benefits. There are currently 37 CTAs in Oxfordshire, covering over 20% of the 

Page 196



55 
 

county providing a focus for co-ordinated delivery of agri-environment schemes 
and biodiversity enhancements delivered through the planning system. 

 
189. The Oxfordshire Plan presents an opportunity to build on the CTA 

approach, to map and plan for ecological connectivity and enhancement at a 
landscape scale and to link key wildlife sites to achieve measurable gains in 
biodiversity. 

 
190. The establishment of a Nature Recovery Network (NRN) for Oxfordshire 

is considered to be an important step in defining the key spatial elements required 
to deliver more coherent and robust ecological networks for the county and to 
ensure that future development avoids harmful impacts on nature and makes a 
meaningful contribution to nature's recovery. 

 
191. For nature to recover it is important to look beyond currently protected 

sites and take action to extend and link existing sites, both to support wildlife and 
to recover the range of economic and social benefits that nature provides. 

 
192. Looking at ecological networks at the landscape scale, provides an 

opportunity to consider where existing habitats can be improved and increased 
in size, to improve connectivity between patches of habitat and to restore natural 
processes. 

 
193. The primary role of a Nature Recovery Network for Oxfordshire would be 

to support abundant wildlife but should also enhance natural beauty, conserve 
geodiversity and provide opportunities and benefits for people including flood 
alleviation, recreation and climate change resilience and adaptation. 

 
194. The map below shows the distribution of many of the protected wildlife 

sites across Oxfordshire. Although these sites benefit from protected status and 
many sit in a rural setting surrounded by countryside, they are not necessarily 
resilient to change and are in many cases disjointed from other similar habitat 
types as a result of intervening land uses. Species living within such sites may 
be threatened by not being able to migrate under changing environmental 
conditions. It should be noted that the map is not exhaustive and does not include 
all protected sites and habitats in Oxfordshire, such as all local designations. 

Page 197



56 
 

 

 
 

 
195. The following map illustrates how protected sites for wildlife are set within 

the existing network of Conservation Target Areas in Oxfordshire. 
 

Page 198



57 
 

196. Conservation Target Areas were first established in Oxfordshire in 2006 
and since then have been recognised in local plans as a focal point for 
conservation work and deliver biodiversity net gains in a more co-ordinated 
manner. Local plans in Oxfordshire ensure that the aims of CTAs are considered 
as part of the plan-making and decision-taking process for changing land uses in 
Oxfordshire. 

 

 
 

 
197. Establishing a Nature Recovery Network for Oxfordshire could build on 

the foundation of the CTAs and expand to include important freshwater areas, to 
ensure that the network includes both aquatic and terrestrial habitats. 

Page 199



58 
 

 
198. Important freshwater areas30 are those areas that are most important for 

freshwater wildlife. In order to identify coherent ecological networks to be 
protected through plans and strategies, it is necessary to understand the extent 
and geographical distribution of such areas. Important freshwater areas are 
illustrated on the map below. 

 

 

 
 

199. There is significant overlap between the CTAs and Important Freshwater 
Areas, emphasising that aquatic and terrestrial habitats should be considered in 
tandem in identifying ecological networks and making space for nature. For 
freshwater networks, there are a number of terrestrial habitats that are important 
to the health of freshwater areas, such as woodlands in the upper catchments of 
river systems, which regulate both the flow and quality of water entering rivers 
systems. 

 
200. There are several catchment management plans already in place in 

Oxfordshire which guide conservation and flood management and improved 

 
30 https://freshwaterhabitats.org.uk/research/important-freshwater-areas/ 

Page 200

https://freshwaterhabitats.org.uk/research/important-freshwater-areas/


59 
 

water quality along water courses in the county. Such management plans 
consider the interaction between land uses in river catchments with a focus on 
how nature-based solutions can deliver benefits to both people and nature. 
Examples of such work include natural flood risk management schemes which 
aim to reconnect rivers with their floodplains, remove blockages to wildlife and 
delay the responsiveness of river channels to rainfall and to slow and store 
surface water runoff. Further work is required to tackle sewerage discharges. 

 
201. Combining both Conservation Target Areas and Important Freshwater 

Areas provides a strong spatial overview of where conservation efforts could be 
targeted in Oxfordshire to deliver multiple benefits, reducing fragmentation of 
sites and waterbodies and helping to build climate change resilience in the 
natural environment. 

 
202. Building a greater understanding of how these valuable areas for 

biodiversity can be better connected, will assist in the formation of a coherent 
ecological network for Oxfordshire, setting the framework for future planning for 
development and conservation and enhancement of the natural environment. 

 
203. Analysis has been undertaken in Oxfordshire to identify the most 

important areas for biodiversity and the areas that are most important for 
connecting these together31. The analysis has enabled the identification of a draft 
Nature Recovery Network for Oxfordshire. A draft NRN has been refined through 
a process of engagement and consultation to define three distinct zones in 
Oxfordshire with 'soft boundaries' that can be subject to further refinement 
through the process of creating a future nature recovery strategy. 

 
204. The draft NRN for Oxfordshire comprises the following components and 

the map which follows indicates the extent of the areas. 
 

 
Core Zone: 

The Core zone of the NRN contains the most important sites for biodiversity in the 
county. The identification of the core zone of the NRN does not diminish the 
protection afforded to such sites through existing national and local policy, which will 
continue to benefit from a high level of protection. 
 
Special Protection Areas 
Special Areas for Conservation, 
Sites of Special Scientific Interest 
Ramsar sites 
Local Nature Reserves 
Local Wildlife Sites (including 
proposed) 
 

Cherwell District Wildlife Sites 
Oxford City Wildlife Sites 
BBOWT reserves 
Woodland Trust woodlands 
Other sites of local importance for 
nature conservation 
All priority habitats 

The core of the NRN is the main priority for nature conservation. Actions within the 
core zone should focus on the protection and management of important sites to 
support the greatest amount of biodiversity. 
 
Recovery Zone: 

 
31 Link to TVERC technical report. 

Page 201



60 
 

The recovery zone consists of Conservation Target Areas, Important Freshwater 
Areas and a freshwater network, with additional areas of land added to provide better 
connectivity. 
 
The recovery zone is where new habitat creation and habitat restoration should be 
focussed. Habitat creation and restoration in this zone will better link parts of the 
core network, either by buffering and connecting core sites or by providing corridors 
or stepping-stones between core sites. 
 
Wider Landscape Zone: 

The wider countryside is still important for nature's recovery. The focus within the 
wider landscape zone should be on strengthening landscape character and making 
room for nature, including hedgerow restoration and creation, managing farmland 
with nature in mind or improving access to the countryside. 
 

Page 202



61 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
Policy Options 
 
Preferred Policy Option 
 

205. The preferred option is to identify those parts of the county that are 
important for establishing a well-connected ecological network and to use this 
mapped resource to shape the policies, define the spatial strategy and determine 
the spatial distribution of development in the Oxfordshire Plan. Utilising the draft 
Nature Recovery Network to shape the Oxfordshire Plan will ensure that future 
development and ecological enhancements are directed to locations where they 
can minimise harm and secure the greatest benefits in supporting nature's 
recovery and building resilience in communities and ecosystems to climate 
change. 

Page 203



62 
 

 
Policy Option 07: Nature Recovery 
 
The Oxfordshire Plan would utilise the draft Nature Recovery Network for 
Oxfordshire to guide the spatial distribution of sustainable development and the 
spatial strategy for the Oxfordshire Plan, as part of a commitment to strengthening 
ecological networks, delivering biodiversity net gains and building resilience to 
climate change in Oxfordshire, recognising the importance of the county's habitats, 
natural resources and landscapes in supporting biodiversity, connecting habitats 
and aiding nature's recovery. 
 
The Nature Recovery Network would build on the established CTAs for Oxfordshire 
and would not diminish any of the protections afforded to protected sites, habitats or 
species but will seek to better connect them. 
 
The proposed draft Nature Recovery Network would be comprised of three zones: 
 

• Core Zone - the most important sites for biodiversity in Oxfordshire - including 
all nationally and locally designated sites, nature reserves, priority habitats 
and ancient woodland. 

• Recovery Zone - comprising the Conservation Target Areas, Important 
Freshwater Areas and additional areas added to provide better habitat 
connectivity. 

• Wider Landscape Zone - covering the rest of the county, recognising the 
important contribution that agricultural and urban landscapes beyond the 
Recovery zone can make to nature's recovery. 

 
The draft Nature Recovery Network would provide a framework for future plan-
making (Including the Oxfordshire Plan) and decision-taking, ensuring that future 
developments do not undermine efforts to connect habitats and to make landscapes 
more permeable to biodiversity. 
 
The Nature Recovery Network provides a spatial illustration of a connected 
ecological network for Oxfordshire and sets the context for a future Nature Recovery 
Strategy in accordance with the 25 Year Environment Plan. The Oxfordshire Plan 
would support the establishment of a Nature Recovery Strategy for Oxfordshire. 
 
The Nature Recovery Network would provide a focus for biodiversity net gains and 
wider environmental net gains as part of a co-ordinated approach to environmental 
protection and enhancement for Oxfordshire. 
 

 
Alternative Policy Option 07-1 
 

206. One discounted policy option has been to not progress the development 
of the Nature Recovery Network map in the Oxfordshire Plan and to leave it to 
the subsequent Nature Recovery Strategy for Oxfordshire to define. This would 
defer to the established approach of site, species and habitat protection, 
Conservation Target Areas and application of mitigation hierarchy for biodiversity 
to be applied through local plans. 

 

Page 204



63 
 

207. This option is not preferred as the Oxfordshire Plan provides an 
opportunity to plan more holistically for ecological connectivity at the landscape 
scale. Not utilising the draft Nature Recovery Network to shape the Oxfordshire 
Plan spatial strategy might undermine future efforts to establish ecological 
networks and to plan for nature recovery through a future Nature Recovery 
Strategy. 

 
 

Policy Option 08 - Biodiversity Gain 
 

208. Biodiversity net gain is an approach which aims to leave the natural 
environment in a measurably better state than before. 

 
209. Oxfordshire has a diverse and distinctive landscape which supports a 

variety of habitats. The Oxfordshire State of Nature report (2017)32 found that 
there continues to be long-term declines in farmland and woodland biodiversity 
and that there is continued fragmentation and loss of connectivity across the 
county's landscape, affecting the future viability of habitats and species. 

 
210. Such issues of fragmentation and ecological connectivity can be 

addressed to a significant extent through the establishment of a Nature Recovery 
Network. 

 
211. In order to account for past losses and degradation of the natural 

environment however, achieving significant biodiversity net gains through 
planning are likely to be desirable. 

 
212. Preparation of the Oxfordshire Plan provides an opportunity to set high 

level ambitions for biodiversity and wider environmental net gains in the county 
and to set a consistent approach and framework for plan-making and decision 
taking across the county. 

 
213. Approaches to biodiversity net gain have already been developed in parts 

of Oxfordshire with local plans setting requirements and targets for biodiversity 
net gain through new development as well as varying targets set at individual site 
level for planned garden communities. The use of biodiversity metrics is 
recognised as an important mechanism through which the biodiversity value of 
land pre- and post-development is measured. 

 
214. The Oxfordshire Plan has the potential to add value and perform a key 

role in achieving biodiversity net gain through new developments through to 
2050, which is key to reducing harmful impacts on wildlife, supporting recovery 
of nature, reversing long-term declines in biodiversity and addressing climate 
change. 

 
215. The Oxfordshire Plan aims to protect and enhance Oxfordshire's distinct 

landscape character, recreational and biodiversity value. Achieving net gain for 
biodiversity is one way the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 can help to achieve this. This 
Plan will provide an opportunity to be ambitious and align the views of key 
stakeholders across the county, providing a county-wide framework for all the 
local authorities to work within. National policy is clear that the natural and local 

 
32 State of Nature | Wild Oxfordshire 

Page 205

https://www.wildoxfordshire.org.uk/stateofnature/


64 
 

environment should be enhanced through minimising impacts on and providing 
net gains for biodiversity. 

 
216. Nationally, biodiversity net gain is proposed to be set at 10% for all new 

development33. Planning to 2050 provides an opportunity to set clear ambitions 
for environmental improvement and it is not considered unreasonable to have 
targets in the Oxfordshire Plan which go beyond existing and proposed national 
and local targets. 

 
217. A key challenge in securing biodiversity net gains through development 

will be the effect on viability but this is a challenge that must be addressed if the 
Oxfordshire Plan is to meet objectives for net zero carbon and to mitigate the 
impacts of climate change. 

 
218. A Natural England biodiversity net gain study34 showed there is little or no 

effect on the viability of housing developments with up to 20% biodiversity net 
gain, and that there is a strong case for more. 

 
219. The preference should be for biodiversity net gains to be delivered on site, 

following the mitigation hierarchy and, where this is not possible, it should be 
delivered as close to the loss as possible. The Nature Recovery Network would 
provide a focus for off-site biodiversity net gains, with the Core Zone and 
Recovery Zone providing opportunities to deliver the greatest benefits for 
biodiversity and ecological connectivity. 

 

 
The mitigation hierarchy 
 
Avoid harm, 
Minimise impacts, 
Rehabilitation / restoration, 
Compensation (on-site), 
Offset (off-site). 
 

 
220. Securing biodiversity net gains will have knock-on positive effects, 

delivering direct and indirect benefits to environmental enhancement, nature 
resilience and the provision of ecosystem services to support health and 
wellbeing of communities. 

 
Policy Options 
 

221. The protection and enhancement of Oxfordshire's wildlife, habitats and 
ecological networks is central to the Oxfordshire Plan. 

 
222. All development proposals in Oxfordshire should have regard to impacts 

on priority habitats, designated sites, Conservation Target Areas and the Nature 
Recovery Network for Oxfordshire. 

 
Preferred Policy Option 

 
33 Environment Bill 2020 Environment Bill - Parliamentary Bills - UK Parliament 
34 Biodiversity Net Gain Study (Vivid Economics, June 2018) 

Page 206

https://bills.parliament.uk/bills/2593


65 
 

 
223. The preferred option is to set an ambitious target for biodiversity net gain 

as a standalone policy as one of the primary mechanisms through which nature's 
recovery can be delivered through the Oxfordshire Plan. Setting an ambitious 
target above national requirements emphasises the importance of supporting 
nature's recovery and improving environmental quality through the Oxfordshire 
Plan. 

 
224. It is recognised that there could be viability implications for achieving 

higher biodiversity net gain targets in parts of Oxfordshire, but it is also noted that 
higher targets are being sought within individual developments and strategic 
developments in other parts of the county. 

 

 
Policy Option 08: Biodiversity Gain 
 
The Oxfordshire Plan proposes to set minimum target for biodiversity net gain across 
Oxfordshire to protect, enhance, restore, increase and connect the natural 
environment and secure measurable net gains in biodiversity. 
 
20% biodiversity net gain - Standard benchmark for the whole of the county. 
 
Biodiversity net gain will be measured using the DEFRA Biodiversity Metric. 
 
The delivery of biodiversity net gain should follow the mitigation hierarchy with a 
preference to deliver gains on site. Where on site delivery is not possible, gains should 
be delivered within the administrative boundary of the Local Authority and wherever 
possible within a Conservation Target Area. 
 

 
Alternative Policy Option 08-1 
 

225. Establish differential biodiversity net gain targets for different parts of the 
county with higher targets (e.g. 25%) in opportunity areas for environmental 
enhancement including Green Belt, AONBs, Conservation Target Area, as well 
as Broad Areas for Growth identified in the Oxfordshire Plan and a lower target 
(10% national minimum) for the rest of the county. 

 
226. This alternative policy option may assist in drawing out the challenge of 

viability that is anticipated in different parts of the county, whilst prioritising areas 
where biodiversity net gain from development is particularly sensitive and 
necessary. 

 
Alternative Policy Option 08-2 
 

227. Leave to national standards and do not set minimum biodiversity net gain 
targets in the Oxfordshire Plan 2050. 

 
228. This is not the preferred policy option as reliance on the UK-wide 10% net 

gain would fall short of Oxfordshire's efforts to support nature's recovery and 
account for past losses to biodiversity. 

 
 

Page 207



66 
 

Policy Option 09 - Natural Capital and Ecosystem Services 
 

229. Earlier policy options considered the merits of establishing a Nature 
Recovery Network (NRN) for Oxfordshire and for setting relatively high targets 
for biodiversity net gain, in order to increase space for nature and to increase the 
resilience of the natural environment to climate change and other pressures. 

 
230. The emphasis of the NRN and biodiversity net gain are very much on 

building resilience in nature and supporting wildlife conservation, but investment 
in the natural environment to deliver wider environmental net gains can deliver 
economic and social benefits too. 

 
231. Maintaining stocks of natural capital in good condition both in terms of 

quality and quantity will ensure a sustainable flow of ecosystems services 
underpinning human health and wellbeing. 

 
232. A focus on natural capital and the ecosystem services that habitats 

provide gives a more holistic way of considering our relationship with the natural 
environment and how the protection and enhancement can deliver multiple 
economic, social and environmental benefits. 

 
233. Natural Capital is the elements of nature that directly or indirectly produce 

value to people, including ecosystems, species, freshwater, land minerals and 
air, as well as natural processes and functions. 

 
234. The core elements of natural capital that are important in terms of the 

ecosystems services they provide are biodiversity (plants and animals), 
geodiversity (soil, rock), water and the air we breathe. 

 
235. These stocks of natural capital provide a wide range of ecosystem 

services which can broadly be grouped into three categories: 
 

Types of ecosystems services 

Provisioning Services Cultural Services Regulating Services 

Food crops 
Livestock 
Wood 
Fish 
Fresh water supply 

Recreation 
Aesthetic value 
Education and knowledge 
Interaction with nature 
Sense of place 

Flood control 
Erosion control 
Water quality 
Carbon storage 
Air quality 
Cooling and shading 
Noise regulation 
Pollination 
Pest control 

 
236. The protection and enhancement of biodiversity and geodiversity is 

fundamental to protecting stocks of natural capital and the flows of ecosystem 
services that underpin human health and wellbeing. 

 
237. The approach to biodiversity protection and enhancement outlined in 

previous sections through the Nature Recovery Network and targets for 
biodiversity net gain will ensure that enhancements are delivered closest to 
where impacts arise or where they can deliver the most positive impacts. 

 

Page 208



67 
 

238. Detailed work has been undertaken in Oxfordshire to provide a baseline 
understanding of the supply of natural capital across the county and the ability of 
habitats to provide ecosystem services. The baseline assessment covers 18 
types of ecosystem services illustrated in the table above.  

 
239. A robust methodology for natural capital assessment has been developed 

by Oxford University35 which has been influential in steering assessments and 
approaches in neighbouring counties and throughout the Oxford-Cambridge 
Arc36. 

 
240. The Oxfordshire Natural Capital mapping project provides a spatial 

overview of parts of the county that perform well in terms of the provision of 
ecosystem services. A summary of some of the key ecosystem services is 
illustrated in the map which follows.  

 
241. Darker green colours on the map indicate habitats that perform well in in 

terms of regulating and cultural services (as listed in the table above) and lighter 
green areas are those that perform less well. Many of the dark green areas 
represent areas of woodland such as the Chilterns in South Oxfordshire and the 
Wychwood Forest in West Oxfordshire. Areas of woodland score particularly well 
in terms of regulating services such as carbon sequestration, flood risk mitigation, 
shading and cooling and are valuable in terms of cultural services such as 
creating a sense of place and for recreation. It is important to note that the 
mapping makes no assessment of the quality of natural capital assets which may 
vary across the county. 

 
242. Darker green areas are areas that should be protected and enhanced in 

order to preserve the beneficial ecosystem services they provide. 
 

243. Lighter green areas on the summary map represent habitats that 
potentially perform less well in terms of the ecosystem services that they provide, 
although this doesn't distinguish between those habitats that provide multiple 
services and those that only provide one service. These areas may present 
opportunity areas to deliver environmental net gains, particularly where they 
relate to existing and future development, where demand for certain ecosystem 
services may be greatest. It is important to note that almost all of the land in 
Oxfordshire provide ecosystem benefits to people in one form or another. 

 
244. As a predominantly rural county, dominated by agricultural land, most of 

the land coverage in Oxfordshire scores well in terms of provisioning services 
such as food production and water supply. In order to differentiate between the 
best areas for food production and those that are potentially less productive, the 
orange colours on the summary map indicate areas of best and most versatile 
agricultural land. This is land which is most flexible, productive and efficient and 
can best deliver future crops for both food and non-food. 

 
245. An understanding of the supply of natural capital and ecosystem services 

for Oxfordshire is regarded as important, not only in terms of protecting what we 
have, but also in terms of increasing the supply, particularly where demand for 
services arises such as in new development locations. 

 
35 Provide link to natural capital report with methodology 
36 https://www.oxcamlncp.org/our-project  

Page 209

https://www.oxcamlncp.org/our-project


68 
 

 

 
 

246. This understanding of the supply of natural capital assets and ecosystem 
services can have multiple benefits in plan-making not just in terms of guiding 
the spatial distribution of development, but also in terms of guiding green 
infrastructure investment and environmental enhancements such as increased 
woodland coverage, accessible natural greenspace and natural flood risk 
mitigation and the application of Environmental Land Use Management Schemes 
(ELMS). 

 
247. There is a strong case for investment in green infrastructure for the 

multiple social, environmental and economic benefits that a well-connected 
green infrastructure network can bring. Planning for, and enhancing, 

Page 210



69 
 

Oxfordshire’s Green Infrastructure is an essential part of realising the county's 
long-term ambitions and economic aspirations.  

 
248. Analysis has been undertaken to highlight a number of areas that present 

barriers to economic growth, with a significant economic cost to Oxfordshire each 
year. 

 

 
Top seven sustainability challenges in Oxfordshire and their annual cost to 
the economy 
 

 
 
Source – Making the case for investment in Green Infrastructure – Brillianto - 
Oxfordshire County Council 
 

 
249. Green infrastructure is a key part of natural capital, though natural capital 

also includes intensive farmland, which is not usually considered as green 
infrastructure. 

 
250. The natural capital maps developed to support the Oxfordshire Plan can 

be used to identify high value natural capital assets, and these can then be used 
to help identify strategic networks of green and blue infrastructure, and options 
for strengthening these networks. 

 
251. An understanding of the supply and demand for ecosystem services 

coupled with investment in green infrastructure will enable the delivery of nature-
based solutions to address the sustainability challenges identified in Oxfordshire. 
Investment in green infrastructure is most effective where it is spatially targeted 
and designed to deliver multiple benefits in the same location. It is for this reason 
that our understanding of natural capital and ecosystem services provision 
should be central to plan-making and environmental investment in Oxfordshire. 

 
252. Applying natural capital approaches will help integrate the value of nature 

in all decision-making and develop a better understanding of impacts and 
dependencies on nature. Natural capital and planning for green infrastructure has 
an important role to play in improving health and reducing the costs of poor 
health. 

 

Page 211



70 
 

 
A recently compiled business case for green infrastructure investment in Oxfordshire 
identified a number of headline benefits. 
 

• A 1% increase in the amount of greenspace in a ward generates a 1% increase 
in the value of a residential property in England. 

• Vegetation may reduce noise by as much as 50%. 

• A noise reduction of just 1 decibel for every property in the county would be worth 
£8m p.a. to the Oxfordshire economy. 

• Investment in cycling infrastructure could take one car off the road for as little as 
80 pence per day. 

• Reducing speed limits in residential areas could reduce traffic accidents by half. 

• People with good access to green space are 24% more likely to be physically 
active. 

• A 10% increase in physical activity in adults would be worth over £6m to the 
Oxfordshire Economy. 

• Oxfordshire's woodlands remove 175,000 tonnes of carbon dioxide (CO2) per 
year from the atmosphere with an estimated value of £6 million each year. 

• Green roof energy savings are 30 kwh/m2 or 14 kg CO2/m2 or £5-6 m2 per year 
for heating and air conditioning. 

• River woodland is worth £6,000 per year per hectare for its flood regulation 
benefits. Sustainable drainage systems (SUDS) are half the cost of traditional 
drainage over a 60-year life span. 

• During an extreme rainfall event green roofs can retain up to 90% of rainfall. 

• One square metre of green roof can offset the annual particulate matter emissions 
of one car. 

• Planting of vegetation in streets can reduce street-level pollution concentrations 
by up to 60%. 

• Oxfordshire's rural woodlands remove 400 tonnes of air pollutants and thereby 
save £6.5 million in healthcare cost per year. 

• Converting intensive agriculture to a mixture of woodland and pasture near cities 
can generate benefits of £1,300 per hectare per year. 

 
Source – Making the case for investment in Green Infrastructure – Brillianto - 
Oxfordshire County Council 
 

 
253. Taking a natural capital approach with ambitious targets will enable the 

Oxfordshire Plan to deliver sustainable development that secures investment in 
nature across Oxfordshire. 

 
Policy Options 
 

254. One discounted option has been to include natural capital considerations 
within place-shaping principles rather than defining an Oxfordshire-wide 
approach to the assessment of supply and demand for ecosystem services. 

 
255. This is not the preferred option as it would represent a more traditional 

approach to green infrastructure delivery established in adopted local plans and 

Page 212



71 
 

would not capitalise on the detailed evidence available to shape the Oxfordshire 
Plan. 

 
Preferred Policy Option 
 

256. The preferred option is to identify the parts of the county that are important 
and valuable for natural capital and ecosystems services and to use this mapped 
resource to shape the policies, define the spatial strategy and determine the 
spatial distribution of development in the Oxfordshire Plan.  

 
257. Utilising the Natural Capital mapping to shape the Oxfordshire Plan would 

ensure that future development and environmental enhancements are directed 
to locations where they can minimise harm and deliver multiple benefits for the 
environment and communities as well as building resilience in communities and 
ecosystems. 

 

 
Policy Option 09: Natural Capital and Ecosystem Services 
 
The proposal is that the Oxfordshire Plan will utilise the Natural Capital baseline 
mapping for Oxfordshire so that it can be used to guide strategic planning for 
development and green infrastructure investment at the strategic and site scale 
including the Oxfordshire Plan spatial strategy. 
 
The Oxfordshire Plan would establish a Natural Capital Approach to planning in 
Oxfordshire, placing natural capital considerations at the heart of planning for 
development, infrastructure, and environmental enhancements including nature-
based solutions. 
 
A natural capital approach will recognise the importance of healthy and thriving 
ecosystems in supporting the health and wellbeing of communities, supporting 
climate change resilience and provision of ecosystems services. 
 
The Oxfordshire Plan would require an assessment of natural capital and ecosystem 
services impact for major developments, policies, plans or programmes including 
the identification of strategic environmental opportunity areas and green 
infrastructure. 
 
The use of an eco-metric may better enable the quantification of environmental value 
in order to establish the type and scale of investments to secure net gains. 
 
Local plans should be guided by the baseline assessment of natural capital assets 
and ecosystem services developed for Oxfordshire to influence the spatial 
distribution of development and investment in green infrastructure and nature-based 
solutions. 
 

 
 

Policy Option 10 – Green Belt 
 

258. The aim of Green Belt is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land 
permanently open. Not all countryside and greenspace are classified in his way. 

Page 213



72 
 

Green Belt is a specific policy protection that only applies to certain designated 
areas. 

 
259. Oxfordshire has an expansive area of Green Belt that surrounds the city 

of Oxford and which extends in to all four rural districts surrounding the city. 
 

260. The first Oxford Green Belt policies were introduced in 1958 with a tight 
inner boundary surrounding the city of Oxford and extending for 5 or 6 miles in 
every direction washing over a number of surrounding villages. 

 
261. The rationale for the protection of the Green Belt in Oxfordshire has been 

expanded over time but with the main purposes of protecting the special 
character of Oxford and its landscape setting, checking the growth of Oxford and 
preventing ribbon development and urban sprawl and preventing the 
coalescence of settlements. 

 
262. If applied to Oxford, the national definition of Green Belt and the 5 

purposes that it serves are as follows; 
 

a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of Oxford; 
b) to prevent neighbouring settlements merging into one another; 
c) to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; 
d) to preserve the setting and special character of Oxford; and 
e) to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other 

urban land. 
 

263. The extent of Oxford's Green Belt is illustrated on the map below: 

Page 214



73 
 

 
 

264. Making changes to the Green Belt boundary, i.e. taking land out of the 
Green Belt or adding new areas to it, requires exceptional circumstances to be 
demonstrated. The consideration of Spatial Options could lead to further Green 
Belt release if exceptional circumstances could be demonstrated. 

 
265. As the NPPF records in para 137 ‘Before concluding that exceptional 

circumstances exist to justify changes to Green Belt boundaries, the strategic 
policymaking authority should be able to demonstrate that it has examined fully 
all other reasonable options for meeting its identified need for development.’ 

 
266. The extent of the Oxford Green Belt has reduced in recent years, 

particularly on the inner edge, adjacent to Oxford, where there has been pressure 
for development to meet housing needs, and a lack of reasonable alternatives to 
deliver this new development. Allocations for development that satisfied the 
'exceptional circumstances' test have resulted in land being removed from the 
Green Belt in sustainable locations through the adopted Local Plans. 

 
267. Looking forward to 2050 and having regard to the importance of openness 

and permanence of the Green Belt, the Oxfordshire Plan could present an 
opportunity to enhance the Green Belt for beneficial uses as the NPPF sets out 
in para 141 ‘Once Green Belts have been defined, local planning authorities 
should plan positively to enhance their beneficial use, such as looking for 
opportunities to provide access; to provide opportunities for outdoor sport and 

Page 215



74 
 

recreation; to retain and enhance landscapes, visual amenity and biodiversity; or 
to improve damaged and derelict land.’ 

 
268. So, for the Oxfordshire Plan, the beneficial uses could include the list of 

uses identified in the NPPF and also the provision of accessible natural green 
space, creation of ecological networks and local food production and with direct 
and indirect benefits for the health and wellbeing of Oxfordshire's residents and 
the protection and enhancement of landscape, heritage and biodiversity. 

 
Policy Option 
 

269. It is proposed that the Oxfordshire Plan should have regard to the Green 
Belt in determining the spatial strategy for Oxfordshire to 2050 and NPPF paras 
136 and 137. Subject to meeting the NPPF requirements this could include 
identification of opportunities to enhance the Green Belt for its beneficial uses. 

 
Preferred Policy Option 
 

270. The preferred option is for the Oxfordshire Plan to consider NPPF para 
141 and having completed the appropriate assessment the Plan would then 
focus on Green Belt enhancement in order to strengthen the important roles that 
the Green Belt plays, as well as supporting key objectives of the Oxfordshire Plan 
to improve the health and wellbeing of communities, deliver environmental 
enhancements and support nature’s recovery. 

 

 
Policy Option 10 – Green Belt enhancement 
 
The Oxfordshire Plan would identify strategic opportunities to enhance the existing 
Oxford Green Belt i.e. provide access, opportunities for outdoor sport and recreation, 
enhance landscapes, visual amenity and biodiversity; or improve damaged or derelict 
land. 
 

 
 

Policy Option 11 - Water Quality 
 

271. Oxfordshire's rivers, lakes, streams, manmade lakes and canals are an 
integral part of the county’s ecosystems, heritage and identity. They provide a 
wide range of services, including:  

• providing/supporting a diverse range of habitats and wildlife (including nationally 
and internationally protected habitats) such as chalk streams; 

• providing water supplies for homes and businesses; 

• providing opportunities for sports, leisure and recreation; 

• contributing to landscape character and sense of place; and 

• supporting tourism. 

 
272. In addition, Oxfordshire's groundwater resources have an important role 

in providing drinking water (a third of drinking water in England comes from 

Page 216



75 
 

groundwater37), supporting agriculture and naturally recharging rivers, lakes and 
streams.  
 

Map showing surface waterbodies in Oxfordshire38 
 

 
 

273. The quality of Oxfordshire's waterbodies affects the health and wellbeing 
of our communities, natural environment and businesses. 

 
274. Activities that can affect the quality of Oxfordshire's waterbodies include 

pollution from wastewater or sewage, pollution from built development and 
transport, physical modifications to the size and shape of natural river channels 
and pollution from agriculture.39  

 

275. It is important that the Oxfordshire Plan helps to: 

• prevent new and existing development from contributing to water pollution; 

• prevent new and existing development from being affected by unacceptable 
levels of water pollution; and 

 
37 Environment Agency: http://apps.environment-agency.gov.uk/wiyby/37833.aspx 
38 JBA Consulting (July 2021) Oxfordshire Strategic Water Cycle Study – Phase 1 Scoping 
39 DEFRA & Environment Agency (December 2015) Part 1: Thames River Basin District River Basin 
Management Plan 

Page 217

http://apps.environment-agency.gov.uk/wiyby/37833.aspx


76 
 

• ensure that new development seeks to improve water quality wherever possible. 

 
276. The Water Framework Directive (WFD) provides a framework for the 

protection of inland surface waters, estuaries, coastal waters and groundwater. 
It requires the achievement of a 'good' qualitative and quantitative status for all 
water bodies. Whilst the UK is no longer part of the European Union, this 
requirement was transposed into UK law and implemented through the Water 
Environment (Water Framework Directive) (England and Wales) Regulations 
2003. The principle of all waterbodies aiming to achieve good ecological status 
is also broadly aligned with the principles set out in the Government's 25-Year 
Environment Plan. 

 
277. River Basin Management Plans (RBMPs) implement the EU Water 

Framework Directive. They cover entire river systems (including river, lake, 
groundwater, estuarine and coastal waterbodies) and aim to protect and improve 
the quality of our water environment. Oxfordshire is within the Thames River 
Basin District. Consideration should be given to the Thames River Basin District 
RBMP in producing the Oxfordshire Plan and in making planning decisions. 

 
Map showing Oxfordshire within the wider Thames River Basin District. 40 

 

 
 

278. It should be noted that RBMPs are updated every six years. The current 
Thames River Basin District RBMP was published in 2016. A review of this plan 
is currently underway and consultation on the draft RBMP is expected during 
2021. 

 
279. An Oxfordshire focused Water Cycle Study is also being undertaken to 

inform the production of the Oxfordshire Plan. The Phase 1 Water Cycle Study 
sets out baseline information on water quality in Oxfordshire and considers, at a 
high level, the potential impacts of growth. A more detailed Phase 2 Water Cycle 
Study will be undertaken to help inform the next stages of the plan-making 

 
40 DEFRA & Environment Agency (December 2015) Part 1: Thames River Basin District River Basin 
Management Plan 

Page 218

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/thames-river-basin-district-river-basin-management-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/thames-river-basin-district-river-basin-management-plan


77 
 

process. It will help to inform where growth is proposed in Oxfordshire and the 
infrastructure needed to support and mitigate it. The Phase 2 Water Cycle Study 
will be published at the next stage of consultation (Regulation 19). 

 
Policy Options 
 

280. One option would be to not have a strategic policy on water quality in the 
Oxfordshire Plan and to instead leave it to local plans to set policies in relation to 
water quality. 

 
281. This is not the preferred option as there is a risk that local plans might take 

different approaches to water quality. This could result in less certainty and clarity 
for developers and communities. It may also make it more difficult to meet 
proposed ambitions around environmental improvement and nature recovery.  

 
Preferred Policy Option 
 

282. The preferred approach is for the Oxfordshire Plan to provide a strategic 
planning framework for the protection and enhancement of water quality in 
Oxfordshire. This framework would set minimum standards for development in 
Oxfordshire, helping to ensure a consistent approach across the county. It would 
also provide a framework for improving water quality wherever possible, aligning 
with proposed ambitions around environmental improvement and nature 
recovery. Local plans could provide further detail as appropriate. 

 

 
Policy Option 11: Water Quality 
 
The Oxfordshire Plan would require the following: 
 
1) Water quality to be protected and enhanced. All development to take account of 

its potential impact on water quality.  
 
2) Development to cause no deterioration in the quality of waterbodies, surface 

water and groundwater, nor would it prevent the future attainment of 'good' 
status under the Water Environment (Water Framework Directive) (England and 
Wales) Regulations 2017 and Groundwater Direction 2016 or subsequent 
amendments. 

 
3) Where there are impact pathways on habitats of national or international 

importance, development would not prevent a protected waterbody achieving 
the objectives set out in the Common Standards Monitoring Guidance (CSMG).  

 
4) Development to improve water quality wherever possible by: 

i. incorporating appropriate green infrastructure and Sustainable Drainage 
Systems (SuDS) to manage and treat surface water run off close to source 
and to minimise the risk from contaminants and sediment; 

ii. reducing the risk of discharges of surface waters to the sewerage network 
and of pollution, including groundwater infiltration, from wastewater 
treatment works; 

iii. prioritising natural flood management over hard flood defences; 

iv. protecting and enhancing watercourses and habitats along river corridors; 

Page 219



78 
 

v. where appropriate restoring 'natural' systems, including de-culverting, 
restoring or re-profiling rivers and naturalising riverbanks; 

vi. adopting water efficiency measures to reduce pressure from low water 
levels and flows; 

vii. restoring contaminated land; and 

viii. working with and taking opportunities identified by River Basin 
Management Plans, Catchment Partnerships and flood risk management 
authorities. 

 
5) Major development to be phased to align with any necessary wastewater 

treatment work and associated infrastructure upgrades to ensure that 
development would not lead to a deterioration in the quality of receiving 
waterbodies. 

 
6) Measures to help waterbodies in Oxfordshire achieve Bathing Water Status, 

which help to protect and enhance water quality for all river users, to be 
supported. 

 

 
 
Policy Option 12 - Air Quality 
 

283. Clean air is essential to the health and wellbeing of Oxfordshire's 
communities and the natural environment. Air pollutants can have direct effects 
on human health, habitats and biodiversity and climate change. The Oxfordshire 
Plan aims to help to: 

• prevent new and existing development from contributing to air pollution; 

• prevent new and existing development from being affected by 
unacceptable levels of air pollution; and 

• ensure that new development seeks to improve air quality wherever 
possible. 
 

284. Public Health England advises that 'there is no evidence of a threshold for 
health effects' from air pollution and that local authorities should 'seek to lower 
population-level exposure and reduce everyone's exposure to air pollution, as 
well as targeting 'hotspots'', to maximise health benefits.  

 
285. There are currently 13 designated Air Quality Management Areas 

(AQMAs) in Oxfordshire. These are areas where nitrogen dioxide levels exceed 
national air quality objectives. Each AQMA has an Air Quality Action Plan which 
sets out how air quality will be improved. 

 
  

Page 220



79 
 

Map showing Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) in Oxfordshire 
 

 
 

286. Whilst air quality is a particular concern where development is proposed 
within an AQMA or where it might affect an AQMA, there are other parts of 
Oxfordshire that suffer from poor air quality, or which have the potential to be 
affected by poor air quality that also need to be considered. This includes habitats 
of national or international importance that are particularly sensitive to changes 
in air quality. It is important that all of Oxfordshire benefits from clean air. 

 
287. An Air Quality Impact Assessment (AQIA) will be undertaken to inform the 

production of the Oxfordshire Plan. This will include an assessment of how 
different growth scenarios might affect air quality and in turn how this may affect 
human health and natural habitats. The AQIA will help to inform where growth is 
proposed in Oxfordshire and the infrastructure proposed to mitigate and support 
it. It will also help shape policies in the Oxfordshire Plan. The AQIA will be 
published at the next stage of consultation (Regulation 19). 

 
Policy Options 
 

288. One option is to not have a strategic policy on air quality in the Oxfordshire 
Plan and to instead leave it to local plans to set policies on air quality. However, 
the protection and enhancement of air quality is a strategic cross-boundary 
planning matter and it is considered appropriate to include a county-wide air 
quality policy in the Oxfordshire Plan. 

 
289. If it were left to local plans to set policies on air quality, there is a risk that 

local plans might take different approaches to air quality. This could result in less 
certainty and clarity for developers and communities. It may also make it more 
difficult to meet proposed ambitions around the delivery of transformational 
change, environmental improvement and creating strong and healthy 
communities. 

  

Page 221



80 
 

Preferred Policy Option 
 

290. The preferred approach is for the Oxfordshire Plan to provide a strategic 
planning framework for the protection and enhancement of air quality. This 
framework would set minimum standards for development in Oxfordshire, helping 
to ensure a consistent approach across the county. It would also provide a 
framework for improving air quality wherever possible, aligning with proposed 
ambitions around environmental improvement and creating strong and healthy 
communities. Local plans could provide further detail as appropriate. 

 

 
Policy Option 12: Air Quality 
 
The Oxfordshire Plan would support the protection and enhancement of air quality. 
Development would be expected to take account of: 
 

i. It's impact on air quality; and 
ii. Any potential impacts of poor air quality on future occupiers/users. 

 
Development proposals in or affecting an Air Quality Management Area would be 
expected to be consistent with the relevant local Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP). 
 
Major development proposals would be expected to be accompanied by an air 
quality assessment. Guidance would be produced to set out what information this 
should include. Guidance could be produced at a county-wide or local level. 
 
Development would be expected to improve air quality wherever possible. For 
example, by: 

i. supporting walking, cycling and public transport and reducing the need to 
travel; 

ii. supporting the uptake of zero and low emission vehicles; 

iii. avoiding the creation of street canyons which trap traffic pollution; 

iv. minimising human exposure to traffic pollution through the careful design of 
streets, outdoor spaces and buildings; 

v. reducing emissions from buildings and other non-transport sources; and 

vi. providing appropriate green infrastructure. 

 
Where it is identified that development would have a negative impact on air quality, 
and/or that air quality would have a negative impact on the future occupiers/users of 
development, a hierarchical approach to mitigation would be required: 

 

Avoid – Consider measures to avoid negative impacts, particularly if sensitive 
uses or habitats are affected. 
 

Reduce – Where it is not possible to avoid negative impacts, consider 
measures to reduce negative impacts. For example, through traffic and travel 
management, careful design and green infrastructure provision. 
 

Offset – Where it is not possible to reduce negative impacts to an acceptable 
level, consider compensatory measures which take a broader view of the 
human health and habitat impacts within and outside the development area. 
This could include supporting measures in an Air Quality Action Plan or low 
emissions strategy where applicable. 

Page 222



81 
 

 
Where possible, the Oxfordshire Plan would identify strategic opportunities to 
address the main sources of air pollution in Oxfordshire. This would be 
informed by evidence (including the AQIA). It should be noted that these 
opportunities might be more appropriately highlighted within other policies (for 
example policies within Theme Four: Planning for sustainable travel and 
connectivity). All policies in the Oxfordshire Plan would be aligned with the 
ambition of improving environmental quality, including improving air quality.  
 

 
Alternative Policy Option 12-01 
 

291. Include a strategic air quality policy in the Oxfordshire Plan but reduce the 
scope of this policy. For example: do not require air quality assessments for major 
development proposals. 

 
292. This is not a preferred option as there is a risk that local plans might take 

different approaches to air quality. This could result in less certainty and clarity 
for developers and communities. It may also make it more difficult to meet 
proposed ambitions around the delivery of transformational change, 
environmental improvement and creating strong and healthy communities. 

 

Page 223



82 
 

Theme Three: Creating Strong and Healthy Communities 
 

293. The relationship between spatial planning and our health is an important 
and valuable one. The built and natural environment are key determinants of our 
health and wellbeing and therefore it is important to recognise the role that 
planning plays in influencing both our physical and mental health. The 
Oxfordshire Plan provides an opportunity to ensure that planning policy in 
Oxfordshire encourages the creation of sustainable, well-designed communities 
that are safe, socially cohesive and promote active and healthier lifestyles.  

 
294. The way in which we plan for and design new developments has an 

influence not only on our health and wellbeing, but on the choices we make and 
the sense of safety, community and identity that we feel. Through careful 
planning and the design of new growth, we can help to deliver a high quality of 
life in Oxfordshire, improve accessibility and maximise the health and wellbeing 
of residents. 

 
295. Overall, Oxfordshire has better than average health outcomes compared 

to other parts of the country. However, in those communities suffering socio-
economic deprivation, ill-health and preventable health issues are more 
pronounced. The Oxfordshire Plan aims to reduce health inequalities across the 
county and broaden access to opportunities for social interaction as well as active 
and healthy lifestyles. 

 
296. The Oxfordshire Plan could set out a range of policies or principles that 

will help to plan for and shape communities that are strong, healthy, and 
cohesive. These could include high standards for developments to adhere to 
such as ensuring all new developments meet Garden Town and Garden Village 
standards, implementing healthy place-shaping principals for strategic-scale 
development, and also requiring Health Impact Assessments (HIAs) to be 
undertaken for certain new development. 

 
297. The Oxfordshire Plan recognises that growth increases the demand for 

leisure, recreation and open space facilities, as well as community facilities 
including education, health and other services. As a result, it is considered that 
the Plan should set out policy proposals for these facilities, ensuring that they are 
accessible, high quality and in appropriate locations to contribute to the quality of 
life of communities. 

 
298. The policy proposals set out in this theme will ultimately help the 

Oxfordshire Plan to create strong and healthy, rooted and inclusive communities 
across the county, and ensure health and wellbeing is a key consideration in the 
planning process in Oxfordshire, as well as helping to address inequalities and 
broaden access to opportunities for all. 

 
 
Theme Three – Meets the following objectives of the Oxfordshire Plan 
 
No 1. To demonstrate leadership in addressing the climate emergency by 
significantly reducing greenhouse gas emissions. 
 

Page 224



83 
 

No 4. To improve health and wellbeing by enabling independence, encouraging 
active and healthy lifestyles, facilitating social interaction and creating inclusive and 
safe communities. 
 
No 7. To meet Oxfordshire’s housing needs, including affordable housing, and to 
ensure that housing delivery is phased appropriately to support the needs of our 
communities. 
 
No 8. To ensure that new housing is flexible to meet the varied needs of people 
through all stages of life. 
 
No 9. To deliver high quality, innovatively designed development that ensures 
efficient use of land and resources. 
 
No 10. To reduce the need to travel and to support people in making sustainable 
transport choices by providing inclusive, integrated, safe and convenient 
pedestrian, cycle and public transport infrastructure linking communities. 
 

 
 

Policy Option 13 - Healthy Place Shaping and Health Impact 
Assessments 
 

299. The Oxfordshire Plan is committed to reducing health inequalities, 
increasing life expectancy and improving the quality of life for all who live, work 
and visit Oxfordshire. As a result, it is proposed that the Oxfordshire Plan should 
require all proposals for major development and urban extensions to contribute 
towards the creation of healthy communities, by adhering to healthy place-
shaping principles for delivery of high-quality, sustainable places. 

 
300. The inclusion of such a policy would help to promote a clear and consistent 

approach to healthy place-shaping across the county and ensure that the City 
and district local plans contain relevant and effective measures to create healthy 
places, as well as places that are accessible to all. 

 
301. Health Impact Assessments (HIA) are a way in which we can ensure that 

health and wellbeing are carefully considered in planning policy and proposals 
throughout Oxfordshire. HIAs can be undertaken at any stage in the development 
process but are best done at the earliest stage possible. HIAs can be undertaken 
as stand-alone assessments or as part of a wider Sustainability Appraisal or 
Environmental Impact Assessment. The process looks at the positive and 
negative impacts of a development as well as assessing the indirect implications 
for the wider community. The aim is to identify the main impacts and prompt 
discussion about the best ways of dealing with them to maximise the benefits 
and avoid any potential adverse impacts. 

 

302. The Oxfordshire Plan is itself supported by a Health Impact Assessment 
and the potential health impacts of the Plan's policies and strategy will be 
assessed through the plan-making process. 

 

303. A Health Impact Assessment can take a number of forms, which range 
from full assessments which involve a comprehensive analysis of all potential 

Page 225



84 
 

health and wellbeing impacts, to rapid and desktop assessments, which are a 
quicker and simpler method of assessment. 

 
304. The main objective of an HIA is to inform and influence decision-making, 

with the main output being developments that minimise risks and maximise the 
benefits for the health and wellbeing of communities. 

 
305. The introduction of Health Impact Assessments for new development in 

Oxfordshire, would ensure that greater emphasis is placed on the need to create 
healthy places by developers and decision makers. 

 
Policy Options 
 

306. It is proposed that the Oxfordshire Plan sets out a number of healthy 
place-shaping principles which will guide and inform how major developments 
are planned in Oxfordshire. These principals are varied, and include 
considerations of, for example, the impacts of air quality on human health, social 
isolation and loneliness and physical activity. 

 
307. As cross-cutting principles, many of these are woven through other 

proposed themes and policies of the Oxfordshire Plan, so an alternative option 
is to not include a standalone policy for healthy place-shaping in the Plan. 
However, this approach would risk diluting the emphasis and importance placed 
on healthy place-shaping in Oxfordshire and could result in an inconsistent 
approach to healthy place-shaping across the county. 

 
308. Setting countywide healthy place-shaping principles would not prevent 

local principles also being established as the local ones would reflect the 
characteristics of the local population. The county-wide principles would seek to 
identify the issues that any local principles should address. 

 
309. The preferred policy option is to include a Health Impact Assessment 

policy within the Oxfordshire Plan, requiring major developments to be supported 
by an HIA.  

 
310. The inclusion of an HIA policy for the whole of Oxfordshire would allow for 

clear guidance to be provided for when and where the preparation of a HIA would 
be appropriate. An alternative policy option would be to leave HIA policies to 
individual local plans. However, this alternative option would risk an inconsistent 
approach to HIAs in local plans, or even a lack of a HIA policy, and therefore it is 
not preferred. 

 
Preferred Policy Option 
 

 
Policy 13: Healthy Place-Shaping and Health Impact Assessments 
 
We propose that the Oxfordshire Plan should include healthy place-shaping as a 
standalone policy, to establish a framework that can apply across Oxfordshire for 

Page 226



85 
 

the design and masterplanning of major developments (as defined in the NPPF41). 
Example of the principles that a policy might usefully include are set out below: 

 

• Explicitly address the existing and projected health and wellbeing needs of an 
area and consider how existing community assets could be enhanced to help 
promote healthy life expectancy. 

• Help to reduce obesity and levels of physical inactivity through the provision of 
good-quality playing pitches, parks and open space, sports and active leisure 
facilities, and outdoor gyms that are accessible to all. 

• Provide opportunities for people to become more active through the design of 
street layout and public realm to encourage walking and cycling as priority 
modes of transport; create and enhance cycling and walking networks as well 
as ensure connectivity between new development, local services and facilities, 
access to parks and open spaces and public transport. 

• Reduce social isolation and loneliness through providing good-quality social 
community infrastructure which encourages opportunities for social interaction 
and helps to support the growth of friendly communities. Also, to create 
community development strategies which contain actions to encourage 
community cohesion, both within the development itself and between the new 
development and existing communities. 

• Secures access for those with disabilities. 

• Make it easier for people to make healthier food choices by providing allotments 
and other opportunities for food growing such as community gardens, school 
allotments, community orchards, roof gardens, edible landscaping around new 
schools and housing developments involving fruit and nut trees and planting. 

• Aim to improve air quality and reduce noise through locating and designing 
pollution generating land uses and roads to avoid adverse impacts on sensitive 
land uses. 

• Provide diversity in the residential offer that improves accessibility, affordability 
and promotes inter-generational connectivity and lifetime neighbourhoods. 

• Design good quality buildings which are energy efficient and mitigate against 
the impacts of climate change. 

• Create safe environments, addressing the fear and perception of crime, 
including improving safety for all road users.  

 
It is also proposed that the Oxfordshire Plan includes a policy requiring the rapid 
Health Impact Assessment (HIA) for major developments in Oxfordshire, but the 
length and detail of the assessment should be proportionate to the scale and 
complexity of the proposed development. 
 
A methodology and assessment checklist for carrying out rapid HIA of major 
development proposals (10 or more houses) has been prepared for Oxfordshire and 
has been published as the Oxfordshire Health Impact Assessment Toolkit.42  
 

 
 

41 Major development is defined in the NPPF as: ’For housing, development where 10 or more homes 
will be provided, or the site has an area of 0.5 hectares or more. For non-residential development it 
means additional floorspace of 1,000m2 or more, or a site of 1 hectare or more’.  
42 https://www.oxfordshiregrowthboard.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/210126-Oxon-HIA-Toolkit-
FINAL.pdf  

Page 227

https://www.oxfordshiregrowthboard.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/210126-Oxon-HIA-Toolkit-FINAL.pdf
https://www.oxfordshiregrowthboard.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/210126-Oxon-HIA-Toolkit-FINAL.pdf


86 
 

 
Policy 14: - Health Infrastructure 
 

311. As the population of Oxfordshire grows and changes, so does the need 
for the right buildings in the right locations to meet the differing health needs of 
the different locations of the county. Reorganisation and reconfiguration are 
complex and tend to impact on more than one local authority area. 

 
312. Over the next 20-30 years it is highly likely that further reorganisation of 

the health estate across Oxfordshire will be proposed. It would be prudent to 
consider adopting a policy to provide a land use planning framework for 
Oxfordshire within which future health estate reviews might be considered. 

 
Policy Options 
 

313. The preferred approach is an enabling policy that aims to set out a 
framework in which the land use and planning elements of future health 
reorganisations might be considered, recognising that many of the issues arising 
will be matters that impact across more than one local planning authority.  

 
314. One alternative policy option is to leave these considerations to future 

local plans, but there is a risk that the cross-boundary nature of health estate 
changes will be lost. A strategic approach that brings together more than one 
local planning authority is likely to be more effective in securing influence over 
the actions proposed by the NHS. Our preference is to put a framework policy in 
place to enable forward planning by the local planning authority, with the health 
bodies and their developers in conjunction with the local community and 
Parish/Town Councils affected. 

 
Preferred Policy Proposal 
 

 
Policy 14: Health Infrastructure 
 
In considering reviews to reconfigure the health estate of Oxfordshire the following 
factors should be considered: 
 
Where changes to the health estate are considered and will impact upon more than 
one District, an integrated, coordinated and comprehensive planning approach will 
be taken and a masterplan prepared, in collaboration and agreed with the local 
planning authority/ies, Oxfordshire County Council and other statutory undertakers 
covering the development of the whole site or sites. This would be especially 
important where the catchment crosses administrative boundaries. 
 
This comprehensive masterplan setting out the strategic justification and rationale 
with a realistic timetable would be essential to establish the case for the review and 
to show the proposals for each location. 
 
New health infrastructure should be designed with changing medical technology 
and innovative approaches in mind where relevant, (for example, by ensuring 
building materials used in development will not block internet connectivity signals 
that can be needed for medical uses). 
 

Page 228



87 
 

In Oxfordshire, public access and good connectivity is central, so new locations must 
prioritise the ease of public transport and active travel access for both public and 
workforce needs. Equal access for all and those with disabilities must be designed 
into the proposals. 
 
In considering how best to modernise the health estate, both the quality of buildings 
and their functional effectiveness will be key. New buildings must be well-designed 
with renewable energy provision at its heart to help reduce use of carbon in the new 
buildings, with strong energy management policies to reduce their operational cost 
and enhance their efficiency and effectiveness. 
 

 
 

Policy Option 15 - High-Quality Design for New Development and 
Garden Town Standards for New Settlements 
 

315. Oxfordshire is a special place. It is home to a range of different 
settlements, from the city of Oxford to market and railway towns, to rural villages 
and hamlets. Each has its own unique characteristics and heritage. 

 
316. Oxfordshire also benefits from extensive countryside, a series of Areas of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty and a varied landscape. The relationship between 
Oxfordshire's settlements and surrounding rural areas is extremely important. 

 
317. New development in Oxfordshire should recognise what makes 

Oxfordshire special and respond to the distinctive character of the setting in 
which growth and new development takes place.  

 
318. There is a growing network of Garden Towns and villages across 

Oxfordshire, from Bicester and Didcot Garden Town to Salt Cross, Berinsfield 
and Dalton Barracks Garden Villages. The designation is a statement of intent 
that new development will be well-planned, with a high design quality. 

 
319. These settlements and approaches embody the aspiration of the 

Oxfordshire Plan that all new settlements or development sites should be highly 
sustainable and well-designed places, with health and wellbeing as an early 
consideration, alongside tackling climate change and environmental 
improvements. There is an increasing focus on the importance of high-quality 
design by national Government too, with National Design Codes and other 
measures proposed. 

 
320. All new proposed settlements should be planned to Garden Town and 

Garden Village standards to set a framework for thinking about how the proposed 
settlement might best be developed, as the means by which new communities 
benefit from high design standards and quality places. This should include the 
prioritisation of brownfield land first, including the reuse and more intensive use 
of former MoD sites, subject to the consideration of other constraints. 
Consideration will also be needed as to how the challenge of the circular 
economy is to be addressed. 

 

Page 229



88 
 

321. We see the need for large-scale development and new settlements to 
align with the TCPA guidance on Garden City Principles43. 

 
322. New settlements should be located in locations that are accessible by 

sustainable modes of transport; so, where a Garden Town or Village is proposed 
it must be well- related to existing or planned sustainable transport infrastructure 
especially rail services, together with the opportunity to strengthen cycling and 
walking connections to regional and national networks. 
 

Policy Options 
 

323. The best way to secure this ambition is for the Oxfordshire Plan to 
establish a framework that individual local plans can respond to, taking account 
of local circumstances. 

 
324. An alternative option would be to leave design matters for local plans and, 

neighbourhood plans based on national guidance., However this would miss an 
opportunity to set an Oxfordshire-wide high-quality design ambition and is 
therefore not preferred. 

 
Preferred Policy Proposal 
 

 
Policy Option 15: High-Quality Design for New Development and Garden 
Town Standards for New Settlements 
 
This approach would set an ambition for high-quality design in Oxfordshire, with 
local plans, neighbourhood plans and design guides providing more detailed, 
locally specific requirements as appropriate. 
 
This could include: 
 

• Requiring development to respond to Oxfordshire's distinctiveness. 

• Requiring development to recognise, respect and wherever possible enhance 
Oxfordshire's extensive and varied heritage. 

• Recognising that what we build in the next 30 years will be a legacy for future 
generations. Development should therefore be responsive and resilient to 
future change. It should also be of a high design quality that communities, 
both now and in the future, can be proud of.  

• Encouraging creative and innovative design solutions, including the use of 
new materials and building methods where appropriate.  

• To respond to the impacts of climate change, new development should seek 
to minimise the carbon and energy impacts of their design and construction 
through mitigation and adaption measures. 

• Encouraging the implementation of design codes where appropriate in order 
to achieve high-quality design and local distinctiveness. This includes 
ensuring that building design secures full accessibility for those with 
disabilities. 

 
43 https://www.tcpa.org.uk/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=f3272413-6d74-44c3-870f-fd333161f3a1 

Page 230

https://www.tcpa.org.uk/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=f3272413-6d74-44c3-870f-fd333161f3a1


89 
 

• Ensuring green (or blue where relevant) infrastructure will be incorporated as 
an integral part of new development and public access to high quality green 
space. 

• The development of a countywide tool kit (possibly as an SPD) for checking 
that a response to distinctiveness has been achieved in the design of the 
proposed development i.e. a checklist of factors while retaining the space for 
the solution to be arrived at local level 

 
In addition, any new settlements should be planned to Garden Town and Garden 
Village standards as the means by which new large-scale development and new 
village scale developments secure high design standards and deliver quality 
places. 
 
There are a number of proposed policies across all five themes of the Oxfordshire 
Plan that are relevant to the masterplanning of new settlements This policy 
highlights a number of specific considerations that should be taken into account 
when reading the Plan as a whole: 
 
This policy option for the Oxfordshire Plan would expect: 
 

• All developments over 700 units to be led by a comprehensive masterplan 
together with a design code. 

• Well-designed communities, with housing planned alongside new employment 
provision. 

• Neighbourhood centres and community facilities (including community 
centres, schools and health facilities) to be provided. 

• Such developments to include high levels of high quality, accessible and 
appropriate green space, parks and open spaces and green infrastructure, as 
well as sustainable water systems and SuDs. 

• Such developments to have addressed healthy place-shaping principles. 

• Excellent design with sustainable building materials used to achieve carbon 
reduction. 

• All housing, business and retail units to contain energy management systems, 
renewal energy provision, grey water schemes, full fibre broadband connection 
to support home working, home learning and EV charging points. 

• Schemes to be designed to reduce the need to travel, linked to the LTCP area 
strategies.  

• Active travel measures to be supported and 20-minute neighbourhoods to be 
created that encourage walking and cycling connections to regional and 
national routes. 

 
 

Policy 16 - Leisure, Recreation, Community and Open Space 
Facilities 
 

325. Leisure, recreation, community and open space facilities provide 
significant benefits to both the mental wellbeing and physical health of 
communities in Oxfordshire, as well as making an important contribution to the 
vitality of our city, town and local centres. Open spaces, as well as grassroot 

Page 231



90 
 

sport and recreation facilities, can also make a positive contribution to 
biodiversity and the local environment. In reflection of this, it is important that the 
Oxfordshire Plan 2050 continues to support these facilities. 

 
326. Many leisure, recreation, community and open space facilities in the 

county mainly serve local communities. However, there are some facilities that 
have catchments beyond city, district and county boundaries. 

 
Policy Options 
 

327. The preferred policy option is to leave local plans to set policies for local 
(non-strategic) leisure, recreation, community and open space facilities, with the 
Oxfordshire Plan 2050 setting a policy for strategic facilities that serve 
communities both in the county and further afield. 

 
Preferred Policy Proposal 
 

 
Policy 16 – Leisure, Recreation, Community and Open Space Facilities  
 
Development proposals for high quality strategic leisure, recreation and open space 
facilities in Oxfordshire will be encouraged that serve more than one District, or 
county-wide, sub-regional, regional or national purpose, including (but not limited 
to): 
 

• Strategic indoor sports and recreational facilities, such as leisure centres, 
aquatic centres, and indoor pitches, courts and stadiums. 

• Strategic outdoor sports facilities and open space, such as pitches, courts, golf 
courses, as well as country parks and associated visitor facilities. 

 
A strategic facility is a high-quality facility that will serve a county-wide, sub-regional, 
regional, or national purpose, for example (but not limited to) county sports grounds, 
stadiums, new golf courses, and country parks. It could also include activities 
associated with the stately homes of Oxfordshire. Due to the extent and variety of 
facilities that can fall under this definition, whether the facility is ultimately considered 
strategic will be decided on a case-by-case basis. 
 
The Oxfordshire Plan would expect all new strategic leisure, recreation and open 
space facilities development to meet the following criteria:  
 

• They must be located within the built-up areas of the city, towns and villages. 
In the villages, development must be proportionally scaled and in keeping 
with the character of the settlement. Development outside of these areas will 
only be supported in exceptional circumstances, for example where it is 
evidenced that it cannot reasonably be located in the city, or a town or village 
in the county, such as water-based facilities or parkland uses. 

• They must be located in accessible locations, with excellent public transport 
and link to networks for walking and cycling and the public rights of way 
network. 

• Use of sustainable travel is encouraged and a sustainable travel plan will be 
required that sets out the details of the bus and rail connectivity to be secured. 

Page 232



91 
 

• They must be designed with renewable energy provision incorporated to help 
reduce use of carbon. 

• They must have minimal traffic, environmental, visual and landscape impact. 

• Provision for the long-term maintenance and management of the facilities will 
be sought and must be agreed as part of a planning application. 

• School sports halls and outdoor playing fields should be made available to 
the local community. New facilities of this type would be required to enter into 
community use agreements. 

• Sports lighting would operate within agreed hours where there is a need 
unless the lighting gives rise to demonstrable harm to biodiversity. 

 
Community facilities would be a matter for individual local plans except where 
community facilities are intended to meet the needs of a wider district or neighbouring 
district(s) in which case they should be located within or adjoining rural service centres 
to maximise accessibility. 
 

 
Alternative Policy Option 16-01 
 

328. As an alternative, the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 could include a policy that 
seeks to protect the existing indoor and outdoor sports facilities and open spaces 
within the County. Those within built-up areas are most likely to be at threat from 
other forms of development. A policy which acknowledges the importance of 
retaining existing open spaces within built-up areas and seeks to protect them 
would do more to secure the future of these types of facilities within the built-up 
areas. Access to any new private facilities would also be encouraged. 

 

  

Page 233



92 
 

Theme Four: Planning for Sustainable Travel and 
Connectivity 
 

 

329. The transport network across Oxfordshire is critical for residents to be able 
to access services, facilities and employment, as well as being needed for 
delivery of freight and goods. However, there are continued pressures on the use 
of this network associated with travel demand that needs to be managed and 
leads to wider impacts. This includes environmental impacts associated with use 
of vehicles including air quality and carbon emissions. 

 
330. With planned new development, the demand for travel is expected to 

increase and it is therefore important that this is managed, and plans are put in 
place to both support sustainable transport choices and reduce the need to travel 
where possible. In addition, the wider objectives and targets on climate action 
mean that there will be a need to ensure the Oxfordshire Plan supports a move 
towards a transport network across Oxfordshire and beyond that significantly 
reduces carbon emissions over the next few years. In practice, this will mean 
significant enhancement to bus and rail services, and a focus on delivering 
comprehensive active travel networks that enable people to choose walking and 
cycling for more local journeys, securing health gains as well as supporting the 
tackling of climate change. 

 
331. The Oxfordshire Plan also needs to take account of and support wider 

infrastructure and transport strategy development. It will be particularly important 
that the Oxfordshire Plan complements and supports the new Oxfordshire Local 
Transport and Connectivity Plan (LTCP), but also in a wider context aligns with 
other cross-boundary strategies including the England's Economic Heartland 
Transport Strategy, and guidance and strategy being developed at a national 
level as part of the de-carbonisation agenda. Major planned strategic schemes 
such as East West Rail will also significantly impact on the transport choices 
available in Oxfordshire and more widely across the Oxford-Cambridge Arc. The 
Oxfordshire Plan can support and complement such plans to transform 
sustainable travel options. 

 
332. It is also important that long-term spatial planning recognises that the way 

people live their lives is increasingly influenced by changes brought about by 
technology and innovation. For example, the availability of high quality fixed and 
mobile digital connectivity can significantly impact on the need to travel, with 
trends such as flexible and home working dependant on its continued provision. 
The take up of lower carbon vehicles, particularly Electric Vehicles, will also need 
supporting, and developments should be designed to provide for these.   

 
333. The management and movement of freight and goods is also changing, 

influenced by trends such as the continued increase in internet-based shopping, 
and the uptake of freight by rail. The Oxfordshire Plan can support the 
development of a more sustainable freight management system. 

 

 
Theme Four – Meets the following Objectives of the Oxfordshire Plan 
 

Page 234



93 
 

No 1. To demonstrate leadership in addressing the climate emergency by 
significantly reducing greenhouse gas emissions. 
 
No 4. To improve health and wellbeing by enabling independence, encouraging 
active and healthy lifestyles, facilitating social interaction and creating inclusive 
and safe communities. 
 
No 9. To deliver high quality, innovatively designed development that ensures 
efficient use of land and resources. 
 
No 10. To reduce the need to travel and to support people in making sustainable 
transport choices by providing inclusive, integrated, safe and convenient 
pedestrian, cycle and public transport infrastructure linking communities. 
 
No 11. To ensure that communities are digitally connected and that innovative 
technologies are supported. 
 

 
 

Policy Option 17: Towards a Net Zero Carbon Transport Network 

 
334. Emissions from transport currently account for around a third of 

greenhouse emissions in Oxfordshire, with the majority of this from road traffic44 
Although vehicle fuel efficiency and the switch to lower emission vehicles has 
started to have some impact, emissions from transport have not been falling as 
quickly as in other areas such as energy, meaning that the proportion of 
emissions from transport (road and rail) have increased over the last few years. 
(Pathways to a Zero Carbon Oxfordshire Report). Reducing carbon from 
transport movements will therefore be key if Oxfordshire is to meet its climate 
action commitments. 

 
335. Both local and national policy is clear that there is a need to cut our carbon 

emissions from transport. At a national level this is set out in the emerging 
Department for Transport De-carbonisation Plan, which already includes 
strategies for increasing walking and cycling, and bus use45 At a sub-national 
level, ambitions for a net zero carbon emissions transport network are set out in 
the recently adopted Transport Strategy for England's Economic Heartland46 At 
a local level, a new Local Transport and Connectivity Plan is being developed, 
with a draft Vision recently consulted upon which focuses on improving digital 
connectivity, active travel and public transport to support the move towards a net 
zero carbon emissions transport system, and meet wider social/ health 
outcomes.47 

 
336. These policies indicate that if we are to achieve required reductions in 

carbon emissions from transport, there will need to be a change in way that 
transport is planned and managed. In particular, there will need to be: 

 

 
44 https://scattercities.com/  
45 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/creating-the-transport-decarbonisation-plan  
46 https://www.englandseconomicheartland.com/transport/  
47 https://consultations.oxfordshire.gov.uk/localtransportconnectivity/consultationHome  

Page 235

https://scattercities.com/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/creating-the-transport-decarbonisation-plan
https://www.englandseconomicheartland.com/transport/
https://consultations.oxfordshire.gov.uk/localtransportconnectivity/consultationHome


94 
 

• A reduction in overall travel movements, especially by private vehicles, enabled 
in part through investment in digital technology; 

• A shift to public transport and active travel modes, especially for shorter journeys, 
enabled by increased investment in public transport, walking and cycle networks; 

• Better management of freight and goods, with a focus on decarbonisation and 
enabling zero emission 'last mile' deliveries; 

• A significant uptake of zero carbon vehicles, supported by investment in charging 
facilities, and,  

• Ensuring the opportunities offered though technology and innovation to support 
sustainable transport solutions are taken up. 

 
337. Spatial planning has a clear role in supporting the move towards a net 

zero carbon emissions transport system. In particular, the location and design of 
new development can have a significant impact on the propensity for people to 
travel, and the number, type and length of travel movements. For example, the 
recently completed RTPI report, 'Net Zero Transport; the role of spatial planning 
and place-based solutions' sets out that transport and land-use planning needs 
to be integrated if carbon reductions are to be met.48  

 
338. Development plan policies can assist and be complementary to the policy 

development in transport and infrastructure plans. Paragraph 104 (b) of the 
NPPF (2019) states the need for planning policies to ‘be prepared with the active 
involvement of local highways authorities, other transport infrastructure providers 
and operators and neighbouring councils, so that strategies and investments for 
supporting sustainable transport and development patterns are aligned,’ whilst 
(d) states that policies should, ‘provide for high quality walking and cycling 
networks and supporting facilities such as cycle parking (drawing on Local 
Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans).’  

 

Policy Options 
 

339. Building on this guidance, the Oxfordshire Plan policies can in particular 
support the emerging LTCP policies, and any associated updated transport 
targets needed to move towards a net zero carbon emissions transport network. 
This includes active travel policies, expected to focus on developing an active 
travel network for the county and further developing Local Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure Plans at key settlements. Policies can also support better 
sustainable first mile/ last mile transport connectivity to public transport hubs 
such as rail stations. This will help complement major planned investment, 
including service and station improvements enabled through East West Rail, and 
other major rail capacity investment proposed as part of the 'Oxfordshire 
Connect' priorities arising out of the Oxfordshire Rail Corridor Study.49  

 
340. The alternative of leaving these polices to local plans is not supported 

given the strategic and cross boundary nature of transport network. 
 
Preferred Policy Option  
 

 
Policy Option 17: Towards a Net Zero Transport Network 

 
48 https://www.rtpi.org.uk/netzerotransport  
49 http://democratic.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=543&MId=2783  

Page 236

https://www.rtpi.org.uk/netzerotransport
http://democratic.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=543&MId=2783


95 
 

 
All development proposals should be planned to both take account of, and take 
opportunities to support delivery of an Oxfordshire net zero carbon emissions 
transport network, including: 
 

• Supporting delivery of enhanced walking and cycling networks and routes, 
including those identified as part of Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure 
Plans (LCWIPS), and more strategic active travel links between settlements and 
other key locations such as areas of employment and public transport hubs;  

• Supporting delivery of enhancements to the bus network, including proposals 
for bus priority measures and service enhancements; 

• Supporting delivery of enhancements to the rail network, including linking in with 
new and improved stations, and supporting service enhancements; 

• Supporting delivery of improvements to transport interchange, including 
enhanced transport hubs such as at rail stations that facilitate take up of 
sustainable travel opportunities, and where relevant link with opportunities for 
park and ride; 

• Supporting delivery of measures that improve the efficiency and effectiveness 
of the freight and logistics network that are consistent with delivering a net zero 
carbon emissions transport network: and, 

• Supporting delivery of improvements to the local and strategic road network that 
are consistent with delivering a net zero carbon emissions transport network. 

 
It will be important that the location and planning for new development takes into 
account the more detailed policies within the County Local Transport and 
Connectivity Plan (LTCP), and where relevant other policy, both at a sub-national 
and national level. In particular, it will be important to take into account and support 
strategic cross-boundary proposals that contribute towards delivering a net zero 
carbon system, such as strategic public transport improvements like East West Rail. 
 

 

 
Policy Option 18: Sustainable Transport in New Development 
 
Sustainable Development Principles 
 

341. How development is planned and delivered impacts on the transport 
choices that new residents will make. Put simply, if development is planned 
around providing for private car use, with limited opportunities for residents to 
walk, cycle or use public transport, then less sustainable travel choices are 
locked in from the outset, and very difficult to change in the future. Given the 
contribution of transport to carbon emissions, this would make it very difficult for 
new development to both achieve required carbon reductions, as well as 
achieving wider objectives in particular on health and wellbeing. 

 
342. The NPPF (2019) makes clear that development plans should look to 

prioritise sustainable transport options where possible. Paragraph 102 (c) states 
that plan-making should ensure that ‘opportunities to promote walking, cycling 
and public transport use are identified and pursued,’ whilst paragraph 103 states 
that, ‘significant development should be focused on locations which are or can 

Page 237



96 
 

be made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and offering a genuine 
choice of transport modes.’ 

 
343. Unfortunately, historically much development across the country and 

indeed parts of Oxfordshire has been planned and delivered with a focus on 
providing for and mitigating the impact of car-based travel. The RTPI Net Zero 
carbon report makes clear that there is therefore a need to re-examine how land-
use and transport planning are integrated, if we are to achieve our zero carbon 
vision. In particular, the report notes there is a need to move away from a predict 
and provide' approach centred on planning for forecast transport movements 
(often based on past examples) to one very much focused on planning and 
delivering a vision (with targets) of what needs to be achieved. Once the vision 
and targets have been set, a hierarchical approach to planning for transport 
movements can then be undertaken, ensuring that supporting transport and land-
use measures are prioritised. 

 
344. Planning for transport also needs to be integrated into and support wider 

place-shaping principles. Paragraph 104(a) of the NPPF (2019) states that 
planning policies should, ‘support an appropriate mix of uses across an area, and 
within larger scale sites, to minimise the number and length of journeys needed 
for employment, shopping, leisure, education and other activities.’  

 
345. More recently, the concept of 15 or 20 minutes neighbourhoods has come 

the fore, and is about creating places where resident's everyday needs, such as 
education, employment, community health and wellbeing facilities and recreation 
opportunities can be met within a short walk or cycle ride.50 Both the planning 
guidance and 20-minute neighbourhood concept supports the hierarchical 
approach to planning for transport and movement, through reducing the need for 
longer-distance travel, particularly by private vehicle. To enable this, there will 
also be a need to ensure that the street and movement network for new 
development is well designed, taking on-board key principles such as those 
outlined for 'healthy streets' to encourage take-up of more sustainable travel 
options. 51 

 
Planning for Zero Emission Vehicles 
 

346. The UK government announced in November 2020 that the sale of diesel 
and petrol cars and vans will be phased out by 2030, with the plan for all new 
cars and vans to be 'fully zero emission at the tailpipe from 2035.' Between 2030 
and 2035 all new cars and vans will need to 'have the capability to drive a 
significant distance with zero emissions.' 52. The main way to enable this switch 
will be the sale of Electric Vehicles, including plug-in hybrid vehicles, with the 
proportion of new cars sold that are defined as 'ultra-low emission' now 
increasing year-on-year. To support this, there is an acknowledgement of the 
need to roll out significant further charging infrastructure at homes, on local 
streets and along strategic roads. 53  

 

 
50 https://www.tcpa.org.uk/guide-the-20-minute-neighbourhood  
51 www.healthystreets.com 
52 https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-takes-historic-step-towards-net zero-with-end-of-
sale-of-new-petrol-and-diesel-cars-by-2030  
53 https://www.gov.uk/government/news/green-motoring-milestone-with-half-a-million-ultra-low-
emission-vehicles-now-on-uk-roads  

Page 238

https://www.tcpa.org.uk/guide-the-20-minute-neighbourhood
https://www.healthystreets.com/
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-takes-historic-step-towards-net%20zero-with-end-of-sale-of-new-petrol-and-diesel-cars-by-2030
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-takes-historic-step-towards-net%20zero-with-end-of-sale-of-new-petrol-and-diesel-cars-by-2030
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/green-motoring-milestone-with-half-a-million-ultra-low-emission-vehicles-now-on-uk-roads
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/green-motoring-milestone-with-half-a-million-ultra-low-emission-vehicles-now-on-uk-roads


97 
 

347. Oxfordshire is already starting to plan in detail for the required charging 
infrastructure to support the move towards zero-emission vehicles. The 
Oxfordshire Electric Vehicle (EV) Infrastructure Strategy was signed-off by the 
County Council Cabinet, and most of the district councils in March/ April 2021 
and sets out key policies and actions for roll out of EV infrastructure over the next 
5 years. 54The strategy recognises that forecasts predict sales of EVs to 
significantly increase in the run up to central Government timescales, with 
Oxfordshire forecast to be ahead of the rest of the country based on sales to 
date. 

 
348. The NPPF (2019) recognises that planning has a key role to play in 

ensuring the roll out of appropriate EV charging infrastructure in new 
development. Para 115 notes that any local parking standards should take into 
account, ‘the need to ensure an adequate provision of spaces for charging plug-
in and other low emission vehicles,’ whilst para 110 states that applications for 
development should ‘be designed to enable charging of plug-in and other ultra-
low emission vehicles in safe, accessible and convenient locations.’ In July 2019, 
the Government also consulted on proposals to set minimum requirements for 
EV charging in new and existing residential and non-residential development, 
proposing chargers in every new car parking space for residential developments 
with at least 10 spaces, and 1 in every 5 spaces for non-residential development 
with at least 10 spaces.55  

 
349. The recently adopted local plans for Oxford and South Oxfordshire both 

have policies that support introduction of EV charging points, with the Oxford City 
policy specifying the need for EV charging points at each residential unit with a 
parking space, and for at least 25% of non-allocated spaces to have charging 
points. Non-allocated spaces can not only provide for both residents and visitors, 
but they can also help enable shared mobility options such as car clubs. EV 
charging can also be integrated into the energy networks for new development, 
with smart charging of vehicles aligning with energy demand and power supply 
from renewables. 

 
Policy Option 
 

350. The preferred option for the Oxfordshire Plan takes account of the 
Oxfordshire EV strategy which recommends that future planning policies should 
seek to meet or exceed those targets set out for Oxford City. Building on national 
planning guidance, the recent local plan policies and the Government proposals 
for building regulations, there is an opportunity through the Oxfordshire Plan to 
set out a common minimum standard for all new developments that supports the 
move towards 100% uptake of EVs. There is also an opportunity to plan for this 
provision alongside the energy and digital networks within any development. 

 
351. The Preferred policy option seeks to set a standard framework for 

considering these matters across development in Oxfordshire. 
 
Preferred Policy Option 
 

 
54 https://news.oxfordshire.gov.uk/preparing-oxfordshire-for-the-electric-vehicle-revolution/  
55 https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/electric-vehicle-chargepoints-in-residential-and-non-
residential-buildings  

Page 239

https://news.oxfordshire.gov.uk/preparing-oxfordshire-for-the-electric-vehicle-revolution/
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/electric-vehicle-chargepoints-in-residential-and-non-residential-buildings
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/electric-vehicle-chargepoints-in-residential-and-non-residential-buildings


98 
 

 
Policy Option 18: Sustainable Transport in New Development 
 
In this approach, all development proposals should consider and plan for transport 
and access against a vision, focussed on enabling people to travel by active and 
sustainable means. In particular, plans should be considered in a hierarchical way 
as follows: 

 

1. Reducing the need to travel - ensuring that high quality digital connectivity is 
provided to enable working and access to services from home, and that 
necessary services and facilities are planned and provided in close proximity to 
new housing areas which can be accessed through safe and direct walking and 
cycling routes. 

2. Planning for sustainable travel modes - ensuring that new development is 
primarily designed to enable movement by active travel and public/shared 
transport, and that sites are well connected to surrounding sustainable transport 
networks. The street and movement network should be designed to focus on 
enabling residents to be able to walk and cycle, and easily access public 
transport options. 

3. Providing for zero emission vehicle use - ensuring that any essential vehicle 
travel for people and goods is prioritised for zero carbon emission vehicles, with 
adequate charging and other supporting infrastructure provided as per the 
following standards: 

a) For residential development, each new residential unit with an allocated 
parking space should be provided with an electric vehicle charging point. 
At least 25% of non-allocated spaces (with a minimum of 2) should be 
provided with an electric vehicle charging point. 

b) For non-residential development, at least 25% of spaces should be 
provided with electric vehicle charging points. 

 
Provision of EV charging instructure should be integrated in the masterplanning for 
new development form the outset, alongside provision for full fibre broadband, 5G 
mobile networks, and sustainable energy provision. 
 
The spatial context of any proposed development would also be important in 
determining the detail of proposals within the sustainable travel hierarchy, and 
certain measures will be more suited to certain locations than others. However, at 
all times measures at the top of the hierarchy should be robustly considered first, 
before moving on to measures further down the hierarchy. Provision and 
management of parking should also be considered in this context, recognising 
priority for zero emission vehicles.  It will also be important that planning and 
development takes into account relevant more detailed guidance such as the 
walking and cycling design guidance as part the LTCP and accessibility guidance, 
as well as ensuring connectivity with existing walking/cycling networks identified in 
Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans. 
 
The diagram that follows sets out key questions to consider through the hierarchical 
approach. 
 

 

Page 240



99 
 

 
 
Policy Option 19: Supporting Sustainable Freight Management 
 

352. Movement of freight and goods is an inherent part of our market-based 
economy. Complex supply chains have built up over time, based on usage of a 
range of logistics facilities and the transport network. The majority of freight and 
goods are moved by road, both by Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGVs) and Light 
Goods Vehicles (LGVs). Due to Oxfordshire's central location in the country and 
proximity to major ports and airports such as Southampton and Heathrow there 
are major freight movements through the county, particularly on the main road 
routes such as the A34 and M40, but also by rail.56  
 

353. However, there has been increasing concern regarding the impacts of 
freight movements on particular areas and less strategic roads. The current Local 
Transport Plan freight strategy therefore recognises the benefits of focusing 
freight movements on the strategic road and rail network, as well as managing 
and mitigating the impact of freight movements in other areas.57 

 
354. The NPPF (2019) Paragraph 104 (e) notes the need for planning policies 

to ‘provide for any large-scale transport facilities that need to be located in the 
area, and the infrastructure and wider development required to support their 

 
56 Supporting freight - England's Economic Heartland (englandseconomicheartland.com) 
57 LTP4 - Countywide and corridor strategies | Oxfordshire County Council 

Page 241

https://www.englandseconomicheartland.com/our-work/supporting-freight/
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/roads-and-transport/connecting-oxfordshire/county-and-corridor-strategies


100 
 

operation, expansion and contribution to the wider economy. In doing so they 
should take into account whether such development is likely to be a nationally 
significant infrastructure project and any relevant national policy statements.’  

 
355. At a more local level, the increasing demand for local deliveries to both 

homes and businesses enabled through digital connectivity has in turn driven 
increases in use of smaller goods vehicles. For example, the number of LGVs 
increased by 29% over the 10-year period between 2004 and 2014, with 
Department for Transport forecasting indicating continued growth over the next 
30 years, including being much higher than HGV growth over the same period.58 
Looking to the future, there is also potential for further delivery of goods by 
automated and/or electric vehicles, or drones should relevant legal and practical 
considerations be overcome59. There is therefore a need to look at how to best 
manage this demand for shorter distance journeys alongside management of 
longer-distance HGV movements, and look at opportunities to reduce associated 
environmental emissions. One example of this is supporting consolidation and 
transfer of freight for more local journeys by cargo bike, including through 
enabling new and enhanced facilities. ‘Pedal and Post' is already operating 
successfully in Oxford and helping to enable further such operations across 
Oxfordshire will assist the move to more sustainable and low carbon last-mile 
delivery.60 There is also opportunity to support delivery of the charging 
infrastructure needed to enable a move towards use of electrically powered LGVs 
in the shorter-term, and HGVs in the longer-term. 

 
Policy Options 
 

356. The preferred policy option would close the current planning policy gap 
and provide a strategic framework for considering freight issues as proposals 
come forward. These are not matters that are well suited to consideration through 
individual local plans given the strategic nature of freight movement and goods 
management across Oxfordshire and the need for consistent criteria for 
consideration of proposals. 

 
Preferred Policy Option 
 

 
Policy Option 19: Supporting Sustainable Freight Management 
 

Development proposals would be supported that enable a move towards more 
sustainable freight and goods delivery, and which have the potential to improve 
system efficiency and effectiveness and allow uptake of lower carbon transport 
choices. Facilities that support uptake of zero-emission freight vehicles such as 
electric vehicle charging areas should also be supported.  

 
However, such facilities will not be suitable at all locations. The following matters 
should therefore all be reviewed carefully before considering support:  

 
58 LTCP Baseline Report at: Local Transport and Connectivity Plan - vision consultation - Oxfordshire 
County Council Consultation Portal 
59 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/future-of-mobility-automation-in-freight-transport  
60 http://www.pedalandpost.co.uk/ 
 

Page 242

https://consultations.oxfordshire.gov.uk/localtransportconnectivity/consultationHome
https://consultations.oxfordshire.gov.uk/localtransportconnectivity/consultationHome
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/future-of-mobility-automation-in-freight-transport
http://www.pedalandpost.co.uk/


101 
 

• The alignment of any proposals with local, sub-national, and national policy and 
guidance; 

• The proximity of proposed facilities to relevant strategic transport corridors; 

• The ability for facilities to be easily accessed by sustainable transport modes; 
and, 

• Any environmental, amenity, or heritage impacts on surrounding areas. 

 

 
 

Policy Option 20: Digital Infrastructure 
 

357. The Oxfordshire Digital Infrastructure Strategy sets out that society is 
increasingly dependent on high quality digital infrastructure provision for our 
everyday needs. 61 This was thrown into focus during the recent COVID-19 
pandemic where digital provision was key in enabling many people to continue 
to work and access services and facilities remotely. However, the trend towards 
a more digital world was already happening before then, with a move to cloud 
storage and applications, the increasing trend and requirements around 
homeworking, and the significant growth in video-on demand content. Demand 
for high quality digital connections is only going to grow in the future with the 
move towards Internet of Things and Artificial Intelligence. 

 
358. The Oxfordshire Digital Infrastructure and the national Future Telecoms 

Infrastructure Review outlines that in order to provide for this more digital world 
there is a need to focus on roll out of both full fibre broadband (allowing for 
reliable internet speeds of up to 1Gbps/ 1,000 Mbps), and the infrastructure 
needed to support deployment of 5G mobile technology. 62The review targets 
near 85% nationwide coverage of full fibre by 2025, and deployment of 5G to 
the majority of the country by 2027. In short, it is expected that full fibre and 5G 
mobile coverage should be norm within 5 to 10 years. The rollout of enhanced 
digital infrastructure is vital for rural and urban Oxfordshire.  

 
359. In practical terms, full fibre provision relies on the effective laying of fibre 

optic cabling, whilst 5G depends on traditional mast mounted equipment and also 
small cell deployment. Small cell technology is in turn dependent on mobile 
transmitters every 100m or so, and most transmitters require a fibre connection. 
Both technologies therefore need to be planned together when being rolled out 
in a particular area, such as a new development. 

 
360. Para 112 of the NPPF (2019) makes clear that planning policies should 

‘support the expansion of electronic communication networks, including next 
generation mobile technology (such as 5G) and full fibre broadband connections.’ 

 
361. The benefits of providing this infrastructure at the outset of new 

development are: 
 

• Allowing delivery of 'smart homes' that help residents in their day-to-day lives, for 
example by better controlling heating to reduce energy consumption; 

 
61 https://digitalinfrastructureoxfordshire.co.uk/whats-next/timeline-strategy/digital-infrastructure-strategy  
62 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/future-telecoms-infrastructure-review  

Page 243

https://digitalinfrastructureoxfordshire.co.uk/whats-next/timeline-strategy/digital-infrastructure-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/future-telecoms-infrastructure-review


102 
 

• Allowing residents to work from home or local offices reducing the need for 
commuting; 

• Ensuring that all new residents have full access to high quality digital provision 
from when moving in, making sure that they are not digitally excluded; 

• Giving new residents live provision of real-time integrated public transport 
information where journeys are necessary;  

• Allowing for provision of sensors in homes of vulnerable people to enable access 
to services and permitted monitoring of live health data; and; 

• Facilitation of a Living Labs environment to trial new technology. 

 
Policy Options 
 

362. An Oxfordshire-wide approach will ensure that all development proposals 
take into account national strategy and guidance as well as securing the scale of 
investment needed to secure a full rollout of investment. 
 

Prefered Policy Option 
 

 
Policy Option 20: Digital Infrastructure 
 
In this approach all new residential and business developments would plan for the 
provision of fixed and mobile technology from the outset. 
 
Full fibre broadband connectivity should be provided, with full ducting for use of fibre 
cabling to be designed and laid out during the construction of development.  
 
Alongside any other supporting infrastructure, this should also provide and support 
roll out of 5G mobile technology throughout the development. Infrastrucure providers 
should ensure works are effectively co-ordinated with other parties, including the 
Highway Authority. 
 

 
 
Policy Option 21: Strategic Infrastructure Priorities 
 

363. New development needs to be supported by high quality infrastructure. 
This needs to be delivered in a timely fashion, alongside delivery of housing, 
employment and other types of development. However, the funding and delivery 
of infrastructure is complex, with many different infrastructure providers and 
funding streams. Funding for key infrastructure to be directly delivered on 
development sites such as schools and green spaces can often be secured 
directly through Section 106 payments. 

 
364. Funding for more strategic infrastructure such as major transport 

improvements is often more complex, requiring input from a number of public and 
private sector partners. It can often require a package approach, with developer 
contributions matched with funding from elsewhere such as central Government 
which is often short-term and competitive in nature. Other investment, such as 
provision of new digital networks, is largely private sector led.  

 

Page 244



103 
 

365. The respective Oxfordshire local plans are all supported by Infrastructure 
Delivery Plans (IDP), which set out in particular the infrastructure seen as needed 
to support delivery of allocated development sites, and planned funding sources 
and timing for delivery. All four Districts, the City of Oxford and the County 
Council are also now required to produce an Infrastructure Funding Statement 
annually which sets out how developer contributions are being spent. 

 
366. However, there has been a recognition for some time that strategic 

infrastructure requirements and funding often needs to be considered at an 
Oxfordshire-wide level. In 2017 an Oxfordshire Infrastructure Strategy (OxIS) 
was initiated and subsequently endorsed by the Oxfordshire Growth Board which 
reviewed and prioritised strategic infrastructure across the county, with a 
timescale of up to 2040. This was the first time that infrastructure priorities had 
been considered comprehensively in Oxfordshire in this way and has helped 
secure significant funding for major projects such as improvements to the A40, 
and a new bridge over the Thames north of Didcot.63  

 
367. In 2020, the Growth Board agreed that the Oxfordshire Infrastructure 

Strategy should be updated, and a Stage 1 OxIS, covering the period up to 2040 
has now been produced. A key emphasis of the OxIS update was the need to 
consider and prioritise defined strategic infrastructure against a set of strategic 
needs. These were very much aligned with the principles set out in the 
Oxfordshire Vision, focused on the Environment, Health, Place Shaping, 
Productivity and Connectivity, with a set of indicators under each area allowing 
for a qualitative score to the produced for each infrastructure project. The relative 
importance to supporting housing and employment growth was also considered 
in the assessment, based on linkages with local plan allocated growth. 

 
368. The OxIS Stage 1 update has allowed for an objective assessment to be 

undertaken of the relative importance of different strategic infrastructure, and its 
alignment with currently planned growth. This has resulted in identification of 
priority schemes in infrastructure types including transport, education, green and 
blue infrastructure and water management. It has also identified the funding gaps 
and requirements for this infrastructure. Though considering against a range of 
needs, the work has also given a better understanding of how different types of 
infrastructure perform against wider outcomes. 

 
Policy Options 

 
369. Alongside other evidence, the OxIS Stage 1 report will help inform the 

refinement of Oxfordshire Plan spatial options towards a preferred option at 
Regulation 19 stage. It is also intended that a final Stage 2 report will be produced 
to assess strategic infrastructure priorities to 2050 and consider how these align 
with the preferred spatial options. It is expected that this will provide a strategic 
infrastructure framework for delivery of infrastructure needs alongside new 
development and inform the more detailed planning for sites at the local plan 
level. In effect, it is expected to become the Infrastructure Delivery Plan to 
support the Oxfordshire Plan. 

 

 
63 https://www.oxfordshiregrowthboard.org/projects/original-oxis/  

Page 245

https://www.oxfordshiregrowthboard.org/projects/original-oxis/


104 
 

370. The preferred policy option seeks to ensure that the Oxfordshire Plan and 
the OxIS are aligned, given the significance of strategic infrastructure that 
frequently crosses more than one local planning authority. 

 

Preferred Policy Option 
 

 
Policy Option 21: Strategic Infrastructure Priorities 
 
Development proposals would be planned to both take account of and take 
opportunities to support delivery of the strategic infrastructure priorities identified in 
the Oxfordshire Infrastructure Strategy (OxIS), and any subsequent updates. Local 
plans, and any supporting documents such as Infrastructure Delivery Plans, and 
Infrastructure Funding Statements should also take into account OxIS when being 
developed and updated. 
 

 
Alternative Policy Option 21-01 
 

371. Safeguard land for strategic infrastructure priorities. This is not preferred, 
as this should be considered in more detail in the individual local plans that follow 
the completion of the current OxIS work programme. 

  

Page 246



105 
 

Theme Five: Creating Jobs and Providing Homes 
 
Creating Jobs 
 

372. Oxfordshire is ambitious for its economy and is forwards looking. The 
Oxfordshire Plan seeks to help Oxfordshire to position to meet global challenges 
and secure new economic opportunities. With significant sector strengths in life 
sciences, high-performance engineering and R&D, local opportunities include 
ensuring we are reducing inequalities and ensuring all citizens have an 
opportunity to access new local jobs as well as advanced skills and education. 

 
373. Economic priorities for Oxfordshire draw on the strategies prepared by the 

Oxfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership, including the Strategic Economic Plan 
and the COVID Recovery Plan. The Oxfordshire Plan supports the delivery of 
those two economic plans, recognising the importance of the wider economy, 
which the planning system should support and seeks to ensure that the planning 
authorities across Oxfordshire can respond to the impact of COVID on retail and 
hospitality sectors through re-imagining the role of our town centres. 

 
374. The Oxfordshire Plan contains proposals to assist with the economic 

recovery from COVID. These proposals build on the strengths of the economy 
and seek to harness its capability in the long-term to maintain high level of GVA 
growth, to secure the retention of young people, and improve access to skills and 
training resources. 

 
375. The Oxfordshire Plan recognises that the economy will continue to evolve 

over next 30 years; this Plan seeks to support that evolution and assist it to 
become less carbon dependent. The Plan also seeks to support economic 
innovation as well as improved productivity by ensuring that land use is flexible 
and can adapt to economic change in both rural and urban Oxfordshire. 

 
376. The Oxfordshire Plan looks to take full account of climate change and the 

need for environmental enhancement to achieve a greener economic future. The 
use of 5G and the application of new advanced digital infrastructure will help our 
businesses and institutions position for the future, as well as help to maintain the 
current high levels of home working. 

 
377. Over the 30-year duration of this Plan, new affordable housing in 

Oxfordshire will both reduce the need to travel long distances to work, and 
through the provision of a wider range of house types help to ensure that the 
workforce of Oxfordshire companies can live in the County and economic 
success is not held back. Equally, new and renewed business premises will 
extend the capacity available of floorspace, employment and in Oxfordshire.  

Page 247



106 
 

 
Theme Five – Meets the following Objectives of the Oxfordshire Plan 
 
No 1. To demonstrate leadership in addressing the climate emergency by 
significantly reducing greenhouse gas emissions. 
 
No 5. To sustain and strengthen Oxfordshire's economic role and reputation by 
building on our key strengths and relationships. 
 
No 6. To ensure that the benefits and opportunities arising from Oxfordshire's 
economic success are felt by all of Oxfordshire's communities. 
 
No 7. To meet Oxfordshire's housing needs, including affordable housing, and to 
ensure that housing delivery is phased appropriately to support the needs of our 
communities. 
 
No 8. To ensure that new housing is flexible to meet the varied needs of people 
through all stages of life. 
 
No 9. To deliver high quality, innovatively designed development that ensures 
efficient use of land and resources. 
 

 
 
Policy Option 22 - Supporting the Creation of Jobs 
 

378. The Oxfordshire Plan is aligned with the Oxfordshire Local Industrial 
Strategy (LIS)64 and seeks to maintain the economic success of the county over 
the long-term. A central piece of evidence for the Oxfordshire Plan is the 
Oxfordshire Growth Needs Assessment (OGNA) which considers the housing 
need figure across a range of scenarios, including options that consider the 
relationship to economic growth. 

 
379. Like many issues affecting land use planning, the UK approach to regional 

and local economic growth is changing. This is partly due to COVID-19 and 
Brexit, as well as securing the economic aspirations of the Oxford to Cambridge 
Arc, and the Government's focus on 'levelling up' across the UK and its ‘Plan for 
Growth’, launched alongside the March 2021 budget. The current Oxfordshire 
LIS responds to the UK Industrial Strategy which aims to increase growth and 
productivity, creating more prosperous communities, much of which is core 
thinking in the emerging Government approach. 

 
380. The Oxfordshire LIS is underpinned by three guiding principles: i) Invest 

in Oxfordshire, deliver for the UK; ii) Oxfordshire – the UK's 'innovation engine'; 
and iii) Global Oxfordshire, Global Britain. The key sectors and technologies in 
which Oxfordshire excels has global reach, meaning Oxfordshire is a critical 
driver for UK economic growth post-Brexit. The Oxfordshire Plan is one of the 
tools by which this economic success is to be maintained. 

 
381. The LIS identifies key assets in the innovation ecosystem which underpin 

that strategy; the LIS looks to build on these strengths and assets to drive R&D 

 
64 Local Industrial Strategy | OxLEP (oxfordshirelep.com) 

Page 248

https://www.oxfordshirelep.com/lis


107 
 

and innovation across the region. The Oxfordshire Plan seeks to strengthen the 
economic activity taking place in our town and city centres, plus the business and 
science parks located across the county, as 'priority locations' and supports those 
priority sectors where strategic jobs growth is focussed as identified in the LIS. 

 
382. The Oxfordshire Plan supports the creation of jobs across a range of 

sectors and in various locations, particularly to achieve the shift to ‘good growth’ 
as the economy begins to transition to address climate change. 

 
383. One of the purposes of the Oxfordshire Plan is to consider the level of 

employment growth and the links to housing need over the Plan period. There 
are a number of ways to identify the requirements for job growth figures, but there 
is considerable uncertainty later on in the Plan period, from 2040 onwards. 

 
384. The following figure is taken from the OGNA and highlights the range of 

forecasts for job growth 2020-205020. 
 

 

 
 
Policy Options 
 

385. There are a number of policy options that have been considered including 
whether to encourage appropriate forms of development which would lead to the 
creation of jobs, without placing any numerical requirements on any of the local 
planning authorities. The Oxfordshire Plan could provide the strategic framework 
for emerging local plans and neighbourhood plans to work with. 

 
386. One other alternative would be to use a floor space calculation of new B 

Class employment instead of a jobs number for the Plan as a whole. 
 

387. The challenge with both these alternatives is that the Oxfordshire 2050 
Plan is looking to secure a progressive change to business working practices to 
2050 and such approaches are traditional rather than transformational. In 

OGNA: Employment projections for Oxfordshire (2010=100) 

Source: ONS, Cambridge Econometrics, PwC. 

> projections 

Page 249



108 
 

addition, recent changes to Use Class orders (new Class E) has made calculating 
floorspace requirements difficult. Therefore, we consider that the proposed policy 
option is likely to be the better option as it provides an overarching positive 
strategy which local plans and neighbourhood plans can build on, responding to 
local circumstances. 

 
Preferred Policy Option 
 

388. The proposed policy option could be to consider the level of jobs growth 
using the OGNA trajectories to identify the employment growth figure for 
Oxfordshire for 2020-2050. Economic growth and housing growth would need to 
be aligned and take into account a range of other factors. The decision on the 
appropriate level of jobs growth would be taken alongside the final decision on 
the housing growth figure that will draw on the OGNA scenarios. 

 
389. The OGNA calculations could then be broken down into tranches for the 

local planning authorities to use (e.g.10 years) in the preparation of local plans. 
Figures provided for each tranche would have to be indicative, and subject to 
review by local plans due to the complex nature of job creation and to allow for 
individual circumstances to be taken into account. 

 
 

Policy Option 22: Supporting the Creation of Jobs 
 
The Oxfordshire Plan encourages the creation of jobs which align with the 
objectives of the Plan. 
 
The Oxfordshire Plan could use the OGNA scenarios to consider the level of jobs 
growth and identify the employment growth figure for Oxfordshire for 2020-2050. 
This would align job creation calculations with the housing growth scenarios that the 
OGNA considered.  
 

 

 
Policy Option 23 - Protection of Economic Assets 
 

390. Oxfordshire has a significant network of business, science and technology 
parks located in the city and towns and in rural locations too. They range from 
the internationally significant sites at Harwell and Culham, through the United 
Kingdom’s largest RAF station at RAF Brize Norton, to the smaller business 
parks on the edges of towns and offices within the city. They are the location for 
companies of different sizes and sectors and are a major focus for employment. 
This diverse economic base provides Oxfordshire with economic strength and 
resilience. 

 
391. Oxfordshire has a number of economic assets that are of not only 

regional importance, but of national and international importance. These 
include, the MINI Plant in Oxford, known for its car production, and Harwell 
Science and Innovation Campus and Culham Science Centre in the Science 
Vale, both world-renowned for being the UK's leading centres for science, 
research and innovation. Additionally, the business, science parks, innovation 
and technology centres of Oxfordshire are where a significant amount of 
business activity takes place across the county. Ensuring that the buildings 

Page 250



109 
 

associated with these economic assets remain fit for purpose is an essential 
component of how these locations continue to adapt to changing economic 
circumstances, current sector strengths and how those grow and evolve in the 
future. 

 
Policy Options 
 

392. The economy of Oxfordshire will continue to evolve over the next 30 years, 
supported through the Local Industrial Strategy and future economic growth 
strategies. This policy seeks to enable sensible forward planning by site owners 
and business operators about their future site and building needs for new 
economic purposes, for science, technology and innovation, as business needs 
change, in both the rural and urban parts of Oxfordshire. The policy would 
support a flexible intensification of economic activity at these sites, with re-
purposed buildings and site layouts, new build and extensions as required. 

 
393. The aim is to seek to ensure that the network of sites continues to support 

new innovative economic uses, but also becomes more sustainable, not just as 
buildings are upgraded, but as sites seek to reduce their carbon footprint and 
increase their take up of renewable energy, whilst supporting new aspects of the 
economy of Oxfordshire as innovation continues and key sectors continue to 
evolve. 

 
394. The preferred policy option seeks to secure a consistent long-term 

approach across Oxfordshire to ensure that investment continues to flow to 
support the business and science park network as major economic assets. 

 
395. One alternative policy option is to leave these considerations to future 

local plans. The disadvantage of this approach is to miss the strategic opportunity 
from an Oxfordshire-wide approach. Strategic economic assets are at the heart 
of Oxfordshire economy. A framework policy is preferred to provide a minimum 
level of consistency of approach across Oxfordshire. 

 
Preferred Policy Proposal 
 

 
Policy Option 23: Protection of Economic Assets 
 
The Oxfordshire Plan would continue to support the appropriate growth of 
economic assets. This growth may come in the form of: 

• New investment in the physical fabric of economic assets and their estate. 

• Economic assets being extended as well as re-purposed, re-provisioned 
and re-used for new and innovative economic activities. 

• Flexibility on what those future economic uses might be to support economic 
innovation within them, recognising that Oxfordshire has strengths in key 
economic sectors and over the 30 years of this plan we would anticipate 
new sectors emerging from the investment by the private sector, 
entrepreneurs, the Universities, LEP and Government. 

 
Appropriate growth would be supported particularly where there is:  

• Investment in renewable energy provision and higher quality more 
sustainable buildings and a focus for new digital infrastructure. 

Page 251



110 
 

• An increased use of renewable energy including charging points for electric 
and hybrid vehicles. 

• Improved walking, cycling and public transport connectivity and capacity. 
 
The loss of existing economic assets would not generally be supported unless 
proposals are in accordance with the relevant development plan policies across 
the districts and city concerned with the loss of economic assets.  
 
The Oxfordshire Plan would support flexible working practices, including live-work 
accommodation. As we wish to retain and grow economic uses across 
Oxfordshire's economic assets, we will not support the loss of economic assets to 
housing but will support the introduction of live-work units where that supports the 
success of the economic asset and the economic activities undertaken. 
 

 
 

Policy Option 24 – Town Centre Renewal 
 

396. Major changes are affecting town, city centres and other urban centres, 
with dramatic retail changes and high levels of vacant premises. The changing 
role and nature of retail is generating significant uncertainty, while the full 
implications and impacts from the period of the COVID -19 pandemic (2020/1 - 
2021/2) are not yet known. At the same time, recent changes to planning controls 
and Use Class Order Amendments are expanding more flexible changes of use 
away from retail. 

397.  
Re-imagining and re-purposing town centres and urban centres is essential to 
enable new economic activities to come forward for consideration, to enable new 
economic uses to be accommodated and to plan for change over the long-term. 
Our policy approach is intended to support the vitality of service centres, being 
flexible and responsive to future changes, and supporting the high-level retail 
hierarchy. It is intended to set the context for future local plans.  

 
398. We want to see town and urban centre uses supported with an increased 

role for a range of leisure facilities, new business uses, new live-work facilities, 
hospitality and the night economy. It may also require a local level move to review 
the extent of the primary retail frontage to most effectively protect the remaining 
retail uses. Consideration will also be needed as to how the challenge of the 
circular economy is to be addressed. 

 
399. While this policy focuses on land use matters, there are a range of active 

measures outside of planning that can be taken to strengthen town and urban 
centres including promotion, shopper directories, loyalty cards, cultural events 
and festivals, and shop front renewal schemes, all of which can help generate 
new footfall into our towns. 

 

Policy Options 
 

400. The preferred policy approach seeks to provide the local planning 
authorities with an enabling policy with which to respond quickly to support newly 
arising economic opportunities in the city and town centres across Oxfordshire. 
It establishes a framework policy to support long-term action at the local level 

Page 252



111 
 

following the major changes to retail and the hospitality sector accelerated 
through the COVID period. 

 
401. Establishing an Oxfordshire-wide framework is judged the right means to 

enable forward planning by developers in conjunction with the local planning 
authorities and the local business community and Parish/Town Council affected. 

 
Preferred Policy Proposal 
 

 
Policy Option 24: Town Centre Renewal 
 
To encourage new dynamism into the central area of each market town (and 
Oxford's city, district, urban and local centres) and generate new footfall, the 
Oxfordshire Plan would support the vitality and viability of town centres. At each of 
the market towns and Oxford City, the Oxfordshire Plan will support the changing 
nature of our town centres and provide future flexibility to this change, for example, 
by continuing to support the retail uses, and in addition, supporting new measures 
including:  

• New leisure and hospitality uses, including the night-time economy and 'pop 
up' venues in vacant buildings. 

• New economic and business uses including where appropriate, new live-work 
units. 

• The redevelopment of town centres to make them more visually appealing. 

• Markets and their facilities, traditional, seasonal and contemporary. 

• New cultural activities, community uses and the consolidation of civic facilities. 

• Improved walking, cycling and public transport facilities to and from town 
centres to surrounding residential areas. 

• Taking account of the role that heritage has to play in creating a sense of place 
and a dynamic town centre environment.  

• Taking account of unique, local factors and not taking 'a one-size fits all' 
approach. 

 
We would encourage the preparation of a town centre strategy between the local 
planning authority, landowners and businesses to consider challenges and 
opportunities on a holistic basis and as the means to take local level decisions 
about the most appropriate boundary of the areas to be devoted to primary and 
secondary retail, recognising that it may be most effective to reduce the area and 
consolidate and strengthen the remaining zone. 
 

 

 
Policy Option 25 - Visitor Economy 
 

402. We recognise the importance of sustainable tourism for Oxfordshire's 
economy and the jobs it creates. As the economy recovers from COVID and the 
visitor economy looks to new provision, we anticipate opportunities to grow this 
important economic sector in Oxfordshire. 

 
Policy Options 

Page 253



112 
 

 
403. The Oxfordshire Plan is considering major developments that have an 

impact beyond more than one district or the city. Large tourism proposals that 
can have an impact county-wide or across more than one district or the city would 
be covered by this policy. The Plan aims to set out a positive approach to 
encouraging new sustainable tourism development in appropriate places, to 
benefit urban and rural Oxfordshire based on a coordinated approach to 
infrastructure to support sustainable tourism development and investment. 

 
404. The Oxfordshire Plan recognises that Oxfordshire's heritage is a key 

aspect of its tourism industry, likewise the business use of facilities such as 
through hotels at business parks plays a significant role in generating footfall. 

 
405. One alternative policy option is to leave these considerations to future 

local plans, but our recommendation is to put a framework policy in place to 
enable forward planning by developers in conjunction with the local planning 
authority and the local community and Parish/Town Council affected 

 
406. The preferred policy option seeks to set in place a strategic framework to 

address those proposals that are likely to impact on more than one local planning 
authority. 

 
Preferred Policy Proposal 
 

 
Policy Option 25: Visitor Economy 
 
We want to encourage new development to advance the visitor economy designed 
to have a national and international draw. Proposals for such purposes could be 
supported under this option, subject to the following criteria to guide development, 
including: 

• The provision of new conference facilities, high grade hotel accommodation, 
resort hotels and museums, new stadium-scale sports facilities designed to 
have a national and international draw. 

• The development of new leisure complexes and the provision of associated 
specialist sports equipment. 

• New adventure-based tourist attractions and sports-based leisure and visitor 
facilities. 

• Active tourism in rural Oxfordshire that supports the rural economy and 
diversification. 

 
We would expect all new visitor facilities to meet the following criteria: 

• They must be located either a) within the built-up areas of the city, towns and 
villages, and in the villages, development must be proportionally scaled and in 
keeping with the character of the settlement, or b) development outside of 
these areas in rural Oxfordshire would be supported where it supports rural 
diversification and is proportionate to the rural location. 

• Being sensitive to the local and historic context. 

• They must be located at sites which can provide excellent transport and 
connectivity, that are easily accessible by walking, cycling and public transport. 

Page 254



113 
 

• Use of sustainable travel is encouraged and a sustainable travel plan would 
be required that sets out the details of the bus and rail connectivity that is to 
be secured. 

• They must be designed with renewable energy provision and others to help 
reduce use of carbon. 

• They must have minimal traffic, environmental, visual and landscape impact. 

 

 
 

Policy Option 26 - Culture and Arts 
 

407. Oxfordshire's city, towns and villages offer a variety of cultural and arts 
facilities that attract visitors well beyond the county's borders. Oxfordshire's 
world-renowned city of Oxford, as well as many of its traditional market towns 
and villages, play a role in making the county a sub-regional hive for cultural 
activity. Rural Oxfordshire too contains a diverse provision, from great houses to 
the Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, where rural arts, heritage and cultural 
activities are well established. As a result, it is considered important to ensure 
the continued growth of Oxfordshire's diverse cultural and creative industries. 

 
408. Culture and the arts are a valued part of our society and play a key role in 

ensuring social wellbeing and community cohesion, as well as having a positive 
impact on our physical and mental health. Culture and the arts not only enrich 
our personal lives, but also our economy. In 2011, businesses in the UK arts and 
culture industry generated an aggregate turnover of £12.4 billion65. Cultural and 
arts facilities additionally serve an educational purpose, as for example, 
museums and galleries are often utilised by schools and universities for teaching 
and research. 

 
409. In recent times the culture and creative industries have suffered as a result 

of the COVID-19 pandemic. It has therefore become increasingly important that 
they are supported in reflection of the difficulty faced by both industries during 
the pandemic, and the years that will follow it. It is also important to look forward 
to how these industries are likely to adapt and change in future. By 2050, these 
industries will likely turn increasingly more digital, so considering the changing 
physical nature of cultural and arts facilities is also necessary, as demand for 
temporary spaces such as pop-up venues may increase, whilst digital media 
venues may become more prevalent. 

 
Policy Options 
 

410. In order to ensure the continued growth of cultural and creative industries 
in Oxfordshire, a preferred policy option is proposed for inclusion in the 
Oxfordshire Plan 2050 which aims to advance these industries by supporting new 
strategic cultural and arts facilities across the county that will have regional, 
national and international draw. 

 
411. One alternative policy option is to leave these considerations to future 

local plans, but our recommendation is to put a framework policy in place to 

 
65 The Arts Council evidence review  

Page 255



114 
 

enable forward planning by developers in conjunction with the local planning 
authority where the proposal is likely to impact on more than one district. 

 
Preferred Policy Proposal 
 

 
Policy Option 26: Culture and Arts 
 
In order to advance Oxfordshire's culture and creative industries, and foster 
innovation, proposals for new cultural and arts facilities designed to have regional, 
national and international draw would be supported, including (but not limited to):  

• New cultural centres, museums, exhibition halls, galleries, and other visual arts 
facilities. 

• New performing arts centres, concert halls, theatres, auditoriums. 

• The provision of public broadcasting facilities, including public television, radio 
stations and other electronic media outlets. 

• Evening and night-time cultural venues such as public houses, night clubs, 
cinemas and music venues. 

• Film production. 

• Associated cultural and arts facilities, including studio and rehearsal space. 

• Pop up culture and arts venues, such as in vacant buildings. 

• New cultural and arts provision at the great stately houses of Oxfordshire.  
 
We would expect all new culture and arts facilities to meet the following criteria: 

• Opportunities are taken through design to have a positive visual impact on the 
local area.     

• They must be located within the built-up areas of the city, towns and villages. In 
the district’s villages, development must be proportionally scaled and in keeping 
with the character of the settlement. Development outside of these areas will 
only be supported in exceptional circumstances, for example where it is 
evidenced that it cannot be reasonably be located in the city, or a town or village 
in the county, such as at the great houses. 

• They must be located at sites which can provide excellent transport and 
connectivity, that are easily accessible by walking, cycling and public transport. 

• Use of sustainable travel is strongly encouraged and a sustainable travel plan 
will be required that sets out the details of the bus and rail connectivity that is to 
be secured. 

• They must be designed with renewable energy provision and others to help 
reduce use of carbon. 

• They must have minimal traffic, environmental, visual and landscape impact. 

• There is no negative cumulative impact resulting from the proposed use in 
relation to the number, capacity and location of other similar uses (existing or 
committed) in the area. 

 
We would also seek to protect and retain existing cultural and arts facilities. Planning 
applications for the change of use of a cultural or arts facility must be accompanied 
by evidence to demonstrate that the continuation of the use of premises of the existing 
facility is nor viable. It must be demonstrated that:  

Page 256



115 
 

• all reasonable efforts have been made to market the premises for its existing 
use; and 

• all reasonable efforts have been made to support and improve the operation 
and management of the business; and  

• it is demonstrated that suitable alternative facilities exist to meet the needs of 
the local community. 

 

 

 
Policy Option 27: Meeting Skills and Education Needs 
 

412. The Further and Higher Education (FEHE) sectors are one of the 
economic assets of Oxfordshire. The Universities of Oxford are world class and 
play a central role in the dynamism of the Oxfordshire economy, bringing forward 
innovation and technology, as well as new investment and company spinouts 
that act as a major driver of the economic success of the county. 

 
413. Oxfordshire has historically had a high education and skills base, but the 

offer to young people as a whole has not always reflected this. We will encourage 
and support development that will diversify and strengthen the skills and 
education base into the future to encourage its continued role in the innovation 
ecosystem. Apprenticeships can also play a vital role in delivering the skilled 
workforce that is required. 

 
414. We recognise that reorganisation and re-provision is likely to take place 

over the next 20-30 years, as Government policy changes, to provide new 
services to students of all ages, to respond quickly to demographic changes, 
improve skills access and to use land and property more efficiently and 
effectively. This enabling policy is designed to support effective forward planning 
by the sector to continue to meet the needs of training and education providers, 
as well as businesses of all sectors in Oxfordshire.  

 
415. The provision of primary and secondary education facilities, along with 

those for early years and lifelong learning has a critical role to play in supporting 
population growth as well as meeting new training needs and improving access 
to the world of work. The demand for pre-school facilities is increasing due to 
changes in lifestyles and work patterns and is a critical underpinning of the 
economic dynamism of Oxfordshire. 

 
416. We recognise the important role that skills and training facilities and 

schools have to play in maintaining the quality of life of communities and will 
support the growth plans of schools. The County Council in its role as Local 
Education Authority is responsible for securing provision of new schools and 
school places. It has a statutory duty to ensure that there are enough school 
places. The local planning authorities will work with the County Council and the 
FEHE sector to support the range of education and training facilities required, 
including provision of nursery, primary and secondary schools; further and higher 
education facilities; community learning facilities; special schools and specialist 
post 16 education; and other educational facilities as required. This may include 
seeking the provision of new schools, contributions towards these facilities or 
contributions towards expanding existing facilities as new growth takes place. 

 

Page 257



116 
 

417. We want to ensure that the design of these facilities is flexible enough to 
accommodate the changing needs of their users and the communities they serve, 
while recognising safety concerns. Where appropriate and agreed with the 
education & skills provider the use of the facilities after hours will be encouraged 
to support learning among the wider community and may be able to enhance 
recreation provision. New skills and educational buildings should be located in 
sustainable locations within the built-up limits of settlements to secure active 
travel and improved public transport connectivity; as well as being considered 
within regeneration schemes to encourage social mobility and 'upskilling'. 

 
Policy Options 
 

418. The preferred policy option seeks to ensure that there is a framework 
policy in place to enable future development or the land use aspects of the 
reorganisations of skills and education facilities to be considered in a consistent 
way, especially where the provision reaches beyond administrative boundaries. 
This is an issue that has also arisen in a number of Duty to Co-operate 
discussions with neighbouring Councils. 

 
419. One alternative policy option is to leave these considerations to future 

local plans, but our recommendation is to put a framework policy in place to 
enable forward planning by the institutions affected, with their developers in 
conjunction with the local planning authority and Oxfordshire County Council. 

 
Preferred Policy Proposal 
 

 
Policy Option 27: Meeting Skills and Education Needs 
 
To support the provision of modern and up to date facilities to support existing and 
future education and training needs across the county: 

 

1. The local planning authority should work with partners to support the provision 
of new schools, universities and colleges, community learning and other training 
facilities which provide for education and the development of skills across each 
district, the city and county-wide, where needed. 

2. The provision of new facilities that are integrated into regeneration opportunities 
to support social mobility will be encouraged. 

3. Education and training facilities should be designed to: 

a. achieve a high degree of durability and environmental efficiency to minimise 
maintenance and running costs; 

b. increase use of renewable energy and help reduce use of carbon;  

c. provide a safe, secure and pleasant environment conducive to learning;  

d. be sustainably designed and located to promote sustainable methods of 
travel, both by active travel and by public transport; and  

e. be designed to enable future expansion and long-term flexibility, as required. 

Page 258



117 
 

4. The co-location of community and education facilities will be supported where 
they create community hubs that can serve the needs of the community and 
catchments that cross administrative boundaries. 

5. Where proposals relate to large schemes or strategic housing developments or 
the expansion of existing campuses, an integrated, coordinated and 
comprehensive planning approach would be taken and a masterplan would be 
prepared, in collaboration and agreed with the local planning authority/ies, 
Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) and other statutory undertakers covering the 
development of the whole site or sites. This will be especially important where 
the catchment crosses administrative boundaries. Any new education sites must 
comply with the OCC guidance documents issued at that time to ensure efficient 
and effective use of the site. 

 

 
 
Providing Homes 
 

420. The Oxfordshire Plan aspires to meet the housing needs of current and 
future generations. 
 

421. The cost of housing continues to be a major issue across Oxfordshire and 
impacts on where people can live and what they can afford, whether they 
purchase or rent property. This is a particular challenge faced within Oxford City 
but it affects the neighbouring four districts too and impacts on the economy by 
leading to lengthy commutes and an inability to retain younger people leaving 
University. 
 

422. The Oxfordshire Plan proposes to support the use of new construction 
technologies to both reduce cost of building new housing but to ensure it uses 
less energy too. 
 

423. The Oxfordshire Plan proposes to support innovation over the next 30 
years, be it in housing design, build quality and incorporation of measures to help 
tackle climate change. 
 

424. The national push for 'zero carbon ready' homes has been embraced by 
the Oxfordshire Plan as part of its ambitious set of measures proposed in Theme 
One: Addressing Climate Change and builds on the innovation achieved on 
current development sites such as NW Bicester. 
 

425. The Oxfordshire Plan proposes to set a framework for housing quality (see 
Themes One and Three) and undertaking health impact assessments (see 
Theme Three) to improve the quality of life for residents. The Oxfordshire Plan 
places an emphasis on tackling climate change and securing environmental 
betterment. That emphasis has led to the proposed emphasis on achieving high 
design standards, which are recognised as being essential for reducing 
inequalities as well as having environmental impact and helping to achieve 
improved health & wellbeing of residents, as well as reducing energy costs. 
 

426. The Plan seeks to secure the retention of young people and the less well-
off through the proposed adequate provision of affordable housing and to secure 
sufficient provision for older people too, through extra care, care villages and 

Page 259



118 
 

other types of provision. The Plan proposes to support people who can't afford 
access to the housing market, those in low paid jobs, and newly forming 
households with the need for accommodation. The Oxfordshire Plan also 
supports the delivery of First Homes, a new national form of affordable housing. 
The Plan proposes to support new approaches to Community Led Housing, the 
use of Community Land Trusts and the contribution that public land has to play 
in enabling new innovative approaches to housing provision. 
 

427. The Oxfordshire Plan proposes a strong brownfield land focus with 
support for programmes of urban renewal which means a reduced level of 
greenfield release with valued green space protected. The Plan looks to support 
the renewal of town centres. 
 

428. The Plan will seeks to support achieving higher densities by building 
residential property higher, three or four storeys, in appropriate locations, to 
improve the overall land use and to reduce the need for more greenfield release. 
 

429. Finally, the Plan looks to support the role of small and medium sized 
developers who tend to build the majority of smaller sites, to a high standard and 
more quickly than is achieved on larger sites. The planning authorities in 
Oxfordshire will explore the introduction of an accelerated consenting process. 

 
 

Policy Option 28 - Homes: How Many? Commitments and Locations 
 
How Many Homes? 
 

430. In planning for housing, the terms 'need', and 'requirement' have specific 
meanings. The Oxfordshire Growth Needs Assessment (OGNA) assesses the 
growth needs for Oxfordshire to 2050 to identify the range of what might be 
reasonable levels of growth to test through the Plan. It will then be for the Plan-
making process to arrive at a growth requirement figure for the Plan policies. 
OGNA is a technical document and must provide robust evidence to support our 
policy making.  The draft assessment identifies three need scenarios which are 
shown in the table below (further to a national ‘standard method’).  We will 
consider any consultation comments before the assessment is finalised. For 
comparison, the current level of housing need, as embedded in the Oxfordshire 
Housing and Growth Deal, is shown indicatively for the same period. 

 
431. The OGNA modelling focusses on three levels of growth: Standard 

Method adjusted, Business as Usual, and Transformational. These three show 
the range. The Oxfordshire Plan cannot go lower than standard method (or it 
would fail to comply with Government guidance), and it would be unrealistic to 
aim for higher growth than the aspirations in the Local Industrial Strategy (LIS), 
associated with the transformational trajectory given the need to balance homes 
and jobs, as well as the challenge of delivery and the environment and 
infrastructure constraints that exist. Further explanation of these housing need 
scenarios is provided in the OGNA. 

 

Housing Need in Oxfordshire 2020-2050 

 Total Per annum 

Page 260



119 
 

Standard Method (adjusted) 
trajectory66 

101,580 3,386 

Business as usual trajectory 123,390 4,113 

Transformational trajectory 152,790 5,093 

Growth Deal comparator 150,000 5,000 

 

 
 

432. Whilst the OGNA has set out a range of housing needs figures it has not 
advised on a target or requirement that the Oxfordshire Plan should take forward. 
Through the Plan making process (including this Regulation 18 Part 2 
consultation) we are testing the level of growth options. The decision on the final 
housing  requirement will need to balance the OGNA with other evidence studies, 
and other decision-making tools such as Sustainability Appraisal, consultation, 
and the strategy set out in this Plan. This process will follow the outcome of this 
Regulation 18 Part 2 consultation on the proposed strategy of the Plan, the 
proposed policy options and the proposed Strategic Spatial Options. 

 
433. The next tranche of growth has already been committed in the 2020 – 

2031/5/6 period of the Oxfordshire Plan through the City and District's planning 
consents. In a number of Districts, committed growth associated with consents 
continues into the period after 2031/5/6 due to the delivery period of strategic 
development sites and windfalls. In the next phase of Plan making the total of 
these commitments will be taken off the OGNA scenarios to present the 'residual' 
figure. This is the housing requirement that we will need to plan for. 

 
Committed Growth 
 

434. Oxfordshire has adopted local plans in place with committed growth for 
the next 10-15 years. The table below shows the number of homes that these 
plans presently provide for, the number built at 31 March 2020, those left to be 
built and additional homes that the plans provide for beyond their plan periods.  

 
435. The next table (as of 2020/21) illustrates this.  

 

 
66 The national Standard Method produces a total of 101,490 from 2020-2050 or 3383 per annum. 

Page 261



120 
 

 
 

436. This committed growth (taken from local plan trajectories to illustrate the 
issue at this stage) should be taken into account. The table below illustrates the 
‘residual figure’ that arises by taking the OGNA scenario figure minus committed 
growth to leave a 'residual' figure: 

 

 
 

437. So, the range of new growth we intend to test in the preparation of the 
Regulation 19 Plan is of the order of 16,000-68,000 homes (not 101,000-
153,000). This lower range is the basis for looking at broad areas of growth 
through the Oxfordshire Plan 2031/5/6 to 2050. i.e. over a 20-year period, after 
the end of the current adopted local plans. Note: In considering this issue in the 
preparation of the Regulation 19 Plan we will use the most up to date data from 
AMRs from each local planning authority to ensure we use a common basis for 
the calculations. 

 
438. The decision on where in the range the housing requirement for 

Oxfordshire should sit will be informed by the outcome of the evaluation and 
evidence in the next phase of plan-making in preparing the Regulation 19 Plan. 

 
Locations 
 

439. The Oxfordshire Plan has identified five strategic spatial options for 
consideration in the next section of the consultation document. These options 
take into account the locations for growth set out in the adopted local plans. 

 

Page 262



121 
 

440. The next stage of the development of the Oxfordshire Plan will consider 
the application of the growth need numbers to assess the most appropriate 
locations for future growth to be identified in the Regulation 19 Plan version. 

 
 
Preferred Policy Option 
 

 
Policy Option 28: Homes: How Many? Commitments and Locations 
 
Through this consultation on the Regulation 18 Part 2 stage of the Oxfordshire 
Plan, the scenarios for the total housing requirement figure 2020-2050 (the OGNA) 
need to be considered and views are sought.  
 
The Regulation 19 stage will consider the OGNA range taking the level of 
committed growth into account using AMRs, its ongoing delivery as well as the 
identification of a residual figure that is broken down into tranches (e.g. 10 years). 
 
Commitments 
 
It is proposed that the Regulation 19 Plan is prepared on the basis of what is 
already committed in the five Districts using the most up to date AMRs, deducted 
from the OP2050 requirement identified through the OGNA. 
 
Locations 
 
Homes and jobs to be delivered in strategic locations following a process of 
assessment. 
 
District-level figures will be provided for the remaining requirement (i.e. OGNA 
minus committed growth level). 
 
As the Strategic Spatial Options section shows, as part of the site assessment 
process to take the proposed options forward in detail, we propose to use a step-
by-step process, drawing on our extensive Plan evidence base to assess capacity 
and delivery in broad locations. 
 
A range of evidence will be required including a HELAA, to assess capacity and 
availability of brownfield land, as well as constraints analysis on flooding, 
landscape and other factors, plus input from the SA/HRA and considerations of 
climate change. 
 
The aim is to establish a final list of prospective locations for future growth that 
secure the objectives of this Plan and especially, sustainable outcomes, net zero 
carbon growth and environmental enhancement. 
 

 
 

Policy Option 29 – Urban Renewal 
 

441. This policy aims to enable forward planning of urban renewal schemes 
and will include the reuse of brownfield land and an intensification of land use in 
our market towns, the City of Oxford and at the former MoD bases and sites 

Page 263



122 
 

where the largest holdings of brownfield land are located. Urban renewal brings 
new vitality to areas and helps secure more sustainable locations, with 
investment in new services, new employment and improved health outcomes 
from urban re-design. The modernisation of housing and replacement of housing 
seeks to achieve higher residential densities, as well as more energy efficient, 
healthier living in higher quality housing. 

 
442. New development can help secure gains and opportunities for the area 

being invested in, such as environmental gains, habitat creation and improved 
access to the countryside and improved walking and cycling opportunities. New 
affordable housing can be secured using Modern Methods of Construction 
(MMC) to secure significant energy gains for residents and reduced building 
costs. 

 
443. Urban renewal is already taking place in a number of locations including 

the redevelopment of parts of Didcot and in the west end of Oxford around the 
rail station, whereas innovative approaches to custom build housing are being 
pursued at Graven Hill, Bicester. Urban renewal is expensive, and it takes time 
to prepare schemes with impact, so this is a policy that is intended to enable 
schemes to be developed with planning authority support through the life of the 
Oxfordshire Plan. 

 
444. The policy will draw on brownfield land registers and support the forward 

programmes of redevelopment that are prepared by local planning authorities to 
bring new use to areas where private sector led schemes have been delayed. 
Joint ventures between the public, private, voluntary sector and other bodies 
such as Universities and other institutions will be supported. 

 
Policy Options 
 

445. The preferred policy option for the Oxfordshire Plan is to put in place a 
framework policy to guide the development of options to renew areas over the 
next 20 to 30 years. 

 
446. One alternative policy option is to leave these considerations to future 

local plans, but our recommendation is to put a framework policy in place to 
enable forward planning by developers in conjunction with the local planning 
authority and the local community and Parish/Town Council affected. 

 
Preferred Policy Proposal 
 

 
Policy Option 29: Urban Renewal 
 
Urban renewal schemes and the reuse of brownfield and 'underutilised land' to 
achieve a more efficient use of land and to help minimise the use of new greenfield 
land across Oxfordshire will be supported. 
 
This policy would include: 

• Support for proposals that include a package of measures to renew and replace 
existing buildings (i.e. those that are under-utilised, energy inefficient or are 
degraded or derelict), with more modern higher quality housing to achieve 

Page 264



123 
 

higher densities where appropriate, as well as being designed to be more 
energy efficient and support healthier living.  

• Mixed use schemes will be encouraged, with the colocation of employment and 
residential provision to improve the sustainability of the location. 

• Support opportunities for investment in redevelopment and development to 
remediate despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated or unstable land where 
appropriate. 

• The identification of appropriate areas for regeneration with a clear boundary 
within the market towns and the City of Oxford as well as major brownfield 
locations such as former MoD sites and areas of former MoD housing. 

• Sensitivity to local context particularly where there are heritage assets. 

• Support for the use of Modern Methods of Construction (MMC), including 
custom build, to secure energy gains for residents and reduced building costs. 

• Support for opportunities for urban renewal and brownfield land development to 
achieve net environmental gains and recognise and utilise the function 
brownfield land often has in for example, wildlife, flood risk mitigation, and 
carbon storage. 

 
Appropriate land will be identified through Brownfield land registers as well as 
programmes established for urban settings, through Council housing companies, 
Housing Associations and others.  
 

 
 

Policy Option 30 - Affordable Homes 
 

447. Affordable homes are greatly needed across Oxfordshire. The OGNA 
Phase 1 Report stated that 'evidence points to a very significant scale of need 
for affordable housing in Oxfordshire'. Across the county, average house prices 
are at over 10 times median earnings, and up to 17 times median earnings in the 
city of Oxford. The high cost of housing has significant impacts for those living 
and working in Oxfordshire, as well as on economic growth. High house prices 
have led to those working in Oxfordshire needing to commute longer distances 
to and from their workplace, which in turn puts increased pressure on transport 
infrastructure across the county. 

 
448. Increasing land values across Oxfordshire combined with land availability 

constraints, means that it is likely that house prices will worsen during the plan 
period. Innovative methods of construction, such as 'Modern Methods of 
Construction' (MMC) can reduce the building cost of housing, including affordable 
housing, whilst also securing energy gains for residents. Community-led housing 
(CLH) schemes are also an innovative way in which affordable housing supply 
can be boosted. CLH schemes also help to deliver not only much needed 
affordable homes, but also additional benefits to the communities they serve, as 
the homes are delivered by local people for local people. As identified in the 
OGNA Phase 1 Report, other initiatives such as local authority house building 
(supported by national Government) could help to boost affordable housing 
delivery, and also help councils to return to their historic role as provider of homes 
in the four districts and the City of Oxford. 

 

Page 265



124 
 

449. Importantly, the delivery of affordable homes is also influenced by 
Government funding and initiatives aimed at increasing affordable housing 
supply (both for rent and purchase) including home ownership through 
subsidised routes such as shared ownership and the First Homes scheme. First 
Homes are a specific kind of discounted market sale housing and is the 
Government's preferred discounted market tenure and should account for at least 
25% of all affordable housing units delivered by developers through planning 
obligations. In order to quality as a First Home, a property must be sold at least 
30% below the open market value, however local authorities and neighbourhood 
planning groups have discretion to require a higher minimum discount of either 
40% or 50% if they can demonstrate a need for this. Local authorities are also 
encouraged to ensure that First Homes work well in their area, which may include 
requiring a higher minimum discount, lower price or income caps, or local 
connection/key worker requirements. This provides an opportunity for all the 
Oxfordshire authorities to understand their individual needs. 

 
450. Public funding is also a key factor in helping to support delivery, and locally 

this has been secured through the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal and is 
also available at a national level through the Government's Affordable Homes 
Programme. A variety of methods will be needed to ensure the delivery of 
affordable homes in Oxfordshire is maximised, and the inclusion of an affordable 
homes policy in the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 is a way in which it can help achieve 
this aim. 

 
451. The provision of affordable housing is well established nationally and 

locally, with the NPPF setting out clearly that affordable housing should not be 
sought for residential developments that are not major developments, other than 
in designated rural areas (where policies may set out a lower threshold of 5 units 
or fewer). 

 
Policy Options 
 

452. In order to help address the acute affordable housing needs across the 
county, it is proposed that the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 includes an overarching 
policy that ensures maximum levels of affordable housing are delivered on new 
residential sites across Oxfordshire. This would mean that the detail surrounding 
tenure mix and affordable housing requirements (expressed as a percentage) 
would remain a decision for local authorities to include in their local plans in light 
of local evidence. The Oxfordshire Plan is not setting a county-wide figure for 
affordable housing. 

 
453. One alternative policy option would be to include percentage requirements 

and/or tenure mix targets in the Oxfordshire Plan to ensure a consistent, strong 
and diverse affordable housing mix across the county. However, this is not the 
preferred policy option as it could potentially overlook the differences in the 
housing market across Oxfordshire. Affordable housing requirements vary 
across the Oxfordshire authorities and it is important that all the authorities retain 
this flexibility to be able to respond to local circumstances. It would also be 
difficult to ensure that the policy has the necessary flexibility to plan over the 
longer term to 2050, when the needs of Oxfordshire might change. The remaining 
alternative option would be to not include an affordable homes policy in the 
Oxfordshire Plan, but instead leave all decisions and detail regarding affordable 
housing to local plans. 

Page 266



125 
 

 
Preferred Policy Option 
 

 
Policy Option 30: Affordable Housing 
 
In order to help address affordable housing needs across the county, the 
Oxfordshire Plan would require local plans (and neighbourhood plans where 
relevant) to seek maximum levels of affordable housing on residential (use Class 
C2/C3) development sites of 10 units or more, those in excess of 0.5ha (subject to 
local viability considerations), and within the Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB’s) development sites of over 5 units. 
 
In order to ensure residential development sites are well integrated and cohesive, 
the affordable housing units should be visually indistinguishable from market 
housing on site, and thus 'tenure blind'. 
 
Affordable housing units should also be distributed throughout the site to prevent 
concentrations of affordable homes in one particular area. Any limitations on 
number of affordable units being clustered in groups should be set out in local 
plans, informed by local evidence and site-specific circumstances. 
 
Tenure mix targets and affordable housing requirements (expressed as a 
percentage) will be for local plans to decide in the light of local evidence.  
 
Innovative arrangements such as Community Led Housing schemes will be 
supported. 
 

 
Alternative Policy Option 30-01 
 

454. Instead of leaving tenure mix to local plans, should the Oxfordshire Plan 
2050 set tenure mix targets across Oxfordshire? 

 
455. This could be added to the policy set out above. An example of how 

percentages could be split (that reflect existing local plans and between the City 
of Oxford and neighbouring Districts) is as follows:  

 

• 25% Affordable Rented 

• 35% Social Rented 

• 15% other routes to affordable housing (including shared ownership)  

• 25% First Homes 
 

456. But the risk of this approach is that it is less robust and reflective of 
changing circumstances over the longer-term period that the Oxfordshire Plan is 
intending to address. 

 
Policy Option 31 - Specialist Housing Needs 
 

457. Across Oxfordshire there is a wide range of housing needs. One of 
Oxfordshire's key strengths is its thriving and diverse communities, therefore 
providing the appropriate types of houses for these communities is essential. 

Page 267



126 
 

 
458. The NPPF sets out that the housing needed for different groups in the 

community should be reflected in planning policies. This includes, but is not 
limited to, those who require affordable housing, families with children, older 
people, students, people with disabilities, service families, travellers, people who 
rent their home and people wishing to commission or build their own homes. 

 
459. Across Oxfordshire it is essential that housing is provided for different 

groups in the community, who all have different needs, in the right places. The 
needs of Gypsies, Travellers, Travelling Showpeople are addressed separately 
in the Plan. Across Oxfordshire, whilst there are similarities between the types of 
housing needed, each authority area is different and has its own specific needs. 

 
460. Oxford City has a higher proportion of student accommodation due to the 

location of the universities. The Oxford City Local Plan 2036 responds 
appropriately to this through its policies. Whilst this high concentration in the city 
is likely to continue, during the longer-term plan period for the Oxfordshire Plan 
it is unknown if any university expansions are going to occur outside of the City. 
It may be that in looking forward, the universities decide to explore wider 
Oxfordshire options. Planning over this longer period the Oxfordshire Plan should 
be a position to provide a framework to assist the four districts and the City of 
Oxford in dealing with any future proposals. 

 
461. One trend which is likely to have an impact on the four districts and the 

City of Oxford across the 30-year plan period, is housing for older people. People 
are living longer lives and the proportion of older people in the population is 
increasing. Oxfordshire has an aging population and it is forecast that this trend 
will continue. Housing for older people needs to be appropriately located with 
good access to public transport and local facilities, including shops and 
healthcare. 

 
462. From previous consultations on the Oxfordshire Plan 2050, we know that 

making homes accessible and affordable and meeting a variety of needs is 
important to communities. In response to the Regulation 18 Part 1 consultation, 
it was highlighted that housing should meet a variety of needs, such as those of 
older people, neurodivergent people and people with disabilities. Some 
respondents also raised that the Oxfordshire Plan should make new homes 
accessible and affordable to local people, including key workers. 

 
Policy Options 
 

463. The Oxfordshire Plan will be determining a broad spatial strategy and 
broad locations for growth. As such it will not include detailed housing needs or 
requirements about the need for specialist housing. It is more appropriate to 
consider specialist housing matters via local plans and neighbourhood plans 
given the differences between provision and requirements in the Districts and the 
City of Oxford.  

 

464. However, the Oxfordshire Plan can play a role in providing a framework 
for the local plans to work within. There are county-wide similarities with specialist 
housing that could benefit from a strategic level policy. A policy in the Oxfordshire 
Plan could provide high level support for the delivery of specialist housing, 

Page 268



127 
 

recognising the role the local plans will play in setting out the levels of appropriate 
specialist housing that should be delivered. 

 
465. This policy is intended to be sufficiently flexible to allow the four districts 

and the City of Oxford to deal with individual needs. Policy could only be high 
level as evidence would be needed if policy became specific. 

 
Preferred Policy Option 
 

 
Policy Option 31: Specialist Housing Needs 
 
1. The Oxfordshire Plan would support the delivery of specialist housing where 

meeting an identified need, in appropriate locations and where proposals conform 
with development plan policies. 

 
2. Specialised housing may include, but is not limited to: 

- Housing for older people 

- Student accommodation 

- Housing for key workers 

- Housing for people with disabilities 

- Homes for life 

 
3. Where appropriate, specialist housing should: 

- be integrated into proposed developments and existing neighbourhoods to 
create mixed and balanced communities; 

- have good access to public transport and local facilities; 
- enable the delivery of well-connected locations which maximise walking, 

cycling and public transport; 
- be appropriate for its intended occupant, e.g. living spaces, provision of 

storage and accessibility; and 
- not result in significant adverse impacts on the amenity of neighbourhood 

uses. 
 

 
Alternative Policy Option 30-01/02/03/04 
 

466. An alternative policy option could be for the Oxfordshire Plan to consider 
the specific requirements for identified groups in the community, as set out below 
for example. However, this is not the preferred option as it could potentially 
overlook the differences in the housing market across Oxfordshire and local 
plans are the most appropriately placed to respond to locally specific housing 
needs. 

 
1. Support the delivery of specialist housing where meeting an identified need, in 

appropriate locations and where proposals conform with local plan policies. 
 
2. Where there is an identified need, housing for older people should: 

- Have good access to public transport; 
- Have good access to local facilities and services, including healthcare and 

shops; 

Page 269



128 
 

- Be appropriate for its intended occupants; 
- Not result in significant adverse impacts on the amenity of neighbouring uses; 
- Provide suitable parking in accordance with the relevant parking standards 

and provide pick up and drop off facilities suitable for taxis, minibuses and 
ambulances; and 

- Be built maximising energy standards in accordance with the approach set out 
in this document. 

 
3. Where there is an identified need, student accommodation should: 

- Be appropriate for its intended occupants; 
- Be secured for student use; 
- Be integrated into proposed developments and existing neighbourhoods to 

create mixed and balanced communities; 
- Maximise walking, cycling and public transport in well-connected locations; 
- Not result in significant adverse impacts on the amenity of neighbourhood 

uses; 
- Provide suitable parking in accordance with the relevant parking standards; 

and 
- Be built maximising energy standards in accordance with the approach set out 

in this document. 
 
4. Where there is an identified need, housing for key workers should: 

- Be appropriate for its intended occupants; 
- Be integrated into proposed developments and existing neighbourhoods to 

create mixed and balanced communities; 
- Maximise walking, cycling and public transport in well-connected locations; 
- Not result in significant adverse impacts on the amenity of neighbourhood 

uses; 
- Provide suitable parking in accordance with the relevant parking standards; 

and 
- Be built maximising energy standards in accordance with the approach set out 

in this document. 
 
Alternative Policy Option 30-02 
 

467. Another alternative option would be to not have a strategic policy on 
specialist housing in the Oxfordshire Plan and to instead leave it to local plans to 
set policies in relation to specialist housing need.  

 
468. Local plans are best placed to address local housing needs, and this is 

reflected in the preferred policy option. However, leaving it completely to local 
plans is not the preferred approach as the Oxfordshire Plan provides an 
opportunity to establish an Oxfordshire wide overarching strategic policy on 
specialist housing. 

 
 

Policy Option 32 - Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople 
 

469. All the local authorities in Oxfordshire have a responsibility to address the 
needs for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople. Currently across 

Page 270



129 
 

Oxfordshire there are 6 permanent council-owned traveller sites, providing 89 
pitches and 21 privately run authorised sites67. 

 
470. In accordance with national planning policy, a county-wide Gypsy and 

Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) has been commissioned jointly 
to inform the production of the Oxfordshire Plan. The current evidence across the 
county comprises the Cherwell, Oxford City, South Oxfordshire and Vale of White 
Horse GTAA 2017 and the West Oxfordshire GTAA 2016. The Oxfordshire GTAA 
which will support the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 is an update of the 201 & 2017 
GTAA's. 

 
471. The Government's planning policy document, Planning Policy for Traveller 

Sites68, sets out that local authorities should set targets which address the likely 
permanent and transit accommodation needs of Gypsies, Travellers and 
Travelling Showpeople. This document provides definitions for Gypsies and 
Travellers and Travelling Showpeople. For the purpose of planning policy 
'gypsies and travellers' means:  

 
472. ‘Persons of nomadic habit of life whatever their race or origin, including 

such persons who on grounds only of their own or their family’s or dependants’ 
educational or health needs or old age have ceased to travel temporarily, but 
excluding members of an organised group of travelling showpeople or circus 
people travelling together as such.’ 

 
473. For the purpose of this planning policy 'travelling showpeople' means: 

 
474. ‘Members of a group organised for the purposes of holding fairs, circuses 

or shows (whether or not travelling together as such). This includes such persons 
who on the grounds of their own or their family’s or dependants’ more localised 
pattern of trading, educational or health needs or old age have ceased to travel 
temporarily, but excludes Gypsies and Travellers as defined above.’ 

 
475. The Oxfordshire Plan will play an important role in assessing county-wide 

accommodation needs and travel patterns. The Government's overarching aim 
is to ensure fair and equal treatment for travellers, in a way that facilitates the 
traditional and nomadic way of life of travellers while respecting the interests of 
the settled community. It is important to note that Gypsies and Travellers and 
Travelling Showpeople have different accommodation need requirements. For 
example, Travelling Showpeople need additional space in order to store and 
maintain large equipment and vehicles. 

 
476. The Oxfordshire Plan will provide an overarching framework, supported 

by the GTAA. The proposed methodology of the GTAA will provide an 
accommodation need figure based on ethnic identity; and also a figure based on 
the definitions above from national policy. The needs of those who are not 
covered in the GTAA will be addressed through the Oxfordshire Growth Needs 
Assessment (‘OGNA’). 

 
477. One of the aims of Government is working collaboratively to develop fair 

and effective strategies to meet need through the identification of land for sites. 

 
67 Authorised Gypsy and Traveller sites | Oxfordshire County Council 
68 Planning policy for traveller sites - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

Page 271

https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-and-planning/land-and-premises/gypsies-and-travellers/authorised-sites
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-policy-for-traveller-sites


130 
 

Given the transient nature of Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople, 
collaborative working with neighbourhood authorities has played an important 
role and will continue to play an important role as the Oxfordshire Plan 
progresses. The Oxfordshire Plan provides an opportunity to work collaboratively 
to develop a county-wide strategy to meet these needs. 

 
478. The GTAA will assess the accommodation needs of Gypsies, Travellers 

and Travelling Showpeople for the period 2020-2035 and consider potential 
future needs up to 2050 for the whole of the county. It will quantify the 
accommodation needs, relating to permanent pitches/plots, sites/yards, and 
transit sites and/or negotiated stopping arrangements. The GTAA will not 
recommend any sites for allocation; this will be done via local plans and the 
Oxfordshire Plan will provide the overarching strategic framework. 

 
Policy Options 
 

479. The proposed policy options relating to Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople have been informed by the emerging evidence base, primarily the 
Oxfordshire GTAA. The GTAA will provide a need figure for each local authority, 
as well as advising on potential strategic approaches, but site allocations will 
remain with the local plan. 

 
480. Due to COVID-19, the preparation of the GTAA has been delayed with the 

household surveys unable to be completed prior to this consultation. It is 
anticipated these will resume shortly and the final GTAA will be published at the 
next stage of consultation (Regulation 19). 

 
Preferred Policy Option  
 

 
Policy Option 32: Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople 
 
The Oxfordshire Plan will set out an Oxfordshire-wide need figure and local planning 
authority breakdowns in 5-year tranches per each authority. 
 
The Oxfordshire Plan will set out locational criteria for the provision of pitches for 
Gypsies and Travellers, plots for Travelling Showpeople and transit sites/pitches, 
this may include, but is not limited to: 
 

- Safe access for pedestrians and vehicles; 
- Accessibility to facilities and services; 
- Availability of utilities; 
- Green Belt (subject to the provisions of the NPPF); 
- Landscape – e.g. Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (subject to the provisions 

of the NPPF); 
- Flooding; 
- Historic and natural environment; 
- Accessibility to preferred routes on the highway network; and 

   - Impact on human health/ natural environment/ local amenity. 
 

 
 

Page 272



131 
 

Spatial Strategy Options 
 
Introduction 
 

481. This part of the Plan outlines the spatial strategy options on which we are 
seeking views. It begins by explaining the purpose of the options, the principles 
on which they are based, the criteria used to evaluate them and links with the 
Sustainability Appraisal process. The section outlines the scale and distribution 
of committed growth in Oxfordshire's existing local plans and goes on to describe 
five spatial strategy options. This part of the Plan concludes with a section on the 
process for selecting a preferred spatial strategy option and broad locations for 
growth in the Regulation 19 Plan. 

 

Proposed Spatial Strategy 
 

482. At this stage in the Plan preparation process, we are not identifying 
individual spatial strategy options that can necessarily accommodate all of 
Oxfordshire's growth over the next 30 years. Nor is any one of the options, taken 
in isolation, likely to form Oxfordshire's eventual long-term spatial strategy. It is 
much more likely that the preferred strategy in the Regulation 19 Plan will 
comprise components from more than one of the options which, when combined 
together and depending on how robust the potential interventions are likely to be, 
will most effectively deliver the Plan's priorities and the outcomes set out in the 
Strategic Vision for Oxfordshire. 

 
483. Presenting a set of options allows us to explore how, and the extent to 

which, each option would deliver Oxfordshire's ambitions for long-term, 
transformative, sustainable development. The options have been broadly defined 
to consider opportunities for 'good' housing and economic growth, but also 
opportunities for a wider range of improvements that contribute to 'good growth', 
including new infrastructure and environmental enhancements, as well as the 
scope for enhancing the beneficial use of the Green Belt, and constraints. 

 
484. It is important that each of the options is 'reasonable', clearly defined and 

sufficiently distinctive to allow for robust testing as part of the plan-making 
process. Nevertheless, the five spatial strategy options are underpinned by a set 
of common principles. 

 

• All options help deliver the Oxfordshire Strategic Vision and the Plan's Vision & 
Objectives. They seek to align economic, social and environmental objectives – 
though each option does this in different ways and to varying degrees because 
each is based on a different key driver for transformation. 

 

• All options make effective use of land by planning positively for re-use of 
previously developed or brownfield land, including under-utilised land and 
buildings as urban regeneration schemes. 

 

• All options prioritise the environment as a common thread that flows from the 
Oxfordshire Strategic Vision. This includes climate change, nature recovery, 
natural capital and enhanced resilience. This means there is no separate 
environment-led option. 

 

Page 273



132 
 

• All options support the City of Oxford as the key driver for good growth within 
Oxfordshire. 

 

• All options give priority to national policies that protect areas or assets that are of 
particular intrinsic importance and are likely to endure over the whole Plan period 
and are likely to impact on the distribution of development at the strategic scale. 

 

• All options will seek to influence and shape the priorities within the emerging 
Spatial Framework for the Oxford-Cambridge Arc. 

 

• All options recognise that in the short-term, adopted local plans will be particularly 
important in shaping Oxfordshire's spatial strategy, but that over the longer-term 
– the 30-year time-span of the Oxfordshire Plan – there is greater scope to effect 
change, but also greater uncertainty. 

 
485. To evaluate the options, we have identified what the three overarching 

objectives of sustainable development mean in an Oxfordshire context and set 
them out as a set of criteria. There is a strong read-across between these 
criteria, Oxfordshire's Strategic Vision and this Plan's Vision & Objectives. 

 
1. Guiding new development to the most sustainable locations. 
2. Using land effectively by planning positively for brownfield land and supporting 

urban regeneration. 
3. Protection and enhancement of Oxfordshire's highly valued countryside and 

landscape. 
4. Enhancement of the network of green spaces and blue infrastructure in urban 

and rural areas in ways that deliver social, economic and environmental benefits. 
5. Support for nature's recovery in ways that optimise the range of economic and 

social benefits that nature provides. 
6. Creation of places that build community resilience in terms of climate change, 

health of habitats and healthy place-shaping. 
7. Maintenance of an effective Green Belt around Oxford and enhancement of its 

beneficial use in line with national policy. 
8. Planning for growth opportunities that will reduce inequalities and improve the 

health and wellbeing of the most disadvantaged. 
9. Strengthening the conditions that support our network for economic activity 

comprising innovation hubs and clusters and corridors based on science and 
technology and other key economic assets.  

10. Reducing the need to travel and improving connectivity, with new development 
located where there is existing or planned sustainable transport links (or the 
potential for such links based on new investment) and the potential for active 
travel. 

11. Planning for further development at existing settlements where this can be done 
sustainably. 

12. Contributing to the success of the Oxford-Cambridge Arc. 
 

486. The evaluation of the options presented here is consistent, robust, 
objective, evidence-based, transparent and sets out at a high level the positive 
and negative impacts of each option and the interventions that would be required 
to deliver it. 

 
487. The Sustainability Appraisal has played – and will continue to play – 

an important ongoing role in strategy and option development. The 'Introducing 

Page 274



133 
 

the Oxfordshire Plan 2050' consultation document included the following set of 
spatial scenario typologies: 

 

 
Spatial Scenario Typologies, February 2019 
 
Scenario 1: Intensification of city, town and district centres 
 
Scenario 2: New settlements 
 
Scenario 3: Dispersal with development spread evenly across the county, 

including in smaller settlements 
 
Scenario 4: 'Wheel' settlement cluster with a focus on Oxford and the existing 

larger towns and key corridors into Oxford and between towns 
 
Scenario 5: Intensification around the edges of larger settlements and strategic 

extensions 
 
Scenario 6: Spokes and hubs with a continued focus on Oxford and key corridors 

into Oxford 
 
Scenario 7: 'String' settlement/ settlement cluster with development focused on a 

number of linked settlements. 
 

 
488. These typologies were further refined following public consultation to 

inform the following set of eight potential alternatives for the spatial distribution 
of growth for consideration through the Sustainability Appraisal of the Oxfordshire 
Plan. 

 

 
Spatial Alternatives, July 2020 
 

1. Intensification in existing towns and cities: Increase density of existing and 
planned settlements, prioritise brownfield sites. 

 
2. Intensification of housing development around strategic economic assets: Co-

location of uses to meet business and research park needs. 
 
3. Public transport 'Wheel' (transport-led): Concentrate development around 

areas of good public transport connectivity. 
 
4. Rail 'String' (transport-led): Locate string of settlements along new/upgraded 

rail corridors (e.g. Cowley line). 
 
5. OxCam 'String' (transport-led): New development along route of OxCam 

Expressway, once the route has been decided, consistent with NIC Growth 
Deal aspirations. 

 
6. Strategic road junctions: Concentrate development around strategic road 

junctions. 
 

Page 275



134 
 

7. Proportionate dispersed growth between existing settlements (needs-led): 
Oxford, towns and villages. 

 
8. New settlements with new strategic transport connections. 
 
9. Protect environmental assets (environment-led): Identify environmental 

constraints first (eg. strategic green and blue infrastructure, historic 
environment, flooding, AONB and other sensitive landscapes, best and most 
versatile agricultural land etc, possibly through natural capital mapping), then 
place housing and employment where they avoid significant impacts and 
enable enhancements. 

 
Source: Oxfordshire Plan 2050, Sustainability Appraisal – Alternatives, LUC in 
association with Levett-Therivel Sustainability Consultants, July 2020 
 

 
489. Alternatives 5 & 6 which would focus development on roads (the Oxford-

Cambridge expressway for Alternative 5 and existing road junctions for 
Alternative 6) were the least sustainable alternatives of the nine considered 
through the Sustainability Appraisal. The expressway was formally cancelled by 
Government on 18 March 2021 after analysis showed that the proposed project 
would not be cost-effective, with any benefits outweighed by the costs.  

 
490. Alternative 5 is no longer considered 'reasonable' and it has been 

discounted from further consideration.  
 

491. Alternative 6 was assessed as having significant negative effects across 
a range of SA objectives, including health, reliance on the car, climate change, 
pollution, soils and efficient use of land, biodiversity and geodiversity and 
landscape. This alternative is also not considered 'reasonable' and none of the 
spatial options put forward at this stage focuses development on roads. 

 
492. Alternative 8 (new settlements with new strategic transport connections) 

was assessed as having a mix of positive and negative effects, depending on the 
scale of new settlements, their location and the type of strategic transport 
connections created. New settlements have not been taken forward as a 
separate strategic spatial option in the Plan; rather a new settlement (or 
settlements) is considered as a spatial typology that could potentially help deliver 
several of the strategic options set out in this document. 

 
The level of ‘committed growth’ 

 
493. As noted in the section on housing, the OGNA was commissioned 

because we recognised at the outset that in order for the Oxfordshire Plan to be 
robust, we would require a different approach to assessing Oxfordshire's long-
term growth needs. The commissioning brief for the OGNA recorded: 

 
494. ‘National planning policy requires an assessment of Local Housing Need 

based on a standard methodology as set out in the PPG. However, there are 
limitations and uncertainties in applying a methodology over such a long 
timescale when it has been designed on the basis of 10 to 15-year local plans. 
For example, forecasting affordable housing need is particularly sensitive to 

Page 276



135 
 

market and pricing fluctuations so it is challenging to forecast over a long 
timescale to 2050. 

 
495. As such the city/district councils are commissioning this assessment to 

provide bespoke analysis of the growth needs for Oxfordshire to supplement the 
Standard Methodology, to inform the preparation of the Oxfordshire Plan and 
which is capable of satisfying the soundness requirements for Examination. 

 
496. The aim of this study is to identify numerical scenarios for sustainable 

housing and economic growth needs in Oxfordshire over the period 2020-2050 
based on consideration of key drivers including the housing market, demography 
and the economy. Taken together, the scenarios will provide a tool that policy-
makers can use when developing policies for the Oxfordshire Plan.’ 

 
497. The OGNA ranges appear in the emerging Oxfordshire Plan at the 

Regulation 18 stage as the scale of future growth that the Plan has to consider 
up to 2050 is a fundamental part of the what the Plan is being created to do. At 
the Regulation 19 stage (the next stage), the Plan will set the broad areas of 
growth, with policies that will apply to 2050 and the monitoring and infrastructure 
elements. But the plan also draws on the Growth Board Strategic Vision that has 
been adopted by each Council and a series of Objectives that have led to a series 
of Themes for grouping proposed policies.  

 
498. The Oxfordshire Plan and the Growth Board's Strategic Vision include an 

agreed broadly-based definition of 'good growth'. This is important as rather than 
seeing economic, social and environmental objectives as competing demands 
that need to be balanced or prioritised, our approach is to align and integrate all 
our priorities. 

 
499. But in testing the OGNA ranges, we need to consider what the Plan is 

trying to achieve as whole (including for example, on Climate Change and 
Environmental quality). We also need to consider the level of growth set out in 
the adopted local plans for Oxfordshire which runs into the time period of the 
Oxfordshire Plan.  

 
500. As noted in the earlier plan section (Homes: How many? Commitments 

and locations) Oxfordshire has five adopted local plans with committed growth 
running from 2020 (the starting date for the Oxfordshire Plan) onwards and in 3 
of the Districts there are strategic sites that will continue to be built out beyond 
the end of the local plan period which the Oxfordshire Plan needs to take into 
account too.  

 

501. This committed growth (taken from local plan trajectories, based on 
allocated sites) has to be taken into account. The OGNA figure minus committed 
growth leaves a 'residual' figure. 

 
502. The decision on where on the range the figure for Oxfordshire should sit 

cannot be taken at this stage (Regulation 18 Part 2). This decision is to be 
informed by the outcome of the evaluation and evidence in the next phase of 
plan-making. 

 
503. For the local planning authorities to take that decision in due course, it is 

recognised that there must be an appropriate set of spatial options that have 

Page 277



136 
 

been consulted upon (the Regulation 18 Part 2 consultation undertakes this) and 
then have undertaken further technical testing and an assessment of different 
site proposals that have been sent to us for consideration, a process that includes 
a consideration of the Plan's Vision, its objectives and the five policy themes of 
the Plan (Climate Change, Environmental quality etc).  

 
504. This process of evaluation will be undertaken early in the period between 

Regulation 18 Part 2 and Regulation 19, the next consultation stage (due to be 
undertaken in May 2022). This Regulation 18 Part 2 Plan contains a section 
setting out how the Plan is to proceed from Regulation 18 to Regulation 19 
through this process of evaluation. 

 
505. The spatial strategy options also take account of the locations of growth 

from the adopted local plans. 
 

Local Plan Allocated Sites 2011-2031/5/6 

 

 

The Spatial Strategy Options 
 

506. We are consulting on five spatial strategy options: 
 

Page 278



137 
 

Option 1 Focus on opportunities at larger settlements and planned growth 
locations. 

Option 2 Focus on Oxford-led growth. 
Option 3 Focus on opportunities in sustainable transport corridors & at strategic 

transport hubs. 
Option 4 Focus on strengthening business locations. 
Option 5 Focus on supporting rural communities. 

 
507. These five options are seen as being clear and distinctive high-level 

'reasonable alternatives' to consult on at Regulation 18. 
 

• Option 1 aims to add more growth onto the growth level and locations set out in 
the adopted local plans.  

• Options 2 to 5 are more transformational. 
 

508. Each option is high level and helps identify how new housing, employment 
and other development could be distributed, and where there are opportunities 
for environmental enhancement and infrastructure improvements. 

 
509. Each spatial strategy option shows the current local plan allocations for 

reference purposes. 
 

510. Each option includes detail of scope and justification and most importantly 
the delivery challenges, as there are no easy options. No one option appears 
able to accommodate all of the proposed additional Plan growth on top of the 
growth associated with the existing adopted local plans. It is anticipated that a 
mix of options will be needed to deliver our spatial strategy. 

 
Option 1: Focus on opportunities at larger settlements & planned 
growth locations 
 

 
Scope & scale 
 
This option would distribute the bulk of growth to 2050 to those locations that have 
accommodated the majority of five local plan allocations in the first phase of the Plan 
up to the mid-2030s, on the edges of the towns, the City and former MoD sites (such 
as Heyford Park, Chalgrove Airfield, Carterton/Brize Norton & Dalton Barracks) ie 
the growth would be focused in line with current adopted Local Plan strategies. 
 
It would also include opportunities for urban renewal, intensification and brownfield 
redevelopment. 
 
The focus of this option would be strategic scale housing growth at existing market 
towns, Oxford, former MOD sites and planned garden communities. As a result, if 
this were pursued as an option, it would include consideration of growth proposals 
that would bring more development to locations already receiving a high level of 
growth and constitute an extension of the existing local plan strategies, adding to 
the pattern of existing and planned infrastructure investment. 
 

Page 279



138 
 

The limits of the option are that it is not the easy option it first appears due to 
transport issues at a number of locations, such as Banbury that may limit the ability 
to absorb more growth and limited land availability at Didcot. 
 
This option does not include consideration of new settlements beyond those 
identified in existing local plans. 
 
The scope of this option includes all of the top-tier settlements within each local plan 
settlement hierarchy as well as rural service centres that have plans to 
accommodate significant growth and new planned garden communities.  
 
 
 

Oxford Cherwell South Vale West 

Oxford Banbury 
Bicester 
Begbroke/Kidlington/Yarnton 
Heyford Park 
 

Didcot 
Henley 
Thame 
Wallingford 
Berinsfield 
Chalgrove 
Airfield 
Culham 
 

Abingdon 
Faringdon 
Grove 
Wantage 

Carterton/Brize 
Norton 
Chipping 
Norton 
Witney 
Eynsham 
Woodstock 

 

Justification 
 
Many stakeholders and communities have already expressed views about the merits 
of this proposed development distribution during the development of the five District 
local plans. The strategies underpinning these plans were shaped to a significant 
degree by the previous Structure Plan for Oxfordshire which concentrated growth at 
County Towns, as well as the more recent challenge of accommodating Oxford's 
unmet housing needs outside of the city administrative area in the neighbouring 
Districts. 
 
The existing distribution of allocated growth has been found sound and sustainable 
through five independent examinations of the current adopted local plans for each 
District, which also concluded that exceptional circumstances exist for the Green 
Belt boundary reviews that took place in the preparation of the Cherwell, Oxford City, 
South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse Plans. 
 
There was significant opposition to the allocation of land in many Oxfordshire 
locations, particularly where it affected communities in the Green Belt in South 
Oxfordshire and Cherwell. Such locations are regarded as sustainable as they are 
situated in accessible locations for Oxford and many of the major economic growth 
and innovation areas for the county. Further development in these locations would 
require demonstration of 'exceptional circumstances', and subsequent Green Belt 
review. 
 
This option would continue to focus growth to locations with the highest 
concentration of jobs, affordable housing need and sustainable transport 
connectivity, to ensure that development helped meet the needs of existing and 
future communities in a sustainable manner. The emphasis would be on growing 
existing communities and those locations previously determined to be the most 

Page 280



139 
 

sustainable locations for strategic scale growth. Clearly, assessment would be 
required to identify the scale of what might be possible in specific locations. 
 
The current local plans include allocations for a high level of development through 
new garden communities across Oxfordshire (e.g. at Bicester, Didcot, Salt Cross, 
Berinsfield and Dalton Barracks) which are being established during the first phase 
of the Oxfordshire Plan up to 2036. These new communities will be complemented 
by the delivery of new infrastructure which could accommodate further development 
beyond 2040. 
 
This option includes areas of urban renewal, intensification within urban areas, 
opportunities for brownfield redevelopment (including at former MoD sites such as 
Heyford Park and Chalgrove Airfield and current areas of MoD housing such as 
Carterton and their adjoining areas) and would take account of the changing nature 
and role of town centres (in part arising from the COVID impacts on the retail sector). 
 
This option would focus growth around existing sustainable transport nodes and 
proposed infrastructure investment to ensure communities have access to 
sustainable transport choices for movement within communities and for inter-urban 
connections. We wish to avoid the risk that growth at the edge of main settlements 
becomes increasingly distant from town centres and transport hubs. There is a need 
to ensure that connections are provided to maximise sustainability, with 
neighbourhood centres that do not detract from the viability/vitality of town centres. 
 
This option could result in further expansion of settlements at the urban fringe, 
eroding rural character and the relationship with the surrounding countryside. 
Hence, the detailed assessment required prior to publication of the Regulation 19 
Plan. As we know, planned growth already takes us to the limits of what is 
acceptable at some settlements in terms of constraints. A number of towns face 
significant challenges in entertaining additional growth such as Banbury, where the 
current pattern of connectivity is severely stretched with considerable infrastructure 
challenges to resolve to deliver the level of planned growth associated with the 
adopted local plans. The same is also the case at Didcot and the edge of Oxford. 
 
This option excludes new significant level growth at the villages of Oxfordshire. 
 
New settlements do not form part of this strategy option. 
 

Opportunities 
 
Opportunities and sustainability gains to be secured where growth is considered 
include: 

• Securing brownfield redevelopment 

• Addressing the changing role of town centres 

• Meeting affordable housing needs 

• Concentration around sustainable transport nodes and supporting 
sustainable travel movements 

• Opportunities for multi modal travel 

• Strengthened community services and facilities in most accessible locations 
/ Strengthening existing role of settlements. 

• Meeting the needs of an ageing population 

• Addressing existing deprivation 

Page 281



140 
 

• Links to OxIS and existing planned infrastructure where capacity allows 

• Securing '20 minutes neighbourhoods' 

• Extended walking and cycling provision including connections to regional 
routes. 

• Supporting a mixed economy – balancing jobs and housing growth. 
 
Note: There may be an opportunity to create a new tier within the settlement 
hierarchy, associated with the settlement potential work, that draws out a vision for 
the settlements to 2050 which takes account of opportunities and constraints and 
would include: 

• City – main hub/centre 

• Bigger Towns – between the city & market towns. Could be grown to have an 
extended role/function and significant new services/facilities (could include 
Bicester, Didcot). 

• Market Towns – more traditional scale/character/role/function 
 

 
Option 1 – Focus on opportunities at larger settlements and planned growth 

locations. 

Page 282



141 
 

 

 
 
  

Page 283



142 
 

Option 2: Focus on Oxford-led growth  
 
Scope & scale 
 
This option covers urban intensification within the City of Oxford, new or extended 
urban extensions on the edge of the City.  
 
It includes consideration of growth proposals that are well-connected to the city or 
are potential extensions to planned growth sites on city edge related to growth in the 
current adopted local plans and employment sites on the edge of the city that form 
an Oxford-focused cluster. This may require consideration of a need for a further 
Green Belt release if the 'exceptional circumstances' test can be met. 
 
The limits of the option are that we know there are significant constraints on what 
can be achieved within the current administrative area of Oxford, as while there is 
some potential for more urban renewal and transformation within the city over a 30 
year period, it is likely to be modest in scale. Following the release of land on the 
edge of the city in the Cherwell, South and Vale local plans there are only limited 
options for additional growth, but some options being promoted which should be 
tested. The big challenge is to secure the integration of major sites, transport 
connectivity and green infrastructure connections. 
 
Our aim is to seek to retain the current economic-housing balance, so do not 
anticipate changes of use to established economic sites. 
 
This option does not include consideration of new settlements. 
 
The focus of this option will be on the City and its immediate locale, recognising the 
role that Oxford plays as a vital economic node, its function as the main service 
centre and key focal point for the county as a whole. New city-focused growth would 
aim to support and strengthen Oxford's role as a global centre for knowledge and 
innovation and its role as a modest sized compact city, as well as one of the anchors 
of the Oxford-Cambridge Arc. 
 
If new or extended urban extensions were to be considered it is anticipated that 
Green Belt land would be required. This option could include consideration of 
enhancement to the Green Belt adjoining the city for beneficial public uses, such as 
new parkland. 
 

Justification 
 
This option would focus growth within the city and its immediate hinterland to 
capitalise on economic growth in the city utilising sustainable transport connections, 
rail, bus and cycling, such as the west end regeneration centred on the Oxford rail 
station improvement or at the Parkway station, Cowley Branch Line and Park and 
Rides to support prosperity in the rest of the county. 
 
Recognising the significant role of the city as a global centre/leader in knowledge 
and innovation, as driver of the county economy and the importance of Oxford as 
an anchor in the Oxford-Cambridge Arc and how building on the strengths of the city 
and meeting the needs of its communities will underpin regional prosperity. 
 

Page 284



143 
 

The challenge faced by Oxford in meeting its full housing need, as well as an urgent 
need to provide more affordable housing led to four local plans neighbouring Oxford 
meeting its unmet housing need up to 2031/36. Improved cycling links and public 
transport connections are being put in place to ensure that the new development 
areas fully integrate with the city. 
 
The focus on 'levelling up within the city in order to support a more productive 
economy and to deliver inclusive growth will lead to new approaches to regeneration 
and housing delivery. 
 
Further development on the edge in the Green Belt (that meets the 'exceptional 
circumstances' test) should be to a high design quality, together with improved 
connectivity to the city, reinforce the links to the business parks surrounding the city 
and invest in environment enhancements to the Green Belt around the edge of the 
city. 
 

Opportunities 
 
Opportunities and sustainability gains to be secured where growth is considered 
include: 
 
1) Securing wider economic opportunities: 

• Growing Oxford's (and subsequently Oxfordshire's) global role as a centre for 
knowledge and innovation 

• Re-purposing of business and science parks with new economic uses as they 
age and new business activities need to be supported. 

 
2) Securing local opportunities: 

• Growth related to Oxford's main service centre as a highly sustainable 
location 

• A well-established network of sustainable and active travel to connect to  

• Securing regeneration opportunities and some brownfield redevelopment 

• Addressing engrained deprivation and reducing inequalities 

• Responding to the changing role of town centres 

• Co-location of jobs and housing 

• Securing '20 minutes neighbourhoods' 

• Extended walking and cycling provision including connections to regional 
routes 

• Capitalising on skills 

• Enhancing Green Belt for its beneficial uses - for people as well as nature. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 285



144 
 

 
 
 

Option 2 – Focus on Oxford led Growth. 

 
 
  

Page 286



145 
 

 
Option 3: Focus on opportunities in sustainable transport corridors 
& at strategic transport hubs 
 
Scope & scale 
 
This option covers new growth based in the most sustainable transport corridors, 
where frequent bus services operate and rail stations act as transport hubs. This 
includes new rail stations being planned through strategies such as the Oxfordshire 
Rail Corridor Study. This option aligns with the emerging Local Transport 
Connectivity Plan, being prepared by Oxfordshire County Council. 
 
It includes consideration of growth proposals that sit within the main public transport 
corridors, both rail and bus, linking the rural parts of Oxfordshire with towns and key 
employment locations and the city itself where the highest density of public transport 
corridors is focused (and thus not all of the M40 is included). It also takes account 
of existing and planned key transport hubs. The aim is to align future growth with 
transport infrastructure investment. The strategy would continue to concentrate 
Oxfordshire's population through the identified corridors, including the main 
settlements and potentially at lower order settlements and new settlements within 
these corridors. 
 
This option does include consideration of new settlements. Development may be 
generated from transport investment that improves the sustainability of particular 
locations. 
 
This option focuses on bus and rail corridors for the purpose of considering an 
option. Vehicles will become much more sustainable over the plan period as the 
switch to electric accelerates. 
 
Bus Routes 

• Existing: High frequency bus routes and rapid transport routes. 

• New: Need to consider the quantum of growth required to deliver bus routes? 
A new national bus strategy and bus services implementation plan is due from 
Government shortly; this is too soon to account for at the Regulation 18 stage 
and will input at the Regulation 19 stage. 

 
Trains  

• Existing: Based on the location of stations (nodes) with a walking/cycling 
distance buffer around existing stations. Not all stations play an equal role as 
some are major hubs, others smaller. 

• New: Opportunities related to new stations or improved services at existing 
stations. A new national rail strategy is due from Government shortly; this is 
too soon to account for at the Regulation 18 stage and will input at the 
Regulation 19 stage. 

 

Justification 
 
The option fits with the net zero carbon ambitions of the Oxfordshire Plan. Central 
to the Oxfordshire Plan vision and objectives is the need to address the causes of 
climate change and to improve the health and wellbeing of communities. Securing 
growth based on a sustainable transport network will be central to achieving those 

Page 287



146 
 

objectives and this option places the focus and emphasis on growth in areas with 
good public transport links. Our spatial strategy has moved away from putting the 
car first. 
 
The focus and emphasis of this option is on the existing public transport network 
and primarily locations that are connected with Oxford and thus form part of the 
first/last mile considerations. This option may result in a hub and spoke pattern of 
development with future growth focussed in areas with good public transport 
connectivity to Oxford, with new development focused on transport nodes such as 
Oxford Parkway and the regeneration of Oxford station and growth associated with 
Culham station and other new stations. 
 
This option also considers wider area connections, such as between Oxfordshire 
and the Oxford-Cambridge Arc, the Thames corridor and M40 corridor, together with 
the relationship to major settlements close to the plan area, including Swindon and 
Reading. 
 
This option would focus growth at locations within or connected to the highest 
concentrations of jobs, affordable housing need and sustainable transport 
connectivity, to ensure that development was well placed to meet the needs of 
existing and future communities in a sustainable manner. The emphasis would be 
on ensuring that future communities, whether part of an expanding settlement or 
new garden community would be well connected to the sustainable transport 
network. 
 
This option could support areas where urban renewal, intensification within urban 
areas, or opportunities for brownfield redevelopment can be triggered by transport 
improvements (such as new railway stations and extending rail services on the 
Great Western Line, or following the upgrade to Oxford Station, including the North 
Cotswold Line, East-West Rail and the line to Didcot) as well as new rapid bus 
connections and would also take account of the changing nature and role of town 
centres. 
 
It may result in the establishment of new garden communities where they are well 
related to existing or planned sustainable transport infrastructure investment such 
as on the Oxfordshire rail network, not in isolated locations. 
 
This option would closely align with the LTCP vision including active and healthy 
travel, encouraging healthy choices, promoting the use of public transport and 
improved regional and local connectivity. 
 
The option considers 'Connectivity for all', not just those who are able to drive. Public 
transport provisions meet the needs of younger and older people, those with 
disabilities & those on lower incomes.  
 

Opportunities 
 
Opportunities and sustainability gains to be secured where growth is considered 
include: 

• Concentration around sustainable transport nodes and supporting 
sustainable travel movements 

• Opportunities for multi modal travel and integrated transport networks 

• Enhancing sustainable transport and building on existing infrastructure 

Page 288



147 
 

• Links to OxIS and existing planned infrastructure where capacity allows 

• Decarbonising the transport network 

• Establishment of new settlements in sustainable locations 

• The potential to create new and/or improved sustainable transport 
hubs/corridors. 

• Strengthened community services and facilities in most accessible locations 

• Meeting the needs of an ageing population 

• Addressing existing deprivation 

• Securing brownfield redevelopment 

• Addressing the changing role of town centres 

• Meeting affordable housing needs where they arise 

• Supporting a mixed economy – balancing jobs and housing growth. 

• Distributing growth away from locations that have experienced significant 
growth in first phase of plan and are allocated through adopted local plans. 

• Securing '20 minutes neighbourhoods' 

• Extended walking and cycling provision including connections to regional 
routes. 

• Moving away from car dependent developments. 
 

  

Page 289



148 
 

 

Option 3 - Focus on opportunities in sustainable transport corridors & at 
strategic transport hubs. 

 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 290



149 
 

 
Option 4: Focus on strengthening business locations 
 
Scope & scale 
 
This option centres on the network of business and science parks that covers 
Oxfordshire and particularly those identified as priority economic assets in the 
OXLEP LIS key locations within Oxfordshire’s 'innovation ecosystem'. 
 
This option includes consideration of growth proposals that would extend business 
and science parks or create new ones, with housing and residential areas alongside, 
co-located with these economic hubs, to reduce the need to travel and to create 
more sustainable locations. This option does not support the conversion of business 
parks themselves for housing. 
 
This option would also include the intensification of economic activities at the 
business and science parks, building on current economic strengths in key sectors 
such as life sciences and advanced engineering, as new economic innovations are 
applied, and buildings need to be repurposed to support new economic activities 
and create more jobs. As the OXLEP LIS highlights, as current and new economic 
sectors grow, the demand for employment space will grow further. It is also 
anticipated that as the Oxford to Cambridge Arc takes shape over the next 20 to 30 
years, more land for economic purposes will be required, especially as the economy 
gradually converts to net zero carbon and new economic opportunities arise for the 
wider economy and SMEs as a result. 
 
The option would focus new growth where it would help to support/strengthen 
Oxfordshire's key economic assets and take account of key economic assets 
identified in the LIS that are not yet built out. The limits of the option are that it is 
anticipated that the opportunity to undertake the sort of residential growth alongside 
the network of business parks that is proposed in this option is modest. 
 
This option could include the creation of new settlements, where new business and 
science parks are proposed as part of a comprehensive, mixed use development 
proposal.  
 

Location identified in LIS (Figure 10) 

Banbury Oxford Brookes University 

Begbroke Science Park Oxford Business Park 

Bicester Garden Town Oxford Centre for Innovation 

Carterton/Brize Norton Oxford North 

Culham Science Centre Oxford Science Park 

Didcot Garden Town Oxford Station and West End 

Grove Technology Park Oxford Technology Park 

Harwell Campus Oxford University 

Headington Hospital Quarter Salt Cross garden Village 

Heyford Park Shrivenham Defence Academy 

Howbery Park The Quadrant, Abingdon 

Milton Park Witney Business and Innovation 
Centre 

Osney Meads Innovation Quarter  
 

 

Page 291



150 
 

Justification 
 
Oxfordshire is at the centre of innovation for the UK. It has a strong network of 
science parks and innovation firms across the county, with towns such as Bicester 
and Banbury, Carterton and locations such as Heyford Park all playing an important 
role, alongside the globally significant Science Vale with it critical economic assets 
at Culham and Harwell and the City of Oxford, with its universities, at the heart of 
the county-wide network. 
 
The strength of Oxfordshire's economy has been and will be driven to a large extent 
by innovation sectors and business clusters within towns such as Bicester and 
Didcot as well as transformative technologies developed through the universities 
and the network of business and science parks in Oxfordshire. 
 
The challenges in retaining growth in these key sectors and enabling business to 
establish themselves and grow in Oxfordshire are well recognised and include the 
availability of space for business to grow, the availability of affordable housing and 
capacity in the transport and infrastructure network. 
 
This option supports clean economic growth to support innovation and economic 
prosperity across the county. The option would support the intensification and 
extension of existing business and science sites and emphasises supporting 
innovation and securing innovation centres, live-work units and building on the 
recent Treasury Plan for Growth. 
 
Supporting the growth and sustainability of Oxfordshire's innovation ecosystem will 
help support a balanced economy across Oxfordshire so that prosperity is shared. 
This option includes the potential to renew and strengthen the economic role of our 
city and town centres. 
 
The focus of this option is on the spatial relationship between these key innovation 
and economic growth clusters, with the emphasis on enhanced transport and digital 
connectivity and the co-location of housing and jobs to reduce the need for travel 
and create a more sustainable approach to growth. 
 
This option takes account of a recent survey of key employment sites and their 
potential for growth. 
 
The option also addresses the impact of COVID-19 and the long-term need for 
people to be located close to their workplaces - recognising lots of the work in the 
knowledge economy needs specialist equipment, laboratories, etc. Also, the 
business opportunities arising from MoD activities and technology support 
undertaken at military bases such as Brize Norton. 
 

Opportunities  
 
Opportunities and sustainability gains to be secured where growth is considered 
include: 
 

A) Securing global economic opportunities: 

• Supporting the innovation ecosystem and the wider economy too 

• Securing affordable housing is a key issue to address to remove a key 
constraint on economic growth 

Page 292



151 
 

• Spreading growth and investment (and the opportunities associated with 
this) across a wide geographical area and a wide range of key economic 
assets. 
 

B) Securing local (Oxfordshire) economic opportunities: 

• Reducing the need to travel 

• Concentration of growth around sustainable transport nodes 

• Securing '20 minute neighbourhoods' 

• Extended walking and cycling provision including connections to regional 
routes. 

 

 

Option 4 – Focus on strengthening business locations. 

 

Page 293



152 
 

Option 5: Focus on supporting rural communities 
 
Scope & scale 
 
This option covers rural Oxfordshire and focuses on the villages and areas between 
the villages. 
 
It includes consideration of growth proposals beyond the areas supported through 
the current adopted local plans that might bring new investment and strengthen 
patronage in rural areas that is essential to support rural services (and improve 
access), improve access to education and shops etc. It could include new 
investment in the rural economy, new village clusters, as well as taking account of 
strong cross-boundary relationship with major settlements outside Oxfordshire, such 
as Swindon. 
 
The scope for this option is to consider growth in rural settings away from the main 
service centres and top-tier settlements that will accommodate the current local 
plan-led growth up to the mid-2030s and a redirection of development to more rural 
parts of the county provided that suitable access to the public transport network and 
key services and facilities is possible. 
   
The limits of the option are that we anticipate the SA and the other evidence that 
supports the Plan will show that there is a limit to the level of new growth that can 
be absorbed in each of the four rural Districts. We anticipate that limited rural growth 
will feature in the Regulation 19 Plan. 
 
This option does include consideration of extending existing and allocated Garden 
Villages and establishing new settlements. 
 

Justification 
 
Many villages have an aging population and have lost their services. Limited growth 
could arrest that decline and strengthen their sustainability. The most widespread 
deprivation factor in Oxfordshire relates to barriers to housing and services. 
 
Such inequalities are less prevalent within the main market towns and settlements 
that are planned to grow from the sites allocated in the adopted local plans. The 
main settlements have benefitted from investment in infrastructure and affordable 
housing over a number of years and although deprivation and inequalities exist 
within these communities, rural areas have in many cases become increasingly 
isolated, particularly with the removal of public transport services and restricted 
growth. 
 
This option would seek to address existing issues of isolation and rural deprivation 
by redirecting growth away from main settlements to where it could best address 
such inequalities; this approach is being taken in the current South Oxfordshire Plan 
with the Berinsfield Garden Village. 
 
Regard will be had to infrastructure delivery and how investment in infrastructure in 
the first phase of the Plan might facilitate further growth beyond and up to 2050. 
 
While there are settlements that might be strengthened by limited growth to improve 
accessibility, housing choice and service, it is anticipated that only modest levels of 

Page 294



153 
 

growth would arise from this option due to constraints such as poor access and the 
limited capacity of rural roads. 
 
It is likely that as farming practices and land stewardship continues to evolve, in 
response to climate change and policy changes around environmental stewardship, 
the process of farm diversification will lead to new innovations in the rural economy 
that will themselves support limited residential growth in rural areas. 
 
It could involve support for new villages and modest growth at villages not faced by 
connectivity challenges. But a major dispersal of new growth across a wide range 
of villages would not be consistent with the Plan strategy as it is much harder to 
deliver strategic scale infrastructure and it is harder to deliver major change to meet 
net zero carbon ambitions. 
 
A number of locations would also currently be in the Green Belt and therefore any 
removal of land from the Green Belt would be subject to identifying the exceptional 
circumstances for doing so. 
 

Opportunities 
 
Opportunities and sustainability gains to be secured where growth is considered 
include: 

• Addressing rural deprivation and inequalities by improving access to 
services, facilities, homes and jobs in rural areas 

• Maximising cross-boundary relationships 

• Reducing pressure on main settlements 

• Supporting the diversification of the rural economy 

• Securing '20 minutes neighbourhoods' and delivering net zero carbon growth 

• Extended walking and cycling provision including connections to regional 
routes. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 295



154 
 

Option 5 – Focus on supporting rural communities. 

 
 
  

Page 296



155 
 

 
Next Steps: Proceeding from Regulation 18 to Regulation 19 
 

511. Following the consultation on the Regulation 18 Plan, a site options 
assessment will be undertaken using a series of steps to enable the 'Broad Areas 
of Growth' to be identified, taking account of current local plan allocations, new 
development proposals and opportunities for enhancement. This evaluation will 
involve testing of site options against the Oxfordshire Plan evidence-base using 
consistent data and baseline information. 

 
512. Consideration will also be given to the strategic interventions required to 

deliver each spatial strategy option and the testing of each option against 
different scales of growth. 

 
513. As noted in the section on the level of ‘committed growth’, a decision will 

also be taken as to where on the OGNA range the level of growth to be 
accommodated should be set at the end of 2021. This will take account of the 
level of 'committed' growth already met in the five adopted local plans from 2020 
to 2031/5/6 onwards and thus consider a 'residual growth' figure for the 2031/5/6 
period to 2050. 

 
514. We anticipate that the Regulation 19 Plan will contain a mix of the five 

spatial options. 
 

515. The assessment of site proposals in the period between Regulation 18 
and 19 will also need to take account of the MHCLG-led Arc Spatial Framework 
as it emerges. It is possible that there may be growth requirements to be 
considered from that source.  

 

STEP 1: (September 2021) Identify high-level spatial strategy options for 
distributing growth in Oxfordshire. 

STEP 2: Testing of each of the high-level spatial strategy options, including 
Oxfordshire's growth requirements, opportunities & constraints. 

 This step will include the assessment of sites and will combine 
consideration of urban renewal and brownfield potential, the use of the 
HEELA and settlement capacity analysis, climate change and 
environmental enhancement opportunities, transport factors and issues 
arising from the Sustainability Appraisal (SA) and Habitats Regulation 
Assessment (HRA), as well as reviewing the link to the Strategic Vision 
and Plan Objectives. The assessment will be published as part of the 
evidence base for the Regulation 19 Plan. 

STEP 3:  Selection of Spatial Strategy. 

STEP 4:  Identification of areas of focus. 

STEP 5:  

 

Further testing of suitability, achievability, and deliverability to establish 
development capacity and sustainability of approach for Oxfordshire. 

Page 297



156 
 

STEP 6:  Confirm broad locations for growth (and any phasing) for the Oxfordshire 
Plan and each District. 

STEP 7:  (December 2021) Confirm level of growth within the OGNA range. 

516. The conclusion of these steps will inform the 'broad locations of growth' 
that will be presented for consultation in the Regulation 19 Draft Oxfordshire Plan. 

  

Page 298



157 
 

The Draft Monitoring Framework 
 

517. Effective monitoring is important to ensure that Plan policies are being 
implemented and are achieving their aims. 

 
518. Our monitoring report will measure and report on the effectiveness of 

policies within the Oxfordshire Plan. It will report on a range of data to assess 
whether: policy targets have been met, or progress is being made towards 
meeting them; policy targets are not being met, or are not on track to being 
achieved, and the reasons for this; whether policies are having an impact in 
respect of national and local policy targets; and whether any other targets need 
adjusting or replacing because they are not working as intended; whether policies 
need changing to reflect changes in national policy or strategic needs appropriate 
infrastructure is being delivered to support growth. 

 
519. If policies need changing the monitoring report will list the actions needed 

to achieve this. Our monitoring report will be published every 12 months. 
 

520. For each policy in the Plan, we will develop an indicator and a target, which 
will be used to measure the policy's effectiveness. The Sustainability Appraisal 
(SA) also lists a number of 'significant effects indicators' which will be used to 
monitor the 'significant effects identified in the SA. Data collected on these 
indicators will be reported on in our monitoring report. 

 
521. A set of trajectories for housing and employment to address delivery 

across the programme period as a whole will also be completed. These are of 
necessity indicative but provide a baseline against which overall implementation 
can be assessed. They include completions and strategic developments which 
have an existing planning permission. 

 

Delivering the Plan 
 

522. Data on these indicators will be gathered and reported on an annual basis. 
We will also report on whether the established targets have been met, and, if not, 
what actions are to be taken to ensure they are met in future.  

 
523. We have worked with our delivery partners including Oxfordshire County 

Council during the preparation of this Plan and its Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
(OxIS) to ensure the partnership is focused on the monitoring and delivery of 
strategic policies with the right infrastructure at the right times. 

 
524. We will continue to work as a partnership of planning authorities through 

the Oxfordshire Growth Board and with the County Council and the Oxfordshire 
Local Enterprise Partnership. The Statement of Common Ground shows the joint 
working undertaken during the preparation of the Plan and details the various 
forums and organisations we work with on a regular basis to debate and 
coordinate strategic planning issues. Actions resulting from cooperation with 
other local planning authorities or organisations will be reported in the monitoring 
report.  

 

Page 299



158 
 

525. Our Monitoring Report will assess the effectiveness of the Oxfordshire 
Plan including the rate of delivery of allocated sites by measuring performance 
against the indicators identified in the Monitoring Framework. 

 
526. Annual monitoring will inform future local plan reviews. These reviews may 

be in response to shortfalls in the implementation of the Plan’s policies and in the 
delivery of infrastructure, to changes in national policy or strategic needs or due 
to the need to roll forward the Plan period.  

 

Joint Monitoring Framework 
 

527. The Monitoring Framework will be developed in conjunction with the 
completion of the OxIS between the Regulation 18 and 19 stages. Linked to the 
OXIS monitoring system, metrics are likely to include:  

 
Climate Change and the Environment 

• Carbon Emissions 

• Climate Change Impact Resilience 

• Natural Environment & Biodiversity 

• Waste & Recycling 

• Water & Noise Pollution 
 
Health 

• Health Inequality 

• Access to Spaces for Physical Activity 

• Health Service Access 

• Air Quality 

• Mental Health & Wellbeing 
 
Communities and Place-Shaping 

• Liveable Communities 

• Community Safety & Security 

• Heritage & Culture 

• Socially Integrated Communities 

• Inclusive & Integrated Active Travel 
 
Transport and Connectivity  

• Digital Connectivity  

• Clean & Secure Energy Grid Capacity 

• Secure Water Supply & Wastewater 

• Transport Connectivity & Performance within Oxfordshire  

• Strategic Transport Connectivity  
 
The Economy and Productivity 

• World Class Inclusive Education & Skills Development 

• Reduce Oxfordshire’s Socio-Economic Inequalities 

• Attract & Retain Talent in Oxfordshire 

• Global Business Innovation Ecosystem 

• Drive Productive Economic Growth & Employment 
 
Housing 

Page 300



159 
 

• Affordable Housing 
• New modes of construction 

Page 301



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Oxfordshire Plan Team 
Speedwell House 
Speedwell Street 
Oxford 
OX1  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Dear Oxfordshire Plan Team 
 
Re: Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Regulation 18 (Stage 2) Consultation: Response from 
Oxfordshire County Council 
 
We would like to thank you for the opportunity to make representations on the 
Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Regulation 18 (Stage 2) Consultation. 
 
We have gathered a wide range of comments from members and officers and our 
response is set out at Annex 1 to this letter and was agreed by Cabinet on 21 
September 2021 
 

 
 

Yours faithfully 
 
Dawn Pettis 
Strategic Planning team Leader 
 
Direct line:    07771 983395   
Email:  dawn.pettis@oxfordshire.gov.uk  
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Annex 2: Draft response letter 
County Hall 
New Road 
Oxfordshire County Council 
OX1 4ND 
 
Director name Bill Cotton 
Directorate Environment and 
Place 
 
 

18 October 2021 
 

Page 303

mailto:dawn.pettis@oxfordshire.gov.uk
http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/


 
 

2 
 

Annex 1: County Council response 
 

General comments 
 

We are pleased that the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 is, along with the Strategic Vision for Long 
Term Sustainable Development, a key document that will continue to drive all six local 
authorities in the county to work in partnership to deliver good growth in Oxfordshire for the 
next 30 years and beyond. We consider that the Plan will give long-term certainty over the 
future sustainable development of the county for residents and businesses. 
 
We welcome policies within the draft OP2050 plan that: 
 

• Strengthens and drives policies for net zero carbon homes, specifically 
construction and design standards that reduce energy demand in line with the 
energy hierarchy, and the use of gas boilers. 

• Ensure for spatial planning to accelerate and drive the UK’s transition to a zero-
carbon energy system. 

• Enable greener, more inclusive strategic infrastructure provision, including energy 
and transport networks. 

• Make provision for tree planting in urban areas as part of healthy place-shaping, 
urban design and biodiversity net gain. 

 
Whilst we support the five Themes, we would urge that work is undertaken to ensure that 
there is no conflict between the five themes and the policies contained within them. For 
example, we would not wish to see the drive towards a zero-carbon economy have a 
negative impact on our poorer residents who may not be able to afford an electric vehicle 
and therefore not be subject to charges in a future zero emission zone. 
 
We would also like to point out that whilst we support the intent of the Policy Options, we 
feel that some effort is required to get policies drafted in an appropriate manner for Reg 19 
of this joint statutory plan. The policies are of varying degrees of length and quality. For 
example, Policy Option 28 Homes: How Many? Commitments and Locations is not drafted 
as a policy. It is unclear what is meant by statements such as ‘homes and jobs to be 
delivered in strategic locations following a process of assessment’.  Of course, many 
homes and jobs will be delivered outside of strategic locations.  Also, it is only the second 
time in the document that the phrase ‘strategic locations’ is used, so it is unclear what it is.  
 

Other policies, meanwhile, such as those on air and water quality are well written and 
clear.  
 
We note and support paragraphs 37 to 48 which outlines the important relationship 
between the Oxfordshire Plan and the Oxford to Cambridge Arc Spatial Framework, and in 
particular paragraph 46 which states: 
 
The respective timetables for the Oxfordshire Plan and the Arc Spatial Framework mean 
that the Oxfordshire Plan – together with the Strategic Vision – will be able to help ensure 
that Oxfordshire has a strong voice in the development of the Arc Spatial Framework and 
that its interests are taken into account. Likewise, as work on the Arc Spatial Framework 
gathers pace, it will help inform the choice of options to be considered at the next stage 
(Regulation 19) of the Oxfordshire Plan process. 
 

Page 304



 
 

3 
 

 
We would also like to note that Oxfordshire is the only area in the Oxford to Cambridge Arc 
that is embarking on a long term, Strategic Plan for the county, and is therefore in a good 
position to influence and drive ambitious Arc Spatial Framework emerging policies to allow 
the move to a zero-carbon economy and society to become a reality. 
 
We do not have anything in particular to say at this stage about the levels of new housing 
growth as set out in the Plan. We understand much work is needed over the coming 
months to identify the number of new housing to be included at the Regulation 19 stage of 
plan making. We would like to point out though that in the context of the climate 
emergency, the number of new houses and supporting infrastructure to be built up to 2050 
must not compromise efforts to tackle the emergency. 
 
The county council supports the Plans vision, objectives and principles for good growth. 
The county council recognises and is pleased that the preferred policy options have a 
strong correlation to six of the agreed nine county council priorities, which are in bold 
below. 
 
OCC Priority 1 - Tackle the Climate Emergency through rapid decarbonisation, 
proper accounting of carbon emissions and ambitious targets, as well as 
supporting climate resilience. 
 
We are pleased to see a Theme that is devoted to addressing climate change. The recent 
extreme weather events and the publication of the latest IPCC report has highlighted the 
need to take a fresh and holistic approach across the county to make sure we are doing 
everything we can to address this crisis. The policies on sustainable design and 
construction, energy, water efficiency and flood risk are welcomed. 
 
We note the requirement of a financial contribution towards carbon offsetting requirements 
should only be permitted where it is demonstrable that net zero carbon cannot be achieved 
on site, in line with the UKGBC Net Zero Carbon definition. 
 
We do feel that there is an opportunity to strengthen policy wording to support circular 
economy principles and to embed the principle more comprehensively within the policies. 
The Oxfordshire Plan must be seen to be driving the principle as much as possible now 
that the concept itself is being more widely recognised as being a key component of the 
move towards a zero carbon economy.  An example of this is included in the London Plan 
policies D3 ‘Optimising site capacity through a design-led approach’, and SI7 ‘Reducing 
waste and supporting the Circular Economy’ that supports the delivery of a circular built 
environment. Policy SI7 of the London Plan also requires development proposals that are 
referable to the Mayor of London to submit a Circular Economy Statement as part of a 
planning application. https://www.london.gov.uk/publications/circular-economy-statement-
guidance  
 

The Circular Economy should be included at the highest level as it’s such a cross cutting 
theme that impacts every area, not one on its own, and then incorporated into the policies 
as much as possible. Ideally what we would like to see in the Plan is a commitment to the 
Circular Economy alongside an explanation of what this is and how it fits across the 
Themes of the Plan.  
 

Page 305

https://www.london.gov.uk/publications/circular-economy-statement-guidance
https://www.london.gov.uk/publications/circular-economy-statement-guidance


 
 

4 
 

More detail on how we consider the circular economy could be more embedded in the 
Plan is on pages 29 to 31 below. 
 
Policy Option 17: Towards a Net Zero Transport Network is also relevant to this county 
council priority and is supported. However, we consider that Policy 17 does not fully reflect 
many elements of the preceding text. For example, there is nothing about supporting 
electric vehicle infrastructure (or other supportive innovative tech), and nothing about 
digital infrastructure.  Whilst (some of) these elements are considered in policy 18, it would 
be good to consider them within the transport network decarbonisation policy as well, 
since these are aiming at different sections of the transport network. 
 
We support the concept of the 20-minute neighbourhoods as set out in PO 17: High-
Quality Design for New Development and Garden Town Standards for New Settlements. 
We note it is mentioned throughout the Plan, and in particular how the concept relates to 
the Spatial Options. We would like to point out however, that developing such 
neighbourhoods would require careful planning, especially if new urban extensions are 
planned  around our country towns in the future. These (namely Banbury, Bicester, Didcot 
and witney) have seen considerable urban extensions over the past decades, which 
means new communities are further away form the traditional town centres. We consider 
that new centres would need to be planned within new developments, including community 
facilities, space for businesses and/or new infrastructure to allow active travel into existing 
centres. 
 
To further reduce the need to travel into Oxford for work, it is important that new business 
space is also built within new housing developments. This would not only reduce the need 
to travel but would help to rebalance Oxfordshire’s economy away from Oxford City, 
thereby making our towns and more rural areas more sustainable. 
 
From a broad climate perspective, we think the plan is not really putting climate change 
impacts in the frame, though the emphasis on decisive action to mitigate and even reverse 
climate change and biodiversity loss is very encouraging. 
 
It should be remembered that in the last 5 years we have seen: 
 

• 2 pandemics – Zika and Covid. The pandemic gave us a glimpse of how fragile 
supply chains can be, and Brexit is giving us another peep.  

• A dramatic and unexpected acceleration in extreme, damaging and lethal weather 
events that are almost unprecedented, for example the "Heat Dome" in Canada 
would be expected once in 1500 years, the Flooding in China once in 1000 years, 
and the flooding in New York from Hurricane Ida, once in 500 years. These events 
caused surprise and shock among climate scientists, because models didn't 
suggest they would be a factor with only just over 1C of heating. 

 

The recently published IPCC report demonstrates that every realistic pathway has 
temperature increasing through to the 2040s. Across the world, wet areas are getting 
wetter, and dry ones, drier. Environmental degradation and loss of biodiversity adds to the 
impact of climate change and there is the risk of sudden ecosystem collapse under the 
dual impacts of adverse weather and loss of keystone species. 
 
 

Page 306



 
 

5 
 

In fact, we're consistent with the CCCUK's criticism that the UK is way behind on 
adaptation and resilience, except in flooding. They particularly highlighted the gross failure 
of government to amend building regulations to reduce the risks from overheating in new 
homes, which they have been advising for five years. Similarly, there is still a sense that 
urban trees are a good thing, rather than one of the simplest and most effective ways of 
reducing the urban heat island effect. 
 
Before 2050, if we continue as is, there are almost certainties that: 
 

• We will see at least one more pandemic. 
• The UK will experience multiple unprecedented extreme weather events. 
• Some parts of the world will experience heat extremes that render them un-

survivable by human beings without artificial cooling. 
• There will be hundreds of thousands if not millions / tens of millions of climate 

refugees as a result of the above, or of extreme drought, local food shortage, etc. 
• Extensive episodic supply chain disruption at local, regional national level due to 

extreme and destructive weather events disabling or interrupting local supply 
chains, factories, whole regions, or supply routes. 

• Global or regional food shortages. 
• A significant possibility of the disintegration of large-scale organised society in at 

least some parts of the world from the impact of resource shortages. 
 
More information can be found at <https://www.mdpi.com/2071-
1050/13/15/8161/htm#B26-sustainability-13-08161>  
 
Given that, a prudent long term strategic plan would probably at least lay out a set of 
principles designed to promote layers of resilience from individual building level right up to 
county and wider regions. That might include: 
 

• Conscious and planned building of community networks and strengthening of 
communities. 

• Public education, training and support in building skills and knowledge base 
• Built-in system / supply chain redundancy, preference for local sourcing, and 

resilience by design in food, water, power supplies at each level (local, district, 
county, nation). This would include deliberate planting of trees and shrubs with 
edible fruit/nuts within and around settlements, support for allotments, 
smallholdings. 

• Sustained support for developing circular economy, reducing dependence on 
resources from external sources. 

• Building-level resilience including shutters to block sunlight in extreme heat events, 
correct orientation of new builds, measures to prevent damage from flash flooding, 
designed resilience to high winds. 

• Risk-based zoning of development and rigorous enforcement (including for example 
a complete and absolute block on building on flood plains and areas liable to flood 
in extreme circumstances).  

• Hardening and protection of critical infrastructure. 
• Proactive disaster prediction and emergency planning, down to house / street level. 
• Universal deployment of nature-based / agroecological defences against extreme 

climate events. 
 

Page 307

https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/13/15/8161/htm#B26-sustainability-13-08161
https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/13/15/8161/htm#B26-sustainability-13-08161


 
 

6 
 

OCC Priority 2 - Tackling inequalities and providing opportunities for everyone in 
Oxfordshire to achieve their full potential. 
 
Tackling inequalities and promoting social justice is key for the county council. We 
therefore welcome the range of policies in the Plan that relate to this priority, namely: 
 
Policy Option 22 – supporting the creation of jobs 
PO 23 Protection of economic assets 
PO25 – Visitor economy 
PO28 – Homes – how many? 
PO29 Urban renewal 
PO30 Affordable housing 
PO31 Specialist housing needs 
 
We note that PO16 states “School sports halls and outdoor playing fields should be made 

available to the local community. New facilities of this type would be required to enter into 
community use agreements.” 
 
As an increasing number of schools, and all new schools, are academies, and thus 
independent of the county council’s control, they cannot be required to make their facilities 
available to the community, only encouraged. Where new schools are being provided, it is 
necessary to attract academy sponsors to run the school and community use requirements 
should not be so strict as to deter otherwise suitable sponsors. In saying that however, we 
consider that if facilities are paid for using public funds, then the school should be compelled to 
make the facilities available to the public. 
 
We do recognise however that there are other practical limitations on the availability of school 
facilities to the community including safeguarding, health and safety, maintenance, and 
potential expansion needs of schools.  
 
The council’s current policy position on community use of school facilities was approved by the 
Cabinet Member responsible for Education on 15 May 2019 and is available at 

CMDECS_MAY1519R02.pdf (oxfordshire.gov.uk)   
 
 
OCC Priority 3 - Prioritisation of wellbeing – improved outcomes for residents and 
improved air quality and access to libraries, cultural facilities and the arts 
 
Policy Option 12 - Air Quality recognises that clean air is essential to the health and 
wellbeing of Oxfordshire's communities and the natural environment. Air pollutants can 
have direct effects on human health, habitats and biodiversity and climate change.  
 
The Oxfordshire Plan aims to help to:  
 

• prevent new and existing development from contributing to air pollution  

• prevent new and existing development from being affected by unacceptable levels 
of air pollution; and  

• ensure that new development seeks to improve air quality wherever possible. 
 
We strongly support the proposed policy option.  It is important air quality is tackled in a 
strategic, consistent way across the county with an expanded view of broader public health 

Page 308

https://mycouncil.oxfordshire.gov.uk/documents/s45544/CMDECS_MAY1519R02.pdf


 
 

7 
 

and habitat protection outcomes, in addition to the more traditional focus on bringing 
AQMAs into compliance. 
 
We are pleased to see, and support policy options in particular: 
 

• PO 06 Protection and enhancement of the historic environment 

• PO14 Health infrastructure 

• PO16 Leisure, recreation, community and open space facilities 

• PO26 Culture and arts 
 
We would like to point out however that paragraph 172 is misleading and should be 
removed. The Historic Landscape Characterisation maps the changing character of the 
landscape from existing maps only, in the case of Oxfordshire the Davis and Roque maps 
of the C17th, the late C19th OS Maps and the modern mapping. As such it does not 
provide any information or understanding on the archaeological potential of the county.  
 
The archaeological potential for any part of the county must therefore be assessed using 
data from the Historic Environment Record.  
 
The plan should explicitly recognise in PO 14 that health place shaping includes the ability 
for the elderly to be independent, consequently the increase in sustainably powered 
transportation will lead to a marked increase in travel by mobility scooters, not just walking 
and cycling, which must be considered to future proof developments in the period of the 
plan. 
 
We would like to draw your attention to the role of good planning and design for people 
with dementia – please see Design | Dementia Services Development Centre l DSDC, 
Stirling 
 
OCC Priority 5 - Increased investment in an inclusive, integrated, county-wide active 
and sustainable travel network fit for the 21st century to improve choice and reduce 
car journeys across the county 
 
We are pleased to see a Theme (Planning for sustainable travel and connectivity) 
devoted to this priority and overall, we support the preferred policy options including PO17 
as being consistent with delivering a net-zero carbon transport network.  We suggest 
referencing the provision of smart charging vehicles that can support aligning energy 
demand and power supply from renewables, however. 
 
We support Policy Option 18: Sustainable Transport in New Development as being in line 
with the hierarchy as set out in the emerging Oxfordshire Local Transport and Connectivity 
Plan (LTCP).  
 
In this approach, all development proposals should consider and plan for transport and 
access against a vision, focussed on enabling people to travel by active and sustainable 
means. In particular, plans should be considered in a hierarchical way as follows: 

 

• Reducing the need to travel - ensuring that high quality digital connectivity is 
provided to enable working and access to services from home, and that necessary 

Page 309

https://dementia.stir.ac.uk/design
https://dementia.stir.ac.uk/design


 
 

8 
 

services and facilities are planned and provided in close proximity to new housing 
areas which can be accessed through safe and direct walking and cycling routes. 

• Planning for sustainable travel modes - ensuring that new development is primarily 
designed to enable movement by active travel and public/shared transport, and that 
sites are well connected to surrounding sustainable transport networks. The street 
and movement network should be designed to focus on enabling residents to be 
able to walk and cycle, and easily access public transport options. 

• Providing for zero emission vehicle use - ensuring that any essential vehicle travel 
for people and goods is prioritised for zero carbon emission vehicles, with adequate 
charging and other supporting infrastructure provided. 

 
We note the reference above to necessary services and facilities, which in our view could 
include community projects such as car sharing or car clubs. 
 
PO 18: Sustainable Transport in New Development - Whilst it is very important that the 
policy has referenced local design guidance, it also ought to reference national guidance 
on these matters, such as the DfT’s Cycling Infrastructure Design LTN 1/20. It is 
recognised that this document is likely to be superseded during the lifespan of OP2050, so 
would recommend appending the text above with text along the lines of, ‘…and any 
applicable national standards and guidance, such as the DfT’s Cycling Infrastructure 
Design LTN 1/20 or the latest equivalent document. 
 
Policy Option 24: Town Centre Renewal - Given the prevalence of the provision of free car 
parking in town centres around the county as a means of encouraging the patronage of 
shopping and other leisure facilities, we ask if the OP2050 could have a policy position on 
this? What evidence exists to either support the improvement or retention of town centre 
parking (free or otherwise) and how does this accord with Policy Option 17: Towards a Net 
Zero Transport Network? 
 
Further to this, the policy option references supporting new measures, including, ‘Improved 
walking, cycling and public transport facilities to and from town centres to surrounding 
residential areas.’ We ask if consideration is given to the compatibility, or potential 
incompatibility, of supporting measures to encourage sustainable modes of transport, 
whilst maintaining current levels of town centre parking. 
 
We are pleased to see reference made in paragraph 331 which states that the Oxfordshire 
Plan needs to take account of and support wider infrastructure and transport strategy 
development. We note the work that has been in train to ensure that the Oxfordshire Plan 
complements and supports the new Oxfordshire Local Transport and Connectivity Plan 
(LTCP), especially in a wider context that aligns with other cross-boundary strategies 
including the England's Economic Heartland Transport Strategy, and guidance and 
strategy being developed at a national level as part of the de-carbonisation agenda. Major 
planned strategic schemes such as East West Rail will also significantly impact on the 
transport choices available in Oxfordshire and more widely across the Oxford-Cambridge 
Arc.  
 
We note and support the references to the importance of rail in Policy Option 17: Towards 
a Net Zero Transport Network, in particular in relation to: 
 

Page 310

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/951074/cycle-infrastructure-design-ltn-1-20.pdf


 
 

9 
 

All development proposals should be planned to both take account of, and take 
opportunities to support delivery of an Oxfordshire net zero carbon emissions transport 
network, including (amongst others): 
 

• Supporting delivery of enhancements to the rail network, including linking in with new 
and improved stations, and supporting service enhancements. 

• Supporting delivery of improvements to transport interchange, including enhanced 
transport hubs such as at rail stations that facilitate take up of sustainable travel 
opportunities, and where relevant link with opportunities for park and ride. 

 
We believe that with the right investment and continuing focus on feasibility studies into rail 
(for example that which is already happening at Hanborough Station) in Oxfordshire, the 
county will be a welcoming crossroads for rail services across the country. 
 
Finally, we have identified a policy gap within this particular theme. 
 
Public Rights of Way (PRoW) and the statutory Oxfordshire Rights of Way Improvement 
Plan (RoWIP) do not feature within this plan, despite PRoW contributing to Theme 1-4 and 
spatial strategy options. There are nearly 4,000km of PRoW in Oxfordshire. They are 
highways and give free access to the public for recreation, leisure, transport, access to 
nature, health and wellbeing as well as providing landscape and natural capital services as 
green corridors.  
 
The RoWIP adopted in 2014 contains detailed network and opportunities mapping and 
with the RoWIPs from 2006 and 2012, contains a substantial and robust evidence base of 
needs and opportunities across the county.  The Oxfordshire Plan could be widened to 
include specific sections on PRoW including network information, issues and policies for 
improvement and extension. 
 
We would be happy to help with the wording of such a policy. 
 
OCC Priority 6 - Improved access to nature and green spaces for all communities, 
and landscape-scale nature recovery across the county. 
 
Again, we are pleased to see a Theme (Improving environmental quality) related to our 
priority. 
 
Preferred wording for Policy Option 05 - We generally support the policy but feel that it 
would benefit from slight rewording as it is not entirely accurate in what studies are 
required at different parts of the development process. Landscape and Visual Impact 
Assessment (LVIA) tend to be carried out for a specific development – we assume that this 
will not apply for the development of the Spatial Options in OP2050 but when specific 
developments are proposed Landscape Character Assessment and/or Sensitivity 
Assessment tend to be used to inform options.  
 
Overall, we are supportive of the inclusion of natural environment policies 07: Nature 
Recovery and 08: Biodiversity Gain. The detailed consideration of biodiversity and its 
wider value is a positive step towards achieving meaningful gains for biodiversity across 
the county.  
 

Page 311



 
 

10 
 

It is encouraging that the plan supports the establishment of a Nature Recovery Strategy 
and recognises the importance of the draft Nature Recovery Network as a valuable 
evidence base which will be used to achieve environmental benefits required under 
strategic policy. As an overarching policy this can permit change and adaptation over time, 
as the evidence base increases.  
 
Stronger wording in some parts of the plan would be beneficial, for example para 211 
states that ‘net gains through planning are likely to be desirable’, this needs to ensure 
commitment and recommended wording would be ‘net gains through planning will be 
necessary’. Stronger wording will reflect the requirements anticipated within the upcoming 
Environment Bill. 
 
We would suggest that there is further consideration of the percentage target, which is 
20% across the whole of the county. While of course this is an encouraging step towards 
nature recovery, different targets at the district level may be required. Oxford City is highly 
spatially constrained, therefore a target of 20% may be hard to achieve within the 
administrative boundary of the City. The option of delivering net gain outside of the City 
may therefore be required, while ensuring it is delivered where it will have the greatest 
benefits. 
 
More detailed comments on enhancing the environment, landscape and biodiversity are on 
pages 32 to 41 below. 
 
OCC Priority 7 - Supporting all our children and young people to achieve improved 
health, wellbeing and educational outcomes; improved provision for children with 
additional needs; all decision-making to have regard to impact on young people and 
future generations. 
 
We support PO 27 which aims to support the provision of modern and up to date facilities to 
support existing and future education and training needs across the county. 
 

We agree that local planning authorities should work with partners to support the provision 
of new schools, universities and colleges, community learning and other training facilities 
which provide for education and the development of skills across each district, the city and 
county-wide, where needed.  
 
 
Spatial Strategy Options  
 
While it is recognised that these options are necessarily high-level appropriate to this 
stage of the plan-making process, it does mean that it is difficult to make well-informed 
comments on the relative benefits of each of the options until more detail is available at 
Regulation 19.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 312



 
 

11 
 

Detailed officer comments 
 
Please note: The submission forms in this annex reflect the views of various county 
council officers and teams. Different officers and teams in some instances have made 
comments on the same policy and spatial option. 
 
Vision and Objectives 
 

To which part of the consultation does this representation relate? 
 
Paragraph   29 Policy Option    Spatial Option 
 
 
 
What is the nature of your comment? 
 
 
Support    Object     Observation  X 
 
 
 
Please provide details of your response as necessary: 
 
Strategic Vision 2050 Guiding Principles: Headlines  
 
These guiding principles should include the enhancement and conservation of the historic 
environment in line with the Oxfordshire Plan objectives #3.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 313



 
 

12 
 

Theme 1 – Addressing Climate Change 
 
Climate Action Team 

 
To which part of the consultation does this representation relate? 
 
Paragraph   Policy Option    Spatial Option 
 
 
 
What is the nature of your comment? 
 
 
Support    Object     Observation  
 
 
 
Please provide details of your response as necessary: 
 
 
General climate comments: 
 
Oxfordshire County Council welcomes policies within the draft OP2050 plan that: 

• Strengthens or supports policies for net zero carbon homes, specifically construction and 
design standards that reduce energy demand in line with the energy hierarchy, and the 
use of gas boilers. 

• Ensure for spatial planning to accelerate the UK’s transition to a zero-carbon energy 
system 

• Enable greener, more inclusive strategic infrastructure provision, including energy and 
transport networks 

• Make provision for tree planting in urban areas as part of healthy place-shaping, urban 
design and biodiversity net gain. 

 
We note the Pathways to a Zero Caron Oxfordshire (PAZCO) report was published on the 29th 
June 2021.  This report builds on the previous Low Carbon Economy Report (2014), with updated 
the evidence of pathway options for Oxfordshire to achieve net zero carbon.   
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 314

https://www.eci.ox.ac.uk/publications/downloads/PazCo-final.pdf


 
 

13 
 

To which part of the consultation does this representation relate? 
 
Paragraph          Policy Option  01  Spatial Option 
 
 
 
What is the nature of your comment? 
 
 
Support        x  Object     Observation  
 
 
 
Please provide details of your response as necessary: 
 
 
 
Policy Option 01: Sustainable Design and Construction  
 
Support the preferred option to bring forward higher design requirements though we are in the 
view that policy wording should be strengthened to require major developments to be net zero 
(see the London Plan Policy SI 2: Minimising greenhouse gas emissions).  As referenced within 
the draft plan, the London Energy Transformation Initiative’s (LETI) Emergency Design Guide is 
an example of best practice for delivering net-zero developments and these principles should be 
reflected in the policy (page 31). 
 
Observe the requirement of a financial contribution towards carbon offsetting requirements should 
only be permitted where it is demonstrable that net zero carbon cannot be achieved on site, in 
line with the UKGBC Net Zero Carbon definition. 
 
Observe an opportunity to strengthen policy wording to support circular economy principles.  An 
example of this is included in the London Plan policies D3 ‘Optimising site capacity through a 
design-led approach’, and SI7 ‘Reducing waste and supporting the Circular Economy’ that 
supports the delivery of a circular built environment. Policy SI7 of the London Plan also requires 
development proposals that are referred to the Mayor of London to submit a Circular Economy 
Statement as part of a planning application. https://www.london.gov.uk/publications/circular-
economy-statement-guidance  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 315

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/the_london_plan_2021.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/publications/circular-economy-statement-guidance
https://www.london.gov.uk/publications/circular-economy-statement-guidance


 
 

14 
 

To which part of the consultation does this representation relate? 
 
Paragraph   Policy Option  02  Spatial Option 
 
 
 
What is the nature of your comment? 
 
 
Support     x  Object     Observation  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Please provide details of your response as necessary: 
 
 
Policy Option 02 – Energy 
 
Support the level of ambition of the preferred policy option, noting that ‘100% of energy needs of 
major developments to be met from renewable energy sources’ is challenging but achievable (see 
Salt Cross AAP). 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 316



 
 

15 
 

To which part of the consultation does this representation relate? 
 
Paragraph   Policy Option  09  Spatial Option 
 
 
 
What is the nature of your comment? 
 
 
Support      x  Object     Observation  x 
 
 
Please provide details of your response as necessary: 
 
 
Policy Option 09: Natural Capital and Ecosystem Services 
 
Support the OP2050 Plan requiring, ‘an assessment of natural capital and ecosystem services 
impact for major developments, policies, plans or programmes including the identification of 
strategic environmental opportunity areas and green infrastructure’.   
 
Observe there could be a role for the OP2050 Plan to help deliver measures with land use 
implications that are outlined within the PAZCO report’s ‘Oxfordshire Leading the Way’ scenario, 
including: 

• a greater proportion of land is allocated for growing bioenergy crops 

• increased capacity of solar share would require 1,200–2,600 hectares of land 

• double tree cover in Oxfordshire from the current 9% (23,000 ha) to 18%, which is 
consistent with the High Ambition scenario in the Climate Change Committee’s Land 
use: Reducing emissions and preparing for climate change report (2018). 

• All semi-natural habitats are protected from development and any existing hedgerows 
and trees are incorporated into the design as green infrastructure features. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 317

https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/land-use-reducing-emissions-and-preparing-for-climate-change/
https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/land-use-reducing-emissions-and-preparing-for-climate-change/


 
 

16 
 

To which part of the consultation does this representation relate? 
 
Paragraph   Policy Option  13  Spatial Option 
 
 
 
What is the nature of your comment? 
 
 
Support     x  Object     Observation  
 
 
 
Please provide details of your response as necessary: 
 
 
 
Policy Option 13 - Healthy Place Shaping and Health Impact Assessments 
 
Support for the preferred policy which includes principles outlining the design of good quality 
buildings which are energy efficient and mitigate against the impacts of climate change.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 318



 
 

17 
 

To which part of the consultation does this representation relate? 
 
Paragraph   Policy Option  15  Spatial Option 
 
 
 
What is the nature of your comment? 
 
 
Support    x  Object     Observation  x  
 
 
 
Please provide details of your response as necessary: 
 
 
Policy Option 15: High-Quality Design for New Development and Garden Town Standards 
for New Settlements 
 
Support for the preferred policy requiring new developments respond to climate change.  It is 
noted a standard will be developed setting an ambition for high-quality design in Oxfordshire, with 
local plans, neighbourhood plans and design guides providing more detailed, locally specific 
requirements as appropriate.  It is expected new development should seek to minimise the 
carbon and energy impacts of their design and construction through mitigation and adaption 
measures. 
 
Observe, like Policy Option 01: Sustainable Design and Construction, wording can be 
strengthened to require all major developments be built to net zero carbon standards.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 319



 
 

18 
 

To which part of the consultation does this representation relate? 
 
Paragraph   Policy Option  17  Spatial Option 
 
 
 
What is the nature of your comment? 
 
 
Support      x  Object     Observation  
 
 
 
Please provide details of your response as necessary: 
 
 
Policy Option 17: Towards a Net Zero Transport Network 
 
Support delivery of improvements to the road network that are consistent with delivering a net-
zero carbon transport network.  We suggest referencing the provision of smart charging vehicles 
that can support aligning energy demand and power supply from renewables. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 320



 
 

19 
 

To which part of the consultation does this representation relate? 
 
Paragraph   Policy Option  18  Spatial Option 
 
 
 
What is the nature of your comment? 
 
 
Support     x  Object     Observation             x 
 
 
 
Please provide details of your response as necessary: 
 
 
Policy Option 18: Sustainable Transport in New Development 
 
Observe the proposed hierarchy resembles the ‘Avoid, Shift, Improve’ approach outlined in the 
PAZCO report.   
 
Support a role for policy within the OP2050 Plan to ensure the spatial context of any proposed 
developments are measured against the sustainable travel hierarchy.   
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 321



 
 

20 
 

To which part of the consultation does this representation relate? 
 
Paragraph    65  Policy Option    Spatial Option 
 
 
 
What is the nature of your comment? 
 
 
Support    Object     Observation x  
 
 
 
Please provide details of your response as necessary: 
 
 
Paragraph 65 
 
Observe the Pathways to a Zero Caron Oxfordshire (PAZCO) report was published on the 29th 
June 2021.  This report builds on the previous Low Carbon Economy Report (2014), with updated 
evidence for pathway options for Oxfordshire to achieve net zero carbon.  As a result, the data 
informing the Oxfordshire Energy Strategy has been superseded by evidence available in the 
PAZCO report. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 322



 
 

21 
 

To which part of the consultation does this representation relate? 
 
Paragraph    86  Policy Option    Spatial Option 
 
 
 
What is the nature of your comment? 
 
 
Support    Object   x  Observation  
 
 
 
Please provide details of your response as necessary: 
 
 
Paragraph 86 
 
Propose deleting the word ambitious, ‘The Government's proposals to strengthen Building 
Regulations and to define future standards for new buildings have the potential to deliver a 
consistent approach for the delivery of zero carbon buildings and take a big step on the pathway 
to net zero carbon. However, they may not be ambitious enough to meet targets for achieving net 
zero carbon in Oxfordshire. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 323



 
 

22 
 

 IHUB 
 
To which part of the consultation does this representation relate? 
 
Paragraph   Policy Option  01  Spatial Option 
 
 
 
What is the nature of your comment? 
 
 
Support        x  Object     Observation  
 x 
 
 
Please provide details of your response as necessary: 
 
Changing technologies should be considered, as well as changing needs over time. 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 324



 
 

23 
 

To which part of the consultation does this representation relate? 
 
Paragraph   Policy Option  02  Spatial Option 
 
 
 
What is the nature of your comment? 
 
 
Support       x  Object     Observation  
 x 
 
 
Please provide details of your response as necessary: 
 
Inclusion of battery / electricity storage systems in development would also be beneficial, given 
grid constraints. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 325



 
 

24 
 

Corporate Landlord Team 
 
To which part of the consultation does this representation relate? 
 
Paragraph            page 87 Policy Option  3 Spatial Option 
 
 
 
What is the nature of your comment? 
 
 
Support     x  Object                             Observation  x 
 
 
 
Please provide details of your response as necessary: 
 

Suggest replace ‘’and’’ with ‘’including’’ – to remove implied statement that people with 
disabilities are not part of us all…….Equal access for all and those with disabilities must be 
designed into the proposals.  
 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

s 

Page 326



 
 

25 
 

IHUB 
 
To which part of the consultation does this representation relate? 
 
Paragraph   Policy Option  17  Spatial Option 
 
 
 
What is the nature of your comment? 
 
 
Support    Object     Observation  
 x 
 
 
Please provide details of your response as necessary: 
 
The policy does not fully reflect many elements of the preceding text. For example there is 
nothing about supporting electric vehicle infrastructure (or other supportive innovative tech), and 
nothing about digital infrastructure.  Whilst (some of) these elements are considered in policy 18, 
it would be good to consider them within the transport network decarbonisation policy as well, 
since these are aiming at different sections of the transport network. 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 327



 
 

26 
 

To which part of the consultation does this representation relate? 
 
Paragraph    355  Policy Option    Spatial Option 
 
 
 
What is the nature of your comment? 
 
 
Support    Object     Observation  
 x 
 
 
Please provide details of your response as necessary: 
 
It is worth considering hydrogen alongside electric charging infrastructure when thinking about 
HGVs – at the moment it’s unclear on whether the route forward for HGVs is more likely to be 
electrical or hydrogen power, or a combination of the 2.  They have very different infrastructure 
requirements. 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 328



 
 

27 
 

To which part of the consultation does this representation relate? 
 
Paragraph      Policy Option  19  Spatial Option 
 
 
 
What is the nature of your comment? 
 
 
Support    Object     Observation  
 x 
 
 
Please provide details of your response as necessary: 
 
It may be worth also considering location in terms of potential knock-on impacts for where HGVs 
would be likely to travel. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 329



 
 

28 
 

Air Quality 
 
To which part of the consultation does this representation relate? 
 
Paragraph   Policy Option  12  Spatial Option 
 
 
 
What is the nature of your comment? 
 
 
Support     X                Object         Observation  
 
 
 
Please provide details of your response as necessary: 
 
We strongly support the proposed policy option.  It is important air quality is tackled in a strategic, 
consistent way across the county with an expanded view of broader public health and habitat 
protection outcomes, in addition to the more traditional focus on bringing AQMAs into compliance. 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 330



 
 

29 
 

Waste Management 
 
To which part of the consultation does this representation relate? 
 
Paragraph   Policy Option    Spatial Option 
 
 
 
What is the nature of your comment? 
 
 
Support    Object     Observation  
 
 
 
Please provide details of your response as necessary: 
 
We are pleased to see the Circular Economy referenced in the document, however we feel that 
the plan, and Oxfordshire, would benefit from it being embedded more comprehensively. 
 
The Circular Economy should be included at the highest level as it’s such a cross cutting theme 
that impacts every area, not one on its own, and then incorporated into the Policies as much as 
possible.   Ideally what we would like to see in the Plan is a commitment to the Circular Economy 
alongside an explanation of what this is and how it fits across the Themes of the Plan.  
 
We feel that the following could be beneficial to include within the OP2050 Regulation 19:  
 

“Oxfordshire 2050 recognises that in terms of growth and economy this can only be done if 
there is move from a linear economy model to that of a circular economy. There is no separate 
objective or policy set for this, but many areas of the plan feed into the circular economy:   

• Theme One: Addressing climate change. This includes moving towards renewable 
energy production; making buildings flexible and adaptable for future needs; seeking to 
reduce energy consumption; and increasing water efficiency.  
• Theme Two: Improving environmental quality. This includes seeking nature 
recovery and securing a net gain in biodiversity; and protecting and enhancing water 
and air quality.  
• Theme Three: Creating strong and healthy communities. This includes building high 
quality developments that are healthy places with adequate health infrastructure 
and has adequate leisure and community facilities.  
• Theme Four: Planning for sustainable travel and connectivity. This seeks to move 
towards a net zero carbon network where all new development considers sustainable 
transport, and includes electric vehicle charging points. It also seeks to improve digital 
infrastructure.  
• Theme Five: Creating jobs and providing homes. This includes seeking to ensure 
the business parks remain fit for future needs and evolve and adapt to business 
changes.  

 
 
In addition, we feel that the Circular Economy could be included in the following areas: 
 

Page 331



 
 

30 
 

Could a line be added within paragraph 5.   In sentence 2 insert: “ ….at the forefront of 
sustainable development and the circular economy because…….” 
 
Introduction and Overview 
 
8. Insertion of the word “circular” into the following sentence.  
 
Addressing these issues to secure better outcomes requires a long-term co-ordinated circular 
approach across Oxfordshire. 
 
What is the Oxfordshire Plan seeking to achieve? 
 
24 This Plan seeks to deliver real and lasting positive change in Oxfordshire by creating the right 
environmental, social and economic conditions and by building resilience whilst encouraging and 
supporting a circular economy.  
 
25 …the approach proposed in the Oxfordshire plan is to adopt circular economy principals and 
align and integrate the policies, so they are mutually supportive. 
 
Policy 01 (after para 90) 
 
Sustainable design and construction requirements should seek to improve energy efficiency and 
support the move towards a low carbon circular economy. 
 
Policy 02 (after para 117) 
 
Developments will be required to maximise energy efficiency whilst integrating renewable and 
smart energy technologies in order to minimise energy demand and move towards a circular 
economy. 
 
Theme 3 (after para 298) 
 
No 9 – To deliver high quality, innovatively designed development that ensures efficient and 
circular use of land and resources. 
 
Policy 13 (after para 310) 
 
Reduce social isolation and loneliness through providing good quality social community 
infrastructure which encourages opportunities for social interaction and helps to support the 
growth of friendly, circular, communities. Also, to create community development strategies which 
contain actions to encourage community cohesion, both within the development itself and 
between the new development and existing communities. 
 
 
Policy 15 (after para 324) 
 
Encourage creative and innovative design solutions, including the use of new materials and 
building methods where appropriate and move towards a circular economy. 
 
This policy option for the Oxfordshire Plan would expect: 
 

Page 332



 
 

31 
 

• Neighbourhood centres and community facilities (including community centres, circular 
economy spaces, schools and health facilities) to be provided 

• Well designed with sustainable building materials used to achieve carbon reduction and 
support the circular economy. 

• All housing, business and retail units to contain space for waste and recycling segregation, 
energy management 

 
Policy 17 (after para 340) or Policy 19 (after para 356) 
 
Support the transition to a circular economy to use and reprocess resources as close to source as 
possible, reducing the need for long haul freight. 
 
Policy 23: (after para 395)  
 
Support the circular economy by extending as well as re-purposing economic assets, re-
provisioned and re-used for new and innovative economic activities.  
 
Policy 24 (after para 401) 
 
New cultural and circular activities, community uses and the consolidation of civic facilities  
 
 
Waste and recycling: 
 
Waste and Recycling are included as a metric as detailed in para 527 but are not included 
anywhere else.  Inclusion of the comments above on the circular economy would help to address 
this omission.   
 
The strategic map is missing Oxfordshire’s Joint Municipal Waste Management strategy. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 333



 
 

32 
 

Theme 2: Improving Environmental Quality 
 

Environment Team 
 
To which part of the consultation does this representation relate? 
 
Paragraph   Policy Option    Spatial Option 
 
 
 
What is the nature of your comment? 
 
 
Support    Object     Observation  
 
 
 
Please provide details of your response as necessary: 
 

Theme 1 
 
Para 59: Observation:  In addition to mitigating climate change (principally addressing carbon), the 
two themes of adaptation and resilience should carry equal importance. 

 
Para 89 and elsewhere:  Observation:  there is reasonable consideration of flooding in the Plan but 
very little consideration of heat and increased storm intensity both of which are likely consequences of 
climate change in the county. 

 
Policy 01:  Observation 

 
It is proposed that offsetting opportunities should be first sought within the county.  

 
Design and construction should seek to make settlements and communities resilient to the impacts of 
climate change, not just individual buildings.  This could be, for example, through the way in which 
green infrastructure is incorporated in new developments. 

 
Alternative Policies 01-1 and 01-2.  Support:  Agree that failure to deliver appropriate policies at a 
national level should not hold back aspirations in Oxfordshire. 

 
Para 117:  Where possible renewables should be located in places that cannot deliver the same 
multiplicity of environmental benefits that land achieves, for example the installation of solar on 
rooftops in industrial areas. 

 
Policy 4:  Support and Observation:   

 
Support in particular for the catchment-based approach and the use of nature-based solution to flood 
risk management. 

 
Observation:  bullet 3:  change to “…impact pathways on habitats of principal importance”. 

 

Page 334



 
 

33 
 

Alternative Policy 04-01:  Object:  The loss of the catchment-based approach would reduce the 
effectiveness of the flood risk management approach. 
 
Para 155:  Observation:  Include a clearer acknowledgement of the role of farming in creating and 
maintaining Oxfordshire’s natural environment e.g.: From the county-wide landscape scale to the 
individual development and community scale, nature is important to the health and resilience of 
people and wildlife.   Oxfordshire’s farmers and the production of food have and will continue to play a 
key role in shaping the county’s natural environment.  
 
Theme 2 
 
Para 157: Observation:  Water is not a significant part of the Chilterns and North Wessex Downs 
AONBs. 
 
Para 159: Observation:  AONBs and their setting continue to have….    The accompanying map would 
benefit from having the names of the AONBs included. 
 
Policy Option 5:  Support, subject to following: 
 

• Policy Option 5:  Observation:  the first para’ would benefit from the inclusion of heritage 
character in respect of townscapes. 

 

• Policy Option 5:  Observation:  there should be specific mention of the duty of regard to the 
“purpose of conserving and enhancing the natural beauty of the areas of outstanding natural 
beauty” 

 
Para 172:  Observation:  Refer to archaeological advice on the potential of historic landscape 
characterisation to identify archaeological potential. 
 
Para 176:  Observation:  This para should reflect that the loss of nature in the county has been taking 
place for much longer than a decade.  The historic ‘nature deficit’ is an important factor in 
understanding how to achieve long term sustainability and the measures needed to achieve mutually 
supportive economic, environmental and social outcomes.  The county’s economic success has, in 
some respects, been achieved at the expense of nature.  A rebalancing and indeed, ‘catching-up of 
nature’, is required.  This is picked-up on in para 180, but the point could be made more strongly and 
reflected throughout the Plan.  See also the link to Para 211. 
 
Para 186 / 187:  Observation:  There is a wide distribution of wildlife rich sites but not all of these are 
protected.  It would be more appropriate to amend Para 187:  This well-established approach may 
have been successful in protecting individual sites but less successful in arresting the decline of 
wildlife-rich sites that are not protected, the fragmentation of habitats and…. 
 
Para 191:  Observation:  Suggested addition.  “For nature to recover it is important to look beyond 
currently protected sites and wildlife-rich sites and take action to extend… “ 
 
Page 56 / 57 / 58 / 61:  Observation:  Check the licensing details on the maps.  Should these also 
include TVERC copyright data?  The maps would also benefit from clear titles to explain what they 
show in addition to the comments in accompanying text. 
 
Para 200:  Observation:  Further work is required to tackle sewerage discharges and other sources of 
pollution of water courses and water bodies. 
 

Page 335



 
 

34 
 

Para 204:  Observation:  Suggest a slight re-word the reinforce the nature focus.  The focus within the 
wider landscape zone should be on making room for nature and strengthening landscape character, 
including hedgerow restoration and creation, managing farmland with nature in mind or improving 
access to the countryside. 
 
Para 205+:  Observation: The Plan should support the development of a Nature Recovery Strategy 
which would link to the detail of a Nature Recovery Network. This would be comparable in context to 
Para 148: “provide a strategic planning framework for managing flood risk in Oxfordshire”.  The Nature 
Recovery Strategy is picked up in Policy 07, so it would be appropriate to introduce it in the text. 
 
Policy Option 7:  Support subject to modification:  There is an opportunity to include a prominent 
ambition for nature.  The Growth Board and County Council has endorsed the OxCam Arc 
Environmental Principles.  Amongst these is the aim to double the area of land managed primarily for 
nature. Whilst the detail of what this means in an Oxfordshire context is still to be worked out, 
including this ambition within the Plan with supporting information in the accompanying text would 
provide context and a clear direction of travel. It would also help to make a strategic link to the OxCam 
Arc Spatial Framework. To this end the following addition is proposed in para 5 of the Policy:  “The 
Oxfordshire Plan would support the establishment of a Nature Recover Strategy for Oxfordshire with 
the overall aim of doubling the area of land managed primarily for nature by 2050”. 
 
Para 206:  We support the statement concerning the Alternative Policy Option 07-1. 
 
Para 210:  Observation:  Supplementary text:  Such issues of fragmentation and ecological 
connectivity can be addressed to a significant extent through the establishment and implementation of 
a Nature Recovery Network  
 
Para 222:  Observation:  Would merit including reference to a future Nature Recovery Strategy as well 
as network. 
 
Para 236:  Observation: The fundamental role of soils in the county’s wellbeing should be 
emphasised. The protection and enhancement of biodiversity and geodiversity, in particular soil, is 
fundamental to protecting stocks of natural capital and the flows of ecosystem services that underpin 
human health and wellbeing.  
 
Policy Option 08:  Support and Observation:  it is noted that achieving 20% net gain in some local 
authority areas may not always be possible.  In this respect the City of Oxford is a particular concern 
where land supply is limited.  This should not detract from the wider ambition of achieving 20% net 
gain but the locations in which this is achieved may need to be drawn more widely.  Similarly, the 
scope to deliver gains in CTA’s may also prove limiting over time.  An amendment to the last 
paragraph of Policy 08 is proposed: “…gains should be delivered within the administrative area of the 
Local Authority where possible and wherever possible within the Core or Recovery Areas of the 
Nature Recovery Network as described in the Nature Recovery Strategy. 
 
Alternative Policy 08-01:  In combination with the main elements of Policy 08, there is merit in 
considering further differential % net gain, subject to further assessment of the achievability and 
viability of this option. 
 
Alternative Policy 08-02:  Support the statement that this is not a preferred option. 
 
Para 247:  Observation:  This may be an appropriate point to note the recommendations of the new 
England Trees Action Plan and para 131 in the NPPF July 2021 which relates to trees and 
development.  
 

Page 336



 
 

35 
 

Policy Option 09:  Support 
 
Para 265:  Observation:  the NPPF para number referred to has changed in the July 2021 update to 
para 141. 
 
Para 267:  Observation:  the NPPF para number referred to has changed in the July 2021 update to 
para 145. 
 
Para 268:  Observation:  could usefully include reference to natural capital. 
 
Para 269 / 270:  Observation:  Check the NPPF para number referred to in the July 2021 NPPF. 
 
Policy Option 10:  Support and Observation:  include reference to natural capital to capture the widest 
range of environmental improvements and support Policy 09. 
 
Policy 271:  Observation:  This should include ponds both natural and man-made.  Oxfordshire is 
notable for the quality of its pond habitat. 
 
Policy Option 11:  Support. 
 
Policy Option 12:  Support. 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 337



 
 

36 
 

To which part of the consultation does this representation relate? 
 
Paragraph       x  Policy Option  05  Spatial Option 
 
 
 
What is the nature of your comment? 
 
 
Support  x   Object     Observation x 
 
 
 
Please provide details of your response as necessary: 
 
 
Support and Observations: We have some minor suggestions for revised wording as set out 
below. 
 
 
Policy Option 05: Protection and Enhancement of Landscape Characters 

 
Para 157:  The protected landscapes of the Chilterns, Cotswolds and North Wessex Downs Areas 
of Outstanding Natural Beauty cover over a quarter of the land area of the county. These distinctive 
and varied landscapes, defined have been shaped by their underlying geology, land use practices, 
and the many habitats, water courses that cross them and historic and cultural associations and 
are highly valued and protected for their natural and scenic beauty, recreational value, 
distinctiveness and tranquillity. 
 
Para. 158: Great weight has been given to conserving and enhancing landscape the natural and 
scenic beauty in of the Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty and their settings in Oxfordshire, and 
this has shaped the pattern of development in the county over time.  

 
Para 159: The conservation and enhancement of wildlife and cultural heritage are important 
considerations in these areas protected landscapes, and the Oxfordshire Plan will continue to 
support this, as AONBs continue to have the highest level of protection in relation to their landscape 
natural and scenic beauty.  

 
 
Preferred wording for Policy Option 05  
  
We generally support the policy but feel that it would benefit from slight rewording as it is not 
entirely accurate in what studies are required at different parts of the development process. 
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) tend to be carried out for a specific 
development – we assume that this will not apply for the development of the Spatial Options in 
OP2050 but when specific developments are proposed Landscape Character Assessment and/or 
Sensitivity Assessment tend to be used to inform options.  
 
Suggestion for slight rewording: 
 

Page 338



 
 

37 
 

Policy Option 05: Protection and Enhancement of Landscape Characters  
 
The Oxfordshire Plan would establish a positive strategy for the conservation and 
enhancement of Oxfordshire’s landscapes and townscapes features at a county-wide 
landscape scale, taking account of landscape protection status designations, topography, 
vegetation, biodiversity, settlement pattern, historic and cultural associations, tranquillity, 
light pollution and dark skies.  
 
Landscape character and visual impact assessments would be required to support major 
new developments and urban extensions as well as the preparation of the Oxfordshire 
Plan itself and subsequent plans and strategies guiding development in Oxfordshire. 
 
Regard should be had to the Oxfordshire Wildlife and Landscape Study and relevant 
landscape character studies relating to parts of Oxfordshire.  

 
 
It might be possible to refer to the requirement for Landscape Sensitivity assessments in the 
policy itself since it is addressed in the supporting text and later in the document. Such 
assessments tend to be carried out at the option stage (i.e. when different locations are being 
considered) to identify areas that are least sensitive to development. 
 
If reference in the policy itself is sought the following wording might be more appropriate.  
 

Relevant landscape studies would be carried out for the preparation of the Oxfordshire 
Plan itself and subsequent plans and strategies guiding development in Oxfordshire.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 339



 
 

38 
 

To which part of the consultation does this representation relate? 
 
Paragraph   Policy Option                7/8  Spatial Option 
  
 
 
What is the nature of your comment? 
 
 
Support       x  Object     Observation  
 
 
 
Please provide details of your response as necessary: 
 

 
Overall, we are supportive of the inclusion of natural environment policies 07: Nature Recovery 
and 08: Biodiversity Gain. The detailed consideration of biodiversity and its wider value is a 
positive step towards achieving meaningful gains for biodiversity across the county.  
 
It is encouraging that the plan supports the establishment of a Nature Recovery Strategy and 
recognises the importance of the draft Nature Recovery Network as a valuable evidence base 
which will be used to achieve environmental benefits required under strategic policy. As an 
overarching policy this can permit change and adaptation over time, as the evidence base 
increases.  
 
Stronger wording in some parts of the plan would be beneficial, for example para 211 states that 
‘net gains through planning are likely to be desirable’, this needs to ensure commitment and 
recommended wording would be ‘net gains through planning will be necessary’. Stronger wording 
will reflect the requirements anticipated within the upcoming Environment Bill. 
 
we would suggest that there is further consideration of the percentage target, which is 20% 
across the whole of the county. While of course this is an encouraging step towards nature 
recovery, different targets at the district level may be required. Oxford City is highly spatially 
constrained, therefore a target of 20% may be hard to achieve within the administrative boundary 
of the City. The option of delivering net gain outside of the City may therefore be required, while 
ensuring it is delivered where it will have the greatest benefits. 
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 340



 
 

39 
 

Archaeology Team 
 
To which part of the consultation does this representation relate? 
 
Paragraph      172  Policy Option    Spatial Option 
 
 
 
What is the nature of your comment? 
 

 
Support    Object   X  Observation  
 
 
 
Please provide details of your response as necessary: 
 
The Historic Landscape Characterisation maps the changing character of the landscape from 
existing maps only, in the case of Oxfordshire the Davis and Roque maps of the C17th, the late 
C19th OS Maps and the modern mapping. As such it does not provide any information or 
understanding on the archaeological potential of the county.  
 
The archaeological potential for any part of the county must therefore be assessed using data 
from the Historic Environment Record.  
 
This paragraph is therefore misleading and this reference to HLC data and archaeological 
potential should be removed.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

XX 

Page 341



 
 

40 
 

To which part of the consultation does this representation relate? 
 
Paragraph       173  Policy Option    Spatial Option 
 
 
 
What is the nature of your comment? 
 
 
Support    Object   X  Observation  
 
 
 
Please provide details of your response as necessary: 
 
The HLC only sets out the modern and post medieval landscape and how this has changed and 
therefore can only be use dot assess and inform the historic landscape character. This paragraph 
should be amended to 
 
An understanding of the historic importance of landscapes can help shape the Oxfordshire Plan 
spatial strategy to ensure that they are protected and enhanced for the value that they bring in terms 
of recreation, education, sense of place and historic landscape character. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 342



 
 

41 
 

To which part of the consultation does this representation relate? 
 
Paragraph   Policy Option     06  Spatial Option 
 
 
 
What is the nature of your comment? 
 
 
Support    Object     Observation  x 
 
 
 
Please provide details of your response as necessary: 
 
Policy Option 06 refers to HLC data as informing the significance of heritage assets. This is 
however not the case. The Historic Landscape Characterisation data only considers landscape 
types and does not include any data on heritage assets or their significance.  
 
This is therefore misleading and should be removed from this policy. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 343



 
 

42 
 

Theme 3: Creating Strong and Healthy Communities 
 
Housing and Social Care Commissioning 
 
To which part of the consultation does this representation relate? 
 
Paragraph   Policy Option  13  Spatial Option 
 
 
 
What is the nature of your comment? 
 
 
Support    Object     Observation  
 x 
 
 
Please provide details of your response as necessary: 
 
A healthy place-shaping standalone policy is welcomed to establish a framework that can apply 
across Oxfordshire for the design and master-planning of major developments. 
 
A policy might usefully include design which focuses on good quality standards and long-term 
decent home conditions.   
 
Promotion of mixed tenure communities with truly affordable homes, promoting the use of social 
rented, low-cost home ownership models and long-term tenures. 
 
Consideration of needs evidencing and seeking to provide a proportion of housing to meet the 
supported housing needs for older people, people with mental health needs and physical & 
learning disability.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 344



 
 

43 
 

Corporate Landlord Team 
 
To which part of the consultation does this representation relate? 
 
Paragraph                           policy   14    Theme  3  
 
 
 
What is the nature of your comment? 
 
 
Support        x  Object                              Observation  x 
 
 
 
Please provide details of your response as necessary: 
 

The plan should explicitly recognise that health place shaping includes the ability for the elderly 
to be independent, consequently the increase in sustainably powered transportation will lead to 
a marked increase in travel by mobility scooters, not just walking and cycling, which must be 
considered to future proof developments in the period of the plan.  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

s 

Page 345



 
 

44 
 

To which part of the consultation does this representation relate? 
 
Paragraph                                          Policy   16                              Theme   3 
 
 
 
What is the nature of your comment? 
 
 
Support     x  Object                             Observation  x 
 
 
 
Please provide details of your response as necessary: 
 
It would be helpful to explicitly broaden the scope to encompass recreational facilities aimed at 
the elderly for example Bowls, Boules, grouped external chess etc – to help encourage 
connections between the elderly and reduce isolation 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

xx 

Page 346



 
 

45 
 

Public Health 
 
To which part of the consultation does this representation relate? 
 
Paragraph   Policy Option  16  Spatial Option 
 
 
 
What is the nature of your comment? 
 
 
Support    Object     Observation  x 
 
 
 
Please provide details of your response as necessary: 
 
Development proposals for high quality strategic leisure, recreation and open space facilities in 
Oxfordshire will be encouraged that serve more than one District, or county-wide, sub-
regional, regional or national purpose, including (but not limited to):  
  
Strategic indoor sports and recreational facilities, such as leisure centres, aquatic centres, and 
indoor pitches, courts and stadiums.  
  
Strategic outdoor sports facilities and open space, such as pitches, courts, golf courses, as well 
as more informal green spaces such as large-scale community woodlands and country 
parks which may attract visitors from across the county, and associated visitor facilities.  
  
A strategic facility is a high-quality facility that will serve a county-wide, sub-regional, regional, or 
national purpose, for example (but not limited to) county sports grounds, stadiums, new golf 
courses, and country parks. It could also include activities associated with the stately homes of 
Oxfordshire. Due to the extent and variety of facilities that can fall under this definition, whether 
the facility is ultimately considered strategic will be decided on a case-by-case basis.  
  
The Oxfordshire Plan would expect all new strategic leisure, recreation and open space facilities 
development to meet the following criteria:   
  
They must be located within the built-up areas of the city, towns and villages.  
  
In the villages, development must be proportionally scaled and in keeping with the character of 
the settlement.  
  
Development outside of these areas will only be supported in exceptional circumstances, for 
example where it is evidenced that it cannot reasonably be located in the city, or a town or village 
in the county, such as water-based facilities or parkland uses. Ensuring connectivity by means of 
sustainable, active travel and public transport to neighbouring communities will be required.  
  
They must be located in accessible locations, with excellent public transport and link to networks 
for walking and cycling and the public rights of way network.  

Page 347



 
 

46 
 

 Use of sustainable travel is encouraged and a sustainable travel plan will be required that sets 
out the details of the bus and rail connectivity to be secured.  
  
They must be designed with renewable energy provision incorporated to help reduce use of 
carbon. They must have minimal traffic, environmental, visual and landscape impact. Provision for 
the long-term maintenance and management of the facilities will be sought and must be agreed 
as part of a planning application.  
  
School sports halls and outdoor playing fields should be made available to the local community. 
New facilities of this type would be required to enter into community use agreements.  
  
Sports lighting would operate within agreed hours where there is a need unless the lighting gives 
rise to demonstrable harm to biodiversity.  
  
Community facilities would be a matter for individual local plans except where community facilities 
are intended to meet the needs of a wider district or neighbouring district(s) in which case they 
should be located within or adjoining rural service centres to maximise accessibility.  
 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 348



 
 

47 
 

Theme 4: Planning for Sustainable Travel and Connectivity 
 
Public Rights of Way Team 
 

 
To which part of the consultation does this representation relate? 
 
Paragraph   Policy Option    Spatial Option 
 
 
 
What is the nature of your comment? 
 
 
Support    Object   x  Observation  x 
 
 
 
Please provide details of your response as necessary: 
 
Public Rights of Way (PRoW) and the statutory Oxfordshire Rights of Way Improvement Plan 
(RoWIP) do not feature within this plan, despite PRoW contributing to Theme 1-4 and spatial 
strategy options. There are nearly 4,000km of PRoW in Oxfordshire. They are highways and give 
free access to the public for recreation, leisure, transport, access to nature, health and wellbeing 
as well as providing landscape and natural capital services as green corridors.   The RoWIP 
adopted 2014 contains detailed network and opportunities mapping and with the RoWIPs from 
2006 and 2012, contains a substantial and robust evidence base of needs and opportunities 
across the county.  The Oxfordshire Plan needs to be widened to included specific sections on 
PRoW including network information, issues and policies for improvement and extension. 
 
We are happy to aid in developing an appropriate policy. 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 349



 
 

48 
 

South and Vale Locality Team 
 
To which part of the consultation does this representation relate? 
 
Paragraph   Policy Option    Spatial Option 
 
 
 
What is the nature of your comment? 
 
 
Support    Object     Observation  
 
 
 
Please provide details of your response as necessary: 
 
General observation 
 
The document refers to NPPF (2019). This was updated in July 2021 so any reference to NPPF 
should be updated to reflect the update in national guidance and change of paragraph numbers. 
 
 
Policy Option 24: Town Centre Renewal  
 
Given the prevalence of the provision of free car parking in town centres around the county as a 
means of encouraging the patronage of shopping and other leisure facilities, should OP2050 have 
a policy position on this? What evidence exists to either support the improvement or retention of 
town centre parking (free or otherwise) and how does this accord with Policy Option 17: Towards 
a Net Zero Transport Network? 
 
Further to this, the policy option references supporting new measures, including, ‘Improved 
walking, cycling and public transport facilities to and from town centres to surrounding residential 
areas.’ Has consideration been given to the compatibility, or potential incompatibility, of 
supporting measures to encourage sustainable modes of transport, whilst maintaining current 
levels of town centre parking? 
 
 
Policy Option 28 - Homes: How Many? Commitments and Locations 
 
Commitments – as part of commitments site brought forward outside of planned growth such as 
speculative should also be counted towards the committed growth either approved by the Local 
Planning Authority or allowed by a Planning Inspector at appeal. 
 
Spatial Strategy Options  
 
While it is recognised that these options are necessarily high-level appropriate to this stage of the 
plan-making process, it does mean that it is difficult to make well-informed comments on the 
relative benefits of each of the options until more detail is available at Regulation 19.  
 

Page 350



 
 

49 
 

Option 1: Focus on opportunities at larger settlements & planned growth locations 
 
As the commentary in the consultation document acknowledges, although on the face of it places 
such as Banbury and Didcot seem to be sensible locations to locate more growth, such places 
(along with others referenced in the table on p.138) are reaching their limit, both in respect of 
remaining land availability and in terms of the existing and future pressures on the transport 
network (both local and strategic). Furthermore, as they increase in size, the connectivity to the 
outer reaches of these towns becomes more disjointed and dislocated, and access to public 
transport (both bus and rail) starts to degrade. 
 
Option 2: Focus on Oxford-led growth 
 
Aside from the fact that (as noted in the consultation document) there are limited options for 
additional growth within the greenbelt, opportunities for connecting to walking, cycling, and public 
transport networks, tend to be very site-specific. For instance, the feasibility of serving by bus 
each of the three sites allocated on the periphery of Oxford in the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 
2035 varies considerably, as do the challenges of addressing the severance of walking and 
cycling routes caused by the A40 Northern Bypass compared with the A4142 Eastern Bypass.  
 
Furthermore, the benefits of this spatial strategy appear to be predicated on the basis that new 
housing would be near to employment, which while true, does not take into account that the bulk 
of anticipated employment growth (per the district’s local plans) will be located elsewhere in the 
county. 
 
This whole option appears to be at odds with Policy Option 10 (Green Belt) and also the 
Oxfordshire Strategic Vision.  
 
Option 4: Focus on strengthening business locations 
 
Harwell Campus is currently struggling to demonstrate how it can mitigate its transport impact on 
key strategic junctions such as the A34 Chilton Interchange and Rowstock Roundabout 
(A417/A4130/A4185). It should also be noted that the land around Harwell Campus is within the 
North Wessex Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. Twice the Vale of White District 
Council has allocated land within its Draft Local Plans and twice at Examination in Public this site 
was removed due to the impact on the AONB. 
 
Option 5: Focus on supporting rural communities  
 
This option would make it difficult to secure S106 contributions towards strategic infrastructure 
putting a bigger ask on the public purse – which is unlikely to be forthcoming. 
 
As is recognised in the supporting commentary for Option 5, very careful consideration would 
have to be given to the appropriateness of surrounding rural roads to accommodate not only 
traffic growth, but also their ability to be upgraded to facilitate appropriate walking and cycling 
provision, noting that many of the locations shown in the accompanying map are too far from local 
centres and employment locations for active modes to be attractive. Furthermore, while some of 
the villages and small towns are on existing public transport routes, in many cases the ongoing 
viability of these routes is uncertain and as such the scale of development would need to be of 
sufficient scale to ensure that bus services could be made commercially viable in the long-term. 
 

Page 351



 
 

50 
 

Bearing all of the above in mind, it would appear based on the information currently available, that 
Options 3 (Focus on opportunities in sustainable transport corridors & at strategic transport hubs) 
and 4 (taking into consideration the concerns raised above) have the potential to be the most 
effective in respect of supporting the strategic objectives set out in paragraph 485, page 132. 
 
General comment on mapping 
 
Suggest that the maps that accompany all of the spatial options include the AONBs as the only 
one to show this is the Option 5 Map – although it is not labelled as such. 
 

 
Theme 5: Creating Homes and jobs 
 

No comments received. 

Page 352



Divisions Affected – N/A 

 
 

CABINET 

21 September 2021 
 

Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026 
 

Report by Corporate Director for  

Commercial Development Assets and Investment 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

 
1. The Cabinet is RECOMMENDED to accept and adopt in the final version the 

Community Risk Management Plan 2022 - 2026, for public Consultation. 
 

Executive Summary 

 
2. The 2018 Fire and Rescue National Framework requires each Fire and Rescue 

Authority to produce a publicly available Integrated Risk Management Plan 
(IRMP). Within Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service (OFRS) we have called 
this our Community Risk Management Plan (CRMP) to make it more meaningful 

to the public. In April 2017 OFRS published the CRMP 5-year strategy for 
Oxfordshire which covers the period from 2017 to 2022. 

 
3. Our current CRMP is due to End in March 2022 so the production of a new 

CRMP has taken place which will run from April 2022 to March 2026. The CRMP 

is subject to public consultation which will take place for 12 weeks from 22nd 
September 2021.  

 
4. The CRMP comprises of 2 documents, a forward facing CRMP which sets out 

our strategic objectives and key areas of focus over this period, and a supporting 

Risk analysis document covering the process used to identify the risks within 
our county and provide our key areas of focus, which will be available on 

request. 
 

Background 

 
5. The Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 requires the Secretary of State to 

prepare a Fire and Rescue National Framework to which Fire Authorities must 
have regard when discharging their functions. The 2018 Framework requires 
each Fire and Rescue Authority to produce a publicly available Integrated Risk 

Page 353

Agenda Item 9



CR9 

Management Plan (IRMP). In April 2017 OFRS published the CRMP 5-year 
strategy for Oxfordshire, covering the period from 2017 to 2022. 

 

6. Our current CRMP is due to End in March 2022 so the production of a new 
CRMP has taken place which will run from April 2022 to March 2026. The CRMP 

is subject to public consultation which will take place for 12 weeks from 22nd 
September 2021.  

 

7. The Secretary of State published the latest Fire and Rescue National 
Framework in 2018.  The purpose of the Framework was to provide strategic 

direction from central government whilst ensuring that authorities continue to 
make local decisions.  The Framework sets out the Government's objectives for 
the Fire and Rescue Service and what fire and rescue authorities should do to 

achieve these objectives.   
 

8. Each Fire and Rescue Authority should ensure that the IRMP: 
 

(a) Is regularly reviewed and revised and reflects up-to-date risk information 

and evaluation of service delivery outcomes 
(b) Has regard to the risk analyses completed by Local and Regional 

Resilience Forums including those reported in external Community Risk 
Registers (CRRs) and internal risk registers, to ensure that civil and 
terrorist contingencies are captured in their IRMP 

(c) Reflects effective consultation during its development and at all review 
stages with representatives of all sections of the community and 
stakeholders 

(d) Demonstrates how prevention, protection and response activities will be 
best used to mitigate the impact of risk on communities in a cost-effective 

way 
(e) Provides details of how Fire and Rescue Authorities deliver their 

objectives and meet the needs of communities through working with 

partners 
(f) Has undergone an effective equality impact assessment process. 

 
9. The CRMP requires approval from Cabinet before it can be released for public 

consultation. 

 

Community Risk Management Plan 2022 - 2026 

 
10. The Community Risk Management Plan 2022 to 2026 sets out the Fire and 

Rescue Authority’s strategic assessment and long-term plans on how it will 
manage and reduce the risk from fire, road traffic collisions and other 
emergency incidents within Oxfordshire. 

 
11. Our Strategic Priorities for the service outline areas that we will work on over 

the course of this CRMP, to improve our effectiveness, efficiency and people. 
 

Page 354



CR9 

 Corporate Policies and Priorities 

 
12. The Community Safety Services Vision 2026 is the cornerstone document for 

this service area with Oxfordshire County Council and Cherwell District Council. 
It directly links to overarching corporate plans and strategies and sets the 

direction of how the Fire and Rescue Service will improve over the next four 
years in order to deliver against this plan. The CRMP 2022 – 2026 has analysed 
the content of the vision to support the creation of this document. 

 
13. Our values and behaviours are set out within the document as part of the 

council’s organisational values and behaviours framework. 
 

Financial Implications 

 
14. The CRMP sets out our strategic priorities and key areas of focus and fully 

recognises the prevailing economic constraints and will be managed within 
existing budgets or highlighted to Cabinet through the annual Service Resource 
and Planning process. 

 
Comments checked by: Rob Finlayson, Finance BP (Communities and C,OD 

& CDAI) rob.finlayson@oxfordshie.gov.uk  
 

Legal Implications 

 
15. No legal implications 

 
Comments checked by: Sukdave Ghuman, Head of Legal 
Sukdave.ghuman@oxfordshire.gov.uk  

 

Staff Implications 

 
16. The CRMP sets out our strategic priorities and key areas of focus and fully 

recognises the prevailing economic constraints and will be managed within 
existing staffing numbers. 

 

17. Deployment and use of personnel to effectively deliver response and prevention 
activities forms part of the public consultation. Responses from the consultation 

will form part of our people strategy planning over the term of the CRMP. 
 

Equality & Inclusion Implications 

 
18. No SCIA implications 

 

Page 355

mailto:rob.finlayson@oxfordshie.gov.uk
mailto:Sukdave.ghuman@oxfordshire.gov.uk


CR9 

Sustainability Implications 

 
19. No implications 

 

Risk Management 

 
20. The CRMP is a risk assessment document; To create our CRMP 2022-2026, 

we have analysed risks within Oxfordshire, then assessed how OFRS is 

equipped to meet them. A comprehensive risk analysis has been conducted in 
the creation of the document covering our response, Prevention and protection 

delivery, it has included assessment against the National and local risk 
registers, as well as considering aspects such as the future growth of the county. 
 

21. The Community Safety Leadership Team (CSLT) – which consists of 
department heads and the Strategic Leadership Team – also meet annually to 

carry out a horizon scanning exercise.   
 
22. We use the PESTELO method to focus and categorise areas. Once this has 

been reviewed, we then look to priority areas for the coming years forming our 
CRMP, service delivery plans, and departmental plans.  

 
23. “PESTELO” stands for:  

 

Political  
Economic  

Social  
Technological  
Environmental  

Legal  
Organisational 

Consultation 

 
24. The 2022-26 CRMP will be subject to a 12-week public consultation. OFRS 

have worked with Corporate services to create and deliver a Consultation 
Strategy to maximise its reach. 

 
25. The live consultation will utilise the counties Consultation portal as the main 

area to receive responses and will engage with groups via the following 

methods. 
 

Live consultation on CRMP: 

 

 Press releases 

 Social Media campaign 

 Focus Groups 

 Community groups 

 Communication with Stakeholders 

Page 356



CR9 

 All Councillors briefings 

 Hard copy questionnaires 
 

 
NAME:   Steve Jordan 

Annex: Community Risk Management Plan 2022-26 
 
 

Contact Officer: Paul Bremble, Strategic Risk & Assurance officer, 
 07990 780805 

 
September 2021 
 

Page 357



This page is intentionally left blank



Oxfordshire Fire and  
Rescue Service, Community  
Risk Management Plan

2022-26 

FIRE & RESCUE SERVICE
OXFORDSHIRE

P
age 359



1. Opening statements 

Oxfordshire County Council is the Fire and Rescue Authority in 
Oxfordshire. As the Cabinet Member for Community Services and 
Safety the Fire and Rescue service is a significant part of  
my portfolio.

This Community Risk Management Plan 2022 to 2026 sets out the 
Fire and Rescue Authority’s strategic assessment and long-term 
plans on how it will manage and reduce the risk from fire, road traffic 
collisions and other emergency incidents within Oxfordshire. 

It will be the responsibility of the Chief Fire Officer and Oxfordshire 
Fire and Rescue Service to deliver against this document on behalf of 
Oxfordshire County Council and performance against this plan will 
be monitored by myself as the portfolio holder, the Cabinet and the 
Council’s Performance Scrutiny Committee.

Cabinet Member for Community Services & Safety –
Cllr Neil Fawcett

This document clearly sets out what we need to achieve over the 
next four years to make sure we continue to manage and reduce  
the fire related risks to Oxfordshire. 

It also identifies that where we add to broader community safety 
work, we will undertake to protect our communities, reduce harm 
and save lives. We also have a responsibility to provide part of the 
national response required to mitigate national events that can 
affect the UK. 

The document is laid out to not only explain what we intend to do 
but also why we need to do it. It also explains how we will know if 
we have done this successfully.  

We will continue to work together with our colleagues in the county 
council and Cherwell District Council, other local authority partners, 
other emergency services and other key partners to deliver the 
future services that our communities will need across Oxfordshire.  

Director Community Safety and Chief Fire Officer –  
Rob MacDougall

2

P
age 360



Community Safety Services Vision 2026 

The Community Safety Services Vision 2026 is the 
cornerstone document for this service area with Oxfordshire 
County Council and Cherwell District Council. It directly links 
to overarching corporate plans and strategies and sets the 
direction of how the Fire and Rescue Service will improve 
over the next four years in order to deliver against this plan.

Our purpose is the reason why we exist as services. Our 
vision sets out what we want to be in the future, and we 
have chosen to set out what we want to be by 2026. We  
have also described in more detail the elements of our 
vision so we are clear on what this means. Our strategic 
objectives are what we need to do to achieve our vision. 
Our values and behaviours describe how we will work 
together to reach these objectives. These are set 
across Oxfordshire County Council under our value and 
behavioural framework and can be cross-referenced to  
the Core Code of Ethics for the Fire and Rescue Services . 

Elements of our vision: 
Community focussed – we will be delivering highly 
valued work at the heart of our communities, putting the 
public first and leading with our partners on community 
safety across Oxfordshire.  

Forward thinking – we will be agile, dynamic and dare 
to do things differently, making sure we are supported by 
data and digital to supply sound professional judgment 
in the improvement of our services.  

Trusted and inclusive – we will be an employer and 
partner of choice and a learning organisation where 
everyone can contribute with leadership at every level 
and where people feel supported and empowered 
to be the best they can be.  

Sustainable – positive climate action will be 
a primary concern in all our decision making 
and we will have a defined timeline as to 
how we will become carbon zero and reduce 
our impact on the environment. 

Our purpose: we are here to

protect our community, reducing 
harm and saving lives.  

 Our vision:   
‘to provide outstanding services 
that are community focussed 
and forward thinking, trusted, 
inclusive and sustainable’ 

3

P
age 361

https://intranet.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/content/our-organisational-values-and-behaviour-framework?utm_source=homefuturelink
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/core-code-ethics-fire-and-rescue-services-england


Our strategic objectives are by 2026 to be:  

    providing services that reduce the likelihood of harm to people and 
their environment; services that put our community first, ensure 
equality in our provision and achieve greater value for money. 

     working together internally, with key partners and other emergency 
services to achieve stronger collaboration that improves the services  
we provide to our communities.

    able to evidence how our response to emergencies and other incidents 
prevents or minimises harm to people (including our firefighters), 
property and the environment and be clearly demonstrating how we 
learn and improve in key areas.

     applying collective leadership and supporting teams so our 
people take responsibility, are proud of their professionalism and 
proud to belong to a diverse and inclusive organisation that is 
kind and caring. 

4

P
age 362



Our values and behaviours are set out below as part of the 
council’s organisational values and behaviours framework

Taking responsibility 

We hold ourselves 
accountable, take 
responsibility for what and 
how we deliver; we give 
and seek to be empowered 
to make a difference; we 
actively contribute to 
delivering the best for all. 

Be kind and care

We value our staff; we 
respect and treat everyone 
with understanding and 
compassion; we care not just 
for our customers but each 
other.  We take care of our 
own and others well being. 

Daring to do it differently

We innovate, we look to 
do things differently and 
improve the way we do 
things every day; we’re not 
satisfied with the status quo 
and work creatively to solve 
problems.

Equality and integrity

We embrace equality, 
diversity and inclusion; 
valuing the difference in 
others. We always act with 
integrity, working in honest, 
ethical and supportive 
ways, building effective 
relationships; we trust each 
other to do what we promise. 

Always learning

We create an environment 
that enables people to 
grow and develop: we seek 
feedback, we act on it: we 
always looks to be even 
better; learning from our 
mistakes. 

5

P
age 363



2. County of Oxfordshire

Oxfordshire is the most rural county in the south east 
with a population of 700,000. The larger concentrations of 
population are found in the historical city of Oxford and the 
large town of Banbury, the county has a thriving network of 
villages and market towns. They are home to around 40 per 
cent of the population. There are several main trunk routes 
through the county, M40, A34, A40 and A420. There is a 
railway line connecting Oxfordshire to London, Birmingham 
and other parts of the country.  

Oxfordshire has one of the strongest economies in the UK. It 
is a net contributor to the UK exchequer and it is also rapidly 
growing, with an average growth of 3.9 per cent growth 
year-on-year in nominal terms since 2006.

We are home to around 678,000 people and 31,000 VAT 
registered businesses, including a high concentration of 
technology-based businesses that are at the forefront of 
global innovation. 

The region is home to the University of Oxford, the top 
performing university in the world, as well as Oxford 
Brookes, one of the leading young universities in the UK for 
teaching and research.

Find more information from the Oxfordshire Local 
Enterprise Partnership https://www.oxfordshirelep.com/

We have 25 fire stations located 
across the county’s towns and 
villages, as well as Oxford City. We 
have 34 fire engines in total, supported 
by a number of specialist engines. In 
2018 we opened a new fire station in 
Carterton.  

We collaborate with our other Thames 
Valley Fire and Rescue Service partners, 
Buckinghamshire and Royal Berkshire, to 
improve the service we deliver to the public. This 
joint working has resulted in the joint purchasing 
of fire engines and equipment, as well as breathing 
apparatus equipment sets. 

Since 2015, we have had  joint control room that 
handles all emergency calls across the three services, 
Thames Valley Fire Control Service. This ensures we 
send the fire engine that will get there the quickest and 
has improved our overall response to incidents.

6

P
age 364



 Response              Prevention              Protecti
on

    
    

    
    

  P
eo

ple

M40

M40

M40

A40

A34

A420

A40

A34

A44
A41

Abingdon

Wantage

Didcot Wallingford

Goring

Watlington

Henley

ThameWheatleySlade
Rewley Road

Eynsham

Kidllington

Woodstock

Bicester

Charlbury

Witney

Burford

Bampton

Carterton

Faringdon

Deddington
Hook Norton

Chipping Norton

Banbury

34
 fire engines

supported by a number of 
specialised engines

2. Your Fire and Rescue Service
2,508  
Dwelling fires

3,391 
Deliberate fires 
(not including 
dwelling)

3,006 
Accidental fires 
(not including 
dwelling)

2,621 Road 
traffic collisions

1,118 
Commercial 
fires

7,468 
False alarms 
domestic

7,475 
False alarms 
commercial

Response times 

76%  
of incidents attended  
in less than 11 minutes

88%  
of incidents attended  
in less than 14 minutes
Data 2020-21

358 On-call operational staff

236 Wholetime operational staff

   87 Support staff

681
 staff (as of April 2021)

in total working in Oxfordshire 
Fire and Rescue Service.25

 fire stations

Wholetime and  
on-call station

On-call station

Oxfordshire 
Incidents  

2015 to 2021

Day crewing 
and on-call 
station

7

P
age 365



3. Requirement of the Community Risk Management Plan (CRMP)

The following plans 
and documents have 
influenced our thinking 
and planning of this CRMP

•   Oxfordshire County 
Council Corporate Plan

•   Oxfordshire Insights 
Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment

•   Oxfordshire Investment 
Plan 2020

•   Oxfordshire Plan 2050

•   National Framework 2018

•   Fire Standards 

•   National Fire Chiefs 
Council, Community Risk 
Management Program

The Fire and Rescue National Framework 2018 
outlines how Fire Authorities will discharge 
their functions with regards to the fire and 
rescue service. The framework requires us to 
produce an Integrated Risk Management Plan 
(IRMP), called a Community Risk Management 
Plan (CRMP). The CRMP identifies and assesses 
foreseeable fire and rescue related risks that could 
affect our community. 

Further information on the requirements  
of a CRMP can be found here

Our Community Risk Management Plan  
2022-2026, will be the driver for change within 
Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service, setting out 
our strategic priorities and how we intend to 
manage the existing and future risks within  
the county. 

The CRMP will be an integrated approach linked 
into the County Council’s corporate plan and 
vision, driving our strategies, shaped by our 
organisational learning and auditing activity 
and monitored through our performance 
monitoring, risk management processes and 
health and safety reporting. 

8

P
age 366

https://www.firestandards.org/approved-standards/community-risk-management-planning-fss-rmp01/#1602682893877-db4ce8a8-9189


3. How our plans link together

9

Horizon Scanning
PESTELO, Oxfordshire County Council Corporate Plan,  

Value for Money.

Strategic Direction
CRMP, Response Strategy, Prevention Strategy, Protection Strategy,  

People and Wellbeing Strategy, Property Asset Strategy, Fleet Asset Strategy, 
Communications Strategy, Digital Strategy

Strategic Objectives and Annual Action Plans and Annual Priorities
 

Quarterly Priorities
Projects Performance Risk Annual Priorities

P
age 367



4. Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS)

Oxfordshire County Council Fire and Rescue 
Service is inspected independently by the 
HMICFRS. The inspection is designed to give the 
public information about how their local fire and 
rescue service is performing in a number of key 
areas, in a way that is comparable with other fire 
and rescue services across England. 

Our inspection in 2018 assessed us as Good 
across the three areas of efficiency, effectiveness 
and people.

Information about 
the inspection and 
our latest reports 
can be found here

Effectiveness 

Oxfordshire assessed as 

GOOD
The extent to which the service is 
effective at keeping people safe and 
secure from fire and other risks.

Efficiency 

Oxfordshire assessed as 

GOOD
The extent to which the service is 
efficient at keeping people safe and 
secure from fire and other risks.

People 

Oxfordshire assessed as 

GOOD
The extent to which the service  
looks after its people.

10

P
age 368

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/fire-and-rescue-services/oxfordshire/


6. Strategic priorities  

Our purpose: we are here to

protect our community, reducing 
harm and saving lives.  

Our Strategic Priorities for the service outline 
areas that we will work on over the course 
of this CRMP, to improve our effectiveness, 
efficiency and people.

Response 

Prevention 

Protection 

People  

  P
eo

ple        
                             Response

   Protection                                      
Preventio

n

Pu
bl

ic
 a

nd
 fi

re
  

Av
ail

ab
ilit

y o
f r

es
ou

rce
s

Workforce productivity 

Organisational learning

Targeting those most at riskDeveloping digital solutions

 Evaluating and supporting

Supporting collaborationEx
pa

nd
 o

ur
 P

rim
ar

y 

En
ga

ge
 w

ith
 bu

sin
es

se
s

Take actio
n whereUndertake ‘themed’ audits

Inspect the highest risk  

Workforce Diversity

Leadership development

Organisational design

Em
ployee physical

fir
e sa

fety le
gisl

atio
n

  th
ere are breaches in

 

commercial premises 

an
d ap

plia
nce

s

and assurance
an evidence-based approach

to
 re

du
ce

 ri
sk

pa
rt

ne
rs

hi
p 

w
or

ki
ng

 and Inclusion

and industrial relations

and m
ental w

ellbeing

fram
ew

ork

fig
ht

er
 sa

fe
ty

 

Au
th

or
ity

  S
ch

em
e 

(P
AS

) 

FIRE & RESCUE SERVICE
OXFORDSHIRE

11

P
age 369



Response 

The Service will provide an effective emergency 
response to all fires and other emergencies 
across Oxfordshire. We achieve this by having fully 
trained and competent staff, equipped with the 
most appropriate equipment to protect the public 
at incidents. 

Our response standards are:

80% of incidents in 11 minutes

95% of incidents in 14 minutes  

We send our nearest available fire engine to 
incidents. These standards are based on the 
average response time we make across all 
incidents and is dependant on the location  
of the incidents.

The standards were created to provide a 
benchmark and to recognise the spread of our 
resources across the county. 

Our aspiration is 100 per cent availability of our 
fire engines by providing a mixture of wholetime 
(full time) and on-call (part-time) staff, across 25 
stations. We have challenges with the recruitment 
and retention of our on-call staff and are working 
to improve this. We have set out a programme of 
work to address this. 

To ensure public and firefighter 
safety, we gather relevant 
and up to date information on 
risks across Oxfordshire and our 
neighbouring counties. We hold 
information on businesses, specific 
sites and public events for use at 
emergency incidents and to support  
our training. 

As a learning organisation, we look to take 
every opportunity to learn from operational 
incidents. We carry out operational assurance 
of incidents through audits and debriefs. These 
review our procedures and equipment and look 
for opportunities to improve. These improvements 
are captured in action plans to make sure they are 
delivered. 

We share our findings from incidents nationally 
through the national systems for learning 
(National Operational Learning and Joint 
Operational Learning). This ensures that the 
learning from local incidents can have a 
positive, national impact.

12

P
age 370



The National Security Risk Register, identifies 
risks that have the potential to impact the public 
on a larger scale such as flooding, pandemic or 
terror attack. We work with partners to provide 
an effective response to these risks through the 
National Resilience teams, the Local Resilience 
Forum and other blue light agencies.

Spotlight section 

•   We have made improvements to how we gather 
and provide risk information for our operational 
crews. We have provided digital devices to 
operational crews to access the most up to date 
information on the incident.

•   We will use our resources and skills, in 
partnership, to provide positive community 
outcomes. Our responses to gaining entry to 
properties for South Central Ambulance Service 
has increased the chances of patient survival 
and reduced the workload for Thames Valley 
Police. We will continue to look for opportunities 
like this that make a positive difference to the 
community.

•   We have trained all our Incident Commanders 
in the latest Joint Emergency Services 
Interoperability Programme, to enable them to 
respond effectively to a multi-agency incidents.

What we will do

•   We will adopt and implement all National 
Operational Guidance. NOG sets out guidance 
for services to follow at operational incidents 
to ensure a consistent approach, and ensure 
that it is recorded, communicated, tracked and 
reviewed.

•   We will work with Thames Valley Fire and Rescue 
Service colleagues to ensure that a system is in 
place to examine operations to ensure that best 
practice is shared, lessons are learnt, and any 
new ways of working are reviewed and adopted 
where practical. 

•   We will continue to support the UK’s national 
resilience to significant incidents.

•   We will explore and identify the best and most 
suitable methods of recruitment for the on-call 
duty system.

•   We will explore and identify different ways to 
improve retention of on-call staff. For example, 
different retainer payments and a more flexible 
approach to availability.

•   We will ensure that we keep up to date with the 
changing environment for building, transport 
and infrastructure, to deal with all incidents. 

Measuring success

•   Maximising our availability to provide the 
quickest response to emergency incidents. 

•   An effective response to emergency incidents 
that protects the public and the safety of 
firefighters.

•   Improving our response to emergency incidents 
through a learning culture that supports 
openness and improvement – we will look to 
learn and not blame.

13

P
age 371



Prevention

The number of fires in the UK has been decreasing 
over the last decade, although this decrease has 
now flattened out. A fire in the home is still a 
devastating event and can lead to the loss of life. 

Feedback from people receiving our Safe and 
Well visits shows that they feel safer after we visit, 
however, we need to expand the reach of this 
valuable service by increasing the number that 
we complete and target them at those who need 
them most.  

Nationally road fatalities have stopped 
decreasing. In 2019 there were 1,748, reported 
in the “Road casualties in Great Britain” report. 
In Oxfordshire this was 23. Pedestrians, pedal 
cyclists and motorcyclists are all described as 
vulnerable road users and we will continue to 
target our prevention activities towards these 
groups.  

We wish to utilise our resources better and 
promote self-help by providing more for 
prevention such as online content, telephone 
sessions and interactive videos. This will free up 
our resources to carry out face-to-face work with 
those that are most vulnerable.

Our operational based staff are an important 
part of our prevention activity and we need to 

empower them to design locally 
tailored solutions that address 
local need. We need to increase 
our capacity, and our activities 
can be delivered and supported by 
volunteers, so we will look to expand 
the numbers of volunteers we use.

Partnership working is key to achieving 
our ambitions, by helping us to use our 
resources more efficiently and achieve 
better outcomes. We need to understand the 
value partnerships are adding and how they are 
making our communities safer. We are committed 
to working in partnership for the good of 
Oxfordshire residents.    

Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service supports the 
countywide Safer Oxfordshire Partnership, which 
brings together a wide range of practitioners 
(public health, safeguarding, Thames Valley 
Police) to reduce crime and anti-social 
behaviour across the county.    

14

P
age 372



Spotlight section

•   We have well developed safeguarding 
arrangements in place to help those most 
vulnerable in society. This is due to our strong 
relationships with our social care partners, 
which has supported the development of a 
strong safeguarding culture among our teams. 

•   We have developed an evaluation strategy to 
enable us to evaluate our prevention activities, 
to ensure they continue to make people safer. 

•   We will use our evaluations to give the public a 
voice, to make continuous improvements and 
to ensure that our efforts are making positive 
differences for the community.

 

What we will do 

•   Evaluate all our activities where it is possible  
to do so. 

•   Match our delivery methods to those most at 
risk so that we can target our resources at the 
most vulnerable.

•   Establish effective partnerships to increase  
our effectiveness and our contribution to 
thriving communities.

•   Develop our data to support our  
decision-making. 

•   Increase the number of Safe and Well visits  
we complete to reduce the number and impact 
of fires in homes.  

 

 

Measuring success  

•   The use of prevention activity to reduce  
harm and save lives in relation to fire, road  
and water risk.

•   Effective partnership working that targets  
our resources at those most vulnerable in  
the community.

•   The evaluation of our prevention activities to 
maximise the effectiveness and efficiency of  
our resources. 

15

P
age 373



Protection

Any commercial building could experience a 
fire but the consequences are varied. The type 
of building and the occupancy can increase the 
level of risk if a fire should start. For example, 
these include buildings where people sleep but 
are unfamiliar with the layout such as hotels and 
guest houses or where people would struggle to 
escape from a fire because of health factors, such 
as care homes. 

Our risk-based inspection programme targets 
these higher levels of risk to life to make sure we 
focus our activity on the right types of properties. 
In addition, we use local knowledge, feedback 
from our fire crews and national incidents of note, 
to identify other areas of high risk.

Our fire protection teams carry out audits on 
commercial buildings to ensure that they comply 
with fire safety regulations. Commercial buildings 
require specific sets of fire safety measures to 
protect the employees and other occupants. 
We carry out these audits to ensure that these 
measures are in place and are being well 
maintained.  

Over the course of this CRMP we will be looking 
for an increase in the number of audits we 

complete as the expanded team 
(12 inspectors to 22 inspectors) 
become fully competent. 

We also have duties to respond 
to building consultations, licensing 
applications and fire safety concerns 
raised by the public. In addition, we use 
local knowledge, feedback from our fire 
crews and national incidents of note, to try 
and identify areas of high fire risk that we can 
focus on. 

There are major legislative changes progressing 
through parliament. The Building Safety Bill and 
the Fire Safety Bill 2020, which will amend the Fire 
Safety Order 2005. These are a legislative reaction 
to the Grenfell Tower tragedy. This will have a 
direct impact on fire and rescue services and we 
will monitor the developments closely.   

16

P
age 374



Spotlight section

•   We have an Intelligence Based Dynamic 
Reinspection Programme (Risk Based 
Inspection Programme) that is used to 
determine our proactive inspection work. This 
programme targets those premises that have 
a higher risk of fire and combines this with 
the potential impact of fire on the occupiers/
building users. 

•   We have adopted the NFCC national guidance 
document “Competency Framework for Fire 
Safety Regulators”, and have development 
programmes in place for staff to ensure they 
have the right skills, competency and technical 
knowledge to carry out inspections to a high 
standard.

•   We have invested in our protection team to 
increase work capacity by increasing the team 
from 12 to 22 members of staff.

What we will do

•   Increase the number of audits that we 
complete, focusing our efforts on the 
inspections within our risk-based inspection 
programme to reduce the risk that fires cause in 
commercial buildings.

•   Adapt to the requirements of new legislation to 
be an effective regulator.

•   We are working with the other fire and rescue 
services across the Thames Valley to look at 
new ways of reducing the amount of false 
alarms we attend.

•   Increase our work around business 
engagement to raise levels of  
fire-safety knowledge.

•   Complete intelligence-led 
campaigns to reduce high fire 
risk.

Measuring success

•   To identify fire safety situations in workplaces 
that present a high risk to the public and 
employees and to use the full range of our 
enforcement powers to reduce harm.

•   We will increase the level of fire safety 
knowledge in workplaces through prevention 
and education to increase self-compliance and 
reduce harm. 

17

P
age 375



People and wellbeing

The fire and rescue service is going through a 
period of significant change and we need to 
ensure that our workforce is able to adjust to 
these changes and contribute innovatively. This 
in turn also requires workforce interpersonal 
relationships and industrial relations that work for 
the good of the organisation.

We have had plans in place for the last three 
years to increase our diversity within our 
operational staff, as we recognise that diversity 
helps to increase creativity and innovation, and 
ultimately supports better decision making and 
improvements. By reflecting the community we 
serve, this also breaks down barriers and fosters 
better community relations. We recognise that 
we still have a long way to go in this area however 
currently 8 per cent of our operational workforce 
are women, just under 2 per cent are from the 
BAME community and just under 2 per cent are 
from the LGBTQ community.

We have adopted the six key areas of the  
NFCC’s People Strategy as strategic objectives:

•   Strengthen leadership and line management to 
support organisational change and improved 
community outcomes.

•   Developing cultural values and behaviours that 
make the fire and rescue service a great place to 
work for all our people.

•   Ways of working that are able to respond  
to service needs.

•   Provide excellent training and education  
to ensure continuous improvement of 
services to the public.

•   Continue to support the health and  
wellbeing of all our people.

•   Strengthen our ability to provide good service  
by diversifying our staff and creating a fair and 
equal place to work.

18

P
age 376



We have developed the following insight to guide 
strategic actions going forward:

•   A diverse workforce could deliver increased 
creativity and innovation and will help to ensure 
that our prevention and protection messages 
have increased reach.

•   A reduction in operational incidents is resulting 
in increased skill fade, requiring experience to 
be gained in other ways, such as through more 
training and simulated experiences. 

•   The service will need to find new ways to 
enable members of the public to become 
on-call firefighters without the role being too 
burdensome to their primary employment, 
families and leisure time. 

Spotlight section

•   The HMICFRS rated Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue 
Service as good at looking after its people and 
the service was judged as outstanding in how 
it promotes the right values and culture of the 
services. 

•   HMICFRS also felt that the service was good at 
getting the right people with the right skills and 
at ensuring fairness and promoting diversity. 

What we will do
•   We will continue to pursue a more 

inclusive culture and a more diverse 
workforce so we can represent the 
community we serve and staff can fulfil  
their potential.

•   We will embed the NFCC’s leadership framework 
to support our positive culture and support 
leadership at all levels of the organisation.

•   We will continue to work with staff and 
representative bodies to use staff on wholetime 
duty systems in such a way as to bridge the 
gaps in on-call appliance availability.

Measuring success
•   Creating a workforce that is representative  

of our communities. 

•   Support our staff through targeted wellbeing 
initiatives.

•   The development of our leadership approach to 
support the continuation of our “outstanding” 
cultural assessment by the HMICFRS. 

•   Supporting the availability, competency 
and experience of our on-call staff through 
improved retention. 

19

P
age 377



How we will monitor our improvements and the level of risk 

We will monitor and review our strategic priorities in the following ways:

•   Progress will be monitored through our risk 
and performance meetings and reported to the 
strategic leadership team.

•   Our annual Service Delivery Plan will outline our 
key priorities for delivery against our CRMP.

•   Agreed key performance indicators will be 
monitored quarterly and reported through our 
annual report.

•   Our annual statement of assurance will provide 
assurance the service is delivering against 
expectations and legislation.

•   Inspections from Her Majesty’s Inspectorate 
of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services, 
will assess the service against key areas to 
determine the level of service we are providing 
to the communities of Oxfordshire. 

•   Annual review of our risk analyses documents 
will ensure that we continue to horizon scan and 
assess risks to communities and the service.

•   Creating key service action plans after 
national events or organisational learning will 
ensure that we improve our delivery to the 
communities of Oxfordshire.  

•   We will use learning from incidents and other 
events to ensure continued improvement of our 
service delivery. 

•   We will use learning from National Operation 
Learning and Joint Operational Learning to 
ensure continued improvement of our service 
delivery. 

We will review our CRMP, associated risk 
analyses and strategic priorities annually  
to ensure that they are relevant and current  
in the changing landscape. Annually the 
service will produce a report updating 
communities, cabinet members and Oxfordshire 
County Council, on what has been achieved 
throughout the year to improve the lives of the 
communities in Oxfordshire.  

20

P
age 378



FIRE & RESCUE SERVICE
OXFORDSHIRE

P
age 379



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Divisions Affected - All 

 
 

CABINET  

21 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 

VOLUNTARY SECTOR STRATEGY AND INFRASTRUCTURE 
CONTRACT 

 

Report by Corporate Director – Customers, Organisational 
Development and Resources  

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

1. The Cabinet is RECOMMENDED to: 
 
(a) Endorse the development of an organisational Voluntary and 

Community Sector (VCS) Strategy; 
 

(b) Approve the recommendation of converting the current VCS 
infrastructure contract into a grant for the next year (2022/23) to enable 
the development of the VCS Strategy. 

Executive Summary 

 

2. The VCS is vital to residents and communities across Oxfordshire. A strong 
and enabled sector promotes active, resilient communities, leading to better 
outcomes for individuals and reduced pressure on statutory services. The 

Council has seen strengthened relationships with the sector over the last 
couple of years and wants to build and maintain these. At the moment, there is 

no clear and consistent approach to the sector across all services.  
 

3. The co-production of a strategy with the local VCS, that considers the 

Council’s commitment to the sector and analyses and aligns relationships and 
funding, would ensure a clear and cohesive strategic approach across 

Oxfordshire as a whole.  
 

4. In order to develop the strategy, it is recommended that the current VCS 

infrastructure contract, which would be considered through the strategy 
development, is changed to a grant for one year (2022/23), as the current 

extension on the contract will expire in March 2022. A grant agreement would 
give the sector security at the same time as allowing for the co-production of a 
strategy, that can feed into the long-term provision of VCS infrastructure 

support in Oxfordshire. 
 

Page 381

Agenda Item 10



CA10 

5. This paper sets out two asks of Cabinet; with the proposal to develop a VCS 
Strategy outlined first; followed by a recommendation to convert the current 
infrastructure contract into a grant to enable this work.   

Introduction: A VCS Strategy for Oxfordshire 

 

6. Oxfordshire County Council recognises and values the critical work the local 
VCS does across Oxfordshire, and the positive impact this has on residents. 
Local Government alone cannot create flourishing people and communities, 

and the local VCS provides a vital contribution to help achieve this. The Covid-
19 pandemic has made this even clearer, with the VCS in Oxfordshire quickly 

responding to support residents’ needs.  
 

7. Collaboration with and across the VCS has notably increased during Covid-19, 

with new groupings of the sector coming together regularly to tackle problems 
collectively – sharing knowledge and in some cases resources, in ways and at 

a pace that has not previously been seen. This has included a new level of 
engagement and collaboration with the statutory sector. There is considerable 
ambition within the VCS to retain this new culture to drive efficiency, flexibility, 

and responsiveness.  
 

8. Similarly, across services in the Council, there is a recognition of strengthened 
relationships with the VCS and a desire to continue to build and maintain 
these after the pandemic. However, there is currently not a clear cohesive 

plan on how to achieve this across the Council as a whole. 
 

9. An internal working group was to set up to consider the future scope of the 
VCS Infrastructure Contract, which following extension expires in March 2022. 
However, initial conversations highlighted a broader opportunity to collaborate 

on a cross organisational VCS Strategy that would allow the consideration of 
the Council’s relationship with the sector and commissioning of services as a 

whole. The internal working group comprises of representatives from Adults 
and Social Care, Public Health, Children’s Services and Cultural Services and 
is led by the Policy and Strategy team.  

 
10. The co-production of a strategy with the local VCS that considers the Council’s 

commitment to the sector, and analyses and aligns relationships and funding 
for the sector, would ensure a clear and cohesive strategic approach across 
Oxfordshire as a whole. The VCS working group can act to advise and steer 

the strategy, to ensure it has input and is developed alongside all services. 
The strategy would also work closely with the Council’s Recovery planning to 

ensure lessons learnt from Covid-19 are incorporated. 
 
11. This work would also seek to explore opportunities for pooling of funds 

between and across services, to identify potential efficiencies through 
economies of scale, and a more joined up approach to commissioning the 

sector. Furthermore, it would create clarity and a more strategic service for the 
sector, as well as reinforce the strengthened relationships built with the sector 
during the Covid-19 pandemic. 

 

Page 382



CA10 

12. A mapping exercise is currently underway, gathering information about current 
contracts and grant agreements each service across the Council has with the 
voluntary sector. This will help identify opportunities for strategic collaboration 

in and across services with VCS organisations and would feed into the 
strategy.  

Co-production and Engagement of Strategy 

 
13. Following endorsement of the development of the strategy, engagement with 

the local VCS would begin to ensure early involvement and enable co-
production of the strategy. This would involve reaching out across a range of 

Council services and their VCS networks, to ensure we have significant reach 
throughout the whole sector. Although the ambition is to consult widely with 
the sector early on, once key principles are agreed it is envisioned that a VCS 

Steering Group would be created to advise the development and production. 
The creation of this group would be consulted on in the first stage of the 

engagement work with the sector, to ensure that the sector is happy with the 
approach and is able to ensure the membership of the group is fully 
representative.  

 
14. Input from Cabinet and members will also be vital. As the VCS spreads across 

multiple areas of Council work, it is proposed that there is a sub-group of 
Portfolio Holders on Cabinet that are regularly engaged at all stages of the 
development of the strategy. Furthermore, the strategy would engage early on 

in the process through Locality Meetings, so that all members can participate 
in discussions and shape the strategy. Opportunities could also be explored to 

bring the strategy development through the Partnership Working Group. 
 

15. Alignment with the City and District Councils will also be sought. Initial 

conversations around the VCS have indicated that many of our colleagues are 
already considering their relationships and ways of working. This is therefore 

the ideal opportunity to significantly re-shape the approach across the sector 
across Oxfordshire as a whole. 
 

16. The final strategy will be brought to Cabinet for decision. 
 

17. Cabinet is asked to endorse the development of an organisational VCS 
Strategy 

Infrastructure Contract 

 
18. Alongside the development of a VCS strategy, it is important to consider the 

long-term future of the current VCS Infrastructure contract. There have been a 
number of extensions on the contract to the current provider, Oxfordshire 
Community and Voluntary Action (OCVA). For more information, please see 

the Delegated Decision from December 2020. The current extension will 
expire in March 2022, so provision for the sector after March 2022 needs to be 

considered now. 
 

19. The contract outcomes are as follows: 

Page 383

https://mycouncilpages.oxfordshire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?Id=8596


CA10 

 Outcome 1: A diverse range of voluntary and community organisations 
have access to the relevant information, advice and tools necessary to 
increase their effectiveness and build their capacity to function 

effectively. Voluntary sector organisations are raising the role and 
importance of the sector in delivering services, influencing policy and 

shaping Oxfordshire’s rural and urban communities, supporting 
networking and co-ordination across the sector. 

 Outcome 2: Volunteering (social action) is promoted and developed.  

 Outcome 3: Communities are supported and empowered to find their 
own solutions to issues and become more active, working with others. 

 
20. Outcome 3 is delivered in a sub-contractor arrangement with Community First 

Oxfordshire.  
 

21. The contract value is £165,000 per annum. While there is other commissioned 

and grant funding tied to specific sectors and geographies, this is the only core 
infrastructure support for the local VCS. The business case for the Council to 

provide this support is invest to save: a strong and active VCS promotes 
active, resilient communities leading to better outcomes for individuals and 
reduced pressure on statutory services.  

 
22. The provisions of the contract and the support offered by the supplier are 

valued within the VCS. However, it is recognised that the contract delivers a 
minimal service for the local VCS, due to its scope and scale, with the Local 
Government Association (LGA) Peer Review in 2018 noting that the contract 

was low for the investment needed in Oxfordshire. Conversations with the 
VCS in 2018 found that the contract did not deliver everything they wanted it 

to, in particular they felt the support was not accessed by a diverse range of 
organisations, and elements such as proactively coordinating action and 
priorities across the VCS and other partners were missing. 

 
23. Prior to 2015, the VCS Infrastructure support was delivered through a grant. 

Since then funding has been in form of a contract, but the procured services 
match closely the core mission of the current provider. 
 

24. The VCS has been at the forefront of supporting people during the Covid-19 
pandemic, at the same time as facing significant challenges such as a loss of 

funding and the need to furlough staff. Furthermore, the local VCS in 
Oxfordshire has been forging new partnerships and exploring new ways of 
working. 

 
25. Due to the limited capacity within the sector, running a full tender process now 

could split their priorities and interrupt crucial delivery of long-term 
sustainability support and reactive Covid-19 activities. Also, as the Council’s 
desire is for a much more ambitious, co-produced VCS strategy, it is not 

recommended to prematurely seek a long-term contract, so as not to limit 
progress on the longer-term vision. As the current market provider rivals for 
this contract would predominantly be national organisations, this may hinder 

their interest in the contract, leaving our core Oxfordshire based provider as 
the potentially only viable applicant.  

Page 384



CA10 

 
26. It is therefore recommended to award a grant agreement to OCVA for the next 

year (2022/23), to minimise disruption and provide security to the sector and 

allow us time to align the future of the contract with the new proposed VCS 
strategy. A grant agreement will maintain services for the VCS at this crucial 

time and enable the Council to properly engage and strategically consider the 
long-term future of the infrastructure contract. 
 

27. If the recommendation of a grant is agreed to, an engagement exercise is then 
planned to run alongside the coproduction of the proposed VCS strategy. This 

will involve the wider sector and consider the long-term future of VCS 
infrastructure, ensuring a strategic solution is sought that builds upon the 
principles of the strategy. 
 

28. Cabinet is asked to approve the recommendation of converting the 

current VCS infrastructure contract into a grant for the next year 
(2022/23)  

 

Financial Implications 

 

29. The current contract cost is within existing budgets. Therefore, changing the 
contract into a grant for a year for the same amount of money does not create 
any additional budget pressures.  

 
 

Comments checked by: 
 
Name, Rob Finlayson, Finance Business Partner, 

rob.finlayson@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
 

Legal Implications 

 
30. A grant is not a service contract and so does not fall under the procurement 

rules set out in the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. As such it can be directly 
awarded without competition. It does however offer fewer contractual rights and 

remedies for the Council for poor performance. Funding is essentially held on 
trust to be spent on a particular purpose rather than in return for direct service 
delivery obligations.  Subsidy control law needs to be considered when 

awarding grants which may mean in some situations the award of the grant is 
not permissible. For the value of the proposed grant in this situation the Council 

and provider can take advantage of the de minimis threshold under such law 
which would permit the award of the grant without further justification.   

 

Comments checked by: Jonathan Pool, Solicitor (contracts), 
jonathan.pool@oxfordshire.gov.uk 

 

Page 385



CA10 

Staff Implications 

 
31. There are no direct staff implications arising from the recommendations in this 

report. 
 

Equality & Inclusion Implications 

 
32. The VCS by its very nature engages with the most vulnerable in our 

communities. Over the past couple of years, there is new consideration in the 
VCS of their role in promoting equality and of the diversity within the sector 

itself. Therefore, in addition to being a Council priority, conversations with the 
sector will undoubtedly involve new objectives and activities that bring specific 
attention to equalities issues for both the strategy and the long-term future of 

VCS infrastructure support.  
 

33. There are no negative equality and inclusion implications arising directly from 
this report.  
 

Sustainability Implications 

 

34. This report is not considered to raise any sustainability implications. 
 

Risk Management 

 
35. We have identified a number of risks relating to the VCS infrastructure 

contract, and in particular if a grant agreement is not the option proceeded 
with. We have a clear plan of action and timeline to ensure that if a grant is 

approved, the strategy can be developed on time alongside long-term 
provision for the infrastructure support. Further details can be found in Annex 
2. 

 
 

Claire Taylor 
Corporate Director – Customers, Organisational Development and Resources  
 

 
Annexes: Annex 1 – Proposed Timeline for Strategy and Long-term 

Infrastructure Provision 
Annex 2 - Options Appraisal for VCS Infrastructure 
Contract 

 
Contact Officer: Emily Schofield, Acting Head of Strategy 

Email: emily.schofield@oxfordshire.gov.uk Tel: 07881 
311707 

Page 386

mailto:emily.schofield@oxfordshire.gov.uk


CA10 

 Karina Russell, Senior Policy Officer 
Email: karina.russell@oxfordshire.gov.uk Tel: 07917 
921511  

 
September 2021  

Page 387

mailto:karina.russell@oxfordshire.gov.uk


CA10 

Annex 1 – Proposed Timeline for Strategy and Long-term 

Infrastructure provision 
Item When Steps Required 

Mapping exercise to 

understand that support that 
OCC gives the VCS 

September 

2021 
 Contact services individually to map 

out their grants/contracts 

 General procurement mapping 

request of grants/contracts  

Informal and Formal 
Cabinet to agree to strategy 

production and grant 
agreement 

September 
2021 

 

VCS Working Group to 
define scope of strategy 

September 
2021 

 Not too defined as co-production 
important and early engagement 

with sector vital. 

 Set out parameters of strategy and 

who else internally needs to be 
involved 

 Consider how to incorporate existing 
strategies and visions such as 
Oxfordshire Way 

VCS Working Group to 

outline grant agreement 
principles/outcomes 

October 

2021 
 Prepare draft grant agreement 

outcomes  

Engagement with Districts 

and City on strategy and 
long-term contract 

October 

2021 
 Further conversations to establish 

alignment and partnership 
opportunities 

Engagement with sector on 

VCS strategy and long-term 
contract 

October 

2021 -Jan 
2022 

 Discussions internally beforehand 

on best way to facilitate co-
production  

 Workshops and virtual events 

 Potentially wider online consultation 

Engagement with members 

on VCS Strategy and long-
term contract 

October 

2021 – Jan 
2022 

 Engagement through Partnership 

Working Group 

 Engagement through winter Locality 

Round 

Development of long-term 
contract 

Jan – April 
2022 

 Drafting of contract taking into 
consideration engagement from 
VCS, LGA Peer Review and 

previous consultation exercise. 

Development of VCS 
Strategy 

Jan – April 
2022 

 Drafting of VCS strategy based on 
engagement with VCS 

Consult on draft long-term 

infrastructure provision with 
VCS  

April – 

May 2022 
 Re-engage with sector on draft for 

comment  

Consult on draft VCS 

Strategy 

April – 

May 2022 
 Re-engage with sector on draft for 

comment 

Finalise drafting long-term 
contract 

May – 
June 2022 

 

Page 388



CA10 

Finalise and launch VCS 

Strategy 

May – 

June 2022 

 

Agree provision and 
develop VCS infrastructure  

June 2022 
– Winter 
2022 

 Could be full procurement and 
tendering exercise if contract 

preferred option  

New VCS infrastructure 
provision implemented 

April 2023  

 
Annex 2 
 

Options Appraisal for VCS Infrastructure Contract 
 
 

Option 1: Let a long-term strategic contract now – not recommended 

 
Pros Cons 

Would provide security for the sector There is uncertainty externally with 

Covid-19, and the sector may not be in 
a position to bid. For instance, we 
understand that a lot of national funders 

are still in the position of rolling over 
grants and contracts to allow the sector 

breathing space. 

Ultimate goal is to provide long-term 
future for VCS infrastructure 

There is uncertainty internally as we do 
not yet have a strategic approach 

across services as to what provision is 
needed  

 The VCS strategy would not be able to 
feed into the long-term infrastructure 

provision, and therefore might not meet 
our ambitions 

 There is very little time to engage with 

the sector or others on what it would find 
useful for long-term VCS infrastructure 
provision 

 

 
Option 2: Let a short-term contract now – not recommended 

 
Pros Cons 

Council has greater contractual 
remedies and protection for short-term 

contract over grant 

A year-long contract would not be 
appealing to providers as they present a 

lot of effort for limited security, and as a 
highly specialised service a tender 
process may not attract interest. 

Still allows for time to develop strategy 

and infrastructure long-term provision 

As a single year long contract is not 

appealing, it could damage our 
relationship with our current provider 

and the rest of the sector 

Page 389



CA10 

 There is still external uncertainty in the 

sector as a result of Covid-19, and 
therefore the sector may not be in a 
position to bid. 

 TUPE implications may apply to a new 

provider which would equally apply if 
and when further long-term 

arrangements are entered into. Overall 
periods of uncertainty would last for 
significant period disrupting the ability of 

the current provider to deliver alternative 
approaches and mature 

 

 
Option 3: Let the contract lapse – not recommended 

 
Pros Cons 

Cost savings The funding is supporting capacity and 
building in communities and the VCS, 
which ultimately has an impact of the 

sustainability of the Council and partner 
services. This is particularly acute 

during the Covid-19 pandemic when 
VCS organisations have experienced a 
reduction in funding streams. 

 Removing infrastructure support for the 

VCS would be significantly disruptive 
and most likely lead to the failure (at 

least in its present form), of the provider, 
without a clear alternative in 
Oxfordshire. 

 Reputational impact of withdrawing at 
this point, when the Council has 
strengthened relationships with the 

sector and the sector is vulnerable, is 
significant. 

 

 
Option 4: Award a grant agreement for a year whilst agreeing long-term future 
– recommended 

 

Pros Cons 

Provides certainty for the sector Limited contractual remedies  

Allows for time and space to create 
strategy, and feed into the long-term 

vision for infrastructure support 

Cannot be prescriptive in delivering 
outcomes, however the current 

provider’s main objectives and purpose 
is closely aligned with the objectives of 

the current contract so its unlikely their 
core work would change 

Page 390



CA10 

Allows for time to consult and engage 

fully with the sector on the provision 
needed 

 

Grants allow space for innovation, and 
at a time when the Council is 

considering its long-term strategy for 
future provision, it would allow the 

provider to explore and evaluate new 
ways of delivering across the sector 

 

 

Page 391



This page is intentionally left blank



Divisions Affected – All 

 
 

CABINET  
21 September 2021  

 

Oxfordshire Street Design Guide  
 

Report by Corporate Director Environment and Place  
 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

1. The Cabinet is RECOMMENDED to endorse the Oxfordshire Street Design 
Guide for adoption and thereafter publication of the guidance document. 

Executive Summary 

 
2. Oxfordshire County Council aims to enable Oxfordshire as a whole to become 

zero-carbon by 2050. This ambition extends into our role as the Local Highway 
Authority when advising and assessing new developments. The Design Guide 

presents how we can prioritise active and healthy travel through street design 
in new developments meeting our carbon ambitions and that of established 
transport policy.  
 

3. This guidance is also intended to support the development industry in the 

preparation and submission of development proposals through the provision of 
up to date guidance.  This should both de-risk and accelerate the preparation 
and determination of development proposals for developers and the county 

council.  
 

4. This document has been created in consultation with external stakeholders and 
the District Councils as described further in ‘Communications’.   

Background  

5. The need for an updated design document was identified to replace the 
‘Residential Roads Design Guide’, bring guidance in line with Local Transport 

Plan 4 and emerging Local Transport Connectivity Plan (which this guide will sit 
under) as well as updated national guidance. It provides broads guidance and 
directs users to more detailed guidance in specialist areas.  It will be a publicly 

available document on the county council’s website. 
 

6. With 85,000 new jobs and 100,000 new homes planned for Oxfordshire up to 
2031, the county council should provide up to date guidance to developers to 
help bring forward new development. Availability of guidance would help 

developers understand the county council’s expectations for new developments 

Page 393

Agenda Item 11



CA11 

as well streamline the planning application process which would mean fewer 
delays to planning consent, thus ensuring that growth is brought forward in a 
timely fashion.  

 
7. A draft of the Oxfordshire Street Design Guide, which is subject to limited 

revision for proof reading, graphics and formatting is attached to this report at 
Annex 1.  

 

8. The Oxfordshire Street Design Guide will be a live document which will be 
updated yearly to address any issues and to be kept up to date with local and 

national guidance. It will also allow further annexes to be added to the document 
on additional design elements if required.  
 

Key Issues  

 

9. The Design Guide refers to national guidance, particularly Manual for Streets 
(Department for Transport, 2007), Inclusive Mobility (Department for Transport, 
2005) and Local Transport Note 1/20 Cycle Infrastructure Design (Department 
for Transport, 2020). Annex 2 shows where the guide would sit in the context 

of national and local policy. It refers to the Walking Design Standards and Cycle 

Design Standards which have been adopted by the county council. It also 
directs users to more detailed guidance in specialist areas.  There is a 
recognition that this guidance requires development in several areas including 

landscaping, drainage, car parking etc.  These will be developed separate to 
the Oxfordshire Street Design Guide.     
 

10. The Oxfordshire Street Design Guide follows the same user hierarchy in Manual 
for Streets with pedestrians at the top, then cyclists, then public transport users 

and finally other motor traffic. This aligns with Oxfordshire County Council’s 
ambitions to become zero-carbon as a county by prioritising sustainable and 
healthy travel. 

 
11. The document is moving away from providing strict geometries to recognise that 

Oxfordshire is a diverse place and each development is unique. It provides 
some street examples to demonstrate how our requirements can be achieved.  
 

12. It provides guidance on cycle parking for all new developments and requires 
provision for cargo bikes, mobility impaired bicycles, scooters, etc. It also 

provides guidance on bus stop design within new developments and its 
interaction with cycle routes and footways.  
 

13. The guide discusses the approach the county council is taking in terms of car 
parking design and our preference to reduce private parking stock (garages, on 

plot parking) and increase the use of unallocated / allocated on-street parking. 
This allows flexibility in street design when private car dependency reduces in 
future which would allow on-street parking could be converted to other uses 

such as pocket parks, planting, cycle routes, Connected and Autonomous 
vehicles routes, etc.  

 

Page 394



CA11 

14. The Design Guide also provides broad guidance on drainage, landscaping 
where these form parts of the street as well as how to accommodate the needs 
refuse and recycling collection within the street. 

 
15. The project team has also worked with the Innovation Hub team to include 

guidance on how innovation can form part of street design. Innovation is fast 
paced and ever changing and therefore it is difficult to provide design 
parameters. However, we have knowledge of emerging innovations which 

already have some level of evidence in place to show likely efficacy which we 
have outlined within the guide. 

 

Corporate Policies and Priorities 

 

16. The Design Guide directly contributes to the Vision and Objectives of the 
Corporate Plan by creating high quality places for people to live in which 

encourage travel by foot, cycle and public transport thereby contributing to our 
ambition to create active and healthy communities as well as reducing carbon 
emissions.   

Financial Implications 

 

17. There are no budgetary implications in relation to publication of the Oxfordshire 
Design Guide. The cost of preparing the Design Guide has been funded through 
Homes and Community Agency Capacity Funding.  

 
Comments checked by: 

 
Rob Finlayson, Finance Business Partner for Communities, 
Rob.Finlayson@Oxfordshire.gov.uk    

 

Legal Implications 

 
18. No legal implications have been identified in relation to publication of the 

Oxfordshire Design Guide.  

 
Comments checked by: 

 
Jennifer Crouch, Principal Solicitor Environmental, 
Jennifer.Crouch@Oxfordshire.gov.uk  

Staff Implications 

 

19. The Transport Development Control Lead (North) will be responsible for 
monitoring and managing any ongoing updates and changes required to the 

guide. It will be funded from existing budgets.  

Page 395

mailto:Rob.Finlayson@Oxfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:Jennifer.Crouch@Oxfordshire.gov.uk


CA11 

Equality & Inclusion Implications 

 
20. An Equality and Climate Impact Assessment has been carried out and is 

attached to this report at Annex 3. The assessment has identified largely 

positive impacts on equality and climate impact.  

 

Sustainability Implications 

 

21. See above for the Equality and Climate Impact Assessment undertaken.  
 

Risk Management 

 

22. Without a Street Design Guide, there is a risk of development coming forward 
that perpetuates a dependency on the private car. Therefore, there is a risk that 
the visions identified in the county council’s Climate Action Framework and 

Local Transport and Connectivity Plan will not be met. Additionally, without this 
guidance, it would lead to protracted and lengthy pre-application discussions or 

alternatively no pre-application consultation, which would result in planning 
applications that do not meet the county council’s requirements. 
 

23. To be effective, the Street Design Guide will need to be kept up to date. It will 
be reviewed annually and updated as necessary to reflect any changes 
identified.  

Consultations 

 

24. A range of opportunities and methods were applied as part of the consultation 
process for the design guide to engage with a wide range of internal and 

external stakeholders.  Those applied and intended to be applied leading up to 
and after publication are summarised in Annex 4.   

 

25. A total of 45 questionnaire responses were received and 15 more detailed 
responses in the form of letters were also received to the external stakeholder 

consultation. All five District Councils were consulted, and their responses were 
submitted in letter format. Key findings from the consultation and how the 
document has been amended to address these points is shown in Annex 5. 

The Annex also sets out the responses in detail.  
 

26. The external consultation revealed that stakeholders held very strong views on 
the content and form of the document. Whilst reviewing these comments an 
external professional was appointed as a Critical Friend to provide an 

independent review of the draft and identify any amendments required.  
 

 
Bill Cotton  
Corporate Director for Environment and Place 

 

Page 396



CA11 

Annex:  
 

1. Annex 1 - Draft Oxfordshire Street Design Guide  

2. Annex 2 - Policy Hierarchy  
3. Annex 3 - Equality and Climate Impact Assessment  

4. Annex 4 - Summary of Stakeholder Engagement Approach  
5. Annex 5 - External Stakeholder Consultation 

 

Background papers: Nil  
 

Contact Officer: Chanika Farmer, Transport Development Control Lead 
(North), 07557 082590, 
Chanika.farmer@oxfordshire.gov.uk  

 
 

September 2020 

Page 397

mailto:Chanika.farmer@oxfordshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Street Design Guide

P
age 399



Foreword

Oxfordshire is an area of growth with 100,000 homes and 85,000 
new jobs planned over the period 2011 - 2031. Whilst this creates a 
challenge, it also offers an exciting opportunity to create healthy and 
innovative environments for the residents of Oxfordshire. Streets 
have an important role in creating friendly and social neighbourhoods 
that remain functional for all users. This guide looks at how different 
streets can be designed to suit the needs of local residents. 

In October 2020, Oxfordshire County Council approved a Climate 
Action Framework. The document sets out the county council’s plans 
to make itself a carbon neutral organisation by 2030, and to enable 
Oxfordshire as a whole to become zero-carbon by 2050. This ambition 
extends into our role as the Local Highway Authority when advising 
and assessing new developments. To act on climate change, we need 
to prioritise walking, cycling and using public transport. To ensure 
streets are functional, healthy and safe for all users, this document 
sets the standards on a number of technical issues such as street 
hierarchy, space allocation and parking. The aim of this document 
is to provide guidelines for developers to work towards, whilst 
simultaneously supporting innovation and originality further enriching 
an already diverse Oxfordshire.

This document has been created in consultation with external 
stakeholders and the District Councils. The Design Guide refers to 
national and local guidance which should be read in conjunction to 
this document.

Oxfordshire County Council 
County Hall 
Oxford 
Oxfordshire  
OX1 1ND

T: 01865 792422 
E: streetdesignguide@oxfordshire.gov.uk    
W: www.oxfordshire.gov.uk

In collaboration with:  

Roberts Limbrick Architects 
The Estates Office 
25-26 Gold Tops 
Newport  
NP20 4PG

T: 03333 405500 
E:  mail@robertslimbrick.com    
W: www.robertslimbrick.com

2

P
age 400



Contents

Part 1

Introduction 

Introduction 6

Street space allocation 10

Structure of this guide 13

This is Oxfordshire 15

What do we want to achieve? 17

The demonstration masterplan 17

Part 2

Street hierachy

2.1 Street hierarchy 21

2.2 Primary street 24

2.3 Secondary routes 29

2.4  Tertiary streets 32

Part 3

Detail design components

3.1 Parking bicycles 35

3.2 Parking cars 38

3.3 Dealing with drainage 47

3.4 Landscaping 48

3.5 Innovation 51

3.6 Refuse collection 56

Part 4

Further advice

Street lighting 58

Highway records and boundaries 59

Bus stops and routes 60

General advice 60

3

P
age 401



Vision

A vision for Oxfordshire:

A place where streets, through integrated 
and quality design, lead to a greater 
economic and social well-being and 
improved health for its residents, creating 
an environment for healthy lifestyles, 
sustainable travel and a zero carbon 
economy.

4

P
age 402



Street design guide

5

P
age 403



Part 1

Introduction 

6

P
age 404



Purpose of the guide

The design of our streets has a significant impact 
on how a place, be it a residential development, a 
town centre or an area of employment, looks and 
feels. The quality and design of streets can be the 
difference between a vibrant and successful place 
and one that isn’t. Streets are active places. In 
many cases they are, and should be, the lifeblood 
of neighbourhoods and communities. Streets 
help to define the soul of a place. This sets them 
apart from roads. We would define roads as 
linear movement corridors which simply serve to 
connect places. On arrival at a place, roads should 
very quickly evolve into streets.

In line with good placemeking, streets should 
help to ensure that each new development or 
intervention contributes positively to creating or 
enhancing environments within which people, 
communities, businesses and nature can thrive.

This document is a ‘street’ design guide for new 
developments. This is a living document and so 
is subject to ongoing changes and updates. It 

sits below the Local Transport and Connectivity 
Plan (due to be adopted in 2020) and the Local 
Transport Plan 4 as shown in the diagram below.

Introduction

Both of the above documents set out the proposed 
transport solutions for the county up to 2031, with 
ambitions beyond that in some cases. It has been 
developed with three over-arching transport goals of 
economy, environment and society, importantly: 

   To support jobs and housing growth and economic 
vitality

   To reduce emissions, enhance air quality and support 
the transition to a zero carbon economy

   To protect and enhance Oxfordshire’s environment and 
improve quality of life (including public health, safety 
and individual wellbeing)

Design of positive 
‘streets’...

...not soulless 
‘roads’.

7

P
age 405



Oxfordshire County Council is responsible for 
ensuring that new streets meet certain design 
standards. These standards help to ensure that 
new streets function in a practical and safe 
manner. Currently, these standards are set out 
in various documents. Whilst these guides are 
important to set discipline based standards, 
they do not necessarily demonstrate how all 
the various disciplines might come together in a 
holistic manner to create streets and places.

The Street Design Guide makes reference to 
various national and local guidance and it should 
be read in conjunction with these documents, 
which are: 

   National Design Guide (Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government 2021)

   Manual for Streets (Department for  
Transport, 2007)

   Manual for Streets 2 (CIHT, 2010)

   Inclusive Mobility (Department for  
Transport, 2005)

   Local Transport Note 1/20 Cycle infrastructure 
design (Department for Transport, 2020)

   Healthy Streets Toolkit (TfL, 2007)

The primary purpose of this design guide is to 
bring together the key design principles from 
the multitude of disciplines covered by the 
existing guides. This will then allow designers to 
very quickly understand all the County Council 
elements that will need to be considered in the 
design of places. This document is, of course, 
intended to be a companion to the various 
existing District Design Guides which generally 
cover the wider masterplanning element. 

Whilst much of the existing guidance e.g. Walking 
Design Standards and Cycling Design Standards 
will remain live standards, this Street Design 
Guide replaces the existing ‘Residential Road 
Design Guide (2002) - Second Edition (2015)’.

Introduction

The document is intended to:
   Provide street design guidance to deliver high quality 
streets and places

   Inspire landowners, developers and designers to 
deliver the highest quality development through 
positive and constructive working relationships

   Promote good quality design by helping people 
understand the process and the criteria that deliver it

   Instil confidence to the residents of Oxfordshire that 
developments will be designed and delivered to the 
highest quality

8

P
age 406



We want to deliver high quality streets and places

What do we mean by high quality streets?

Ref: National Design Guide (Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Govt. 2021)

Efficient, resilient 
and made to last

Can adapt 
uses well

Prioritise active 
and sustainable 
optimised travel

Attractive and 
distinctive 
identity for users

Create places that 
are easy to get to 
and move through Has a clear hierarchy 

of streets and spaces

Offer the scope 
for activities and 
attractive public 
spaces

high quality

streets

Respond to, reinforce 
and enhance local 
distinctive surroundings

Contemporary and traditional creating non car dominated streets

Mix of usesIntegrated green infrastructure

Punctuation through height Integrated green infrastructure

Introduction

9

P
age 407



What will be the future of our streets?

As set out in our vision statement at the 
beginning of this document, we are looking 
towards a future where car ownership is 
reduced due to more attractive options, 
improved health awareness, active travel 
coupled with zero carbon emissions targets. 
One outcome of this might be the overall space 
we give over to tarmac is reduced. We would 
encourage designers and developers to also 
embrace this vision. 

The Council is looking for innovative ways in 
which the pressures placed on streets by the 
current high levels of car ownership can be 
accommodated today, whilst also considering 
how tarmac space could be lessened or 
reclaimed for public/community use in a less car 
reliant future. 

Oxfordshire will experience an unprecedented 
amount of growth in housing and employment 
over the next few decades. This will increase 
the demand for travel within and beyond the 
county. We recognise that to accommodate the 
level of growth planned, we need to address 
existing congestion and resulting carbon 
emission issues. Therefore, the way we travel 
has to change, shifting towards more active 
and sustainable travel by making journeys on 

foot, cycle and public transport. Oxfordshire 
County Council has secured various bids to 
deliver strategic transport schemes to realise 
this ambition. At local development level, there 
is an exciting opportunity to design streets in 
a way that creates a presumption in favour of 
walking, cycling and using public transport. This 
document seeks to provide guidance to create 
streets that encourage this shift away from the 
private car.

We realise that this is a challenging topic. It is, 
however, a topic that needs tackling today for 
the sake of the future. If we continue to allocate 
the same levels of space to roads and cars as 
we currently do without such consideration, in 
the future reclaiming redundant space will be 
more difficult.

Whilst difficult, it is however something 
that designers are already starting to think 
about, where existing streets are being 
successfully reclaimed as multi-purpose 
places. Such examples include the retro fitting 
of ‘homezones’, introduction of pocket parks, 
pop up ‘green’ spaces and seating, converting 
parking bays into cycle lanes. These same 
principles of making streets as places can be 
applied to new developments.

Street space allocation

10

P
age 408



Street space allocation
Remnants 
of original 
standard road

The Dings, Bristol

Here, what was previously 
a standard road, has been  
re-purposed to become 
a place for people to 
live, interact and create 
community

Roads transformed 
into places for people. 
The car is merely 
accommodated rather 
than being domineering

Parklet images from 
Oxford City

Examples of new build developments 
reclaiming space: either photographs or, 
more probably, plan sketches

11

P
age 409



This concept of claiming back space for people 
is equally relevant to new build developments. 
It starts from the outset of the design process: 
ensure that streets are designed to be fit for 
purpose without be over engineered. Utilising 
the basic concepts set out within Manual 
for Streets will help to set some initial basic 
parameters. For example, reducing geometry 
radii at side junctions.

Oxfordshire County Council believe, however, 
that more can be done to further reduce 
‘tarmac’ and space taken by cars. For example, 
the introduction of variations in street widths 
through localised street narrowings can provide 
the opportunity for additional green space, rain 
gardens, seating, growing or local areas of play. 
This is space that would otherwise be tarmac 
but that can now contribute positively to the use 
of the street by people.

Oxfordshire County Council is keen to work with 
designers and developers on this concept when 
designing new developments. We anticipate 
that solutions will require developers to be 
more flexible and innovative with their design 
solutions. As such, we appreciate that we too, 
need to have a degree of flexibility in how we 
enforce ‘standards’.  For example, for a design 
solution which positively promotes our vision 
we may need to be more flexible on what we are 
willing to adopt.

Street space allocation

Examples of new build developments 
reclaiming space: either photographs or, 
more probably, plan sketches

12

P
age 410



Part 1

This is Oxfordshire

This part of the document comprises of a 
summary illustrating some of the key character 
areas of Oxfordshire from Oxford City Centre, 
Bicester, Banbury and Didcot to small hamlets 
and the challenges facing ‘standard’ street 
design across such different places.

Assumptions: good masterplanning design

For the purposes of this document, it is assumed 
that general good masterplanning design has 
been undertaken, in accordance with national 
guidance and the various District Design Guides. 
This section does, however, set out some key 
masterplanning objectives that specifically 
relate to movement and street design.

The masterplan

This document follows a natural design process 
relating to the design of quality streets. It is 
important that key design principles are set out. 
However, this document goes a step further and 
illustrates ways in which those principles could 
be implemented. 

Part 2

The importance of a user and function based 
street hierarchy

This section sets out the key principles that 
should be followed to help create legible street 
patterns. This is generally referred to as a 
hierarchy of routes and can often help to define 
different character areas related to the type of 
streets that are within them.

Several examples are set out to help 
demonstrate:

   Primary

   Strategic secondary

   Secondary

   Tertiary

   Private drive

Part 3

Detailed design: Street components

Whilst Part 2 deals with general streetscape 
parameters, Part 3 looks at those elements 
of the street which add the detail. These are 
often considered in isolation on a discipline 
by discipline basis. This can result in streets 

whose overall design in compromised by, for 
example, the late requirement for a previously 
unconsidered bus stop.

The section considers:

   Road space allocation

   Parking: cycle and car and school drop off areas

   Drainage: surface water collection and 
distribution

   Trees and landscape

   Street lighting

   Innovation

   Refuse collection

Throughout the course of Part 3, future 
innovation and travel behaviour is considered 
and developers are encouraged to build 
innovation into developments to achieve the 
vision and aims of this document.

Part 4

Further Advice

This section within the document covers 
standard advice on topics such as tree planting, 
refuse, highways and lighting etc.

Structure of the design guide

13

P
age 411



Structure of the design guide

Design considerations
Elements of detail design

Parking

Refuse

SUDS

Parking

High quality public 
transport service

Cycle parking

Cycling facilities

Technology

Safe routes to School 

Trees

Street lighting

14

P
age 412



The five districts

Oxfordshire is a County in the south of England, 
immediately west of Buckinghamshire, 
consisting of five District Councils:

   Cherwell

   West Oxfordshire

   Oxford City

   South Oxfordshire

   Vale of White Horse 

Within these districts, a vast variety of 
settlement types and characters can be found. 
These range from the dense urban centre 
such as Oxford, Bicester, Abingdon and Didcot 
through to small rural villages and hamlets.

Each District Council has its own general design 
guide which is bespoke and distinct to that 
particular area. They have been written to 

respond directly to the context and character 
of each particular District. This makes each one 
unique and bespoke with different content and 
approaches to development.

One of the primary challenges is to produce 
guidance which can be interpreted and 
adapted to suit different situations but with 
similar guiding principles. Some principles 
are flexible whereas others are more fixed. 
The guide sets out examples of how 
principles, be they guiding or technical, 
could be implemented across a variety of 
situations and places.

Core challenge: To prepare county 
wide Street Design Guide with the 
flexibility to be applied to each of 
the five Districts.

This is Oxfordshire

A420

A14

A34

M4

A40

M40

A43

M1

M40

A41

M4

Walingford
Didcot

        
Wantage

Faringdon

Highworth

Carterton

Witney

Watlington

Thame

High Wycombe

Oxford

Charlbury

Woodstock

Bicester

Brackley

Banbury

Chipping Norton

Henley-on-Thames

W E S T 
O X F O R D S H I R E

D I S T R I C T

O X F O R D  C I T Y
D I S T R I C T

C H E R W E L L 
D I S T R I C T

S O U T H
O X F O R D S H I R E

D I S T R I C T
V A L E  O F 

W H I T E  H O R S E
D I S T R I C T

The five Districts of Oxfordshire

Additional useful and interesting resources:

 South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2017     Cherwell Design Guide 2017

 West Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016       Vale of White Horse Design Guide 2015

15

P
age 413



This is Oxfordshire

Oxfordshire

Market town

City

Village

Market town
Rural

City

Town

Village

16

P
age 414



Key street design objectives

Meeting the following objectives is critical in delivering high quality streets and places. These objectives should be considered at the outset and 
throughout the design process and are generally reflective of District Design Guides.

What do we want to achieve?

The street design within the context of a masterplan: 

   Prioritise sustainable and active travel to help reduce congestion 
- Designing streets and places to help combat climate emergency 
through the reduction in car use: streets that are linked, well connected, 
safe and attractive for non car road users 

   Provide a clear and permeable hierarchy structure of streets, routes 
and spaces which are inclusive and create safe and convenient ease of 
movement by all users

   Provide ease of access to local services and facilities with good access 
safe walking and cycling routes and to public transport

   Built to last and to meet the County Council’s maintenance needs

   Understands and addresses the needs of all potential users to ensure 
inclusive design

   Ensures a sufficient level of well-integrated and imaginative solutions 
for car and bicycle parking and external storage including bins

   Take account of all relevant County Council and District Design Guides 
included County Council School Design and Process documents, 
in an holistic manner, to ensure streets are designed through 
multidisciplinary collaboration

   Informed by a contextual analysis of the area

Additional objectives 

   Use land efficiently whilst respecting the existing landscape 
character, enhances biodiversity and as a minimum, leads to no 
net loss of habitat

   Promote minimum energy consumption through design and 
mitigate water run-off and flood risks

   Ensure that streets and spaces are well overlooked creating a 
positive relationship between fronts and backs of buildings

   Respect the local context working with and complementing the 
scale, height, density, grain, massing, type and details of the 
surrounding area

   Secure a high quality public realm with well managed and 
maintained public areas

   Be designed to take account of possible future development in 
the local area

   Functions well and adapts to changing requirements of 
occupants and other circumstances

   Creates safe communities and reduces the likelihood of crime 
and antisocial behaviour

17

P
age 415



There are certain basic design principles which should be adhered to in order to achieve high quality streets. The following are design principles 
and qualities drawn from local and national planning policy and the National Design Guide best practice guidance relating to development. 
These principles and qualities apply equally to the design of quality streets: 

What do we want to achieve?

What is high quality?Principles

Ensuring movement corridors are safe and welcoming for all, including the elderly and disabled

Ensuring places can be easily understood  including a legible street hierarchy

Providing variety, choice and sensory richness  

Ensuring places are easy to get to and move through for sustainable modes, and encourage physical activity

Masterplans should promote walking, cycling and public transport as the first choices for movement

Anticipating the need for change as travel behaviour and technology changes

Minimise the impact on our environment and reduce carbon emissions

Designing streets and spaces so that their quality can be maintained over time and will age well using 
robust materials
Creating streets which act as attractive outdoor spaces including high quality green and blue 
landscape infrastructure 
Constructing sustainable buildings appropriate to their function and context to help enhance streetscapes 
considering landforms, orientation and massing
Designed to be adaptable to future technologies and innovations

Movement and access:

Ease of movement:

Diversity:

Sustainable travel:

Legibility:

Adaptability:

Sustainability:

Designing for future maintenance:

Good streets and spaces:

Well designed buildings:

Innovation:

18

P
age 416



Collaboration from the outset

Meeting the following oPre-application 
service is historically carried out through the 
relevant district. Oxfordshire County Council, 
however, understand that it is essential that 
all elements of street design are considered 
together as part of the initial and on going 
design process. Traditionally, it may only have 
been the developers and highway consultants 
that consult the County. This has often led to 
individual discipline led approach to street 
design. The County Council would encourage 
the developers lead the designer/urban 
designer/masterplanner/architect to consult 
with them at an early stage as part of the initial 
masterplanning process. This could be done 
directly but, ideally, should form part of any 
district pre-applications consultations/meetings. 
This is an essential step and its value should not 
be underestimated. (Pre-application highways 
advice on major planning applications can be 
found by clicking here)

Furthermore, this design guide does not give 
hard and fast rules as it is understood that 
all places are not the same. The guide leaves 
flexibility for creating unique and bespoke 
places. Having said that, it is essential that all 
layouts and street designs are vehicle tracked 

and tested to ensure that they can perform 
to a satisfactory and safe level. This further 
reinforces the need for early and continuous 
consultation with the highway authority from 
the start of the design process right through to 
delivery on site.

Authority Consultation/Collaboration Process

What do we want to achieve?

19

Initial 
concept

Guidance/
standards

Initial 
designs

Pre  
App 1

Revise

Pre  
App 2

Revise

Decision

Re-submit

Post  
App 2

Revise

Post  
App 1

Submit

P
age 417

https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/roads-and-transport/transport-policies-and-plans/transport-new-developments/pre-application-highway-advice
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/roads-and-transport/transport-policies-and-plans/transport-new-developments/pre-application-highway-advice
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/roads-and-transport/transport-policies-and-plans/transport-new-developments/pre-application-highway-advice


Part 2

User and street hierarchy

20

P
age 418



2.1   User and street hierarchy

The user hierachy

Manual for Streets (2007) recommends user 
hierarchy is established where pedestrians 
are considered first in the design process and 
recommends the user hierarchy outlined below.

The Oxfordshire Street Design Guide follows 
this user hierarchy. This aligns with Oxfordshire 
County Council’s ambitions to become zero-
carbon as a county by prioritising sustainable and 
healthy travel. 

To prioritise sustainable travel, 
infrastructure and links for walking 
and cycling must be considered at the 
start of the masterplanning process. 
The location of services within or 
outside the development must be 
considered and an assessment of the 
suitability of walking and cycling to these 
services should be undertaken. This 
firmly establishes a movement hierarchy. 
Following which, public transport 
movements should be considered and 
finally movement of general traffic.  

Manual for streets user hierarchy

Filtered permeability

Walking and cycling routes must be direct, 
convenient and well designed. When designing 
new developments, establishing the movement 
framework using the above user hierarchy will 
show the opportunities to create modal filters 
throughout the development. 

Planters, trees, bollards, or street art could be 
used to create modal filters. 

Filtered permeability routes can be combined 
with access for emergency vehicles with removal 
bollards or planters. 

PHOTOS OF THE LTN’S FROM CF

(HIGH QUALITY)PHOTOS OF THE LTN’S FROM CF

(HIGH QUALITY)

21

Consider last

Consider first

Pedestrians

Cyclist

Public transport users

Specialist  
service vehicles

Other motor  
traffic

P
age 419



2.1   User and street hierarchy

Establishing a street hierarchy

The following pages look more at what the 
street needs to safely accommodate rather than 
setting a specific size standard. For example, a 
primary street may need to accommodate buses 
(potentially), cyclists, pedestrians and cars. A 
general carriageway width guide is provided, 
however, we would encourage designers to make 
allowances for such parameters and provide 
information detailing how such users have been 
safely allowed for. This approach will help to 
create streets that are bespoke and specific rather 
than formulaic: varying street widths creating 
interest and character based on user and place 
based hierarchy.

It should also be noted that defining a hierarchy can 
be undertaken in several different ways regardless 
of, for example, specific size design standards. 
Something as simple as landscape, tree planting 
arrangements or boundary treatments can help to 
differentiate one street type from another (it’s not 
all about street widths and junction radii!)

An important and vital stage of any masterplanning 
process is to establish a movement strategy. This 
strategy should take into consideration the site 
and context analysis. It should therefore be site 
specific and help set out a clear hierarchy of streets 
and spaces. As set out in Manual for Streets, it 
is important that this hierarchy should not be 
determined by a formulaic approach based on 
traffic flows of number of premises served. They 

should instead be based on specific location, use, 
role, user hierarchy, place and movement.

The depth of the street hierarchy will very 
much depend upon the size and nature of the 
development. A small development of, say, 20 
homes may have a simple single street creating a 
loop through the development whereas a larger 
development of, say 200 homes would be expected 
to have a far greater variety of street characters. 

Up to 400 dwellings could be served by one access, 
while more than 400 dwellings must be served by 
more than one access. In Addition, development 
of more that 150 dwellings with a single vehicular 
access will also require an emergency access. The 
type and location of accesses should be discussed 
and agreed with Oxfordshire County Council.

Primary street Secondary street Informal mews Court / tertiary Private drive / tertiary

Formal tree 
planting

Formal on-street 
parking bays

Informal  
tree planting Casual  

on-street 
parking

Shared 
surface

Minimal frontage: 
personalisation 
space

Edge of 
development

Private 
drive

Typical, non specific example of a different street types: a typical hierarchy

Additional useful and interesting resources:

   Manual for Streets 1 (2007) and 2 (2010) Dept for Transport         Oxfordshire District Councils’ Design Guides

   The Urban Design Compendium (2000) Housing & Communities Agency         Oxfordshire County Council School Design Guidance

22

P
age 420



2.2   Primary Street

General principles

There are several design factors which can be 
characterised as being specific to a primary route. 
Two of the main features, and requirements 
which will impact significantly on the design 
parameters, are the need to accommodate 
cyclists through segregation as required by LTN 
1/20 (DfT 2020) and, more often or not, these 
routes will be bus routes although do not warrant 
a dedicated bus lane.

In the context of this Street Design Guide, the 
‘streets’ are those which serve neighbourhoods 
and communities with a design speed of 20mph, 
achieved through, for example, horizontal 
deflection, reduction in geometry radii etc. 
Generally, streets with speed limits of 30mph or 
above are designated as local distributor and link 
roads and are not covered by this guide. These 
designations would be regarded as strategic 
routes and, as such, are generally County 
implemented routes rather than developer 
implemented routes. They do not, therefore, 
feature in this Street Design Guide.

2.0 2.0 1.8 6.75 Var 1.8 2.0 5.000

G
ar

de
n

Foo
tp

at
h

C
yc

le

R
oa

d

V
er

ge

C
yc

le

Foo
tp

at
h

P
ar

ki
ng

G
ar

de
n

2.0 2.0 1.8 Var 6.75 1.8 1.8 2.0 2.0

Foo
tp

at
h

C
yc

le

V
er

ge

R
oa

d

B
us

S
to

p

C
yc

le

Foo
tp

at
h

G
ar

de
n

2.0

C
yc

le
Foo

tp
at

h
G
ar

de
n

R
oa

d

P
ar

ki
ng

B
uf

fe
r

K
er

b

Foo
tp

at
h

G
ar

de
n

   

C
yc

le

2.0 1.8 6.75 2.5 0.51.8 2.0 2.0

V
er

ge

G
ar

de
n

R
oa

d

C
yc

le

C
yc

le

G
ar

de
n

Foo
tp

at
h

Foo
tp

at
h

2.0 6.752.0 1.8 Var 1.8 2.0 2.0

Section AA
(Measurements in m)

      

Section BB
(Measurements in m)

Section CC
(Measurements in m)

Section DD
(Measurements in m)

Primary

AA BB
CC

DD

Primary street:  typical potential section

2m cycle lane: One 
way alongside 
carriageway or 

Typical 
adoption area

Foo
tw

ay

Foo
tw

ay

Carriaeway: Giude  
5.5m wide 6.75m wide 
if a bus route. Localised 
variations in to add 
character and variety can 
be considered

2m wide 
footway

Primary street: potential layout with guide dimensions

2m wide 
footway

Parallel on street parking 
bays where no driveways 
present, 0.5m buffer around 
bay  to protect cyclists

2m cycle lane routed footway 
side of on street parking to 
avoid conflicts with parked 
cars or bus stops

Access to side roads: reduce junction geometry to a tracked 
minimum to help reduce vehicle speeds and provide better 
pedestrian environment, Early collaboration with highways 
department essential. See also Manual for Streets.

2m cycle lane:  
One way alongside 
carriageway or stepped

Horizontal changes of direction provide 
opportunities for landscape, parking 
and traffic speed reduction    

Raised table or surface change 
to announce side road junction 
(at grade on bus routes) 

Direct residential driveway 
access permissible in both 
forward and reverse gear 
(discretion required. EG, 
may nor be acceptable on 
bus route)

23

P
age 421



2.2   Primary Street

Cycle routes

Oxfordshire County Council expects high quality 
infrastructure for pedestrians, cyclists and 
bus users. Government has provided detailed 
guidance on the provision of cycle infrastructure 
in LTN 1/20 (DfT, 2020). The Street Design Guide 
follows the parameters set by this guidance 
and we require all new developments to be 
designed in line with LTN 1/20. When following 
this guidance, special attention should be given to 
the parameters in relation to appropriate types of 
cycle infrastructure provision as set out in Tables 
4.1 and 5.2 of LTN 1/20. 

All routes should allow for safe cycling. On 
many streets where traffic volumes and design 
speed allow, this can be through on carriageway 
provision. All primary routes, however,  must 
provide specific measures to allow for safe use 
by cyclists. There are generally three accepted 
methods:

   On carriageway cycle lanes (2m wide) - one way 
each side of carriageway to match traffic direction

   Stepped cycle lanes (2m wide) - raised above 
carriageway via low dropped kerb. One way each 
side of carriageway to match traffic direction

   Segregated cycle lane (3m wide) - Detached 
from carriageway and two way. Only applicable 
where there is no development fronting 
carriageway or where there is single sided 
development

Within a streetscape, there are many obstacles 
and hazards that could detrimentally impact on a 
cyclist’s experience and safety. Risks including bus 
stops and on street parking for example, should 
be designed out as far as feasibly practicable. 
Here, cyclists riding on the carriageway side of bus 
stops and parking bays are at risk of cars stopping 
to reverse into spaces, cars/buses pulling out of 
spaces, drivers doors opening etc. A simple design 
solution to minimise such risks might be to divert 
cycle lanes to the footway side of the hazard 
thus allowing for free flow of cyclists. In these 
situations it is important that there be a clear kerb 
delineation between footway and cycle route to 
help avoid cyclists straying onto footways. 

When designing for the cyclist, it is also important 
in the early stages to allow for situations where 
pedestrians may wish to cross cycle lanes. The 
adjacent diagram illustrates a potential solution to a 
pedestrian crossing a carriageway and a cycle lane: 

   Raised table / surface treatment (at grade on 
bus route) in carriageway (or agreed alternative) to 
highlight to pedestrians a safe place to cross and 
to highlight to car drivers potential for pedestrian 
to be crossing or other hazards

   Pedestrian ‘refuge’ between carriageway and 
cycle lane

   Physical/visual features warning cyclists of 
potential hazard: eg rumble strip or obstacle 
forcing change in direction/reduction in speed

It is recommended that designers consult with 
the County Council at the early masterplanning 
stage. The Council recognise that this will require a 
multidisciplinary consultation including highways, 
public transport, transport strategy, landscape 
etc and will provide appropriate officers for a 
combined consultation. See also the Oxfordshire 
Cycling Design Standards for more detailed 
information. The County Council would expect 
all public cycle routes and footways to be to 
adoptable standard.

 

24

P
age 422



Merging cycle lanes: two way separate cycle lane from a single sided streetscape meets a system of 
one way lanes each side of the carriageway. A suitable carriageway crossover is provided together 
with physical and visual features directing the cyclists to cross to the upcoming system.

2.2   Primary Street

T:  03333 405 500   E:  mail@robertslimbrick.com
This drawing is the copyright of Roberts Limbrick Ltd and should not be reproduced in whole or in part or used in any manner whatsoever without their written permission  

Scale:Date:The Estates Office,  25-26 Gold Tops,  Newport,  NP20 4PG    Dwg No:
Subject to correct printing. See top left

When printed correctly, at A1, this line will measure 75mm at full size

W
h

e
n

 p
ri
n

te
d

 c
o

rr
e

c
tl
y
, 
a

t 
A

1
, 
th

is
 l
in

e
 w

ill
 m

e
a
s
u
re

 7
5
m

m
 a

t 
fu

ll 
s
iz

e

CHECK PRINTED SIZE

Client
6444 SK001 Rev A

Project Title
1:200Feb 2019Primary Street

6
.7

5
m

1
.8

m
2
.0

m
2
.0

m
2
.0

m
1
.8

m

2
.0

-
3
.0

m
2
.0

m

6
.7

5
m

1
.8

m
2
.0

m
2
.0

m
2
.0

m
1
.8

m
2
.0

m
2
.0

-6
.0

m

5
.0

m
3
.7

5
m

3
.0

m
1
.0

m
2
.0

-6
.0

m

6
.7

5
m

1
.8

m
3
.0

m
1
.0

m
2
.0

m

2
.0

-6
.0

m

3m wide two 
way off street 
cycle lane

Tactile paving 
to indicate 
crossing point

Raised table or other 
feature to highlight 
crossing point (at 
grade on bus routes)

Surface treatment or  
feature / change of 
direction to identify 
cycle path crossing 
point to oncoming 
cyclists

T:  03333 405 500   E:  mail@robertslimbrick.com
This drawing is the copyright of Roberts Limbrick Ltd and should not be reproduced in whole or in part or used in any manner whatsoever without their written permission  

Scale:Date:The Estates Office,  25-26 Gold Tops,  Newport,  NP20 4PG    Dwg No:
Subject to correct printing. See top left

When printed correctly, at A1, this line will measure 75mm at full size

W
h

e
n

 p
ri
n
te

d
 c

o
rr

e
c
tl
y
, 
a
t 
A

1
, 
th

is
 l
in

e
 w

ill
 m

e
a
s
u
re

 7
5
m

m
 a

t 
fu

ll 
s
iz

e

CHECK PRINTED SIZE

Client
6444 SK001 Rev A

Project Title
1:200Feb 2019Primary Street

6
.7

5
m

1
.8

m
2
.0

m
2
.0

m
2
.0

m
1
.8

m

2
.0

-
3
.0

m
2
.0

m

5
.0

m
3
.7

5
m

3
.0

m
1
.0

m
2
.0

-6
.0

m

6
.7

5
m

1
.8

m
2
.0

m
2
.0

m
2
.0

m
1
.8

m
2
.0

m
2
.0

-6
.0

m

5
.0

m
3
.7

5
m

3
.0

m
1
.0

m
2
.0

-6
.0

m

6
.7

5
m

1
.8

m
3
.0

m
1
.0

m
2
.0

m

2
.0

-6
.0

m

T:  03333 405 500   E:  mail@robertslimbrick.com
This drawing is the copyright of Roberts Limbrick Ltd and should not be reproduced in whole or in part or used in any manner whatsoever without their written permission  

Scale:Date:The Estates Office,  25-26 Gold Tops,  Newport,  NP20 4PG    Dwg No:
Subject to correct printing. See top left

When printed correctly, at A1, this line will measure 75mm at full size

W
h

e
n

 p
ri
n
te

d
 c

o
rr

e
c
tl
y
, 
a

t 
A

1
, 
th

is
 l
in

e
 w

ill
 m

e
a
s
u
re

 7
5
m

m
 a

t 
fu

ll 
s
iz

e

CHECK PRINTED SIZE

Client
6444 SK001 Rev A

Project Title
1:200Feb 2019Primary Street

6
.7

5
m

1
.8

m
2

.0
m

2
.0

m
2

.0
m

1
.8

m

2
.0

-
3

.0
m

2
.0

m

6
.7

5
m

1
.8

m
2

.0
m

2
.0

m
2

.0
m

1
.8

m
2

.0
m

2
.0

-6
.0

m

5
.0

m
3
.7

5
m

3
.0

m
1

.0
m

2
.0

-6
.0

m

6
.7

5
m

1
.8

m
3

.0
m

1
.0

m
2

.0
m

2
.0

-6
.0

m

3m wide two 
way off street 
cycle lane

Physical 
feature to 
direct cyclists

2m wide one 
way cycle lanes 
to each side of 
carriageway

Raised table 
carriageway 
crossing point

25

P
age 423



2.2   Primary Street

Bus stops and pedestrians

With larger developments, there may be a 
requirement for bus services to route through 
the development. Where this is required, 
carriageways should be 6.75 m wide to allow 
buses to pass. 

In general, the county council does not favour 
bus laybys, unless they have been determined 
to be appropriate on a case by case basis, as it 
compromises the bus’s ability to rejoin the main 
carriageway when pulling out of a stop. 

At bus stops, cycle routes should divert behind 
the bus stop, creating a floating bus stop, but care 
should be taken to avoid sharp deflection which is 
difficult for a cyclist to negotiate. Further guidance 
is provided in Chapter 6 of LTN 1/20 (DfT, 2020). 

For smaller developments, it is important that 
access to bus services is assessed during the 
masterplanning process to design walking and 
cycling routes to and from the most convenient bus 
stops or interchanges. 

Accessible Bus Stop Design Guidance (Transport for 
London, 2017) and Buses in Urban Developments 
(CIHT, 2018) provide useful resources when 
considering bus provision. PHOTOS OF  BUS STOPS

2m wide footway

On street bus stop

Bus shelter

2m wide pedestrian 
refuge to allow for 
safe access on and 
off bus

Tactile paving to 
cross cycle lane

Footway with kerb 
separation from 
cycle laneCycle lane diverts behind 

bus stop and shelter

26

P
age 424



2.2   Primary Street

E-scooters

As more e-scooter rental systems are rolled 
out and adopted across the country, we expect 
that e-scooters will offer another option for 
sustainable travel. 

Laws around the use of e-scooters on the public 
highway are rapidly changing and therefore it 
is important to understand current legislation 
when designing for them within developments. 
In saying this, the county council encourages 
developments to consider the provision of 
infrastructure for e-scooters which meets its 
ambitions for a zero-carbon county

PHOTOS OF  SCOOTERS

27

P
age 425



2.3   Secondary routes

Strategic secondary, standard secondary and other

The main difference, design wise, between 
primary and secondary routes is the provision 
of cycle lanes. There is an understanding that 
depending on the type of route and specific 
location, that cyclists will share the carriageway. 
This exception would be if traffic flow is expected 
to be high on secondary routes, in which case 
segregated cycle routes may be required. 
Reference should be made to LTN 1/20 (DfT 2020). 
However, that is not to say that secondary routes 
cannot have cycleways, it is more that they are 
not a specific requirement.

Whilst it is recognised that routes generally fall 
under primary, secondary and tertiary categories, 
there may, depending on the size development, 
be an opportunity to break these down to sub 
sets in order to create further character and 
legibility. This is particularity true of secondary 
routes which tend to be the most abundant in 
new developments. The sketches on the following 
page, for example, illustrate three potential 
secondary categories:

Strategic secondary 
These could be routes which come 
straight off a primary route, serve a 
residential area and then connect back 
to the primary route. 

Standard secondary 
These could be linked or looped streets 
which, again, help to serve a wider 
residential area. They would probably come 
off a strategic secondary route and link back 
to it. Their exact definition will depend upon 
the size of the development. 

Other 
These routes would, generally, not serve a 
wider residential area, apart from, maybe, 
minor tertiary areas. They would be streets that 
are likely only to be accessed by those living on 
them. These could be shared surface streets. 
Carriageway width is 6m overall combined if 
shared surface.

Additional useful and interesting resources:

 Manual for Streets 1 (2007) and 2 (2010) DfT

 LTN 1/20 (2020) DfT

Note: the Council will not adopt parking which 
is perpendicular to the highway. Echelon and 
parallel parking can be adopted. If private parking 
is perpendicular to the highway where there is 
no footway eg shared space, then an additional 
safety margin of 1m is required between the 
parking and the shared surface adopted highway. 
This would make a shared surface space 7m 
if perpendicular parking on 1 side and 8m if 
perpendicular parking on both sides, but only 
in the vicinity of the perpendicular parking. 
Perpendicular parking would not be accepted 
near a school.

28

P
age 426



Strategic example Standard example

2.3   Secondary routes

T:  03333 405 500   E:  mail@robertslimbrick.com
This drawing is the copyright of Roberts Limbrick Ltd and should not be reproduced in whole or in part or used in any manner whatsoever without their written permission  

Scale:Date:The Estates Office,  25-26 Gold Tops,  Newport,  NP20 4PG    Dwg No:
Subject to correct printing. See top left

When printed correctly, at A1, this line will measure 75mm at full size

W
h

e
n

 p
ri
n

te
d

 c
o
rr

e
c
tl
y
, 
a
t 
A

1
, 
th

is
 l
in

e
 w

ill
 m

e
a

s
u

re
 7

5
m

m
 a

t 
fu

ll 
s
iz

e

CHECK PRINTED SIZE

Client
6444 SK001 Rev A

Project Title
1:200Feb 2019Secondary Sections

Section AA
(Measurements in m)

Section BB
(Measurements in m)

AA BB

4.8 2.0

R
oa

d
Foo

tp
at

h

Foo
tp

at
h

G
ar

de
n

G
ar

de
n

2.02.02.0

G
ar

de
n

4.8 2.05.0 2.02.02.0

R
oa

d
Foo

tp
at

h

Foo
tp

at
h

G
ar

de
n

G
ar

de
n

P
ar

ki
ng

T:  03333 405 500   E:  mail@robertslimbrick.com
This drawing is the copyright of Roberts Limbrick Ltd and should not be reproduced in whole or in part or used in any manner whatsoever without their written permission  

Scale:Date:The Estates Office,  25-26 Gold Tops,  Newport,  NP20 4PG    Dwg No:
Subject to correct printing. See top left

When printed correctly, at A1, this line will measure 75mm at full size

W
h

e
n

 p
ri
n

te
d

 c
o
rr

e
c
tl
y
, 
a
t 

A
1

, 
th

is
 l
in

e
 w

ill
 m

e
a

s
u

re
 7

5
m

m
 a

t 
fu

ll 
s
iz

e

CHECK PRINTED SIZE

Client
6444 SK001 Rev A

Project Title
1:200Feb 2019Secondary Sections

Section AA
(Measurements in m)

Section BB
(Measurements in m)

AA BB

4.8 2.0

R
oa

d
Foo

tp
at

h

Foo
tp

at
h

G
ar

de
n

G
ar

de
n

2.02.02.0

G
ar

de
n

4.8 2.05.0 2.02.02.0

R
oa

d
Foo

tp
at

h

Foo
tp

at
h

G
ar

de
n

G
ar

de
n

P
ar

ki
ng

Foo
tw

ay

Foo
tw

ay
Foo

tw
ay

Var 2.0 Var 5.0 0.52.0 2.5-5.0

V
er

ge

Foo
tp

at
h

V
er

ge

R
oa

d

B
uf

fe
r

K
er

b

Foo
tp

at
h

G
ar

de
n

G
ar

de
n

2.0 2.0 5.0 2.0 5.0 0.9 2.0

G
ar

de
n

Foo
tp

at
h

R
oa

d

Foo
tp

at
h P

ar
ki
ng

G
ar

de
n

Foo
tp

at
h

2.0 2.0 5.0 Var 2.0 2.0

R
oa

d

Foo
tp

at
h

G
ar

de
n

V
er

ge

Foo
tp

at
hG
ar

de
n

Section AA
(Measurements in m)

      

Section BB
(Measurements in m) Section CC

(Measurements in m)

Strategic Secondary Sections

CCBBAA

Foo
tw

ay Foo
tw

ay

Var 2.0 Var 5.0 0.52.0 2.5-5.0

V
er

ge

Foo
tp

at
h

V
er

ge

R
oa

d

B
uf

fe
r

K
er

b

Foo
tp

at
h

G
ar

de
n

G
ar

de
n

2.0 2.0 5.0 2.0 5.0 0.9 2.0

G
ar

de
n

Foo
tp

at
h

R
oa

d

Foo
tp

at
h P

ar
ki
ng

G
ar

de
n

Foo
tp

at
h

2.0 2.0 5.0 Var 2.0 2.0

R
oa

d

Foo
tp

at
h

G
ar

de
n

V
er

ge

Foo
tp

at
hG
ar

de
n

Section AA
(Measurements in m)

      

Section BB
(Measurements in m) Section CC

(Measurements in m)

Strategic Secondary Sections

CCBBAA

Foo
tw

ay

Foo
tw

ay
Foo

tw
ay

Var 2.0 Var 5.0 0.52.0 2.5-5.0

V
er

ge

Foo
tp

at
h

V
er

ge

R
oa

d

B
uf

fe
r

K
er

b

Foo
tp

at
h

G
ar

de
n

G
ar

de
n

2.0 2.0 5.0 2.0 5.0 0.9 2.0

G
ar

de
n

Foo
tp

at
h

R
oa

d

Foo
tp

at
h P

ar
ki
ng

G
ar

de
n

Foo
tp

at
h

2.0 2.0 5.0 Var 2.0 2.0

R
oa

d

Foo
tp

at
h

G
ar

de
n

V
er

ge

Foo
tp

at
hG
ar

de
n

Section AA
(Measurements in m)

      

Section BB
(Measurements in m) Section CC

(Measurements in m)

Strategic Secondary Sections

CCBBAA

Foo
tw

ay
Foo

tw
ay

Carriageway width 
appropriate to use

T:  03333 405 500   E:  mail@robertslimbrick.com
This drawing is the copyright of Roberts Limbrick Ltd and should not be reproduced in whole or in part or used in any manner whatsoever without their written permission  

Scale:Date:The Estates Office,  25-26 Gold Tops,  Newport,  NP20 4PG    Dwg No:
Subject to correct printing. See top left

When printed correctly, at A1, this line will measure 75mm at full size

W
h

e
n
 p

ri
n

te
d
 c

o
rr

e
c
tl
y
, 
a

t 
A

1
, 
th

is
 l
in

e
 w

ill
 m

e
a
s
u
re

 7
5
m

m
 a

t 
fu

ll 
s
iz

e

CHECK PRINTED SIZE

Client
6444 SK001 Rev A

Project Title
1:200Feb 2019Strategic Secondary

1
.8

-
2
.0

m
5
.5

m
2
.0

m
2
.0

m

5
.0

m

1
.8

-
2
.0

m

Wider carriageway 
at access points 
width when directly 
off a primary route Carriageway width 

appropriate to use 
(guide 5m)

Direct residential 
access permissible

Potential for surface 
changes or raised table 
treatment at side junctions

Verge or 
adopted 
visitor parking

2m footways Informal planting 
creates horizontal 
deviation. Check 
tracking for refuse 
collection

Junction radii reduced to 
reflect Manual for Streets. 
May need over-runnable 
area. Early consultation 
with highways essential

Typical adoption area

Private 
perpendicular 
parking permissible

Informal tree 
planting

Direct residential 
driveway access

Pedestrian priority 
over minor junction

2m footway Less formal frontage: 
permissible to set units back 
behind larger front gardens 
where appropriate

Private 
perpendicular 
parking permissible

29

P
age 427



2m footway 

2.3   Secondary routes

Other example: Shared surface

In shared surfaces such as the above, where there is no footway, services should be laid within 
the adopted highway. No additional service strip is required unless street lighting is to be 
provided or street furniture outside the 6m adoptable shared surface area. If this is the case 
then an additional 0.8m service margin will be required. This can be in a green verge or as part 
of an oversized 6.8m wide shared surface. As discussed page 26, an additional 1m safety margin 
is required behind perpendicular parking spaces. Area for adoption to be discussed and agreed 
with Council at early stage of design development.

Unadopted 
street trees 
and planting

Combined shared 
surface carriageway 
(Guide 6m generally. 8m 
in this instance due to 
perpendicular parking to 
both sides)

Limited 
geometry at 
side junctions

Adopted street 
trees and 
planting

Private frontage 
parking

Private 
frontage

Informal squares/places at junctions. 
Track for refuse collection

4.8m carriageway: 
localised narrowing only

Private 
frontage

Section AA
(Measurements in m)

      

Section BB
(Measurements in m)

Section CC
(Measurements in m)

Section DD
(Measurements in m)

AA BB

CC DD

2.0 5.00 6.00 5.00 2.0

S
ha

re
d

S
ur

fa
ce

P
ar

ki
ng

2.0 6.00 2.0

P
ar

ki
ngA

cc
es

s

Foo
tp

at
h

A
cc

es
s

Foo
tp

at
h

G
ar

de
n

G
ar

de
n

2.0 6.00 2.0

S
ha

re
d

S
ur

fa
ce

G
ar

de
n

G
ar

de
n

A
cc

es
s

Foo
tp

at
h

G
ar

de
n

Varies 6.00 Varies 1.8 2.01.82.0

S
ha

re
d

S
ur

fa
ce

S
ha

re
d

S
ur

fa
ce

V
er

ge

V
er

ge

Foo
tp

at
h

Foo
tp

at
h

G
ar

de
n

G
ar

de
n

2.0 4.2 2.01.82.0

Foo
tp

at
h

G
ar

de
n

S
ha

re
d

S
ur

fa
ce

S
ha

re
d

S
ur

fa
ce

V
er

ge

G
ar

de
n

G
ar

de
n

Foo
tw

ay
Foo

tw
ay

Section AA
(Measurements in m)

      

Section BB
(Measurements in m)

Section CC
(Measurements in m)

Section DD
(Measurements in m)

AA BB

CC DD

2.0 5.00 6.00 5.00 2.0

S
ha

re
d

S
ur

fa
ce

P
ar

ki
ng

2.0 6.00 2.0

P
ar

ki
ngA

cc
es

s

Foo
tp

at
h

A
cc

es
s

Foo
tp

at
h

G
ar

de
n

G
ar

de
n

2.0 6.00 2.0

S
ha

re
d

S
ur

fa
ce

G
ar

de
n

G
ar

de
n

A
cc

es
s

Foo
tp

at
h

G
ar

de
n

Varies 6.00 Varies 1.8 2.01.82.0

S
ha

re
d

S
ur

fa
ce

S
ha

re
d

S
ur

fa
ce

V
er

ge

V
er

ge

Foo
tp

at
h

Foo
tp

at
h

G
ar

de
n

G
ar

de
n

2.0 4.2 2.01.82.0

Foo
tp

at
h

G
ar

de
n

S
ha

re
d

S
ur

fa
ce

S
ha

re
d

S
ur

fa
ce

V
er

ge

G
ar

de
n

G
ar

de
n

Foo
tw

ay

Foo
tw

ay

Section AA
(Measurements in m)

      

Section BB
(Measurements in m)

Section CC
(Measurements in m)

Section DD
(Measurements in m)

AA BB

CC DD

2.0 5.00 6.00 5.00 2.0

S
ha

re
d

S
ur

fa
ce

P
ar

ki
ng

2.0 6.00 2.0

P
ar

ki
ngA

cc
es

s

Foo
tp

at
h

A
cc

es
s

Foo
tp

at
h

G
ar

de
n

G
ar

de
n

2.0 6.00 2.0

S
ha

re
d

S
ur

fa
ce

G
ar

de
n

G
ar

de
n

A
cc

es
s

Foo
tp

at
h

G
ar

de
n

Varies 6.00 Varies 1.8 2.01.82.0

S
ha

re
d

S
ur

fa
ce

S
ha

re
d

S
ur

fa
ce

V
er

ge

V
er

ge

Foo
tp

at
h

Foo
tp

at
h

G
ar

de
n

G
ar

de
n

2.0 4.2 2.01.82.0

Foo
tp

at
h

G
ar

de
n

S
ha

re
d

S
ur

fa
ce

S
ha

re
d

S
ur

fa
ce

V
er

ge

G
ar

de
n

G
ar

de
n

30

P
age 428



T:  03333 405 500   E:  mail@robertslimbrick.com
This drawing is the copyright of Roberts Limbrick Ltd and should not be reproduced in whole or in part or used in any manner whatsoever without their written permission  

Scale:Date:The Estates Office,  25-26 Gold Tops,  Newport,  NP20 4PG    Dwg No:
Subject to correct printing. See top left

When printed correctly, at A1, this line will measure 75mm at full size

W
h

e
n

 p
ri
n
te

d
 c

o
rr

e
c
tl
y
, 
a

t 
A

1
, 
th

is
 l
in

e
 w

ill
 m

e
a
s
u
re

 7
5

m
m

 a
t 
fu

ll 
s
iz

e

CHECK PRINTED SIZE

Client
6444 SK001 Rev A

Project Title
1:200Feb 2019Mews

0.5m
6.0m

0.5m

1.5m
6.5m 6.5m

2.3   Teritary streets

Tertiary streets and spaces can take on many 
forms. As with other street types, much depends 
on the size, character and location of the 
development. In town and city centres, tertiary 
routes are likely to be far more urban in their 
nature than those on the edges of villages, for 
example. This is illustrated on the adjacent 
extract from the demonstration masterplan. 
This shows:

   Urban mews street within development blocks

   Tertiary streets on the fringes of development

   Private drives serving up to five homes, 
generally at the edges of development

1.01.0 5.0 6.0 2.5 1.01.0

G
ar

de
n

A
cc

es
s

Foo
tp

at
h

P
ar

ki
ng

S
ha

re
d

S
ur

fa
ce P

ar
ki
ng

A
cc

es
s

Foo
tp

at
h

G
ar

de
n

S
ha

re
d

S
ur

fa
ce P

ar
ki
ng

A
cc

es
s

Foo
tp

at
h

G
ar

de
n

G
ar

de
n

1.0 6.0 2.5 1.01.0

Section AA

Section BB

 

BB

AA

Foo
tw

ay

Foo
tw

ay

1.01.0 5.0 6.0 2.5 1.01.0

G
ar

de
n

A
cc

es
s

Foo
tp

at
h

P
ar

ki
ng

S
ha

re
d

S
ur

fa
ce P

ar
ki
ng

A
cc

es
s

Foo
tp

at
h

G
ar

de
n

S
ha

re
d

S
ur

fa
ce P

ar
ki
ng

A
cc

es
s

Foo
tp

at
h

G
ar

de
n

G
ar

de
n

1.0 6.0 2.5 1.01.0

Section AA

Section BB

 

BB

AA

Foo
tw

ay

Urban mews

Mews streets, courts and lanes tend to be urban, intimate spaces. They are generally shared spaces with a 
tight urban grain: close front to front distances with little or no private front gardens. Thresholds between 
private and public often take the form of narrow personalisation strips rather than front gardens.

Parking is often casually located on streets or via car ports/garages of coach houses.

Section AA along 
shared surface 
street

Section BB along 
road

Unadopted informal 
tree planting to help 
soften place

Shared surface 7m 
wide behind private 
perpendicular parking

Section BB 
along road

Total shared surface 
mews (guide 6m) 
section AA along 
shared surface street

Parking could 
be adopted if 
unallocated

Typical adoption area

Minimal private 
threshold /  
personalisation strip

Adopted informal 
tree planting to 
help soften place

Coach house 
carport or garage

Private frontage parking: 
parallel and perpendicular 
with 1m safety strip

31

P
age 429



2.3   Teritary streets

Tertiary edges / fringe and private drives

T:  03333 405 500   E:  mail@robertslimbrick.com
This drawing is the copyright of Roberts Limbrick Ltd and should not be reproduced in whole or in part or used in any manner whatsoever without their written permission  

Scale:Date:The Estates Office,  25-26 Gold Tops,  Newport,  NP20 4PG    Dwg No:
Subject to correct printing. See top left

When printed correctly, at A1, this line will measure 75mm at full size

W
h
e
n

 p
ri
n

te
d

 c
o

rr
e

c
tl
y
, 
a
t 

A
1

, 
th

is
 l
in

e
 w

ill
 m

e
a

s
u

re
 7

5
m

m
 a

t 
fu

ll 
s
iz

e

CHECK PRINTED SIZE

Client
0000

Project Title
1:200Feb 2019Edge Streets

1.8m 4.8m 2.5m2.0-6.0m

4.5m2.0-6.0m

T:  03333 405 500   E:  mail@robertslimbrick.com
This drawing is the copyright of Roberts Limbrick Ltd and should not be reproduced in whole or in part or used in any manner whatsoever without their written permission  

Scale:Date:The Estates Office,  25-26 Gold Tops,  Newport,  NP20 4PG    Dwg No:
Subject to correct printing. See top left

When printed correctly, at A1, this line will measure 75mm at full size

W
h
e
n

 p
ri
n

te
d

 c
o

rr
e

c
tl
y
, 
a
t 

A
1

, 
th

is
 l
in

e
 w

ill
 m

e
a

s
u

re
 7

5
m

m
 a

t 
fu

ll 
s
iz

e

CHECK PRINTED SIZE

Client
0000

Project Title
1:200Feb 2019Edge Streets

1.8m 4.8m 2.5m2.0-6.0m

4.5m2.0-6.0m

Client

Foo
tp

at
h

R
oa

d

P
ar

ki
ng

V
er

ge

G
ar

de
n

2.0 2.0 4.8 2.5 Var

2.0-6.0 4.5 Var

G
ar

de
n

R
oa

d

V
er

ge

Section 
BB

Section 
AA

 

BB

AA

Edge Street Sections

Typical private drive section

Typical tertiary fringe

Client

Foo
tp

at
h

R
oa

d

P
ar

ki
ng

V
er

ge

G
ar

de
n

2.0 2.0 4.8 2.5 Var

2.0-6.0 4.5 Var

G
ar

de
n

R
oa

d

V
er

ge

Section 
BB

Section 
AA

 

BB

AA

Edge Street Sections

Foo
tw

ay

Private drive rural edge

Private drive

Coach house parking
Tertiary fringe

Mews street

Informal planting

Private drive serving no 
more than five dwellings. 
If serving more than five 
dwellings then this should 
be to Council standards 
and offered for adoption

Refuse collection 
point as required

Generally 
larger frontage

On street 
visitor parking

2m footway (if not 
shared surface)

Tertiary street  Guide 4.8 
(may be a shared surface in 
which case 6m overall)

Typical adoption area

Adopted 
turning head

Informal turning for fire 
appliance if required

32

P
age 430



Part 3

Detailed design elements

33

P
age 431



Promotion of cycling as an active travel 
preference can only be successful if there is 
suitable provision for cycle ownership. This 
includes the requirements for cycle parking. 
This should be thought of at the start of the 
projects so that it can be successfully designed 
into a development in a convenient and usable 
manner.

The type and form of cycle parking provided 
will very much depend on its purpose and 
location. In order for cycling to a practical 
active travel option, cycle parking must be 
provided at various location types: home and 
destination.

Reference should be made to Oxfordshire 
County Council’s ‘Cycling Design Standards’ 
and Chapter 11 of LTN 1/20 (DfT, 2020). In 
accordance with LTN 1/20, 5% of cycle parking 
must be for non-standard cycles such as cargo 
bikes, mobility impaired cycles, etc. With the 
take up of e-scooters, it is expected that these 
will use appropriate cycle parking as well so 
should be considered when considering the 
type of cycle parking to be provided. 

Consideration of quantum and type of cycle 
parking should be considered early on in the 
design process to ensure sufficient space 
is made available within the development. 
Designing cycle parking at a later stage can 

result in unattractive design solutions that 
do not meet our requirements. Cycle parking 
shelters provide the opportunity to integrate 
other infrastructure within the site such as 
street art, solar panels, green roofs, bug boxes 
etc. These should be considered and discussed 
with the district and county councils. 

Residential

District Council guides and local plan standards 
should be consulted to determine the quantum 
of cycle parking required for a development.

Single home: private cycle parking

   If a garage is suitably sized then it can be 
considered as secure cycle storage

   Where no garage is available then secure, 
enclosed cycle parking must be provided. 
This is likely to be in a rear garden in the form 
of a specific cycle store or garden shed. If to 
the rear garden then convenient access will 
be required without the need to go through 
the house. Alternatively, cycle storage 
could be provided to the front of the house, 
designed as part of the house facade design.

3.1   Parking: Bicycles

Secure communal apartment parking. Sheffield 
stands are preferred but alternatives may also be 
appropriate, subject to user, particularly where space 
is limited. The image to the right uses gas struts to aid 
lifting the upper tier

11.8 Residential facilities
11.8.1 It is good practice to provide dedicated cycle 
parking within new development as outlined in the NPPF 
in the same way as car parking is provided. Many 
people choose to keep their cycle inside their house or 
flat for security. However, the absence of internal cycle 
storage may lead to the blocking of internal circulatory 
spaces and stairwells, which inhibits evacuation and 
rescue in the event of fire or other emergency. New 
developments should always therefore provide 
dedicated ground floor cycle storage.

11.8.2 In areas where existing houses and flats are 
accessed by steps, or have no outside storage space 
for cycle sheds, on-street cycle parking may be more 
practicable (see Figure 11.13). This potentially presents 
problems of security and exposure to the elements.

Figure 11.13: Secure on-street “Cycle Hangar” in Hackney, 
London

11.8.3 On-street cycle parking “hangars” can be 
retro-fitted to a street or within an estate, and are 
normally only available to registered key-holders. Cycle 
hangars provide a dedicated place to park a cycle 
securely outside the curtilage of an existing building and 
not on the footway. Cycle parks are commonly located 
underground in residential blocks (see Figure 11.14).

Figure 11.14: Basement cycle parking in residential 
development, London

11.9 Ancillary equipment
11.9.1 Ancillary equipment can help remove some of 
the barriers to cycling and give a positive message that 
cycling is a legitimate and valid form of transport.

11.9.2 Footrests (Figure 11.15) at traffic signals or 
other locations where cyclists need to stop and wait can 
assist with moving off again, as can a handrail for 
“clipped in” cyclists to hold rather than putting their 
foot down. 

Figure 11.15: Integrated footrest and handrail on the Farum 
to Copenhagen cycle route. Note the route branding and 
waymarking incorporated into the feature.

11.9.3 Air pumps and toolkits can also be located 
across the network and at rest stops to further increase 
the convenience to potential cyclists.

11.9.4 Digital cycle counters (Figure 11.16) showing a 
real time total of cyclists per day or per year provide a 
strong visual nudge that cycle infrastructure is a serious 
part of the transport system, and communicates to 
cyclists that they are valued. They provide evidence of 
the level of use of a facility, which can be useful in 
discussions with decision makers.

Figure 11.16: Real time cycle counter in Manchester

139

Cycle Infrastructure Design

34

P
age 432



Apartments: Communal cycle storage

   Consider at early site planning stage: needs 
to be in close proximity to the entrance of the 
apartment block for convenience and security

   Communal ground floor storage with 
apartment building with secure external access 
positioned in well overlooked area

   Communal separate secure covered cycle store.

   Cycle store should be suitably lit

   Preferred method of securing is ‘Sheffield’ 
type stands with sufficient space around for 
convenient storage (See Oxfordshire Cycling 
Design Standards).

   Sheffield type stands can result in very large 
cycle stores on larger developments. On larger 
apartments blocks, therefore, of 10 apartments 
or more, alternative cycle storage systems 
which take up less space would be accepted

   Important to recognise that certain user 
groups, eg the elderly, may have difficulty using 
cycle storage systems which require cycles to 
be lifted onto a rack system. It is, therefore, 
essential that the storage system chosen is 
appropriate to the anticipated user.

   5% of cycle parking must be for non-standard 
cycles such as cargo bikes, mobility impaired 
cycles, etc.

Employment: Communal cycle storage
District Council guides and standards should be 
consulted to determine the quantum of cycle 
parking required for a development

   Covered and secure cycle storage

   Could be internal, for example, specifically 
designed into an office building

   Could be external: will need to be thought about 
at early site planning stage to ensure safe and 
visually prominent location and be suitably lit

‘Sheffield’ type stands are preferred but 
alternatives will be considered if suitable

5% of cycle parking must be for non-standard 
cycles such as cargo bikes, mobility impaired 
cycles, etc.

3.1   Parking: Bicycles

Provide secure cycle parking for 
individual houses

Communal parking using Sheffield stands at commercial 
premises, transport interchanges, leisure facilities etc

35

P
age 433



Town and village centres: general public  
cycle storage
District Council guides and standards should be 
consulted to determine the quantum of cycle 
parking required. To be provided at key locations: 
public transport interchanges and key nodal 
points for first and last mile journeys, including 
park and ride facilities

   Provide at key social destinations such as 
leisure centres, cinemas and libraries

   Provide a key retail locations within town and 
village centres

   As these are public, avoid complete enclosure: 
cycles should be in full view of general public at 
all times

   Simple groups of ‘Sheffield’ type stands with 
sufficient space for convenient use in highly 
visible locations 

   5% of cycle parking must be for non-standard 
cycles such as cargo bikes, mobility impaired 
cycles, etc.

Bus Stops
Depending on the location of the development 
or the bus route within the development, parts 
of the development could be further than 
acceptable walking distance to a bus stop. In such 
cases, cycle parking should be provided at the 
bus stop to allow bus users to cycle and park at 
the bus stop. The cycle parking should be covered 
and secure. 

3.1   Parking: Bicycles

Provision of suitably located and visible Sheffield stands 
for towns and villages and other commercial centres

36

P
age 434



Background

The impact of providing parking for 
developments of all natures, from residential 
to commercial, can be very detrimental if not 
carefully considered.

Over the last 20 years, approaches to parking 
in the UK have swung from extremities, often 
related to how we have historically approached 
the design of new developments. During the 
1980- early 90’s, for example, many residential 
developments were based around the provision 
of garages and driveways to the fronts of 
properties, These led to long  front gardens 
with cars parked in front of the building line. 
Densities were low and parking standards were 
often expressed as minimums. It was recognised 
that this had a detrimental effect on the visual 
appearance of streets in addition to not being a 
very efficient use of land and space.

With regards to residential, the government 
introduced Planning Policy Guidance 3: Housing 
(PPG3) in 1996. This set minimum housing 
densities to encourage more efficient use of land. 
It also set out to try and encourage a reduction 
in car ownership by introducing a maximum 
extremity parking standard of an average of 
1.5 spaces per new home. Whilst the intentions 
of this guidance were good, the reality did 

not live up to expectations. Visiting any PPG3 
development today is it clear that the levels of 
parking are simply insufficient for the demand 
with indiscriminate parking, often blocking 
footways and creating highly car dominated 
streetscapes. The Guidance was withdrawn 
in 2006 and replaced with Planning Policy 
Statement 3 which encourages local authorities 
to devise their own bespoke parking standards.

Parking numbers and arrangements for cars and 
motorcycles will need to comply with Oxfordshire 
County Council Parking Standards and Local 
Plans which are currently being revised and will 
be included as an Appendix. 

3.2   Parking: Cars

Typical inefficient 80s parking solution

Additional useful and interesting 
resources:

  Oxfordshire County Council Residential 
Parking Standards

  Car Parking: What works where (HCA, 
2006)

  Rural car clubs (The Countryside 
Agency, 2004)

  Parking Technical Advice Note (Policy 
M3 Car Parking) Oxford Local Plan 2036

Garage to front 
of plot with long 
driveway resulting in 
cars dominating the 
streetscape and impacts 
on sustainable density 
levels

Lack of convenient 
parking or too low a 
parking provision can 
result in irresponsible 
pavement parking 
to the detriment of 
pedestrians

PPG3 with indiscriminate parking

37

P
age 435

https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/sites/default/files/folders/documents/roadsandtransport/parking/parking-policy.pdf
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/sites/default/files/folders/documents/roadsandtransport/parking/parking-policy.pdf
https://www.ipswich.gov.uk/sites/default/files/ncd42_-_car_parking_what_works_where.pdf
https://www.ipswich.gov.uk/sites/default/files/ncd42_-_car_parking_what_works_where.pdf
https://www.carplus.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/Rural-Car-Clubs-_The-Countryside-Agency_2004.pdf
https://www.carplus.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/Rural-Car-Clubs-_The-Countryside-Agency_2004.pdf


Towards our vision: an innovative approach to parking

As stated, our vision is looking towards a future 
of less car ownership due to the increase in, for 
example, technologies such as autonomous 
vehicles or increased use of car clubs, public 
transport etc. We are, however, well aware of 
the shortfalls of PPG3 and the results that this 
produced.  Our parking standards, therefore, 
are realistic in terms of current levels of car 
ownerships. 

We do, however, encourage developers to 
consider how parking is delivered in the context 
of our vision. We expect developers to work 
with us to devise innovative parking solutions 
which keep as much parking within the public 
realm.....or at least have the ability to become 
public realm as car ownership drops resulting 
in less spaces being required. To help support 
this Oxfordshire County Council, in turn, will 
also think innovatively on how we might 
adopt on street parking or consider allocated 
parking within the public realm. Our parking 
standards also allow for the provision of non 
allocated parking counting towards the parking 
requirements of homes.

It is worth noting at this point that parking 
within the public realm will need to be carefully 
designed and considered so as not to have a 
detrimental impact on the streetscape through, 
for example, indiscreet parking on footways.

We would also like to see developers coming 
forward with innovative approaches to 
transport infrastructure which, again, supports 
our vision. If measures can be put in place 
to lower the demand for car use through for 
example, integrated transport systems, then 
Oxfordshire County Council/Local Plans will 
consider lowering parking standards.

Whilst the above is mainly concerned with 
residential parking for homes, the same 
concept of looking to a less car dependant 
future should also be considered for other land 
use areas.

Of course, parking is not just related to cars. 
The provision of good, motorcycle, scooter and 
secure cycle parking at home and at destination 
can also help to encourage cycling and, 
therefore, reduce dependence upon car use.

The following pages set out key design 
parameters for different parking scenarios 
and solutions. These scenarios are based on 
a balanced approach to parking solutions. 
Examples of how parking could be approached 
with a view to reclaiming it in the future as 
public realm or community space are also 
illustrated.

3.2   Parking: Cars

38

P
age 436



Commercial

On street

A balance of parking solutions

Car port

Coach house parking

3.2   Parking: Cars

Residential courtyard

On street

Undercroft parking

Undercroft

39

P
age 437



On plot

Oxfordshire County Council recognise that 
potential residents of new development prefer 
to be within sight of their vehicles and, also, 
prefer their own driveway on which to park. 
We believe, however, that this stems from post 
war developments, where every new house 
built seemed to have its own dedicated on plot 
driveway and the negative visual impacts of this 
on our streets and land-take is well documented. 
What this approach also does is, essentially, 
tie those parking places in the private realm in 
perpetuity: it does not allow for the potential 
future reclamation of those spaces for public/
community benefit and, as such, does not confirm 
to our vision of reducing space dedicated to cars.

For the above reasons, Oxfordshire County 
Council therefore encourage developers to 
consider alternative parking arrangements to on 
plot which allow for more flexibility and more 
efficient land use.

We do, however, acknowledge that a balanced 
approach is needed to parking, depending on 
external factors eg. context, densities and that 
there will still be a place for on plot solutions. The 
bullet points below and accompanying diagrams 
set out some basic design parameters which we 
expect to be followed when designing on plot 
parking facilities:

   On plot garages must be set at least 6m into a 
plot to allow for a full car space in front whilst 
being able to open the garage door

   Driveways that are between parkinmore 
spaces long should be avoided. These tend to 
encourage cars parking half on the drive and 
half on the footway thus causing an obstruction 
to the footway

   Driveways  to the sides of houses must be long 
enough to allow all/most of the car/s length to 
be behind the building line

   Garages must have minimum internal 
dimensions of 6m long x 3m wide. These 
dimensions are clear dimensions measured 
between any internal structure such as piers

   Driveways must be a minimum of 3m wide and 
provide a 2mx2m pedestrian vision splay

   Garages must count towards parking 
allocations. They must also have a planning 
condition which removes any permitted 
development rights to help ensure continued 
use for that purpose

   All houses with on-plot parking should have a 
dedicated (Electric Vehicle) EV charging point. 
Chargers should be in line witht he Autonomous 
and Electric Vehciles Act (2018) and the 
government ambitions on ‘Smart EV Charging’

   Where driveways are located on plot to the 
front of a house, they must be 6m long. This 
allows for a full car space with no overhang of 
the footway. It also allows for the ability to walk 
between the front of the house and the car.

3.2   Parking: Cars

On plot garage not 
set far enough into 
plot: car overhangs 
footway causing 
obstruction

On plot parking 
set out of sight 
behind the 
building line

40

P
age 438



3.2   Parking: Cars

Rear parking courts

Rear parking courts can work well if great design 
care is taken regarding the design detail. 
Unfortunately, it is evident across the country 
that, despite best intentions, the general 
design and implementation of parking courts 
is poor. This then leads to them not being used 
by residents resulting in indiscriminate parking 
within the streetscape, often at the detriment of 
pedestrians via blocked footways. Clearly there are 
some examples of well designed parking courts 
but these tend to be in the minority.

Parking courts also tend to break the built in 
public/private threshold security of perimeter 
blocks, exposing rear gardens boundaries to 
‘public’ realm. Despite every effort to provide 

design solution to overcome this, eg 
semi transparent rear boundaries and 
housing with the courtyard, the fact 
remains that connected streets provide 
far more active surveillance of parking 
spaces than parking courts.

Oxfordshire County Council strongly 
discourages the use of rear parking 
courts. They will only be acceptable 
where it can be proved that they will be 
used by residents through good design 
or where other parking options might not 
be available eg in towns and cities where 
parking restrictions may apply, and that their 
security is not compromised.

Well designed parking court with good natural 
surveillance

On street  - unallocated

On street parking has many design benefits:

   It is convenient for residents, generally being 
located directly in front of houses

   It shares operational space with the street 
infrastructure and, as such, represents an 
efficient use of land

   It provide activity within the street allowing 
for casual meeting and interactions between 
residents

   When a resident is not using a space it 
becomes available for others to use. This, in 
turn, can reduce the overall number of parking 
spaces that may be required.

   Minimum of 25% of unallocated spaces to be 
equipped with Electric Vehicle Charging

If, however, it is not well considered, it can also 
have a detrimental affect on the street with large 
areas or parked cars impacting on the visual 
appearance of the streetscape.

Oxfordshire County Council is keen to promote 
the use of unallocated on street parking. We 
recognise its immediate benefits as set out 
above. We also recognise its future benefit of 
being easily re-purposed if no longer required 
due to future reduction of car ownership. 

41

P
age 439



Due to these positive aspects we can look 
to accept lower levels of parking where un-
allocated on street parking is available. The 
exact levels will very much depend on individual 
cases. Oxfordshire County Council, therefore, 
encourages designers and developers to engage 
with us at the early design stages to discuss 
an overall parking strategy. We will only adopt 
parking spaces that are unallocated and located 
as part of the overall street adoption.

For on street parking to be successful, it must 
be designed into the streetscape from the 
outset. Space allowance for it must be made at 
the masterplanning stage with street corridor 
width generally becoming wider. It should be 
considered in the context of the whole street 
design and not just as an individual element. This 
document will continue in the following pages 
to demonstrate how on street parking should be 
integrated into a suite of other design elements 
and considerations:

   Trees and landscape

   Traffic Calming measures

   Sustainable urban drainage

   Street lighting

   Cycle routes

   Pedestrian safety

Set out below are some basic design 
parameters which should be applied to parking 
designs:

   Parallel parking should be 6m long and 2.5m 
wide (it is recognised that doors can open 
into street or footway)

   Parallel parking spaces which are constrained 
along one edge by, for example, a fence 
or wall will need to be wider and 2.7m is 
recommended. 

   Perpendicular spaces must be 5m long and 
2.5m wide if next to another parking space 
or open space. If at the end of a run and 
constrained along one edge by a structure eg 
wall or fence, then the width should increase 
to 2.7m

   Landscaping, such as shrubs, hedges or 
trees should be used to help break up large 
expanses of parking. This is true of both 
parallel and perpendicular spaces. As a guide, 
parallel spaces should be kept to a maximum 
of 3 spaces long and perpendicular 5 spaces 
before a break for landscaping or other 
features to visually break up the spaces.

3.2   Parking: Cars

‘French square’ parking zone

Limited access streets with remote parking areas (non 
adopted)

42

P
age 440



In addition to the more standard approaches  
to on street parking detailed above, Oxfordshire 
County Council are keen for developers to 
investigate alternative on street solutions. 
Such measures could, for example, include 
parking within central reservations or ‘French 
parking squares’. These are squares distributed 
at intervals along a street where parking can 
occur. They are not car parks and should be 
treated as places within their own right. These 
can then free up others areas of the street for 
more beneficial uses such as pocket parks. 
In some instances on street parking squares 
can be used in conjunction with traffic orders 
to limit vehicular use of certain streets. Such 
streets could have drop off/pick up access only 
with vehicles then needing to move on and park 
within the designated parking squares. This 
could allow for far narrower streets resulting 
in less space being committed to roadways 
and tarmac. Such approaches clearly align 
with Oxfordshire County Council’s vision of the 
future. These alternative solutions to dealing 
with parking will need to be discussed with the 
highway department to ascertain what would 
be suitable for adoption.

On street parking bays broken up with trees, hedges and shrubs

3.2   Parking: Cars

43

P
age 441



3.2   Parking: Cars

Frontage parking - allocated

Where smaller units are proposed in terraces, 
these tend to utilise allocated frontage parking: 
parking which, normally perpendicular, sits 
between an adopted footway at the front of a row 
of terraces. This form of parking is generally very 
efficient and supports higher density and better 
land use.

However, this approach is often poorly 
implemented. This can result in runs of parking 
spaces directly fronting a terrace of homes 
creating very hard, harsh environments with little 
or no green/amenity space to house fronts (see 
example below).

Oxfordshire County Council, therefore, will 
only accept frontage parking that has been 
well designed and contributes positively to the 
streetscape. We recommend 2 main approaches:

Scenario 1 -  In front of gardens: perpendicular 
allocated frontage parking as above, but set in-
front of front gardens of at least 2m deep. This 
would probably also require a shared ‘private’ 
footway running between the parking spaces and 
the front garden boundary. This helps to provide 
usable front gardens space that can positively 
benefit the streetscape and create a setting for 
the homes.

Scenario 2 - Front driveway parking: This is a 
standard 3m wide driveway within the front 
garden a house usually forming part of a terrace. 
Oxfordshire County Council recommend that, 
in these circumstances, only 1 allocated space 
per unit be provided with the remainder of the 
parking requirement be fulfilled by non- allocated 
parking positioned elsewhere. Based on a house 
typical terraced house width of, say, 5m, the 
provision of a 3m wide drive still leaves 2m width 
of garden space. With the correct ‘handing’ of 
houses this can be doubled to provide 5m wide 
gardens spaces fronting directly onto the public 
realm. This helps to improve the quality of the 
street and the setting of the home.

Scenario 1: Good quality frontage parking ample room 
left for garden and landscaping

Scenario 1: Poor quality frontage parking leading to hard 
barren streetscape: no green  garden space 

Scenario 2: Driveways within front gardens

44

P
age 442



3.2   Parking: Cars

School drop off areas 

When designing a masterplan, all potential 
landuses and facilities should be considered at 
the outset and located accordingly. If a school 
provision is required then should be located so 
that it encourages walking and cycling. It should be 
as central to the catchment it is intended to serve 
as possible. Clearly, as with all masterplanning 
elements, site constrains, issues and opportunities 
will play a role in its ultimate location, shape 
and form. The walking and cycling routes to 
school should fully reflect the needs of children 
demonstrating safe crossing points, school signage 
etc and around the school zigzag lines, barriers 
and all relevant design safety measures to take 
account of the traffic movement and drop off in 
the area.

In addition to pupils/parents drop off, 
consideration should be made to bus provision. 
This should be discussed at an early stage with the 
education authority to ascertain the purpose and 
frequency of bus use. This will help determine the 
type and nature of facilities to be provided: could 
be a simple drop off for occasional school trip, or a 
flow of buses bringing pupils to and from school.

Whilst cycling and walking to school is the 
encouraged intent, there is still need to consider 
drop off and pick up by car. This must take 

place outside the school grounds and form 
a fundamental part of early traffic impact 
assessment and capacity provisions as the 
numbers of vehicles can have a major impact. 
Escorted dropping off of young children and early 
arrival of parents to pick up can very quickly lead 
to congestion and indiscriminate / unsafe car 
parking.

We would encourage designers to co-locate 
schools adjacent to other facilities such as local 
centres, sport facilities etc. This allows for short 
term shared use of parking facilities. It also causes 
less disruption to residential areas and encourages 
combined trips. Where this is not possible, 
then dedicated dropping off areas should be 
considered. These should not, however, be directly 
in front of school as this causes unsafe conditions 
for other road uses such as pedestrian and cyclists 
crossing. We would encourage streets to the fronts 
of school to be confined, making pulling over to 
drop off an obstruction issue thus discouraging 
drop offs in that location but providing alternative 
drop off areas close by.

To assist in the flow of traffic in school locations, 
schools must be on a through linked loop to 
ensure that there is no demand for vehicles to 
turn around.

Xxxxxxx

Xxxxxxx

school drop off areas images to go 

here: OCC to supply

school drop off areas images to go 

here: OCC to supply

45

P
age 443



A preference for surface level SUDs

How we deal with foul and surface water 
drainage, particularly surface water, can influence 
how our streets look and feel. It can also help to 
increase green space, wildlife and biodiversity. As 
has been seen with many elements of the street, 
it must be considered at the masterplanning 
stage. With the need for sustainable urban 
drainage and the control for surface water run 
off, the ability to attenuate flood water within 
developments must be considered. It is essential 
that this is discussed and agreed with the water 
authority and Oxfordshire County Council in order 
to set the key drainage design parameters.

Oxfordshire County Council requires the use 
of SUDS. Such systems not only assist in the 
sustainable drainage of a place, they can also 
contribute to improving ecology, provide 
landscaping opportunities and double up as play 
and recreation space. As such, we are advocates 
of open surface water drainage, in preference to 
piped solutions. We do, however, recognise that 
a balanced combination of both is sometimes 
required: indeed, it may be the only practicable 
design solution.

Oxfordshire County Council will, however, resist 
schemes which simply pipe surface water around 
a development to an attenuation basin near the 
point of discharge from the development.

We look for SUDs solutions for all types of 
development from residential and commercial 
through to schools and hospitals.

Drainage taking solely highway surface water 
would have a preference of being adopted by 
Oxfordshire County Council. Where drainage 
systems take private/ unadopted surface water 
Oxfordshire County Council cannot adopt 
but have a vested interest in the ownership 
and maintenance of the system as highway is 
dependant on it functioning.

Open surface level SUDs can take many forms and 
the level to which they are designed can greatly 
impact on the character of a place. They can 
range from small and relatively low key street side 
rain gardens through to significant central swales 
forming major design features in a development. 
As such, their early inclusion within the design 
process is essential. 

3.3   Dealing with drainage

Rain gardens in the 
public realm taking 

only highway drainage: 
preference for adoption

Rain gardens in the public realm: Non adoptable if taking 
water from private areas.

Swales as significant design features

46

P
age 444



It’s important stuff

Landscaping within streets and developments 
plays multiple roles:

   It can help to define route hierarchy

   It can help to soften otherwise potentially 
hard environment

   It can improve air quality

   It can contribute towards a biodiversity, 
ecology and wildlife strategy

   Provide food for residents and workers 
through edible planting 

   It can raise spirits and improve health and 
well being

   It can provide visually attractive interludes 
within the streetscape

   It can provide shade and help prevent 
overheating of building

   It can contribute towards sustainable urban 
drainage

Landscaping is, therefore vital to the health and 
vitality of our streets. 

The type and character of the landscape, be 
it avenues street trees or shrubs and hedging 
to help break up parking, will be dependent 
on the type of development and the design 
character of the masterplan. All landscaping 
should, however, be robust and design choice 
should have regard to future maintenance 
and the suitability of species to the 
proposed situation. We would welcome early 
conversations with the schemes landscape 
architects to help ensure that designs coming 
forward meet with our approval.

Note: Trees / landscaping within the highway 
corridor will need to be adopted - private trees 
covered by license or adoption layout amended 
to create unadopted islands is not acceptable.

It should also be noted that vision splays 
/ forward visibility etc. are required to be 
adopted for adopted roads. These areas will 
also need to meet adoptable standards (i.e. 
landscaping will be adopted).

3.4   Landscaping

Landscaping can add structure to a streetscape

Tress helping to soften an otherwise hard environment

47

P
age 445



Street trees guidance

OCC welcomes a diverse and creative approach 
to providing trees in our county. Trees have 
a range of environmental, economic and 
social benefits which should be utilised to the 
full to provide a lasting landscape fit for the 
environmental challenges we face.

Design

The overall design should reflect the landscape 
around it while giving a sense of place to the site 
to differentiate it from other areas.

Certain points need to be considered in drawing 
up the design:

   Trees need to be suitable for the location and 
available planting area including future growth 
of roots and canopy.

   Sufficient light and water needs to be provided 
to ensure healthy growth.

   Where trees are part of drainage schemes then 
species able to cope with the volume of water 
anticipated should only be considered.

   Retaining existing trees within the site. 
Surveying to BS5837(2012) is required with 
an Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) 
stating which trees are to be retained or 
removed; how they are to be protected during 

construction; and what after care will be 
provided to ensure long term retention. 

   New trees should have detailed specifications 
on sizes and species, planting methods and 
after care for a minimum of 3 years to ensure 
establishment.

Species selection

There are many guides to trees describing 
their attributes, but it is notable that many 
designs choose the same species. As the climate 
changes, so our choices should change to reflect 
that and ensure future adaptation.

   A mix of species is required with no more than 
20% of any genus and no more than 10% of a 
particular species on the site. This is to prevent 
major impacts on the landscape in event of 
disease.

   Ideally a range of ages should be planted to 
prevent all trees aging at the same rate and 
gaps occurring when they die.  

   Consideration should be given in communal 
areas to providing edible fruit producing 
trees, bushes or herbs to provide a sense of 
community and giving children access to a 
natural experience.

Planting space

While trees can make a space more inviting they 
can cause problems to those living nearby and 
be a long-term safety hazard if given insufficient 
room to develop.

   Trees should have sufficient space above and 
below ground. 

   Canopies develop over time and may even 
change shape as they age, depending on 
whether they are obstructed, shaded or free 
grown. Future pruning and maintenance must 
be anticipated including the maintenance 
costs. Pruning can affect a tree’s long-term 
retention.

   Below ground roots need sufficient volume 
to develop a healthy root system capable 
of supporting the tree and providing good 
stability in the long term.

   The impact of kerbs, paved areas and rooting 
barriers must be carefully considered before 
selecting a tree to suit.

   It may be that the site is not able to support 
a mature tree and other more appropriate 
landscaping should be used.

3.4   Landscaping

48

P
age 446



Rooting volume

Having sufficient rooting space to provide for the 
needs of a growing tree is critical in retaining the 
tree to enable it to reach its full potential. Too 
small a space will create an unhealthy stunted 
tree with poor resistance to pests and diseases.

   Rooting space should be considered early 
in the design to ensure adequate space is 
allocated.

   Adjoining soil spaces should be connected to 
provide larger rooting volumes.

   Services should avoid tree rooting areas. This 
helps avoid the potential for future conflicting 
maintenance issues.

References
BS5837: Trees in relation to Design, Construction and Demolition 
2012 British Standards
BS8545: Trees from nursery to establishment in the landscape 
2014 recommendations British Standards

3.4   Landscaping

Trees in Hard Landscapes A Guide for Delivery (2014) Tree Design Action 
Group www.tdag.org.uk 
Trees Species Selection for Green Infrastructure (2019) Tree Design Action 
Group www.tdag.org.uk

49

P
age 447

http://www.tdag.org.uk/uploads/4/2/8/0/4280686/tdag_trees-in-hard-landscapes_september_2014_black-and-white.pdf
http://www.tdag.org.uk/uploads/4/2/8/0/4280686/tdag_trees-in-hard-landscapes_september_2014_black-and-white.pdf
http://www.tdag.org.uk/uploads/4/2/8/0/4280686/tdag_treespeciesguidev1.3.pdf
http://www.tdag.org.uk/uploads/4/2/8/0/4280686/tdag_treespeciesguidev1.3.pdf


Introduction

Innovation technologies available to our streets 
today is constantly evolving and expanding. 
Oxfordshire County Council wants to ensure that 
we, as far as possible, future proof our streets. 
Streets should be designed to accommodate 
micro-mobility, freight innovations and 
autonomous vehicles to name a few. Some 
technologies are available today and are 
common place, for example, broadband. Others 
are on the horizon but should still be allowed for, 
such as 5G.

As with every other element of street design, 
technology features should be included in early 
design proposals and considered together as an 
holistic and integrated benefit.

Innovation is fast paced and ever changing 
and therefore it is difficult to provide design 
parameters. However, we have knowledge of 
emerging innovations which already have some 
level of evidence in place to show likely efficacy 
which we have outlined in the table on the 
adjacent page. 

Street lighting

Oxfordshire County Council can provide a 
comprehensive street lighting design service. We 
would work closely with the developers design 
team to help ensure that overall design and 
the placement of columns did not conflict with 
any other design elements. Developers are, of 
course, also free to undertake their own street 
lighting design for our subsequent approval. Our 
Street Lighting Policy 2018 provides  details on 
street lighting specifications and requirements. 

Street lighting should be considered at the 
beginning of the design process to be fully 
incorporated. Locations of lighting columns will 
need to be considered so that they do not, for 
example cause nuisance by being too close to 
bedroom windows.

There may be instances where lighting columns 
offer other services including but not limited 
to; provision of public internet, monitoring of 
streets through sensors, providing charging 
points and enabling citizen science. 

Clearly, in these instances, they must be 
conveniently located for their dual purpose as well 
as providing the light required to the right areas. 
Oxfordshire County Council encourages such 
dual use as it helps to reduce street clutter and, 
potentially, minimises future maintenance costs.

Not all streets require street lighting. There are, 
in fact instances where the provision of lighting 
may be of detriment, eg, ‘dark’ villages near 
wildlife or bat flight corridors. We will consider 
each development and street individually.

3.5   Innovation

Designers and developers should consider 
these innovations when masterplanning sites. 
Oxfordshire County Council is currently working 
to publish an Innovation Framework to support 
developers and we would include the relevant 
officers from the Innovation Hub in pre-
application discussions.   

The county council does not require all sites to 
submit an Innovation Plan but advise towards 
it. Larger and strategic sites will require an 
innovation plan as well as some smaller sites 
where there is a specific need. An Innovation Plan 
is a site-specific plan produced by the developer 
or infrastructure planner, which sets out how 
a particular development or scheme will both 
integrate and plan for innovation, which helps 
planners and developers ensure developments 
that are fit for future generations.

street lighting image 
from ihub team

50

P
age 448



Innovation technology Examples of application Future proofing measures
Connected Autonomous 
Passenger Vehicles CAV

•  Privately owned vs shared (SAV)
•  Atomated buses, shuttles, cars or pods
•  Semi-automated vs fully automated
•  Connected vehicles without automation

•  Consistent road marking
•  SAV idling, drop-off and pick-up points
•  Charging infrastructure
•  Connected and smart roadside infrastructure (most relevant in congested and more 

built-up areas)
•  Next Generation network management support 
•  External Localisation & navigation technology 
•  High definition digital mapping
•  Resiliency when failing or operating out of its Operational Design Domain (ODD) –  

where it is designed to operate
CAV Freight •  Automated lorries, trucks, vans or robots

•  Connected vehicles without automation
•  Semi-automated vs fully automated
•  Urban platooning (convoy)
•  Health and care applications, e.g. delivery of 

health services

•  As above
•  Loading & unloading points
•  Docking points for bots

Electric Vehicles - Passenger •  Privately owned vs shared
•  Wireless charging vs wired charging
•  Electric buses, cars, boats or pods

•  All residential properties with a drive: min 1 charge point
•  Unallocated residential parking: min 25% of spaces
•  Non-residential parking (e.g. commercial): min 25% of spaces
•  Smart chargers to be used, minimum 7kWh AC
•  Fast charging points recommended for most applications, with rapid only appropriate 

in some specific situations (e.g. some higher density housing, workplaces and for 
commercial vehicles)

•  Provision at transport hubs, such as P&R sites
Electric Vehicles - Freight •  Electric vans, local delivery trucks or robots 

(larger freight unlikely to be electrified)
•  As above (where relevant), plus:
•  Charging points at commercial locations in loading/unloading areas

Hydrogen Vehicles - Passenger •  Privately owned vs shared
•  Buses or cars

•  Fuelling land use designation

Hydrogen Vehicles - Freight •  Hydrogen lorries, trucks, vans or boats
•  Most relevant to longer distance/heavy load trips

•  Fuelling land use designation

3.5   Innovation

51

P
age 449



Innovation technology Examples of application Future proofing measures
Unmanned Aerial Vehicles - 
Freight

•  Hydrogen lorries, trucks, vans or boats
•  Most relevant to longer distance/heavy load 

trips
•  Delivery, function performance such as 

maintenance or monitoring, health & care 
applications, e.g. delivery of medicines and 
medical equipment

•  (Longer term, passenger transfer)
•  Likely alternative-fuel powered

•  Consider line of sight
•  Charging point provision
•  Privacy from above
•  High definition digital mapping 
•  Take off/landing
•  Monitoring infrastructure/corridors
•  Network management provisions (possible integration of air traffic management with 

Traffic Management Control centres)
•  Noise abatement considerations, especially for larger drones

Micro mobility - Passenger •  Privately owned vs shared
•  E-bikes, pedelecs, e-scooters or e-skateboards 

(the latter 2 are subject to legal review)

•  Secure, convenient, accessible, ideally covered storage at higher volumes
•  Improved cycle infrastructure - Dedicated lanes

Micro mobility - Freight •  E-cargo bikes
•  Last mile delivery

•  Designated loading areas
•  Charging facilities
•  Microdistribution hubs
•  Dedicated cycle lanes

Mobility as a Service •  All modes
•  Shared transport services (Car, e-car, bike, 

e-bike or e-scooter)
•  Integrated journey planning and payment

•  Bus & subway interchanges
•  Dedicated bike and car sharing spaces at transport hubs
•  Cycle parking at bus stops
•  Charging facilities
•  Real time, open source, multi-modal monitoring data
•  High definition, digital mapping

5G •  Telehealth
•  Immersive technologies
•  Autonomous vehicles navigation and 

teleoperation
•  Smart agriculture Emergency response
•  UAV communications
•  Vehicle to Everything communications

•  Fibre backbone 
•  Accessible assets, e.g. streetlighting for mounting and electricity

3.5   Innovation

52

P
age 450



3.5   Innovation

Electric vehicle charging

Oxfordshire County Council fully supports the 
provision of electric car charging points at 
homes, workplaces and key destinations. 

Providing EV Charging for off-plot parking 

During the previous parking solutions section 
of this document, we set out our favour for off 
plot parking solutions and a requirement for 
25% of these spaces to be equipped with EV 
charging. Where properties have access only to 
unallocated parking on the street developers 
should carefully consider how to provide access 
to EV charging. This could mean providing 
access to residents to use EV charging installed 
in off-street communal parking areas, or through 
directly providing access to EV charging in the 
on-street allocated parking. 

EV charging can be provided relatively simply 
in off-road communal parking. Free-standing 
EV chargers can create additional street clutter 
and impact on inclusive mobility, and design 
should be carefully planned in order to avoid 
this. The government wishes to encourage the 
use of integrated street-lighting and EV charging 
to avoid street clutter. Where this is used, the 
position of the streetlight must be carefully 
considered in order to avoid trip hazards 
from trailing cables on the footway, and the 
promotion of inclusive mobility. 

Where free standing EV chargers are provided 
on the street, positioning for avoidance of trip 
hazards, and the promotion of inclusive mobility 
should also be considered as a priority. 

Oxfordshire County Council is working to 
develop defined policy for on-street EV charging 
which developers should reference when 
designing EV charging in an on-street setting. 

image from ihub 
team

Caption

53

P
age 451



Powering EV charging:

Designing developments with sufficient and 
appropriately located lower power EV charging 
equipment from the outset, and with sufficient 
energy capacity to meet predicted future 
demand, will help to manage grid impact and 
meet the needs of residents and businesses 
for EV charging infrastructure, now and in the 
future, efficiently and cost effectively.

Historically, streetlighting circuit designs and 
power capacity have not been required to 
take into account the need for additional load 
from EV charging. New developments using 
traditional processes to design streetlighting 
without consideration of EV charging will 
require costly and complex retrofitting to 
meet the energy demand of EV charging. This 
can be avoided by designing in and ensuring 
adequate power capacity for EV charging in the 
streetlighting supply from the outset.

Management of EV charging:

Access to working public EV charging has 
been shown to be a key concern for EV drivers 
across the UK. Government regulations set out 
technical standards for EV charging points, but 
reliability of EV chargers is strongly linked to 
their competent operation and maintenance. 
Contractual arrangements for maintenance and 
operation of charging points by a competent 
contractor is necessary to meet customer needs 
and avoid poor reliability of charging networks, 
this needs careful consideration, especially 
when charging is installed on-street or is 
integrated into street-lighting.

During the previous parking solutions section of 
this document, however, we set out our favour 
for off plot parking solutions. This can lead to 
complications in providing charging points as 
they will, essentially, be within the public realm 
so will be more difficult to control and tariff. We 
understand that there are solutions available 
such as metered charging cables, so would 
welcome developers to come forward with 
solutions for consideration.

3.5   Innovation

image from ihub 
team

54

P
age 452



Who should we design for?

Oxfordshire County Council fully endorses 
Manual for Streets and Manual for Streets 2. 
We invite developers to consult with us on their 
manoeuvring street geometries and base them on 
the principles set out in Manual for Streets. 

Within the above parameters, however, 
Oxfordshire County Council will still expect 
streets designed to allow refuse vehicle and fire 
appliances to be able to access the areas of a 
development for the purpose of collecting refuse 
and fighting fires. We would expect emerging 
geometry and street design to be accompanied 
with relevant proof and tracking diagrams 
demonstrating a refuse vehicle safely negotiating 
the street and any parked cars that there may 
be within the street. Developers should seek 
guidance from us on the size of refuse vehicle used 
for the area of their development.

Recycling and refuse storage

Bins left out on footways or in front gardens can 
visually detract from the enjoyment of a place 
and present an obstruction for other road users. 
If bin storage is inconvenient then it is possible 
that residents will simply leave their bins out 
between collection days. Convoluted access 
paths to rear gardens should be avoided. This 
is particularly true where steps are involved. In 
such circumstances, sensitively design bin stores 
should form part of the house frontage.

The Manual for Streets outlines that during 
collection days bins should be left on the 
adopted highway or within 25m of it. Where 
this is not possible without the need for bin 
collection points then these collection points 
should not be more that 30m from the residents 
storage location. Refuse vehicle sizes within 
Oxford City are 9.2m long and 11.6m long 
throughout the rest of the county.

In terms of commercial premises, bins should 
be able to be collected from within 15m of the 
adopted highway. Our refuse vehicles will not 
drive on private property or private drives.  

Innovative alternatives

Whilst designing to Manual for Streets will 
effectively, reduce the amount of tarmac on our 
streets, Oxfordshire County Council encourage 
developers and their designers to consider and 
investigate potential alternative solutions to refuse 
collection. In mainland Europe, for example, many 
areas rely on shared refuse and recycling points. 
These tend to be on primary routes and negate 
the need for refuse collection vehicles to enter, say, 
minor streets, whether they be new or historic. 
This allows for further reduction in tarmac through 
further reduction in street geometry. Of course, 
such an approach would require buy in from 
future residents as they would need to take their 
refuse to centralised storage/collection points. 
Oxfordshire County Council is currently unsure 
as to whether we would be able to accept such a 
proposal and wouldn’t be able to make a decision 
until the details had been presented to us but 
are happy to explore alterantive systems if they 
provide betterment to streets and places.

3.6  Recycling & refuse collection

Bin stores designed into the front of homes Bin stores designed into the front of homes
55

P
age 453



Part 4

Further advice

56

P
age 454



This section of the document sets out some 
basic standing advice which is applicable to 
both large and small applications. It provides 
standard advice that is common  across many 
situations and is indented to help streamline the 
planning process.

Street lighting

Reference should be made to our Oxfordshire 
County Council Street Lighting Policy 2018. This 
sets out in detail our standard requirements if 
street lighting. It must also be read in conjunction 
with other relevant documents which also 
encompasses the Oxfordshire County Council 
corporate vision, the Local Transport Plan, the 
Highway Asset Management Plan and the Energy 
Strategy.

Main Objectives

To provide an effective street lighting service to 
support the authority’s corporate

Objectives including:

   Reduce night time traffic accidents and improve 
community safety

   Provide safe access to educational facilities 
supporting life-long learning

   Energy/Carbon reduction and Management

   Promote sustainable transport (public 
transport, cycling and walking) for thriving 
communities

   Facilitate social inclusion by providing freedom 
to use streets after dark

   Support the 24-hour leisure economy, 
promoting economic development

   Assist emergency services to identify locations 
and shorten response times

   Enable Smart Cities and innovation of new 
technology

Lighting Provision

It is no longer assumed that street lighting will 
automatically be provided at every location. The 
need for lighting should be assessed in line with 
the street lighting policy.

The main primary provision of lighting should:

   Increase the safety of all users of the 
highway, especially vulnerable groups such 
as pedestrians, cyclists, children, elderly or 
disabled people.

   Enhance the night-time environment

   Reduce street crime and fear of crime and deter 
anti-social behaviour

   Be unobtrusive by day and night

   Be based on a sound economic and social 
assessment of the need for lighting

   Designed using appropriate lighting levels with a 
LED lighting solution as a default requirement

The secondary provision of lighting should:

   Consider local need where it meets the Council’s 
objectives

   Consider the requirements of conservation 
areas or areas of outstanding natural beauty

   Not provide additional lighting where an 
alternative lit route is available

4.61  Further advice

57

P
age 455



Standards of Lighting

The overall lighting requirements for a specific 
area will be refined to take account of vehicular/ 
pedestrian activity, location of local amenities, 
etc. by the design brief. Specifically, lighting will be 
designed in accordance with the following lighting 
design standards:

   BS 5489-1:2013

   BS EN 13201:2014

The standard of lighting in the British Standard 
categorises the roads based on usage and 
environmental factors.

Lighting Equipment

Assessment would be made to the type of 
equipment specified within each area and the 
equipment would be standard columns with LED 
type lanterns which are CMS compatible, using 
like for like equipment and in conjunction with 
the current recommendations of Public Health 
England reports. Conservation Area status does 
not establish a pre-requisite for period style 
lighting – good functional modern designs may be 
suitable.

On all new residential developments, the 
equipment and lighting levels will be assessed and 
a design brief issued as per each Section 278 and 
S38 works in-line with the Council’s policy.

All equipment must comply with the Council’s 
current specifications and Highway Standard 
Drawings (HSD drawings) and the current IET 
wiring regulations BS 7671.

In areas where smart cities are to be established 
the type of equipment will be specified for each 
site, as this may be over and above standard 
requirements. 

Highway records 

Oxfordshire County Council List of Streets is 
available to inspect for free on the Highway 
Register web page at www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/
highwaysregister. The Highway records team can 
supply a plan showing the extent of the publicly 
maintained highway for a given area.  
To obtain this you can make an application from 
the following web page www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/
highwaysearches. There is usually a charge or  
this service.

For Public Rights of way, the definitive  
Map and Statement is available online at  
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-
and-planning/countryside/countryside-access/ 
public-rights-way/public-rights-way-online  
this information is managed by the Countryside 
Records Team who are available at 
countrysiderecords@oxfordshire.gov.uk . Public 
transport team should be consulted at the start 
of a project to help ensure that space is available 
for bus stops and that they are not a last minute 
compromise.

4.61  Further advice

58

P
age 456

http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/highwaysregister
http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/highwaysregister
http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/highwaysregister
http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/highwaysregister
http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-and-planning/countryside/countryside-access/public-rights-way/public-rights-way-online
http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-and-planning/countryside/countryside-access/public-rights-way/public-rights-way-online
http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-and-planning/countryside/countryside-access/public-rights-way/public-rights-way-online
mailto:countrysiderecords%40oxfordshire.gov.uk?subject=


Bus stops and routes 

Minimum bus stop requirement:

Hard standing, kerb 120mm-140mm max
Oxfordshire standard pole/flag where the door 
should open
Information case in strategic locations

Further bus stop infrastructure if required:

Standard white bus road markings/bus cage – 13 
metres long minimum, additional 6 metres each 
side if difficult manoeuvre
Presumption against lay-by unless shown to be 
necessary

Bus Routes:

2-way frequent route needs to be 6.75m wide
If bus route is on 1-way terminal loop, width can be 
6 metres
Route should be reasonably direct
Presumption against vertical deflection via speed 
bumps. Speed tables acceptable if well designed. 
Should ideally be at least a bus length in length
Bus stops need to be located near strategic 
pedestrian links (400m distance where possible 
but location near strategic links more important). 
This needs consideration during early masterplan 
design stage

Limit number of right angle turns

 General

Seek early advice on parking standards. See 
Oxfordshire County Council and Disctrict 
Council’s standards.

Parking dimensions need to be clear, including 
garages and under croft provision.

Low car/car free developments are considered 
in the following areas: located within city / town 
centre or in close proximity located close to 
public transport interchanges or routes within 
Controlled Parking Zones. (Ref individual local 
plan policies such as M3 Car Parking of the 
Oxford Local Plan and the Car Parking TAN)

Vision splays need to be shown but refer to 
standards in Manual for Streets.

Swept path tracking diagrams needed for 
parking and refuse vehicle:

Refuse vehicle sizes are 9.2m long within Oxford City 
and 11.6m long throughout the rest of the county.

Swept path of mid-sized vans needed for drives as 
increasing amount of delivery vehicles.

Pedestrian visibility splays need to be considered 
and provided as below.

No loose material (shingle, gravel etc) on 
driveways. 

No surface water running onto the highway.  
Developments need to be SUDS compliant.

4.61  Further advice

59

P
age 457



P
age 458



Annex 2 – Policy Hierarchy 
 

 

P
age 459



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 

 

Cherwell District Council and Oxfordshire County Council 

Equality and Climate Impact Assessment  

TEMPLATE 

September 2020  

P
age 461



2 
 

Contents 
Section 1: Summary details ............................................................................................................................................................................................. 3 

Section 2: Detail of proposal............................................................................................................................................................................................ 4 

Section 3: Impact Assessment - Protected Characteristics ................................................................................................................................................. 9 

Section 3: Impact Assessment - Additional Community Impacts........................................................................................................................................15 

Section 3: Impact Assessment - Additional Wider Impacts................................................................................................................................................17 

Section 3: Impact Assessment - Climate Change Impacts..................................................................................................................................................18 

Section 4: Review ..........................................................................................................................................................................................................20 

  P
age 462



3 
 

Section 1: Summary details 

Directorate and Service 

Area  

Communities 

Growth and Place 

What is being assessed 

(e.g. name of policy, 

procedure, project, service or 

proposed service change). 

Oxfordshire Street Design Guide  

Is this a new or existing 

function or policy? 

New guidance document  

Summary of assessment 

Briefly summarise the policy or 

proposed service change. 

Summarise possible impacts. 

Does the proposal bias, 

discriminate or unfairly 

disadvantage individuals or 

groups within the community?  

(following completion of the 

assessment). 

The guide will be used by developers and their teams to bring forward development and engage in pre-application 

discussions with the county council. It provides guidance on street design which seeks to prioritise sustainable and 

healthy travel. It stresses the importance of prioritising walking and cycling. It also requires developers to provide 

sufficient infrastructure that meets the needs of users with all abilities.   

The assessment has identified an overall positive impact on equality and climate impact. Largely positive impacts have 

been identified for age, race, sex and communities that experience deprivation. The guidance may have some 

negative impacts on age, disability and rural communities in terms of their dependency on use of the private car. 

However, the guide requires developers to consider issues street design presents to users with varying abilities and 

concerns and the need to create spaces which encourage natural surveillance and pleasant streets. Furthermore, this 

guide will be monitored yearly and any amendments identified will be addressed.  

Completed By Chanika Farmer – Transport Development Control Lead  

Authorised By Amrik Manku – Growth Manager  

Date of Assessment 11 March 2021 

P
age 463



4 
 

Section 2: Detail of proposal 

Context / Background  

Briefly summarise the 

background to the policy or 

proposed service change, 

including reasons for any 

changes from previous 

versions. 

With 85,000 new jobs and 100,000 new homes planned for Oxfordshire up to 2031, it was felt that the county council 
should provide up to date guidance to developers to help bring forward new development. Availability of guidance 
would help developers understand the county council’s expectations for new developments as well streamline the 
planning application process by proposals being brought forward being in line county council requirements which would 
mean fewer delays to planning consent, thus ensuring that growth is brought in a timely fashion. 
 
 

Proposals 

Explain the detail of the 

proposals, including why this 

has been decided as the best 

course of action. 

 

 

 

Oxfordshire County Council aims to enable Oxfordshire as a whole to become zero-carbon by 2050. This ambition 
extends into our role as the Local Highway Authority when advising and assessing new developments. To act on 
climate change, we need to prioritise walking, cycling and using public transport. The Design Guide presents how we 
can prioritise active and healthy travel through street design in new developments.  
 
The need for an updated design document was identified to replace the ‘Residential Roads Design Guide’, bring 
guidance in line with Local Transport Plan 4 and emerging Local Transport Connectivity Plan (which this guide will sit 
under) as well as updated national guidance. 
 
This document has been created in consultation with external stakeholders and the District Councils as described 
below.  
 
The Design Guide refers to national guidance, particularly Manual for Streets (Department for Transport, 2007), 
Inclusive Mobility (Department for Transport, 2005) and Local Transport Note 1/20 Cycle Infrastructure Design 
(Department for Transport, 2020). It also refers to the Walking Design Standards and Cycle Design Standards which 
have been adopted by the county council.  
 
The Oxfordshire Street Design Guide follows the same user hierarchy in Manual for Streets with pedestrians at the top, 
then cyclists, then public transport users and finally other motor traffic. This aligns with Oxfordshire County Council’s 
ambitions to become zero-carbon as a county by prioritising sustainable and healthy travel. 
The document requires developers to engage with the county council at a very early stage of the development planning 
process, rather than delaying it until the masterplan has been formed to allow us to influence the form of the 
development with a view to creating a development that is weighted in favour of sustainable and healthy travel.  

P
age 464



5 
 

 
The document is moving away from providing strict geometries to recognise that Oxfordshire is a diverse place and 
each development is unique. It provides some street examples to demonstrate how our requirements can be achieved. 
It requires developers to provide attractive and convenient connections for pedestrians and cyclists and footways and 
cycle routes to be designed in accordance with Inclusive Mobility (DfT, 2005) and Local Transport Note 1/20 Cycle 
Infrastructure Design (DfT, 2020) respectively.  
 
The guide provides guidance on cycle parking for all new developments and requires provision for cargo bikes, mobility 
impaired bicycles, scooters, etc. It also provides guidance on bus stop design within new developments and its 
interaction with cycle routes and footways.  
 
The guide discusses the approach the county council is taking in terms of car parking design and our preference to 
reduce private parking stock (garages, on plot parking) and increase the use of unallocated / allocated on-street 
parking. This allows flexibility in street design when private car dependency reduces in future which would allow on-
street parking could be converted to other uses such as pocket parks, planting, cycle routes, Connected and 
Autonomous vehicles routes, etc.  
 
The Design Guide also provides guidance on drainage and landscaping where these form parts of the street. The use 
of Sustainable Urban Drainage systems is required where possible and planting within the street is encouraged. It also 
discusses how refuse and recycling collection needs can be accommodated within street design. 
 
The project team has also worked with the Innovation Hub team to include guidance on how innovation can form part 
of street design. Detail is provided on innovative street lighting provision as well as electric vehicle charging. Innovation 
is fast paced and ever changing and therefore it is difficult to provide design parameters. However, we have knowledge 
of emerging innovations which already have some level of evidence in place to show likely efficacy which we have 
outlined within the guide. 

Evidence / Intelligence 

List and explain any data, 

consultation outcomes, 

research findings, feedback 

from service users and 

stakeholders etc, that supports 

your proposals and can help 

Research 

The document has been drafted in line with the following national and local documents:  

 National Design Guide (Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 2021) 

 Manual for Streets (Department for Transport, 2007) 

 Manual for Streets 2 (CIHT, 2010) 

 Inclusive Mobility (Department for Transport, 2005) 

P
age 465



6 
 

to inform the judgements you 

make about potential impact 

on different individuals, 

communities or groups and 

our ability to deliver our 

climate commitments. 

 Local Transport Note 1/20 Cycle infrastructure design (Department for Transport, 2020) 

 Healthy Streets Toolkit (TfL, 2007) 

 District Councils’ design guidance  

 OCC Walking and Cycle Design Standards 

 OCC Climate Action Framework 

Consultation  

In December 2020 to January 2021 a consultation was circulated to key stakeholders in order to gather views on the 

draft document. Key stakeholders included cycle, pedestrian, civic, disabled user groups, developers and district 

councils. A list of stakeholders consulted is provided at Annex 1. A total of 45 responses were received and 15 more 

detailed responses in the form of letters were also received. Key findings from this and how the document has been 

amended to address these points is shown below.  

Summary of responses to online consultation 
How has the Oxfordshire Street Design Guide been 
amended to address this issue?  

 The Guide needs to clarify what it doesn’t include 
Edited to ensure that it is clear that the design guide is for 
design of streets in new developments only.  

Needs some clarification regarding guidance and 
standards, and how the guidance can be enforced 

The design guide will become an adopted document and 
new developments will need to conform with its 
requirements. Officers will refer to this guidance when 
assessing planning applications for new developments.  

Needs more decisive language 
The document has been edited to ensure that we use more 
decisive language to make it clear what we are seeking 
from new developments.  

P
age 466



7 
 

More priority for pedestrians, cyclists and the less able 

The user hierarchy has been made clearer with a new 
section which follows the user hierarchy set out in Manual 
for Streets (DfT, 2007) with priority given to pedestrians and 
cyclists. The design guide is also in line with Inclusive 
Mobility (DfT, 2005) and therefore ensures that design 
incorporates requirements of the less able.  

More regarding connectivity to existing places Being addressed with current draft amendments.   

 Too car-orientated 

The project team does not agree with this view, however 
amendments have been made to the document to make it 
clear that we seek priority for pedestrians and cyclists with 
all street design.  

Needs to make more commitment to Manual for 
Streets and LTN 1/20 

Makes relevant references to both Manual for Streets and 
LTN 1/20 and is clear that the design guide should be used 
in conjunction with these documents.  

 

An internal consultation on the design guide was also undertaken within the Growth and Place and Community 

Operations service areas to understand officer views. This identified the need to add more detail around street lighting, 

limit of dwellings to be served from one access, innovation, electric vehicle charging, drainage and design for schools 

etc. The draft document was amended following this consultation.  

Critical Friend Review  

A Critical Friend was appointed by the project team to review the draft document and was undertaken in February 

2020. This found that the guide was well illustrated and clearly written but found that more detail should be provided on 

how developers can engage with the county council and the need for firmer language to be clearer of the requirements 

from developments. These points are currently being reviewed by the project team and will be addressed through the 

current revisions to the document.  

P
age 467



8 
 

Alternatives considered / 

rejected 

Summarise any other 

approaches that have been 

considered in developing the 

policy or proposed service 

change, and the reasons why 

these were not adopted. This 

could include reasons why 

doing nothing is not an option. 

 

Many suggestions were put forward during the stakeholder engagement and not all of these have been taken forward. 

The amendments that were made to the draft were selected as they met the objectives and aims of the design guide 

(the objectives and aims of the design guide were not challenged). The suggestions that were not included have not 

been disregarded but are being considered as further areas of work that will be reviewed when additional funding 

sources are available in the future.   

 

 

  

P
age 468



9 
 

Section 3: Impact Assessment - Protected Characteristics 

P
age 469



10 
 

Protected 

Characteristic 
No 

Impact 
Positive Negative Description of Impact 

Any actions or mitigation 

to reduce negative impacts 

Action owner* 

(*Job Title, 

Organisation) 

Timescale and 

monitoring 

arrangements 

Age 

☐ ☒ ☒ 

The design guide seeks to 

provide access to a range of 

sustainable and healthy 

travel options to create a 

mode shift towards walking, 

cycling and use of public 

transport which will benefit 

people of all ages. There is a 

presumption in favour of 

active travel within the 

guidance which may 

positively impact upon 

younger users as active 

travel is encouraged and 

provided for while  it may 

negatively impact upon some 

elderly (with reduced 

mobility) who are dependent 

on a private car to travel.  

Ongoing monitoring of the 

document any impacts in 

practice. As the document 

will be a live document, it can 

be amended yearly to reflect 

any changes required.  

Transport 

Development 

Control Lead 

(North), 

Oxfordshire 

County 

Council  

Ongoing  

P
age 470



11 
 

Disability 

☐ ☒ ☒ 

Disability is a wide concept, 

of particular relevance to this 

assessment is the 

consideration of wheelchair, 

mobility impaired, blind and 

partially sighted users.  

The design guide requires 

street design to provide 

adequate footways in 

accordance with Inclusive 

Mobility (DfT, 2005) and 

cycle parking for mobility 

impaired users to be 

provided. It provides 

examples of appropriate 

crossing points within 

developments and use of 

tactile paving for example. 

There is a presumption in 

favour of active travel within 

the guidance which may 

negatively impact upon 

mobility impaired people who 

are dependent on a private 

car to travel. 

Mental health has also been 

considered and it has been 

concluded that the guide 

would result in a positive 

Ongoing monitoring of the 

document any impacts in 

practice. As the document 

will be a live document, it can 

be amended yearly to reflect 

any changes required.  

Transport 

Development 

Control Lead 

(North), 

Oxfordshire 

County 

Council  

Ongoing  

P
age 471



12 
 

impact by encouraging the 

provision of pocket parks, 

landscaping etc which 

improves the street scene 

and access to green spaces 

which has a positive impact 

on mental health and 

wellbeing.  

Gender 

Reassignment 
☒ ☐ ☐ 

    

Marriage & Civil 

Partnership 
☒ ☐ ☐ 

    

Pregnancy & 

Maternity 
☒ ☐ ☐ 

    

Race 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

Evidence shows that people 

from black and ethnic 

minorities are less likely to 

take up cycling (Cycling for 

Everyone, Sustrans and 

Arup, 2020). By providing 

attractive and convenient 

cycle routes in new 

developments, a mode shift 

to cycling is anticipated 

amongst all groups.  

   

P
age 472



13 
 

Sex 

☐ ☒ ☒ 

‘Men on average cycle 2.5 

times more trips and four 

times as far as women, and 

male adults in their forties 

cycle the most….Women are 

more likely to be worried 

about personal safety and 

experience anti-social 

behaviour whilst travelling.’ 

(Cycling for Everyone, 

Sustrans and Arup, 2020) 

Given that the design guide 

prioritises walking and 

cycling, some users, 

particularly women, may be 

concerned about personal 

security. The aim of the 

design guide is to provide 

safe attractive routes in new 

developments for everyone 

to use and to enable a 

greater take up of cycling 

irrespective of sex. The 

guidance discusses the need 

to create streets which 

encourage natural 

surveillance and open 

spaces which discourage 

anti- social behaviour.  

The design guide requires 

good design which means 

that personal security issues 

are considered at design 

stage of new developments. 

However, ongoing monitoring 

of the document will be 

undertaken to assess any 

impacts in practice. As the 

document will be a live 

document, it can be 

amended yearly to reflect 

any changes required. 

 

 

Transport 

Development 

Control Lead 

(North), 

Oxfordshire 

County 

Council  

Ongoing  

P
age 473



14 
 

Sexual 

Orientation 
☒ ☐ ☐ 

    

Religion or 

Belief 
☒ ☐ ☐ 

    

 

P
age 474



15 
 

Section 3: Impact Assessment - Additional Community Impacts 

Additional 

community 

impacts 

No 

Impact 
Positive Negative Description of impact 

Any actions or mitigation 

to reduce negative impacts 

Action owner 

(*Job Title, 
Organisation) 

Timescale and 

monitoring 

arrangements 

Rural 

communities 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

Pre-existing rural communities 

may be more isolated and 

have less access to take part 

in active travel 

Developers are required to 

demonstrate how new 

development will integrate 

with existing built up areas 

and how people living or 

working within the new 

developments will be able to 

access facilities outside of 

the development. This 

consideration will ensure that 

facilities in rural communities 

will be considered in the 

context of new development. 

Transport 

Development 

Control Lead 

(North), 

Oxfordshire 

County 

Council  

Ongoing  

Armed Forces  ☒ ☐ ☐     

Carers 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

The guide encourages 

developers to reduce the need 

for on plot parking which may 

negatively impact on carers in 

an official setting.  

The guide does not preclude 

the provision of short stay or 

visitor parking and the 

allowance for visitors passes 

where parking controls are 

imposed. Furthermore, the 

provision of infrastructure for 

alternative modes of 

transport may mean that this 

Transport 

Development 

Control Lead 

(North), 

Oxfordshire 

County 

Council  

Ongoing  

P
age 475



16 
 

Additional 

community 

impacts 

No 

Impact 
Positive Negative Description of impact 

Any actions or mitigation 

to reduce negative impacts 

Action owner 

(*Job Title, 
Organisation) 

Timescale and 

monitoring 

arrangements 

negative impact is only 

experienced in the short 

term.  

Areas of 

deprivation  

☐ ☒ ☐ 

The design guide seeks for 

new developments to be 

designed with priority for 

walking and cycling. This 

requires consideration of 

personal security along routes 

and safety for vulnerable 

users. Walking and cycling are 

the most accessible modes of 

transport regardless of 

economic background, the 

design guide seeks to ensure 

that these modes are thereby 

safe for all users.  

   

P
age 476



17 
 

Section 3: Impact Assessment - Additional Wider Impacts 

Additional 

Wider Impacts No 

Impact 
Positive Negative Description of Impact 

Any actions or mitigation 

to reduce negative impacts 

Action 

owner* (*Job 

Title, 

Organisation) 

Timescale and 

monitoring 

arrangements 

Staff 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

Officers will be able to refer to 

this guidance when assessing 

new developments and 

require development to 

conform with this guidance.  

   

Other Council 

Services  

☐ ☒ ☐ 

The guide provides 

information on other service 

areas such as schools, 

maintenance, etc and thereby 

shares information with 

developers who can consider 

these requirements when 

designing new developments.  

   

Providers  ☒ ☐ ☐     

Social Value 1 ☒ ☐ ☐     

  

                                                                 
1 If the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 applies to this proposal, please summarise here how you have considered how th e contract might improve the economic, 
social, and environmental well-being of the relevant area 

P
age 477



18 
 

Section 3: Impact Assessment - Climate Change Impacts 

OCC and CDC aim to be carbon neutral by 2030. How will your proposal affect our ability to reduce carbon emissions related to 

Climate 

change 

impacts 

 

No 

Impact 
Positive Negative Description of impact 

Any actions or mitigation to 

reduce negative impacts 

Action owner 

(*Job Title, 
Organisation) 

Timescale and 

monitoring 

arrangements 

Energy use in 

our buildings 

or highways 

☒ ☐ ☐ 

    

Our fleet ☒ ☐ ☐     

Staff travel 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

Increasing provision for walking 

and cycling may support switch 

from cars to active travel for 

business mileage 

   

Purchased 

services and 

products 

(including 

construction) 

☒ ☐ ☐ 

    

Maintained 

schools 
☐ ☒ ☐ 

The guide emphasises the 

need for attractive and safe 

walking and cycling routes to 

school.  

   

  

P
age 478



19 
 

We are also committed to enable Cherwell to become carbon neutral by 2030 and Oxfordshire by 2050.  How will your proposal affect 

our ability to:  

Climate 

change 

impacts  

No 

Impact 
Positive Negative Description of impact 

Any actions or mitigation to 

reduce negative impacts 

Action owner 

(*Job Title, 

Organisation) 

Timescale and 

monitoring 

arrangements 

Enable carbon 

emissions 

reduction at 

district/county 

level? 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

The prioritisation of walking and 

cycling in new developments as 

required by the guide will 

eventually result in a mode shift 

towards sustainable transport 

and thus reduce carbon 

emissions.  

   

 

  

P
age 479



20 
 

Section 4: Review 

Where bias, negative impact or disadvantage is identified, the proposal and/or implementation can be adapted or 

changed; meaning there is a need for regular review. This review may also be needed to reflect additional data and 

evidence for a fuller assessment (proportionate to the decision in question). Please state the agreed review timescale for 

the identified impacts of the policy implementation or service change.  

Review Date 25 May 2022 

Person Responsible for 

Review 
Chanika Farmer  

Authorised By Eric Owens  

 

  

P
age 480



21 
 

Annex 1 - Stakeholder Groups Consulted – Formally Consulted  

 

A1 Taxis 

A2B Taxis 

ABC Radio Taxis Oxford 

Active Oxfordshire  

Age UK 

Ambulance 

Begbroke Science Park 

Blenheim Estate 

Botley Taxis 

Bus Users Oxford 

Campaign For Better Transport 

Castle Complex Manager 

Chiltern Railways 

Christchurch College 

P
age 481



22 
 

City Centre Manager 

Clarendon Centre 

Community First Oxfordshire 

Covered Market Manager 

CPRE 

Cycling Touring Club 

Cyclox 

Experience Oxfordshire 

Fire & Rescue 

Freight Transport Association 

Friends of the Earth 

Grosvenor 

GWR - Station Manager 

Hackney Cabs 

Highways England 

Land Securities 

Living Streets 

P
age 482



23 
 

London Oxford Airport 

My Life my choice (learning disabilities) 

Network Rail 

Oxford Association for the Blind 

Oxford Brookes University 

Oxford Cars 

Oxford City Cars 

Oxford Civic Society 

Oxford Colleges 

Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust 

Oxford Pedestrians Association 

Oxford Preservation Trust 

Oxford University 

Oxford University Estates 

Oxford University Hospital 

Oxfordshire CCG 

Oxfordshire Cycling Network  

P
age 483



24 
 

Oxfordshire Deaf Direct 

Oxfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership 

Oxfordshire MIND 

OXLEP 

OxTRAG 

OxWED 

Passenger Focus - now called Transport 

Focus 

Pedal and Post Bicycle Cargo and Freight 

Pembroke College 

Road Haulage Association 

ROX 

Said Business School 

Sustrans 

Thames Valley Police 

Transport Studies Unit, University of 

Oxford 

Westgate Oxford Alliance 

P
age 484



25 
 

 

Other groups consulted include: 

 

 Internal teams (15/07/20) 

 City and District Councils (14/12/20) 
Developers and Consulta 

P
age 485



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Annex 4 – Summary of Stakeholder Engagement Approach 
 

*inc. cycle, pedestrian, civic, disabled user groups, developers and district councils  

 

Consultee  Dates 
Type of 

consultation  
Further 

engagement 
Key Outcomes  

Internal teams  2018/2019 
Email / 

Workshops 
Meetings with 

individual teams  
Inclusion of topic areas, 

amendments to draft  

Developers  
Summer 

2018 
Workshop  

Planned webinar 
following adoption 

of document  

Encouragement of 
adoption of guidance as it 

would be helpful in bringing 
forward development. 

Some felt strict guidance 
should be provided on 

geometries.  

District Councils  
Summer 

2018 
Workshop  

Pre-publication 
Briefing & Planned 
webinar following 

adoption of  

Encouragement of 
adoption and signposting to 

district design guides.  

County Council 
Members 

December 
2020 

Webinar  
Cabinet Meeting 

May 2021 

Enthusiastic about content 
and form of document. 

Need to follow LTN 1/20 
principles and standards.  

External 
stakeholder* 
consultation  

Dec 2020 
- Jan 2021 

Online 
consultation  

Further meeting 
held with 

Oxfordshire Cycling 
Network 

Key themes within the 
external stakeholders’ 
responses which have 

resulted in amendments to 
the draft as outlined in 

Annex 4.  

Critical Friend 
Review 

Mar 2021 
Review of 

draft  

Ongoing 
engagement with 
amendments to 

draft  

Well produced and 
illustrated document. Given 

the quality of the 
document, need to seek to 

strengthen content.  

Page 487



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 5 – Online consultation Results 
 

Results of questionnaire responses  

 

Q1. In your view, the Design Guide will contribute to the 
creation of attractive streets 

Response Option No. of responses Percentage 

Agree 15 33% 

Disagree 15 33% 

Don't Know 10 22% 

Comments 5 11% 

Total Responses 45   

   

   

Q2. The Design Guide will encourage new 
developments to reduce emissions, enhance air quality 

and support the transition to a low carbon economy 

Response Option No. of responses Percentage 

Agree 16 36% 

Disagree 17 38% 

Don't Know 7 16% 

Comments 5 11% 

Total Responses 45   

  

P
age 489



   

   
Q3. The guidance encourages provision of sustainable 

transport for people with differing abilities 

Response Option No. of responses Percentage 

Agree 15 33% 

Disagree 19 42% 

Don't Know 7 16% 

Comments 4 9% 

Total Responses 45   

   

   

Q4. The Design Guide allows for design freedom and 
innovation, whilst setting clear guiding principles 

Response Option No. of responses Percentage 

Agree 17 38% 

Disagree 20 44% 

Don't Know 4 9% 

Comments 4 9% 

Total Responses 45   

  

P
age 490



Summary of comments  
 

Summary of comments to online 
consultation 

How has the Oxfordshire Street Design Guide been amended to address 
this issue?  

 The Guide needs to clarify what it doesn’t 
include 

Edited to ensure that it is clear that the design guide is for design of streets in 
new developments only.  

Needs some clarification regarding 
guidance and standards, and how the 
guidance can be enforced 

The design guide will become an adopted document and new developments will 
need to conform with its requirements. Officers will refer to this guidance when 
assessing planning applications for new developments.  

Needs more decisive language 
The document has been edited to ensure that we use more decisive language to 
make it clear what we are seeking from new developments.  

More priority for pedestrians, cyclists and 
the less able 

The user hierachy has been made clearer with a new section which follows the 
user hierarchy set out in Manual for Streets (DfT, 2007) with priority given to 
pedestrians and cyclists. The design guide is also in line with Inclusive Mobility 
(DfT, 2005) and therefore ensures that design incorporates requirements of the 
less able.  

More regarding connectivity to existing 
places 

To be included in final draft.   

 Too car-orientated 
The project team does not agree with this view, however amendments have 
been made to the document that we seek priority for pedestrians and cyclists 
with all street design.  

Needs to make more commitment to 
Manual for Streets and LTN 1/20 

Makes relevant references to both Manual for Streets and LTN 1/20 and is clear 
that the design guide should be used in conjunction with these documents.  

  

P
age 491



Online Questionnaires Responses in Full  

 

Question 1.  In your view, the Design Guide will contribute to the creation of attractive 
streets. 

Modifications to Design 
Guide? Y/N 

 

Summary of Comments Officer Response  

Not without power to refuse planning permission 
We feel the design guide, along with other 
standards do give us sufficient weight to 

recommend refusal of planning application 
N 

Planted trees need to be mature 
Street Trees Guidance written by 

Arboriculture team 
N 

Create green corridors for wildlife with 
evergreen shrubbery 

Edible planting important e.g. apple and nut 
trees, rosemary bushes 

Not covered in this guide, would need 
District Councils to advice on this subject 

N 

Ample, invisible parking 
Parking numbers will be set out in separate 

parking standards document 
N 

Legal obligations on developers needed 
Will be ignored by developers who will not 

benefit from creating attractive streets 

We feel this guide will help push developers 
to create healthy streets, legal obligations 

may also be required. 
N 

Need to consult Environmental Psychologists Not considered appropriate for this guide N 

Poor presentation and communication 
undermines message 

The presentation of the document has been 
re-visited. 

Y 

Masterplans "must" (not "should") promote 
walking, cycling and public transport… 

The language throughout the document has 
been amended. 

Y 

Not radical enough to achieve stated aims 
Guide is in line with national guidance and 

gives realistic options to achieve aims 
N 

Do more to prioritise use of streets by cyclists 
and pedestrians, minimise emissions and car 

use. 

We have revisited guide to promote 
LTN1/20 for this reason 

Y 

P
age 492



Fails to use current best practice and falls below 
standards required to support walking, cycling 

and high-quality design. 

Guide is in line with national policy and 
improves upon previous local standards 

N 

Does not reduce space for motorised vehicles 
enough. 

Guide prioritises walking and cycling 
infrastructure 

Y 

Still car-centric, need to emphasise active travel. 
No indication active travel will be improved in 

existing areas. 

Guide prioritises walking and cycling 
infrastructure. It follows the user hierarchy 

set out in Manual for Streets. 
Y 

Segregated lanes for cyclists. 
Segregated cycle lanes will be used when 

appropriate in line with LTN 1/20 
N 

Emphasis on fewer cars and fewer parking 
places. Facilities for car clubs. 

All are supported within the guide N 

Full of "cut and paste" waffle. 
The language throughout the document has 

been amended. 
Y 

Does not join up with Manual for Streets and 
OCC's policies on LTNs and Active Travel. 

This has been revisited to ensure guide is in 
line with policies mentioned 

Y 

Car-centric, not focussed on needs of all other 
street users. 

The language within the guide has been 
reassessed to ensure priority for sustainable 

travel has been made clearer. 
Y 

No reference how it joins up to disparate needs 
of District Councils. 

This is covered sufficiently within guide N 

Does not address connectivity between existing 
and new residential areas or reduce the use of 

cars. 

The revision of the guide addresses this 
point. 

Y 

Streets should not be dominated by traffic to be 
"attractive". Should feel safe for peds, cyclists 

and the disabled. 

User hierarchy added to further promote 
sustainable travel for all 

Y 

Layout should inherently discourage car use, 
and encourage active, sustainable modes. 

Guide has been revisited to further 
promoted active travel 

Y 

P
age 493



The example Masterplan has a street layout that 
would discourage walking and cycling. Not in 

line with Manual for Streets which offers 
conceptual layouts the Guide does not adopt. 

Demo Masterplan now removed Y 

Language is weak, e.g. "should refer to" cycling 
design standards. Instead should state designs 

will be rejected if they do not comply. 

The language throughout the document has 
been amended. 

Y 

Aspirational but no enforceable standards. 
Guide will be adopted so will have some 

weight in planning decisions. 
N 

Car use and dependency central to the 
document e.g. two car parks shown next to a 

school in the plan. 
Guide revisited to promote active travel Y 

Language is too vague and non-committal. 
The language throughout the document has 

been amended. 
Y 

Potential conflicts with MfS and LTN 1/20, both 
of which are more ambitious and detailed. 

Should be made clear that MfS is the leading 
document and the guide is for local clarification 

only. 

This has been revisited to ensure guide is in 
line with policies mentioned 

Y 

No directive to apply the recommended design. 
Guide will be adopted so will have some 

weight in planning decisions. 
N 

Many aspirational features are a little dated. 
The features throughout have been checked 

against the latest guidance available 
N 

Little guidance for updating existing streets. 
The guide is for new developments but can 
be used on existing streets alongside other 

policy documents 
N 

Fundamentally fails to meet criteria in Manual 
for Streets and OCC Active Travel and LTNs. 

This guide is in line with policies mentioned N 

Cycleways not always perceived by other users, 
so better if cyclists can afford the primary route. 

Cycle guidance in guide now in line with 
LTN 1/20 

Y 

P
age 494



Footways wider than 2m desirable in some 
places, e.g. near schools etc. 

This would be looked at on a case-by-case 
basis at the time of al planning application 

N 

Where higher flows, reversing on to primary 
route should be discouraged. 

This will be looked at but difficult to enforce 
in practise 

N 

If followed, will lead to more attractive streets, 
but not certain it will actually make a difference. 

Guide will be adopted so will have some 
weight in planning decisions. 

N 

Needs to follow hierarchy of peds, cycles, public 
transport then vehicles. Too car-orientated. 

A user hierarchy has been added in line 
with Manual for Streets 

Y 

A high-quality street needs a balance between 
place, movement, legibility, adaptability, 

resilience and safety. 
Agreed, the guide covers these points. N 

Very limited in scope, needs more emphasis on 
context and function. 

Functionality has been covered throughout 
and is an important element of streets, not 

sure what is meant by context 
N 

Too much about process and not enough about 
the technical issues that must be overcome. 

We purposely did not make the language 
too technical so it could be understood by a 

range of different users. The process is 
often mis-understood and was a key part of 

the document from an early stage. 

N 

P
age 495



Partly agree - We agree that the Design Guide 
is helpful in setting out some guidance on what 
developers and urban designers should not do. 

However, we consider that significant 
amendments are required. The document 

attempts to cover areas of design related to 
streets but does not achieve this in a way which 
would clearly assist developers, applicants or 

officers successfully, and it may be contradictory 
to best practice. The language used throughout , 

excluding a few technical sections referring to 
specific standards, is in some cases ambiguous, 

unclear or contradictory. 
 

The guide should also do more to highlight 
which document takes precedence where there 

is a conflict with local guidance - presumably 
this should be the local Design Guide as it is the 
local guide that will consider the character of the 

area? 

The language throughout the document has 
been amended to make the requirements 

clearer. We have made further reference to 
other policies including more of an 

emphasis on Manual for Streets and LTN 
1/20. Agree that the District Council Design 
Guide will carry greater weight, this is clear 

within our document. 

Y 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
  

P
age 496



 
 

Question 2.  The Design Guide will encourage new developments to reduce emissions, 
enhance air quality and support the transition to a low carbon economy 

Modifications to Design 
Guide? Y/N 

 

Summary of Comments Officer Response  

Road layout should discourage rat-runs for cars 
between major roads 

We have included further information on 
modal filters within the guide 

Y 

Should promote reduced parking and set 
maximum parking requirement. 

This will be covered by a separate Parking 
Standards document. 

N 

Switch to electric cars will not fix C02 emissions 
or wider issues. 

Whilst we include design for electric cars, 
the emphasis is on promoting active travel. 

N 

Charging points must not block pedestrian and 
cycle access. 

This has been looked at and amended 
where necessary. 

Y 

Frideswide Square (and Poynton Junction) are 
poor examples as contain no cycling provision. 
Some aspects make cycling more dangerous. 

Frideswide Square is included as an 
example of reallocating street space, giving 

more space to pedestrians whilst also 
allowing the free movement of vehicles. 

N 

Will achieve this if it can be enforced. 
Without legal backup, encouragement is not 

enough. 

This guide will be adopted so will have 
weight. 

N 

Will achieve the aims if it leads to decisions 
being carried out. 

Guide will be adopted so will have some 
weight in planning decisions 

N 

Active and Sustainable travel must be prioritised, 
not just promoted. 

Agree, this has been made clearer in the 
guide 

Y 

Ease of Movement statement altered to prioritise 
sustainable transport and physical activity i.e. 
continuous footpaths and narrowed junctions. 

This has been looked at further and 
improved. 

Y 

P
age 497



Good introduction to High Quality Streets but 
fails to use this approach. 

Comment needs to be more specific N 

Maps do not depict public realm or show true 
permeability for active travel, instead walking 

and cycling routes are alongside car 
infrastructure. 

Modal filters and Local Traffic 
Neighbourhoods have been introduced in 

the latest draft. 
Y 

Wrong to expect car ownership to reduce - will 
stay the same or increase. Have to provide for 

this. 

Not in line with national and local trends or 
policy. 

N 

Achieving these aims requires a reduction in car 
use. 

This is one of the key aims of the guide. N 

Focusses in making car use and parking 
"prettier". 

Comment needs to be more specific N 

Road provision for bikes is minimal. 
Further provision has been included whilst 

also adding further links to LTN 1/20 
Y 

Do more to prioritise use of streets by cyclists 
and pedestrians, minimise emissions and car 

use. 

Guide prioritises walking and cycling 
infrastructure. It follows the user hierarchy 

set out in Manual for Streets. 
Y 

Is substandard; won't achieve high standards, 
best practice, improvements to air quality, 

provision for walking and cycling 

The guide is in line with current standards 
and policy. 

N 

Only if accompanied by strict emissions controls. Outside the remit of this guide N 

Emphasis on the car means that it will not 
achieve these aims. 

The prioritisation of sustainable travel has 
been made clearer in the current revision. 

Y 

Completely car-centric. Does not link up with 
OCC policies or Manual for Streets. 

This has been revisited to ensure guide is in 
line with policies mentioned 

Y 

Little about Active Travel connectivity to 
surrounding areas. 

Should require, as a condition, that Active Travel 
Network Planning is undertaken with LHA, as 
stated in Govt. Cycling and Walking Strategy. 

Current revision discusses the need to look 
at routes comprehensively. 

Y 

P
age 498



Does not discourage car use or encourage 
walking and cycling enough. 

The prioritisation of sustainable travel has 
been made clearer in the current revision. 

Y 

Language is weak, guidelines can be ignored, 
must be standards to achieve safe streets. 

The language throughout the document has 
been amended. 

Y 

Could be linked to housing density - higher 
standards for walkers and cyclists in denser 

developments. 

This is reflected in LTN 1/20 which the 
guide supports. 

N 

Car sharing should be promoted. Car sharing is supported N 

No approval unless walking and cycling paths to 
key facilities. 

 
 

This occurs through the planning process 
 
 

N 

Continued norms of car-based activity, only 
'encouraging' or 'promoting' cycling. 

The language throughout the document has 
been amended to make our commitment to 

sustainable travel clearer. 
Y 

Much consideration to accommodating parking 
but little to address the need for car use. 

Will do nothing to reduce car dependency and 
reduce emissions. 

The prioritisation of sustainable travel has 
been made clearer in the current revision. 

Y 

Remains focussed on motor vehicles. Needs to 
be more prescriptive. 

Revisited to further promote active travel 
above car use but car use has to be catered 

for and design for currently. 
Y 

Does not adopt best practices and policies. 
No evidence that it will achieve these aims. 

This has been looked at and amended 
where necessary. 

Y 

Off-street private parking will facilitate EV 
charging. 

EV section has been amended Y 

Agreed planning restrictions must prevent 
conversion of garages. 

Not within the remit of the design guide N 

Where peds cross a cycleway away from a 
junction, tactile paving must not be L-shaped 

(illustration is incorrect p.23). 

This has been corrected in the current 
version. 

Y 

Must be sufficient space for people waiting at 
bus stops (incl. mobility scooters etc.) 

this will be taken into account during design N 

P
age 499



Main thrust is hierarchy of roads and how to park 
all the cars. 

The prioritisation of sustainable travel has 
been made clearer in the current revision. 

Y 

Does not address route design for peds and 
cyclists. 

Comment needs to be more specific N 

Secure cycle storage is noted, but more crucial 
for expensive e-bikes. 

This is being added to guide Y 

EV charging that does not obstruct or clutter 
streets. 

EV section has been amended Y 

Too weak to deliver these aims. 
The language throughout the document has 

been amended. 
Y 

Aims are wrong, should be "zero" not "low" 
carbon. 

The current revision refers to zero carbon. Y 

Landscaping considerations may override 
integration of new development and sustainable 

travel. 

Balance is sought between landscaping and 
movement 

N 

Partly agree. We consider that the sections on 
additional landscaping, street trees, SUDS etc. 
and provision for electric cars will help support 

this. However, we would like to see more 
information provided on how to deliver these 

within schemes. 

A balance needs to be struck between 
provision of guidance without being too 
prescriptive to allow discussions to take 

place between officers and developers. The 
solution for each site is in many cases 

unique. 

N 

 
  

P
age 500



 
 

Question 3.  The guidance encourages provision of sustainable transport for people 
with differing abilities. 

 

Summary of Comments Officer Response 
Modifications to Design Guide? 

Y/N 
 

Cyclists likely to be "doored" if bike lanes not 
separated from car parking. 

Use of cycle lanes has been discussed 
with our cycling officer and is in line with 

LTN1/20. A buffer of 0.5m is afforded 
between cycle lane and car parking. 

N 

No provision for cargo bike parking. This has now been added. Y 

More should be done. Comment needs to be more specific. N 

Segregated cycle routes wherever possible. 
Dropped kerb/stepped cycle lanes where not 

possible (e.g. crossovers) 

The use of cycle routes will be determined 
in line with LTN 1/20 

N 

Not just buses; trains, trams and smaller buses 
too. 

Trams are not planned in Oxfordshire 
within the LTCP and although the 

increased use of trains is supported, these 
do not typically impact on streets, hence 
they are not mentioned within the design 

guide. 

N 

Upstairs on double-deckers not suitable for older 
people. 

This is noted; however, double decker 
buses are considered appropriate for 

busier routes to carry a larger number of 
passengers. Most buses provide priority 
seating for elderly and mobility impaired 

users on the lower level of the bus. 

N 

Ideally all cycle tracks separate from the road. 
Roundabouts should be "Dutch" style with 

provision for cycle tracks. 

The use of cycle routes will be determined 
in line with LTN 1/20 

N 

P
age 501



Pavement widths are too narrow. 
This is in line with MfS and Inclusive 

Mobility and is generally considered a 
minimum. 

N 

2m insufficient for mobility scooters, wheelchairs 
and other mobility aids. Also social distancing. 

This is in line with MfS and Inclusive 
Mobility and is generally considered a 

minimum. MfS shows the widths of 
different users. 

N 

Pavements should be level (disability-friendly), 
not sloping for driveways. 

This would not enable cars to access 
driveway so has not been carried forward. 

N 

Preference for driving over walking and cycling, 
unnecessarily wide carriageways. 

The prioritisation of sustainable travel has 
been made clearer in the current revision 

Y 

Yes, but other important elements not 
mentioned: 

- Need to adopt LTN 1/20 and be explicit about 
that. 

- Not enough mention of public transport. 
- Consideration of micro-mobility e.g. e-bikes, 

cargo bikes, e-scooters, not just regular cycles. 

This has been revisited to ensure guide is 
in line with policies mentioned. Further 
information added for micro-mobility. 

Y 

Primary Streets section has no consideration for 
wheelchair users or other adapted transport. 
Dropped kerbs difficult for most vulnerable 

users. 

The guide is in line with Inclusive Mobility N 

Principle on Movement and Access should 
include children. 

Agreed and the design guide considers 
different users 

N 

Recommend reference to Urban95, 8-80 Cities 
and Living Streets. 

Not considered appropriate N 

Much is about car traffic and parking. Nothing 
about transport for people with physical or 

mental disabilities. 

The prioritisation of sustainable travel has 
been made clearer in the current revision 

Y 

Do more to prioritise use of streets by cyclists 
and pedestrians, minimise emissions and car 

use. 

The prioritisation of sustainable travel has 
been made clearer in the current revision 

Y 

P
age 502



Substandard and misses a major opportunity. Comment needs to be more specific N 

User groups should have been consulted before. 

Several workshops with different 
stakeholder groups were held and this 

consultation sought to engage 
stakeholders. 

N 

Emphasis on the car does not indicate provision 
of sustainable transport for people with differing 

abilities. Token support, nothing meaningful. 

The prioritisation of sustainable travel has 
been made clearer in the current revision 

Y 

No reference to other authorities that are doing it 
well. 

No reference to research. 

The guide refers to District Council 
guidance and national guidance 

N 

Does not set out what good design principles 
are. 

This is covered on pages 14 and 15 N 

Weak language will not ensure good practice is 
followed. 

The language throughout the document 
has been amended. 

Y 

No standards, and the discussed provision is 
insufficient. 

e-bikes, scooters and cars difficult for deaf 
people. 

Where are the Dutch principles? 

The document will be an adopted guide, 
therefore will have weight in planning 

decisions. The guide has been written in 
line with Inclusive Mobility considering the 

needs of users with varying abilities.  
The guide has been brought in line with 

current national guidance and standards. 

Y 

'encouraged' mirrors the weak and aspirational 
tone. 

The language throughout the document 
has been amended. 

Y 

Substandard provision for all people. 
The guide has been written in line with 

Inclusive Mobility considering the needs of 
users with varying abilities. 

N 

Woolly, doesn't deal with interconnected 
communities very well. 

Current revision discusses the need to 
look at routes comprehensively. 

Y 

Does not adopt established best practice. 
Guide is in line with current national 

guidance and standards. 
N 

P
age 503



No evidence it will encourage provision of 
sustainable transport for differing abilities. 

The guide has been written in line with 
Inclusive Mobility considering the needs of 

users with varying abilities 
N 

Designers should consult with a member of the 
National Register of Access Consultants. 

Not considered relevant. N 

D&AS should include inclusion issues and 
decisions. 

This document does not cover the content 
of DAS. 

N 

Site levelled and ramps/steps avoided if 
possible. 

Agree, however, this is not always 
possible. 

N 

Parking for disabled persons assessed and 
enforced. 

This will be set out in parking standards 
document. 

N 

People with visual impairment must be 
considered for all streets, especially shared 

surfaces. 

The guide has been written in line with 
Inclusive Mobility considering the needs of 

users with varying abilities 
N 

Approach is hierarchy of roads, not movement of 
peds and cyclists. 

User hierarchy has been added prioritising 
pedestrians and cyclists. 

Y 

No discussion on access to school by walking or 
cycling, only car access. 

School section has been updated to reflect 
the need to prioritise walking and cycling. 

Y 

Insufficient emphasis on public transport for 
people of all abilities. 

We have tried to add more into the guide 
to cater for all needs 

Y 

Inclusive design issues not addressed. 
The guide has been written in line with 

Inclusive Mobility considering the needs of 
users with varying abilities 

N 

Cyclists and drivers given more priority than 
pedestrians. 

We believe that the guide requires streets 
to be designed to give priority to 

pedestrians and cyclists. 
N 

Young and able-bodied given more priority than 
elderly, visually- and mobility -impaired. 

The guide has been written in line with 
Inclusive Mobility considering the needs of 

users with varying abilities 
N 

P
age 504



Partly agree - the document contains some 
positive messages about the anticipated modal 
shift bought about by encouraging change from 
the use of the private car to more sustainable 
methods of transport (page 35). However, the 

Guide doesn't explain how this will be achieved. 
For example, there is little articulation of key 

topics including modal shift, pedestrianisation, 
design of shared surfaces, cycle lanes and 

routes, electric bikes and scooters and electric 
vehicle charging points. If cycle use increases 

will it be possible to expand cycle lanes on 
primary routes? Will there be an increase in the 
use of electric bikes and scooters for example 

and will future schemes be able to 
accommodate this? 

 
These are all key topics which a SPD on street 
design could address. The document should set 
out the specific technical standards sought by 

the County along with new innovative strategies 
on these subjects, explained, and illustrated 

within the document. 
 

We also have a concern regarding the approach 
to be taken by OCC within the document around 

increasing unallocated on-street parking for 
dwellings. We consider that in some locations 
this could increase the potential for on-street 
congestion and parking disputes. This is also 
counter intuitive from the design rationale of 

modal shift and sustainability. From a 
developer's perspective, this would most likely 
(unless in high density areas) make schemes 

less viable. 

This guide sits under LTP4 and the 
emerging LTCP and therefore the policy 
background in relation to modal shift is 

contained within these documents. 
The guide comprehensively covers street 
design with provision for pedestrians and 
cyclists in line with Inclusive Mobility and 

Local Transport Note 1/20. It also 
discusses the flexibility of design which is 
why on-street parking is encouraged as 
this space may be given over to other 

uses as car use decreases. 
The revision covers e-bikes and e-

scooters. 
It is envisaged that there will be a 

reduction in car use in the future and a 
shift towards sustainable transport which 
is the reason for seeking to create more 

on-street parking which can be converted 
to other uses in the future. This is 

supported by national policies and the 
LTP4 / LTCP. 

Y 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 505



 
 

Question 4.  The Design Guide allows for design freedom and innovation, whilst setting clear guiding principles. 

Summary of Comments Officer Response 
Modifications to Design Guide? 

Y/N 
 

Looks nice, but how will it improve traffic? 
The prioritisation of sustainable travel has 
been made clearer in the current revision 

Y 

Street lighting should use LED bulbs. Pale 
yellow better than bright white. 

Light-free areas good for stargazing. 

The decision over which bulbs are used is 
made by the Street Lighting team which 

make these decisions based on a number 
on considerations. There are several light 
free areas within the county which do not 
include street lighting in new schemes. 

N 

Hard to tell how much developers will take notice 
unless they have to. 

The document will be an adopted guide, 
therefore will have weight in planning 

decisions. 
N 

Guiding principles do not support or direct 
innovation. 

We have included more information on 
innovation to help support developers 

Y 

Recommend direction to: 
Urban95, 8-80 Cities, Arup "Cities Alive", Sport 
England/Grosvenor Voice Opportunity Power, 

Lucy Saunders' Healthy Streets, Sustrans, 
CROW Manual 

The revision refers to Healthy Streets Y 

Allows freedom for developers to do as they 
please. 

Does not set guiding principles to achieve stated 
aims. 

The document will be an adopted guide, 
therefore will have weight in planning 

decisions. 
N 

Do more to prioritise use of streets by cyclists 
and pedestrians, minimise emissions and car 

use. 
The guide prioritises walking and cycling. N 

We all need to be free of pollution Agreed, the guide will help achieve this. N 

P
age 506



Best practice for cycleways to be followed, e.g. 
Amsterdam-style roundabouts, where cyclists 

give way no more than other vehicles 
The guide is in line with LTN1/20 N 

Does not meet local and national policies and 
standards. 

Does not adopt current best practice. 

The guide is in line with national and local 
policy and standards. 

N 

Does not set clear requirements.  
Language is hopeful, developers can ignore it. 

The language throughout the document 
has been amended. The prioritisation of 

sustainable travel has been made clearer 
in the current revision 

Y 

Not very strong in this ambition. 
Hopes and aspirations rather than saying what 
will happen if plans do not achieve the ambition. 

The prioritisation of sustainable travel has 
been made clearer in the current revision 

Y 

Guiding principles are not clear. 
Perpetuates out-of-date thinking and weak 

requests that national design guides 'should be 
referred to'. 

The guide is in line with national and local 
policy and standards. The guide requires it 

to be read in conjunction with national 
guidance as listed within the document. 

Y 

Allows design freedom and innovation without 
restriction. Guiding principles should be replaced 

by standards. 

The language throughout the document 
has been amended. 

Y 

Allows a great deal of freedom due to lack of 
focus on strong principles. 

No reason it will drive innovation, more likely to 
allow a lack of innovation to continue. 

e.g. upper limit on footpath width (p. 22, 1.8-
2.0m) 

The language throughout the document 
has been amended. The footway widths 
are in line with current national guidance. 

N 

Some suggestions are good but not worded 
strongly enough. 

The language throughout the document 
has been amended. 

Y 

Does not set clear guiding principles but 
provides examples of typical existing practice. 

The guide is in line with national and local 
policy and standards. 

N 

P
age 507



Reference must be made to other documents: 
> DfT 'Inclusive Mobility Guidance' 

> Guidance on the use of tactile paving surfaces 
> English Heritage "Streets for All" 
> DfT 'Accessible Public Transport 

Infrastructure, Guidelines for the design of 
Interchanges, Terminals and Stops' 

This has been revisited to ensure guide is 
in line with policies mentioned 

Y 

List of principles (p. 15) not carried through into 
the details, e.g. Sustainable Transport 

Set of ideas rather than mandatory 
improvements. 

This has been looked at and amended 
where necessary. 

Y 

Most developers will do as little as they can get 
away with. Only firm guidance will deliver the 

innovation. 

The document will be an adopted guide, 
therefore will have weight in planning 

decisions 
N 

Some material from old guide should be retained 
or improved - balance between innovation and 

risk. 
Comment needs more detail N 

Being a source of inspiration rather than a set of 
rules is welcomed, however it is inconsistent and 

mandatory requirements should be removed 
unless safety related. 

Comment needs more detail N 

P
age 508



Comment - We agree that the guidance puts the 
onus back on the developer to be flexible. 

However, we consider that the guidance is too 
open ended as it doesn't provide information 

about what will be accepted by the County. We 
have provided detailed examples of where we 

consider this should be addressed below. 
 

The document should narrow its focus to the 
technical design of streets, with reference to 

design aspects which accompany this, 
sustainablility, landscape, drainage, lighting, 

services and refuse. 
 

Whilst doing so, where providing or encouraging 
designs approaches, the County must take 

explicitly clear via supporting text and diagrams, 
what the Highway Authority is able to adopt. This 

requires addressing through revisions to the 
document. 

 
There is also very limited reference to the 

National Design Guide, so reference to this 
should be included. 

The guidance provides examples of street 
design and sets out the basic standards 
expected within streets. However, there 
needs to be a balance between overly 

prescriptive and allowing for flexibility in 
design to reflect local characteristics, etc. 

The examples of street design clearly 
show the adoptable areas and features. 
Reference to National Design Code now 

included. 

Y 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

P
age 509



 

Question 5.  Is there any element you feel is factually incorrect or difficult to 
understand? 

Modifications to Design Guide? 
Y/N 

 

Summary of Comments Officer Response  

To avoid confusion and be consistent with LTN 
1/20 it is best to refer to on-carriageway 

infrastructure as lanes and segregated or 
stepped as tracks. 

The use of cycle routes will be determined 
in line with LTN 1/20 

Y 

Bright white LED are intrusive and more like 
floodlighting than streetlighting. 

Street Lighting team determines lighting 
with each application 

N 

Hard to tell how much developers will take 
notice unless they have to. 

The document will be an adopted guide, 
therefore will have weight in planning 

decisions 
N 

The maps in Part 2 do not depict any of the 
innovative, people-focused use of public realm 

that is referred to in Part 3, undermining the 
messaging of prioritising streets for people. 

This has been looked at and amended 
where necessary. 

Y 

Large elements are simply incorrect More information is required N 

Clearly written and reasonably concise. This is one of the key aims of the guide. N 

Why aren't you doing more to prioritise cyclists 
and peds, minimise emissions and car use? 

The prioritisation of sustainable travel has 
been made clearer in the current revision 

Y 

Claims are bogus More information is required N 

No proper commitment to Low Traffic 
Neighbourhoods or low speed limits 

The guide is designed for 20mph speed 
limits. Revision discusses LTNs  and modal 

filters. 
Y 

P
age 510



Nothing about what improvements are to be 
made to existing streets. 

This guide is for new developments, but 
there are relevant sections and principles 
which will assist in re-designing existing 

streets 

N 

Would be enhanced by presentation of facts 
relating to best practice. 

Further information required N 

No mention of interconnectivity between 
settlements and how to be addressed. 

The focus of this guide is streets within new 
developments. However, developers are 

required to assess and improve walking and 
cycling routes beyond the development 

deemed appropriate 

Y 

Existing streets or just new ones? 

This guide is for new developments, but 
there are relevant sections and principles 
which will assist in re-designing existing 

streets 

N 

Parking for bicycles and other non-motorised 
vehicles. 

This is covered within the guide N 

Which types of trees are allowed and which 
ones not allowed? 

This will be covered by separate guidance 
which will form an annex to the guide later 

on 
N 

Bizarre that Manual for Streets is barely 
mentioned 

Included further reference to MfS Y 

Difficult to understand how it will ensure 
developers comply with guidelines 

The document will be an adopted guide, 
therefore will have weight in planning 

decisions 
N 

Fails to reflect Manual for Streets and other 
OCC policies. 

Conflicts with other policies will make it difficult 
to understand. 

Included further reference to MfS Y 

Footways incorrectly identified as "footpaths". 
This has been corrected in the current 

revision 
Y 

P
age 511



Recommended locations of swales in streets 
are needed. 

Too specific for this guide but further 
guidance could be provided as an annex to 

the guide 
N 

Larger diagrams would be easier to 
understand. 

Noted Y 

Not clear where this fits in relation to DC design 
guides. 

Designed to be read alongside district 
guides 

N 

Is it applicable to existing as well as new 
developments? 

This guide is for new developments, but 
there are relevant sections and principles 
which will assist in re-designing existing 

streets 

N 

Encourage community's social interaction 
through street design guidelines 

We feel this has been encouraged through 
the guide by allowing space for interaction 

N 

Poor provision for cycling. 
Further provision has been included whilst 

also adding further links to LTN 1/20 
Y 

Street hierarchy should not be deemed 
essential (have moved on since DB32). 

Manual for Streets recommends that a user 
and street hierarchy is established 

N 

LTN 1/20 has core design principles. Advises 
against tokenism; the guide is tokenistic. 

Guide is in line with LTN 1/20 N 

Give consideration to separate routes for 
different modes. 

This would be decided on a case by case 
basis 

N 

Parking reference material is very dated. Best 
addressed at District level. 

Parking numbers will be set out in separate 
parking standards document. Detail around 
parking is up to date and should be used 

across county rather than individual 
districts. 

N 

P
age 512



Guidance on shared surfaces is vague and 
should be expanded in light of the withdrawal of 

government guidance. 

Guide is in line with government guidance 
over shared surfaces 

N 

It is important that the contents of the County 
Council's Guide complements and does not 

contradict guidance set out in our own Design 
Guide, otherwise it may result in confusion for 
officers at our Councils as well as developers. 

 
The Council's Landscaping Officer has 

commented that the document is easy to 
understand and follow. However, it could 
helpfully be amended to address some 

recurring issues, not fully expored in this draft 
guidance, which come up during the process of 
commenting on planning applications and the 
cooridnation of District planning application 

process wih the County Highways processes 
including Section 38 adoption. The Oxfordshire 

Street Design guidance could help remove 
areas of conflict when we assess schemes, but 
while the document does touch on many of the 
themes it does not currently provide sufficient 
details to help inform developers to avoid the 

key issues that often arise. 
 

Our specialist Officers have also requested that 
additional advice should be included regarding 

S278 highways works. Often these are not 
addressed at the planning stages and left until 
afterwards, the end result being the full impact 
of the development is not being assessed at 

the panning application stage. Emphasising in 
the Guide the need to provide this information 

Agreed. We are looking to produce more 
guidance as an annex to this guide on 
landscaping. We are also working on a 

Materials and Standard Details specification 
document which will form an annex to this 

document. 

 

P
age 513



at the planning stage could help to address this 
matter and set developers expectations. 

 
 
 

P
age 514



 
 

Question 6.  Any further comments? 

Summary of Comments Officer Response 
Modifications to Design Guide? 

Y/N 
 

Worried about bikes being doored by 
passengers if cycle track alongside parked 

cars. 

A buffer of 0.5m is afforded between cycle 
lane and car parking. 

N 

Need to consider parking for cargo bikes, could 
it be in a car parking space? 

This has now been added. Y 

Encouraging to see segregated cycle lanes. 
The use of cycle routes will be determined 

in line with LTN 1/20 
N 

Include something about right of way - should 
not give way at side roads. 

Cycles should only give way where cars do too. 

Further provision has been included whilst 
also adding further links to LTN 1/20 

Y 

Unenforceable guidelines will not achieve 
anything. 

The document will be an adopted guide, 
therefore will have weight in planning 

decisions 
N 

Doesn't show how existing narrow congested 
areas will be improved. 

Cowley Road in particular, what are the plans 
for that? 

This guide is for new developments, but 
there are relevant sections and principles 
which will assist in re-designing existing 

streets 

N 

Need to reference other relevant design 
manuals. 

E.g. Sustrans Handbook for Cycle Friendly 
Design (note, I cannot find this on Sustrans 

website so may be superseded, but is available 
at https://bicycleinfrastructuremanuals.com 

The guide has been reviewed against 
relevant policies and amended where 

considered necessary. A list of documents 
that this guide should be read in conjunction 

with has been provided at the start of the 
guide. 

Y 

A welcome concept that must lead to safer 
road and pathway usage. 

Covered most things, Congratulations! 
This is one of the key aims of the guide. N 

P
age 515



Roundabouts, especially if no signals or cycle 
provision, should be discouraged as incredibly 

hard to make them safe for cyclists. 

The use of roundabouts will be decided on a 
case by case basis depending on benefits 

N 

Sets out a great vision but will only ever be that 
without legal force compelling developers to 

comply with the requirements. 

The document will be an adopted guide, 
therefore will have weight in planning 

decisions 
N 

Please check out Lily Berheimer's book "The 
Shaping of US", about the role of psychology in 
designing built environments that are good for 

wellbeing and community. 

Noted N 

Needs more to discourage car ownership and 
have green and public transport options by 

default. 

Revisited to further promote active travel 
above car use 

Y 

Should prioritise walking, then cycling, 
sustainable public transport, taxis and cars. 

User hierarchy has been added Y 

Car-centric guide does not promote alternative 
social infrastructure in public realm, such as 

parklets, street furniture etc. 

Revisited to further promote active travel 
above car use 

Y 

Has old-fashioned hierarchy of streets rather 
than hierarchy of users as per manual for 

Streets and LTN 1/20. 

Manual for Streets recommends that a user 
and street hierarchy is established 

N 

Requires significant rework Comment needs to be more specific N 

Should not be building large numbers of 
houses in the countryside. Will inevitably 

depend on car transport. 
Not the purpose of this guide N 

Do more to prioritise use of streets by cyclists 
and pedestrians, minimise emissions and car 

use. 

Revisited to further promote active travel 
above car use 

Y 

Why are you not following best practice and 
standards? 

Comment needs to be more specific N 

P
age 516



Cycle ways beside parked cars are vulnerable 
to car doors being opened. 

A buffer of 0.5m is afforded between cycle 
lane and car parking. 

N 

Cycleways need to be suitable for all users, 
without pinch points or give-ways. 

Use of cycle lanes has been discussed with 
our cycling officer and is in line with 

LTN1/20. 
N 

Trying to invent new solutions to problems that 
were solved in Amsterdam years ago. 

Comment needs to be more specific N 

Should state that Manual for Streets is the 
guide of choice. 

Further reference to MfS has been added Y 

Guide is muddled and lacking in strength. 
Recommends guide is withdrawn and re-

written. 

The guide has been subject to wide 
consultation and a Critical Friend Review. 

The guide has been revised following these 
consultations. 

Y 

No more shared ped/cycle areas like 
Frideswide Square as dangerous to both. 

Shared surface policy is in line with 
government guidance 

N 

School drop-off areas (p.40) are wrong; should 
be free of traffic around school with parking 

well away. 

Walking and cycling to school wil be 
prioritised. 

N 

Profoundly disappointed how it falls short of 
expectations. 

Comment needs to be more specific N 

Doesn't follow Manual for Streets or 
national/county policies on active travel. 

Further reference to MfS has been added Y 

Masterplan will perpetuate poor quality car-
centric designs. 

Masterplan has been removed Y 

The language is weak. Standards should be a 
condition of planning consent, not "referred to", 

as will be ignored. 

Language throughout guide has been 
revisited 

Y 

Must be a set of standards, ref. Manual for 
Streets. Further reference to MfS has been added Y 

P
age 517



Additional standards for rural Oxfordshire. 
Longer travel distances to work so integrated 
public transport needed to discourage car-

dependency. 

Each site has to be assessed on its own 
merits. The guide covers more general 

areas which are common to urban and rural 
developments. 

N 

Suggested standards: 
>all streets have footpaths on both sides 

>all streets to include traffic calming 
>no rat runs 

>15mph speed limit of streets and cycle paths 
>%age area allowance for green space/play 

areas/tree planting/allotments 
>play areas to have railings 

>off-footway bin storage and car parking 
>no right-angle bends on cycle paths 

>provision for car clubs 

This has been looked at and amended 
where necessary. Footway provision is in 
line with Manual for Streets and Inclusive 

Mobility. The guide requires all streets to be 
designed to 20mph. The guide now 

presents Modal Filters and Low Traffic 
Neighbourhoods. The guide does not cover 
bin storage, play areas and green spaces in 

detail as these are District matters. 

N 

> "very large cycle stores" (p.38) devalues the 
necessity. Inefficient use of land for car parking 

not mentioned. Active travel needs much 
higher status. 

Noted. N 

> "where practically feasible" (p.23) What are 
feasibility criteria? Active travel provision can 

be limited by such wording and loopholes. 
Reference has been taken out Y 

> Guide accepts parking as fundamental part 
of housing development. Measures needed to 
reduce car dependency, not crude restrictions 

on parking availability. 

Reducing level of parking assists in 
reducing car dependency alongside other 

measures 
N 

Needs to be part of a more holistic plan. 
The guide sits under LTCP and alongside 

other local and national guidance 
N 

Needs to incorporate existing, more advanced 
manuals. 

The guide sits under LTCP and alongside 
other local and national guidance. Further 

guidance on Materials and Standard details 
are due to be published as an annex to this 

guide in the future. Detail on other topic 
areas may also form further annexes. 

N 

P
age 518



I urge that the draft be withdrawn and 
reconsidered. 

Comment needs to be more specific N 

P. 14 should read “Understands and addresses 
the needs of all potential users, including 

disabled people, to ensure inclusive design” 

Disabled people are considered within all 
users 

N 

No mention of cycleways and paths/alleyways 
that are not alongside a road. 

Comment not clear.  

No provision for vehicle deliveries, which will 
become more commonplace. 

Provision of delivery vehicle tracking under 
Further Advice section 

N 

Flexible, collaborative and innovative approach 
is welcomed. 

This is one of the key aims of the guide. N 

Should place greater emphasis on innovative 
solutions to street design and development 

management and operation, particularly refuse 
collection and servicing. 

Included further section on innovation and 
its uses going forward 

Y 

Should not set fixed 'rules' about the design 
approach but be informed by local context. 

We have tried to keep approach flexible but 
there must also be set standards where 

appropriate 
N 

Flexible and pragmatic approach to street 
geometry is supported but reference back to 

MfS geometries undermines this. Needs to be 
clearer on the approach and standards OCC 

will apply and adopt. 

The guide endorses Manual for Streets but 
each development will be assessed on its 
own merits. The adoptable areas of each 
street example is shown within the guide. 

N 

Agree that innovative and flexible approach to 
parking strategies should be applied. 

This is one of the key aims of the guide. N 

Needs greater technical guidance to ensure 
consistency at different stages i.e. pre-

planning, planning applications, S278/S38 to 
minimise risk and support delivery. 

Further technical guidance will be produced 
separately 

N 

P
age 519



Written Responses in Full  

 

South and Vale District Council  
 

 
Document 

Section 
Key Themes for Objections or 

Concerns 
Officer Response 

 

Modifications to Design Guide? Y/N 

 

 
Replies to online consultation 

questions dealt with separately. 
  

Foreword 
How will it fit with DC Design 

Guides and National Design Guide 

The Foreword has been amended 
to refer to national and local 

guidance 
Y 

Purpose of 

the Guide 

Focus should narrow to the 

technical design of streets 
The focus is considered appropriate N 

 
Transition to ‘net zero-carbon 

Oxfordshire by 2050’ 

Corporate documents refer to ‘zero 
carbon’ as per Oxfordshire County 

Council ‘Climate Action Framework’ 

Y 

This is 
Oxfordshire 

Inappropriate photo of parked cars This photo has been replaced Y 

The 5 Districts 
Relationship to National Design 

Guidance 

This is now covered in more detail in 

the updated Guide 
Y 

What do we 
want to 

achieve? 

Intent is blurred, combines 
masterplanning and street design 

The objectives have been refined Y 

Collaboration 
from the 

outset 

Planning process diagram 
considered unnecessary 

Decided to leave in Guide as 
demonstrates the interaction 

between different parties and likely 

timescales. 

N 

Demonstration 
masterplan 

Is this the best way to 
communicate the information? 

The masterplan approach has been 
removed 

Y 

The 

Masterplan 
Accessibility and ecology concerns 

The masterplan approach has been 

removed 
Y 

P
age 520



Character 
Zones 

Street 
Hierarchy 

Images not clear. 

Text should be rearranged. 
Authors and dates should be 

included. 

Images and labels considered 

appropriate. 
Text has been adjusted. 
Authors etc. included. 

Y 

The 

Masterplan 
Street 

Hierarchy 

Existing roads should be 
categorised. 

The masterplan approach has been 
removed and the primary focus of 

this guide is new streets 
Y 

Primary Street 

Should be dimensions on 

drawings. 
Refer to LTN 1/20. 

2m min. width for cycle lanes. 

Specific street dimensions 
deliberately not given as we want to 
encourage flexibility. Any distances 

that are critical have been provided 
such as footway widths. 

LTN 1/20 referred to. 
Cycle lane widths amended in 

accordance with LTN1/20 

Y 

Cycle Routes, 
Bus Stops etc. 

Diagrams too small, lack technical 
detail. 

Layout of document has been   
altered/improved 

Y 

Secondary 

routes etc. 

Should be dimensions on 

drawings, and less conceptual. 

See above. Drawings have been 
reviewed and considered 

appropriate to stimulate discussion. 

N 

Street Space 
Allocation 

Discusses innovative approach but 
does not provide solutions 

Guide states OCC will work with 
designers and developers on this 

concept. 

N 

Parking 
Pages could be clearer. Need 

illustrations, not just photos. 

Images and labels considered 
appropriate. It is not the purpose of 
the design guide to design parking. 

The purpose of the design guide in 
relation to parking is to encourage 

the incorporation of parking into the 

N 

P
age 521



street with respect for other users 
and with future modal shift in mind. 

Cycle parking 
Not just Sheffield stands. 

Cycle parking at bus stops. 
School drop-off areas. 

Other parking solutions are shown. 

Cycle parking at bus stops has been 
added. 

High-level guidance on school drop-

off areas only required. 

Y 

Drainage 
Lack of definition on what would be 

adoptable. 

Early engagement with OCC 
encouraged. More detailed 

guidance could become a future 
annex to the document. 

N 

Landscaping 

Lack of definition on what would be 
adoptable. 

Does not cover 
assessment/retention of existing 

features. 

Early engagement with OCC 
encouraged. 

Text considered appropriate. More 
detailed guidance could become a 

future annex to the document. 

N 

Street Trees Further guidance is important 
More detailed guidance could 
become a future annex to the 

document. 

N 

Street Tech Section should be expanded. 
Section has been renamed 

‘Innovation’ and has been extended. 
Y 

Street lighting 
Concerns re lighting and trees. 
Reference OCC Street Lighting 

Policy (2018) 

A link to the guidance will be 

provided in the final draft.  
 

Electric Car 
Charging 

Points 

More information required. This section has been extended. Y 

Refuse 

collection 

Should include diagrams of RCV 
access requirements. 

Should be reference to Building 
Regulations. 

Not considered appropriate. 
 

References to Manual for Streets, 
which in turn references Building 

Regulations. 

N 

P
age 522



Appropriate/enough parking to 
remove obstructions to RCVs. 

Space required at front of 

properties to present bins for 
collection. 

Space required between on-street 
parking bays to wheel bins to 

collection points. 

Bins may cause an obstruction to 
peds and road users on shared 

spaces. 
Correct distances for bin collection 

points. Refer to District Design 

Guide. 
Allow space for litter bins at bus 

stops. 
Cycle storage must be separate 

from bin stores. 

Landscaping must be suitable for 
moving bins, i.e. paths through 

verges. 
Cross-check landscaping and 

transport plans. 

No mention of bin stores for flats. 
More advice on 

integrated/standalone stores and 
how they impact streets. 

Developers should consider 

access, lighting etc. to standalone 
stores in car parks. 

 

Parking covered elsewhere in the 
document. 

Agreed, but not specifically covered 

in the Guide. 
 

Agreed, but not specifically covered 
in the Guide. 

 

Agreed, but not specifically covered 
in the Guide. 

 
Although not specifically referenced, 

developers would be expected to 

consult District Guides. 
Agreed, but not specifically covered 

in the Guide. 
Agreed, but not specifically covered 

in the Guide. 

Agreed, but not specifically covered 
in the Guide. 

 
Noted. 

 

Not considered necessary. 
Not considered necessary. 

 
 

Agreed, but not specifically covered 

in the Guide. 
 

 

P
age 523



Emphasise relevant local authority 
waste planning guidance. 

 

 
More emphasis on recycling – 

amend title to ‘Recycling and 
Refuse’ 

 

 
 

 
 
 

Although not specifically referenced, 
developers would be expected to 
consult District Guides. 

 
Agreed – title amended. 

 
 

Note that all District Council Waste 

departments were reconsulted (end 
March 2021) and none expressed a 

wish for changes to the content of 
the Guide. 

 
 
 

West Oxfordshire District Council  
 

 

Document 
Section 

Key Themes for Objections or 
Concerns 

Officer Response 
 

Modifications to Design Guide? Y/N 

 

General 
comments 

‘tightening up’ of language required 
The document has been reviewed 

and the text reworded where 
necessary. 

Y 

 

More emphasis on the National 

Design Guide and Manual for 
Streets 

The Guide has been redrafted to 

place more importance on these 
documents 

Y 

Foreword 
Reference the role of residents and 

community involvement 
The Foreword has been rewritten. Y 

Page 10 
The masterplan does not reflect 

best practice 
The masterplan has been removed Y 

 
Street hierarchy success depends 

on a variety of factors 
Noted N 

P
age 524



Page 14 
Aspirational objectives could be 

added 
The objectives have been 

reconsidered 
Y 

Cycle 
parking 

Specific reference on electric bikes 
and their implications 

Parking of electric cycles no different 

from standard cycles however a new 
section on ‘Innovation’ discusses e-

bikes 

Y 

Pages 38 

and 39 

Bike stands can be an opportunity 

for public art 

This has been incorporated into 3.2 

Parking: Bicycles 
Y 

Page 41 Stronger statement about SUDS 
Guide has been amended to 
“requires the use of SUDS.” 

Y 

 
Further guidance on SUDS 

regarding design and adoption. 

Guide makes it clear that early 

involvement with drainage bodies is 
essential. More detailed guidance 

could become a future annex to the 
document 

N 

3.4 
Landscaping 

New planting schemes and existing 
features 

Noted N 

 
Will OCC adopt trees in the 

highway as a matter of principle? 

OCC as an organisation is looking to 

plant more trees in the highway and 
will look to adopt more trees, 

however this needs be assessed on 
a case by case basis. 

N 

Page 42 
In highlighted box, does “early 

conversations…” relate to areas to 

be adopted or all schemes? 

The former; further clarification 

considered unnecessary 
N 

Page 43 
More information on tree planting 

requirements 

More detailed guidance could 
become a future annex to the 

document 

N 

 Early input required. Recommended on previous page. N 

 
Street lighting provides potential 

conflict 

Noted. Risk mitigated by consulting 
Street Lighting early on the master 

planning stage. 

N 

P
age 525



Section 3.5 
Reduced street lighting levels in 

rural areas 
Wording amended accordingly Y 

Page 45 Fire ‘engines’, not ‘trucks’ Agreed, reworded Y 

 

 
 
 

  

P
age 526



 
Cherwell District Council  

 
 

Document 

Section 

Key Themes for Objections or 

Concerns 

Officer Response 

 

Modifications to Design Guide? Y/N 

 

 
Street hierarchy in relation to 

density variation between urban 

streets and rural areas. 

Hierarchy based on location, use, 
role, user hierarchy, place and 

movement. Will depend on size and 
nature of the development. 

N 

 
Historic Routeways, upgrading 

historic streets be included. 

This is a matter for discussion with 
the District Council in relation to 

heritage and conservation so is not 
covered by the guide. 

N 

Page 12 
Understand and analyse existing 

street hierarchy 

The Guide is for new streets and 

developments. 
N 

Pages 16 & 
17 

Add PRoW etc to masterplan Masterplan has been removed Y 

 
Cycleways and bridleway 

connections to streets 

Not considered necessary for 

inclusion 
N 

 
Secondary/Primary/Tertiary street 

connection details 
Being considered further N 

Pages 22-
27 

How are service ducts etc. 
incorporated into the streets? 

This is a matter for detailed design 
and therefore not covered in the 

guide. Further information may be 
provided as part of the Standard 

Details which is due to be published  
in the future as an annex to the 

guide. 

N 

Page 35 
Rear parking courts – only 

acceptable for apartment blocks 
Discouraged, but should not be 
limited to apartment blocks only 

N 

P
age 527



 
How is successful on-street parking 

achieved? 

Addressed in the Guide. Space 
allowance must be made at 

masterplanning stage. 
N 

Page 38 Poor secure cycle parking picture Replaced with better picture Y 

Page 42 
Standard designs for root barriers, 

tree pits, rainwater drainage 

Not currently included in the guide 
but could become part of a future 

annex to the guide 
N 

Parts 3 and 
4 

Standard cross-section details at 
level changes 

Not currently included in the guide 

but could become part of a future 
annex to the guide 

N 

Page 44 
EV charging points – picture shows 

trip hazard 
Replaced with better image Y 

Page 45 
Refuse collection – apartment 

blocks 
Not considered necessary for 

inclusion 
N 

Part 4 List of acceptable paving materials 

A palette of materials is to be 

provided as a separate annex in the 
future 

N 

 

 
Oxford City Council 
 

 
Document 

Section 
Key Themes for Objections or 

Concerns 
Officer Response 

 

Modifications to Design Guide? Y/N 

 

Page 22 
The maintenance of Parklet 

features may be a deterrent 

Text added re parklet topic paper 

which will provided further 
information. 

Y 

Page 23 
Cycle lane widths and principles in 

LTCP topic papers 
Not added as it will be covered in the 

relevant LTCP topic paper 
Y 

Page 30 
Could a picture of an Oxfordshire 

parklet be included 
Being considered with the redesign N 

Page 32 ‘footways’ rather than ‘footpaths’ Noted and corrected Y 

P
age 528



 
Provide link to Oxford City Parking 

Technical Advice Note 
Added Y 

Page 33 Ref to County parking standards Text revised to refer to Local Plans Y 

 
Parking for motorcycles, scooters, 

etc. 

Dedicated m/c parking not usually 

required. Covered in Local Plans 
where necessary. E-scooter parking 

text added. 

Y 

 EV parking and charging Has been expanded in update Y 

 Spaces for last-mile deliveries Cargo bike parking now mentioned Y 

Page 38/9 Should be “District and City…” 
The City is considered to be a 

District, ref “This is Oxfordshire” 
section 

N 

Page 45 

RCVs using the whole carriageway 
at junctions for manoeuvring. Is this 

a recommendation or statutory 
guidance? 

Text references Manual for Streets, 

which says (6.8.1) “On streets with 
low traffic flows and speeds, it may 

be assumed that they [service 
vehicles] will be able to use the full 

width of the carriageway to 

manoeuvre.” 

N 

 No reference to the number of bins 
This is considered to be a matter for 

the District Councils 
N 

 
More emphasis on the needs of 

children 
Noted N 

 
 

Eynsham Parish Council 
 
 

Document 

Section 

Key Themes for Objections or 

Concerns 

Officer Response 

 

Modifications to Design Guide? Y/N 

 

Vision 
Recommended that the Guide is 

design specific to the Districts 
It is not considered practical or 

reasonable to have different 
N 

P
age 529



rather than applied flexibly across 
the County 

guidance for the five Districts which 
would also undermine the District’s 

own design guide documents 

Objectives 
Dead ends/cul-de-sacs should be 

linked 
Agreed. Emphasis added on 

connectivity 
Y 

Street 

hierarchy 

Noise pollution reduction measures 

not addressed 

Covered in Manual for Streets, which 
is to be read in conjunction with the 

Guide. 20mph streets will lead to 
lower vehicle noise. 

N 

Primary 

Streets 

20mph speed limits are supported 

where designed appropriately 
Noted N 

Secondary 

Streets 

Insufficient weight or detail to needs 

of cyclists 

Modifications have been made to 
add more detail around 

accommodating cyclists within the 
street and reference has been made 

to LTN1/20 

Y 

Tertiary 
Streets 

Insufficient weight or detail to needs 
of cyclists 

Modifications have been made to 

add more detail around 
accommodating cyclists within the 

street and reference has been made 
to LTN1/20 

Y 

Street space 
allocation 

Elderly and less-able pedestrians 

may feet their safety is 
compromised due to passing 

vehicles 

Shared spaces will be low-speed 
environments where drivers are 

more aware of pedestrians and give 
sufficient priority to non-motorise 

users etc. 

N 

Parking 
Off-street/driveway parking 

beneficial to disability/wheelchair 

users 

The Guide acknowledges “that there 
will still be a place for on plot 
solutions”. Detailed parking 

standards to follow 

N 

P
age 530



 
Undercroft parking may raise the 

building height 

Noted, will need to be considered at 
the masterplanning stage with advice 

from the Planning Authority 
N 

 

Schools should accommodate all 

cars going to the site and drop off 
points should be within their 

boundary 

School on-site parking provision will 
be agreed on a case by case basis 

with input from the OCC Schools 

team. Disagree that drop off points 
should be within the boundary as 

this does not discourage car usage 
and has safety implications 

N 

Drainage Use of SUDS is fully supported Noted N 

Landscaping 
Inclusion of trees is fully supported. 
All developments must have trees 

planted 

Noted. N 

Street tech 

Support the need for on plot EV 
charging. Potential on-street 

charging point hazards need to be 
overcome 

Noted and agreed. The section on 

EV charging has now been 
expanded. 

Y 

 

 
Oxford Pedestrians Association 
 

 
Document 

Section 
Key Themes for Objections or 

Concerns 
Officer Response 

 

Modifications to Design Guide? Y/N 

 

 
Guide seen as weak because of 

being very car-centric 

Guide prioritises walking and cycling 
infrastructure. It follows the user 

hierarchy set out in Manual for Streets. 
This has been made clearer in the final 

version. 

Y 

 1.8m is too narrow for pavements Revised to show all footways 2.0m Y 

P
age 531



 
Does not adopt Manual for Streets 

principles 
The Guide refers to Manual for 

Streets 
N 

 
Manual for Streets is based on a 
user hierarchy with walkers at the 

top 

The Guide has been revised to 

include the MfS User Hierarchy. This 
has been made clearer in the final 

version. 

Y 

 

No mention of direct, comfortable, 

unobstructed, flat walking routes to 
local amenities and services 

Required in two of the Core 
Objectives in the revised Guide 

N 

 
The Guide is written in weak 

language 

The language used has been 

reviewed and reworded where 
necessary 

Y 

 

Fear that walking routes will be 

added after roads for motorised 
vehicles have been placed centrally 

The Guide promotes early 
engagement to ensure the 

masterplan is developed with the 
user hierarchy a primary 

consideration 

N 

 
 

 
CPRE Oxfordshire 
 

 
Document 

Section 
Key Themes for Objections or 

Concerns 
Officer Response 

 

Modifications to Design Guide? Y/N 

 

 

Rural proofing. No guidance to 

address the design of 
developments adjacent to existing 

villages, risking suburbification 

The Guide deals specifically with the 

design of streets and does discuss 
the need for design within the local 

context 

N 

The Vision 

(p. 4) 

Include “environmental well-being” 

in the vision statement 
Not sure what this means N 

P
age 532



Objectives 

(p. 14) 

Objective relating to EV charging 

and/or future-proofing for energy 
requirements 

Noted and EV charging is covered 
within the guide. An objective on EV 
charging has not been added as it 

not considered to have the same 
importance as the other objectives 

on this page. 

N 

 
‘no net loss of habitat’ is out-of-
date, should be a 10% net gain 

Noted. Requirement will be captured 
by other planning policies 

N 

 

Active travel includes horse riders. 

Should look to upgrade PRoW to 
bridleway status 

Noted, although the Guide is 

principally concerned with the design 
of streets within new developments 

 

Consultation 

(p. 15) 

Streets are to be vehicle tracked 

and tested – does this extend to 
cyclists/pedestrians? 

Design of pedestrian and cycle 
routes will be carried out with regard 

to design standards adopted by the 
county council and nationally. 

N 

Design 
Principles 

(p. 15) 

The wording around environmental 

impact is too unambitious, 
minimising impact rather than net 

gain 

Noted. Requirement will be captured 
by other planning policies 

N 

 
 
 

Urban Design Group 
 

 
Document 

Section 
Key Themes for Objections or 

Concerns 
Officer Response 

 

Modifications to Design Guide? Y/N 

 

Page 8 Street photo has no people Noted N 

 
Little mention of grass verges and 

whether they would be acceptable 

Verges are shown on the street plans 

and sections, therefore acceptable in 
principle 

N 

Page 9 No people in any photos Noted N 

P
age 533



Page 10 
Hierarchy is complex and based on 

movement function 

The Guide has been updated to give 
more emphasis to Manual for Streets 

and the user hierarchy 

recommended therein 

Y 

Page 11 Page omits place functions 
Noted, but does not affect intrinsic 

guidance in the document 
N 

Page 13 Helpful to identify the photos Photos now have a description Y 

Page 14 
Objectives should be people-

centred 

Objectives have been reviewed and 

considered appropriate 
Y 

 
List the people covered by the 

Equality Act 
Not considered to be necessary for 

this document 
N 

 

Discussion about acceptability of 

delays to traffic resulting from 
ped/cycle crossings 

Noted but considered to be a matter 

to be assessed on a case by case 
basis 

N 

 Should reference zero carbon target Now included Y 

Page 15 Too busy, use worked example Page considered acceptable N 

Page 16 
Numerous concerns with 

demonstration masterplan 

The masterplan has been removed 

from the Guide 
Y 

Page 20 Higher density examples needed 
Examples are indicative of a typical 

street hierarchy only 
N 

Page 22 
Several requested additions to the 

Primary Street plan 

The plan is intended to be indicative, 

a potential layout. It is not intended to 
illustrate every scenario 

N 

Page 23 
Several requested additions to the 

plans 

The plans are intended to be 

indicative 
N 

Page 24 Diagrams too small Document layout is being reviewed Y 

Page 25 Disabled parking bays? Plan is indicative N 

Page 27 Photos show a bleak environment 
Photos considered to be 
representative of varying 

environments 

Y 

Page 30 
A poor example as no people in the 

photo 
The photos are to show how the car 
should not dominate the street scene 

N 

P
age 534



Page 31 
More guidance on major streets, 

e.g.A41 Bicester 
The Guide is specifically for 20mph 

streets within new developments 
N 

Page 32 
Parking standards tailored to 

location 
Parking standards to follow N 

 
Development locations should be 

chosen to limit the need for car 
ownership 

To be considered on a site by site 
basis in accordance with District 

Council policies 
N 

Page 33 

Undercroft parking example is ugly, 

has an inactive frontage and 
interrupts the footway 

Footway crossing cannot always be 
avoided. 

N 

Page 34 Issues with the photos 
Photos are intended to illustrate the 

parking discussion 
N 

Page 35 
What are the criteria for good 
design of courtyard parking? 

Primarily security and surveillance, 
but OCC strongly discourage their 

use 

N 

Page 38 Cycle parking box unattractive Photo has been replaced Y 

Page 40 
Landscape should be considered 

from the outset. Signage and clutter 

minimised 

Agreed N 

Page 41 SUDS integrated with tree planting. Noted N 

Page 42 Is it the intention to adopt verges? 
Verges shown withing adoptable 

area in Secondary Route plan 
N 

Page 44 
Street lighting must be integrated 

with tree planting 
Agreed N 

Page 45 
Show underground waste 

management options 

Noted and may be developed further 
as part of future modifications to the 

Guide. 
N 

 
Utilities should be in shared service 

ducts 
Noted N 

Page 48 Avoid light pollution Agreed N 

Page 49 
Beware using swept path tracking to 
override other policies and statutory 

Swept path analysis is one 
consideration in the overall design. 

 

P
age 535



duties, and illustrative diagrams. 
Refuse collection is not the 

overweening design objective. 

Swept paths that use the opposite 
side of the carriageway should be 

acceptable.  

Text references Manual for Streets, 
which says (6.8.1) “On streets with 
low traffic flows and speeds, it may 

be assumed that they [service 
vehicles] will be able to use the full 

width of the carriageway to 
manoeuvre.” 

 
Why no loose material on 

driveways? 
It can get carried on to the highway N 

Page 50 
Concerns on standing advice for 

schools 
This advice has been removed N 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Cyclox 
 

 
Document 

Section 
Key Themes for Objections or 

Concerns 
Officer Response 

 

Modifications to Design Guide? Y/N 

 

The 

process of 
production 

Only covers new streets or 
redevelopment of existing streets? 

The intention is that it is a guide for 

new residential developments, but 
the principles may be applied to 

other situations if appropriate 

N 

National 

standards 
and 

policies 

Fails to embed Manual for Streets 
and Manual for Streets 2 

This has been addressed in latest 
revision 

Y 

P
age 536



 
Does not acknowledge LTN 1/20 

sufficiently 
This has been addressed in latest 

revision 
Y 

 
Relationship with District Council 

guides unclear 

It is necessary that each District 

Council has its own bespoke general 
design guide distinct to the area 

which is referred to within the guide 

N 

 How will it relate to LTCP5? 
Introduction amended to reference 

the LTCP 
Y 

Masterplan 
The masterplan does not adopt best 

practice 
The masterplan concept has been 

removed from the Guide 
Y 

It will not 
constrain 

developers 

The words are too passive. Should 
be definitive statements with 

mandatory adherence 

The language has been modified to 

be stronger. By definition, the 
document is a guide which 

encourages innovation 

Y 

 Developers will find loopholes Noted N 

 Needs to be tested ‘to destruction’ Not sure what this means N 

 
 

Defence Infrastructure Organisation 
 
 

Document 

Section 

Key Themes for Objections or 

Concerns 

Officer Response 

 

Modifications to Design Guide? Y/N 

 

Weight to 
be applied 

to the guide 

How will the Guide fit with SPDs, 

District Council Local Plans and 
policies, and their Design Guides 

and Standards? 
Which would take precedence? 

The Design Guide will be adopted 
and therefore will need to be 

considered alongside other planning 
policies and guidance. Any potential 

conflicts should be resolved with 

early engagement, which is strongly 
encouraged. The Local Highway 

Authority will need to be satisfied 

N 

P
age 537



with any areas that are to be 
adopted. 

Design 

Principles 

Flexible, collaborative and 

innovative approach welcomed 
Noted N 

 
Greater emphasis on innovative 

solutions to street design 

The Guide includes a section on 
Innovation which has been 

expanded. 
Y 

 Agree no ‘hard and fast rules’ Noted N 

 

Support flexible approach to street 
geometries, but unclear given 

reference to Manual for Streets 
geometries 

Manual for Streets contains 
recognised best practice. In the 

Guide, MfS geometries only referred 

to in Recycling and Refuse Collection 
section. 

N 

Vehicle 

Parking 

Agree with the flexible and 

innovative approach 
Noted N 

 

Clarification on allocated and visitor 
parking. Should recognise a 

preference for allocated spaces, 
where possible 

Disagree. “Oxfordshire County 
Council therefore encourage 

developers to consider alternative 

parking arrangements to on plot 
which allow for more flexibility and 

more efficient land use.” 

N 

 School parking and access 
This advice has been removed from 

the Guide 
N 

 

Member of the public 
 
 

Document 

Section 

Key Themes for Objections or 

Concerns 

Officer Response 

 

Modifications to Design Guide? Y/N 

 

P.14 
Objectives 

Horse riding is active travel. Give 
examples of how streets/surfaces 

can be designed to be safe for 

Noted, although the Guide is 
principally concerned with the 

design of streets. 

N 

P
age 538



horses. PRoW within new 
developments should be 
considered for upgrade to 

bridleway status 

P.16 
Demonstration 

Masterplan 

Opportunities for safe, multi-user 

routes should be explored 

The demonstration masterplan has 

been removed 
Y 

P.20 Street 
Hierarchy 

No on-street parking should be 
allowed on bus routes as it causes 

delay to the bus 

Currently this will be considered on 
a case by case basis but could form 

a future modification to the Guide 

N 

P.31 Not Just 
for Quiet 

residential 
Areas 

Frideswide Square not a good 

example 

It is generally accepted that the 
redevelopment of Frideswide 

Square has been successful in 

creating a pleasant environment 
whilst accommodating high traffic 

flows 

N 

P.32 Parking 
Refers to cars and motorcycles. 
Also vans, trucks, caravans etc. 

which will not fit in a garage 

It is not reasonable to attempt to 
accommodate oversize vehicles. 

N 

P.34 On Plot 

Minimum garage size needed for 
an SUV. 

Open bays (undercroft) preferable 

as more likely to be used for 
parking. 

Does not recognise that garages 
have internal columns 

An appropriate internal dimension 
6.0m x 3.0m is given. Stated that 

this is between any internal 
structures, such as pillars. 

Undercroft parking is one of the 

innovative options available 

N 

P.36 
Photo shows cars wider than 

parking spaces 
Spaces will be minimum 2.5m wide 

if to be adopted 
N 

P.37 
Scenario 2 very similar to page 32 

(80’s solution) 

Scenario 2 is a single space only. 

Needs to be well designed. 
N 

P
age 539



P.38 Garages used for cycle parking! 
If a suitable size, i.e. min. 6m x 3m, 

a garage will accommodate an 
average car and one or more cycles 

N 

P.44 Street 
Lighting 

Does the lighting policy comply 
with industry best practice 

  

 
 

Transport Consultant – IMA Associates  
 

 
Document 
Section 

Key Themes for Objections or 
Concerns  

Officer Response 
 

Modifications to Design Guide? Y/N 

 

 On-street, communal, non-allocated 

parking is promoted. EV charging 
on-street needs developers to come 
up with solutions. This challenge 

may need OCC to provide 
supplementary guidance. 

This section has been expanded and 

further guidance provided in the final 
version. We would welcome working 
with developers to agree solutions to 

such challenges.   

Y 

 Access requirements for schools do 

not seem reasonable 

The advice relating to schools has 

been removed from the Guide. 

Y  

 

P
age 540



Divisions Affected - All 

 
 

CABINET  

21 September 2021 
 

England’s Economic Heartland: Update on Governance
  

 

Report by Corporate Director for Environment and Place 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

 
1. The Cabinet is RECOMMENDED to 

 
a) Confirm that England’s Economic Heartland (EEH), the sub-national 

transport body encompassing Oxfordshire, should be considered as a 

‘strategic’ outside body as per the definitions set out in Table 1 below; 
 

b) Endorse the new full EEH governance framework as set out in Annex 
1; and 

 

c) Confirm appointment of the leader of the Council to the new EEH 
Political Forum, proposed to be called the Strategic Transport 

Leadership Board.  

 

Executive Summary 

 
2. Following discussions with Government and its Members, and in context of the 

emerging Oxford to Cambridge Arc Governance, England’s Economic 
Heartland (EEH), the sub-national transport body for the area which includes 
Oxfordshire, has produced a new governance framework, including changes to 

the political oversight process. This is given in full in Annex 1. 
   

3. The EEH Business Unit has written to the Council outlining the new 
arrangements and requesting nominations for membership to the new political 
oversight forum, proposed to be called the Strategic Transport Leadership 

Board.  This report sets out key aspects of the new governance arrangements 
and asks Cabinet to formally confirm appointment of the Leader to the new 

political board. 
 
 

 

Page 541

Agenda Item 12



CA12 

Background and Context 

 
4. England’s Economic Heartland (EEH) is the sub-national transport body for the 

area from Swindon in the west to Cambridgeshire in the east, as set out on the 
map below: 

 

 
 

5. Oxfordshire was one of the founding members of the partnership in 2014, which 

was recognised as the sub-national transport body in 2016. EEH remains a 
partnership organisation, with many of its workstreams funded by Department 

for Transport (DfT) via annual funding settlements. It does not have statutory 
transport or highway powers which rest with member partners. 
 

6. EEH remains an important organisation in helping to facilitate cross boundary 
working, much of which relates to helping deliver the EEH Transport Strategy 

which was published in February 2021, and endorsed by Oxfordshire County 
Cabinet in ‘broad terms’ in March 2021. At this meeting County Cabinet also 
agreed to, ‘continue our representation on the EEH Board and 

Strategic Transport Forum (STF) to ensure alignment with our emerging 
Local Transport and Connectivity Plan (LTCP).’ Since endorsement of the 

strategy, a number of key related workstreams have commenced, including a 
number of connectivity studies. These are substantial pieces of work and will 
help identify cross boundary strategic transport infrastructure priorities across a 

number of geographies, including Oxford to Milton Keynes, Oxford to 
Northampton, and Oxford-Didcot-Swindon. 

 
7. The existing terms of reference for EEH were agreed in December 2017, and in 

February 2021 the EEH leaders group agreed that governance should be 

reviewed. This review has been undertaken in liaison with DfT as the sponsoring 
body for sub-national transport bodies and has resulted in a new governance 

framework. This is shown in Annex 1 to this report.  

Page 542



CA12 

 
8. The main change in governance is the political oversight arrangements, 

merging the EEH leader board meeting with the existing Strategic Transport 

Board to have one political oversight meeting only- proposed to be called the 
Strategic Transport Leadership Board. Other changes in governance include:  

 
(a) Being clear in the governance framework who are full members of EEH 

(Local Transport/ Highway Authorities), who are associate members 

(Growth Boards and bus operators), and who are observers (DfT, 
Highways England and Network Rail). 

(b) The need for each member of EEH to formally nominate their 
representative to the new Sub-national Transport Body political oversight 
group (and substitute if needed) at the beginning of each municipal year, 

which is usually May (but for the first year to nominate members from 
Sep 2021 to May 2023) 

(c) The need for any outgoing EEH chair to take a break of at least 2 years 
before seeking re-election (after serving for up to 2 years in post) 

(d) Several changes to ways of working, including the need for determining 

an annual EEH business plan, including scale of local contributions. 
 

9. EEH has recently written to all members with the updated governance 
framework and to specifically ask them to nominate their first representative for 
the new political board (Annex 2), who would be in place until May 2023 (when 

a new nomination would be requested). 
 

Key matters for consideration 

 
10. EEH have made clear that they believe that the new single political board will 

help ensure that the focus on key outcomes and delivering investment across 
the region can be maintained, as well as ensuring continued collaboration on 

key strategy and projects that complements, rather than duplicates powers, 
responsibility and accountabilities of partners. They’ve also made clear that the 
principle of ensuring that any tools and technical work undertaken through EEH 

should be made freely available to partners is continued, and this is also set out 
in the new governance framework. 

 
11. OCC as a core member of EEH need to ensure that they are content with the 

new governance arrangements. In particular, they need to confirm their 

nomination for the new (Strategic Transport Leadership) Board, with the first 
meeting of the new group scheduled for 24th September.  

 
12. The basis of appointments from the County Council for outside bodies is set 

down based on the categories outlined in the following table.  EEH would appear 

to fall into category A, given the strategic nature of its remit. Based on this, it is 
recommended that the nomination to the new EEH Board should be agreed 

formally by Cabinet. 
 
Table 1: OCC categories of outside bodies 

 

Page 543



CA12 

Outside Bodies 

Category 
Appointed by Basis of Membership 

A Outside bodies listed by 
the Cabinet (and 
endorsed by the Council) 

as “strategic” 
 

The Cabinet As determined by the 
Cabinet 

B Non-strategic outside 
bodies useful to the 

Council’s work 
 
 

Remuneration  Committee, 
following nominations by 

political groups 
 

Best person for the role 
 

 

C Other outside bodies 

which request Council 
representation or are of 
primary value to local 

councillors/the local 
community 

 

Chief Executive in the case of 

local member(s) or group 
nominations; where there is 
no agreement  Remuneration 

Committee 
 

To reflect local 

membership  
 

 

 
13. Under the previous EEH governance arrangements, political representation at 

EEH meetings was split at OCC between the Leader and relevant Cabinet 
member. Under the new arrangements with 1 political forum only, it is planned 
that OCC is represented by the Leader only, with the Cabinet Member for Travel 

and Development Strategy being the substitute should this be required at any 
time. 

 

Corporate Policies and Priorities 

 

 
14. The EEH Transport Strategy, published in early 2021, sets out ambitious plans 

to develop and deliver a sustainable, net zero carbon transport network by 2040. 
Overall, being an EEH core partner helps ensure that Oxfordshire has influence 
over future priorities and investment to help deliver this on wider and cross 

boundary strategic transport networks. This fits in particular with the following 
Fair Deal Alliance objectives as agreed at Cabinet on 20 th July 2021: 

 

 Tackle the Climate Emergency through rapid decarbonisation, proper 
accounting of carbon emissions and ambitious targets, as well as supporting 

climate resilience; 

 Tackling inequalities and providing opportunities for everyone in Oxfordshire 

to achieve their full potential and, 

 Increased investment in an inclusive, integrated, county-wide active and 

sustainable travel network fit for the 21st century to improve choice and 
reduce car journeys across the county. 

 

Financial Implications 

 

Page 544



CA12 

15. The new governance framework includes specific reference to the Sub-national 
Transport Body meetings (proposed to be called the Strategic Transport 
Leadership Board) needing to agree the level of local contribution payable by 

each Transport/ Highway Authority, as well as an annual Business Plan and 3-
year financial plan for the Body. To date, Oxfordshire have provided ‘in-kind’ 

contributions to EEH, for example through seconding staff to the EEH team and 
in particular providing expertise from the County ihub and strategy teams. There 
are on-going discussions with EEH about this arrangement for the future, but 

we would like to continue this in principle given the mutual benefits. Any change 
to this arrangement would need careful consideration against OCC budgets at 

the appropriate time. 
 

 

Comments checked by: 
 

Rob Finlayson, Finance Business Partner, rob.finlayson@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
 

Legal Implications 

 
16. EEH is an organisation based on partnership, with core members being the local 

transport authorities from Swindon in the west to Cambridgeshire in the east. It 
is recognised by central government as the sub-national transport body for the 
area but does not have statutory powers over the planning and delivery of 

transport infrastructure, which rests with the separate highway authorities.  As 
set out previously in a report in Cabinet in October 2020, central government 

has recently made clear that it would not support EEH obtaining statutory 
powers. 

 

Comments checked by:  
Jennifer Crouch 

Principal Solicitor (Environment Team), jennifer.crouch@oxfordshire.gov.uk 

Staff Implications 

 

17. It is not expected that the new governance arrangements would impact on 
required OCC staffing arrangements for input to EEH workstreams which are 

currently covered from within the Strategic Infrastructure and Planning area of 
the Environment and Place Directorate. 
  

Equality & Inclusion Implications 

 

18. It is considered that that there are no specific equality and inclusion implications 
associated with this report. 

 

Sustainability Implications 

 

Page 545



CA12 

19. As noted under corporate priorities, helping to deliver the EEH Transport 
Strategy in partnership with others is very much focused on developing and 
delivering a net-zero carbon emission transport network. Further work on 

developing a more detailed pathway toward this net-zero carbon network across 
the EEH area is currently underway. 

 

Risk Management 

 

20. Setting out and agreeing the new EEH governance framework and associated 
political appointments through formal Cabinet decision-making ensures that the 

basis of future OCC/EEH relationships is clear for all. 
 

 

 
 

 
 
NAME 

Bill Cotton, Corporate Director for Planning and Place 
 

Annex: Annex 1: New EEH Governance Framework  
Annex 2: Letter to Cllr Liz Leffman, Oxfordshire County 
Council 

 
Background papers: None 

 
 
Contact Officer: James Gagg, james.gagg@oxfordshire.gov.uk  

 
September 2021 

 

Page 546



 www.englandseconomicheartland.com  @EconomicHeart 

Page 1 of 5 

 

 

 

 

England’s Economic Heartland Sub-national 

Transport Body 

Governance Framework 
 

 

1. Context 

1.1. Sub-national transport bodies (STB) are established under the terms of the Cities and 

Local Government Act 2008, as modified by the Local Transport Act 2016. 

1.2. EEH was established in autumn 2014 on the initiative of local political leaders in response 

to their understanding that: 

• Strategic infrastructure issues (and solutions) extend beyond any one single local 

transport authority area 

• Issues that are common to one or more areas can benefit from a co-ordinated 

response, and that in so doing it is possible to achieve change and realise efficiencies 

• Delivery of a sustainable transport system is dependent upon the integration of 

investment by government, its arm-length bodies, local authorities, as well as 

infrastructure owners and service providers 

1.3. These guiding principles continue to underpin the work of EEH and reflect the commitment 

amongst political and business leaders to harness the benefit of collaborative working to 

unlock added value that benefits residents, communities, and businesses. 

1.4. Central to the ethos of EEH is the understanding that its work complements the powers, 

responsibilities, and accountabilities of its partners.  As a partnership the added value of 

collaborative working is to speak with one voice on issues of genuine strategic interest. 

1.5. EEH was recognised by the Department for Transport as an STB in 2016 and benefits from 

the receipt of funding from the DfT in support of that role. 

2. Purpose  

2.1. As the region’s sub-national transport body, England’s Economic Heartland is tasked with 

providing leadership on transport issues of strategic interest, more specifically it: 

• Prepares, publishes, and maintains the regional evidence base upon which the regional 

transport strategy is prepared 

• Prepares, publishes, and oversees implementation of the regional transport strategy 

• Publishes and keeps under regular review the prioritised investment pipeline that flows 

from the transport strategy 

• Monitors and reports on progress with the implementation of the regional transport 

strategy 

• Uses the published regional transport strategy to inform the investment programmes 

of national agencies and infrastructure owners to support its delivery 

Page 547

https://twitter.com/economicheart


 www.englandseconomicheartland.com  @EconomicHeart 

Page 2 of 5 

 

 

 

 

• Undertakes reviews of the regional transport strategy as appropriate, and at least 

every five years 

2.2. England’s Economic Heartland works closely with adjoining sub-national transport bodies 

on issues of common interest.  It is also an active member of the wider network that 

brings together all of England’s seven sub-national transport bodies. 

2.3. As the region’s sub-national transport body, England’s Economic Heartland works closely 

with the Greater London Authority and Transport for London on issues of common interest 

3. Membership 

3.1. The members of England’s Economic Heartland are the relevant transport authorities, 

specifically unitary councils, county councils and the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 

Combined Authority. 

3.2. However, in providing leadership on strategic transport it is essential that membership of 

the STB reflects the need to have a strong and effective working relationship with other 

sub-national groupings, including but not limited to the Oxford to Cambridge Arc; and with 

sub-regional groupings, such as growth boards. 

3.3. Membership of the sub-national transport body shall be: 

Local transport/highway authority   Member 

Sub-regional growth boards *   Associate member 

EEH Bus Operators Association    Associate member 

Department for Transport    Observer 

Highways England     Observer 

Network Rail (to become Great British Railways) Observer 

*Note: for Swindon the appropriate body is the Swindon and Wiltshire LEP. 

3.4. Associate members and observers are entitled to participate in meetings. Only members 

are entitled to vote. 

Appointments to the Sub-national Transport Body 

3.5. At the start of each municipal year the leader of each transport authority will nominate 

their representative to the sub-national transport body for the following 12 months. 

3.6. Each leader will also nominate a substitute who, in the absence of the named 

representative, may attend meetings of the sub-national transport body and represent the 

views of the transport authority.  Substitute members have the same rights of speaking 

and voting at the meeting as the nominated member. 

3.7. Representatives appointed to the sub-national transport body will be expected to 

represent the view of the appointing organisation.  They shall also be responsible for 

ensuring that their authority is kept briefed on the work of the body and decisions made.   

3.8. In agreeing to work collaboratively as the sub-national transport body, individual 

authorities retain the roles and responsibilities as transport authorities.  It is also 

recognised that individual authorities retain the ability to work collaboratively with other 

partners/groupings on other issues where that is appropriate. 

3.9. At the start of each municipal year the chair of the sub-regional growth boards will be 

invited to nominate their representative to the sub-national transport body for the 

following 12 months.   

3.10. At the start of each municipal year the chair of the Swindon and Wiltshire LEP will be 

invited to nominate their representative to the sub-national transport body. 

3.11. The sub-national transport body may co-opt representatives from other organisations to 

its membership where this is appropriate and where their participation is seen as adding 

value to its work.  The duration of a co-opted member’s appointment will be determined 

by the body at the time of the appointment. 

 

Declarations of Interest 

Page 548

https://twitter.com/economicheart


 www.englandseconomicheartland.com  @EconomicHeart 

Page 3 of 5 

 

 

 

 

3.12. Normal rules as to declarations of interest and conflicts of interest will apply to all elected 

members in accordance with their respective local authority’s code of conduct. 

3.13. Elected members appointed to the sub-national transport body are required to identify at 

the start of the municipal year any specific declarations of interest relevant to the function 

of the body.  The EEH business unit will maintain a register of interests declared by 

members of the body. 

3.14. Elected members shall at the start of each meeting identify any additional interests where 

these are pertinent to items on the agenda of that meeting. These will be recorded in the 

meeting minutes.  

4. Appointment of Chair and Vice-Chair 

4.1. The members of the sub-national transport body shall elect a Chair and Vice-Chair at the 

first meeting of the municipal year.  The Chair and Vice-Chair must be nominated and 

elected representatives from a transport authority. 

4.2. The Chair and Vice-Chair may serve up to a maximum of two consecutive years, at which 

point they will be required to stand down as chair or vice-chair.  An elected member who 

has served two consecutive years may put themselves forward for consideration again as 

chair or vice chair but only after a minimum period of two years has elapsed. 

4.3. The Chair will represent the interests of the sub-national transport body in national and 

other sub-regional activity and decision making.  Where the Chair is unavailable, he/she 

may delegate representation and decisions to the Vice-Chair. 

5. Meetings 

5.1. Meetings of the sub-national transport body will be held quarterly as a minimum. 

Additional meetings will be arranged with the agreement of the Chair if required. 

5.2. The Chair shall be responsible for conducting the business of the sub-national transport 

body. In the absence of the Chair this responsibility will pass to the Vice-Chair. 

5.3. The EEH business unit will provide the administrative and secretariat support to the sub-

national transport body.  The chief officer of the EEH business unit will work with the Chair 

and Vice-Chair to ensure that the agenda for each meeting supports the delivery of the 

agreed programme of work. 

5.4. All papers and meetings of the governance structure to oversee the sub-national transport 

body will be held in public, with all interested parties able to attend meetings.   

5.5. Papers for each meeting will be issued one calendar week in advance of the meeting and 

will be published on the EEH website. 

5.6. The Chair may seek the agreement of the members of the sub-national transport body for 

consideration of specific items to be undertaken in ‘closed’ session.  In such circumstances 

the Chair shall set out to the body the reasons as to why a closed session is appropriate: 

this may include the need to consider issues that are of a commercial or sensitive nature. 

Right of Address 

5.7. Interested third parties may request the opportunity to address the sub-national transport 

body in respect of any item on the body’s agenda, or in respect of an issue pertinent to 

the work of the sub-national transport body.  Where an interested third party addresses 

the body, they will be limited to a maximum of five minutes per organisation. 

5.8. Requests to address a meeting of the sub-national transport body must be submitted to 

the EEH business unit in advance and should be received no later than two working days 

before the meeting is held. 

5.9. The EEH business unit will advise the Chair of any requests to address the meeting.  The 

Chair will have the right to defer a request to address the body if they think such a 

deferment is appropriate. 

5.10. The Chair, may in exceptional circumstances, agree to accept a request to address a 

meeting made from the floor at the start of that meeting. 

5.11. Interested third parties may be invited to participate in meetings of the sub-national 

transport body where this adds value to the body’s debate on a specific issue. 

Page 549

https://twitter.com/economicheart


 www.englandseconomicheartland.com  @EconomicHeart 

Page 4 of 5 

 

 

 

 

Sub-Groups/Task and Finish Groups 

5.12. The sub-national transport body may establish sub-groups and/or time-limited task and 

finish groups where this is appropriate to address specific issues.  Such groups will be 

member-led and may involve interested third parties where their participation adds value 

to the work of the group. 

6. Decision Making  

6.1. Each full member of the sub-national transport body shall have a vote.  The Chair of the 

body will have an original but not a casting vote.  

6.2. For decisions to be quorate, the body must have representation from at least 50% of 

members with voting rights, either members of the body or their delegates. 

6.3. In the interim period between body meetings, the chair shall have delegated responsibility 

to make any decisions that require urgent attention. All decisions made shall be reported 

back to the subsequent meeting of the body.  

7. Ways of Working 

7.1. The members of the sub-national transport body will: 

• Consider and agree the annual business plan for the body, based on advice received 

from the chief officer of the EEH business unit 

• Consider and agree the level of local contribution payable by each local 

transport/highway authority in support of the work of the sub-national transport body 

• Consider and agree a three-year medium term financial plan, based on advice received 

from the chief officer of the EEH business unit and updated on an annual basis 

• Maintain a register of strategic risks in so far as they relate to the work of England’s 

Economic Heartland as the sub-national transport body 

• Receive a monitoring report from the chief officer of the EEH business unit on progress 

with delivery of the annual business plan 

• Publish an annual report at the end of each municipal year summarising the work of 

the sub-national transport body  

7.2. The annual business plan will be finalised in the final quarter of each municipal year and 

be consistent with the overall budget available for the subsequent municipal year. 

7.3. The level of local contribution will be finalised in the final quarter of each municipal year, 

payable in the first quarter of the next municipal year to which it applies. 

7.4. England’s Economic Heartland will publish an annual report at the end of each municipal 

year summarising the work of the sub-national transport body. 

Access to Technical Work and Tools 

7.5. The technical work and tools commissioned by EEH as the sub-national transport body will 

be freely available to all members of the body.  Members may in turn, in consultation with 

the EEH business unit, arrange for organisations working on their behalf to have ready 

access to the technical work and tools. 

7.6. As the sponsoring department within government, the Department for Transport will have 

free access to the technical work and tools commissioned by the sub-national transport 

body. 

7.7. The chief officer for the EEH business unit may determine that additional third parties shall 

have access to the technical work and tools commissioned by the sub-national transport 

body.  In these circumstances the chief officer may determine it appropriate to recover 

reasonable costs incurred with providing such access. 

 

Additional Commissioned Work 

7.8. The accumulated knowledge, experience and expertise held within the EEH business unit 

provides the members of the sub-national transport body with a technical capacity and 

capability upon which members of the body may draw. 

Page 550

https://twitter.com/economicheart


 www.englandseconomicheartland.com  @EconomicHeart 

Page 5 of 5 

 

 

 

 

7.9. Additional work, beyond that agreed in the annual business plan, may be undertaken by 

the EEH business unit subject to the scope of that work being agreed the chief officer and 

the funds required to undertake the work being available. 

8. Accountable Body 

8.1. England’s Economic Heartland is a strategic collaborative partnership.  The members of 

EEH will ensure that arrangements are made for there to be an accountable body. 

8.2. The accountable body shall: 

• Undertake S151 and monitoring officer duties on behalf of England’s Economic 

Heartland 

• Be responsible for collecting and holding all funds associated with England’s Economic 

Heartland – including monies from DfT and partner organisations 

• Host the EEH business unit on behalf of the partnership 

8.3. The accountable body shall ensure that, within the funds associated with England’s 

Economic Heartland, a reserve is identified sufficient to cover current liabilities associated 

the work of the EEH business unit. 

9. Technical and Administrative Support 

The EEH business unit 

9.1. The business unit is a dedicated lead established to support the work of England’s 

Economic Heartland.  Led by its chief officer it is responsible for ensuring the agreed 

annual business plan is delivered in a timely and cost-efficient manner. 

9.2. The business unit shall provide the administrative and technical support to the sub-

national transport body.  It may also provide administrate and technical support to other 

groupings where this is consistent with the purpose of England’s Economic Heartland. The 

chief officer may, where it is appropriate, recover any additional costs incurred in 

providing such support to other groupings. 

9.3. Contracts of employment for staff employed by the EEH business unit shall be held by the 

accountable body unless otherwise agreed by the chief officer. 

Transport Officer Group 

9.4. To aid and inform the delivery of the work programme associated with the annual business 

plan the EEH business unit shall convene the Transport Officer Group. 

9.5. The Transport Officer Group shall comprise representatives from all members of the sub-

national transport body, including associate members and observers.  In addition, it may 

include representatives from third parties where this will bring added value. 

9.6. The Transport Officer Group shall be chaired by a representative drawn from its 

membership.  The chief officer of the EEH business unit shall work with the chair of the 

Transport Officer Group to ensure that the work of the group supports the delivery of the 

agreed annual business plan. 

9.7. The work of the Transport Officer Group is to provide informed advice and input into policy 

development.  The output of the group’s work will either feed into papers presented to the 

sub-national transport body, or in technical work subsequently published on the EEH 

website. 

9.8. Meetings of the Transport Officer Group are not held in public and papers considered by 

the meeting are not public documents. 

 

 

July 2021 

Page 551

https://twitter.com/economicheart


This page is intentionally left blank



 www.englandseconomicheartland.com  @EconomicHeart 

Page 1 of 2
 

Dear Cllr Leffman,  

Creation of Strategic Transport Leadership Board and nominations for membership 

 

As England’s Economic Heartland’s (EEH) interim programme director, I am delighted to write 

to you today to confirm the arrangements for the creation of EEH’s new Strategic Transport 

Leadership Board.  

As you know, EEH Leaders recently reviewed the governance structure for England’s Economic 

Heartland. Building on the success of the previous format and putting EEH in good stead for 

the future, EEH Leaders agreed to consolidate EEH’s two political-level meetings – the 

Strategic Transport Forum and EEH Leaders meeting – into one single meeting.  

As a result, a new EEH Board is being formed. Subject to agreement at its first meeting on 

Friday 24th September (11am to 1pm), we propose that the new meeting be named the 

Strategic Transport Leadership Board.  I attach a copy of its terms of reference, as amended 

and subsequently agreed, by EEH Leaders in July 2021.  

The new Board will continue to ensure our focus on driving outcomes and delivering 

investment for the benefit of the region. I know this has always been a priority for Leaders in 

supporting and investing in EEH. Going forward we will continue to ensure that: 

- EEH complements the powers, responsibilities and accountabilities of its partners.  

Collaboration is fundamental to our approach, allowing us to speak with one voice 

on issues of genuine strategic interest 

- EEH’s approach continues to consider strategic infrastructure in the round, including 

digital connectivity and energy systems 

- that all the tools and technical work undertaken by EEH is made freely available to 

all partners for their own use. This gives rise to considerable added value, 

particularly with respect to the tools EEH has developed as part of our regional 

evidence base.  Government departments and arms-length bodies likewise have 

free access to all tools and technical work. 

Cllr Liz Leffman  

Leader 

Oxfordshire County Council 

County Hall 

New Road 

Oxford  

OX1 1ND 

 

Email:  Liz.Leffman@Oxfordshire.gov.uk 

 

EEH Business Unit 

c/o Buckinghamshire Council 

Walton Street 

Aylesbury 

HP20 1UA 

Date: 18 August 2021 

Page 553

https://twitter.com/economicheart


 www.englandseconomicheartland.com  @EconomicHeart 

Page 2 of 2
 

 

Appointment of Board Members 

With the creation of the new Board, a key priority is to invite nominations for its membership.  

The legislative framework under which STBs are established is clear: the members of 

England’s Economic Heartland are its relevant transport authorities, specifically county 

councils, unitary councils and the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority. 

As such, I am now inviting each partner authority to submit their nomination to the new 

Board. Given the significance that the Department for Transport places on EEH as the sub-

national transport body for the region, it is anticipated that the political leader of each 

transport authority would wish to be the representative on the STB.  However, by seeking 

nominations, each individual authority has the flexibility to determine who is best placed to 

represent their interests on the Board.  

In line with the terms of reference for the Board, nominations will be invited on an annual 

basis, to be reviewed at the start of each municipal year.  Given the timing of the Board’s 

creation, current nominations will be invited to remain until May 2023.  

I would therefore welcome confirmation of your nominated representative to be provided to 

EEH by close of business on Tuesday 14th September 2021.  

In addition to core Board members, it is essential that membership of the STB reflects our 

strong and effective working relationships with sub-regional groupings, such as growth boards 

and with national and regional infrastructure and delivery organisations. Member 

arrangements for these groups are set out within the attached terms of reference.  

The Chair and Vice Chair of the new Board will be elected at the beginning of its first meeting, 

on 24th September 2021.  

Annual Report 

The creation of the new Board marks a positive step in EEH’s evolution and sets the 

organisation on a strong basis to continue our work programme and ambition. As such, I also 

attach a copy of EEH’s most recent annual report, published in July 2021.   

I very much look forward to meeting you, and to continuing our work with Oxfordshire County 

Council going forward. If you would like a more detailed discussion about the content of this 

letter, or any of the work underway by EEH business unit, I would be delighted to meet with 

you in the weeks ahead.   

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 

Naomi Green  

Interim Director  

(email: ngreen@englandseconomicheartland.com) 

 

Copied to: Yvonne Rees, Chief Executive 

 

Page 554

https://twitter.com/economicheart


 

Divisions Affected – Benson & Cholsey, Chalgrove & Watlington 

 

CABINET  

21 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 

Watlington Relief Road 
 

Report by Corporate Director Environment and Place 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

 
1. The Cabinet is RECOMMENDED to 

 
a) Approve the revised alignment route (figure 1) and approve progression into 

Design and Procurement Stage 2 of the project.  
 

b) Approve in principle the use of The Oxfordshire County Council (Watlington 

Relief Road) Compulsory Purchase Order 202[x] in parallel with negotiations 
for private acquisition, with such powers of compulsory purchase used only 

as a matter of last resort. If Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) is required 
to deliver the project, we will seek further approval, subject to the scheme 
meeting all CPO requirements and the paper will be brought back to Cabinet, 

once the necessary approval has been sought, including public engagement 
on preferred options and submission of a planning application for the 
scheme. 
 

 

Executive Summary 

 

2. The Options Assessment Report (OAR) for Watlington Relief Road project has 
been completed.  This consisted of the assessment of the route alignment 
options, stakeholder engagement and a development of a route preference that 

has been consulted with key stakeholders. Following comments, the 
recommendation is to move to Stage 2 of the project with the revised alignment 

as consulted. 
 
Land acquisition 

 
3. OCC don’t currently own any of the land which the Watlington Relief Road 

(WRR) would be built upon. Although landowners are being cooperative and 

supportive at the present time it would be prudent, given the amount of time 

(over 18 months) required in the Compulsory Purchase process, that a 

Page 555

Agenda Item 13



CA13 

compulsory purchase formal process is initiated to avoid potential delays at a 

later date.  

 

Exempt Information 

 
4. This report is not confidential or exempt 

 

Background 

 

5. The project is to provide an alternative route which will be known as the 

Watlington Relief Road (WRR). It will connect the B4009 (southeast of 

Watlington) and the B4009 junction with Pyrton Lane/Station Road. The WRR 

will provide direct access to the B4009 whilst alleviating congestion in the town 

centre, enabling future re-prioritisation of road space and improving the air 

quality – Watlington currently has a declared Air Quality Management Area. The 

cumulative impact of the proposed developments would have a severe impact 

on the existing traffic situation and worsen air quality in the centre of Watlington.  

 

6. The primary function of the WRR is to release housing developments in the area 

to achieve the goals of the emerging SODC Local Plan (2033), the Watlington 

Neighbourhood Plan and ultimately the Housing & Growth Deal. The local 

Watlington community supports the housing developments with the proviso that 

the WRR is delivered to mitigate the transport impact generated from the 

developments. 

 

7. The WRR will provide the developments with direct access to the B4009 either 

side of Watlington without the need to travel through the town itself. This will 

have a positive effect on the Air Quality in the town centre as Watlington is 

currently a declared Air Quality Management Area. It will also help to unlock 

new housing developments elsewhere in the vicinity of Watlington. 

 

8. As an alternative route was identified in the optioneering stage work to the 

safeguarded route, it is a requirement that approval is given to continue to 

Design and Procurement stage 2 of the project. 

 

9. As part of the Optioneering Appraisal report, it has been recommended to 

progress through the next stage of the project and consider low speed relief 

road that will have infrastructure provisions for pedestrians, cyclists and 

equestrians, such as crossings and cycling routes. 

 

Page 556



CA13 

 

Corporate Policies and Priorities 

 

10. The delivery of the Watlington Relief Road project will actively support the 
following key themes within Oxfordshire County Council’s Corporate Plan 2020-

24: 
 
(a) Providing services that enhance the quality of life and protect the 

local environment – The Watlington Relief road project will promote the 

modal shift away from private cars and into the more sustainable modes 

of travel of public transport, cycling and walking. This will be for both 

existing traffic as well as supporting future development in the area, 

enabling a culture change from the outset driven by the provision of 

quality infrastructure, rather than attempting to ‘retrofit’ afterwards. 

 

(b) Taking action against Climate Change – by reducing congestion and 

promoting modal shift in how people travel, there are clear benefits in 

terms of reducing carbon emissions, promoting ‘zero carbon travel’ and 

improving air quality in the area. 

 

(c) WRR aligns with, the South Oxfordshire Local Plan, 2011-2035 policy 

TRANS3 sets out that the land is safeguarded to support the delivery of 

a bypass for Watlington to reduce traffic congestion, subsequently 

lowering carbon emissions.  

 

(d) The scheme supports the OCC’s Local Transport Plan 4 (LTP4) – Goal 

1 - Supporting growth and economic vitality Connecting Oxfordshire 

supports the growth aspirations of the SEP, the economic growth 

strategy for the county. 

 

(e) The WRR scheme is compliant with the Watlington Neighbourhood 

Development Plan (WNDP), one of the aims identified at the outset of 

the WNDP is “To safeguard land for a re-aligned B4009 to the north and 

west of the town in order to reduce congestion in the town centre, to 

improve air quality and provide a route for some through traffic.” 

 

(f) Pyrton Neighbourhood Plan (PNP) Policy SA1: Former MoD site 

(PYR1) This policy supports the principle of developing the PYR1 site for 

residential development with associated landscape and infrastructure 

works. The PNP includes two of the sites identified for the WRR, referred 

to as PYR1 and PYR2. Both sites are subject to a site-specific policy in 

the PNP. 

 

Page 557



CA13 

Key Issues  

 
11. The Options Appraisal Report (OAR, Annex C) has looked at a range of options 

that a potential relief road can take through SITE A, SITE B, SITE C, PYR 2 & 

PRY1.  Both ends connect to B4009 via the B480. 

 

12. Initially there was a safeguarded route through the development sites, but it was 

not supported by a range of key stakeholders in the area.  The OAR has looked 

at what is achievable and alongside this, discussions have been undertaken 

with the Parish Councils (Watlington & Pyrton), housing developers & agents, 

the Environment Agency, Pyrton Manor and Icknield Community College (ICC).  

 

13. The discussions in conjunction with the OAR have led to the development of a 

preferred alignment (see figure 1) which takes on board the key stakeholders 

concern and requirements as much as possible (see Annex A: OAR 

Amalgamated Consultation Response).  Unfortunately, some requirements of 

stakeholders are in direct conflict with others and where possible, a fair balance 

has been achieved.  The below table shows stakeholder support for the 

scheme: 

 

Figure 1 - Revised alignment plan (see Annex B more details)  

 
 

 

 

Page 558



CA13 

 

Figure 2 - Stakeholder Consultation Summary 

STAKEHOLDER 

GENERALLY 

SUPPORTIVE? 

SUPPORT 

SCORE      

(1 High-5 

Low) QUESTIONS? 

SUMMARY OF 

RESPONSE 

NARRATIVE 

Pyrton Parish 

Council Yes 2 Answered 

Support the 

scheme subject 

to some minor 

tweaks 

Watlington 

Parish Council Yes 1 Answered 

Support the 

scheme 

Pyrton Manor Yes 2 Answered 

Support the 

scheme subject 

to some 

requests 

Beechcroft Yes 1 Answered 

Support the 

scheme 

Providence 

Homes Yes 1 Answered 

Support the 

scheme 

ICC Yes 1 No Questions 

Support the 

scheme 

Sport England Yes 1 Answered 

Support the 

scheme 

Watlington 

Cricket Club No 4 Answered 

Do not support 

the scheme as 

it does not allow 

or fund a new 

Cricket facility 

Local resident No 5 Answered 

Do not support 

the scheme.  As 

the closest 

resident they 

are impacted 

the most heavily 

Shirburn Parish 

Council No 5 Answered 

Do not support 

the scheme.  

Concerns 

around impact 

on Heritage and 

views 

 

 

Page 559



CA13 

14. Majority of stakeholder support the route alignment and the benefits the relief 

road brings. Three stakeholders do not support the route as described in (Figure 

2 - stakeholder consultation summary table).  There are constraints to the 

mitigation possible on the alignment as housing development (labelled PYR1 

on the figure 1 – revised alignment plan diagram) has already started on site 

and it is not possible to thread a road alignment through their site & development 

PYR2 (see figure 1 – revised alignment plan diagram) without extensive third-

party land purchase which is beyond the budget of the scheme.   

 

15. Figure 3 summarises the key benefits for the revised alignment over the 

safeguarded route: 

 

Figure 3 – benefits of the revised alignment over the safeguarded route 

1 Supported by both parish Councils 

2 Protects against future infill housing/development 

3 Relocates the road further away from Pyrton Manor 

4 Provides an alternative access point to ICC 

5 Creates a longer section of shared use path along the existing Pyrton Lane 

 

16. The next step in this project is to progress to Stage 2 –Design & Procurement.  

Stage 2 will address some of the questions raised by stakeholders in further 

detail, but it is unlikely that opposers to the scheme will change given the impact 

the revised alignment (and any relief Road for some stakeholders) has.  

Residents along the road can be mitigated as best possible in the next stage of 

the project where identified concerns can be assessed, and any mitigation or 

compensatory measures can be confirmed in further detail. 

 

Land Acquisition 

 
17. Providence, Bloor and Beechcroft Developments Limited control land that is 

required for the delivery of Watlington Relief Road. For Site A, B, C and PYR2, 

Providence and Bloor have agreed to construct parts of the WRR and either 

dedicate land necessary for the completion of the WRR for a peppercorn or 

complete further sections of Edge Road subject to additional funding being 

provided. 

 

a) Site A: Housing developer, Bloor Homes will build a large road section on 

their site and will safeguard two further parcels of land where OCC will build 

a section of road called Link 3 and an upgraded junction called Junction 1. 

Planning has been granted for Site A with outstanding discharge conditions. 

A s106 agreement in place. If OCC needs more land for Link 3 than is 

currently safeguarded (e.g., for flood compensation storage), that the 

developer isn’t required to dedicate land outside the safeguarded area, and 

Page 560



CA13 

they don’t agree to dedicate for a peppercorn. OCC may have to purchase 

the extra land for a higher cost, CPO the land. 

 

b) Sites B, C and PYR2: A MOU with the developers Providence is in place, 

that land for the relief road would be dedicated to OCC at a peppercorn. 

Within sites B, C and PYR2 the developer will construct the section of WRR 

shown along Site B, Site C, PYR2. Where sections of WRR are not being 

funded from the development on that parcel, the developer will either (as 

OCC directs) dedicate any remaining land within their control required for 

that section of the Road to the Highway Authority (or such other body as 

OCC directs) for a peppercorn no later than commencement of any 

development of land, a s106 agreement that makes provision for Junction 1 

and land requirements - either the dedication of land and/or direct build of 

the junction – is needed.  

 

c) Site PYR1: For Site PYR1, Beechcroft Developments Limited will dedicate 

the land for a peppercorn to OCC that they control necessary for the 

construction of a road junction called, Junction 3, once they’ve implemented 

their planning (but they won’t build it). If OCC needs more land for Junction 

3 than is currently safeguarded (e.g., for a larger roundabout), that the 

developer isn’t required to dedicate land outside the safeguarded area and 

they don’t agree to dedicate for a peppercorn. OCC may have to purchase 

the extra land for a higher cost, CPO the land. 

 

18. In order to successfully deliver the scheme, it is vital that the land interests 

required for the scheme are delivered in a timely manner to ensure that the 

funding deadline is not passed. This may be by transfer of land under S106 

agreements, acquisition by agreement or acquisition under compulsory 

purchase powers.  Although landowners are supportive, there is a risk that, if 

OCC waits for negotiations to break down valuable time will be lost before 

starting the compulsory purchase process. Therefore, it is necessary to plan a 

compulsory purchase timetable as a contingency measure, and Initiate formal 

procedures. OCC seek to prove that: 

 there is a compelling case in the public interest for the land to be 

acquired compulsorily. 

 there are no reasonable alternatives to compulsory acquisition 

(including modifications to the scheme) which would have a lessor 

impact. 

 the acquisition is necessary and proportionate. 

 the land to be acquired is no more than is reasonably required for the 

purposes of the development. 

 there is a compelling case it is in the public interest to proceed. 

Page 561



CA13 

Financial Implications 

 
19. Growth Deal funding has been identified to potentially forward fund the entire 

length of the WRR subject to successful negotiation with developers regarding 
both land, access to land and proportional funding towards the WRR. If such 

negotiations are successful, accepted and agreed to, the full costs of delivering 
would be re-paid through S106 contributions.  
 

20. Our latest revised delivery plan indicates that the project (without potential CPO) 
will not be delivered by March 2023 and the growth deal funding will need to be 

extended, subject to approval. Current planned completion date is July 2024. In 
terms of extending the growth deal funding we will be seeking approval through 
the Growth board and Homes England 

 
21. The current allocated budget is £7.13m for the delivery of the sections of the 

WRR OCC must deliver. There will be further ongoing reviews on project costs 
as we proceed through the Design and Procurement stage 2 of the project. 
 

22. Current assumption is that the land will be secured through S106 at a minimal 
cost to OCC and if CPO is required, the scheme is not currently fully funded and 

would need to seek further approval before progressing with CPO development. 
 

Comments checked by: 

 
Rob Finlayson, Finance business Partner, rob.finlayson@oxfordshire.gov.uk 

 

Legal Implications 

 

Statutory Powers 
 

23. Members should note that whilst the Council has compulsory purchase powers 
as an Acquiring Authority, under the Highways Act 1980 and the Acquisition of 
Land Act 1981, as referenced elsewhere in this report, these powers should be 

used as a matter of last resort. Dialogue with affected landowners has 
commenced and will continue in parallel to acquire by negotiation as a first 

principle. 
 

24. While an Authority can use compulsory purchase powers where it is justified 

and expedient to do so, in considering whether to confirm the CPO, the 
Secretary of State will need to be convinced that there is a compelling case in 

the public interest for compulsory acquisition. Members should therefore apply 
a similar test before authorising the in-principle decision to use these powers 
based on the balance of the information contained in this report. This is in the 

knowledge that a further report will be brought to Cabinet at a later date seeking 
authority to make the formal statutory Order itself. 

 
 
 

 

Page 562



CA13 

25. The principal powers in the Highways Act 1980 are: 
 

(a) Section 239(1), which provides that a highway authority may acquire land 

required for the construction of a highway which is to be maintainable at 
the public expense; 

(b) Section 239(3) which allows a highway authority to acquire land for the 
improvement of a highway being an improvement which the authority is 
authorised to make under the Act; 

(c) Section 240, which allows the acquisition of land in relation to an order 
under Section 14 

(d) Section 246 authorises the acquisition of land for the purpose of 
mitigating the adverse effects of the construction or improvement of 
highways;  

(e) Section 260 authorises the clearance of the title to land already held by 
the Council and required for the scheme and which might otherwise 

interfere with the Council’s activities in exercising its statutory powers to 
construct the works. 

 

though it should be noted that a full assessment of appropriate Highways Act 
powers will be included in the Report to Cabinet for the making of the CPO in 

due course. 
 

Comments checked by: 

 
Andrew Stone – Law & Governance, Andrew.stone@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
 

Staff Implications 

 

26. The resource requirements to successfully deliver Watlington Relief Road are 
capital funded through the housing growth Deal. There are sufficient resources 

from existing project and technical management functions, primarily within the 
Growth and Economy Service. This will be supported by other disciplines from 
across the Council organisation as the need arises. 

 
27. Specialist legal advisors are already engaged to provide support to the CPO 

and other such statutory processes to limit the potential for future challenge to 
an absolute minimum. 
 

28. The forecast Council staffing costs of project and technical management to 
completion are contained within the total budget quoted within this report. 

 

Equality & Inclusion Implications 

 

29. The equalities implications of the Watlington Relief Road scheme will be 
assessed robustly through the design development stages of the scheme.  

These equalities implications will be considered in line with the Equality Act 
2010 and through the completion of an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) as 
part of the development of the Watlington Relief Road project 

Page 563



CA13 

 

Sustainability Implications 

 

30. During the stage 2 of scheme delivery there will be specific sustainability targets 
imposed during the design and build of the project 

Risk Management 

 

31. As part of this project risks have been identified, assessed and mitigated where 
possible.  The change of route away from the safeguarded route is to appease 
key stakeholders and move towards a more deliverable project. 
 

32. Key risks: 

Deliverability A route has been identified that is achievable 

pending further investigation work 

Support of Key 
Stakeholders 

Stakeholders have been consulted in the 
development of the preferred route to obtain 
as much support and acceptance as possible. 

 

Consultations 

 

33. A Comms plan is in place.  OCC has recently undertaken consultation with Key 
Stakeholders through the local plan to obtain feedback on the revised 

alignment.  As part of the feasibility - Stage 1 work, further consultation will be 
undertaken prior to submission of the planning application with each of the 
developers 

 
 

Bill Cotton 
Corporate Director for Environment and Place 

 

Annex:  
A. OAR Amalgamated Consultation Response 

B. Revised Alignment Plan 
C. OAR Report 

 

Contact Officer: Marco Assucena, South & Vale Programme Lead, 
 07922849387, Marco.Assucena@oxfordshire.gov.uk 

 
September 21 
 

Page 564



No. Question Response

1 What will happen to the land north of the relief road in PYR2? 2.2ha will be transferred to OCC for use by ICC in school time and community use outside of school requirements.  The rest 

will be transferred to Pyrton Parish Council.  Should the school relocate, the 2.2ha will be transferred to Pyrton Parish 

Council on the uderstanding that community sports use will still be provided.

2 How much area is required for housing? 4ha or 5ha? OCC have discussed this with Providence Homes and the total area is 5ha. With  4ha. allocated for housing, and 1ha. for 

environmental mitigation.  The alignment shown is the optimum arrangment for all stakeholders but a minor rebalance may 

be achievable subject to discussions as preliminary design progresses.

3 In the north is it possible to realign the relief road so that it passes south of PYR1 rather than as shown? OCC have discussed this possibility with Beechcroft Developments Ltd and unfortunately there are a range of problems that 

make this option undeliverable.

4 What mitigation is proposed for noise/visual/air impact along the route? Landscaping and mitigation requirements will be assessed and decided in the following stages of the project.

5 What are the street lighting proposals along the route? Street Lighting requirements will be assessed in the following stages of the project.  Given the speed limit will be 30mph, 

there is a requirement for street lighting although appropriate lighting levels will be assessed.

6 Will Pyrton Lane be closed to traffic? It makes sense to close the existing Pyrton Lane and make this a walking/cycling link

7 Can the speed limit of station road be changed to 30mph? This can be investigated further in the next stages of the project

8 Can the Britwell Road end of the relief road be been swept around and the priority changed so that it is 

a more desirable route?  This may require third party land to work

This is being investigated further, similar to the original Bloor proposal.

9 What is the OCC assessment of how effective the route will be in attracting through traffic away from 

the town centre?

We may need to consider elements of traffic calming to remove traffic from Watlington, wthether this is required or not is 

part of forthcoming traffic modelling.  We understand you have had discussions with other OCC officers about a 20mph zone 

throug the town.

10 Can OCC provide some clarity on the proposed bus dropping off point for ICC? Liason with the school is ongoing as to how they can make best use of this facility

11 How will the edge road contribute to improvements in provision for active travel? This will be investigated further in the preliminary design stage, the provision of a shared use path along the full length of 

the relief road is planned, with the south side being the preference.

12 How will bus services be provided along the edge road? This is being considered internally at the moment.

13 Crossing points will be needed at junctions with the B4009 at both ends of the edge road and with 

Cuxham Road.  These are needed to for walkers, cyclists and horse riders to connect with the rights of 

way network in a safe way.

This will be investigated further in the preliminary design stage.

14 Will the developer provide planting and an accoustic barrier around both the school playing fields and 

new houses on WAT C?

Landscaping and noise mitigation requirements will be assessed and decided in the following stages of the project although 

purely from houses there is unlikely to be a significant increae in noise to trigger the need for accoustic dampening.

15 The road through Site C has been scalloped closer to the Manor and grounds.  You explained this is 

necessary for the contours to match with the road across PYR2. Can OCC, or SODC can compel the 

developers of Site C to do a extensive planting along the border with the Manor grounds.  This to create 

a decent and dense woodland area acting as a green buffer between the road, new houses, and the 

manor grounds.

Noted - The comments will be passed to SODC who will determine the planning appliction for WAT C

16 What is the proposed speed limit for the relief road? 30 mph.

17 Will there be a HGV ban on the relief road? Any roads that are subject to the area-wide weight limit will remain the same as after this road is constructed so any vehicles 

using this road will have to be for access purposes only.

18 It appears the study did not take into consideration the shortfalls of sports provision in the area.  The 

adopted South Oxfordshire District Council’s Playing Pitch Strategy identified the need for additional 

playing field/pitches.  The current site cannot accommodate the increasing demand.

The study undertaken by OCC is related to the provision of a relief road to Watlington, and whilst we have looked to 

incorporate space for school playfields we have done so because this is a requirement of the planning applications submitted 

by Providence Homes. 

The amount of housing in PYR2 to trigger the need for provisions of this nature has not been reached therefore it is not a 

requirement of the road or the housing.  North of the link road 2ha. of additional recreational space is proposed as part of 

the wider project.  This will be primarily for school use but can also be made available for community use outside of school 

requirements which will satisfy the demand for extra pitches.  As well as this the current footprint of the existing sports 

pitches will be increased.

19 The proposed road creates planning blight in the ability to create a double cricket pitch site which is 

need.  

The space has been designed to be multi use and in line with key stakeholders wishes for the area.  A dual-pitch cricket 

facility is unrealistic and not supported by other stakeholders and is  not an objective of this project.

P
age 565



20 It would be relevantly easy at this stage to realign the proposed road so that it does not impact on the 

potential for creating a double cricket pitch site.

The plans sent to OCC by independent consultancies do not accurately reflect the red line boundary of the Providence site, 

the relief road needs to be outside of this.  The plan produceds have significantly reduced the footprint from the Providence 

Masterplan below the 5ha. footprint required (4ha. for housing and 1ha. for environmental mitigation). One cricket pitch can 

be adequately sited on the site. If Icknield Community College relocates in the future, then WCC can discuss this becoming a 

new pitch with Pyrton Parish Council when the land is transferred to them as part of the agreement.  The alignmet shown 

has the support of key stakeholders and is a fair balance.

21 Sports England would welcome the opportunity to have a further meeting to disucss the proposals in 

more detail

A meeting was held with Sports England on 07/04/21 to discuss the responses given and involved representatives from OCC 

& SODC.  Sports England accepted OCC & SODC's approach to the design and the decision making process.  Sports England 

now understand that there is no requirement as part of the PYR2 development to provide for sports provision.

22 The exercise for the road alignment that has been undertaken does not take into account much if any of 

the information that contained in the document  The Future Development of PYR2  - a balanced 

approach

OCC have engaged with stakeholders throughout the optioneering.  In this process it was clear that although the options 

produced in the document mentioned were well thought out, they did not adequately satisfy all stakeholders and did not 

sufficiently consider the possibility of the school not relocating.  It was felt by most stakeholders that a double cricket pitch 

facility was unrealistic and that a multi-use sports facility would better suit the community.  The alignment has deviated from 

the safeguarded route following discussions with stakeholders to a point where both Parish Councils are happy with the 

proposal in principle.

23 There is no summary of the needs of the stakeholders in the area even though these have been put 

forward alongside our needs (Cricket Club)

This has been provided within this response

24 There is also no summary to show how OCC have considered that they have met the needs of the 

stakeholders in bringing forward the alignment that they have

This has been provided within this response

25 The only matter that appears to have had some consideration is the need or some of the needs of the 

school (probably under pressure from other departments on OCC) including a drop off for the school, a 

massive road configuration that will no doubt have to be dug up once the school moves to Chalgrove.  

Surely alternative provisions could be made to obviate the needs for such expenditure in the short term 

until the future of the school can be timetabled.  Also, with the road alignment at the corner of the 

school grounds a drop off there perhaps in the edge of the school grounds would be more considerate 

and practical, especially given that a substantial are of new playing field is being negotiated without 

thought of others. 

In moving the road further away from Pyrton Lane into the current school playing fields we have opened up a green gap 

between Watlington and Pyrton, something which both parishes are happy with.  

In order to do this, the school required mitigation. There is also an agreement in one of the planning decisions for 

Providence to supply land to ICC for additional school playfields.  Road alignment requirements mean that the radii cannot 

be tightened down any more than shown so the facility is a good use of space that can become parking provision in the 

future for the school playing fields when this area transfers to Pyrton and becomes sports provision.  This demonstrates the 

needs of Pyrton Manor, ICC and both parishes have been considered in the revised alignment.

26 The alignment shown does not work for cricket as currently shown because even if the dimensions of 

the cricket ground were reduced further from the minimum that we have shown, it is important to 

recognise that the ball will travel the same distance and therefore the juxtaposition to the road is 

important from a safety point of view.

One Cricket pitch will adequately fit on the site.

27 Watlington Cricket Club has a shared ground with football, but as both the sports are growing on the 

site, there is increasing inter-sport conflict. There is a need to find additional playing field space, which 

could be either for football or cricket. There will be a need to identify and secure an appropriate site 

and funding for the facility, so this is likely to be medium-long term aspiration.  

It is good that both sports are growing in the area and we are aware that Watlington PC are exploring new sites for the 

Cricket Club.

P
age 566



28 The 2035 Local Plan specifically seeks to provide new recreational facilities in Policies CF4 and in CF5 

indicates clearly that (2) New residential development will be required to provide or contribute towards 

accessible sport and recreation facilities, including playing pitches, having regard to the Council’s most 

up to date Leisure Study, and Sport England guidance. (3) The provision of open space, sport, recreation 

and play facilities, and playing pitches is expected to be delivered on site, unless this is demonstrated 

not to be feasible. (4). Provision for the future long-term maintenance and management of the open 

space and facilities will be sought and must be agreed as part of the planning application.  There is, 

therefore, the need to take consideration of the need for provision of recreation facilities.  Therefore, 

the District Council will be seeking to ensure the identified needs for cricket and football are catered for 

on PYR2.  Accordingly, the land allocated must be fit for purpose in order that the sports identified, in 

this case cricket can be provided.  The road alignment in its current form does not allow for the 

provision to be provided on this site but could be altered to ensure the relevant space is provided.

The school playing field site will be made available for community use outside of school times.  Long term this will remain 

the case as Pyrton Parish Council is supportive of sports provision on the site.

29 A new consideration is that Pyrton PC have issued a statement with respect to the future use of the 6 

hectares of land that is proposed to be given to them as part of the planning application land carve up.  

They have indicated that there is no place for recreation in their plans preferring to turn the area into a 

wild landscape ie do nothing as a preference which is understandable. 

The land to be transferred to Pyrton PC is theirs to do with as they wish.  The land to be transferred to OCC will be used for 

sports provision by ICC and the community.  Long term if this transfers to Pyrton PC they have agreed to retain its use for 

sports provision.

30 We will still be making our case that recreation needs to be provided for in the planning application as it 

states in the policy approach and it therefore needs to be paced within the relief road.  It would seem 

that the calculations do work if the following is considered.  The housing land required is 4h.  the school 

require 2h, and Cricket requires 4h.  The site is 14h so there would be 4h for Pyrton.  An even carve up 

and the land for Pyrton would be more than sufficient to carry out its objectives. 

There is no requirement to provide sports provision.

31 We attach our proposal that still maintains the balanced approach that we have always advocated. We 

have though given more land to Pyrton in our option as we are happy to put forward a ground sharing 

option with the school in that they get the land to use until they move and after that the land is 

transferred to WPCC and /or WPC to fulfil the obligations with regard to recreation Land.  Pyrton will 

therefore still have the lions share.  Further the location of the school land/Cricket field will provide a 

deep buffer for the Manor House and add to the separation of Pyrton from Watlington, engrained in the 

Pyrton NP which we have always respected.  

The plan shown moves the road closer to Pyrton Manor which was one of the main reasons for locating it further south and 

also moves the drop off area further away from the school entrance which will not be supported by the school.  The area for 

housing is not known but the assumption is this is 4ha.  Providence require 5ha. total area to deliver the 4ha. of housing as 

1ha. is required for environmental mitigation to deliver the site.  A deviation from this will make the scheme undeliverable 

as it will not be taken forward by the land agent. 

The plan is based around a northern alignment similar to that shown in the safeguarded route which is not supported by 

Pyrton PC.

32 One of the issues within the report was the cost and alignment of the road that is a balancing act.  We 

have shown a simpler line that is shorter and will therefore cost less   We still query the need for the 

turning head for the coaches given the short term needs of the school on this site but have shown it 

anyway for the short term.  This land could be a carpark allowing access to both the cricket ground and 

the PPC rewilding land.

The Turning head is a mitigation measure and aids removing traffic from Watlington itself which is a key aim of the project. 

33 The road proposals provided give no information on size, lighting, traffic speed, traffic calming 

measures, pedestrian/cycle routes, crossings, bus stops or any other information to be able to make 

judgement.

At this moment in time we do not have sufficient detail of all elements but this will develop as the scheme progresses, and 

you will be consulted further at the relevant stages.  Speed limit will be 30mph, a shared use path will be adjacent to the 

relief road and traffic calming measures are not proposed

34 The increase in traffic with thousands of new developments proposed throughout the length of the 

indicated routes shown in the adopted local plan will be a significant increase, many times over and 

above that currently experienced on the B4009. 

Noted

35 We have an entitlement to the enjoyment of the clean air, a quiet environment and the absence of light 

pollution that we have experienced over the last 15 years, and believe that any and all proposed 

changes would significantly depreciate that level of entitlement.

Mitigation requirements will be assessed and decided in the following stages of the project.

36 We are seeking further advice on this current situation and the manner in which it has been 

communicated to us.

Please do seek further advice. At this moment in time we do not have sufficient detail of all elements but this will develop as 

the scheme progresses, and you will be consulted further at the relevant stages.

P
age 567



37 The South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 allocates proportionate growth at Watlington of 15% supported 

by existing infrastructure, which is not 400 dwellings.

There has never been an explanation how the fund over wrote the statutory functions, duties and rights 

of allocation of housing sites through the local planning authority's plan making powers - and continues 

to do so.

This question has been forwarded to SODC for an answer as it is not specific to the OAR 

38 Oxfordshire County Council says the sum of £7,400 per dwelling contribution can be asked for from 

developers but with 400 houses this leaves a huge shortfall for a project said to be “part funded by the 

development” of houses.

The scheme is funded from growth deal funding

39 AECOM's report misses the fact that local "planned" housing growth has already been granted based on 

using spare highway capacity and improving it by local interventions - including parking removal. 

AECOM, and the fund, has to argue for speculative housing (presented in the report as planned on the 

strength of a speculative planning application for 100 dwellings in Pyrton) to justify a relief road.

The benefits of not needing a relief road by not allowing 100 additional speculative houses has not been 

considered.

40 The climate emergency seems to be largely ignored, which is extraordinary. There is no reason given 

why a transport scheme has not had to put great weight on if it mitigates and adapts to climate change 

and contributes to net zero. The report sets out that Watlington is a relatively unsustainable, high 

carbon emitting, car dependent, rural location (hence its growth is limited in the LP). The solution to this 

is, amazingly, to build a relief road with high embodied carbon (since the preferred route is partly 

though flood zone), and high operational carbon given a relief road will do nothing to change that 

individual vehicle use will remain the only realistic choice, and will increase from additional dwellings.

41 The report recognises the importance of Watlington being three miles off a motorway junction. Any 

gains from the claimed increases in active travel (which seem most unlikely in practice), will be vastly 

outweighed by the reassignment of through traffic diverting off M40 Junction 6 to make use of a new 

road, as demonstrated by Atkins strategic traffic model.

42 Report structure - has the latest version of the DfT's Transport Appraisal Guidance (TAG) been used for 

analysis (update due February 2021?)?

P
age 568



43 "Planned" housing at Watlington - as set out in policies in the adopted South Oxfordshire LP 2035 - is 

proportionate 15% growth supported by existing infrastructure as a larger village in the settlement 

hierarchy (LP 2035 para 4.18, Policy H4).

Providence Land in its consultation responses to the LP asked the planning authority to accelerate 

housing growth at Watlington by adding 100 dwellings to H4, but the LPA refused and kept housing 

growth at Watlington as proportionate. It must have had material reasons for doing this.

AECOM refers throughout the report to “planned development sites” ( 2.4.48 Other planned 

development sites, mentioned in both the Watlington Neighbourhood Development Plan and the 

Pyrton Neighbourhood Plan and the report goes on to list Pyr 1 and Pyr 2).

AECOM refers to the benefits of facilitating housing in Pyrton but when it refers to "planned" housing in 

Pyrton, it is referring to housing that is speculative and largely not supported by policies in the 

development plan. This undermines an ambitious local plan process, that already allocates a scale of 

development well in excess of land required to meet housing need. If not corrected, it allows any 

speculative housing proposal, that has not been through the process of public consultation, as part of 

developing a local plan; that has not been allocated by the LPA and that does not meet many of the 

development plan's policies, to be described as if it does.

The three planned, allocated housing sites in Watlington referred to in 2.4.60 (1) all have planning 

permission. Policies in Watlington Neighbourhood Development Plan do not allow a relief road, or any 

of the other transport options, to add a single extra dwelling at Watlington. Considering the Pyrton NDP, 

the Watlington NDP and local responses to planning applications, there is not support for a relief road 

to facilitate housing growth around Watlington, over and above proportionate growth.

This question has been forwarded to SODC for an answer as it is not specific to the OAR 

44 2.4.60 (2). Manage traffic growth across an expanded Watlington

AECOM says current traffic levels are causing problems. Neither the planning authority or the highway 

authority objected that 15% housing growth could be supported by the existing highway infrastructure 

with local enhancements funded by site developers. There must currently be spare existing capacity.

There is a useful body of evidence from various traffic studies of Watlington that identify very significant 

opportunities to increase capacity of existing highway, which have not been considered by AECOM. 

These studies need to be considered and an explanation given.

P
age 569



It is very surprising that the report covers air quality and quotes an AECOM study (Watlington Parking 

Study) that was not commissioned as an air quality report. The considerable body of expert evidence 

from leading low emission strategy consultants Ricardo on Watlington and air quality has not been 

considered. AECOM speculates without evidence about long term air quality benefits of a relief road. 

This has been examined in detail by Ricardo with the conclusion "future compliance with the Air Quality 

Objective is not reliant on the presence of the relief road (edge road)".

https://oxfordshire.air-quality.info/documents/ED13626_SODC_Watlington_Issue_1_Addendum.pdf

Historical air quality data for Watlington should be included in the report so there is an understanding 

that NO2 levels have very significantly reduced compared to the mid 2010s to either no exceedances, or 

fractional in one location, in recent years.

AECOM has an understanding of stop start driving since it refers to this in its report concerning route 

option A2&4 -B4. There is nothing to suggest it has fairly considered that existing highway capacity can 

be increased from managing stop start driving on Shirburn Street and Couching Street by removal of on 

street parking.

45 The decision to grant P17/S3231/O APP/Q3115/W/19/3222822 identified the extraordinary positive 

effect on traffic flow on Shirburn St and Couching St of straight forward, inexpensive changes to the 

current man made clogged up layout. Limited parking removal reduces journey times by 2024 with all 

planned development to below 2018 times with a saving of 149 and 89 seconds in the AM and PM 

peaks respectively (Appeal decision para 23). The inspector rejected AECOM's parking study as "unlike 

the appellant’s VISSIM model, the AECOM study was not validated in terms of being tested against 

actual flow data" (para 25).

The fact is local “planned” housing growth has already been granted based on using spare highway 

capacity and improving it by local interventions - limited parking removal.

Further parking removal and increased enforcement of the weight limit have not been considered by 

AECOM.

Concerning traffic growth across Watlington, AECOM notes the location is not a strategic transport 

corridor being connected by B-roads (designated in LTP4 as for local journeys), more rural unclassified 

lanes, a network of public rights of way and some rural bus services. There is no access to rail services in 

Watlington.

An important omission from AECOM's report is the environmental weight limit that covers a large area 

of rural roads around Watlington. The weight limit has been enforced by the county council for decades 

and this will remain unchanged.

There should be consideration that Watlington is not on a strategic transport corridor, and is not a 

location identified for employment growth, or exceptional housing growth. Benefits from investment in 

a transport scheme in such a location are considerably limited.

How has Watlington's location been considered in relation to economic objectives and the statutory 

duty to consider best value?

2.4.60 (3). Facilitate active travel within and around Watlington

It is difficult to understand how a relief road that will increase private car trips and possibly HGVs on 

local rural roads, including a lot more through traffic reassigning to use a new road, encourages active 

travel. Parking layout in Shirburn St and Couching St discourages cycling in the town centre. Within the 

larger village, Watlington has separate footpaths that are used by pedestrians to move about and the 

P
age 570



46 2.3 Data Review, 3 Policy Context and Objectives, 4 Option Generation & 5 Option Sifting

The relatively high carbon option taken forward (Option E) is based on a very backward looking 

selection of data sources, most of which are from before declaration of a climate emergency. Some are 

from before the government's ‘net-zero’ commitment of reducing climate change emissions to 100% 

lower than the 1990 baseline. This policy has a statutory footing in section 1 of the Climate Change Act 

2008 (2050 Target Amendment) Order 2019. All layers of local government have declared climate 

emergencies.

Option E compared to Option G has high embodied carbon from construction, in particular the section 

to be built through flood zone. It has high operational carbon as it will encourage individual private car 

use.

Generally all climate aware transport planning, including in Oxfordshire, is not to provide fully for 

increased demand by cars and freight vehicles for road capacity. The worsening effects on climate 

change of Option E a relief road, an intervention that locks in private car use, have not been accurately 

assessed. The reason given for rejecting Option G is not factually correct. Option G facilitates all planned 

housing, it has a positive effect on congestion taking account of wider growth at locations including 

Chalgrove and expert evidence shows because of the street canyon where exceedances have been 

recorded historically, it is the most effective intervention for air quality.

There is no explanation why more recent climate change policies and recommendations have not been 

included. Transport is the single biggest carbon emitting sector.

47 Examples of national policies and advice omitted from AECOM's anaylsis -

The DfT Decarbonising Transport, March 2020, is omitted as is "Policies for the Sixth Carbon Budget and 

Net Zero", December 2020, by the government advisory body on climate change, the Committee on 

Climate Change (CCC). The sixth carbon budget and DfT policy emphasise that the transport sector has 

to move from thirty years of failing to reduce its emissions to a rapid trajectory of emissions reduction. 

The Sixth Carbon Budget and DfT Decarbonising Transport strengthens schemes to support walking, 

cycling and public transport to reduce demand for private car trips. A relied road achieves the opposite, 

with many costs. The carbon budget report says:

" The public sector should lead the shift to other positive behaviours that reduce travel demand, for 

example encouraging home-working, facilitated through prioritising broadband investments over road 

network expansion.

CCC said its research "suggested that spatial planning was one of the biggest opportunities that local 

authorities have to deliver net zero"

P
age 571



48 Spatial planning of LP2035 allocates proportionate growth at Watlington as

a larger village in the settlement hierarchy which will have limited services and local employment and is 

a relatively unsustainable location compared to towns, the Science Vale growth corridor and sites close 

to Oxford city.

Evaluating a strategic transport scheme has to emphasise the spatial and strategic over the local. See 

Atkins' Oxfordshire strategic traffic modelling, July 2020:

"In the evening peak hour along the M40/A40 corridor, the model suggests a slight reduction in trips 

along the M40/A40 corridor. This is likely to be related to the incorporation of the Stadhampton and 

Watlington bypasses on the B480, with a certain percentage of traffic potentially diverted from the 

M40."

49 Oxfordshire County Council's draft Local Transport and Connectivity Plan

It is not mentioned. It says:

“Our Local Transport Plan Vision is for a net-zero Oxfordshire Transport system that enables the county 

to thrive as one of the world’s leading innovation economies, whilst supporting clean growth, protecting 

our rich and varied natural and historic environment and being better for health and well-being, social 

inclusivity and education. Our Plan sets out to achieve this by reducing the need to travel, securing high 

quality gigabit connectivity, and by discouraging unnecessary individual private vehicle use through 

making active travel, public and shared transport the natural first choice.”

50 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035

AECOM refers to the development plan as the "South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2034". 

Before adoption, LP 2034 was modified and the adopted version is the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 

2035. New policies were added to cut emissions from housing and transport in recognition of the need 

to mitigate and adapt for climate chance and the importance of local plans in meeting net zero.

The fund does not alter any of the statutory functions, duties and rights such as the allocation of 

housing sites through the local planning authority's plan making powers.

Noted

51 Chalgrove Airfield

A relief road at Watlington would serve the housing led strategic site included in LP2035 at Chalgrove 

Airfield. It is linked to Policy STRAT 7 Chalgrove Airfield in LP2035.

Monitoring of the WNDP is linked to progress of the residential development at Chalgrove Airfield 

(WNDP Monitoring 8.2).

There is considerable uncertainty the airfield development will proceed. The Civil Aviation Authority has 

recommended it is discontinued in a strongly worded and detailed objection. An outline planning 

application is due to be decided by 16th April 2021.

Highway infrastructure that is required to make development at the airfield acceptable is a matter for a 

planning application. It is likely that agreement, assuming some way forward is found, which seems 

most unlikely, will take several years and currently depends on a Compulsory Purchase Order the 

outcome of which can't be certain.

Noted

52 The Environment Agency has made the planning authority aware of its requirements for any route 

through flood zone e.g. EA response to P19/S4585/O

We have consulted with the Environment Agency on the proposals and will continue to do so as the project progresses

53 Oxfordshire County Council may not intend using compulsory purchase powers but rely on land being 

transferred to it for a peppercorn amount for the county to construct sections in return for planning 

permission for a certain number of dwellings should a relief road go ahead. Are such arrangements 

allowed under CIL Regulations?

Yes

P
age 572



54 The Parish Meeting still requests an explanation of the lack of due and proper consultation on this 

report, the serious delays in providing responses to perfectly reasonable questions and the cancelling of 

previous arranged consultations. This has denied the Parish Meeting their proper access to question and 

discuss the options.

OCC has offered to meet the Parish to discuss elements of the optioneering, and they chose not to attend meetings. It was 

explained at the time that the questions would be answered when the OAR was complete as the work was ongoing at the 

time and it wasn’t appropriate to comment at the time.

55 Given the time taken by Oxfordshire County Council/AECOM to produce the OAR it is impossible with 

the two weeks allowed for detailed meaningful and evidenced based comments to be made. Certain 

information was not published with the main report and we had to request this. This consultation has 

been limited to stakeholders only and not the wider residents who will impacted by this proposal.

The information not provided was explained in the email where it was clear this could be made available if requested.  When 

a planning application is prepared there will be an opportunity for the general public to comment although most of the 

views of the immediate residents will be conveyed through the Parish Councils.  Specific residents immediately impacted by 

the road have been consulted as part of this process.

56 The statistical information particularly on highways and traffic generation is out of date and does not 

reflect the up to date position in particular on the number of serious accidents in Shirburn Village not all 

of which are accurately recorded on the formal record.

If traffic data is not recorded then it cannot be used.  

57 Confirmation is required that the latest DfT’s Transport Appraisal Guidance has been considered

58 The OAR does not take account of the fact that the Oxford to Cambridge Expressway has been 

cancelled. This was said to potentially be a source of additional traffic volumes through Watlington by 

both Watlington Parish Council and by South Oxfordshire District Council in a motion opposing the road. 

Given that this represents a significant reduction in traffic volumes the Parish Meeting needs to 

understand how this has been taken into account.

59 The recommended Option E is in conflict and inconsistent with the Oxfordshire County Council draft 

Local Transport and Connectivity Plan which has a stated vision “ for net zero Oxfordshire Transport 

system that enables the county to thrive as one of the world’s leading innovation economies, whilst 

supporting clean growth, protecting our rich and varied natural and historic environment and being 

better for health and well-being, socially inclusivity and education.

60 The OAR effectively ignores the climate change emergency but sets out that Watlington is a relatively 

unsustainable , high carbon emitting, car dependant, rural location, hence its growth is limited in the 

SOLP. The option to construct the Watlington Relief Road will only increase from the additional 

dwellings as individual car use as the only realistic choice will increase.

61 The recommendation within the OAR is not compliant with Section 1 of the Climate Change Act 2008 

(2050 Target Amendment) Order 2019. The DfT Decarbonising Transport, March 2020 is ignored as is 

Policies for the Sixth Carbon Budget and Net Zero” December 2020 by the Committee on Climate 

Change. These require a rapid trajectory of emissions reduction, the recommended Option E will not 

achieve this

62 AECOM have ignored the Ricardo report on Watlington.  The OAR speculates without providing 

evidence of the long term benefits of the Relief Road. This was examined by the Ricardo Report with the 

conclusion “future compliance with the Air Quality Objective is not reliant on the presence of the Relief 

Road (Edge Road). Other reasons aside the proposed WRR should not be progressed on air quality 

grounds.

63 Despite numerous requests Oxfordshire County Council have not demonstrated or explained why their 

position on the need for the Watlington Relief Road has changed from there being no justification to 

supporting the proposal. 

P
age 573



64 Appendix B (Cultural Heritage) confirms that no site visit/inspection of the recognised heritage Assets 

has taken place and that this is a desk top study which amongst other legislation/planning guidance 

includes reference to the Design Manual for Roads and Bridges of which Section 3 Cultural Heritage sets 

out the table of magnitude of impact on designated heritage Assets. There does not appear to be any 

consideration of the magnitude of impact of Option E which we consider will be “Very Large” in terms of 

the guidance particularly on The Shirburn Registered Park and Garden, the Grade 1 Listed Shirburn 

Castle, Pyrton Manor and the three Conservation Areas identified.

The Parish Meeting has been asked to explain by the owners of the Shirburn Registered Park and 

Garden and the Listed Grade 1 Shirburn Castle why there has been no consultation, assessment or 

inspection with them direct, or in regard to the Conservation village of Shirburn, on such an impactful 

report and recommendation.

65 Appendix B Section 6 states that the preferred option is for P3, P5 and P7 to place the road as far 

possible from the Shirburn Registered Park and Garden with P1, P2 and P6 being the least favourable. 

Option E as recommended then selects one of the least favourable routes. It is incorrect to say that 

views will be screened by the existing depot. Option E lies to the north of the depot and will therefore 

be in full view of the Shirburn Registered Park and Garden and ignores the views for the whole length of 

the southern boundary of the Shirburn Registered Park and Garden and also of the views and vista from 

Shirburn Castle.

Option E may be the least favourable to Shirburn Parish Council but it is supported by both Watlington Parish Council, Pyrton 

Manor and Watlington Parish Council.  Due to constraints on the route other options are not feasible or favourable with key 

stakeholders.

66 Appendix C (Landscape and Visual) confirms (4.1.1) that any future planning application must include a 

Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment. This must include Shirburn Castle as views and vistas are 

impacted as well as the Shirburn Registered Park and Garden and the Conservation Areas.

67 There has been insufficient assessment and research of the heritage, ecological, environmental and air 

quality consequences of this proposal whichever route was chosen. Given the lack of time for 

consideration of the OAR the Parish Meeting reserves the right to bring forward further evidence based 

comment.

To date there have been predominantly DESK BASED investigations undertaken and FURTHER INVESTIGATIONS AND ON SITE 

SURVERYS will be undertaken during preliminary and detailed design of the project.  It is not feasible to conduct all of the 

investigation work until a route is confimed as there is a significant coverage area.

68 Appendix D (Qualitive Noise Assessment) states at 2.2.4 “that a central route through PYR 2, such as P2, 

may have the smallest noise impact on existing properties since noise exposure from traffic on the 

route could be mitigated on both sides by the future residential properties … “. The OAR is effectively 

promoting future residential developments in order to justify Option E. 

This would be contrary to the development policies of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan and the Pyrton 

Neighbourhood Plan and the understanding of all stakeholders that there would be NO   development 

on the northern green space of PYR 2. Therefore the mitigation would be undeliverable.

The OAR was considering this as no option, but it is not promoting this is the preferred option. There are no future proposals 

for housing north of the relief road through PYR2.

69 The proposed scheme totally ignores the statutory made Pyrton Neighbourhood Plan which does not 

include the provision of the Watlington Relief Road and the accompanying enabling residential 

development on PYR 2.

The OAR has considered the Pyrton Neighbourhood Plan, and OCC have worked closely with Pyrton PC to identify a route 

that it acceptable and maintains a green gap.  

 Within the planning hierachy the SODC local plan which is due to be adopted shortly and includes the WRR carries more 

weight that the NHP.

70 Insufficient attention/consideration has been given to Options F and G. (“Do Nothing or Do Minimum”).

71  Decisions by South Oxfordshire District Council to grant planning consent for residential developments 

has been premature pending any formal proposal for the Watlington Relief Road.  A proposal that 

Oxfordshire County Council opposed. 

The consultation is for the OAR not the housing decsion, this has no relevance to the OAR work.

72 The OAR ignores the fact that planned housing growth has already been granted based on using spare 

highway capacity and improving it by local interventions, including parking removal in Watlington. This 

is done in order to enable AECOM to argue for speculative housing (100 houses on PYR 2) only to justify 

the Watlington Relief Road.

P
age 574



73 The significant benefits of not proceeding with the unconsented Providence Land application for 100 

houses on PYR 2 has not been considered by the OAR.

The OAR is an assessment of road options, not a report to look at the pros/cons of adjacent housing deveopment

74 The SOLP 2035 does not require the level of housing numbers shown in the AECOM Report in 

Watlington and absolutely none in Pyrton. This is ignored by the OAR.

75 The provision of the excess residential developments surrounding Watlington is purely to ensure that 

the Watlington Relief Road has sufficient developer led funding for what is an unnecessary road. 

The scheme is funded from Growth Deal funding.  This funding is provided to assist the delivery of new housing and 

infrastructure.

76 The Shirburn Parish Meeting does not support the proposal contained in the OAR and considers that 

insufficient consideration and attention to alternatives Option F and Option G has been given. 

Noted.

77 Excess developments and the commercial gain of developers should not be allowed to override climate 

crisis, ecology, heritage, sustainability and the environmental interests and proper governance.

P
age 575



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1. THIS DRAWING GIVES AN INDICATIVE
DRAFT ONLY. THE FINAL ALIGNMENT
GEOMETRY AND ITS TIE-INS WILL BE
DEPENDENT ON VERTICAL AND
HORIZONTAL GEOMETRY, NUMBER AND
TYPE OF TRAFFIC, STATUTORY
UNDERTAKERS AND LAND CONSTRAINTS,
WHICH MAY ALTER THE FINAL OUTPUT.

2. THE FINAL ALIGNMENT WILL ALSO BE
SUBJECT TO VISIBILITY AND SWEPT PATH
ANALYSIS.

3. THIS DRAWING IS BASED ON OS MAP,
DEVELOPER TOPOGRAPHICAL SURVEY
AND DESIGN.

4. HORIZONTAL ALIGNMENT TO BE
AMENDED AT PRELIMINARY DESIGN
STAGE TO INCORPORATE TRANSITIONS
TO ALLOW FOR SUPERELEVATION.

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

50

BRI
TWELL

 RO
AD

BRI
TWELL

 RO
AD

BRI
TWELL

 RO
AD

BRITWELL ROAD

BRITWELL ROAD

WINDMILL P
IECE

THE GOGGS

CUXHAM ROAD

CUXHAM ROAD

CUXHAM ROAD

CUXHAM ROAD

CUXHAM ROAD

WIL
LOW

 CL
OSE

S1

S11

S12

S15

S17

S18

S24

S25

S27

S28

S4

S9

WATLINGTON INDUSTRIAL ESTATE

WAREHOUSE

No.1

No.3

No.5/7

No.9/11

No.23/25

No.15/17

No.2

No.9

No.15

No.13

No.11

TRAVELLERS SITE

PYRTON LANE

114.2m

Track

W
AT

LI
NG

TO
N 

RO
AD

110.5m

117.7m

115.6m

Def

1.22m RH

Def

Cattle Grid

Track

The Old Stables

LB

117.8m

Pyrton Field Farm

GP

Tilia House

Pyrton Hill
Cottage

B 
40

09

Tr
ac

k

112.8m

Tennis Court

BS

1.22m RH

Track

Ruin

Ruin

12

1

Pond

5

7

18

2

3

Path (um
)

15 13

5

1

61

12

29

23

Sub6

SH
IR

BU
RN

 S
TR

EE
T

Sta

to
45

64

9

25

3

23

52

40

46

10

62

18

13

18b

35

20

2a

50

34

2

31

18a

74

2

12
5

51

8

6639

7

El

27

7

32

21

B 40
09

36 Club

109.4m

Orchard
Walk

17

11

Inn
The Fat Fox

47

28 29
31

46

30

48
49

Watlington

MethodistChurch

16

St JohnsHall

30

1

1

7

12

Carriers Arms

53

SPRIN
G LA

NE

16

33

2 to 6

1 t
o 1

1

6

27

Tank

10

Ex

4

26

18

Vicarage

110.9m

7

Sub Sta

30

Car Park

13

113.0m

21

35

39

Parslow
House

1

12

(PH)

El

24

CHILTERN GARDENS

28

18

26

36

SPRINGFIELD CLOSE

11

TCB

Tel

21

El
Sub
Sta

Va
le

Ho
us

e

1.22m RH

SH
IR

BU
RN

 R
O

AD

111.8m

22

69

82

67

Pavilion

Play Area

SkateparkSkatepark

Recreation Ground

Facility
Sports

78a

Cottage

72

46

Path (um)

120.4m

HILL ROAD

38

Eastfield

32

Icknield Way

118.9m

129.7m

LB

136.9m

126.2m

Track

70

Farm

Watlington and District

Care Home

D
ef

1.22m RH

Surgery

30
a

30

ESS

Chiltern Farm

76b

76

78

60

Track

The Lodge House

Old Vicarage Cottage

104.2m

Path (um)

1.22m RH

1.22m RH

FB

FB

Dra
in

Drain

Drain

Court

Cottage

Tennis

Gatehouse

Lake

Pyrton Manor

Dra
in

Gate House

LB

SD

1.22m RH

Pond

Track

Lodge Cottage

Hampden Cottage

15

STO
NO

R

P

Watcombe

J

2a

16

Manor

B 480

Manor Farm

Lane End House

9

11

Watcombe

2

107.0m

10The

Ozendyke

1

17

Cottages

12

H
O

W
E R

O
AD

Beeches

18

2

4

GREEN

4

20

10
5.6

m

108.0m

1
2

CG

CG

Lodge

Track

Hunters

24

HIGH STREET

15

12

28

Church

13

3

Sub

30

22

THE MEADOW
S

PC

39

5

27

1

CHURCH STREET

17

MEWS

16

2

49

3a

2

1

25

24a

9a

11

Close

12

El

El

11

34

29

1

29

50

44

Church

31

3a

26

3

25

39

NEW ROAD

GORWELL

34

21

21

LETTS ALLEY

12

24

1

43

1

19

30

27

8

39

7

16

10

3

43

10

22

CHAPEL STREET

40

1

1

41

11

2

1

11

18

27

Sub Sta

17

Hall

25

16

11

35 7

PAULS WAY

2

11

29

52

34

Cottage

12

BROOKSIDE

Issues

107.6m

Meadows

2

FARMHOUSE

13

1

33

33

423

4

16

9

42

1

5

20

24b

15

35

34

Liby

Pavilion

Town Hall

War
Meml

Sports

26

El
Sub Sta

SA
UN

DE
RS

 C
LO

SE

ESS

6

7 Bowling
Green

24
22

3032

46

Blac
k H

ors
e A

lle
y

Watlington
Memorial Club

Tennis
Courts

40
b

Sports
Pavilion

27

38

40
a

SHELDONS PIECE

17

21

Lych Gate

FB

15

1

4

9

24

6

15

1

5 12

1

11

15

12

6

Tw
o

7

100.1m 6

1

22

12b

5

1

17

St Leonard's

8

Prospect

Pound Close

1

6

11

1

6

LB

9

3

4

2

29

3

8

2

Place

10

23
a

2

Church

33

25

14

14

1

2

W
ay

s

Sinks

23

12

21
a

Hall

29

HURDLERS
5

19

7GREEN

Issues

32

28
26

Issues

18

105.7mAL
LN

UT

2

60

40 Watlington

24

62

15

9

Gara
ge

15

38c

1

The

7

59

23

B 
40

09

6

1

W
AT

CO
M

BE
 R

OAD

18

52a

54

8

7

32

47

2

11

2

41

23

26

5

St
 E

dm
un

d C
am

pio
n

103.5m

THE GOGGS

1

12

10

44

5

34

8

20

104.5m

4

15

BROOK STREET

64

7

Ca
th

oli
c C

hu
rc

h

Court 1 to 4

Presby

33

1

D

2

GP

27

1

13

38a

2

1

28

CH
ES

TN
UT

36a

22

52

27

48

26

F Sta

57

25

36

PLACE

38b

Sta

C
LO

SE

48

28

10

19

11

COUCHIN
G S

TR
EET

8a

41

27
a

42

36

11

7

IN
GHA

M
 L

AN
E

32BA
R

N
AC

R
E

58

11

10

102.7m

34
a

38

El Sub Sta

21

12

52b

6

Path (um
)

36

35

31

30

OLD SCHOOL PLACE
1 to 29

5

1

LI
LA

CS
 P

LA
CE

9

11

8

4

1

5

B 4009

27
b

27

40a

10

The Old House

1a
1b

41

100.7m

3129

El Sub Sta

10

14

Cou
ch

ing
 H

ou
se

WATLINGTONWATLINGTON

ESS

B 4009

Industrial EstateIndustrial Estate
Watcombe ManorWatcombe Manor

Q
UA

RR
IN

G
TO

N 
PL

AC
E

9

FBs

49 to 55

Path (um
)

Path (um
)

Path
 (u

m)

Path
 (u

m)

Yard

Builders

Dav
en

po
rt 

Pl
ac

e

Path (um)Path (um)

2321

Old Forge

2b

24

PO

Pol Sta

14 8

33

Allotment Gardens

School
Primary

1.22m RH

10

23

1

18

ST LEONARDS CLOSE

LOVE LANE

CLOSE

2

8

1

33

7

LB

2

El

Tennis Courts

14

10

28

SYCAMORE

26

6

7

56

5

C
LO

SE

24

Monument

21

PYRTO
N LA

NE

27

ASH CLOSE

32

24

30

9

Issues

BE
EC

H

22

2

3

43

23

36

58

11

1

1

6

26

Sub Sta

15

13

21

16

11

48

W
IL

LO
W

 C
LO

SE

16

36

20

25

1012

3

9

2

13
38

5

40

1

Def

Und

1
2

COURT CLOSE

4

50
a

50
c

54
52

Community
Icknield

Watlington

College

ESS

Tr
ac

k

Mast (Telecommunication)

PH

Travellers Site

Yard

Childrens
Nursery

Webbs

3

2

1

Depot

4

3d

5

6

Paddock
Bucklands 43

2

1

61

Tank

27

21

106.1m

Tank

35

100.6m

B 4009

23

Path (um)57

39

CUXHAM ROAD

104.4m

Works

59

105.5m

107.2m

110.1m

BR
IT

W
EL

L 
RO

AD

El Sub Sta

47

106.4m

1

2

12

W
IN

DMILL
 P

IE
CE

3

Tanks

Tk

Tank

15

17

23
25

7

5 11

9

C

Whitehouse
Farm

The
Stables

A1

B

A5

F1

F2

E1

90.3m

B 48093.9m

Drain

Glebe Farm

92.7m

Glebe Barn

FB

B 480

2

Sewage WorksSewage Works

Drain

85.9m

88.9m

Sewage Pumping Station

89.6m

1

87.9m

87.1m

Mill Farm

Chiltern Bee Farm

Def

1.22m
 R

H

1.22m
 R

H
SS

1.22m
 R

H
D

ef

Chestnut Farm
The Stables

Babylon PlantsBabylon Plants

Tr
ac

k

Track

Solar Panels

FB

84.0m

Pa
th

 (u
m

)

Pa
th

 (u
m

)

Track

FB

Outfall

Farm
Acres
Little

Pond

D
ra

in

SS

Tanks

Path (um)
Path (um)

Track

Watlington

Issues

94.8m

Drain Mill

Sluices

Pond

Track

1.22m RH

D
ra

in

Pond

1.22m RH

1.22m RH

Def

1.22m RH

SS

Drain

Def

Pond

FB

Drain

FB

FB

Pond

Track

Sluice

Ponds

Track

WATLINGTON

>
>

>

>

>

>

>
>

>
>

>
>

>

>

>

>

>

>
>

>
>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>
>

>
>

>

>
>

>
>

>
>

>
>

>
>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

50

BR
IT

W
EL

L 
RO

AD

BR
IT

W
EL

L 
R

O
AD

BR
IT

W
EL

L R
OAD

BRITWELL ROAD

BRITWELL ROAD

W
IN

DMILL
 P

IE
CE

THE GOGGS

CUXHAM ROAD

CUXHAM ROAD

CUXHAM ROAD

CUXHAM ROAD

CUXHAM ROAD

W
IL

LO
W

 C
LO

SE

S1

S11

S12

S15

S17

S18

S28

S4

S9

WATLINGTON INDUSTRIAL ESTATE

WAREHOUSE

No.1

No.3

No.5/7

No.9/11

No.23/25

No.15/17

No.2

No.9

No.15

No.13

No.11

TRAVELLERS SITE

PY
RTO

N LA
NE

V

B/
CB/C

VV

VV

V

V

V

C

V

V

V

V

V

V

C

C

V

V

V

V

V

67
66

V
V

POS & INFORMAL

KICK-ABOUT

POS

POS

POS

POS

BIL

1B
F0

4-
X2

CHE

CHE

CHE

CHE

BYR

LYT

1BF04-X4

MAR
MAR

LYT

HAR

HAR

DAR

CHE

CHE

CHE

CHE

MAR
MAR

MAR
MAR

CHE
CHE

LY
T

LYT

DAR

DAR

DAR

BIL

SHI

CHE

CHE
CHE

CHE

V

LYT

MAR
MAR

35

42

45

LEAP (400sqm)

LAP (100sqm)

LAP(100sqm)

CHE
CHE

BYR
BYR

26

40

154

PLANTED LANDSCAPE BUFFER TO BOUNDARY

160

2

1

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11-12

14

13

15

16

17

18 19

20

21

22

23

24

27

25

28

29

30

32

33

34

36

37

38

39

41

43

44

46

47

48

64-67

73

72

87

86

88

108

109

110

111

112-115

116117

118119

125

124

126

128

127

129

130

131-134

139

135

136

137

138

143

140

141

142

144

148

145

146

147

150

149

151

152

153

155

156

157

158

159

161

SHI

HAR

LYT

CHE

CHE

CHE

CHE

31

PEE

PEE

BYR

LYT

SHI

49

8

10

25

25

24

24

6
6

5

5
4

4

8

3

7

7

3

9

9

V

V

12

11

V

10

BINS / BIKES

63
U

62
U

BI
NS 

/
BIK

ES

V
V

V

BINS /
BIKES

15

BIKES
BINS

2B
F-

X2

2BF-X2

2BF-X2

2BF-X2

2BF-X2

2BF-X2

2BF-X2

52-53

50-51

54-55

56-57

62-63

58-59

60-61

26

26

23

23

20

20

27

27

28

28

29

29

30

30

31

31

22

22

21

21

2

1

19

19

18
17

17
18

13
14

HO
G

-1

15

16

16

13
14

47

85

48

46

46

48

47

49

84

49

45

32

43

44

44

43

42

42

32

45

40

39

41

38

37

40

39

41

38

37

33

34

35

36

34

35

36

33

72

87

87

86
86

85

84

83

83

119

116

116

117

120
119

115

120

117
118

118

114
113

112

111

107

107

108

108

109

109
110

110

129
129

130
130

134
133

132
131

127
127

128
128

125
125

126
126

124

124

BINS /

BIKES

138

135

135

138

137 137

136
136

148
148

148
148

147

147

149

149

149

149

150 150
151 151

152

153
153

153
153

154

154

155

155

16
0

16
1

16
1

16
0

152

159

159

158

158

157

157

156

156

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5
m x 1

.25
m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.8
m x 

1.5
m

SH
ED

 3B

1.8
m x 1

.5m

SH
ED

 3B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

88

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5m x 1.25m
SHED 1-2B

1.5m
 x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.
5m

 x
 1

.2
5m

SH
ED

 1
-2

B

1.
5m

 x
 1

.2
5m

SH
ED

 1
-2

B

1.8m x 1.5m SHED 3B

1.8m x 1.5m SHED 3B

1.8
m x 

1.5
m

SH
ED

 3B

1.
5m

 x
 1

.2
5m

SH
ED

 1
-2

B

1.5m x 1.25mSHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25mSHED 1-2B

1.
5m

 x
 1

.2
5m

SH
ED

 1
-2

B

1.
5m

 x
 1

.2
5m

SH
ED

 1
-2

B

1.
5m

 x
 1

.2
5m

SH
ED

 1
-2

B

1.
5m

 x 
1.

25
m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.
5m

 x 
1.

25
m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.8
m x 

1.5
m

SH
ED

 3B

1.8
m x 1

.5m

SH
ED

 3B

1.8
m x 1

.5m

SH
ED

 3B

1.5m
 x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.
5m

 x
 1

.2
5m

SH
ED

 1
-2

B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.8m x 1.5m

SHED 3B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

PLANTED LANDSCAPE BUFFER TO BOUNDARY

89

90

89

90

BYR

LYT

54

88

89

90

68

71

70

64

BINS /

BIKES

69

65

68-71

60

61

111

U

U

U

U
56

55

58

59
U

U

57

U

51

53

52

BINS /

BIKES

50

V

V

V

C

C

3B5P
3B5P

2B4P

2B4P
2B4P

2B4P

2B4P
2B4P

2B4P
2B4P

2B4P

2B4P

2B
4P

2B
4P

2B
4P

2B
4P

3B5P

2B4P
2B4P

3B5P

2B4P
2B4P

2B
4P

2B
4P

2B4P
2B4P

3B5P

4B6P

3B5P

V

3m
 F

oo
t / 

Cyc
le 

Lin
k

EMPLOYMENT
OUTLINE

3m
 Foo

t / 
Cyc

le 
Lin

k

B/C

Safeguarded
land for the

completion of

the alternative
route

B/C

B/C

B/CB/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/
C

B/C
B/C

B/C

B/C

B/
C

B/
C

B/
C

B/
C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/
C

B/C

B/C
B/C

B/C

1BF04-X4(S)

1BF04-X4(S)

1B
F0

4-
X4

(S
)

S27
8

S27
8S38

S38

LYT

BRO

BYR

LYT

HEY

BRO

HEY

HEY

G
L0

1

G
L0

1

GL01

G
L0

2

GL01

GL02

GL01

GL01

GL0
1

GL02

GL0
2

GL0
1

G
L0

2

G
L02

G
L02

G
L0

1

G
L01

GL01

GL01

GL01

GL01

GL02

G
L01

GL01

G
L02

GL
01

GL01G
L01

G
L02

G
L02

GL0
1

GL0
1

GL01

GL01

BRO

HEY

HEY

HEY

S/S

BRO

139 139 140 140

141
141

142
142

143
143

14
4

14
4

14
5

14
5

14
6

14
6

W
AT

LI
NG

TO
N 

RO
AD

110.5m

117.7m

The Old Stables

LB

117.8m

GP

Tilia House

B 
40

09

Tr
ac

k

112.8m

BS

1.22m RH

Trac
k

Ruin

Ruin

12

1

18

2

15 13

5

1

61

12

29

23

Sub6

SH
IR

BU
RN

 S
TR

EE
T

Sta

to
45

649

25

3

23

52

40

46

10

62

18

13

18b

35

20

2a

50

34

2

31

18a

74

2

12
5

51

8

6639

7

El

27

7

32

21

B 40
09

36 Club

109.4m

Orchard
Walk

17

11

Inn
The Fat Fox

47

28 29
31

46

30

48
49

Watlington

Methodist
Church

16

St JohnsHall

30

1

1

7

12

Carriers Arms

5
3

SP
RIN

G LA
NE

16

33

2 to 6

1 t
o 1

1
6

27

Tank

10

Ex

4

26

18

Vicarage

110.9m

7

Sub Sta

30

Car Park

13

113.0m

21

35

39

Parslow
House

1

12

(PH)

El

24

CHILTERN GARDENS

28

18

26

36

SPRINGFIELD CLOSE

11

TCB

Tel

21

El
Sub
Sta

Va
le

Ho
us

e

1.22m RH

SH
IR

BU
RN

 R
O

AD

111.8m

22 69

82

67

Pavilion

Play Area

SkateparkSkatepark

Recreation Ground

Facility
Sports

46

HILL ROAD

38

Eastfield

32

118.9m

LB

Track

Farm

De
f

30a
30

60

The Lodge House

104.2m

Path (um)

1.22m RH

1.22m RH

Lake

Dra
in

1.22m RH

Pond

STO
NO

R

P

Watcombe 2a

16

Manor

Lane End House

Ozendyke

2

4

GREEN

10
5.6

m

CG

Lodge

Track

Hunters

24

HIGH STREET

15

12

28

Church

13

3

Sub

30

22

THE MEADOW
S

PC

39

5

27

1

CHURCH STREET

17

MEWS

16

2

49

3a

2

1

25

24a

9a

11

Close

12

El

El

11

34

29

1

29

50

44

Church

31

3a

26

3

25

39

NEW ROAD

GORWELL

34

21

21

LETTS ALLEY

12

24

1

43

1

19

30

27

8

39

7

16

10

3

43

10

22

CHAPEL STREET

40

1

1

41

11

2

1

11

18

27

Sub Sta

17

Hall

25

16

11

35 7

PAULS WAY

2

11

29

52

34

Cottage

12

BROOKSIDE

Issues

107.6m

Meadows

2

FARMHOUSE

13

1

33

33

423

4

16

9

42

1

5

20

24b

15

35

34

Liby

Pavilion

Town Hall

War
Meml

Sports

26

El
Sub Sta

SA
UN

DE
RS

 C
LO

SE

ESS

6

7

Bowling
Green

24
22

3032

46
Blac

k H
ors

e A
lle

y

Watlington
Memorial Club

Tennis
Courts

40
b

Sports
Pavilion

27

38

40
a

SHELDONS PIECE

17

21

Lych Gate

FB

15

1

4

9

24

6

15

1

5 12

1

11

15

12

6

Tw
o

7

100.1m
6

1

22

12b

5

1

17

St Leonard's

8

Prospect

Pound Close

1

6

11

1

6

LB

9

3

4

2

29

3

8

2

Place

10

23
a

2

Church

33

25

14

14

1

2

W
ay

s

Sinks

23

12

21
a

Hall

29

HURDLERS

5

19

7GREEN

Issues

32

28
26

Issues

18

105.7mAL
LN

UT

2

60

40

Watlington

24

62

15

9

Gar
ag

e

15

38c

1

The

7

59

23

B 
40

09

6

1

W
AT

CO
M

BE
 R

OAD

18

52a

54

8

7

32

47

2

11

2

41

23

26

5

St
 E

dm
un

d C
am

pio
n

103.5m

THE GOGGS

1

12

10

44

5

34

8

20

104.5m

4

15

BROOK STREET

64

7

Cath
oli

c C
hu

rch

Court 1 to 4

Presby

33

1

D

2

GP

27

1

13

38a

2
1

28

CHES
TN

UT

36a

22

52

27

48

26

F Sta

57

25

36

PLACE

38b

Sta

C
LO

SE

48

28

10

19

11

COUCHIN
G S

TR
EET

8a

41

27
a

42

36

11

7

IN
GHAM

 LA
NE

32BA
R

N
AC

R
E

58

11

10

102.7m

34
a

38

El Sub Sta

21

12

52b

6

Path (um
)

36

35

31

30

OLD SCHOOL PLACE 1 to 29

5

1

LI
LA

CS
 P

LA
CE

9

11

8

4

1

5

B 4009

27
b

27

40a

10

The Old House

1a
1b

41

100.7m

3129

El Sub Sta

10

14

Cou
ch

ing
 H

ou
se

WATLINGTONWATLINGTON

ESS

B 4009

Industrial EstateIndustrial Estate
Watcombe ManorWatcombe Manor

Q
U

AR
R

IN
G

TO
N

 P
LA

C
E

9

FBs

49 to 55

Path (um
)

Path (um
)

Path
 (u

m)

Path
 (u

m)

Yard

Builders

Dav
en

po
rt 

Pl
ac

e

Path (um)Path (um)

23
21

Old Forge

2b

2
4

PO

Pol Sta

14

8

33

Allotment Gardens

School
Primary

1.22m RH

10

23

1

18

ST LEONARDS CLOSE

LOVE LANE

CLOSE

2

8

1

33

7

LB

2

El

Tennis Courts

14

10

28

SYCAMORE

26

6
7

56

5

C
LO

SE

24

Monument

21

PYRTON LA
NE

27
ASH CLOSE

32

24

30

9

Issues

BE
EC

H

22
2

3

43

23

36

58

11

1

1

6

26

Sub Sta

15

13

21

16

11

48

W
IL

LO
W

 C
LO

SE

16

36

20

25

1012

3

9

2

13
38

5

40

1

Def Und

1

2

COURT CLOSE

4

50
a50

c

54

52

Community
Icknield

Watlington

College

ESS

Tr
ac

k

Mast (Telecommunication)

PH

Yard

Childrens
Nursery

Webbs

3

2

1

Depot

4

3d

5

6

Paddock
Bucklands

43

2

1

61

Tank

27

21

106.1m

Tan
k

35

100.6m

23

Path (um)57

39

CUXHAM
 ROAD

104.4m

Works

59

105.5m

107.2m

BR
IT

W
EL

L 
R

O
AD

El Sub Sta

47

1

2

12

W
IN

DMILL
 P

IE
CE

3

Tanks

Tk

Tank

15
17

23
25

7
5 11

9

C

A1

B

A5

F1

F2

E1

B4
00

9

B4
00

9

Station Lane

Py
rto

n L
an

e

Pyrt
on

 La
ne

Cuxham
Roundabout

Station Road

Cuxham Road

B480

W
illo

w 
Cl

os
e

Britw
ell

 R
oa

d

J1

J3

SITE A

SITE C

SITE B

PYR2 PYR1
Roundabout designed to CD116:

ICD 28m
Central Island Diameter 9m

Apron Width 3.5m
Circulatory Lane Width 5.5m

Entry Width 3.5m
Entry and exit corner radii 20m

Flare Length 30m

Extension of existing
access to Webb's Yard

J2

Note - speed limit transition
from 30MPH (to the West) and

50MPH (to the East) to be
relocated to East of junction.

Roundabout designed to CD116:
ICD 28m

Central Island Diameter 9m
Apron Width 3.5m

Circulatory Lane Width 5.5m
Entry Width 4.5m

Entry and exit corner radii 20m
Flare Length 30m

Note - speed limit transition
from 30MPH (to the East) and

50MPH (to the West) to be
relocated to East of junction.

Point closed to
through traffic

Tie-in to Bloor Homes Site

Note - speed limit transition
from 30MPH (to the North) and

50MPH (to the South).

R
88

R
81

R
64

R
70

R
151

R
145

R
202

R
208

R
169

R26

R10

R10
R10

R
10

SITE BOUNDARIES

OS MAP - EDGE OF ROAD

OS MAP - FENCE

PRODUCT 4 DATA FLOOD OUTLINE -
1/100 YR

AONB

PROPOSED RELIEF ROAD LAYOUT

PROVIDENCE LAND Ltd LAYOUT

50

BR
IT

W
EL

L 
RO

AD

BR
IT

W
EL

L 
R

O
AD

BR
IT

W
EL

L R
OAD

BRITWELL ROAD

BRITWELL ROAD

W
IN

DMILL
 P

IE
CE

THE GOGGS

CUXHAM
 ROAD

CUXHAM ROAD

CUXHAM ROAD

CUXHAM ROAD

W
IL

LO
W

 C
LO

SE

S1

S11

S12

S15

S17

S18

S24

S25

S27

S28

S4

S9

WATLINGTON INDUSTRIAL ESTATE

WAREHOUSE

No.1

No.3

No.5/7

No.9/11

No.23/25

No.15/17

No.2

No.9

No.15

No.13

No.11

TRAVELLERS SITE

PY
RTO

N LA
NE

V

B/C

B/
C

V

V

V

V

VV

VV

V

V

V

C

V

V

V

V

V

V

V

C

C

V

V

V

V

V

V

67
66

V
V

POS & INFORMAL

KICK-ABOUT

POS

POS

POS

POS

BIL

1B
F0

4-
X2

CHE

CHE

CHE

CHE

BYR

LYT

1BF04-X4

SHI

MAR
MAR

LYT

M
AR

M
AR

BYR
BYR

HAR

HAR

DAR

HAR

DAR

CHE

CHE

CHE

CHE

MAR
MAR

MAR
MAR

MAR
MAR

MAR
MAR

CHE
CHE

LY
T

GL03

LY
T

LYT

DAR

DAR

DAR

DAR

BIL

CHE
CHE

SHI

CHE

CHE
CHE

CHE

V

LYTBYR
BYR

MAR
MAR

SH
I

35

42

45

78

LEAP (400sqm)

LAP (100sqm)

LAP(100sqm)

V

LYT

96

CHE
CHE

BYR
BYR

BY
R

BY
R

26

40

79

154

PLANTED LANDSCAPE BUFFER TO BOUNDARY

PLANTED LANDSCAPE BUFFER TO BOUNDARY

PLANTED LANDSCAPE BUFFER TO BOUNDARY

160

175

176

178

180

2

1

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11-12

14

13

15

16

17

18 19

20

21

22

23

24

27

25

28

29

30

32

33

34

36

37

38

39

41

43

44

46

47

48

64-67

73

72

74

75

76

77

82

81

80

83

87

85

84

92

86

88

91

93

98

94

95

97

100

99

102

101

104

103

105

106

107
108

109

110

111

112-115

116117

118

121

119

120

122

123

125

124

126

128

127

129

130

131-134

139

135

136

137

138

143

140

141

142

144

148

145

146

147

150

149

151

152

153

155

156

157

158

159

165

161

162

163

164

166

167
168

169

170

171

172

173

174

177

179

SHI

181

182

Mas
t L

oc
ati

on

MAR
MAR

183

HAR

LYT

CHE
CHE

CHE

CHE

CHE

CHE

31

PEE

PEE

PEE

PEE

BYR

LYT

SHISHI

PE
E

M
AR

M
AR

V

49

8

10

25

25

24

24

6

6
5

5
4

4

8

3

7
7

3

9
9

V
V

12

11

V

10

BINS / BIKES

63
U

62
U

BIN
S /

BIK
ES

V
V

V

BINS /
BIKES

15

BIKES
BINS

2B
F-

X2

2BF-X2

2BF-X2

2BF-X2

2BF-X2

2BF-X2

2BF-X2

52-53

50-51

54-55

56-57

62-63

58-59

60-61

26

26

23

23

20

20

27

27

28

28

29

29

30

30

31

31

22

22

21

21

2

1

77

19

19

18
17

17
18

13
14

HO
G

-1

15

16

16

13
14

47

85

48

46

46

48

47

49

84

49

45

32

43

44

44

43

42

42

32

45

80

40

39

41

38

37

40

39

41

38

37

33

34

35

36

34

35

36

33

73
72

75

74

76

72

77

78

73

74

92

75

76

78

87

87

86
86

85

84

83

81

83

81

91

79

79

80

93

10
3

10
1

10
2

10
1

93

10
2

99

98
100

94

95
92

97

94

9796
95

96

121

121

119

106

123
123

122
122

104

105

104

105

116

116

117

120
119

115

120

117
118

118

114
113

112

111

106

107

107

108

108

109

109
110

110

129
129

130
130

134
133

132
131

127
127

128
128

125
125

126
126

124

124

BINS /

BIKES

138

135

135

138

137 137

136
136

148
148

148
148

147

147

149

149

149

149

150 150
151 151

152

153
153

153
153

154

154

155

155

16
0

16
1

16
1

16
0

152

159

159

158

158

157

157

156

156

166

166

163

163

173

173

V

V

177

177

176

176

179
178 178

179

180180

181

182

183

181

182

183

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5
m x 1

.25
m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5
m x 1

.25
m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5
m x 1

.25
m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.8
m x 

1.5
m

SH
ED

 3B

1.8
m x 

1.5
m

SH
ED

 3B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

88

1.8
m x 

1.5
m

SH
ED

 3B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B1.5

m x 
1.2

5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5
m x 1

.25
m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25m SHED 1-2B

1.5m
 x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.
5m

 x
 1

.2
5m

SH
ED

 1
-2

B

1.
5m

 x
 1

.2
5m

SH
ED

 1
-2

B

1.8m x 1.5m
SHED 3B

1.8m x 1.5m SHED 3B

1.8
m 

x 1
.5m

SH
ED

 3B

1.
5m

 x
 1

.2
5m

SH
ED

 1
-2

B

1.5m x 1.25mSHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25mSHED 1-2B

1.
5m

 x
 1

.2
5m

SH
ED

 1
-2

B

1.
5m

 x 
1.

25
m

SH
ED

 1
-2

B

1.
5m

 x 
1.

25
m

SH
ED

 1
-2

B

1.
5m

 x 
1.

25
m

SH
ED

 1
-2

B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.8
m x 

1.5
m

SH
ED

 3B

1.8
m x 

1.5
m

SH
ED

 3B

1.8
m x 1

.5m

SHED 3B

1.5m
 x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.
5m

 x
 1

.2
5m

SH
ED

 1
-2

B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.8m x 1.5m

SHED 3B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.8m x 1.5m

SHED 3B

1.8m x 1.5m

SHED 3B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.8m x 1.5m

SHED 3B

1.8m x 1.5m

SHED 3B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.8m x 1.5m

SHED 3B

1.8m x 1.5m

SHED 3B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.8m
 x 1.5m

SHED 3B

1.8m x 1.5m

SHED 3B

B/C

PLANTED LANDSCAPE BUFFER TO BOUNDARY

82

89

90

89

90

82

BYR

LY
T

54

88

89

90

68

71

70

64

BINS /

BIKES

69

65

68-71

16
2

16
2

60

61

111

U

U

U

U
56

55

58

59
U

U

57

U

51

3B5P
3B5P

53

52

BINS /

BIKES

50

V

V

V

C

C

3B5P
3B5P

2B4P

2B4P
2B4P

2B4P

2B4P
2B4P

2B4P
2B4P

2B4P

2B4P
2B4P

2B4P

2B
4P

2B
4P

2B
4P

2B
4P

3B5P

2B4P
2B4P

3B5P

2B4P2B4P

2B4P
2B4P

3B
5P

2B
4P

2B
4P

3B
5P

3B
5P

2B
4P

2B
4P

3B
5P

2B
4P

2B
4P

2B4P
2B4P

3B5P

4B6P

3B5P

3B
5P

2B
4P

2B
4P

3B
5P

V

C

3m
 F

oo
t / 

Cyc
le 

Lin
k

91

EMPLOYMENT
OUTLINE

3m
 Foo

t / 
Cyc

le 
Lin

k

B/C

Safeguarded
land for the

completion of

the alternative
route

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/CB/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/
C

B/
C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/
C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/
C

B/
CB/C

B/
C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/
C

B/
C

B/C

B/
C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/
C

B/C

B/C

B/CB/C

B/C

1BF04-X4(S)

1BF04-X4(S)

1B
F0

4-
X4

(S
)

S27
8

S27
8S38

S38

175
175

174
174

172
172

171

171

170

170

169

169

V

V

16
8

16
8

16
7

167

V

16
5

16
5

16
4

16
4

LYT

BRO

BYR

LYT

HEY

BRO

HEY

HEY

GL0
1

G
L0

1

G
L0

1

GL01

G
L0

2

GL01

GL02

GL01

GL01

GL0
1

GL02

GL0
2

GL0
2

GL0
1

GL0
1

GL02

G
L0

2

G
L0

2

GL0
2

G
L02

G
L02

GL02

G
L0

1

GL0
2

G
L0

1

G
L01

GL02

GL01

GL02

GL01

GL01

GL02

GL01

G
L0

2

GL02

G
L01

GL01

G
L02

GL0
1

GL01G
L01

G
L02

G
L02

GL02

GL02

GL02

GL0
1

GL0
1

GL01

GL01

HEY

BR
O

HEY

BRO

HEY

HEY

HEY

HEY

BRO

BRO

BR
O

S/S

BRO

139 139 140 140

141
141

142
142

14
3

14
3

14
4

14
4

14
5

14
5

14
6

14
6

Track

15

THE MEADOW
S

1

30

BROOKSIDE
SHELDONS PIECE

17

21

Lych Gate

FB

15

1

4

9

24

6

15

1

5 12

1

11

15

12

6

Tw
o

7

100.1m
6

1

22

12b

5

1

17

St Leonard's

8

Prospect

Pound Close

1

6

11

1

6

LB

9

3

4

2

29

3

8

2

Place

10

23
a

2

Church

33

25

14

14

1

2

W
ay

s

Sinks

23

12

21
a

Hall

29

HURDLERS

5

19

7GREEN

Issues

32

28
26

Issues

18

AL
LN

UT

2

24

9

The

7

2

26

5

THE GOGGS

GP

28

22

C
LO

SE

10

6

Path (um
)

4

1

5

10

1a
1b

100.7m

B 4009

Q
U

AR
R

IN
G

TO
N

 P
LA

C
E

9

Path (um
)

Path (um
)

Path
 (u

m)

Path
 (u

m)

Old Forge24

14

8 School
Primary

10

23

1

18

ST LEONARDS CLOSE

CLOSE

2

8

1

7

2

14

10

28

SYCAMORE

26

6

C
LO

SE

24

PYRTON LA
NE

27
ASH CLOSE

32

24

30

BE
EC

H

22
2

23

36

1

6

15

21

16

11

W
IL

LO
W

 C
LO

SE

16

36

20

1012

3

9

2

13

5

40

1

Watlington

ESS

Mast (Telecommunication)

Travellers Site

Yard
Webbs

3

2

1

Depot

4

3d

5

6

Paddock
Bucklands

43

2

1

61

Tank

27

21

106.1m

Tan
k

35

100.6m

23

Path (um)57

39

CUXHAM
 ROAD

104.4m

Works

59

105.5m

107.2m

BR
IT

W
EL

L 
R

O
AD

El Sub Sta

47

1

2

12

W
IN

DMILL
 P

IE
CE

3

Tanks

Tk

Tank

15

17
23

25

7
5 11

9

C

A1

B

A5

F1

F2

E1

Pyrt
on

 La
ne

Cuxham
Roundabout

Cuxham Road

B480

W
illo

w 
Cl

os
e

Britw
ell

 R
oa

d

J1

SITE A

SITE BNote - speed limit transition
from 30mph (to the south) and
50mph (to the north) to be
relocated to north of junction.

J2

Tie-in to Bloor Homes Site

Note - speed limit transition
from 30MPH (to the North) and

50MPH (to the South).

50

BR
IT

W
EL

L 
RO

AD

BR
IT

W
EL

L 
R

O
AD

BR
IT

W
EL

L R
OAD

BRITWELL ROAD

BRITWELL ROAD

W
IN

DMILL
 P

IE
CE

THE GOGGS

CUXHAM ROAD

CUXHAM ROAD

CUXHAM ROAD

CUXHAM ROAD

CUXHAM ROAD

W
IL

LO
W

 C
LO

SE

S1

S11

S12

S15

S17

S18

S24

S25

S27

S28

S4

S9

WATLINGTON INDUSTRIAL ESTATE

WAREHOUSE

No.1

No.3

No.5/7

No.9/11

No.23/25

No.15/17

No.2

No.9

No.15

No.13

No.11

TRAVELLERS SITE

PY
RTO

N LA
NE

V

B/
CB/C

V

V

V

V

VV

VV

V

V

V

C

V

V

V

V

V

V

V

C

C

V

V

V

V

V

V

67
66

V
V

POS & INFORMAL

KICK-ABOUT

POS

POS

POS

POS

BIL

1B
F0

4-X
2

CHE

CHE

CHE

CHE

BYR

LYT

1BF04-X4

SHI

MAR
MAR

LYT

M
AR

M
AR

BYR
BYR

HAR

HAR

DAR

HAR

DAR

CHE

CHE

CHE

CHE

MAR
MAR

MAR
MAR

MAR
MAR

MAR
MAR

CHE
CHE

LY
T

GL03

LY
T

LYT

DAR

DAR

DAR

DAR

BIL

CHE
CHE

SHI

CHE

CHE
CHE

CHE

V

LYTBYR
BYR

MAR
MAR

SH
I

35

42

45

78

LEAP (400sqm)

LAP (100sqm)

LAP(100sqm)

V

LYT

96

CHE
CHE

BYR
BYR

BY
R

BY
R

26

40

79

154

PLANTED LANDSCAPE BUFFER TO BOUNDARY

PLANTED LANDSCAPE BUFFER TO BOUNDARY

PLANTED LANDSCAPE BUFFER TO BOUNDARY

160

175

176

178

180

2

1

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11-12

14

13

15

16

17

18 19

20

21

22

23

24

27

25

28

29

30

32

33

34

36

37

38

39

41

43

44

46

47

48

64-67

73

72

74

75

76

77

82

81

80

83

87

85

84

92

86

88

91

93

98

94

95

97

100

99

102

101

104

103

105

106

107
108

109

110

111

112-115

116117

118

121

119

120

122

123

125

124

126

128

127

129

130

131-134

139

135

136

137

138

143

140

141

142

144

148

145

146

147

150

149

151

152

153

155

156

157

158

159

165

161

162

163
164

166

167

168

169

170

171

172

173

174

177

179

SHI

181

182

Mas
t L

oc
ati

on

MAR
MAR

183

HAR

LYT

CHE
CHE

CHE

CHE

CHE

CHE

31

PEE

PEE

PEE

PEE

BYR

LYT

SHISHI

PE
E

M
AR

M
AR

V

49

8

10

25

25

24

24

6
6

5

5

4

4

8

3

7

7

3

9

9

V

V

12

11

V

10

BINS / BIKES

63
U

62
U

BIN
S /

BIK
ES

V
V

V

BINS /
BIKES

15

BIKES
BINS

2B
F-

X2

2BF-X2

2BF-X2

2BF-X2

2BF-X2

2BF-X2

2BF-X2

52-53

50-51

54-55

56-57

62-63

58-59

60-61

26

26

23

23

20

20

27

27

28

28

29

29

30

30

31

31

22

22

21

21

2

1

77

19

19

18
17

17
18

13
14

HO
G

-1

15

16

16

13
14

47

85

48

46

46

48

47

49

84

49

45

32

43

44

44

43

42

42

32

45

80

40

39

41

38

37

40

39

41

38

37

33

34

35

36

34

35

36

33

73
72

75

74

76

72

77

78

73

74

92

75

76

78

87

87

86
86

85

84

83

81

83

81
91

79

79

80

93

10
3

10
1

10
2

10
1

93

10
2

99

98
100

94

95
92

97

94

9796
95

96

121

121

119

106

123
123

122
122

104

105

104

105

116

116

117

120
119

115

120

117
118

118

114
113

112

111

106

107

107

108

108

109

109
110

110

129
129

130
130

134
133

132
131

127
127

128
128

125
125

126
126

124

124

BINS /

BIKES

138

135

135

138

137 137

136
136

148
148

148
148

147

147

149

149

149

149

150 150
151 151

152

153
153

153
153

154

154

155

155

16
0

16
1

16
1

16
0

152

159

159

158

158

157

157

156

156

166

166

163

163

173

173

V

V

177

177

176

176

179
178 178

179

180180

181

182

183

181

182

183

1.5
m x 1

.25
m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5
m x 1

.25
m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.8
m x 

1.5
m

SH
ED

 3B

1.8
m x 

1.5
m

SH
ED

 3B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

88

1.8
m x 

1.5
m

SH
ED

 3B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B1.5

m x 
1.2

5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25m
SHED 1-2B

1.5m
 x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.
5m

 x
 1

.2
5m

SH
ED

 1
-2

B

1.
5m

 x
 1

.2
5m

SH
ED

 1
-2

B

1.8m x 1.5m SHED 3B

1.8m x 1.5m SHED 3B

1.8
m x 

1.5
m

SH
ED

 3B

1.
5m

 x
 1

.2
5m

SH
ED

 1
-2

B

1.5m x 1.25mSHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25mSHED 1-2B

1.
5m

 x
 1

.2
5m

SH
ED

 1
-2

B

1.
5m

 x
 1

.2
5m

SH
ED

 1
-2

B

1.
5m

 x
 1

.2
5m

SH
ED

 1
-2

B

1.
5m

 x 
1.

25
m

SH
ED

 1
-2

B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.8
m x 

1.5
m

SH
ED

 3B

1.8
m x 1

.5m

SHED 3B

1.8
m x 1

.5m

SH
ED

 3B

1.5m
 x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.
5m

 x
 1

.2
5m

SH
ED

 1
-2

B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.8m x 1.5m

SHED 3B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.8m x 1.5m

SHED 3B

1.8m x 1.5m

SHED 3B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.8m x 1.5m

SHED 3B

1.8m x 1.5m

SHED 3B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.5m x 1.25m

SHED 1-2B

1.8m x 1.5m

SHED 3B

1.8m x 1.5m

SHED 3B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.5
m x 

1.2
5m

SH
ED

 1-
2B

1.8m
 x 1.5m

SHED 3B

1.8m x 1.5m

SHED 3B

B/C

PLANTED LANDSCAPE BUFFER TO BOUNDARY

82

89

90

89

90

82

BYR

LYT

54

88

89

90

68

71

70

64

BINS /

BIKES

69

65

68-71

16
2

16
2

60

61

111

U

U

U

U
56

55

58

59
U

U

57

U

51

3B5P
3B5P

53

52

BINS /

BIKES

50

V

V

V

C

C

3B5P
3B5P

2B4P

2B4P
2B4P

2B4P

2B4P
2B4P

2B4P
2B4P

2B4P

2B4P
2B4P

2B4P

2B
4P

2B
4P

2B
4P

2B
4P

3B5P

2B4P
2B4P

3B5P

2B4P2B4P

2B4P
2B4P

3B
5P

2B
4P

2B
4P

3B
5P

3B
5P

2B
4P

2B
4P

3B
5P

2B
4P

2B
4P

2B4P
2B4P

3B5P

4B6P

3B5P

3B
5P

2B
4P

2B
4P

3B
5P

V

C

3m
 F

oo
t / 

Cyc
le 

Lin
k

91

EMPLOYMENT
OUTLINE

3m
 Foo

t / 
Cyc

le 
Lin

k

B/C

Safeguarded
land for the

completion of

the alternative
route

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/CB/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/
C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/
C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/
C

B/C
B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/
C

B/C

B/
C

B/
C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/
C

B/C

B/C

B/C

B/
C

B/C

B/C

B/C
B/C

B/C

1BF04-X4(S)

1BF04-X4(S)

1B
F0

4-
X4

(S
)

S27
8

S27
8S38

S38

175
175

174
174

172
172

171

171

170

170

169

169

V

V

16
8

16
8

16
7

16
7

V
16

5
16

5
164

16
4

LYT

BRO

BYR

LYT

HEY

BRO

HEY

HEY

GL0
1

G
L0

1

G
L0

1

GL01

G
L0

2

GL01

GL02

GL01

GL01

GL0
1

GL02

GL0
2

GL0
2

GL0
1

GL0
1

GL02

G
L0

2

G
L0

2

GL0
2

G
L02

G
L02

GL02

G
L0

1

GL0
2

G
L0

1

G
L01

GL02

GL01

GL02

GL01

GL01

GL02

GL01

G
L0

2

GL02

G
L01

GL01

G
L02

GL
01

GL01G
L01

G
L02

G
L02

GL02

GL02

GL02

GL0
1

GL0
1

GL01

GL01

HEY

BR
O

HEY

BRO

HEY

HEY

HEY

HEY

BRO

BRO

BR
O

S/S

BRO

139 139 140 140

141
141

142
142

14
3

14
3

14
4

14
4

14
5

14
5

14
6

14
6

1.22m RH

Lake

Dra
in

1.22m RH

Pond

Track

15

Church

THE MEADOW
S

17

1

30

2

11

BROOKSIDE

Meadows
1

SHELDONS PIECE

17

21

Lych Gate

FB

15

1

4

9

24

6

15

1

5 12

1

11

15

12

6

Tw
o

7

100.1m
6

1

22

12b

5

1

17

St Leonard's

8

Prospect

Pound Close

1

6

11

1

6

LB

9

3

4

2

29

3

8

2

Place

10

23
a

2

Church

33

25

14

14

1

2

W
ay

s

Sinks

23

12

21
a

Hall

29

HURDLERS

5

19

7GREEN

Issues

32

28
26

Issues

18

AL
LN

UT

2

24

9

1

The

7

2

26

5

THE GOGGS

GP

28

22

C
LO

SE

41

7

BA
R

N
AC

R
E

10

34
a

6

Path (um
)

4

1

5

10

1a
1b

100.7m

10

14

B 4009

Q
U

AR
R

IN
G

TO
N

 P
LA

C
E

9

FBs

Path (um
)

Path (um
)

Path
 (u

m)

Path
 (u

m)

Path (um)Path (um)

Old Forge2
4

14

8 School
Primary

10

23

1

18

ST LEONARDS CLOSE

CLOSE

2

8

1

33

7

2

14

10

28

SYCAMORE

26

6
7

5

C
LO

SE

24

Monument

PYRTON LA
NE

27
ASH CLOSE

32

24

30

9

BE
EC

H

22
2

3

23

36

11

1

6

15

13

21

16

11

W
IL

LO
W

 C
LO

SE

16

36

20

25

1012

3

9

2

13

5

40

1

Watlington

ESS

Mast (Telecommunication)

Travellers Site

Yard
Webbs

3

2

1

Depot

4

3d

5

6

Paddock
Bucklands

43

2

1

61

Tank

27

21

106.1m

Tan
k

35

100.6m

23

Path (um)57

39

CUXHAM
 ROAD

104.4m

Works

59

105.5m

107.2m

BR
IT

W
EL

L 
R

O
AD

El Sub Sta

47

1

2

12

W
IN

DMILL
 P

IE
CE

3

Tanks

Tk

Tank

15
17

23
25

7
5 11

9

C

A1

B

A5

F1

F2

E1

B 48093.9m

Glebe Farm

Pond
D

ra
in

94.8m

Pond

Pyrt
on

 La
ne

Cuxham
Roundabout

Cuxham Road

B480

W
illo

w 
Cl

os
e

Britw
ell

 R
oa

d

J1

SITE A

SITE C

SITE B

Roundabout designed to CD116:
ICD 28m

Central Island Diameter 9m
Apron Width 3.5m

Circulatory Lane Width 5.5m
Entry Width 3.5m

Entry and exit corner radii 20m
Flare Length 30m

Note - speed limit transition
from 30mph (to the south) and
50mph (to the north) to be
relocated to north of junction.

Extension of existing
access to Webb's Yard

J2

Point closed to
through traffic

Tie-in to Bloor Homes Site

Note - speed limit transition
from 30MPH (to the North) and

50MPH (to the South).

R
202

R
208

I/R DATE DESCRIPTION

ISSUE/REVISION

0 01/02/2021 FIRST ISSUE

1 12/03/2021 ALIGNMENT UPDATE

La
st

 s
av

ed
 b

y:
 L

U
KE

.E
LL

IM
AN

(2
02

1-
02

-0
1)

   
  L

as
t P

lo
tte

d:
 2

02
1-

03
-1

2

SHEET TITLE

OVERVIEW
OPTION A1-B1-C2-P6

SHEET NUMBER

60635885-ACM-01-ZZ-DR-HW-00107

Pr
oj

ec
t M

an
ag

em
en

t I
ni

tia
ls

:
D

es
ig

ne
r:

C
he

ck
ed

:
Ap

pr
ov

ed
:

LE
D

L
SR

B
Fi

le
na

m
e:

 C
:\P

W
W

O
R

KI
N

G
\A

EC
O

M
_D

S0
2_

U
K-

C
LT

\L
U

KE
.E

LL
IM

AN
@

AE
C

O
M

.C
O

M
\D

01
56

58
8\

A1
-B

1-
C

2-
P6

 O
VE

R
VI

EW
 L

AY
O

U
T.

D
W

G

NOTES

0
m

62.5 125

1:2500 Th
is 

dr
aw

ing
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

pr
ep

ar
ed

 fo
r t

he
 u

se
 o

f A
EC

OM
’s 

cli
en

t. 
It 

m
ay

 n
ot

 b
e 

us
ed

, m
od

ifie
d,

 re
pr

od
uc

ed
 o

r r
eli

ed
 u

po
n 

by
 th

ird
 p

ar
tie

s, 
ex

ce
pt

 a
s a

gr
ee

d 
by

 A
EC

OM
 o

r a
s r

eq
uir

ed
 b

y l
aw

. A
EC

OM
 a

cc
ep

ts 
no

 re
sp

on
sib

ilit
y, 

an
d 

de
nie

s a
ny

 lia
bil

ity
 w

ha
tso

ev
er

, t
o 

an
y p

ar
ty 

th
at

 u
se

s o
r r

eli
es

 o
n 

th
is 

dr
aw

ing
 w

ith
ou

t A
EC

OM
’s 

ex
pr

es
s w

rit
te

n 
co

ns
en

t. 
Do

 n
ot

 sc
ale

 th
is 

do
cu

m
en

t. 
Al

l m
ea

su
re

m
en

ts 
m

us
t b

e 
ob

ta
ine

d 
fro

m
 th

e 
sta

te
d 

dim
en

sio
ns

.

IS
O

 A
1 

59
4m

m
 x

 8
41

m
m

CONSULTANT

AECOM I&E Ltd.
AECOM House, 63-77 Victoria Street
St Albans, Herts AL1 3ER
Tel: 01727 535000
www.aecom.com

CLIENT

County Hall, New Road
Oxford, OX1 1ND
Tel: 01865 792422
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk

PROJECT

WATLINGTON
RELIEF ROAD

PROJECT NUMBER

60635885

KEY PLAN

KEY

N

DRAFT

Based upon a reproduction from the Ordnance Survey
mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her
Majesty's Stationary Office © Crown Copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction Infringes Crown Copyright and
may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
Oxfordshire County Council Licence 100023343

N

P
age 577

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
WORKS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
SHIRBURN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
CLF 2.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
CLF 2.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
CLF 2.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
CLF 2.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
CLF 2.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
CLF 2.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
CLF 2.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
CLF 2.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
CLF 2.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
CLF 2.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
CLF 2.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
CLF 2.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
CLF 2.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
CLF 2.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
CPS

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
BUNKER?

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
STORE

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
STORE

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
STORE

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
STORE

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
STORE

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
PYRTON LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
METHAL PLATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
EH

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
118.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
121.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
EH

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
118.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
121.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
120.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
EH

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
116.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
113.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
113.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
115.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
117.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
115.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
112.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
CL113.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
CL113.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
114.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
MP

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
CL113.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
113.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
113.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
IC(BLC)

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
CL113.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
113.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
113.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
MP

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
CL113.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
CL113.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
116.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
115.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
116.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
116.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
115.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
114.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
111.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
111.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
111.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
111.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
112.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
112.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
112.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
112.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
112.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
113.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
112.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
112.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
CL113.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
113.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
113.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
114.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
113.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
110.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
CHANNEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_273
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_274
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_275
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_276
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_277
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_278
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_279
117.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_280
RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_281
117.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_282
RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_283
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_284
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_285
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_286
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_287
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_288
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_289
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_290
CL109.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_291
IC1

AutoCAD SHX Text_292
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_293
109.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_294
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_295
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_296
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_297
CL109.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_298
IC2

AutoCAD SHX Text_299
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_300
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_301
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_302
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_303
CAB

AutoCAD SHX Text_304
CAB

AutoCAD SHX Text_305
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_306
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_307
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_308
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_309
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_310
BRW2.40m

AutoCAD SHX Text_311
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_312
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_313
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_314
STONE

AutoCAD SHX Text_315
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_316
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_317
BW0.70m

AutoCAD SHX Text_318
BW1.40m

AutoCAD SHX Text_319
BW1.80m

AutoCAD SHX Text_320
BW1.80m

AutoCAD SHX Text_321
BW1.80m

AutoCAD SHX Text_322
PRF1.10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_323
PRF1.10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_324
PRF1.10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_325
PRF1.10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_326
WPF0.90m

AutoCAD SHX Text_327
BRW0.90m

AutoCAD SHX Text_328
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_329
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_330
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_331
OHC

AutoCAD SHX Text_332
OHC

AutoCAD SHX Text_333
OHC

AutoCAD SHX Text_334
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_335
STAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_336
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_337
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_338
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_339
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_340
CL113.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_341
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_342
CL114.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_343
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_344
CL114.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_345
BLOCKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_346
CL112.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_347
CESSPIT

AutoCAD SHX Text_348
CL112.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_349
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_350
IL111.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_351
IL112.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_352
100%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_353
FL114.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_354
FL114.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_355
FL113.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_356
FL111.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_357
FL113.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_358
1.20d

AutoCAD SHX Text_359
1.00d

AutoCAD SHX Text_360
0.66d

AutoCAD SHX Text_361
0.60d

AutoCAD SHX Text_362
1.10d

AutoCAD SHX Text_363
0.50d

AutoCAD SHX Text_364
0.24d

AutoCAD SHX Text_365
0.70d

AutoCAD SHX Text_366
0.50d

AutoCAD SHX Text_367
0.60d

AutoCAD SHX Text_368
0.50d

AutoCAD SHX Text_369
0.80d

AutoCAD SHX Text_370
EOT(BLOCKED)

AutoCAD SHX Text_371
IL113.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_372
STOCKPILE

AutoCAD SHX Text_373
STOCKPILE

AutoCAD SHX Text_374
STOCKPILE

AutoCAD SHX Text_375
TOILET

AutoCAD SHX Text_376
VP

AutoCAD SHX Text_377
UTL

AutoCAD SHX Text_378
VP

AutoCAD SHX Text_379
IL113.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_380
BLOCKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_381
IL112.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_382
IL112.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_383
150%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_384
225%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_385
225%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_386
IL112.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_387
IL113.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_388
100%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_389
100%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_390
150%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_391
150%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_392
100%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_393
IL112.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_394
225%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_395
225%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_396
IL113.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_397
150%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_398
150%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_399
IL113.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_400
100%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_401
1O0%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_402
OH-LV

AutoCAD SHX Text_403
OH-LV

AutoCAD SHX Text_404
OH-LV

AutoCAD SHX Text_405
OH-LV

AutoCAD SHX Text_406
OH-LV

AutoCAD SHX Text_407
OH-BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_408
EM signal end - poss repair/Material change

AutoCAD SHX Text_409
Assumed.

AutoCAD SHX Text_410
Assumed.

AutoCAD SHX Text_411
MH Unable to be raised.

AutoCAD SHX Text_412
Depth to sonde 1.4m inside chamber.

AutoCAD SHX Text_413
Please see images for further information.

AutoCAD SHX Text_414
UTR

AutoCAD SHX Text_415
To ditch.

AutoCAD SHX Text_416
Cont.

AutoCAD SHX Text_417
POSS WATER FEED TO CROSS ROAD(NO SIGNAL)

AutoCAD SHX Text_418
POSS WATER FEED TO SPORTS FIELD.

AutoCAD SHX Text_419
Cont.

AutoCAD SHX Text_420
Scar 0.9Od

AutoCAD SHX Text_421
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_422
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_423
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_424
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_425
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_426
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_427
0.50d

AutoCAD SHX Text_428
SCAR

AutoCAD SHX Text_429
SHALLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_430
0.70d

AutoCAD SHX Text_431
Scar

AutoCAD SHX Text_432
Scar

AutoCAD SHX Text_433
Scar

AutoCAD SHX Text_434
Scar

AutoCAD SHX Text_435
0.50d

AutoCAD SHX Text_436
Scar

AutoCAD SHX Text_437
0.5Od

AutoCAD SHX Text_438
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_439
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_440
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_441
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_442
0.80d

AutoCAD SHX Text_443
0.90d

AutoCAD SHX Text_444
4w0.52d

AutoCAD SHX Text_445
0.40d

AutoCAD SHX Text_446
0.50d

AutoCAD SHX Text_447
0.75d

AutoCAD SHX Text_448
0.90d

AutoCAD SHX Text_449
OH-BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_450
OH-BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_451
OH-BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_452
OH-BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_453
0.80d

AutoCAD SHX Text_454
0.60d

AutoCAD SHX Text_455
0.50d

AutoCAD SHX Text_456
0.70d

AutoCAD SHX Text_457
1.40d

AutoCAD SHX Text_458
1.30d

AutoCAD SHX Text_459
1.00d

AutoCAD SHX Text_460
1.00d

AutoCAD SHX Text_461
0.36d

AutoCAD SHX Text_462
0.60d

AutoCAD SHX Text_463
0.70d

AutoCAD SHX Text_464
TAP

AutoCAD SHX Text_465
0.8Od

AutoCAD SHX Text_466
EOT

AutoCAD SHX Text_467
3m DEEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_468
SOAKAWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_469
0.70d

AutoCAD SHX Text_470
113.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_471
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_472
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_473
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_474
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_475
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_476
IL108.37(APP)

AutoCAD SHX Text_477
Gully's blocked (can not see conection)

AutoCAD SHX Text_478
Gully's blocked (can not see conection)

AutoCAD SHX Text_479
CL114.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_480
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_481
IL113.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_482
EOT

AutoCAD SHX Text_483
SVP

AutoCAD SHX Text_484
CL114.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_485
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_486
IL113.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_487
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_488
0.60d

AutoCAD SHX Text_489
1.03d

AutoCAD SHX Text_490
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_491
0.35d

AutoCAD SHX Text_492
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_493
106.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_494
106.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_495
105.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_496
105.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_497
104.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_498
104.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_499
103.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_500
103.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_501
102.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_502
102.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_503
101.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_504
104.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_505
103.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_506
103.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_507
102.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_508
104.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_509
103.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_510
103.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_511
102.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_512
102.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_513
103.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_514
103.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_515
103.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_516
103.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_517
101.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_518
102.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_519
102.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_520
101.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_521
101.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_522
100.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_523
100.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_524
100.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_525
99.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_526
99.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_527
98.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_528
99.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_529
98.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_530
98.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_531
104.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_532
103.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_533
103.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_534
103.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_535
100.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_536
101.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_537
102.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_538
101.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_539
100.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_540
99.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_541
99.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_542
99.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_543
98.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_544
100.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_545
99.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_546
99.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_547
99.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_548
100.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_549
99.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_550
99.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_551
98.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_552
98.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_553
97.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_554
97.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_555
96.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_556
96.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_557
96.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_558
96.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_559
98.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_560
97.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_561
97.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_562
96.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_563
96.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_564
95.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_565
95.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_566
95.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_567
95.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_568
95.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_569
96.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_570
96.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_571
97.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_572
97.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_573
97.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_574
96.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_575
97.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_576
102.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_577
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_578
105.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_579
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_580
97.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_581
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_582
98.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_583
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_584
95.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_585
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_586
96.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_587
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_588
95.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_589
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_590
97.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_591
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_592
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_593
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_594
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_595
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_596
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_597
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_598
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_599
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_600
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_601
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_602
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_603
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_604
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_605
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_606
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text_607
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_608
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_609
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_610
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_611
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_612
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_613
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_614
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_615
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_616
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_617
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_618
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_619
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_620
99.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_621
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_622
99.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_623
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_624
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_625
100.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_626
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_627
100.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_628
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_629
99.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_630
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_631
99.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_632
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_633
97.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_634
99.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_635
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_636
98.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_637
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_638
97.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_639
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_640
97.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_641
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_642
96.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_643
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_644
96.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_645
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_646
96.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_647
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_648
97.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_649
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_650
97.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_651
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_652
97.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_653
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_654
97.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_655
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_656
99.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_657
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_658
97.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_659
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_660
97.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_661
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_662
97.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_663
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_664
97.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_665
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_666
CL 100.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_667
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_668
CL 100.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_669
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_670
CL 99.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_671
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_672
CL 99.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_673
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_674
97.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_675
KO

AutoCAD SHX Text_676
97.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_677
KO

AutoCAD SHX Text_678
97.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_679
KO

AutoCAD SHX Text_680
97.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_681
KO

AutoCAD SHX Text_682
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_683
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_684
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_685
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_686
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_687
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_688
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_689
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_690
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_691
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_692
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_693
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_694
CL 100.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_695
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_696
CL 99.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_697
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_698
CL 101.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_699
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_700
CL 100.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_701
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_702
CL 102.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_703
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_704
CL 99.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_705
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_706
CL 99.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_707
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_708
CL 99.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_709
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_710
CL 97.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_711
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_712
CL 97.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_713
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_714
CL 97.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_715
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_716
CL 97.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_717
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_718
CL 97.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_719
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_720
CL 100.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_721
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_722
CL 97.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_723
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_724
CL 97.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_725
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_726
CL 97.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_727
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_728
CL 97.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_729
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_730
CL 97.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_731
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_732
CL 97.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_733
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_734
CL 96.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_735
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_736
CL 96.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_737
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_738
MK

AutoCAD SHX Text_739
MK

AutoCAD SHX Text_740
CL 100.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_741
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_742
CL 100.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_743
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_744
CL 102.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_745
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_746
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_747
CL 97.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_748
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_749
CL 97.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_750
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_751
IL 94.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_752
EAVES 105.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_753
RIDGE 101.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_754
RIDGE 106.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_755
RIDGE 105.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_756
RIDGE 104.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_757
RIDGE 105.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_758
EAVES 103.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_759
EAVES 102.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_760
RIDGE 111.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_761
RIDGE 108.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_762
RIDGE 107.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_763
EAVES 103.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_764
RIDGE 105.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_765
RIDGE 105.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_766
EAVES 102.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_767
EAVES 103.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_768
RIDGE 105.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_769
EAVES 109.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_770
RIDGE 113.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_771
RIDGE 112.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_772
RIDGE 113.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_773
EAVES 110.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_774
EAVES 110.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_775
RIDGE 113.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_776
EAVES 110.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_777
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_778
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_779
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_780
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_781
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_782
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_783
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_784
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_785
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_786
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_787
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_788
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_789
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_790
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_791
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_792
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_793
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_794
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_795
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_796
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_797
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_798
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_799
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_800
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_801
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_802
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_803
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_804
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_805
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_806
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_807
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_808
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_809
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_810
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_811
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_812
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_813
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_814
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_815
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_816
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_817
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_818
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_819
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_820
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_821
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_822
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_823
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_824
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_825
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_826
STAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_827
STAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_828
STAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_829
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_830
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_831
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_832
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_833
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_834
TP/CTG

AutoCAD SHX Text_835
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_836
TP/CTG

AutoCAD SHX Text_837
WO

AutoCAD SHX Text_838
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_839
100.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_840
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_841
100.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_842
EAVES 104.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_843
EAVES 104.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_844
EAVES 102.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_845
RIDGE 105.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_846
EAVES 104.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_847
EAVES 103.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_848
RIDGE 105.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_849
EAVES 102.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_850
EAVES 103.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_851
RIDGE 105.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_852
RIDGE 105.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_853
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_854
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_855
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_856
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_857
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_858
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_859
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_860
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_861
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_862
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_863
CL 100.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_864
100.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_865
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_866
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_867
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_868
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_869
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_870
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_871
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_872
EP/TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_873
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_874
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_875
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_876
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_877
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_878
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_879
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_880
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_881
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_882
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_883
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_884
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_885
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_886
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_887
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_888
97.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_889
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_890
96.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_891
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_892
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_893
CL 97.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_894
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_895
MK

AutoCAD SHX Text_896
CL 97.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_897
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_898
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_899
RIDGE 111.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_900
EAVES 108.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_901
RIDGE 111.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_902
EAVES 108.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_903
RIDGE 112.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_904
EAVES 109.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_905
EAVES 109.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_906
RIDGE 112.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_907
RIDGE 113.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_908
EAVES 110.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_909
EAVES 111.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_910
EAVES 110.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_911
RIDGE 113.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_912
RIDGE 114.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_913
RIDGE 114.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_914
EAVES 111.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_915
EAVES 111.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_916
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_917
UNMADE

AutoCAD SHX Text_918
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_919
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_920
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_921
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_922
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_923
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_924
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_925
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_926
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_927
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_928
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_929
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_930
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_931
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_932
PAVING

AutoCAD SHX Text_933
MIXED HEDGE Av. HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_934
MIXED HEDGE Av. HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_935
MIXED HEDGE Av. HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_936
MIXED HEDGE Av. HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_937
BRICK WALL HT 0.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_938
BRICK WALL HT 0.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_939
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_940
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_941
P/W FENCE HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_942
LAY-BY (CONCRETE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_943
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_944
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_945
HEDGE HT 1.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_946
HEDGE HT 1.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_947
UNMADE

AutoCAD SHX Text_948
TRACK (UNMADE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_949
TRACK (UNMADE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_950
TRACK (UNMADE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_951
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_952
TRACK (UNMADE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_953
TRACK (UNMADE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_954
TRACK (UNMADE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_955
TRACK (UNMADE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_956
TRACK (UNMADE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_957
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_958
MIXED HEDGE Av. HT 4.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_959
LAY-BY (CONCRETE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_960
P/R FENCE HT 0.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_961
P/R FENCE HT 0.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_962
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_963
TAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_964
TAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_965
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_966
P/W FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_967
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_968
STAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_969
HEDGE HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_970
HEDGE HT 3.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_971
HEDGE HT 3.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_972
MIXED VEGETATION Av. HT 6.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_973
CYPRESS CANOPY Av. HT 12.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_974
BRICK WALL HT 1.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_975
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_976
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_977
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_978
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_979
P/R FENCE HT 0.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_980
BRICK WALL HT 0.6m/CB HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_981
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_982
BRICK WALL HT 0.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_983
BRICK WALL HT 0.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_984
I/R FENCE HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_985
BRICK WALL HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_986
BRICK WALL HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_987
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_988
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_989
BRICK WALL HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_990
BRICK WALL HT 0.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_991
BRICK WALL HT 0.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_992
C/B FENCE HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_993
C/B FENCE HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_994
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_995
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_996
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_997
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_998
CL 97.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_999
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1000
P/W FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1001
C/B HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1002
P/W FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1003
P/W FENCE 1.2m ASSUMED POSITION

AutoCAD SHX Text_1004
P/W FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1005
MIXED VEGETATION LINE Av. HT 1.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1006
MIXED VEGETATION LINE Av. HT 1.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1007
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_1008
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_1009
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1010
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1011
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1012
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1013
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1014
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1015
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1016
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1017
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1018
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1019
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1020
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1021
MUD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1022
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1023
STORE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1024
EAVES 102.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1025
CL 97.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_1026
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1027
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1028
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1029
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1030
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1031
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1032
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1033
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1034
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1035
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1036
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1037
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1038
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1039
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1040
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1041
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1042
C/B HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1043
BRICK WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1044
HT 1.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1045
BRICK WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1046
HT 1.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1047
BRICK WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1048
HT 1.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1049
BRICK WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1050
HT 1.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1051
97.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1052
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1053
97.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1054
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1055
EAVES 104.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_1056
EAVES 102.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_1057
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1058
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1059
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1060
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1061
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1062
SILO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1063
SILO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1064
SILO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1065
SILO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1066
SILO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1067
SILO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1068
STORE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1069
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1070
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1071
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1072
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1073
P/R FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1074
P/R FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1075
P/R FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1076
P/R FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1077
P/R FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1078
P/R FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1079
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1080
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1081
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1082
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1083
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1084
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1085
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1086
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1087
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1088
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1089
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1090
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1091
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1092
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1093
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1094
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1095
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1096
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1097
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1098
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1099
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1100
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1101
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1102
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1103
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1104
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1105
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1106
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1107
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1108
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1109
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1110
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1111
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1112
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1113
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1114
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1115
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1116
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1117
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1118
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1119
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1120
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1121
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1122
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1123
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1124
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1125
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1126
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1127
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1128
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1129
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1130
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1131
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1132
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1133
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1134
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1135
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1136
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1137
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1138
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1139
BUSH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1140
HT 2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1141
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_1142
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_1143
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_1144
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_1145
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_1146
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_1147
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_1148
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_1149
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_1150
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_1151
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_1152
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_1153
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_1154
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_1155
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_1156
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_1157
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_1158
G 0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1159
HT 6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1160
G 0.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1161
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1162
G 0.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1163
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1164
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1165
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1166
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1167
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1168
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1169
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1170
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1171
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1172
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1173
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1174
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1175
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1176
G 0.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1177
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1178
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1179
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1180
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1181
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1182
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1183
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1184
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1185
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1186
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1187
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1188
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1189
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1190
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1191
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1192
G 1.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1193
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1194
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1195
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1196
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1197
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1198
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1199
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1200
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1201
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1202
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1203
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1204
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1205
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1206
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1207
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1208
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1209
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1210
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1211
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1212
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1213
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1214
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1215
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1216
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1217
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1218
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1219
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1220
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1221
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1222
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1223
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1224
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1225
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1226
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1227
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1228
G 0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1229
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1230
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1231
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1232
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1233
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1234
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1235
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1236
G 1.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1237
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1238
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1239
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1240
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1241
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1242
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1243
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1244
G 1.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1245
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1246
G 1.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1247
HT 17m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1248
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1249
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1250
G 1.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1251
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1252
G 1.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1253
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1254
G 1.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1255
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1256
G 1.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1257
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1258
G 1.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1259
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1260
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1261
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1262
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1263
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1264
G 2.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1265
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1266
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1267
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1268
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1269
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1270
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1271
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1272
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1273
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1274
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1275
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1276
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1277
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1278
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1279
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1280
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1281
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1282
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1283
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1284
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1285
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1286
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1287
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1288
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1289
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1290
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1291
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1292
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1293
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1294
G 0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1295
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1296
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1297
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1298
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1299
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1300
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1301
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1302
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1303
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1304
G 0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1305
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1306
G 0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1307
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1308
G 1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1309
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1310
G 1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1311
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1312
G 1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1313
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1314
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1315
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1316
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1317
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1318
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1319
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1320
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1321
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1322
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1323
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1324
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1325
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1326
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1327
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1328
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1329
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1330
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1331
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1332
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1333
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1334
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1335
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1336
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1337
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1338
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1339
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1340
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1341
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1342
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1343
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1344
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1345
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1346
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1347
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1348
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1349
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1350
G 0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1351
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1352
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1353
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1354
G 0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1355
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1356
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1357
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1358
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1359
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1360
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1361
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1362
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1363
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1364
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1365
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1366
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1367
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1368
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1369
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1370
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1371
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1372
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1373
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1374
G 2.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1375
HT 20m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1376
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1377
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1378
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1379
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1380
G 3.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1381
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1382
G 3.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1383
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1384
G 3.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1385
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1386
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1387
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1388
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1389
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1390
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1391
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1392
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1393
HT 9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1394
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1395
HT 9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1396
G 1.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1397
HT 22m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1398
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1399
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1400
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1401
HT 6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1402
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1403
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1404
G 0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1405
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1406
G 0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1407
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1408
G 0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1409
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1410
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1411
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1412
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1413
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1414
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1415
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1416
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1417
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1418
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1419
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1420
G 3.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1421
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1422
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1423
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1424
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1425
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1426
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1427
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1428
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1429
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1430
G 0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1431
HT 13m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1432
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1433
HT 13m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1434
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1435
HT 13m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1436
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1437
HT 13m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1438
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1439
HT 13m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1440
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1441
HT 13m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1442
G 0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1443
HT 6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1444
G 2.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1445
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1446
G 1.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1447
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1448
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1449
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1450
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1451
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1452
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1453
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1454
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1455
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1456
G 0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1457
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1458
G 1.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1459
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1460
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1461
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1462
PINE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1463
ELM

AutoCAD SHX Text_1464
HAWTHORN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1465
ELM

AutoCAD SHX Text_1466
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_1467
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1468
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1469
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1470
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1471
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1472
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1473
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1474
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1475
HAWTHORN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1476
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1477
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_1478
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1479
HAZEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1480
HAZEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1481
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1482
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1483
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1484
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1485
FRUIT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1486
FRUIT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1487
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1488
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1489
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_1490
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1491
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1492
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1493
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1494
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1495
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1496
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1497
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1498
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_1499
HAWTHORN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1500
POPLAR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1501
POPLAR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1502
POPLAR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1503
POPLAR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1504
WILLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_1505
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1506
FRUIT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1507
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1508
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1509
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1510
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1511
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1512
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1513
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1514
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1515
LIME

AutoCAD SHX Text_1516
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_1517
HORNBEAM

AutoCAD SHX Text_1518
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_1519
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_1520
HORNBEAM

AutoCAD SHX Text_1521
HORNBEAM

AutoCAD SHX Text_1522
HORNBEAM

AutoCAD SHX Text_1523
HORNBEAM

AutoCAD SHX Text_1524
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1525
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1526
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1527
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1528
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1529
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1530
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1531
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1532
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1533
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1534
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1535
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1536
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1537
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1538
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1539
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1540
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1541
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1542
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1543
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1544
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1545
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1546
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1547
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1548
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1549
LIME

AutoCAD SHX Text_1550
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_1551
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_1552
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1553
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1554
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1555
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1556
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1557
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1558
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1559
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1560
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1561
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1562
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1563
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1564
WILLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_1565
WILLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_1566
WILLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_1567
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1568
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1569
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_1570
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1571
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1572
WILLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_1573
CONIFER

AutoCAD SHX Text_1574
HAZEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1575
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1576
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1577
HAZEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1578
HAZEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1579
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_1580
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1581
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1582
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1583
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1584
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_1585
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1586
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1587
ALDER

AutoCAD SHX Text_1588
PINE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1589
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1590
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1591
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1592
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1593
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1594
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1595
ELDER

AutoCAD SHX Text_1596
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1597
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1598
WILLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_1599
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1600
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1601
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1602
BEECH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1603
BEECH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1604
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_1605
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1606
IL 98.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1607
IL 98.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1608
300%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_1609
300%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_1610
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1611
RIDGE 108.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1612
EAVES 106.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1613
WILLOW HEDGE LINE Av. HT 4.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1614
WILLOW HEDGE LINE Av. HT 4.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1615
MAST

AutoCAD SHX Text_1616
STAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1617
SPEED CUSHIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1618
SPEED CUSHIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1619
SPEED CUSHIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1620
SPEED CUSHIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1621
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_1622
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1623
BRICK WALL HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1624
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1625
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1626
RIDGE 105.753

AutoCAD SHX Text_1627
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1628
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1629
BRICK WALL HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1630
BRICK WALL HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1631
BUSHES HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1632
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1633
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1634
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1635
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1636
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1637
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1638
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1639
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1640
P/W FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1641
UNMADE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1642
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1643
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1644
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1645
G 1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1646
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1647
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1648
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1649
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1650
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1651
106.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1652
105.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1653
105.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1654
104.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1655
103.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1656
103.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1657
102.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1658
102.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1659
101.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1660
BLOCKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_1661
BLOCKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_1662
OBSTRUCTED

AutoCAD SHX Text_1663
CL 99.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_1664
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1665
BLOCKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_1666
CL 99.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_1667
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1668
BLOCKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_1669
DCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1670
UNMADE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1671
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1672
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1673
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1674
RW HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1675
RW Av. HT 1.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1676
RW Av. HT 1.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1677
P/W FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1678
P/W FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1679
P/W FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1680
P/W FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1681
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1682
LIMITED ACCESS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1683
RAMP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1684
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1685
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1686
STEPS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1687
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1688
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1689
G 2.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1690
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1691
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1692
OVERGROWN/MUD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1693
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1694
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1695
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1696
EDGE OF CROP FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1697
EDGE OF CROP FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1698
EDGE OF CROP FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1699
EDGE OF CROP FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1700
EDGE OF CROP FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1701
CROP FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1702
CROP FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1703
CROP FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1704
CROP FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1705
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1706
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1707
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1708
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1709
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1710
IL 94.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_1711
IL 94.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_1712
900%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_1713
IL 95.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_1714
100%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_1715
P/W FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1716
MIXED HEDGE Av. HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1717
MIXED HEDGE Av. HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1718
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_1719
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_1720
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_1721
EDGE OF FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1722
ELECTRIC SUB STATION

AutoCAD SHX Text_1723
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1724
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1725
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1726
FRUIT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1727
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1728
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1729
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1730
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1731
HAWTHORN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1732
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1733
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1734
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_1735
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1736
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1737
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1738
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1739
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1740
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1741
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1742
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1743
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1744
FRUIT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1745
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1746
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1747
G 1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1748
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1749
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1750
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1751
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1752
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1753
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1754
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1755
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1756
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1757
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1758
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1759
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1760
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1761
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1762
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1763
FRUIT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1764
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1765
HT 6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1766
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1767
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1768
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1769
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1770
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1771
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1772
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1773
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1774
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1775
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1776
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1777
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1778
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1779
G 1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1780
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1781
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1782
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1783
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1784
HAZEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1785
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_1786
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1787
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1788
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1789
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1790
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1791
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1792
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1793
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_1794
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1795
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1796
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1797
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1798
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1799
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1800
WAREHOUSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1801
PIG SHELTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_1802
PIG SHELTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_1803
PIG SHELTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_1804
PIG SHELTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_1805
PIG SHELTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_1806
PIG SHELTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_1807
BARN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1808
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1809
G 1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1810
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1811
HEADWALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1812
H/WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1813
H/WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1814
NPV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1815
NPV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1816
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1817
H/WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1818
NPV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1819
H/WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1820
NPV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1821
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1822
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1823
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1824
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1825
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1826
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1827
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1828
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1829
P/W FENCE HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1830
P/R FENCE HT 0.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1831
P/R FENCE HT 0.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1832
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1833
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1834
G 1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1835
TREE CANOPY LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1836
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1837
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1838
MIXED HEDGE Av. HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1839
MK

AutoCAD SHX Text_1840
HEADWALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1841
900%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_1842
HEADWALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1843
600%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_1844
HEADWALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1845
IL 94.75 600%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_1846
TOP 95.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_1847
HEADWALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1848
NO PIPE VISIBLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1849
TOP 96.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_1850
HEADWALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1851
OFF-SITE CONIFERS IN THIS AREA - Av.HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1852
DITCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1853
DITCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1854
DITCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1855
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1856
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1857
WORKS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1858
SHIRBURN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1859
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1860
CLF 2.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1861
CLF 2.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1862
CLF 2.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1863
CLF 2.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1864
CLF 2.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1865
CLF 2.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1866
CLF 2.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1867
CLF 2.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1868
CLF 2.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1869
CLF 2.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1870
CLF 2.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1871
CLF 2.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1872
CLF 2.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1873
CLF 2.50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1874
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1875
CPS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1876
BUNKER?

AutoCAD SHX Text_1877
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_1878
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1879
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1880
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1881
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1882
STORE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1883
STORE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1884
STORE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1885
STORE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1886
STORE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1887
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1888
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1889
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1890
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1891
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1892
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1893
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1894
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1895
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1896
PYRTON LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1897
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1898
METHAL PLATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1899
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1900
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1901
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1902
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1903
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1904
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1905
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1906
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1907
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1908
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1909
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1910
EH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1911
118.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_1912
RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1913
121.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_1914
EH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1915
118.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_1916
RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1917
121.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_1918
RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1919
120.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_1920
EH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1921
116.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_1922
113.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1923
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1924
113.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_1925
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1926
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1927
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1928
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1929
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1930
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1931
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1932
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1933
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1934
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1935
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1936
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1937
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1938
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1939
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1940
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1941
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1942
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1943
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1944
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1945
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1946
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1947
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1948
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1949
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1950
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1951
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1952
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1953
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1954
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1955
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1956
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1957
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1958
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1959
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1960
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_1961
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_1962
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1963
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1964
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1965
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_1966
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1967
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1968
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1969
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1970
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1971
115.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_1972
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1973
117.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_1974
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1975
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1976
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1977
115.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_1978
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1979
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1980
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1981
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1982
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1983
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1984
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1985
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1986
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1987
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1988
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1989
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_1990
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_1991
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_1992
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_1993
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_1994
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1995
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1996
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1997
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1998
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1999
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2000
112.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_2001
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2002
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2003
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2004
CL113.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_2005
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2006
CL113.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_2007
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2008
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2009
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2010
114.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_2011
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2012
MP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2013
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2014
CL113.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2015
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_2016
113.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_2017
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2018
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2019
113.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_2020
IC(BLC)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2021
CL113.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_2022
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2023
113.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_2024
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2025
113.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_2026
MP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2027
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2028
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2029
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2030
CL113.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_2031
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2032
CL113.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_2033
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2034
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2035
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_2036
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_2037
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_2038
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_2039
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_2040
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2041
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2042
116.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_2043
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2044
115.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_2045
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2046
116.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_2047
116.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_2048
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2049
115.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_2050
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2051
114.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2052
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2053
111.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_2054
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2055
111.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_2056
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2057
111.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_2058
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2059
111.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_2060
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2061
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2062
112.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_2063
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2064
112.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_2065
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2066
112.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2067
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2068
112.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2069
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2070
112.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_2071
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2072
113.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_2073
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2074
112.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_2075
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2076
112.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_2077
CL113.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_2078
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2079
113.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_2080
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2081
113.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_2082
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2083
114.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_2084
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2085
113.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_2086
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2087
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_2088
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_2089
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_2090
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_2091
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_2092
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_2093
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_2094
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_2095
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_2096
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_2097
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_2098
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_2099
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_2100
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_2101
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_2102
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_2103
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_2104
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_2105
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_2106
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_2107
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_2108
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2109
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2110
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2111
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2112
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2113
110.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_2114
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2115
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_2116
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_2117
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_2118
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2119
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_2120
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_2121
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_2122
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_2123
CHANNEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2124
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_2125
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2126
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2127
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2128
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2129
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2130
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2131
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2132
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_2133
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_2134
117.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_2135
RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2136
117.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_2137
RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2138
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2139
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2140
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2141
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2142
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2143
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2144
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2145
CL109.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_2146
IC1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2147
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2148
109.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_2149
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2150
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2151
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_2152
CL109.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_2153
IC2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2154
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text_2155
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2156
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2157
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2158
CAB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2159
CAB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2160
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_2161
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_2162
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_2163
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_2164
TREES / BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_2165
BRW2.40m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2166
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2167
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2168
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2169
STONE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2170
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2171
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_2172
BW0.70m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2173
BW1.40m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2174
BW1.80m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2175
BW1.80m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2176
BW1.80m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2177
PRF1.10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2178
PRF1.10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2179
PRF1.10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2180
PRF1.10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2181
WPF0.90m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2182
BRW0.90m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2183
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2184
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2185
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2186
OHC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2187
OHC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2188
OHC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2189
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2190
STAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2191
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2192
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2193
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2194
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2195
CL113.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2196
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2197
CL114.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_2198
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2199
CL114.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_2200
BLOCKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_2201
CL112.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2202
CESSPIT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2203
CL112.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_2204
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2205
IL111.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2206
IL112.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_2207
100%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_2208
FL114.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_2209
FL114.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2210
FL113.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_2211
FL111.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_2212
FL113.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_2213
1.20d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2214
1.00d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2215
0.66d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2216
0.60d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2217
1.10d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2218
0.50d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2219
0.24d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2220
0.70d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2221
0.50d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2222
0.60d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2223
0.50d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2224
0.80d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2225
EOT(BLOCKED)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2226
IL113.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_2227
STOCKPILE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2228
STOCKPILE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2229
STOCKPILE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2230
TOILET

AutoCAD SHX Text_2231
VP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2232
UTL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2233
VP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2234
IL113.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_2235
BLOCKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_2236
IL112.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_2237
IL112.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_2238
150%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_2239
225%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_2240
225%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_2241
IL112.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_2242
IL113.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_2243
100%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_2244
100%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_2245
150%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_2246
150%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_2247
100%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_2248
IL112.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_2249
225%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_2250
225%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_2251
IL113.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_2252
150%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_2253
150%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_2254
IL113.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_2255
100%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_2256
1O0%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_2257
OH-LV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2258
OH-LV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2259
OH-LV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2260
OH-LV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2261
OH-LV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2262
OH-BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2263
EM signal end - poss repair/Material change

AutoCAD SHX Text_2264
Assumed.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2265
Assumed.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2266
MH Unable to be raised.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2267
Depth to sonde 1.4m inside chamber.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2268
Please see images for further information.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2269
UTR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2270
To ditch.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2271
Cont.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2272
POSS WATER FEED TO CROSS ROAD(NO SIGNAL)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2273
POSS WATER FEED TO SPORTS FIELD.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2274
Cont.

AutoCAD SHX Text_2275
Scar 0.9Od

AutoCAD SHX Text_2276
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2277
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2278
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2279
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2280
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2281
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2282
0.50d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2283
SCAR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2284
SHALLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_2285
0.70d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2286
Scar

AutoCAD SHX Text_2287
Scar

AutoCAD SHX Text_2288
Scar

AutoCAD SHX Text_2289
Scar

AutoCAD SHX Text_2290
0.50d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2291
Scar

AutoCAD SHX Text_2292
0.5Od

AutoCAD SHX Text_2293
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2294
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2295
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2296
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2297
0.80d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2298
0.90d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2299
4w0.52d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2300
0.40d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2301
0.50d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2302
0.75d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2303
0.90d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2304
OH-BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2305
OH-BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2306
OH-BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2307
OH-BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2308
0.80d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2309
0.60d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2310
0.50d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2311
0.70d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2312
1.40d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2313
1.30d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2314
1.00d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2315
1.00d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2316
0.36d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2317
0.60d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2318
0.70d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2319
TAP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2320
0.8Od

AutoCAD SHX Text_2321
EOT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2322
3m DEEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2323
SOAKAWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2324
0.70d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2325
113.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_2326
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2327
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2328
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2329
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2330
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2331
IL108.37(APP)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2332
Gully's blocked (can not see conection)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2333
Gully's blocked (can not see conection)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2334
CL114.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_2335
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2336
IL113.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_2337
EOT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2338
SVP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2339
CL114.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2340
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2341
IL113.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2342
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2343
0.60d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2344
1.03d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2345
GPR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2346
0.35d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2347
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2348
106.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2349
106.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2350
105.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2351
105.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2352
104.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2353
104.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2354
103.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2355
103.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2356
102.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2357
102.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2358
101.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2359
104.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2360
103.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2361
103.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2362
102.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2363
103.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2364
103.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2365
101.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2366
102.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2367
102.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2368
101.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2369
101.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2370
100.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2371
100.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2372
100.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2373
99.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2374
99.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2375
98.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2376
99.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2377
98.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2378
98.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2379
100.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2380
100.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2381
99.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2382
99.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2383
99.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2384
100.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2385
99.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2386
99.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2387
98.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2388
98.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2389
97.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2390
97.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2391
96.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2392
96.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2393
96.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2394
96.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2395
98.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2396
97.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2397
97.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2398
96.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2399
96.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2400
95.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2401
95.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2402
95.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2403
95.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2404
95.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2405
96.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2406
96.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2407
97.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2408
97.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2409
97.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2410
96.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2411
97.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2412
102.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_2413
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2414
105.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_2415
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2416
97.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_2417
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2418
98.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2419
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2420
95.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_2421
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2422
96.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_2423
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2424
95.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_2425
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2426
97.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2427
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2428
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2429
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2430
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2431
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2432
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2433
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2434
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2435
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2436
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2437
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2438
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2439
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2440
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2441
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2442
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2443
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2444
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2445
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2446
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2447
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2448
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2449
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2450
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2451
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2452
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2453
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2454
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2455
99.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_2456
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2457
99.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_2458
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2459
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2460
100.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_2461
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2462
100.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_2463
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2464
99.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2465
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2466
97.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_2467
99.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2468
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2469
98.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_2470
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2471
97.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_2472
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2473
97.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2474
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2475
96.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2476
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2477
96.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_2478
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2479
96.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_2480
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2481
97.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_2482
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2483
97.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_2484
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2485
97.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2486
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2487
97.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_2488
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2489
99.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2490
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2491
97.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_2492
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2493
97.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_2494
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2495
97.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_2496
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2497
97.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_2498
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2499
CL 100.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_2500
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2501
CL 100.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_2502
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2503
CL 99.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_2504
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2505
CL 99.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_2506
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2507
97.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_2508
KO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2509
97.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_2510
KO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2511
97.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_2512
KO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2513
97.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_2514
KO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2515
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2516
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2517
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2518
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2519
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2520
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2521
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2522
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2523
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2524
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2525
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2526
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2527
CL 100.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_2528
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2529
CL 99.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2530
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2531
CL 101.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_2532
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2533
CL 100.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_2534
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2535
CL 102.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_2536
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2537
CL 97.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_2538
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2539
CL 97.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_2540
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2541
CL 97.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_2542
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2543
CL 97.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_2544
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2545
CL 97.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_2546
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2547
CL 100.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_2548
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2549
CL 97.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_2550
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2551
CL 97.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_2552
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2553
CL 97.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_2554
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2555
CL 97.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_2556
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2557
CL 97.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_2558
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2559
CL 97.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_2560
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2561
CL 96.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_2562
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2563
CL 96.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_2564
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2565
MK

AutoCAD SHX Text_2566
MK

AutoCAD SHX Text_2567
CL 100.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_2568
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2569
CL 100.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2570
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2571
CL 102.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2572
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2573
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2574
CL 97.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_2575
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2576
CL 97.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_2577
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2578
IL 94.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_2579
EAVES 105.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_2580
RIDGE 101.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_2581
RIDGE 106.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_2582
RIDGE 111.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_2583
RIDGE 108.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_2584
RIDGE 107.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2585
EAVES 103.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2586
RIDGE 105.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_2587
RIDGE 105.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_2588
EAVES 102.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_2589
EAVES 103.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_2590
RIDGE 105.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_2591
EAVES 109.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_2592
RIDGE 113.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_2593
RIDGE 112.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_2594
RIDGE 113.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_2595
EAVES 110.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2596
EAVES 110.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_2597
RIDGE 113.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_2598
EAVES 110.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_2599
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2600
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_2601
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2602
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_2603
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2604
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2605
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2606
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2607
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2608
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2609
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2610
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2611
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2612
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2613
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2614
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_2615
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2616
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2617
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2618
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2619
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_2620
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2621
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2622
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_2623
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2624
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2625
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2626
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_2627
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2628
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2629
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2630
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2631
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2632
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2633
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2634
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2635
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2636
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2637
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2638
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2639
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2640
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2641
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2642
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2643
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2644
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2645
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2646
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2647
STAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2648
STAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2649
STAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2650
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2651
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2652
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2653
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2654
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2655
TP/CTG

AutoCAD SHX Text_2656
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2657
TP/CTG

AutoCAD SHX Text_2658
WO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2659
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2660
100.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_2661
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2662
100.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2663
EAVES 104.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2664
EAVES 104.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_2665
EAVES 102.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_2666
RIDGE 105.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_2667
EAVES 104.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_2668
EAVES 103.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_2669
RIDGE 105.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2670
EAVES 102.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_2671
EAVES 103.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_2672
RIDGE 105.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2673
RIDGE 105.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_2674
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2675
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2676
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2677
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2678
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2679
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2680
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2681
CL 100.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_2682
100.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_2683
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2684
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2685
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2686
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2687
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2688
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2689
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2690
EP/TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2691
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2692
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2693
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2694
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2695
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2696
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2697
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2698
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2699
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2700
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2701
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2702
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2703
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2704
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2705
97.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_2706
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2707
96.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_2708
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2709
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2710
CL 97.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_2711
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2712
MK

AutoCAD SHX Text_2713
CL 97.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_2714
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2715
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2716
RIDGE 111.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_2717
EAVES 108.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_2718
RIDGE 111.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_2719
EAVES 108.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_2720
RIDGE 112.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_2721
EAVES 109.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_2722
EAVES 109.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2723
RIDGE 112.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_2724
RIDGE 113.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2725
EAVES 110.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_2726
EAVES 111.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_2727
EAVES 110.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_2728
RIDGE 113.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_2729
RIDGE 114.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_2730
RIDGE 114.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_2731
EAVES 111.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_2732
EAVES 111.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_2733
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2734
UNMADE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2735
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2736
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2737
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2738
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2739
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2740
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2741
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2742
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2743
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2744
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2745
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2746
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2747
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2748
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2749
PAVING

AutoCAD SHX Text_2750
MIXED HEDGE Av. HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2751
MIXED HEDGE Av. HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2752
MIXED HEDGE Av. HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2753
MIXED HEDGE Av. HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2754
BRICK WALL HT 0.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2755
BRICK WALL HT 0.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2756
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2757
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2758
P/W FENCE HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2759
LAY-BY (CONCRETE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2760
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2761
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2762
HEDGE HT 1.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2763
HEDGE HT 1.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2764
UNMADE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2765
TRACK (UNMADE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2766
TRACK (UNMADE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2767
TRACK (UNMADE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2768
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2769
TRACK (UNMADE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2770
TRACK (UNMADE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2771
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2772
MIXED HEDGE Av. HT 4.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2773
LAY-BY (CONCRETE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2774
P/R FENCE HT 0.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2775
P/R FENCE HT 0.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2776
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2777
TAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2778
TAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2779
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2780
P/W FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2781
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2782
STAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2783
HEDGE HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2784
HEDGE HT 3.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2785
HEDGE HT 3.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2786
MIXED VEGETATION Av. HT 6.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2787
CYPRESS CANOPY Av. HT 12.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2788
BRICK WALL HT 1.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2789
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2790
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2791
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2792
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2793
P/R FENCE HT 0.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2794
BRICK WALL HT 0.6m/CB HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2795
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2796
BRICK WALL HT 0.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2797
BRICK WALL HT 0.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2798
I/R FENCE HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2799
BRICK WALL HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2800
BRICK WALL HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2801
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2802
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2803
BRICK WALL HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2804
BRICK WALL HT 0.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2805
BRICK WALL HT 0.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2806
C/B FENCE HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2807
C/B FENCE HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2808
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2809
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2810
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2811
CL 97.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_2812
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2813
P/W FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2814
C/B HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2815
P/W FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2816
P/W FENCE 1.2m ASSUMED POSITION

AutoCAD SHX Text_2817
P/W FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2818
MIXED VEGETATION LINE Av. HT 1.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2819
MIXED VEGETATION LINE Av. HT 1.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2820
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_2821
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_2822
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_2823
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_2824
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_2825
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_2826
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_2827
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_2828
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_2829
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_2830
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_2831
MUD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2832
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2833
CL 97.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_2834
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_2835
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_2836
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_2837
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2838
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2839
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2840
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2841
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2842
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2843
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2844
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2845
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2846
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2847
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2848
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2849
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2850
C/B HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2851
BRICK WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2852
HT 1.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2853
BRICK WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2854
HT 1.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2855
BRICK WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2856
HT 1.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2857
BRICK WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2858
HT 1.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2859
97.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_2860
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2861
97.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_2862
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2863
EAVES 104.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_2864
EAVES 102.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2865
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2866
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2867
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2868
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2869
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2870
SILO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2871
SILO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2872
SILO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2873
SILO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2874
SILO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2875
SILO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2876
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2877
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2878
P/R FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2879
P/R FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2880
P/R FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2881
P/R FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2882
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2883
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2884
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2885
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2886
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2887
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2888
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2889
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2890
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2891
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2892
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2893
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2894
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2895
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2896
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2897
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2898
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2899
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2900
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2901
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2902
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2903
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2904
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2905
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2906
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2907
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2908
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2909
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2910
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2911
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2912
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2913
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2914
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2915
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2916
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2917
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2918
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2919
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2920
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2921
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2922
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2923
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2924
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2925
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2926
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2927
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2928
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2929
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2930
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2931
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_2932
BUSH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2933
HT 2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2934
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_2935
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_2936
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_2937
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_2938
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_2939
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_2940
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_2941
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_2942
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_2943
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_2944
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_2945
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_2946
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_2947
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_2948
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_2949
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_2950
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_2951
G 0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2952
HT 6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2953
G 0.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2954
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2955
G 0.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2956
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2957
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2958
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2959
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2960
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2961
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2962
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2963
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2964
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2965
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2966
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2967
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2968
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2969
G 0.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2970
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2971
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_2972
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2973
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2974
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2975
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2976
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2977
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2978
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2979
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2980
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2981
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2982
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2983
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2984
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2985
G 1.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2986
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2987
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2988
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2989
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_2990
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2991
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2992
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2993
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2994
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_2995
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2996
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_2997
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2998
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_2999
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3000
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3001
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3002
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3003
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3004
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_3005
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3006
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3007
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3008
G 0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_3009
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3010
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3011
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3012
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3013
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3014
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3015
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3016
G 1.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3017
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3018
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3019
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3020
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3021
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3022
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3023
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3024
G 1.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3025
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3026
G 1.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_3027
HT 17m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3028
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3029
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3030
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3031
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3032
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_3033
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3034
G 2.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3035
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3036
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3037
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3038
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3039
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3040
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3041
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3042
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_3043
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3044
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_3045
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3046
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_3047
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3048
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_3049
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3050
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_3051
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3052
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3053
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3054
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3055
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3056
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3057
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3058
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3059
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3060
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3061
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3062
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3063
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3064
G 0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_3065
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3066
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3067
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3068
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3069
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3070
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3071
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3072
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3073
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3074
G 0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_3075
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3076
G 0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_3077
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3078
G 1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_3079
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3080
G 1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_3081
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3082
G 1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_3083
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3084
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3085
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3086
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3087
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3088
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3089
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3090
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3091
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3092
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3093
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3094
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3095
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3096
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3097
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3098
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3099
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3100
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3101
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3102
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3103
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3104
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3105
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3106
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3107
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3108
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3109
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3110
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3111
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3112
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3113
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3114
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3115
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3116
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3117
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3118
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_3119
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3120
G 0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_3121
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3122
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3123
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3124
G 0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_3125
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3126
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3127
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3128
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3129
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3130
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3131
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3132
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3133
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3134
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3135
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3136
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3137
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3138
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3139
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3140
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3141
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3142
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_3143
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3144
G 2.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3145
HT 20m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3146
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3147
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3148
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3149
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3150
G 3.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3151
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3152
G 3.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3153
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3154
G 3.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3155
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3156
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3157
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3158
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3159
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3160
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3161
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3162
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_3163
HT 9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3164
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_3165
HT 9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3166
G 1.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_3167
HT 22m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3168
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_3169
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3170
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_3171
HT 6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3172
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_3173
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3174
G 0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3175
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3176
G 0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3177
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3178
G 0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3179
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3180
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_3181
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3182
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_3183
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3184
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_3185
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3186
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_3187
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3188
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_3189
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3190
G 3.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_3191
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3192
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3193
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3194
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3195
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3196
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3197
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3198
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_3199
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3200
G 0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_3201
HT 13m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3202
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3203
HT 13m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3204
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3205
HT 13m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3206
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3207
HT 13m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3208
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3209
HT 13m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3210
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3211
HT 13m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3212
G 0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3213
HT 6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3214
G 2.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3215
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3216
G 1.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_3217
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3218
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_3219
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3220
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_3221
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3222
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_3223
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3224
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3225
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3226
G 0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3227
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3228
G 1.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3229
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3230
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3231
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3232
PINE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3233
ELM

AutoCAD SHX Text_3234
HAWTHORN

AutoCAD SHX Text_3235
ELM

AutoCAD SHX Text_3236
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_3237
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3238
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3239
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3240
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3241
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3242
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3243
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3244
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3245
HAWTHORN

AutoCAD SHX Text_3246
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3247
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_3248
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3249
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3250
FRUIT

AutoCAD SHX Text_3251
FRUIT

AutoCAD SHX Text_3252
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3253
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3254
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_3255
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3256
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3257
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3258
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3259
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3260
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3261
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3262
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3263
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_3264
HAWTHORN

AutoCAD SHX Text_3265
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3266
FRUIT

AutoCAD SHX Text_3267
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3268
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3269
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3270
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3271
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3272
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3273
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3274
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3275
LIME

AutoCAD SHX Text_3276
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_3277
HORNBEAM

AutoCAD SHX Text_3278
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_3279
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_3280
HORNBEAM

AutoCAD SHX Text_3281
HORNBEAM

AutoCAD SHX Text_3282
HORNBEAM

AutoCAD SHX Text_3283
HORNBEAM

AutoCAD SHX Text_3284
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3285
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3286
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3287
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3288
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3289
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3290
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3291
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3292
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3293
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3294
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3295
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3296
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3297
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3298
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3299
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3300
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3301
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3302
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3303
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3304
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3305
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3306
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3307
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3308
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3309
LIME

AutoCAD SHX Text_3310
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_3311
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_3312
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3313
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3314
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3315
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3316
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3317
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3318
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3319
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3320
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3321
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3322
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3323
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3324
WILLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_3325
WILLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_3326
WILLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_3327
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3328
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3329
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_3330
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3331
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3332
WILLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_3333
CONIFER

AutoCAD SHX Text_3334
HAZEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3335
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3336
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3337
HAZEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3338
HAZEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3339
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_3340
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3341
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3342
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3343
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3344
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_3345
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3346
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3347
ALDER

AutoCAD SHX Text_3348
PINE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3349
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3350
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3351
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3352
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3353
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3354
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3355
ELDER

AutoCAD SHX Text_3356
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3357
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3358
WILLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_3359
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3360
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3361
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3362
BEECH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3363
BEECH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3364
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_3365
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_3366
WILLOW HEDGE LINE Av. HT 4.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3367
WILLOW HEDGE LINE Av. HT 4.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3368
STAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3369
SPEED CUSHIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3370
SPEED CUSHIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3371
SPEED CUSHIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3372
SPEED CUSHIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3373
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_3374
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3375
BRICK WALL HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3376
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3377
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3378
RIDGE 105.753

AutoCAD SHX Text_3379
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text_3380
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text_3381
BRICK WALL HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3382
BRICK WALL HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3383
BUSHES HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3384
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3385
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3386
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3387
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3388
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3389
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3390
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3391
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3392
P/W FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3393
UNMADE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3394
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3395
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3396
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3397
G 1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_3398
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3399
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3400
106.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3401
105.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3402
105.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3403
BLOCKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_3404
CL 99.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_3405
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3406
BLOCKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_3407
CL 99.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_3408
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3409
BLOCKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_3410
DCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3411
UNMADE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3412
RAMP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3413
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3414
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3415
STEPS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3416
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_3417
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3418
G 2.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3419
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3420
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_3421
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_3422
CROP FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3423
CROP FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3424
CROP FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3425
CROP FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3426
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3427
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3428
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3429
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3430
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3431
IL 94.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_3432
IL 94.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_3433
900%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_3434
IL 95.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_3435
100%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_3436
P/W FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3437
EDGE OF FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3438
ELECTRIC SUB STATION

AutoCAD SHX Text_3439
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3440
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3441
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3442
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3443
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3444
G 1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_3445
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3446
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3447
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3448
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3449
HAZEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3450
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_3451
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3452
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3453
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3454
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_3455
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3456
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3457
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3458
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_3459
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3460
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_3461
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3462
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3463
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3464
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_3465
WAREHOUSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3466
PIG SHELTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_3467
PIG SHELTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_3468
PIG SHELTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_3469
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3470
G 1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_3471
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3472
HEADWALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3473
H/WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3474
H/WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3475
NPV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3476
NPV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3477
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3478
H/WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3479
NPV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3480
H/WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3481
NPV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3482
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3483
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3484
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3485
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3486
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3487
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3488
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3489
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3490
P/W FENCE HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3491
P/R FENCE HT 0.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3492
P/R FENCE HT 0.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3493
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3494
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3495
G 1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_3496
TREE CANOPY LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3497
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3498
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_3499
MIXED HEDGE Av. HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3500
MK

AutoCAD SHX Text_3501
HEADWALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3502
900%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_3503
HEADWALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3504
600%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_3505
HEADWALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3506
IL 94.75 600%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_3507
TOP 95.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_3508
HEADWALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3509
OFF-SITE CONIFERS IN THIS AREA - Av.HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3510
DITCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3511
DITCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3512
106.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3513
106.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3514
105.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3515
105.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3516
104.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3517
104.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3518
103.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3519
103.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3520
102.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3521
102.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3522
101.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3523
104.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3524
103.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3525
103.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3526
102.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3527
104.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3528
103.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3529
103.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3530
102.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3531
102.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3532
103.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3533
103.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3534
103.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3535
103.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3536
101.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3537
102.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3538
102.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3539
101.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3540
101.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3541
100.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3542
100.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3543
100.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3544
99.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3545
99.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3546
98.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3547
99.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3548
98.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3549
98.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3550
104.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3551
103.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3552
103.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3553
103.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3554
100.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3555
101.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3556
102.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3557
101.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3558
100.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3559
99.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3560
99.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3561
99.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3562
98.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3563
100.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3564
99.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3565
99.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3566
99.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3567
100.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3568
99.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3569
99.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3570
98.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3571
98.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3572
97.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3573
97.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3574
96.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3575
96.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3576
96.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3577
96.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3578
98.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3579
97.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3580
97.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3581
96.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3582
96.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3583
95.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3584
95.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3585
95.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3586
95.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3587
95.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3588
96.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3589
96.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3590
97.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3591
97.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3592
97.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3593
96.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3594
97.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3595
102.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_3596
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3597
105.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_3598
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3599
97.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_3600
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3601
98.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3602
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3603
95.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_3604
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3605
96.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_3606
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3607
95.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_3608
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3609
97.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_3610
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3611
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3612
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3613
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3614
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3615
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3616
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3617
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3618
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3619
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3620
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3621
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3622
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3623
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3624
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3625
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text_3626
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3627
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3628
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3629
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3630
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3631
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3632
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3633
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3634
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3635
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3636
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3637
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3638
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3639
99.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_3640
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3641
99.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_3642
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3643
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3644
100.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_3645
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3646
100.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_3647
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3648
99.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_3649
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3650
99.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_3651
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3652
97.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_3653
99.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3654
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3655
98.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_3656
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3657
97.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_3658
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3659
97.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3660
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3661
96.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_3662
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3663
96.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_3664
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3665
96.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_3666
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3667
97.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_3668
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3669
97.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_3670
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3671
97.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_3672
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3673
97.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_3674
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3675
99.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3676
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3677
97.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_3678
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3679
97.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_3680
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3681
97.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_3682
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3683
97.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_3684
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3685
CL 100.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_3686
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3687
CL 100.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_3688
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3689
CL 99.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_3690
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3691
CL 99.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_3692
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3693
97.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_3694
KO

AutoCAD SHX Text_3695
97.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_3696
KO

AutoCAD SHX Text_3697
97.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_3698
KO

AutoCAD SHX Text_3699
97.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_3700
KO

AutoCAD SHX Text_3701
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3702
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3703
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3704
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3705
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3706
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3707
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3708
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3709
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3710
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3711
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3712
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3713
CL 100.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_3714
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3715
CL 99.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_3716
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3717
CL 101.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_3718
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3719
CL 100.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_3720
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3721
CL 102.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_3722
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3723
CL 99.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_3724
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3725
CL 99.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_3726
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3727
CL 99.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_3728
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3729
CL 97.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_3730
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3731
CL 97.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_3732
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3733
CL 97.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_3734
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3735
CL 97.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_3736
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3737
CL 97.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_3738
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3739
CL 100.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_3740
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3741
CL 97.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_3742
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3743
CL 97.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_3744
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3745
CL 97.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_3746
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3747
CL 97.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_3748
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3749
CL 97.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_3750
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3751
CL 97.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_3752
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3753
CL 96.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_3754
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3755
CL 96.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_3756
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3757
MK

AutoCAD SHX Text_3758
MK

AutoCAD SHX Text_3759
CL 100.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_3760
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3761
CL 100.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3762
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3763
CL 102.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3764
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3765
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3766
CL 97.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_3767
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3768
CL 97.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_3769
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3770
IL 94.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_3771
EAVES 105.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_3772
RIDGE 101.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_3773
RIDGE 106.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_3774
RIDGE 105.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_3775
RIDGE 104.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_3776
RIDGE 105.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_3777
EAVES 103.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_3778
EAVES 102.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_3779
RIDGE 111.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_3780
RIDGE 108.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_3781
RIDGE 107.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3782
EAVES 103.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3783
RIDGE 105.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_3784
RIDGE 105.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_3785
EAVES 102.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_3786
EAVES 103.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_3787
RIDGE 105.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_3788
EAVES 109.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_3789
RIDGE 113.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_3790
RIDGE 112.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_3791
RIDGE 113.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_3792
EAVES 110.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3793
EAVES 110.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_3794
RIDGE 113.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_3795
EAVES 110.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_3796
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3797
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_3798
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3799
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_3800
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3801
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3802
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3803
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3804
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3805
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3806
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3807
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3808
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3809
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3810
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3811
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_3812
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3813
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3814
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3815
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3816
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_3817
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3818
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3819
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_3820
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3821
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3822
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3823
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_3824
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3825
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3826
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3827
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3828
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3829
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3830
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3831
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3832
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3833
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3834
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3835
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3836
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3837
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3838
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3839
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3840
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3841
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3842
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3843
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3844
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3845
STAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3846
STAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3847
STAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3848
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3849
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3850
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3851
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3852
TP/CTG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3853
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3854
TP/CTG

AutoCAD SHX Text_3855
WO

AutoCAD SHX Text_3856
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3857
100.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_3858
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3859
100.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_3860
EAVES 104.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3861
EAVES 104.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_3862
EAVES 102.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_3863
RIDGE 105.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_3864
EAVES 104.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_3865
EAVES 103.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_3866
RIDGE 105.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_3867
EAVES 102.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_3868
EAVES 103.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_3869
RIDGE 105.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_3870
RIDGE 105.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_3871
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3872
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3873
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3874
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3875
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3876
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3877
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3878
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3879
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3880
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3881
CL 100.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_3882
100.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_3883
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3884
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3885
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3886
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3887
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3888
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3889
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3890
EP/TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3891
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3892
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3893
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3894
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3895
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3896
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3897
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3898
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3899
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3900
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3901
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3902
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3903
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3904
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3905
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3906
97.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_3907
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3908
96.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_3909
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3910
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3911
CL 97.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_3912
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3913
MK

AutoCAD SHX Text_3914
CL 97.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_3915
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3916
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3917
RIDGE 111.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_3918
EAVES 108.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_3919
RIDGE 111.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_3920
EAVES 108.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_3921
RIDGE 112.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_3922
EAVES 109.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_3923
EAVES 109.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_3924
RIDGE 112.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_3925
RIDGE 113.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3926
EAVES 110.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_3927
EAVES 111.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_3928
EAVES 110.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_3929
RIDGE 113.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_3930
RIDGE 114.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_3931
RIDGE 114.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_3932
EAVES 111.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_3933
EAVES 111.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_3934
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3935
UNMADE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3936
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3937
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3938
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3939
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3940
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3941
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3942
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3943
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3944
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3945
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3946
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3947
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3948
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3949
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3950
PAVING

AutoCAD SHX Text_3951
MIXED HEDGE Av. HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3952
MIXED HEDGE Av. HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3953
MIXED HEDGE Av. HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3954
MIXED HEDGE Av. HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3955
BRICK WALL HT 0.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3956
BRICK WALL HT 0.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3957
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3958
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3959
P/W FENCE HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3960
LAY-BY (CONCRETE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3961
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3962
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3963
HEDGE HT 1.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3964
HEDGE HT 1.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3965
UNMADE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3966
TRACK (UNMADE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3967
TRACK (UNMADE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3968
TRACK (UNMADE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3969
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3970
TRACK (UNMADE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3971
TRACK (UNMADE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3972
TRACK (UNMADE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3973
TRACK (UNMADE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3974
TRACK (UNMADE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3975
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3976
MIXED HEDGE Av. HT 4.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3977
LAY-BY (CONCRETE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3978
P/R FENCE HT 0.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3979
P/R FENCE HT 0.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3980
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3981
TAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3982
TAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3983
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3984
P/W FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3985
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3986
STAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3987
HEDGE HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3988
HEDGE HT 3.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3989
HEDGE HT 3.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3990
MIXED VEGETATION Av. HT 6.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3991
CYPRESS CANOPY Av. HT 12.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3992
BRICK WALL HT 1.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3993
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3994
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_3995
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3996
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3997
P/R FENCE HT 0.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3998
BRICK WALL HT 0.6m/CB HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3999
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4000
BRICK WALL HT 0.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4001
BRICK WALL HT 0.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4002
I/R FENCE HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4003
BRICK WALL HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4004
BRICK WALL HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4005
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4006
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4007
BRICK WALL HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4008
BRICK WALL HT 0.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4009
BRICK WALL HT 0.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4010
C/B FENCE HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4011
C/B FENCE HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4012
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4013
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4014
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4015
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4016
CL 97.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_4017
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4018
P/W FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4019
C/B HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4020
P/W FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4021
P/W FENCE 1.2m ASSUMED POSITION

AutoCAD SHX Text_4022
P/W FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4023
MIXED VEGETATION LINE Av. HT 1.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4024
MIXED VEGETATION LINE Av. HT 1.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4025
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_4026
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_4027
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_4028
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_4029
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_4030
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_4031
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_4032
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_4033
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_4034
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_4035
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_4036
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_4037
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_4038
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_4039
MUD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4040
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4041
STORE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4042
EAVES 102.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_4043
CL 97.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_4044
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_4045
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_4046
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_4047
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4048
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4049
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4050
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4051
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4052
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4053
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4054
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4055
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4056
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4057
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4058
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4059
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4060
C/B HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4061
BRICK WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4062
HT 1.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4063
BRICK WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4064
HT 1.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4065
BRICK WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4066
HT 1.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4067
BRICK WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4068
HT 1.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4069
97.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_4070
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_4071
97.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_4072
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_4073
EAVES 104.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_4074
EAVES 102.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_4075
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4076
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4077
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4078
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4079
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4080
SILO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4081
SILO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4082
SILO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4083
SILO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4084
SILO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4085
SILO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4086
STORE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4087
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4088
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4089
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4090
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4091
P/R FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4092
P/R FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4093
P/R FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4094
P/R FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4095
P/R FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4096
P/R FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4097
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4098
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4099
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4100
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4101
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4102
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4103
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4104
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4105
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4106
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4107
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4108
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4109
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4110
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4111
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4112
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4113
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4114
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4115
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4116
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4117
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4118
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4119
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4120
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4121
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4122
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4123
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4124
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4125
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4126
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4127
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4128
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4129
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4130
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4131
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4132
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4133
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4134
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4135
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4136
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4137
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4138
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4139
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4140
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4141
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4142
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4143
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4144
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4145
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4146
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4147
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4148
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4149
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4150
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4151
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4152
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4153
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4154
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4155
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4156
BUSH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4157
HT 2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4158
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_4159
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_4160
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_4161
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_4162
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_4163
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_4164
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_4165
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_4166
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_4167
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_4168
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_4169
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_4170
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_4171
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_4172
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_4173
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_4174
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_4175
G 0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_4176
HT 6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4177
G 0.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_4178
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4179
G 0.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_4180
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4181
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_4182
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4183
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_4184
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4185
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_4186
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4187
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_4188
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4189
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_4190
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4191
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_4192
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4193
G 0.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_4194
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4195
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4196
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4197
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4198
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4199
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4200
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4201
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_4202
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4203
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4204
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4205
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_4206
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4207
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_4208
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4209
G 1.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_4210
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4211
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4212
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4213
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4214
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4215
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4216
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4217
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_4218
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4219
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4220
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4221
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_4222
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4223
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_4224
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4225
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4226
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4227
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4228
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4229
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4230
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4231
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4232
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4233
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4234
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4235
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4236
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4237
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4238
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4239
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4240
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4241
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_4242
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4243
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4244
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4245
G 0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_4246
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4247
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4248
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4249
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4250
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4251
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4252
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4253
G 1.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_4254
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4255
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4256
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4257
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4258
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4259
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4260
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4261
G 1.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_4262
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4263
G 1.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_4264
HT 17m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4265
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4266
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4267
G 1.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_4268
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4269
G 1.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_4270
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4271
G 1.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_4272
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4273
G 1.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_4274
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4275
G 1.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_4276
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4277
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4278
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4279
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_4280
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4281
G 2.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4282
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4283
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4284
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4285
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4286
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4287
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4288
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4289
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_4290
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4291
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_4292
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4293
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_4294
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4295
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_4296
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4297
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_4298
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4299
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4300
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4301
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4302
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4303
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4304
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4305
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4306
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4307
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4308
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4309
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4310
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4311
G 0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_4312
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4313
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4314
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4315
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4316
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4317
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4318
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4319
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4320
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4321
G 0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_4322
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4323
G 0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_4324
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4325
G 1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_4326
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4327
G 1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_4328
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4329
G 1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_4330
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4331
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4332
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4333
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4334
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4335
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4336
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4337
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4338
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4339
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4340
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4341
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4342
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4343
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4344
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4345
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4346
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4347
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4348
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4349
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4350
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4351
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4352
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4353
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4354
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4355
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4356
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4357
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4358
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4359
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4360
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4361
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4362
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4363
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4364
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4365
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_4366
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4367
G 0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_4368
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4369
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4370
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4371
G 0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_4372
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4373
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4374
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4375
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4376
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4377
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4378
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4379
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4380
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4381
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4382
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4383
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4384
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4385
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4386
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4387
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4388
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4389
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_4390
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4391
G 2.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4392
HT 20m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4393
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4394
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4395
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4396
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4397
G 3.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4398
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4399
G 3.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4400
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4401
G 3.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4402
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4403
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4404
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4405
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4406
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4407
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4408
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4409
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_4410
HT 9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4411
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_4412
HT 9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4413
G 1.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_4414
HT 22m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4415
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_4416
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4417
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_4418
HT 6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4419
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_4420
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4421
G 0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_4422
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4423
G 0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_4424
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4425
G 0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_4426
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4427
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_4428
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4429
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_4430
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4431
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_4432
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4433
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_4434
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4435
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_4436
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4437
G 3.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_4438
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4439
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4440
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4441
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4442
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4443
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4444
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4445
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_4446
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4447
G 0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_4448
HT 13m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4449
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4450
HT 13m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4451
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4452
HT 13m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4453
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4454
HT 13m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4455
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4456
HT 13m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4457
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4458
HT 13m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4459
G 0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_4460
HT 6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4461
G 2.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_4462
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4463
G 1.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_4464
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4465
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_4466
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4467
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_4468
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4469
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_4470
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4471
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4472
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4473
G 1.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_4474
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4475
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4476
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4477
PINE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4478
ELM

AutoCAD SHX Text_4479
HAWTHORN

AutoCAD SHX Text_4480
ELM

AutoCAD SHX Text_4481
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_4482
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4483
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4484
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4485
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4486
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4487
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4488
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4489
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4490
HAWTHORN

AutoCAD SHX Text_4491
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4492
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_4493
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4494
HAZEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4495
HAZEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4496
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4497
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4498
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4499
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4500
FRUIT

AutoCAD SHX Text_4501
FRUIT

AutoCAD SHX Text_4502
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4503
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4504
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_4505
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4506
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4507
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4508
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4509
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4510
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4511
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4512
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4513
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_4514
HAWTHORN

AutoCAD SHX Text_4515
POPLAR

AutoCAD SHX Text_4516
POPLAR

AutoCAD SHX Text_4517
POPLAR

AutoCAD SHX Text_4518
POPLAR

AutoCAD SHX Text_4519
WILLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_4520
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4521
FRUIT

AutoCAD SHX Text_4522
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4523
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4524
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4525
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4526
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4527
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4528
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4529
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4530
LIME

AutoCAD SHX Text_4531
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_4532
HORNBEAM

AutoCAD SHX Text_4533
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_4534
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_4535
HORNBEAM

AutoCAD SHX Text_4536
HORNBEAM

AutoCAD SHX Text_4537
HORNBEAM

AutoCAD SHX Text_4538
HORNBEAM

AutoCAD SHX Text_4539
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4540
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4541
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4542
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4543
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4544
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4545
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4546
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4547
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4548
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4549
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4550
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4551
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4552
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4553
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4554
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4555
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4556
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4557
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4558
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4559
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4560
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4561
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4562
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4563
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4564
LIME

AutoCAD SHX Text_4565
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_4566
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_4567
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4568
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4569
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4570
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4571
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4572
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4573
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4574
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4575
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4576
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4577
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4578
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4579
WILLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_4580
WILLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_4581
WILLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_4582
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4583
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4584
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_4585
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4586
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4587
WILLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_4588
CONIFER

AutoCAD SHX Text_4589
HAZEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4590
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4591
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4592
HAZEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4593
HAZEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4594
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_4595
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4596
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4597
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4598
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4599
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_4600
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4601
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4602
ALDER

AutoCAD SHX Text_4603
PINE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4604
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4605
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4606
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4607
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4608
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4609
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4610
ELDER

AutoCAD SHX Text_4611
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4612
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4613
WILLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_4614
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4615
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4616
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4617
BEECH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4618
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_4619
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_4620
IL 98.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4621
IL 98.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_4622
300%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_4623
300%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_4624
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4625
EAVES 106.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_4626
WILLOW HEDGE LINE Av. HT 4.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4627
WILLOW HEDGE LINE Av. HT 4.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4628
MAST

AutoCAD SHX Text_4629
STAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_4630
SPEED CUSHIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4631
SPEED CUSHIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4632
SPEED CUSHIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4633
SPEED CUSHIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4634
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_4635
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4636
BRICK WALL HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4637
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4638
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4639
RIDGE 105.753

AutoCAD SHX Text_4640
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text_4641
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text_4642
BRICK WALL HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4643
BRICK WALL HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4644
BUSHES HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4645
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4646
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4647
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4648
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4649
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_4650
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4651
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4652
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4653
UNMADE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4654
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4655
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4656
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4657
G 1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_4658
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4659
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4660
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4661
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4662
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4663
106.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4664
105.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4665
105.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4666
104.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4667
103.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4668
103.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4669
102.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4670
102.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4671
101.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4672
BLOCKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_4673
BLOCKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_4674
OBSTRUCTED

AutoCAD SHX Text_4675
CL 99.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_4676
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4677
BLOCKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_4678
CL 99.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_4679
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4680
BLOCKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_4681
DCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4682
UNMADE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4683
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4684
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text_4685
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text_4686
RW HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4687
RW Av. HT 1.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4688
RW Av. HT 1.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4689
P/W FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4690
P/W FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4691
P/W FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4692
P/W FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4693
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4694
LIMITED ACCESS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4695
RAMP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4696
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4697
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4698
STEPS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4699
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_4700
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4701
G 2.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4702
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4703
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_4704
OVERGROWN/MUD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4705
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_4706
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_4707
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_4708
EDGE OF CROP FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4709
EDGE OF CROP FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4710
EDGE OF CROP FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4711
EDGE OF CROP FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4712
EDGE OF CROP FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4713
CROP FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4714
CROP FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4715
CROP FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4716
CROP FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4717
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4718
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4719
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4720
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4721
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4722
IL 94.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_4723
IL 94.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_4724
900%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_4725
IL 95.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_4726
100%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_4727
P/W FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4728
MIXED HEDGE Av. HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4729
MIXED HEDGE Av. HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4730
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_4731
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_4732
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_4733
EDGE OF FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4734
ELECTRIC SUB STATION

AutoCAD SHX Text_4735
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4736
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4737
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4738
FRUIT

AutoCAD SHX Text_4739
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4740
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4741
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4742
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_4743
HAWTHORN

AutoCAD SHX Text_4744
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4745
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4746
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_4747
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4748
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4749
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4750
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4751
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4752
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4753
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4754
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4755
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4756
FRUIT

AutoCAD SHX Text_4757
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4758
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4759
G 1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_4760
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4761
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4762
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4763
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4764
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4765
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4766
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4767
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4768
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4769
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4770
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4771
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4772
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4773
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4774
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4775
FRUIT

AutoCAD SHX Text_4776
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4777
HT 6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4778
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4779
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_4780
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4781
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4782
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4783
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4784
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4785
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4786
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4787
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4788
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4789
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4790
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4791
G 1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_4792
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4793
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4794
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4795
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4796
HAZEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4797
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_4798
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4799
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4800
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4801
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_4802
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4803
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4804
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4805
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_4806
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4807
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_4808
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4809
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4810
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4811
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_4812
WAREHOUSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4813
PIG SHELTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_4814
PIG SHELTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_4815
PIG SHELTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_4816
PIG SHELTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_4817
PIG SHELTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_4818
PIG SHELTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_4819
BARN

AutoCAD SHX Text_4820
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4821
G 1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_4822
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4823
HEADWALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4824
H/WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4825
H/WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4826
NPV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4827
NPV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4828
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4829
H/WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4830
NPV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4831
H/WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4832
NPV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4833
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4834
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4835
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4836
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4837
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4838
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4839
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4840
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4841
P/W FENCE HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4842
P/R FENCE HT 0.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4843
P/R FENCE HT 0.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4844
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4845
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4846
G 1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_4847
TREE CANOPY LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4848
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4849
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_4850
MIXED HEDGE Av. HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4851
MK

AutoCAD SHX Text_4852
HEADWALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4853
900%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_4854
HEADWALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4855
600%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_4856
HEADWALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4857
IL 94.75 600%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_4858
TOP 95.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_4859
HEADWALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4860
NO PIPE VISIBLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4861
TOP 96.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_4862
HEADWALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4863
OFF-SITE CONIFERS IN THIS AREA - Av.HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4864
DITCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4865
DITCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4866
DITCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4867
106.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4868
106.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4869
105.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4870
105.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4871
104.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4872
104.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4873
103.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4874
103.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4875
102.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4876
102.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4877
101.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4878
104.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4879
103.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4880
103.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4881
102.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4882
104.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4883
103.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4884
103.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4885
102.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4886
102.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4887
103.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4888
103.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4889
103.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4890
103.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4891
101.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4892
102.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4893
102.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4894
101.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4895
101.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4896
100.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4897
100.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4898
100.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4899
99.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4900
99.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4901
98.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4902
99.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4903
98.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4904
98.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4905
104.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4906
103.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4907
103.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4908
103.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4909
100.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4910
101.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4911
102.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4912
101.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4913
100.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4914
99.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4915
99.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4916
99.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4917
98.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4918
100.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4919
99.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4920
99.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4921
99.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4922
100.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4923
99.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4924
99.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4925
98.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4926
98.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4927
97.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4928
97.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4929
96.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4930
96.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4931
96.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4932
96.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4933
98.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4934
97.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4935
97.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4936
96.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4937
96.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4938
95.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4939
95.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4940
95.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4941
95.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4942
95.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4943
96.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4944
96.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4945
97.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4946
97.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4947
97.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_4948
96.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4949
97.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4950
102.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_4951
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4952
105.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_4953
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4954
97.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_4955
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4956
98.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_4957
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4958
95.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_4959
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4960
96.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_4961
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4962
95.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_4963
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4964
97.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_4965
BH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4966
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4967
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4968
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4969
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4970
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4971
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4972
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4973
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4974
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4975
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4976
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4977
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4978
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4979
TEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4980
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text_4981
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4982
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4983
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4984
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4985
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4986
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4987
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4988
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4989
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4990
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4991
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4992
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4993
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4994
99.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_4995
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_4996
99.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_4997
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_4998
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_4999
100.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_5000
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5001
100.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_5002
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5003
99.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_5004
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5005
99.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_5006
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5007
97.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_5008
99.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_5009
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5010
98.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_5011
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5012
97.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_5013
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5014
97.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_5015
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5016
96.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_5017
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5018
96.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_5019
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5020
96.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_5021
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5022
97.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_5023
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5024
97.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_5025
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5026
97.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_5027
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5028
97.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_5029
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5030
99.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_5031
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5032
97.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_5033
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5034
97.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_5035
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5036
97.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_5037
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5038
97.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_5039
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5040
CL 100.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_5041
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5042
CL 100.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_5043
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5044
CL 99.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_5045
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5046
CL 99.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_5047
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5048
97.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_5049
KO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5050
97.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_5051
KO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5052
97.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_5053
KO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5054
97.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_5055
KO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5056
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5057
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5058
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5059
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5060
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5061
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5062
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5063
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5064
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5065
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5066
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5067
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5068
CL 100.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_5069
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5070
CL 99.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_5071
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5072
CL 101.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_5073
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5074
CL 100.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_5075
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5076
CL 102.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_5077
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5078
CL 99.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_5079
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5080
CL 99.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_5081
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5082
CL 99.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_5083
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5084
CL 97.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_5085
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5086
CL 97.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_5087
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5088
CL 97.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_5089
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5090
CL 97.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_5091
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5092
CL 97.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_5093
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5094
CL 100.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_5095
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5096
CL 97.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_5097
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5098
CL 97.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_5099
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5100
CL 97.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_5101
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5102
CL 97.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_5103
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5104
CL 97.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_5105
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5106
CL 97.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_5107
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5108
CL 96.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_5109
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5110
CL 96.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_5111
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5112
MK

AutoCAD SHX Text_5113
MK

AutoCAD SHX Text_5114
CL 100.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_5115
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5116
CL 100.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_5117
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5118
CL 102.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_5119
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5120
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5121
CL 97.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_5122
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5123
CL 97.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_5124
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5125
IL 94.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_5126
EAVES 105.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_5127
RIDGE 101.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_5128
RIDGE 106.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_5129
RIDGE 105.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_5130
RIDGE 104.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_5131
RIDGE 105.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_5132
EAVES 103.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_5133
EAVES 102.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_5134
RIDGE 111.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_5135
RIDGE 108.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_5136
RIDGE 107.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_5137
EAVES 103.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_5138
RIDGE 105.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_5139
RIDGE 105.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_5140
EAVES 102.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_5141
EAVES 103.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_5142
RIDGE 105.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_5143
EAVES 109.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_5144
RIDGE 113.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_5145
RIDGE 112.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_5146
RIDGE 113.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_5147
EAVES 110.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_5148
EAVES 110.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_5149
RIDGE 113.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_5150
EAVES 110.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_5151
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5152
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_5153
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5154
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_5155
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5156
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5157
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5158
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5159
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5160
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5161
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5162
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5163
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5164
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5165
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5166
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_5167
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5168
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5169
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5170
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5171
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_5172
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5173
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5174
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_5175
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5176
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5177
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5178
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_5179
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5180
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5181
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5182
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5183
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5184
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5185
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5186
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5187
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5188
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5189
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5190
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5191
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5192
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5193
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5194
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5195
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5196
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5197
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5198
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5199
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5200
STAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5201
STAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5202
STAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5203
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_5204
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5205
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5206
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5207
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5208
TP/CTG

AutoCAD SHX Text_5209
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5210
TP/CTG

AutoCAD SHX Text_5211
WO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5212
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5213
100.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_5214
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5215
100.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_5216
EAVES 104.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_5217
EAVES 104.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_5218
EAVES 102.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_5219
RIDGE 105.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_5220
EAVES 104.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_5221
EAVES 103.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_5222
RIDGE 105.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_5223
EAVES 102.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_5224
EAVES 103.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_5225
RIDGE 105.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_5226
RIDGE 105.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_5227
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5228
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5229
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5230
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5231
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5232
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5233
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5234
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5235
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5236
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5237
CL 100.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_5238
100.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_5239
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5240
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5241
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5242
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5243
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5244
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5245
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5246
EP/TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5247
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5248
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5249
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5250
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5251
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5252
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5253
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5254
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5255
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5256
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5257
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5258
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5259
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5260
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5261
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5262
97.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_5263
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5264
96.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_5265
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5266
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5267
CL 97.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_5268
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5269
MK

AutoCAD SHX Text_5270
CL 97.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_5271
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5272
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5273
RIDGE 111.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_5274
EAVES 108.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_5275
RIDGE 111.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_5276
EAVES 108.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_5277
RIDGE 112.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_5278
EAVES 109.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_5279
EAVES 109.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_5280
RIDGE 112.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_5281
RIDGE 113.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_5282
EAVES 110.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_5283
EAVES 111.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_5284
EAVES 110.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_5285
RIDGE 113.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_5286
RIDGE 114.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_5287
RIDGE 114.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_5288
EAVES 111.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_5289
EAVES 111.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_5290
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5291
UNMADE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5292
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5293
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5294
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5295
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5296
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5297
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5298
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5299
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5300
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5301
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5302
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5303
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5304
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5305
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5306
PAVING

AutoCAD SHX Text_5307
MIXED HEDGE Av. HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5308
MIXED HEDGE Av. HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5309
MIXED HEDGE Av. HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5310
MIXED HEDGE Av. HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5311
BRICK WALL HT 0.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5312
BRICK WALL HT 0.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5313
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5314
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5315
P/W FENCE HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5316
LAY-BY (CONCRETE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_5317
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5318
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5319
HEDGE HT 1.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5320
HEDGE HT 1.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5321
UNMADE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5322
TRACK (UNMADE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_5323
TRACK (UNMADE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_5324
TRACK (UNMADE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_5325
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5326
TRACK (UNMADE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_5327
TRACK (UNMADE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_5328
TRACK (UNMADE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_5329
TRACK (UNMADE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_5330
TRACK (UNMADE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_5331
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5332
MIXED HEDGE Av. HT 4.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5333
LAY-BY (CONCRETE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_5334
P/R FENCE HT 0.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5335
P/R FENCE HT 0.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5336
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5337
TAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5338
TAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5339
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5340
P/W FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5341
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5342
STAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5343
HEDGE HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5344
HEDGE HT 3.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5345
HEDGE HT 3.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5346
MIXED VEGETATION Av. HT 6.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5347
CYPRESS CANOPY Av. HT 12.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5348
BRICK WALL HT 1.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5349
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5350
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5351
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5352
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5353
P/R FENCE HT 0.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5354
BRICK WALL HT 0.6m/CB HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5355
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5356
BRICK WALL HT 0.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5357
BRICK WALL HT 0.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5358
I/R FENCE HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5359
BRICK WALL HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5360
BRICK WALL HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5361
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5362
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5363
BRICK WALL HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5364
BRICK WALL HT 0.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5365
BRICK WALL HT 0.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5366
C/B FENCE HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5367
C/B FENCE HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5368
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5369
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5370
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_5371
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5372
CL 97.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_5373
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5374
P/W FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5375
C/B HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5376
P/W FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5377
P/W FENCE 1.2m ASSUMED POSITION

AutoCAD SHX Text_5378
P/W FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5379
MIXED VEGETATION LINE Av. HT 1.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5380
MIXED VEGETATION LINE Av. HT 1.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5381
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_5382
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_5383
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_5384
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_5385
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_5386
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_5387
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_5388
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_5389
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_5390
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_5391
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_5392
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_5393
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_5394
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_5395
MUD

AutoCAD SHX Text_5396
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5397
STORE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5398
EAVES 102.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_5399
CL 97.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_5400
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_5401
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_5402
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_5403
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5404
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5405
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5406
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5407
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5408
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5409
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5410
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5411
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5412
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_5413
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5414
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5415
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5416
C/B HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5417
BRICK WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_5418
HT 1.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5419
BRICK WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_5420
HT 1.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5421
BRICK WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_5422
HT 1.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5423
BRICK WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_5424
HT 1.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5425
97.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_5426
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5427
97.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_5428
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5429
EAVES 104.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_5430
EAVES 102.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_5431
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5432
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5433
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5434
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5435
C/L FENCE HT 1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5436
SILO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5437
SILO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5438
SILO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5439
SILO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5440
SILO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5441
SILO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5442
STORE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5443
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5444
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5445
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5446
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5447
P/R FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5448
P/R FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5449
P/R FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5450
P/R FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5451
P/R FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5452
P/R FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5453
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5454
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5455
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5456
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5457
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5458
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5459
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5460
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5461
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5462
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5463
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5464
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5465
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5466
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5467
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5468
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5469
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5470
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5471
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5472
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5473
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5474
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5475
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5476
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5477
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5478
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5479
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5480
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5481
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5482
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5483
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5484
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5485
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5486
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5487
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5488
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5489
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5490
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5491
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5492
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5493
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5494
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5495
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5496
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5497
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5498
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5499
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5500
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_5501
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_5502
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_5503
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_5504
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_5505
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_5506
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_5507
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_5508
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_5509
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_5510
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_5511
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_5512
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5513
BUSH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5514
HT 2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5515
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_5516
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_5517
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_5518
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_5519
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_5520
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_5521
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_5522
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_5523
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_5524
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_5525
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_5526
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_5527
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_5528
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_5529
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_5530
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_5531
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_5532
G 0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_5533
HT 6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5534
G 0.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_5535
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5536
G 0.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_5537
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5538
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_5539
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5540
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_5541
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5542
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_5543
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5544
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_5545
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5546
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_5547
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5548
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_5549
HT 7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5550
G 0.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_5551
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5552
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5553
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5554
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5555
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5556
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_5557
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5558
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_5559
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5560
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_5561
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5562
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_5563
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5564
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_5565
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5566
G 1.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_5567
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5568
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_5569
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5570
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5571
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5572
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5573
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5574
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_5575
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5576
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5577
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5578
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_5579
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5580
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_5581
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5582
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5583
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5584
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5585
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5586
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5587
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5588
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5589
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5590
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5591
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5592
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5593
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5594
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_5595
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5596
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5597
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5598
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_5599
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5600
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5601
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5602
G 0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_5603
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5604
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5605
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5606
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5607
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5608
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5609
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5610
G 1.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_5611
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5612
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5613
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5614
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5615
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5616
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5617
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5618
G 1.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_5619
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5620
G 1.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_5621
HT 17m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5622
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_5623
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5624
G 1.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_5625
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5626
G 1.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_5627
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5628
G 1.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_5629
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5630
G 1.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_5631
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5632
G 1.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_5633
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5634
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5635
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5636
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_5637
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5638
G 2.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5639
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5640
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_5641
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5642
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_5643
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5644
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_5645
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5646
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_5647
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5648
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_5649
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5650
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_5651
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5652
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_5653
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5654
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_5655
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5656
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5657
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5658
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5659
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5660
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5661
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5662
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5663
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5664
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5665
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5666
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5667
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5668
G 0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_5669
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5670
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5671
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5672
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5673
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5674
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5675
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5676
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5677
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5678
G 0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_5679
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5680
G 0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_5681
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5682
G 1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_5683
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5684
G 1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_5685
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5686
G 1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_5687
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5688
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5689
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5690
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5691
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5692
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5693
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5694
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5695
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5696
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5697
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5698
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5699
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5700
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5701
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5702
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5703
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5704
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5705
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5706
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5707
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5708
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5709
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5710
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5711
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5712
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5713
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5714
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5715
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5716
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5717
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5718
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5719
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5720
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5721
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5722
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_5723
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5724
G 0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_5725
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5726
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5727
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5728
G 0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_5729
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5730
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5731
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5732
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5733
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5734
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5735
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5736
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5737
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5738
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5739
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5740
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5741
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5742
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5743
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5744
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5745
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5746
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_5747
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5748
G 2.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5749
HT 20m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5750
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5751
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5752
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5753
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5754
G 3.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5755
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5756
G 3.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5757
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5758
G 3.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5759
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5760
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5761
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5762
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5763
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5764
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5765
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5766
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_5767
HT 9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5768
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_5769
HT 9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5770
G 1.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_5771
HT 22m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5772
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_5773
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5774
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_5775
HT 6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5776
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_5777
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5778
G 0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_5779
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5780
G 0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_5781
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5782
G 0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_5783
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5784
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_5785
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5786
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_5787
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5788
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_5789
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5790
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_5791
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5792
G 0.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_5793
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5794
G 3.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_5795
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5796
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5797
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5798
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5799
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5800
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_5801
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5802
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_5803
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5804
G 0.8

AutoCAD SHX Text_5805
HT 13m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5806
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5807
HT 13m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5808
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5809
HT 13m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5810
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5811
HT 13m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5812
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5813
HT 13m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5814
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5815
HT 13m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5816
G 0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_5817
HT 6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5818
G 2.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_5819
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5820
G 1.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_5821
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5822
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_5823
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5824
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_5825
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5826
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_5827
HT 18m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5828
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5829
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5830
G 0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_5831
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5832
G 1.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_5833
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5834
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_5835
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5836
PINE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5837
ELM

AutoCAD SHX Text_5838
HAWTHORN

AutoCAD SHX Text_5839
ELM

AutoCAD SHX Text_5840
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_5841
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5842
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5843
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5844
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5845
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5846
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5847
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5848
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5849
HAWTHORN

AutoCAD SHX Text_5850
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5851
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_5852
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5853
HAZEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_5854
HAZEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_5855
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5856
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5857
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5858
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5859
FRUIT

AutoCAD SHX Text_5860
FRUIT

AutoCAD SHX Text_5861
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5862
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5863
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_5864
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5865
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5866
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5867
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5868
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5869
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5870
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5871
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5872
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_5873
HAWTHORN

AutoCAD SHX Text_5874
POPLAR

AutoCAD SHX Text_5875
POPLAR

AutoCAD SHX Text_5876
POPLAR

AutoCAD SHX Text_5877
POPLAR

AutoCAD SHX Text_5878
WILLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_5879
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5880
FRUIT

AutoCAD SHX Text_5881
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5882
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5883
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5884
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5885
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5886
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5887
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5888
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5889
LIME

AutoCAD SHX Text_5890
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_5891
HORNBEAM

AutoCAD SHX Text_5892
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_5893
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_5894
HORNBEAM

AutoCAD SHX Text_5895
HORNBEAM

AutoCAD SHX Text_5896
HORNBEAM

AutoCAD SHX Text_5897
HORNBEAM

AutoCAD SHX Text_5898
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5899
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5900
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5901
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5902
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5903
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5904
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5905
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5906
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5907
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5908
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5909
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5910
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5911
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5912
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5913
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5914
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5915
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5916
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5917
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5918
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5919
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5920
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5921
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5922
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5923
LIME

AutoCAD SHX Text_5924
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_5925
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_5926
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5927
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5928
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5929
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5930
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5931
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5932
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5933
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5934
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5935
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5936
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5937
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5938
WILLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_5939
WILLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_5940
WILLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_5941
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5942
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5943
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_5944
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5945
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5946
WILLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_5947
CONIFER

AutoCAD SHX Text_5948
HAZEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_5949
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5950
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5951
HAZEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_5952
HAZEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_5953
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_5954
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5955
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5956
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5957
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5958
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_5959
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5960
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5961
ALDER

AutoCAD SHX Text_5962
PINE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5963
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5964
SILVER BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5965
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5966
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5967
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5968
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5969
ELDER

AutoCAD SHX Text_5970
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5971
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5972
WILLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_5973
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5974
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5975
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5976
BEECH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5977
BEECH

AutoCAD SHX Text_5978
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_5979
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_5980
IL 98.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_5981
IL 98.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_5982
300%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_5983
300%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_5984
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5985
EAVES 106.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_5986
WILLOW HEDGE LINE Av. HT 4.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5987
WILLOW HEDGE LINE Av. HT 4.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5988
MAST

AutoCAD SHX Text_5989
STAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5990
SPEED CUSHIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5991
SPEED CUSHIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5992
SPEED CUSHIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5993
SPEED CUSHIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5994
SAPLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_5995
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5996
BRICK WALL HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_5997
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5998
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_5999
RIDGE 105.753

AutoCAD SHX Text_6000
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text_6001
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text_6002
BRICK WALL HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6003
BRICK WALL HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6004
BUSHES HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6005
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_6006
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_6007
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_6008
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_6009
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_6010
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_6011
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_6012
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_6013
P/W FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6014
UNMADE

AutoCAD SHX Text_6015
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_6016
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_6017
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6018
G 1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_6019
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6020
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_6021
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6022
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_6023
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_6024
106.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_6025
105.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_6026
105.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_6027
104.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_6028
103.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_6029
103.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_6030
102.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_6031
102.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_6032
101.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_6033
BLOCKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_6034
BLOCKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_6035
OBSTRUCTED

AutoCAD SHX Text_6036
CL 99.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_6037
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_6038
BLOCKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_6039
CL 99.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_6040
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_6041
BLOCKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_6042
DCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_6043
UNMADE

AutoCAD SHX Text_6044
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6045
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text_6046
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text_6047
RW HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6048
RW Av. HT 1.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6049
RW Av. HT 1.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6050
P/W FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6051
P/W FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6052
P/W FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6053
P/W FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6054
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_6055
LIMITED ACCESS

AutoCAD SHX Text_6056
RAMP

AutoCAD SHX Text_6057
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_6058
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_6059
STEPS

AutoCAD SHX Text_6060
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_6061
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_6062
G 2.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_6063
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6064
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_6065
OVERGROWN/MUD

AutoCAD SHX Text_6066
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_6067
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_6068
OVERGROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_6069
EDGE OF CROP FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_6070
EDGE OF CROP FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_6071
EDGE OF CROP FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_6072
EDGE OF CROP FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_6073
EDGE OF CROP FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_6074
CROP FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_6075
CROP FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_6076
CROP FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_6077
CROP FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_6078
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_6079
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_6080
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_6081
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_6082
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_6083
IL 94.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_6084
IL 94.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_6085
900%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_6086
IL 95.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_6087
100%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_6088
P/W FENCE 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6089
MIXED HEDGE Av. HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6090
MIXED HEDGE Av. HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6091
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_6092
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_6093
BUSHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_6094
EDGE OF FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_6095
ELECTRIC SUB STATION

AutoCAD SHX Text_6096
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_6097
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_6098
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6099
FRUIT

AutoCAD SHX Text_6100
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6101
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_6102
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6103
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_6104
HAWTHORN

AutoCAD SHX Text_6105
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_6106
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6107
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_6108
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_6109
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6110
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_6111
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6112
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_6113
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_6114
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_6115
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6116
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_6117
FRUIT

AutoCAD SHX Text_6118
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_6119
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6120
G 1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_6121
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6122
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_6123
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6124
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_6125
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_6126
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6127
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_6128
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_6129
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_6130
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6131
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_6132
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_6133
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_6134
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6135
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6136
FRUIT

AutoCAD SHX Text_6137
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_6138
HT 6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6139
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_6140
G 0.9

AutoCAD SHX Text_6141
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_6142
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6143
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_6144
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6145
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_6146
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_6147
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_6148
HT 14m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6149
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_6150
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6151
G 1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_6152
G 1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_6153
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6154
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_6155
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6156
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_6157
HAZEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_6158
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_6159
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_6160
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6161
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_6162
G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_6163
HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6164
HT 15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6165
G 1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_6166
OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text_6167
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6168
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_6169
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_6170
HT 10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6171
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_6172
G 1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_6173
WAREHOUSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_6174
PIG SHELTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_6175
PIG SHELTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_6176
PIG SHELTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_6177
PIG SHELTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_6178
PIG SHELTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_6179
PIG SHELTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_6180
BARN

AutoCAD SHX Text_6181
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_6182
G 1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_6183
HT 8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6184
HEADWALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_6185
H/WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_6186
H/WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_6187
NPV

AutoCAD SHX Text_6188
NPV

AutoCAD SHX Text_6189
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_6190
H/WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_6191
NPV

AutoCAD SHX Text_6192
H/WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_6193
NPV

AutoCAD SHX Text_6194
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_6195
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_6196
SNP

AutoCAD SHX Text_6197
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6198
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6199
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6200
P/R FENCE HT 1.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6201
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_6202
P/W FENCE HT 1.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6203
P/R FENCE HT 0.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6204
P/R FENCE HT 0.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6205
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text_6206
HT 16m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6207
G 1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text_6208
TREE CANOPY LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text_6209
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_6210
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_6211
MIXED HEDGE Av. HT 2.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6212
MK

AutoCAD SHX Text_6213
HEADWALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_6214
900%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_6215
HEADWALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_6216
600%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_6217
HEADWALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_6218
IL 94.75 600%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text_6219
TOP 95.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_6220
HEADWALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_6221
NO PIPE VISIBLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_6222
TOP 96.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_6223
HEADWALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_6224
OFF-SITE CONIFERS IN THIS AREA - Av.HT 12m

AutoCAD SHX Text_6225
DITCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_6226
DITCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_6227
DITCH



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Watlington 
Option Assessment Report (OAR)

Oxfordshire County Council

Project number: 60635885

February 2021

  

Page 579



Watlington
Option Assessment Report  

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council

Quality information
Prepared by Checked by Verified by Approved by

-

Gabi Mcerlane, 
Graduate Consultant

Marianne Karanen
Consultant

Iosif Stroumtsas
Senior Consultant

Xenia Karekla
Senior Consultant

Simon Willison
Associate Director

Samuel Barnes
Associate Director

Revision History

Revision Revision date Details Authorized Name Position

0 13/01/2021 Draft Submission Sam Barnes Project Manager

1 10/02/2021 Amended Sam Barnes Project Manager

Distribution List

# Hard Copies PDF Required Association / Company Name

Page 580



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council

Prepared for:
Oxfordshire County Council

Prepared by:

AECOM Infrastructure & Environment UK Limited
AECOM House
63-77 Victoria Street
St Albans
Hertfordshire AL1 3ER
United Kingdom

T: +44(0)1727 535000
aecom.com

© 2021 AECOM Infrastructure & Environment UK Limited. All Rights Reserved.

This document has been prepared by AECOM Infrastructure & Environment UK Limited (“AECOM”)
for sole use of our client (the “Client”) in accordance with generally accepted consultancy principles,
the budget for fees and the terms of reference agreed between AECOM and the Client. Any
information provided by third parties and referred to herein has not been checked or verified by
AECOM, unless otherwise expressly stated in the document. No third party may rely upon this
document without the prior and express written agreement of AECOM.

Page 581



Watlington
Option Assessment Report  

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council

Table of Contents
1. Introduction ..............................................................................................1

Background........................................................................................................................... 1
Report Purpose ..................................................................................................................... 1
Report Structure.................................................................................................................... 2

2. Baseline and Future Conditions Analysis ................................................4
Introduction ........................................................................................................................... 4
Geographic Context .............................................................................................................. 4
Data Review ......................................................................................................................... 5
Current and Future Conditions .............................................................................................. 7

3. Policy Context and Objectives ...............................................................30
Introduction ......................................................................................................................... 30
National Policies ................................................................................................................. 30
Regional Policies ................................................................................................................ 31
Local Policies ...................................................................................................................... 33
Transport Policy Objectives ................................................................................................. 34

4. Option Generation .................................................................................36
Introduction ......................................................................................................................... 36
Option A – Heavy Rail Link .................................................................................................. 36
Option B – Light Rail Link .................................................................................................... 36
Option C – Enhanced Bus Link or Network .......................................................................... 37
Option D – Road Link – higher speed bypass ...................................................................... 37
Option E – Road Link – lower speed distributor/edge road ................................................... 37
Option F – ‘Do nothing’........................................................................................................ 37
Option G – ‘Do Minimum’ Highway Improvements ............................................................... 37

5. Option Sifting .........................................................................................38
Introduction ......................................................................................................................... 38
Methodology ....................................................................................................................... 38
Matched option A1-B1 ......................................................................................................... 48
Matched option A5-B5 ......................................................................................................... 49
Matched Option A2&4-B4 .................................................................................................... 50
Matched option A2&4-B3 ..................................................................................................... 51
Matched option C1-P1 ........................................................................................................ 52
Matched option C1-P2 ........................................................................................................ 53
Matched option C2-P6 ........................................................................................................ 54
Matched option C2-P7 ........................................................................................................ 55
Results: Short list of options ................................................................................................ 56

6. Conclusions and Next Steps .................................................................56
Summary ............................................................................................................................ 56
Next Steps .......................................................................................................................... 57

Appendices
Appendix A : Stage 1 - High Level Sift: Part 1 ................................................................................... 58
Appendix B : Stage 1 - High Level Sift Part 2 ................................................................................... 63
Appendix C : Stage 1 - High Level Sift Part 3 ................................................................................... 65
Appendix D : Stage 2 - Detailed Sift ................................................................................................. 72
Appendix E : Stage 2 - Detailed Sift Summary ............................................................................... 106

Page 582



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council

Tables
Table 2.1. Average total weekday traffic flows .................................................................................... 8
Table 2.2. Average weekday ATC counts of large HGVs ..................................................................... 8
Table 2.3. Travel times by car to key surrounding settlements from Watlington (weekday AM peak).. 14
Table 2.4. Journeys between Watlington and workplaces and mode share (no internal journeys) ..... 17
Table 2.5. Watlington bus services ................................................................................................... 19
Table 2.6. Traffic flows from WebTRIS counts - M40 Junction 6 slip roads ........................................ 23
Table 2.7. Number of collisions and vehicles involved in accidents in Watlington 2015 to 2019 ......... 24
Table 2.8. Vehicle trip generation for site A ....................................................................................... 26
Table 2.9. Vehicle trip generation for Site B and C ............................................................................ 27
Table 2.10. Vehicle trip generation for PYR1 .................................................................................... 27
Table 2.11. Vehicle trip generation for PYR2 .................................................................................... 27
Table 3.1.Oxfordshire LTP4 Themes, Goals and Objectives aligned with the proposed transport
scheme in Watlington ...................................................................................................................... 32
Table 3.2 Watlington infrastructure scheme objectives to national, regional & local policies .............. 34
Table 5.1. Sifting Stages .................................................................................................................. 38
Table 5.2. High Level Sift Scoring System ........................................................................................ 39
Table 5.3. High level Sift Part 1 Options ........................................................................................... 39
Table 5.4. High Level Sift Part 2 Options .......................................................................................... 41
Table 5.5. Suboptions of Option E2 New Road considered in High Level Sift Part 3.......................... 43
Table 5.6. Options taken forward to detailed sift ............................................................................... 45
Table 5.7. Detailed Sift Criteria ......................................................................................................... 46
Table 5.8. Assessed Subcategories in Stage 2 Detailed Sift ............................................................. 47
Table 5.9. Potential benefits and issues of Option A1-B1 .................................................................. 48
Table 5.10. Potential benefits and issues of option A5-B5 ................................................................. 49
Table 5.11. Potential benefit and issues of option A2&4-B4 .............................................................. 50
Table 5.12. Potential benefits and issues of option A2&4-B3 ............................................................ 51
Table 5.13. Potential benefits and issues of option C1-P1 ................................................................ 52
Table 5.14. Potential benefits and issues of option C1-P2 ................................................................ 53
Table 5.15. Potential benefits and issues of option C2-P6 ................................................................ 54
Table 5.16. Potential benefits and issues of option C2-P7 ................................................................ 55
Table 5.17. Indicative ranking of route section options ...................................................................... 56

Figures
Figure 1.1. DfT’s Transport Appraisal Process.................................................................................... 2
Figure 2.1.Watlington situated in South Oxfordshire District ............................................................... 4
Figure 2.2. Watlington and surrounding parishes................................................................................ 5
Figure 2.3. AQMA Watlington ........................................................................................................... 10
Figure 2.4. Flood Zones near Watlington........................................................................................... 11
Figure 2.5. Sites of Special Scientific Interest (shown in blue) .......................................................... 12
Figure 2.6. Conservation Areas around Watlington (marked in blue) ................................................. 13
Figure 2.7. Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (shown in blue) ....................................................... 13
Figure 2.8. Surrounding settlements ................................................................................................ 15
Figure 2.9. Journeys from Watlington to places of work (no internal journeys) - Census 2011 JTW ... 15
Figure 2.10. Journeys to Watlington for work (no internal journeys) - Census 2011 JTW ................... 16
Figure 2.11. Local Cycle Network (Google Maps) ............................................................................. 18
Figure 2.12. National Cycle Network (Sustrans) ............................................................................... 18
Figure 2.13. Public Rights of Way (OCC) ......................................................................................... 19
Figure 2.14. Bus service no. 11 ........................................................................................................ 20
Figure 2.15. Bus service no. RL30 ................................................................................................... 20
Figure 2.16. Bus service no.137....................................................................................................... 21
Figure 2.17. Surrounding railway links ............................................................................................. 21
Figure 2.18. Watlington in relation to the M40 Junction 6 .................................................................. 22
Figure 2.19. Collision locations for the 4-year period from 2015 to 2019 ........................................... 24
Figure 2.20. Proposed development sites in Watlington and Pyrton .................................................. 26
Figure 5.1. Alignment representation of Option E2 suboptions.......................................................... 44

Page 583



Watlington
Option Assessment Report  

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
1

1. Introduction
Background

1.1.1 AECOM has been commissioned by Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) to undertake 
a feasibility study for a potential new transport scheme in the Watlington area. 
Watlington is a small, rural market town in South Oxfordshire district, which is 
currently experiencing traffic-related challenges due to several factors that will be 
further explored in this report. Current traffic conditions are expected to worsen as 
the town accommodates planned housing development and could act as a barrier to 
much needed housing growth in the wider area, demonstrating the need for an 
intervention to help alleviate future traffic-related challenges.

1.1.2 Watlington has population of around 2,397 people (ONS 2019 Mid Year Estimate). 
The town’s population has increased by 12% between 2001 and 2019, and with 
planned housing growth coming forward, is expected to increase further. 

1.1.3 Historically, the town expanded around the crossroads between two cross-country 
roads which traverse South Oxfordshire: the B4009 which follows in part the ancient 
Icknield Way and broadly links Little Kimble near Princes Risborough with Benson 
near Wallingford; and the B480, which broadly links Oxford with Henley on Thames. 
Watlington’s neighbouring parishes are Pyrton and Shirburn, two small and historical 
villages and large civil parishes in Oxfordshire. Pyrton is located around 1.5km north 
of Watlington, while Shirburn is situated around 1.8km northeast of Watlington.

1.1.4 Watlington has a compact town centre mainly comprising smaller independent 
retailers and key local services, including a library. A fire station is located within the 
town. There is a small industrial estate on the north-western edge of the town, whilst 
education centres, such as Icknield Community College and Watlington Primary 
School, are located on the northern edge of the town. Watlington and District Nursing 
Home and The Chiltern Surgery are both located on the Watlington Hospital Site on 
the south-eastern edge of the town. Leisure facilities, including a Squash and 
Racketball Blub and Watlington Cricket Club, are located on the recreation ground on 
the north-eastern edge of the town. Watlington does not include many workplaces, 
thus approximately 60% of people living in Watlington travel outside for work.

1.1.5 Watlington lies approximately 21km as the crow flies from the centre of Oxford, 10km 
from Wallingford, 10km from Thame, 15km from Princes Risborough, 14km from 
Henley-on-Thames and 18km from High Wycombe. From a transport perspective, 
Watlington is connected to the surrounding area by the aforementioned B-roads, 
more rural unclassified lanes, a network of public rights of way and some rural bus 
services. The nearest strategic transport corridor, namely the M40, lies to the north 
of Watlington. There is no access to rail services in Watlington.  

Report Purpose
1.2.1 This Option Assessment Report (OAR) summarises the option development process 

and how the decision making was carried out to reach the recommended shortlisted 
options to be taken forward to the next stage of development. 

1.2.2 This report sets out the study context; provides details of the adopted approach; 
discusses current and future conditions, and objectives for the study; provides details 
of the long list of options that have been identified which could address issues in the 
Watlington area and meet the objectives; sets out the criteria for an initial sift of the 
long list of options to derive a more refined list of options; summarises the results of 
the initial sifting and provides a more detailed assessment against a range of criteria 

Page 584



Watlington
Option Assessment Report  

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
2

in line with best practice and Government guidelines; and recommends the option(s) 
which should be taken forward. 

Report Structure
1.3.1 The OAR follows the Department for Transport’s (DfT) Transport Appraisal Guidance 

(TAG), as illustrated in DfT’s Transport Appraisal Process (TAP)1 (Figure 1.1). It 
provides a summary of steps one to six in Stage 1 - Option Development of the 
appraisal process, including the review and summary of the work to date undertaken 
by or for OCC. 

Figure 1.1. DfT’s Transport Appraisal Process
Source: Transport Appraisal Process (DfT, 2018)

1.3.2 An Appraisal Specification Report has not been prepared at the time of writing. 

1.3.3 Following this introductory section, this report is structured as follows:

 Section 2: Baseline and Future Conditions Analysis;

1 Department for Transport (2018) Transport Analysis Guidance: The Transport Appraisal Process.
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/webtag-transport-appraisal-process-may-2018

Page 585



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
3

 Section 3: Policy Context and Objectives;

 Section 4: Option Generation;

 Section 5: Option Sifting; and

 Section 6: Conclusions and Next Steps.

Page 586



Watlington
Option Assessment Report  

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
4

2. Baseline and Future Conditions Analysis
Introduction

2.1.1 This section of the report provides a summary of the existing data and previous work 
reviewed in order to identify key challenges in the study area, which would help inform 
the development of objectives. These objectives will be critical in later stages to 
assess and sift options, as well as becoming a key component against which the final 
proposed solution will be appraised and, following implementation, evaluated.

Geographic Context
2.2.1 Watlington is situated in the south east of Oxfordshire, in South Oxfordshire District, 

as seen in Figure 2.1. It is rurally situated with the larger settlements of Wallingford 
to the south west, Princes Risborough to the north east and Oxford to the north west. 

Figure 2.1.Watlington situated in South Oxfordshire District 

2.2.2 The following parishes surround Watlington, as shown in Figure 2.2:

 Pyrton;

 Shirburn;

 Britwell Salome;

 Cuxham and Easington.

Page 587



Watlington
Option Assessment Report  

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
5

Figure 2.2. Watlington and surrounding parishes

Data Review
2.3.1 A series of existing studies, strategies and data have been used to understand the 

local context. Given the significant amount of work already undertaken to understand 
and assess current and future issues in the area, as well as potential solutions, only 
a summary of the most pertinent points is presented in this report. The key sources 
of information are as follows:

 Watlington Neighbourhood Development Plan2

 Pyrton Neighbourhood Plan3

 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011-20344

 Watlington Traffic Study 20145

 Watlington Parking Study 201667

 Watlington Air Quality8

 Watlington Statement of Case9

2 http://www.watlingtonnp.org.uk/Watlington-Neighbourhood-
Plan/UserFiles/Files/WNDP1%20Watlington%20Neighbourhood%20Development%20Plan%20MADE%20VERSION.pdf
3 http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-policy/neighbourhood-plans/pyrton-
neighbourhood-p
4 http://www.watlingtonnp.org.uk/Watlington-Neighbourhood-
Plan/UserFiles/Files/SODC%20LP2034%20Publication%20document%20jan%202019.pdf
5 http://www.watlingtonnp.org.uk/Watlington-Neighbourhood-
Plan/UserFiles/Files/TPP%20Watlington%20Traffic%20Study%20Report%20(final).pdf
6 http://www.watlingtonnp.org.uk/Watlington-Neighbourhood-Plan/surveys-15290.aspx
7 https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Mohamed_Mourad_Lafifi/post/Exit-of-Vehicle-parking-in-
VISSIM/attachment/5eaf1fd1f155db0001f94192/AS%3A887195288215553%401588535248967/download/Watlington+Traffic+
Modelling+240223+v2.pdf
8 Watlington Air Quality.pdf
9 Watlington Statement of Case.pdf

Page 588



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
6

 Watlington Traffic Case10

 Watlington Relief Road - Flood Risk & Mitigation111213

 Oxfordshire County Council Local Transport Plan 4 2015-203114

 Department for Transport Trip End Model Presentation Program (TEMPro)15

 Department for Transport National Trip End Model (NTEM) – traffic growth
estimates16

 Department for Transport Road Traffic Statistics – traffic count information for
Strategic Road Network17

 Highways England Webtris – traffic count information for the Strategic Road
Network18

 Bus timetable information – Oxfordshire County Council and Stagecoach1920

 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, UK Air Information
Resource21

 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs MAGIC geographical
information on the natural environment22

 Natural England / Defra open data23

 Crashmap road collision data24

 Office for National Statistics - UK Census 20112526

 Oxfordshire Definitive Map – public rights of way27.
2.3.2 Additionally, the following technical notes and data were used:

  Watlington Relief Road Traffic Modelling28

 Land Acquisition Strategy29

 Watlington Relief Road events30

 Watlington Relief Road HLC report31

 Watlington Relief Road monuments report32

10 Watlington Traffic Case.pdf
11 Watlington Relief Road Product 4 Data_2016.pdf
12 THM_172472 Product 4.pdf
13 127706-02.pdf
14https://www2.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/sites/default/files/folders/documents/roadsandtransport/transportpoliciesandplans/localtr
ansportplan/ConnectingOxfordshirevol1policyandoverallstrategy.pdf
15 https://data.gov.uk/dataset/11bc7aaf-ddf6-4133-a91d-84e6f20a663e/national-trip-end-model-ntem
16 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tempro-downloads
17 https://roadtraffic.dft.gov.uk/#6/55.254/-6.053/basemap-regions-countpoints
18 https://webtris.highwaysengland.co.uk/
19 https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/roads-and-transport/public-transport
20 https://bustimes.org/localities/watlington-oxon
21 https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/maps/
22 https://magic.defra.gov.uk/
23 https://naturalengland-defra.opendata.arcgis.com/maps/edit?content=Defra%3A%
24 https://www.crashmap.co.uk/
25 https://www.ons.gov.uk/census
26 https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/2011census/2011censusdata/originanddestinationdata
27 https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-and-planning/countryside/countryside-access/public-rights-way/public-
rights-way-online
28 Watlington Relief Road Traffic Modelling Technical Note (TNA01-A), prepared by AECOM and issued to OCC on 23/10/2020
29 Watlington Relief Road Material to inform Land Acquisition Strategy, prepared by OCC on 02/10/2020
30 HER 20-69 Watlington Relief Road events report, issued on 02/10/2020
31 HER 20-69 Watlington Relief Road HLC report, issued on 02/10/2020
32 HER 20-69 Watlington Relief Road monuments report, issued on 02/10/2020

Page 589



Watlington
Option Assessment Report  

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
7

 Oxfordshire County Council - transport projects screening33

2.3.3 Alignment and site drawings were also provided to AECOM by OCC:

 Beechcroft Red Line

 Topographical Survey Data

 Site Layout Colour34 

 Cuxham Road S278 Works General Arrangement Plan35 

 Britwell Road Phase 1 S278 Works General Arrangement36 

Current and Future Conditions
2.4.1 As part of the initial stage of option development, it is important to understand the 

current and future context, and transport conditions in the study area, including the 
main issues and the proposals that have been put forward in recent years to address 
these issues.

2.4.2 The local context and, where appropriate, current and future trends for the following 
are discussed in this section:

 Current transport related problems

 Environmental issues

 Travel patterns and mode share

 Cycle network and public rights of way

 Public transport

 Access to the Strategic Road Network (M40)

 Collisions

 Future growth.

Current transport related problems
2.4.3 In 2014, the Watlington Traffic Study5 was carried out in order to establish the more 

critical traffic-related issues there were present at the time and which largely persist 
today. Key observations from the study include that the main arterial routes through 
the town centre – the B4009 Couching Street and B480 Brook Street – are 
theoretically operating within capacity, however traffic queues and delays are caused 
by obstruction of traffic movements due to on-street parking, in particular on Couching 
Street. 

2.4.4 Secondly, Pyrton Lane, which feeds into the north-western part of Watlington, in 
conjunction with Station Road, which connects Pyrton village with the B4009 Shirburn 
Road, were observed as being used by motorists as a ‘rat run’, especially in the AM 
period, to avoid congestion through Watlington. 

2.4.5 The study also reports that Automatic Traffic Counters (ATC) were installed to collect 
traffic flow data on four key roads: B4009 Shirburn Road, B480 Howe Road, B4009 
Britwell Road and B480 Cuxham Road. Table 2.1 and Table 2.2 present the results 
included in the Watlington Traffic Study5. 

33 127200 (OCC transport projects screening).pdf
34 25788 SM000-SL-003e(Site Layout Colour) ISSUED.pdf
35 JKK10252_100-P1-Cuxham Road S278 Works General Arrangment Plan.pdf
36 JKK10252_120-P1-Britwell Road Phase 1 S278 Works General Arrangement.pdf

Page 590



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
8

2.4.6 Table 2.1 shows that most traffic routes through Shirburn Road, especially in the
07:00-08:00 AM peak. This accounts for approximately 45% of all traffic counted on
the four key roads. Additionally, the study reports that 85% of traffic in the AM peak
and 82% of traffic in the PM peak in Watlington is through-traffic.

2.4.7 Table 2.2 shows that Shirburn Road and Britwell Road have the highest number of
large Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGVs). HGV counts on Cuxham Road were very low,
indicating that HGVs tend not to go through Watlington. They are potentially using an
alternative route to reach the M40 and other key destinations. No HGVs were
recorded in the PM peak on any road.

Table 2.1. Average total weekday traffic flows

Link AM Peak
(07:00- 08:00)

AM Peak
(08:00- 09:00)

PM Peak
(17:00- 18:00)

12-hour
(07:00- 19:00)

24-hour

B4009 Shirburn
Road

1,017 993 986 8,583 10,454

B480 Howe Road 302 328 319 2,978 3,495
B4009 Britwell

Road
568 524 561 4,763 5,788

B480 Cuxham
Road

247 266 283 2,455 2,937

Table 2.2. Average weekday ATC counts of large HGVs

Link AM Peak
(07:00- 08:00)

AM Peak
(08:00- 09:00)

PM Peak
(17:00- 18:00)

12-hour
(07:00- 19:00)

24-hour

B4009 Shirburn
Road

7 10 0 53 58

B480 Howe Road 2 1 0 10 11
B4009 Britwell

Road
3 5 0 39 46

B480 Cuxham
Road

3 3 0 13 15

2.4.8 In 2016, the Watlington Parking Study6 was carried out in order to understand the
impacts of proposals to remove on-street parking on traffic congestion in the town
centre. The collected data revealed that congestion issues occur in both AM and PM
peak periods: “In the AM period the queues extended to the Gorwell junction in the
southbound direction, occasionally reaching back as far as the Cuxham Road
junction and around the sharp bends onto Ingham Road in the northbound direction
and onto side roads not included in the model. In the PM period, the southbound
queue was not seen to extend past Davenport Place, the northbound queue was
similar in extent to the AM and extended around the bends onto Ingham Road”. It is
also stated that HGVs are travelling through the town centre’s narrow roads creating
concerns around noise, air quality and safety.

2.4.9 VISSIM modelling7 was undertaken to test journey times and junction delays on three
junctions: B4009 / Cuxham Road, B480 / Couching Street and B4009 / High Street /
Hill Road. The modelling exercise assessed a base year of 2016 and forecast year
of 2033 with and without on-street parking. The results showed that removing on-
street parking would reduce average journey times by 60 seconds in the AM peak
and by 30 seconds in the PM peak along Couching Street in the northbound direction
in 2033. Average journey times in the southbound direction increased by 150 seconds
towards the end of the AM and PM peaks in 2033 when on-street parking is removed.
The study concluded that removing the on-street parking by 2033 will result in a
significant increase in average queues along Couching Street, reaching 430m

Page 591



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
9

southbound and 320m northbound in the AM peak and 474m southbound and 156m
northbound in the PM peak.

2.4.10 The above show that junction delays by 2033 would be significantly higher than the
delays experienced in 2016, even without the on-street parking. Total network delay
in the AM peak was suggested to be 223 hours higher peak between the 2016 and
2033 Do Minimum scenarios and 43 hours between the Do Something scenarios.
Similar results were derived for the PM peak. Thus, the level of delay will still increase
significantly by 2033 and a more drastic intervention would be necessary to address
the issue of vehicle delay.

2.4.11 Using the DfT’s Trip End Model Presentation Programme (TEMPro), the study reports
that it was estimated that between 2014 and 2031, there would be a 6%-8% increase
in background traffic growth. The study concluded that this traffic growth would
intensify the existing traffic congestion issues, thus escalating concerns around noise,
air quality and safety.

2.4.12 Further checks on traffic growth have been undertaken by AECOM using TEMPro
v7.2 (the most recent version available at the time of writing). National projections
consider that trip end productions and attractions relating to the South Oxfordshire
008 Middle Super Output Area (MSOA), where Watlington is situated, will grow by
approximately 12% between 2020 and 2034 (the horizon year for the South
Oxfordshire Local Plan). This is believed to negatively impact the current traffic
conditions in the area if a scheme to mitigate traffic-related challenges was not
implemented.

Environmental issues
Air Quality

2.4.13 In 2009, the Watlington area was found to have high levels of the pollutant Nitrogen
Dioxide (NO2), which led to sections of roads through Watlington being declared as
an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) by Defra. The key areas of concern
included the B480 Brook Street between the Gorwell junction (B480/B4009) to the
Watcombe Road junction (adjacent to St Edmund Campion Roman Catholic Church)
as well as the length of the B4009 along Counching Street and Shirburn Road.

2.4.14 As can be seen in Figure 2.3 the AQMA covers a large part of the B4009, which is
the key road running through the centre of Watlington. Measures to manage traffic
movements could help improve air quality in the area.

Page 592



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
10

Figure 2.3. AQMA Watlington37

Water Environment and Flood Risk
2.4.15 Baseline water environment and flood risk could potentially impact and restrict

scheme options.

2.4.16 The UK Government’s Flood Risk Map for Planning website38 indicates that, with
regard to fluvial flooding, the study area is mainly in Flood Zone 1 (see Figure 2.4.).
This is land assessed as having a less than 1 in 1,000 annual probability of river or
sea flooding (<0.1% Annual Exceedance Probability (AEP)). The exception is to the
south of the B480 (Cuxham Road), where Chalgrove Brook is marked as Flood Zone
3 (1 in 100 or greater annual probability of river flooding (>1% AEP)). There are
patches of Flood Zone 2 and Flood Zone 3 in the field belonging to Bloor Homes to
the south of Chalgrove Brook river (between 0.1% and 1% AEP).

2.4.17 The UK Government’s Long Term Flood Risk website39 indicates that the study area
is generally at Very Low risk of surface water flooding (each year this area has a
chance of flooding of less than 0.1%). However, south of the B480 (Cuxham Road)
there are areas of High Risk (annual chance of flooding of greater than 3.3%) in the
immediate vicinity of Chalgrove Brook, and low (annual chance of flooding of between
0.1% and 1%) and medium risk (chance of flooding of between 1% and 3.3%) within
the field owned by Bloor Homes.

2.4.18 According to the Highways Agency Drainage Data Management System website
(HADDMS)40, there is limited potential for groundwater flooding across the majority
of the study area. However, the Watlington Neighbourhood Development Plan
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA)41 indicates that there have been

37 Defra: https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=583
38 https://flood-map-for-planning.service.gov.uk/
39 https://flood-warning-information.service.gov.uk/long-term-flood-risk
40 https://data.gov.uk/dataset/bb85340f-7f98-445f-b56c-70018151bdcf/highways-agency-drainage-data-management-system-
haddms
41 http://www.watlingtonnp.org.uk/Watlington-Neighbourhood-Plan/UserFiles/Files/23-10-
17/WNDP14%20Flood%20Risk%20Assessment%20and%20Sequential%20Test%20Oct%202017.pdf

Page 593



Watlington
Option Assessment Report  

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
11

groundwater flooding issues within Watlington. This describes that Chalgrove Brook 
river is fed by groundwater stored within the underlying chalk geology, which may rise 
to the ground surface as spring flows after prolonged rainfall. This was most notable 
in February 2014, where following months of prolonged rainfall, groundwater levels 
in the underlying chalk bedrock rose. Severe flooding affected parts of the town (e.g. 
the roads of Station Road, Brook Street, Spring Lane, Gorwell and The Goggs) for 
several weeks. Groundwater formed a continuous stream of water from Lower Hill 
Road to the junction between the High Street and Shirburn Road. Properties were 
evacuated and internally flooded in The Goggs and Shirburn Street, while property 
gardens on Hill Road were flooded by spring flows from fields to the south. 

2.4.19 Overall, Watlington is not at risk from reservoir flooding or of flooding from canals as 
indicated by the studies available for the area.

Figure 2.4. Flood Zones near Watlington42

Landscape
2.4.20 Watlington is not covered by any landscape related designations; nor is it within a 

Conservation Area or Registered Historic Park and Garden. As shown in Figure 2.5 
Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) are situated south east and north east of 
the town, however no land directly in Watlington is classed as a SSSI.

42 https://flood-map-for-planning.service.gov.uk/confirm-
location?easting=468633&northing=194858&placeOrPostcode=Watlington

Page 594



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
12

Figure 2.5. Sites of Special Scientific Interest (shown in blue)43

2.4.21 Watlington Conservation Area44 covers most of the village, with many listed buildings
in the southern part of the village. Pyrton Conservation Area45 is the immediate north-
west of the eastern part of the Site (Pyrton Manor) and the designation extends
across Pyrton. Shirburn Conservation Area is to the immediate north-east of the
eastern part of the Site, on the opposite side of Pyrton Lane (shown in Figure 2.6).

43 https://naturalengland-defra.opendata.arcgis.com/maps/edit?content=Defra%3A%3Asites-of-special-scientific-interest-units-
england
44 http://www.watlingtonnp.org.uk/Watlington-Neighbourhood-Plan/UserFiles/Files/23-10-
17/WNDP9%20Photographs%20Watlington%20Conservation%20Area%20Views.pdf
45 https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/09/Pyrton-Conservation-Area-Appraisal.pdf

Page 595



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
13

Figure 2.6. Conservation Areas around Watlington (marked in blue)46

2.4.22 The Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) is to the immediate south
of the eastern part of the site (see Figure 2.7). The AONB extends from the elevated
land to the south of Watlington, to the B4009. Given the town’s proximity to the AONB,
it is considered to form part of the AONB setting.

Figure 2.7. Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (shown in blue)47

2.4.23 The Chilterns AONB Management Plan48 identifies that there is increasing pressure
for both large and small-scale development within the setting of the AONB and that
“development and land management proposals, by virtue of their nature, size, scale,

46 https://www.homipi.co.uk/conservation-areas/south-oxfordshire/#map
47 https://naturalengland-defra.opendata.arcgis.com/maps/edit?content=Defra%3A%
48 https://www.chilternsaonb.org/conservation-board/management-plan.html

Page 596



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
14

siting, materials or design could be considered to have an impact, either positive or
negative, on the natural beauty and special qualities of the Chilterns AONB”.

2.4.24 The Watlington Design Guide49, which sets out design guidance for the settlement,
acknowledges relevant specific constraints relating to the National Trust property at
Watlington Hill, which lies to the south of the town.

2.4.25 The primary constraints around landscape are the proximity of the AONB, the
proximity of the scheme to Conservation Areas and Registered Historic Parks and
Garden and the perception of coalescence with Pyrton. These aspects, but
particularly the impact to the setting of the AONB, have the potential to result in
significant landscape and visual effects.

Travel patterns and mode share
2.4.26 As can be seen in Figure 2.8 overleaf, Watlington is situated in a rural location at

least 10 miles from the nearest larger settlement with a higher concentration of key
services. It is surrounded in the more immediate area by an assortment of smaller
settlements which could generate trips to, from and through Watlington.

2.4.27 Further afield, there are larger settlements which may attract journeys from
Watlington, or potentially through the town such as Wallingford and Princes
Risborough. However, as will be discussed in more detail in following section, the
travel options to and from Watlington are limited in part due to its rural location. Table
2.3. shows the journey times between Watlington and nearby settlements during a
weekday AM peak.

Table 2.3. Travel times by car to key surrounding settlements from Watlington
(weekday AM peak)

Destination Journey time Approximate Crow Fly
Distance

High Wycombe (Centre) 18-35 minutes 15 miles

Oxford centre 35-55 minutes 21 miles

Thame 14-22 minutes 10 miles

Chinnor 10-18 minutes 6 miles

Princes Risborough 20-30 minutes 10 miles

Benson 7-10 minutes 5 miles

Chalgrove 6-8 minutes 4 miles

Wallingford 14-22 minutes 10 miles

Henley-on-Thames 20-30 minutes 14 miles

Source Google Maps, Tuesday 07.45 am

2.4.28 Census 2011 Journey to Work data was reviewed in order to understand the patterns
of journeys to and from Watlington. Figure 2.9 shows commuting journeys travelling
from Watlington to other areas for work (excluding any internal journeys of people
living and working in Watlington). The darker shade of green indicates a higher
number of journeys and so Henley-on-Thames and Wallingford are identified as key
places where Watlington residents travel to for work. Other key areas include the

49 http://www.watlingtonnp.org.uk/Watlington-Neighbourhood-
Plan/UserFiles/Files/WNDP11%20Watlington%20Design%20Guide%20-Referendum%20version%20(2).pdf

Page 597



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
15

directly adjacent surrounding rural areas both within Oxfordshire and over the border
in Buckinghamshire, as well as the county town of Oxford.

Figure 2.8. Surrounding settlements

Figure 2.9. Journeys from Watlington to places of work (no internal journeys) -
Census 2011 JTW

2.4.29 Figure 2.10 shows journeys travelling from outside to Watlington for work (again
excluding any internal journeys of people working and living in Watlington). Most trips
can be seen to originate from Stadhampton, a village to the west of Watlington. Other
key places generating work journeys to Watlington include Thame, Wallingford and
Mapledrum. A considerable number of journeys are shown to be generated in two
additional zones adjacent to Thame; these concern a portion of Thame combined

Page 598



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
16

with a rural area, and Stokenchurch which is in an area outside of the Oxfordshire
boundary. Overall, journeys to work from Watlington generate more trips to further
out areas, whereas dense numbers of trips to Watlington for work come from
Wallingford and an assortment of villages and hamlets which surround the town
(although these are not significant in number). Generally, the highest number of work-
related journeys come from adjacent or areas geographically located close by.

2.4.30 It is recognised that this analysis is limited to journeys to work, and that there are
other trip purposes that may generate different spatial patterns. Icknield Community
College draws in pupils not only from Watlington but the wider surrounding rural area
but is unlikely to extend as far as other larger towns which accommodate their own
schools. Given the limited scale and range of key services and retail in Watlington,
this is expected to generate trips to larger settlements including Wallingford as not
everyone’s needs will be fully met within the town.

Figure 2.10. Journeys to Watlington for work (no internal journeys) - Census 2011
JTW

Vehicle trips through Watlington
2.4.31 In the absence of strategic transport modelling, it is not possible to easily identify

where trips, which neither begin nor end in Watlington but are using roads through
the town, are routing to and from. As referenced in the Watlington Traffic Study, a high
proportion of traffic in Watlington is thought to be through trips. Given that Watlington
lies on two cross-country B-roads linking a range of towns and villages, it is likely
these roads will facilitate some longer distance trips. Neither of these B-roads are
considered to be major arteries, however they will represent the shortest route
between settlements and also, crucially, the B4009 provides access to the M40
motorway.

Transport mode share
2.4.32 Census journey to work (JTW) data was broken down further in order to understand

the mode in which people were travelling to work. The breakdown of modes can be
seen in Table 2.4. All journeys of people both living and working in Watlington have
been removed, the reason being the zone, which data is made available for in the

Page 599



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
17

Census, is much larger than the town of Watlington and includes surrounding
countryside and will therefore influence mode share.

2.4.33 For journeys from Watlington to work, 82% are made by car, and for journeys to
Watlington for work 86% are made by car. These figures indicate there is very high
car dependency in Watlington, which is due the town’s rural location, the dispersed
pattern of trips in multiple directions (as discussed earlier, i.e. no one major origin or
destination of trips) and poor public transport connections (discussed later). Such
high car use is not surprising when the level of car ownership in the area is
considered. In South Oxfordshire, the percentage of households with a car or van in
2012 was 88.4%, whereas in comparison, the percentage in Oxford was 66.5%. The
district is currently highly dependent on cars and, given the projected housing and
population growth in the area, journeys by car would increase even more if alternative
transport solutions are not considered for the mitigation of transport related
challenges.

2.4.34 In order to benchmark Watlington’s car dependency, Census JTW mode share was
calculated for surrounding areas. When comparing high car use to surrounding areas,
mode share calculations showed that for journeys from the larger settlement of
Wallingford to work, 60% were made by car, and 66% for the town of Thame. For
journeys going to Wallingford for work 76% travelled by car compared with 79% for
Thame. In comparing Watlington results to Wallingford and Thame, overall car use is
higher for outbound than inbound trips. This points to the fact that car dependency is
much higher in Watlington than it is in surrounding areas. Wallingford and Thame are
larger settlements, neither of which are on the national rail network but are likely to
support additional bus services.

Table 2.4. Journeys between Watlington and workplaces and mode share (no internal journeys)
Mode Outbound

from Watlington to work
Inbound

to Watlington for work
Journeys Mode share % Journeys Mode share %

Work mainly at or from home 0 0% 0 0%
Underground-metro-light rail-tram 17 1% 5 1%
Train 77 4% 3 0%
Bus-minibus-coach 66 4% 22 2%
Taxi 2 0% 1 0%
Motorcycle-scooter-moped 16 1% 1 0%
Driving a car or van 1,503 82% 807 86%
Passenger in a car or van 71 4% 54 6%
Bicycle 30 2% 5 1%
On foot 48 3% 33 4%
Other method of travel to work 8 0% 3 0%
Total 1,838 100% 934 100%

Cycle network and public right of way
2.4.35 Figure 2.11, Figure 2.12 and Figure 2.13 show the surrounding cycle and public

rights of way networks around Watlington. From these maps it can be seen that there
are no dedicated cycle lanes or cycle trails in Watlington town and the only cycle
friendly roads are outside the periphery of the town, including The Ridgeway. It can
also be seen that Watlington has no designated National Cycle Routes in the local
area. South Oxfordshire in general is not well connected through the national cycle
network, with the closest national network running through Wallingford, approximately
7 miles south-west or Princes Risborough and 11 miles north-east.

Page 600



Watlington
Option Assessment Report  

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
18

Figure 2.11. Local Cycle Network (Google Maps)

Figure 2.12. National Cycle Network (Sustrans)50 

50 https://www.sustrans.org.uk/national-cycle-network

Watlington

Page 601



Watlington
Option Assessment Report  

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
19

2.4.36 Figure 2.13 shows the public rights of way around Watlington. A series of designated 
public footpaths lead across and out of Watlington including a route around the north-
eastern edge of Icknield Community College across to Pyrton Lane. There are no 
footway facilities on the majority of roads leading out of Watlington. 

Figure 2.13. Public Rights of Way (OCC)51

Public transport 
2.4.37 Table 2.5. and Figure 2.14. to Figure 2.16. provide information of the bus services 

that operate through Watlington. Bus service number 11 connects Watlington to 
Oxford through Chalgrove and Stadhampton and is considered the most frequent as 
it travels up to 8 times a day Monday to Saturday and 4 times on Sundays. However, 
its frequency is variable, which is likely to make it a less appealing choice for travel. 
The RL30 service is primarily for Icknield Community College, bringing students into 
Watlington from other areas and only operates from Monday to Friday. Finally, service 
137 only operates on Fridays, with two journeys connecting Watlington to Wallingford. 
With only three bus services and limited running of each, this means overall 
Watlington is poorly connected to surrounding areas to the east, west and south and 
could be a reason why car dependency is so high in the area. When this is considered 
in the context of commuting patterns, the bus services do not align well with the key 
destinations for journeys to work, such as Wallingford.  

Table 2.5. Watlington bus services52 

Provider Service Route Times
Thames 
Travel

11 Watlington - Chalgrove - Cowley 
- Oxford

Monday to Friday 8 times a day 
from 6 am to 7 pm. Saturday 8 
times (different time intervals 

from Monday to Friday) 8 am to 
6.45 pm

Sundays 4 times a day 8.25am 
to 6pm

51 https://www.gov.uk/right-of-way-open-access-land/use-public-rights-of-way
52 https://bustimes.org/localities/watlington-oxon

Page 602



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
20

Provider Service Route Times
Redline RL30 Icknield Community College

(Watlington) - Henton
Schooldays only once a day 3

pm

Going
Forward
Buses

137 Watlington - Ewelme -
Wallingford

Only on Friday 10.05 am and
1pm

Figure 2.14. Bus service no. 1153

Figure 2.15. Bus service no. RL3054

53 https://bustimes.org/localities/watlington-oxon
54 https://bustimes.org/localities/watlington-oxon

Page 603



Watlington
Option Assessment Report  

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
21

Figure 2.16. Bus service no.13755

Figure 2.17. Surrounding railway links 

2.4.38 Figure 2.17 shows a map of the nearest railway stations to Watlington. The closest 
stations that can be seen on the map are Princes Risborough to the east (on the 
Chiltern Main Line which runs between London Marylebone, High Wycombe, 
Bicester, the West Midlands and Oxford via a branch), Didcot to the west (on the 
Great Western Main Line between London Paddington, Oxford, Swindon, the west 
country and South Wales), and Henley-on-Thames to the south (on a short branch 
line off the Great Western Main Line). As has already been discussed above, there 

55 https://bustimes.org/localities/watlington-oxon
Page 604



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
22

are limited bus services travelling in these directions and no direct bus links to any of
these railway stations, so it can only be assumed that car would be the most viable
means of getting to these stations. The only station that is accessible via bus is
Oxford, although this also requires a change of bus in the city centre. This station is
much further than the highlighted stations on the map, and if the prevailing direction
of travel by rail is to the south (e.g. to London), this would mean double backing on
the journey.

Access to the Strategic Road Network
2.4.39 Watlington is located very near to the M40, as shown in Figure 2.18. The M40 forms

part of the Strategic Road Network which is managed by Highways England. Access
to the M40 can be gained from Junction 6, which is approximately 3 miles east and
takes 5 minutes by car along the B4009. The M40 serves as a gateway to both
regional and national locations. To the south, the M40 provides access to High
Wycombe, London and the South East along with access to the M25 corridors and
also connections to Heathrow airport. To the north, the M40 links to Oxford and
Birmingham.

2.4.40 Regular coach services to Oxford, London, Heathrow Airport and Gatwick Airport stop
at an interchange located at M40 Junction 6, but there are currently no useful public
transport services from Watlington to this point and car parking is limited.

Figure 2.18. Watlington in relation to the M40 Junction 6

2.4.41 Traffic counts from M40 junction 6 slip roads can be seen in Table 2.6. Overall, it can
be concluded from these counts that the south-facing slip roads to the M40
experience more trips than the north-facing slip roads. A key destination connected
to the M40 north is Oxford, which is likely to be easier to reach by car via the B480
out of Watlington.

Page 605



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
23

Table 2.6. Traffic flows from WebTRIS counts - M40 Junction 6 slip roads

Year M40 North M40 South
Exit Entry Exit Entry

2015 2,397 2,103 3,660 6,859

2016 2,272 2,169 3,879 4,608

2017 2,339 2,220 3,810 4,308

2018 2,411 2,243 3,745 4,146

2019 2,596 2,174 3,807 4,357

Collisions
2.4.42 Collision analysis was undertaken on roads within and around Watlington town from

2015 to 2019 using data available from Crashmap56. The locations where collisions
have occurred during this period are shown in Figure 2.19.

2.4.43 In the four-year period, a total of 14 collisions were recorded, of which two resulted
in serious injury severity and 12 in slight injuries.

2.4.44 Both of the serious injury collisions took place at the Pyrton Lane junction with the
B4009, of which one involved a car and the other a motorcycle. The majority of slight
injury severity collisions occurred within central Watlington, half of which involved a
cycle pedal and three involving conflict with a pedestrian. Several collisions occurred
on and around the B4009 junction with Hill Street.

2.4.45 Table 2.7 presents the number of collisions that occurred by year and the number of
vehicles involved in those accidents by year and accident severity. It can be seen that
most accidents occurred in 2016 and have been reducing ever since.

56 https://www.crashmap.co.uk/
Page 606



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
24

Figure 2.19. Collision locations for the 4-year period from 2015 to 2019

Table 2.7. Number of collisions and vehicles involved in accidents in Watlington 2015 to 2019
Year Collisions Number of vehicles involved by accident severity

Slight Serious Fatal

2015 4 6 0 0

2016 6 12 2 0

2017 2 2 2 0

2018 1 2 0 0

2019 1 1 0 0

Total 14 23 4 0

Page 607



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
25

Future housing growth
2.4.46 Watlington Neighbourhood Development Plan2 (published in April 2019) allocates

three major proposed developments in the Watlington area (highlighted in orange on
Figure 2.20 overleaf):

 Site A is situated on land between Britwell Road and Cuxham Road and
represents a total area of around 9.67 hectares (ha). The development includes a
mix of residential, workshops and offices, with a total of 183 dwellings proposed57.

 Site B is situated on land off Cuxham Road and Willow close and represents an
area of 6.4 ha. The development is solely residential with 70 dwellings planned58.

 Site C is situated on land off Pyrton Lane and represents an area of 4.6 ha. The
developments are solely residential with a planned 60 dwellings58.

2.4.47 With a total of roughly 20.7 ha of land allocated for development and 313 dwellings
to be built, the level of growth proposed is expected to require increased transport
access onto existing routes into Watlington and to the wider surrounding areas.

2.4.48 Other planned development sites, mentioned in both the Watlington Neighbourhood
Development Plan and the Pyrton Neighbourhood Plan3 (published in January 2019),
refer to the neighbouring Pyrton parish area and  are located directly beside the
previously discussed sites.  These are PYR1 and PYR2, both of which are highlighted
in green in Figure 2.20.

 PYR1 refers to the redevelopment of the former Ministry of Defence (MoD) site
which is located 650m to the north-east of Watlington town centre. The site has
planning consent for warehouse use and considers 37 assisted living units, a care
home, as well as 4 staff accommodation59.

 PYR2 is identified as a “local gap” between Pyrton and Watlington and the
planning application for this site proposes up to 100 dwellings with associated car
parking, public open space, and landscaping60.

2.4.49 Overall, five main development sites are proposed in and around the Watlington area.
With any type of development, there will inevitably be an increase in traffic flow.
Transport Assessments have been prepared for development sites A, B and C, along
with PYR1 and PYR2. Trip generation calculations for all development proposals are
summarised in Table 2.8 to Table 2.11.

57 Transport Assessment, Land at Britwell Road, Watlington, Bloor Homes and Archstone Projects Ltd, Report No: WB03178-
TA02, Issued on 01/08/18 (Planning Applications: P17/ S3231/O and P19/ S0818/O).
58 Transport Assessment, Proposed Residential Development Sites B and C, Watlington, Oxfordshire, Origin Transport
Consultants Ltd, Issued in Dec 2018 (Planning Appications: P19/S1928/O and P19/S1927/O).
59 Transport Assessment, Shirburn Road, Watlington, Beechcroft Developments Ltd, Report No. TR8170916/MB/DW/009 –
Issue 2, Issued on 15/12/2017 (Planning Application: P18/S0002/O).
60 Transport Assessment, Land off Pyrton Lane, Watlington, David Tucker Associates, Issued on 15/07/2016 (Planning
Application: P16/S2576/O)

Page 608



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
26

Figure 2.20. Proposed development sites in Watlington and Pyrton

2.4.50 The calculations show the additional number of vehicle trips the existing roads would
need to accommodate if the developments were built61. For site A, 870 additional
vehicle trips have been estimated (during the 12 hour period 07:00-19:00), while for
sites, B and C combined, 519 additional vehicle trips (daily) have been calculated.
PYR1 would generate an additional 202 vehicle trips (daily), and PYR2 would
generate an additional 465 vehicle trips (over a 12 hour period).

2.4.51 Overall, all developments combined could generate approximately 2,056 additional
vehicle trips on a daily basis, which the existing road infrastructure would need to
accommodate if no additional transport infrastructure/scheme was implemented. It is
also important to note that given the rural location and the limited local employment
opportunities, the options for trips being undertaken by transport modes other than
the private car are considered to be limited although there may be opportunities for
minor enhancements to bus services.

Table 2.8. Vehicle trip generation for site A
Time Period Number of Trips

Arrive Depart Total

AM Peak Hour (08:00-09:00) 34 65 99

PM Peak Hour (17:00-18:00) 65 43 108

12-Hour (07:00-19:00) 433 437 870

61 Watlington Relief Road TA Review
Page 609



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
27

Table 2.9. Vehicle trip generation for Site B and C

Mode AM Peak

(08:00-09:00)

PM Peak

(17:00-18:00)

Daily Trips

Vehicles 59 59 519

Table 2.10. Vehicle trip generation for PYR1
Time Period Vehicle Trip Generation

Inbound Outbound Two-Way

AM Peak Hour (08:00-09:00) 7 6 13

PM Peak Hour (17:00-18:00) 5 8 13

Daily* 97 105 202

*the Transport Assessment does not indicate if this is a 12-hour or 24-hour period.

Table 2.11. Vehicle trip generation for PYR2

Time Period Vehicle Trips

Arrive Depart Total

AM Peak Hour (08:00-09:00) 15 37 53

PM Peak Hour (17:00-18:00) 33 19 52

12-Hour (07:00-19:00) 230 235 465

2.4.52 The Watlington Parking Study7 (2016) assessed the impact of removing on-street
parking on traffic congestion in the town centre. One of the future modelled scenarios
analysed as part of the study shows congestion performance in future years if an
alternative ‘Edge Road’ were provided around the north of Watlington linking the
B4009 west to east. The results of the modelling show that the provision of this ‘Edge
Road’ (even with additional traffic flows from other developments) would result in
significant journey time benefits for northbound and southbound journeys in a
forecast year of 2033, in comparison to a ‘do-nothing’ scenario.

2.4.53 As has been mentioned in paragraph 2.4.13, the Watlington area (specifically the
arterial routes running through Watlington) has high levels of pollutants and is classed
as an AQMA. With proposed developments likely to increase the number of cars on
the road and the traffic flow data showing an increase year on year, the possible
future implications of this can only be assumed to affect air quality, specifically along
Couching Street and Brook Street.

2.4.54 The South Oxfordshire Local Plan (2020) 62 sets out a requirement for 775 new
homes a year between 2011 and 2035, or a total plan requirement of 18,600 homes.
This is in the context of the commitment by all district authorities across Oxfordshire
to plan for 100,000 new homes between 2011 and 2031.

2.4.55 It should be noted, in return for this commitment the Government has granted some
flexibilities with regard to local housing land supply in the short term, as well as

62 https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/south-oxfordshire-district-council/planning-and-development/local-plan-and-planning-
policies/forthcoming-planning-policies/our-forthcoming-local-plan/

Page 610



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
28

committing to £150m worth of infrastructure funding for the first five years of the deal
in order to facilitate development.

2.4.56 The emerging Local Plan sets out minimum housing growth requirements across
settlements which surround Watlington, including at least 1,285 new homes in
Henley-on-Thames, 1,518 new homes in Thame and 1,070 new homes in
Wallingford. Across the border in Buckinghamshire there are proposals for significant
development in Princes Risborough of around 2,500 new homes63. Development
across these settlements and other smaller settlements surrounding Watlington could
potentially generate additional trip movements through Watlington.

2.4.57 The largest development proposed in the local area is the potential large-scale
housing development at Chalgrove Airfield. Chalgrove Airfield is a former Second
World War airfield located directly north of the village of Chalgrove, north east of the
B480 approximately 3.5 miles north-west of Watlington.

2.4.58 This major housing development at Chalgrove will be developed to deliver
approximately 3,000 new homes, with at least 2,025 dwellings to be delivered by
2034, 5ha of employment land, 3 pitches for Gypsies and Travellers and supporting
services and facilities (e.g educational and health centres). According to the
Watlington Neighbourhood Development Plan2, it is with no doubt that this
development will increase traffic travelling through Watlington, therefore increasing
pressure on constrained town centre roads.

Identifying the Need for an Intervention
2.4.59 The analysis presented in this section has demonstrated that there are significant

current and forecasted challenges (some interrelated) in the Watlington area. In
particular:

 Allocated housing development as prescribed in planning policy, which will
place additional pressure on the existing transport network including
additional vehicle trips.

 Development growth across the wider area including around the towns of
Wallingford and Princes Risborough, as well as the significant Chalgrove
development. With roads through Watlington facilitating cross-county
journeys, there is likely to be an increase in through traffic and/or use of less
appropriate rural lanes such as Pyrton Lane and Station Road.

 Traffic congestion issues on streets in the centre of town.

 Air quality issues and the designation of an AQMA in Couching Street and
Brook Street.

 Residents reliant upon jobs, retail, leisure and access to key services that are
not available in Watlington, therefore necessitating trips to other settlements.

 Lack of public transport options to surrounding settlements.

 Existing high car dependency.

2.4.60 From these challenges listed, three broad scheme objectives were formed which
have been used to identify options:

63 https://www.wycombe.gov.uk/pages/Planning-and-building-control/Major-projects-and-reserve-sites/Princes-Risborough-
expansion-plan.aspx

Page 611



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
29

1. Facilitate local housing growth around Watlington: there are three key
substantial housing developments planned for the west of the town, and two in the
neighbouring Pyrton parish.

2. Manage traffic growth across an expanded Watlington: the current level of
traffic in Watlington is already causing issues such as congestion, as is
demonstrated in the Watlington Parking Study, and air quality issues as
demonstrated through DEFRA’s declaration of an AQMA site in Watlington. From
Transport Assessments carried out for each proposed development site, in total it
is predicted that there could be an extra 2,056 vehicle trips per day. This is likely to
necessitate the need for additional infrastructure and services to mitigate the
impacts on the surrounding transport network. Growth across the wider area could
also impact the transport network in and around Watlington.

3. Facilitate active travel within and around Watlington: the current cycle network
in and around Watlington is poor in comparison to surrounding (albeit larger)
settlements. With government, regional and local objectives aiming to increase
active and sustainable travel (as demonstrated in the next sections), infrastructure
to facilitate such trips is needed.

Page 612



Watlington
Option Assessment Report  

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
30

3. Policy Context and Objectives
Introduction

3.1.1 A review of relevant national, regional and local policies was undertaken to ensure 
the objectives align with broad policy goals and to confirm whether existing policies 
and programmes are in favour of interventions in these circumstances, and of a 
similar type and scale.

3.1.2 As such, the objectives have been tailored to the need for an intervention or package 
of interventions for the Watlington area, but also to maintain consistency with the 
policy aspirations and objectives set out in this section. 

National Policies
3.2.1 At a national level, Government policy endeavours to balance the need to deliver 

economic growth for a growing population, increased housing demand and 
increasingly congested transport networks with a longer-term vision of a sustainable 
and carbon neutral economy, making better use of available capacity and technology. 
These are reflected in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), Industrial 
Strategy White Paper, the Housing White Paper, and the DfT’s Transport Investment 
Strategy. 

3.2.2 The NPPF64 seeks to promote sustainable transport and states that significant 
development should be focused on locations which are or can be made sustainable, 
through limiting the need to travel and offering a genuine choice of transport modes. 
Highways England’s Delivery Plan65 also highlights the need for a shift towards 
sustainable travel, including improving cycling and pedestrian environments on 
roads. 

3.2.3 The Industrial Strategy66 states that the availability of high-quality infrastructure is 
essential for continued growth and prosperity. The Strategy’s vision for a transformed 
economy is centred around productivity, and infrastructure is identified as one of the 
five foundations of this.

3.2.4 The Housing White Paper67 – Fixing Our Broken Housing Market (2017) sets out 
initiatives that strive to reach a step-change in housing supply in England. There are 
four key proposals contained within the housing strategy:

 Planning for the right homes in the right places;

 Building homes faster;

 Diversifying the market; and

 Helping people now.

3.2.5 The role of transport in supporting local growth is highlighted in the DfT’s Transport 
Investment Strategy68, which states that transport investment must seek to create a 
better and more reliable transport network in order to build a stronger, more balanced 
economy, enhance productivity and respond to local growth priorities. Its objectives 
are:

64 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
65 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/highways-england-delivery-plan-2020-2025
66 https://www.gov.uk/government/topical-events/the-uks-industrial-strategy
67 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fixing-our-broken-housing-market
68 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/transport-investment-strategy

Page 613



Watlington
Option Assessment Report  

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
31

 Create a more reliable, less congested, and better-connected transport 
network that works for the users who rely on it;

 Build a stronger, more balanced economy by enhancing productivity and 
responding to local growth priorities;

 Enhance the global competitiveness by making Britain a more attractive place 
to trade and invest; and

 Support the creation of new housing (the Housing White Paper recognises 
transport infrastructure as one of the keys to unlocking development and 
delivering places where people want to live).

Regional Policies
3.3.1 At a regional level, which in the context of this report is district and county level 

policies, South Oxfordshire District Local Plan 20344 states a set of strategic 
objectives coming under headings of: Settlements; Housing; Economy; 
Infrastructure; Design; Community; Natural and Built environment; and, Climate 
change. In the context of this report and in relation to the Watlington scheme, key 
strategic objectives include housing and infrastructure. Housing objectives, in 
summary, include aims to deliver a wide range of housing and to cater for housing 
needs of the community; support the regeneration of housing and facilities, and 
support meeting the economic housing needs of the country. 

3.3.2 Policy STRAT2 states that the housing requirements for South Oxfordshire are 
approximately 23,000 new houses until 2034. Infrastructure objectives include 
ensuring that essential infrastructure is delivered to support residents, services and 
growth, and make sustainable transport, walking and cycling an attractive and viable 
choice for people, whilst recognising that car travel will continue to be important in 
this predominantly rural district. The plan requirements also state that 37.5 hectares 
of land until 2034 will be covered by employment growth, which will require transport 
infrastructure to facilitate and support this growth. 

3.3.3 Policy STRAT7 from South Oxfordshire Local Plan specifically references expected 
transport infrastructure for Chalgrove Airfield which includes Watlington, and states 
that: ‘improvements to highway infrastructure through direct mitigation or significant 
contributions to new or improved roads, such as a bypass or edge road, including 
sustainable transport improvements, and where appropriate in association with 
relevant Neighbourhood Development Plans and any wider County Council highway 
infrastructure strategy’.

3.3.4 Policy TRANS3 acknowledges that transport demand from the proposed 
developments will increase and therefore safeguarding land for future transport 
infrastructure would be essential. The policy makes specific reference to a number of 
transport schemes within Oxfordshire, amongst which is a relief road around 
Watlington.

3.3.5 OxLEP’s Strategic Economic Plan69 (SEP) for Oxfordshire (2016) sets out a vision 
for Oxfordshire to be a vibrant, sustainable, inclusive, world leading economy, driven 
by innovation, enterprise and research excellence. Whilst being strong in many areas, 
including innovation, enterprise and research, the SEP also refers to challenges 
around the lack of affordable housing, increasing congestion, sustainability and 
inclusion, and the need for greater resilience. The SEP is clear that the overall priority 
for Oxfordshire’s places is to plan simultaneously for both jobs and housing growth, 
putting in place the infrastructure required for both, whilst also protecting and where 
possible enhancing environmental quality and social inclusion. These priorities are 

69 https://www.oxfordshirelep.com/about/our-strategies/our-strategic-economic-plan-sep
Page 614



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
32

consistent with Government policy and the objectives set out in the TIS but adapted
to suit Oxfordshire’s own socio-economic and environmental challenges.

3.3.6 The Oxfordshire’s Housing and Growth Deal70 is an agreement between the
national government and in the Oxfordshire area councils (Cherwell District Council; 
Oxford City Council; Oxfordshire County Council; South Oxfordshire District Council; 
Vale of White Horse District Council; West Oxfordshire District Council) and the Local 
Enterprise Partnership (OxLEP), to plan and support the delivery of 100,000 new
homes between 2011 and 2031.

3.3.7 The Connecting Oxfordshire Local Transport Plan 471 (LTP4, 2016), is the
overarching local plan for transport in Oxfordshire. The LTP4 is part of the Connecting
Oxfordshire series of documents. LTP4 promotes the use of low and zero emission
forms of transport, including electric vehicles and associated infrastructure, where
appropriate. It also supports the provision of free or reduced parking for low or zero
emission vehicles at Park & Ride sites. LTP4 supports trials of electric buses and
supports further pilots, where appropriate. It is expected that new public transport
vehicles will conform to high environmental standards. Air Quality actions plans are
included in the LTP4 for several areas, including Watlington.

3.3.8 Policies from the LTP4 can be directly supported by a potential new transport scheme
in Watlington (summarised in Table 3.1):

 Policy 1: Oxfordshire County Council will work to ensure that the transport network
supports sustainable, economic and housing growth in the county, whilst
protecting, and where possible enhancing, its environmental, creative and cultural
heritage and tourism assets, and supporting the health and wellbeing of its
residents;

 Policy 2: Oxfordshire County Council will manage and, where appropriate, develop
the county’s road network to reduce congestion and minimise disruption and
delays, prioritising strategic routes.

Table 3.1.Oxfordshire LTP4 Themes, Goals and Objectives aligned with the proposed transport
scheme in Watlington

Themes and Goals Objective

Theme
Supporting growth and
economic vitality

Goal
1) To support jobs and housing
growth and economic vitality

1.1 Maintain and improve transport connections to support
economic growth and vitality across the county

1.2 Make most effective use of all available transport capacity
through innovative management of the network

1.3 Increase journey time reliability and minimise end-to-end
public transport journey times on main routes

1.4
Develop a high-quality, innovative and resilient integrated
transport system that is attractive to customers and
generates inward investment

Theme
Reducing emissions

Goal
2) To support the transition to a
low carbon future

2.1 Minimise the need to travel

2.2
Reduce the proportion of journeys made by private car by
making the use of public transport, walking and cycling
more attractive

2.3
Influence the location and layout of development to
maximise the use and value of existing and planned
sustainable transport investment

70 Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal (2018, https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/oxfordshire-housing-deal)
71 https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/roads-and-transport/connecting-oxfordshire/policy-and-overall-strategy

Page 615



Watlington
Option Assessment Report  

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
33

Themes and Goals Objective

2.4 Reduce per capita carbon emissions from transport in 
Oxfordshire in line with UK Government targets

Theme
Improving quality of life

Goal
3) To support social inclusion 
and equality of opportunity 
To protect and where possible 
enhance Oxfordshire’s 
environment and improve quality 
of health 
To improve public health, safety 
and individual wellbeing

3.1
Mitigate and wherever possible enhance the impacts of 
transport on the local built, historic and natural 
environment

3.2
Improve public health and wellbeing by increasing levels of 
walking and cycling, reducing transport emissions, 
reducing casualties and enabling inclusive access to jobs, 
education, training and services

Local Policies
3.4.1 The Watlington Neighbourhood Development Plan 2017-20332 (WNDP) sets out 

planned growth for the area and demonstrates local policies in line with European 
requirements, national planning policy and guidance and district strategic planning 
policies. Policies set out by the WNDP are as follows: 

 P1: Protect and enhance the character of Watlington and the historic setting of 
the town

 P2: Transport

 P3: Conserve and enhance the natural environment 

 P4: Green spaces

 P5: New housing development 

 P6: Enhance Watlington as a service centre

 P7: Employment 

 P8: Physical and social infrastructure 

3.4.2 Development proposals will be required to take into consideration some of these 
policies in particular:

 Policy P1. Protect and enhance the character of Watlington and the historic 
setting of the town – This policy is applicable to all types of development and 
seeks to protect the character of the town and special quality of the surrounding 
landscape.

 Policy P2. Transport – One clause within this policy requires development 
proposals on allocated sites to the north and west of Watlington to provide land 
to safeguard a route for a re-aligned B4009 and in accordance with an indicative 
route set out in the WNDP.

 Policy P3. Conserve and enhance the natural environment – This policy sets out 
several criteria for new developments to comply with, which include: protecting 
views to and from the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB); 
protecting ponds, streams, springs and groundwater sources; assessing flood 
risk; achieving a biodiversity net gain and limiting the impact of light pollution.

Page 616



Watlington
Option Assessment Report  

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
34

 Policy P8. Physical and social infrastructure – This policy seeks to enhance 
Watlington’s role as a service centre setting out support for development 
proposals which include (among others): transport connectivity and improved 
links and safety for non-motorised users.

3.4.3 Pyrton Neighbourhood Plan3 was published in 2019, with the purpose to express 
the wishes of Pyrton’s parishioners in relation to development and use of land. Future 
development proposals will be required to consider the following policies:

 Policy BNE1: Historic environment – This policy seeks to conserve and enhance 
the historic significance and importance of existing heritage assets. 

 Policy BNE2: Landscape character – Covering development proposals that could 
have an impact on the adjacent AONB, this policy seeks to protect and enhance 
the parish’s distinctive landscape character. 

 Policy BNE4: Local Gap – The Land off Pyrton Lane (PYR2) is outlined as a ‘local 
gap’, and its development needs to ensure that the open character of the local 
gap is retained and provides a strong edge to Watlington settlement.

 Policy BNE6: Footpaths and bridleways – This policy sets out that new 
development should respect and conserve the parish’s footpaths and bridleways. 
A footpath (reference: 325/6/10) runs along the edge of PYR2 and the parish 
boundary.

 Policy D1: Detailed design criteria – The purpose of this policy is to ensure high 
design standards for any development relating to the parish, its boundaries and 
surrounding area. Amongst several design criteria, the one of highest relevance 
to this report is the consideration of dark night skies, as the policy requires for all 
new roads not to feature street lighting.

 Policy SA1: Former MoD site (PYR1) - The policy concerns the redevelopment 
of the former MoD site (PYR1), for affordable residential development, along with 
associated landscape and infrastructure works.

Transport Policy Objectives
3.5.1 Table 3.2 sets out the objectives of the proposed scheme based on the traffic-related 

challenges analysed in section 2, and demonstrates their alignment with national, 
regional and local policies and objectives.

Table 3.2 Watlington infrastructure scheme objectives to national, regional & local policies

Scheme objective Aligned Documents Policies/objectives

Facilitate local 
housing growth 
across an expanded 
Watlington

Housing White Paper All four key proposals 
DfT Transport Investment 
Strategy  

Main objectives 4: Supporting the 
creating of new housing

South Oxfordshire District 
Local Plan 2034 Objective 2

OxLEP’s Strategic Economic 
Plan Key action area- Place

Oxfordshire Housing and 
Growth Deal

Delivering Oxfordshire’s housing 
growth deal commitments 

Watlington Neighbourhood 
Development Plan 2017-2033 P5: new housing development 

Industrial Strategy Foundation of productivity: 
Infrastructure 

Page 617



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
35

Scheme objective Aligned Documents Policies/objectives

Manage traffic growth
across an expanded
Watlington

DfT’s Transport Investment
Strategy

Main objective 1: create a more
reliable, less congested, and better
connected transport network

South Oxfordshire District
Local Plan 2034 Objective 4: Infrastructure

OxLEP’s Strategic Economic
Plan Key action area- Place

Watlington Neighbourhood
Development Plan 2017-2033 P2: Transport

Facilitate active
travel within and
around Watlington

Connecting Oxfordshire Local
Transport Plan 4 Objectives 3.2

South Oxfordshire District
Local Plan 2034 Objective 4.2

Watlington Neighbourhood
Development Plan 2017-2033 P8: physical and social infrastructure

Page 618



Watlington
Option Assessment Report  

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
36

4. Option Generation
Introduction

4.1.1 This section discusses the development of an initial long list of broad transport 
options that could (to varying degrees) address the scheme objectives as these were 
set out in paragraph 2.4.60.

4.1.2 The options considered in this sifting exercise have been derived based on the 
following:

 Proposed housing developments and the need to provide access to them

 Assessment of current and forecast travel patterns, development objectives, 
growth, and identified challenges. 

 Previous and current proposals from the relevant local authorities and 
stakeholders. 

 Professional judgement based on experience within Oxfordshire and other 
similar Local Authorities.

 Discussions with OCC, developers, relevant local parish members and 
stakeholders.

4.1.3 The options considered at this initial stage are high level concepts and not 
substantiated with any in-depth assessment of feasibility, design or cost. The purpose 
however is to identify and dismiss options which are considered less realistic, not well 
aligned to the scheme objectives and/or out of proportion to the problems that need 
to be addressed. It is important at this stage to consider a wide range of transport 
modes as opposed to focusing too soon on one particular mode of transport. 

4.1.4 Seven options were considered at this stage, as summarised in the following 
paragraphs. 

Option A – Heavy Rail Link
4.2.1 Option A would comprise a new railway line, potentially taking the alignment of the 

former Watlington and Princes Risborough Railway, with an intermediate station at 
Chinnor (and therefore using the route of the existing heritage railway), or a new 
alignment to the nearest larger settlement on the existing national rail network such 
as Didcot via Wallingford. The railway would be considered a rural branch line, 
probably comprising a single track with potentially passing loops for train services 
heading in opposite directions. It may not need to be electrified considering the 
Chiltern Main Line is not itself electrified, and therefore would be operated by diesel 
trains. A station would be required on the outskirts of Watlington.  

Option B – Light Rail Link
4.3.1 Option B would comprise a new light rail system linking Watlington to the nearest 

larger settlement and service centre, e.g. Princes Risborough, Wallingford and/or 
Thame. This could replace the existing heritage line towards Princes Risborough or 
adopt a new route. Whilst Light Rail Systems can route into urban areas (with 
examples in major cities such as Manchester, Birmingham and Sheffield) the 
constrained nature of roads within Watlington would not be conducive to a light rail or 
tram system operating on road. The system would therefore bypass the town with a 
new interchange on the outskirts of Watlington. Light right has an advantage over 

Page 619



Watlington
Option Assessment Report  

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
37

heavy rail as it can navigate tighter alignments so it could potentially route closer to 
the edge of Watlington.  

Option C – Enhanced Bus Link or Network
4.4.1 Option C would comprise a single route, or system, of enhanced bus services linking 

Watlington to at least one larger settlement or multiple destinations, including 
Wallingford, Didcot, Princes Risborough, Thame and/or Oxford. It could be formed of 
a rapid transit system, potentially on a dedicated highway with bus priority, where 
buses meet general traffic. Alternatively, it could be formed of an on-demand, flexible, 
demand-responsive transit service. 

Option D – Road Link – higher speed bypass
4.5.1 Option D would comprise a new road designed to Design Manual for Roads and 

Bridges (DMRB) standards, with a higher speed limit of around 40-60mph, consisting 
of a single carriageway with limited junctions along its length to improve flow and 
maintain vehicle speeds, as well as limited or no provision for pedestrians or cyclists. 
The road would function more as a bypass around Watlington. 

Option E – Road Link – lower speed distributor/edge 
road

4.6.1 Option E would comprise a new road designed to DfT’s Manual for Streets 72 
standards, e.g. lower speed (circa maximum 30mph speed limit), single carriageway 
with intermediate junctions along its length and high quality provision for pedestrians 
and cyclists, including crossing points and footways or shared use footways/cycle 
routes alongside it. The road would be more considerate and connected to its 
surroundings. 

Option F – ‘Do nothing’
4.7.1 Option F would comprise no additional improvements aside from providing the means 

of access to each development site onto the existing road network. 

Option G – ‘Do Minimum’ Highway Improvements
4.8.1 Option G would comprise minimal improvements to facilitate movements through 

Watlington, including localised improvements to footways, additional crossings, 
potentially some other local highway enhancements, and some limited additional bus 
services. 

72 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/manual-for-streets
Page 620



Watlington
Option Assessment Report  

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
38

5. Option Sifting
Introduction

5.1.1 This section discusses the assessment framework which has been developed to 
assess and sift the options based on a range of objectives, the value for money, as 
well as the wider impacts and risks.

5.1.2 The assessment framework has been developed based on a review of the Transport 
Appraisal Guidance from DfT, including TAG – The Transport Appraisal Process (DfT, 
2014) and Early Assessment Sifting Tool (EAST) guidance (DfT, 2017).

Methodology
5.2.1 The scheme specific assessment framework is formed of two sifting stages, with the 

first stage entailing three sub level sifts. The two stages are described in Table 5.1. 

Table 5.1. Sifting Stages

Sifting Stage Sift Method

Stage 1 – High 
Level Sift

1. High Level Sift Part 1 is to assess an initial long list of broad multi-
modal options against high level scheme objectives in addition to 
affordability, feasibility and acceptability criteria.

2. High Level Sift Part 2 is to represent a more detailed subset of the 
selected options from High Level Sift Part 1, and to assess them 
against high level scheme objectives in addition to affordability, 
feasibility and acceptability criteria.

3. High Level Sift Part 3 is to represent an even more detailed subset of 
the selected options from High Level Sift Part 2 and to assess them 
against affordability, feasibility and acceptability criteria.

Stage 2 – 
Detailed Sift

More detailed analysis and sift against HM Treasury five business case 
categories: strategic, economic, financial, management and commercial 
cases (using the DfT EAST tool) to get the most suitable Short List of 
options.

Stage 1 – High Level Sift
5.2.2 This stage of sifting entails scoring the initial long list of options introduced in the 

previous section against scheme objectives and additional criteria, and removing 
scheme options which are considered to have significant issues and therefore would 
not be appropriate to take forward. These initial issues can include potential lack of 
affordability (i.e. the scheme option could be very expensive and not proportionate to 
the problems being addressed), poor or uncertain feasibility (i.e. the scheme option 
is potentially highly complex to deliver, will carry significant risks and may not be 
deliverable) and low level of acceptability (i.e. the scheme option may not be 
considered acceptable to local communities and key stakeholders). 

5.2.3 The options are scored on a scale of -2 to +2, as seen in Table 5.2 against each 
criteria, with a negative score representing a poorer level of performance compared 
to a positive score. An overall score is then calculated from the individual criteria 
scores for each option. No weighting has been applied to the various scoring criteria 
across all High Level Sift Stage 1 Parts 1-3. 

Page 621



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
39

5.2.4 It is important at the outset to consider a more diverse range of modal options; 
therefore Part 1 covers public transport and highways options, as well as options to
apply no intervention (do nothing) or to do very little to solve the problem (do
minimum).

5.2.5 Where a scheme option achieves a negative or zero overall score, that option does
not progress to the next sift because it suggests it would perform poorly against the
objectives. Only options with an overall score above zero are considered in
consecutive sifting steps.

Table 5.2. High Level Sift Scoring System

Scoring System

+2 Very high/Very good

+1 High/Good

0 Moderate/Negligible

-1 Low/Poor

-2 Very low/Very poor

High Level Sift Part 1
5.2.6 The scheme options considered in Part 1 of the High Level Sift, as discussed earlier,

are shown in Table 5.3 (not expressed in any order of priority).

Table 5.3. High level Sift Part 1 Options

Option Description

(Option A) Heavy Rail
Link

A new railway, potentially taking the alignment of the former Watlington
and Princes Risborough Railway, with an intermediate station at
Chinnor, or a new alignment to the nearest larger settlement on the
existing national rail network such as Didcot.

(Option B) Light Rail Link A new light rail system linking Watlington to the nearest larger
settlement and service centre, e.g. Princes Risborough, Wallingford
and/or Thame.

(Option C) Enhanced Bus
Link or Network

A single route or system of enhanced bus services linking Watlington to
at least one larger settlement or multiple destinations including
Wallingford, Didcot, Princes Risborough, Thames and/or Oxford.

(Option D) New Road –
higher speed bypass

A new road designed to DMRB standards, e.g. 40-60mph speed limit,
single carriageway with limited junctions along its length to improve flow
and maintain vehicle speeds, limited or no non-motorised user (NMU)
provision.

(Option E) New Road –
lower speed relief/edge
road

A new road designed to Manual for Streets standards, e.g. 30mph or
less speed limit, single lane carriageway with potential interim junctions
along its length and high quality NMU provision including crossing
points and footways or shared us footways/cycle routes alongside it.

(Option F) Do Nothing No improvements (planned development load onto existing roads but
no wider improvements).

(Option G) Do Minimum Minimal improvements to facilitate movements through Watlington
including localised improvements to footways, removal/reallocation of
parking, additional crossings and some limited bus service
enhancements (e.g. increased frequency during peak hours).

5.2.7 Considering the challenges, the selected option would need to fulfil (paragraph
2.4.60), the seven scheme options were assessed as follows:

Page 622



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
40

 Option A - Heavy Rail Link is not deemed to be proportionate to the level of
housing growth in Watlington. Whilst it may encourage more sustainable travel,
it would be an extremely expensive and inflexible option and is, therefore, not
recommended to progress to High Level Sift Part 2.

 Option B – Light Rail Link is also not recommended to progress to High Level
Sift Part 2. Similar to Option A, this option is deemed disproportionate to the
growth projected for Watlington, is unlikely to be affordable or cater for all
generated journeys.

 Option C - Enhanced Bus Link or Network is considered proportionate to the
level of housing growth in Watlington, and could potentially be an affordable
option, although creating a flexible service will increase costs. Services operating
on dedicated routes will be less feasible and likely to require land acquisition and
additional mitigation. It is uncertain that such infrastructure would be warranted
and is, therefore, not recommended to progress to High Level Sift Part 2.

 Option D – New Road – higher speed bypass is not considered proportionate
to the level of housing growth in Watlington. It is expensive and there may not be
sufficient space to accommodate for a straight alignment to achieve higher traffic
speeds. The option could decrease severance through the Watlington centre
while it might increase severance for pedestrians, cyclists and equestrians
around the bypass. The option does not encourage sustainable travel and could
lead to air quality and noise issues. It is, therefore, not recommended to progress
to High Level Sift Part 2.

 Option E – New Road – lower speed relief/edge road is considered
proportionate to the level of housing growth in Watlington. The option would be
expensive, but the alignment near the planned development sites could secure
funding through developer contributions. It would enhance local connections and
while it is likely to encourage car travel, the infrastructure provisions for
pedestrians, cyclists and equestrians, such as crossings and cycling routes,
cater for all road users and would reduce severance. It is, therefore,
recommended this option progresses to High Level Sift Part 2.

 Option F – Do Nothing not only would worsen traffic management across
Watlington, it would not promote active travel. It does not facilitate the planned
housing developments in Watlington. It would be an affordable option as no
infrastructure would need to be built, however current congestion and air quality
conditions will worsen. It is, therefore, not recommended to progress to High
Level Sift Part 2.

 Option G - Do Minimum does not fully facilitate the planned housing
developments in Watlington. It is an affordable option as minimal construction or
land purchase is needed, however, it would not have a significant impact in
mitigating congestion and air quality challenges. It is, therefore, not
recommended to progress to High Level Sift Part 2.

5.2.8 Based on the above, the highest scoring option from Part 1 of the High Level Sift was
Option E ‘New Road – lower speed distributor/edge road’. This option scored highly
against the assessed criteria, some of the key reasons being:

 The road would facilitate the traffic from planned housing growth;

 It would enhance local connections due to junctions being situated along the
length of the road;

 It would facilitate active travel with Non-Motorised User (NMU) provisions being
included;

Page 623



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
41

 It would facilitate a lower speed traffic environment with an emphasis on
accessibility and road safety;

 Due to facilitating key housing growth areas, developer contribution could cover
some of the costs; and

 Land planned for development could be used to facilitate the road.

5.2.9 It is important to note that local people in Watlington had expressed the need for a
relief road at a public consultation, hence public acceptability was highlighted at a
consultation held by Watlington Parish Council (published in the Watlington
Neighbourhood Development Plan73).

5.2.10 Furthermore, according to the Watlington Parking Study7, a modelling scenario
considering 2033 and Chalgrove Airfield development traffic flows, indicates that the
provision of an Edge Road will positively benefit the area with fewer junction delays,
shorter traffic queues and improved journey times compared to the 2016 traffic
conditions.  It is also suggested that the Edge Road would provide significant traffic
congestion and air quality benefits.

5.2.11 On the basis of the assessment in High Level Sift Part 1, Option E was then taken
forward to Part 2 of the High Level Sift. No other option scored greater than zero and
were therefore not taken forward to the Part 2 High level sift.

5.2.12 A detailed analysis and score of each option is provided in Appendix A.

High Level Sift Part 2 – Corridor Options
5.2.13 For Part 2 High Level Sift, Option E was broken down into three different potential

corridor options, in order for a route to be assessed in more detail, as shown in the
table below.

Table 5.4. High Level Sift Part 2 Options

Option Description

(Option E1) New Road -
lower speed
distributor/edge road -
full ring around
Watlington:

A new road designed to Manual for Streets standards, e.g. 30mph or
less speed limit, single carriageway with potential interim junctions
along its length and NMU provision including crossing points and
footways or shared us footways/cycle routes alongside it, linking all of
the radial roads leading into Watlington.

(Option E2) New Road -
lower speed
distributor/edge road –
west/north of Watlington

A new road designed to Manual for Streets standards, e.g. 30mph or
less speed limit, single carriageway with potential interim junctions
along its length and NMU provision including crossing points and
footways or shared us footways/cycle routes alongside it, linking the
B4009 Britwell Road, B480 Cuxham Road and B4009 Shirburn Road

(Option E3) New Road -
lower speed
distributor/edge road –
east/south of Watlington

A new road designed to Manual for Streets standards, e.g. 30mph or
less speed limit, single carriageway with potential interim junctions
along its length and NMU provision including crossing points and
footways or shared us footways/cycle routes alongside it, linking the
B4009 Britwell Road, B480 Howe Road, Hill Road and B4009 Shirburn
Road

5.2.14 Options E1, E2 and E3 were compared against the same criteria as High Level Sift
Part 1, using the same scoring system (Table 5.2). The intention of using the same

73 https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/10/WNDP1-Watlington-Neighbourhood-Development-Plan-
MADE-VERSION.pdf

Page 624



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
42

criteria was to interrogate permutations of Option E (from part 1) in more detail and
identify the key differences between alignment options.

5.2.15 Overall, the highest scoring option from this stage of the sift was Option E2. The key
reasons for this option scoring highly in High Level Sift Part 2 are:

 The alignment of the road in the west/north would mean it would directly serve
the planned development sites in Watlington;

 This route would link together the B4009 north and south with the B480;

 The B4009 and B480 (Cuxham Road) are the more popular routes into/out of
and through Watlington;

 As the road would likely take traffic away from the centre of Watlington this could
encourage active travel within the town centre as it could create a quieter and
more pleasant environment to walk and cycle;

 Situated in the west/north would mean the road will likely travel through or very
near planned development sites, making developer contributions (financial and
land availability) possible (presenting an opportunity);

 In engineering terms, it is a more feasible option due to available land and
development sites which could accommodate the road;

 Due to addressing current issues in Watlington such as congestion in the town
centre and AQMA, it is likely to be more acceptable than the other options; and 

 Watlington local community had expressed their preference in Watlington
expanding in the west rather than east of the parish74.

5.2.16 A detailed analysis and score of each option is provided in Appendix B.

High level Sift Part 3 – Route sections (Long List)
5.2.17 As far as being situated to the west of Watlington, option E2 is expressed as a broad

corridor and is therefore not considered in sufficient detail in terms of road alignment.
At Part 3 of the High Level Sift, Option E2 is split down further into more detailed sub
options which include the more precise route of the different sections of the edge road
as it traverses the various development sites allocated around Watlington (introduced
in Section 2 of the report).

5.2.18 These sections are based upon the development sites defined around the west and
north of Watlington of which the edge road will run through – Sites A, B, C (as defined
in the Watlington Neighbourhood Plan) and PYR1 and 2 (within the neighbouring
parish of Pyrton).

5.2.19 Options have been defined through each development site and divided into route
sections which align with the development sites. The options have been developed
in recognition of an overall route alignment to ensure the sections could link together,
although not all options across the various sites are compatible with each other in
terms of alignment.

5.2.20 The sub options derived from option E2 in Part 2 can be seen in Table 5.5, with a
diagram of the section option alignments provided in Figure 5.1.

74 https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/10/WNDP1-Watlington-Neighbourhood-Development-Plan-
MADE-VERSION.pdf

Page 625



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
43

Table 5.5. Suboptions of Option E2 New Road considered in High Level Sift Part 3
Sub-
option

Route
Section

Section
Option

E2.1 A A1 B4009 Britwell Road (priority give way junction - Junction 1)
through Site A on most northerly alignment to B480 Cuxham Road
(new roundabout - Junction 2)

E2.2 A A2&4 B4009 Britwell Road (priority give way junction - Junction 1)
through the southern part of Site A and Watlington Industrial
Estate access road to B480 Cuxham Road (upgraded roundabout
at Willow Close - Junction 2)

E2.3 A A3 B4009 Britwell Road (priority give way junction - Junction 1)
through Site A, taking a more northerly alignment before routing
southwards to meet an upgraded roundabout at Cuxham
Road/Willow Close - Junction 2)

E2.4 A A5 B4009 Britwell Road (priority give way junction - Junction 1)
through Site A on a northerly alignment to B480 Cuxham Road
(new roundabout - Junction 2)

E2.5 B B1 Linking Cuxham Road (at a new roundabout junction - Junction 2)
through Site B on a northerly alignment

E2.6 B B2 Linking Cuxham Road (at an existing, upgraded roundabout with
Willow Close), taking the alignment of Willow Close, through Site
B on a southerly alignment

E2.7 B B3 Linking Cuxham Road (at an existing, upgraded roundabout with
Willow Close) then through Site B on a more central alignment

E2.8 B B4 Taking the alignment of Cuxham Road between the existing
roundabout junction with Willow Close/Watlington Industrial Estate
access to a new roundabout (Junction 2) NOTE - B4 would need
to be combined with either B1 or B5 options)

E2.9 B B5 Linking Cuxham Road (at a new roundabout junction - Junction 2)
through Site B on a more central alignment

E2.10 C C1 Through Site C on a more central alignment, taking a short section
of the existing alignment of Pyrton Lane to the north of Icknield
Community College

E2.11 C C2 Through Site C on a more northerly alignment, crossing the
existing Pyrton Lane at the northern most corner of the Icknield
Community College site

E2.12 C C3 Through Site C on a more southerly alignment, taking a longer
section of the existing alignment of Pyrton Lane to the north of
Icknield Community College

E2.13 P P1 Taking the existing alignment of Pyrton Lane and Station Road to
a new roundabout (Junction 3) on the B4009 Shirburn Road at the
current location of the crossroads. An upgraded junction between
Pyrton Lane and Station Road also likely as will widening along
the length of both roads to facilitate two-way traffic and footway
and cycleway provision

E2.14 P P2 A new alignment across PYR2 site to a new roundabout (Junction
3) on the B4009 Shirburn Road at the current location of the
crossroads.

E2.15 P P3 A new alignment across PYR2 site to a new roundabout (Junction
3) on the B4009 Shirburn Road, taking an alignment through the
southern side of PYR1 site

E2.16 P P4 A new alignment across PYR2 site to a new roundabout (Junction
3) on the B4009 Shirburn Road, taking an alignment through the
northern side of the Watlington Recreation Ground

E2.17 P P5 A new alignment across PYR2 site to a new roundabout (Junction
3) on the B4009 Shirburn Road, taking an alignment through the
southern edge of PYR1

E2.18 P P6 A new alignment across PYR2 site to a new roundabout (Junction
3) on the B4009 Shirburn Road at the current location of the
crossroads

Page 626



Watlington
Option Assessment Report  

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
44

Sub-
option

Route
Section

Section
Option

E2.19 C-P P7 A new alignment around settlement edge of Watlington and along 
the southern edge of PYR1 to a new roundabout (Junction 3) on 
the B4009 Shirburn Road

E2.20 C-P P8 A new alignment around settlement edge of Watlington and across 
the Watlington Recreation Ground (adjacent to Watlington Pavilion

Figure 5.1. Alignment representation of Option E2 suboptions 

5.2.21 As part of High Level Sift Part 3, suboptions of Option E2, as seen in Table 5.5, are 
compared only against affordability, feasibility and acceptability. The purpose of 
excluding objectives from this sift is that the options at Part 2 were considered 
sufficiently refined to assess against objectives and differentiate between options.

5.2.22 As with Parts 1 and 2, an option which achieves a negative or zero overall score in 
High Level Sifting Part 3 is not taken forward to Stage 2 Detailed Sift.    

5.2.23 From this sift, several of the highest scoring options were taken forward. The highest 
scoring individual route options through sites A, B, C and P (PYR) were then matched 
up with a compatible option across sections A-B and C-P. The purpose of pairing 
sections occurs in recognition of the strong synergies between sections A and B, and 
between sections C and P. 

5.2.24 Overall, the highest scoring options from this stage of the sift were: 

 Route Section A -
o A1, A2&4, A5 

Page 627



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
45

 Route Section B -
o B1, B3, B4 and B5

 Route Section C -
o C1 and C2

 Route Section P -
o P1, P2, P6 and P7

5.2.25 In summary, whilst issues were flagged for all of the selected options against at least
one of the criteria, in overall terms they were all found to have the potential for more
favourable outcomes, and suitable for more detailed assessment. These options
scored higher against the assessed criteria, as they could be more affordable,
feasible and acceptable to varying degrees compared to the other options.

5.2.26 Options A3, B2, P3-5 and P8 were sifted out because of concerns around potential
feasibility (including land availability) and acceptability from stakeholders and local
community groups. It is worth noting that, in the case the above constraints are
overcome, these options could be considered at a later stage.

5.2.27 As noted earlier, not all options are geometrically compatible, therefore an additional
check before progressing options to Stage 2 Detailed Sift, was to ensure that each
selected option from High Level Sift Part 3 was compatible with at least one other
option within the A-B and C-P combined sections.

5.2.28 A detailed analysis and score of each option is provided in Appendix C.

Stage 2 - Detailed Sift
5.2.29 The final list of options taken forward to Stage 2 Detailed Sift are presented in Table

5.6. Full details of each sift/scoring in the initial level sift can be seen in Appendix E.

Table 5.6. Options taken forward to detailed sift
Sections Matched

options
Description

A-B A1-B1- B4009 Britwell Road (priority give way junction - Junction 1) through Site A
on most northerly alignment to B480 Cuxham Road (new roundabout -
Junction 2) and through Site B on a northerly alignment

A-B A5-B5- B4009 Britwell Road (priority give way junction - Junction 1) through Site A
on more northerly alignment to B480 Cuxham Road (new roundabout -
Junction 2) and through Site B on a more central alignment

A-B A2&4-B4- B4009 Britwell Road (priority give way junction - Junction 1) through
southern part of Site A and Watlington Industrial Estate access road to B480
Cuxham Road (existing roundabout at Willow Close) then using an existing
upgraded section of the B480 Cuxham Road to a new roundabout (Junction
2) and into Site B via options B1 or B5

A-B A2&4-B3- B4009 Britwell Road (priority give way junction - Junction 1) through
southern part of Site A and Watlington Industrial Estate access road to B480
Cuxham Road (upgraded roundabout at Willow Close - Junction 2) then into
Site B on a more central alignment

C-P -C1-P1 Through Site C on a more central alignment, taking part of the existing
alignment of Pyrton Lane to the north of Icknield Community College and
then taking the alignment of Pyrton Lane and Station Road to a new
roundabout (Junction 3) on the B4009 Shirburn Road at the current location
of the crossroads.

C-P -C1-P2 Through Site C on a more central alignment, taking part of the existing
alignment of Pyrton Lane to the north of Icknield Community College and
then taking a new alignment across PYR2 site to a new roundabout
(Junction 3) on the B4009 Shirburn Road at the current location of the
crossroads.

Page 628



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
46

5.2.30 At this point, the refined list of route section options (which have been paired within
sections A-B and C-P) have been determined as a result of Stage 1 Parts 1-3 of the
High Level Sift. Therefore, the list of route section options only consists of the most
appropriate, detailed and potentially feasible options, although strengths and
weaknesses are expected to be included in all options.

5.2.31 The purpose of the Stage 2 Detailed Sift is to compare and shortlist options against
criteria set out in the HM Treasury’s Five Case Model, as part of the strategic,
economic, financial, management and commercial cases.

5.2.32 The Five Case Model is the required framework for considering the use of public
resources, proportionally to the costs and risks involved whilst taking account of the
context in which a decision is to be made (HM Treasury Green Book, 2020).

5.2.33 The DfT Early Assessment Sifting Tool (EAST) supports this process and identifies
broad criteria aligned with DfT’s Option Assessment Framework. It provides decision
makers with relevant, high level, information to help form an early view of how options
perform and compare.

5.2.34 The EAST tool is structured around the Five Case Model, with criteria and a scoring
system that enable the shortlisting of options as shown in Table 5.7. The colour index
used to present the scores in the table were identified for the purpose of this report.
They are consistently used from this point throughout the report and provide a visual
representation of problematic and acceptable criteria within options.

Table 5.7. Detailed Sift Criteria
Criteria Description Score

Strategic Case Fit with project objectives and wider transport and
government objectives

5: Fully addresses
the identified
problem /
Excellent fit

4: Significant
impact / Good fit

3: Moderate
Impact /
Reasonable fit

2: Minor Impact/
Low fit

1: Very small
overall Impact /
Poor fit

Economic Case
The scale of benefits arising from the improved
transport network in terms of connectivity,
reliability, resilience, housing, wider economic
impacts, environmental and social impacts.

Financial Case Assessment of infrastructure capital costs,
operating and maintenance costs

Management Case Assessment of option feasibility and stakeholder
and public accessibility

Commercial Case Flexibility of an option, funding and income
potential

C-P -C2-P6 Through Site C on a more northerly alignment, crossing the existing Pyrton
Lane at the northern most corner of the Icknield Community College site
and then taking a new alignment across PYR2 site to a new roundabout
(Junction 3) on the B4009 Shirburn Road at the current location of the
crossroads.

C-P -C2-P7 Through Site C on a more northerly alignment, crossing the existing Pyrton
Lane at the northern most corner of the Icknield Community College site
and then taking a new alignment across broadly around the edge of
Watlington and joining the B4009 Shirburn Road to the south of PYR1 and
north of the Watlington Recreation Ground at a new roundabout junction
(Junction 3)

Page 629



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
47

5.2.35 Within each of the detailed sift criteria described in Table 5.7, there are subcategories
that allow finer details for each option to be assessed. The majority of subcategories
are assigned a score between 1 and 5 (with a few exceptions), however, not all
subcategories are scored. At the end, an overall score is calculated which can be
used as a general guide for the potential performance of an option.

5.2.36 The EAST tool provides a plethora of subcategories to apply to a variety of schemes.
Nonetheless, some of these subcategories are either not relevant to the options
examined in this report (e.g. terrorism) or are including too much uncertainty and were
hence excluded from the sifting process. It is not atypical at this stage for less
information to be available, especially in relation to the Financial and Commercial
cases. The subcategories considered in the assessment of options during detailed
sift are shown in Table 5.8.

Table 5.8. Assessed Subcategories in Stage 2 Detailed Sift

Criteria Subcategories

Strategic Case

- Identified problems and objectives
- Scale of impact
- Fit with wider transport and government objectives
- Fit with other objectives
- Key uncertainties
- Degree of consensus over outcomes

Economic Case

- Economic growth
- Carbon emissions
- Socio-distributional impacts and the regions
- Local environment
- Well being
- Expected value for money

Management Case

- Implementation timetable
- Public acceptability
- Practical feasibility
- Quality of supporting evidence
- Key risks

Financial Case
- Affordability
- Capital costs
- Cost profile

Commercial Case - Flexibility of option
- Funding source

5.2.37 Once all options from Table 5.6 are scored, as per the detailed sift criteria discussed,
the highest scoring option for Sections A-B and C-P separately, would be the options
recommended for further development. Each matched A-B and C-P route section
option is discussed in the following paragraphs in relation to potential benefits, issues
and performance against the business case criteria.

5.2.38 With regard to the Financial Case in particular, it should be noted that the costings
provided for each option, and therefore their relating scores, refer to the construction
of alignment sections that OCC is responsible for. It is assumed that the developer
will cover the costs for the remaining alignment sections, and are therefore not
included in the cost estimates provided in the subsequent analysis.

5.2.39 Detailed scoring for each matched option against criteria subcategories is included in
Appendix D with separate tables for each of the five cases.

Page 630



Watlington
Option Assessment Report  

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
48

Matched option A1-B1
5.3.1 Option A1-B1 consists of the B4009 Britwell Road (priority give way - Junction 1) 

through Site A on most northerly alignment to B480 Cuxham Road (new roundabout 
- Junction 2) and through Site B on a northerly alignment.

Table 5.9. Potential benefits and issues of Option A1-B1

Potential Benefits Potential Issues Business case criteria 

 Would unlock development 
sites

 Situated farthest away from 
the edge of the town, 
minimising disruption to the 
local community

 Reduce congestion and air 
quality in town centre

 Protect the character of the 
town

 Fits reasonably well with 
some local objectives

 A1 will provide access to an 
activity centre and to the 
existing residential area of 
Watlington. 

 B1 will provide access to the 
existing residential area of 
Watlington

 Traffic associated with Site A 
will not congest the existing 
roundabout on Cuxham 
Road

 Preferable option due to 
moving the main junction 
further away from the 
Watlington Conservation 
Area and the Church of St 
Leonard

 Requires crossing a 
substantial flood zone

 New link road likely to 
facilitate car traffic and 
therefore potentially an 
increase in emissions will 
occur. 

 Planning permission unlikely 
to be achieved without 
support from Environment 
Agency.

 Expensive as requires 
numerous structures 
(conveyance structures 
through flood plain for cross 
drainage, and single span 
structure across Charlgrove 
Brook).

Strategic: the option 
scores well against 
government and local 
objectives, with a medium 
degree of consensus.

Economic: the option 
highly supports economic 
growth and scores highly 
for socio-distributional 
impacts and wellbeing. 
However, carbon 
emissions have scored in 
the middle and local 
environment has scored 
low.

Managerial: the option 
scored in the middle for 
public acceptability and 
supporting evidence, 
however has scored low 
for practical feasibility.

Financial: the option 
scored lower against 
affordability compared to 
other options, with total 
estimated costs for 
construction considered to 
reach £3,949,100 for the 
OCC section(s).

Commercial: the option 
scored in the middle for 
flexibility.

Page 631



Watlington
Option Assessment Report  

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
49

Matched option A5-B5
5.4.1 Option A5-B5 consists of the B4009 Britwell Road (priority give way - Junction 1) 

through Site A on more northerly alignment to B480 Cuxham Road (new roundabout 
- Junction 2) and through Site B on a more central alignment.

Table 5.10. Potential benefits and issues of option A5-B5

Potential Benefits Potential Issues Business case summary

 Would unlock development 
sites 

 Less disruption to local 
community

 Reduce congestion and air 
quality in town centre

 Less impact to existing flood 
plain loss (reducing 
compensation required)  

 Protect character of the town
 Fits well with local objectives
 Highly supports economic 

growth areas
 Traffic associated with Site A 

will not congest the existing 
roundabout on Cuxham Road

 Preferable option due to 
moving the main junction 
further away from the 
Watlington Conservation Area 
and the Church of St Leonard

 New link road likely to 
facilitate car traffic and 
therefore potentially an 
increase in emissions will 
occur

 Planning permission unlikely 
to be achieved without 
support from Environment 
Agency.

 Expensive as requires 
numerous structures 
(conveyance structures 
through flood plain for cross 
drainage, and single span 
structure across Charlgrove 
Brook).

Strategic: the option 
scores highly against 
government objectives and 
well against local 
objectives, with a medium 
degree of consensus over 
outcomes.

Economic: the option 
highly supports economic 
growth and scores highly 
for socio distributional 
impacts, it has also scored 
well against wellbeing. 
However, carbon 
emissions have scored in 
the middle and local 
environment has scored 
low.

Managerial: the option has 
scored in the middle for 
public acceptability and 
quality of supporting 
evidence.

Financial: the option lower 
against affordability 
compared to other options, 
with total estimated costs 
for construction considered 
to reach £4,243,000 for the 
OCC section(s).

Commercial: the option 
has scored in the middle 
for flexibility.

Page 632



Watlington
Option Assessment Report  

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
50

Matched Option A2&4-B4
5.5.1 Option A2&4-B4 consist of B4009 Britwell Road (priority give way - Junction 1) 

through the southern part of Site A and Watlington Industrial Estate access road to 
B480 Cuxham Road (existing roundabout at Willow Close) then using an existing 
upgraded section of the B480 Cuxham Road to a new roundabout (Junction 2) and 
into Site B via options B1 or B5.

Table 5.11. Potential benefit and issues of option A2&4-B4

Potential Benefits Potential Issues Business case summary

 Unlock development sites 
 Reduce congestion and air 

quality in town centre
 Low risk of flooding 
 Protect character of the town
 Fits well with local objectives
 Highly supports economic 

growth areas

 New link road likely to 
facilitate car traffic and 
therefore potentially an 
increase in emissions will 
occur

 Route could increase journey 
time and reduce 
attractiveness

 Could be more disruptive to 
existing road users on 
Cuxham Road

 Potential congestion caused 
on Cuxham Road could affect 
air quality

 The route contains two 
roundabout junctions which 
are likely to increase carbon 
emissions with 
stopping/starting. Also, 
reduced route continuity 
which may reduce 
attractiveness over alternative 
routes, e.g. through 
Watlington 

 Adverse traffic noise impacts 
for residents on Willow Close 
and Beech Close

 Cuxham roundabout will 
require levels being raised 
due to flooding

 Possible impact on existing 
utilities.

Strategic: the option scores in 
the middle against government 
objectives and scoring well 
against local objectives, with a 
medium degree of consensus 
over outcomes.

Economic: the option highly 
supports economic growth and 
scores highly for socio 
distributional impacts, it also 
scores well against wellbeing. 
However, scores low on carbon 
emissions and scores in the 
middle for local environment.

Managerial: the option has 
scored in the middle for public 
acceptability and supporting 
evidence, however, has scored 
low for practical feasibility.

Financial: the option scored 
highly against affordability, with 
total estimated costs for 
construction considered to reach 
£2,838,900 for the OCC 
section(s).

Commercial: the option scored 
low on flexibility of option

Page 633



Watlington
Option Assessment Report  

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
51

Matched option A2&4-B3
5.6.1 Option A2&4-B3 consists of B4009 Britwell Road (priority give way - Junction 1) 

through the southern part of Site A and Watlington Industrial Estate access road to 
B480 Cuxham Road (upgraded roundabout at Willow Close - Junction 2) then into 
Site B on a more central alignment.

Table 5.12. Potential benefits and issues of option A2&4-B3

Potential Benefits Potential Issues Business case summary

 Unlock development sites 
 Reduce congestion and air 

quality in town centre
 Low risk of flooding 
 Protect character of the town
 Fits well with local objectives
 Highly supports economic 

growth 

 New link road likely to 
facilitate car traffic and 
therefore potentially an 
increase in emissions will 
occur.

 Option is close to Watlington 
Conservation area and 
Church of St Leonard.

 Could be more disruptive to 
existing road users on 
Cuxham Road.

 Potential congestion caused 
on Cuxham Road could affect 
air quality.

 The route contains two 
roundabout junctions which 
are likely to increase carbon 
emissions with 
stopping/starting.

 Adverse traffic noise impacts 
for residents on Willow Close 
and Beech Close.

 Cuxham roundabout will 
require levels being raised 
due to flooding

 Possible impact on existing 
utilities.

Strategic: the option scores well 
against government and local 
objectives, with a medium 
degree of consensus over 
outcomes.

Economic: the option highly 
supports economic growth and 
scores highly for socio 
distributional impacts, it also 
scores we against wellbeing. 
However, scores low on carbon 
emissions and scores in the 
middle for local environment.

Managerial: the option has 
scored low for public 
acceptability and also scored low 
for practical feasibility, however 
has scored in the middle for 
quality of supporting evidence.

Financial: the option scored 
highly against affordability, with 
total estimated costs for 
construction considered to reach 
£3,031,200 for the OCC 
section(s).

Commercial: the option has 
scored low for flexibility of option.

Page 634



Watlington
Option Assessment Report  

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
52

Matched option C1-P1
5.8.1 Option C1-P1 runs through Site C on a more central alignment, taking part of the 

existing alignment of Pyrton Lane to the north of Icknield Community College and 
then taking the alignment of Pyrton Lane and Station Road to a new roundabout 
(Junction 3) on the B4009 Shirburn Road at the current location of the crossroads.

Table 5.13. Potential benefits and issues of option C1-P1

Potential Benefits Potential Issues Business case summary

 Unlock development sites 
 Reduce congestion and 

air quality in town centre
 Furthest away from edge 

of town to less disruption 
to the local community

 Protects character of the 
town

 Meets some local 
objectives

 Supports economic 
growth

 P1 is aligned the farthest 
from Watlington and 
educational activity

 Not the most direct route 
and lacks continuity.

 Positioning of P1 means 
current road will need to 
be widened and hedges 
removed, impacting 
environment and ecology.

 Likely queueing along 
Pyrton Lane.

 New link road likely to 
facilitate car traffic and 
therefore potentially an 
increase in emissions will 
occur.

 The alignment of C1 is 
closer to Pyrton Lane and 
Station Road, therefore is 
likely to have slightly 
greater adverse effect on 
noise for residents of 
Pyrton.

 Opportunities to widen 
Station Road limited due to 
residential property.

 New junction required at 
the intersection of Pyrton 
Lane with Station Road, 
requiring additional 
landtake.

Strategic: the option has 
scored in the middle against 
both government and local 
objectives, with a medium 
degree over consensus over 
outcomes.

Economic: the option has 
scored well in supporting 
economic growth and has 
scored highly for socio 
distributional impacts. It has 
scored in the middle against 
local environment and 
wellbeing, however scored 
low for carbon emissions.

Managerial: the option has 
scored low for public 
acceptability, practical 
feasibility and quality of 
supporting evidence.

Financial:  the option scored 
lower against affordability 
compared to other options, 
with total estimated costs for 
construction considered to 
reach £4,440,000 for the OCC 
sections(s).

Commercial: the option has 
scored low for flexibility of 
option.

Page 635



Watlington
Option Assessment Report  

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
53

Matched option C1-P2
5.9.1 Option C1-P1 runs through Site C on a more central alignment, taking part of the 

existing alignment of Pyrton Lane to the north of Icknield Community College and 
then taking a new alignment across PYR2 site to a new roundabout (Junction 3) on 
the B4009 Shirburn Road at the current location of the crossroads.

Table 5.14. Potential benefits and issues of option C1-P2

Potential Benefits Potential Issues Business case summary

 Unlock development 
sites 

 Reduce congestion and 
air quality in town 
centre

 Furthest away from 
edge of town to less 
disruption to the local 
community

 Protects character of 
the town

 Higher degree of 
continuity 

 Fits some local 
objectives

 Supports economic 
growth

 Higher disruption for residents 
in Pyrton.

 Likely queueing along Station 
Road as it becomes a side-
road linking into the new 
alignment. Queueing likely to 
have greater effect on air 
quality.

 New link road likely to 
facilitate car traffic and 
therefore potentially an 
increase in emissions will 
occur.

Strategic: the option scores 
well against government 
objectives and had scored in 
the middle for local 
objectives with a medium 
degree of consensus over 
outcomes.

Economic: the option has 
scored well in supporting 
economic growth and has 
scored highly for socio 
distributional impacts. It has 
scored well for local 
environment but scored in 
the middle for carbon 
emissions and wellbeing.

Managerial: the option 
scored in the middle for 
public acceptability but 
scored low for practical 
feasibility and quality of 
supporting information.

Financial: the option scored 
lower against affordability 
compared to other options, 
with total estimated costs for 
construction considered to 
reach £2,770,300 for the 
OCC section(s).

Commercial: the option has 
scored in the middle for 
flexibility of option.

Page 636



Watlington
Option Assessment Report  

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
54

Matched option C2-P6
5.11.1 Option C2-P6 runs through Site C on a more northerly alignment, crossing the 

existing Pyrton Lane at the northern most corner of the Icknield Community College 
site and then taking a new alignment across PYR2 site to a new roundabout (Junction 
3) on the B4009 Shirburn Road at the current location of the crossroads.

Table 5.15. Potential benefits and issues of option C2-P6

Potential Benefits Potential Issues Business case summary

 Unlock development sites 
 Reduce congestion and 

air quality in town centre
 Furthest away from edge 

of town so less disruption 
to the local community in 
Watlington an Pyrton

 Protects character of the 
town

 Higher degree of 
continuity

 Fits with some local 
objectives

 Supports economic 
growth

 Opportunity for 
transference of land by 
the developers of PYR1 
to enable new 
roundabout junction.

 Likely queueing along 
Station Road as it becomes 
a side-road linking into the 
new alignment. Queueing 
likely to have greater effect 
on air quality

 New link road likely to 
facilitate car traffic and 
therefore potentially an 
increase in emissions will 
occur.

 P6 aligned closer to 
residential and educational 
activities.

Strategic: the option scores 
well against government 
objectives but scored in the 
middle against local objectives, 
with a medium degree of 
consensus over outcomes.

Economic: the option has 
scored well in supporting 
economic growth and local 
environment. It has scored 
very highly with socio 
distributional impacts. 
However had scored in the 
middle for carbon emissions 
and wellbeing.

Managerial: the option has 
scored well with public 
acceptability but has scored 
low for practical feasibility and 
the quality of supporting 
evidence.

Financial: the option scored 
highly against affordability, with 
total estimated costs for 
construction considered to 
reach £2,517,600 for the OCC 
section(s).

Commercial: the option has 
scored in the middle for 
flexibility of option.

Page 637



Watlington
Option Assessment Report  

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
55

Matched option C2-P7
5.13.1 Option C2-P7 runs through Site C on a more northerly alignment, crossing the 

existing Pyrton Lane at the northern most corner of the Icknield Community College 
site and then taking a new alignment across broadly around the edge of Watlington 
and joining the B4009 Shirburn Road to the south of PYR1 and north of the Watlington 
Recreation Ground at a new roundabout junction (Junction 3).

Table 5.16. Potential benefits and issues of option C2-P7

Potential Benefits Potential Issues Business case summary

 Unlock 
development 
sites 

 Reduce 
congestion and 
air quality in 
town centre

 Protects the 
character of the 
town

 Fits with some 
local objectives

 Likely to have 
slightly smaller 
effect on noise 
around Pyrton 
Lane

 New link road likely to facilitate car 
traffic and therefore potentially an 
increase in emissions will occur.

 Near school and recreational 
ground so likely to cause 
disruption and concerns for road 
safety.

 Likely queueing along Pyrton Lane 
and Station Road.

 More circuitous alignment may 
make the route less attractive and 
effective for its intended purpose.

 Closer to Watlington boundary 
with concerns over environmental 
impacts, including air quality, 
noise, light spill and loss of 
hedgerow.

 Queueing modelled on Station 
Road is likely to have greater 
effect on air quality.

 Aligned closest to the residential 
and educational activities.

 Constraints due to land access 
and ownership to the south of 
PYR1.

Strategic: the scored in the middle 
against government objectives and 
local objectives, with a medium 
degree of consensus over 
outcomes.

Economic: the option has scored 
well in supporting economic growth, 
and highly against socio 
distributional impacts. However, 
has scored in the middle for carbon 
emissions, local environment and 
wellbeing.

Managerial: the option scored in 
the middle for public acceptability 
but scored low for practical 
feasibility and quality of supporting 
evidence.

Financial: the option scored highly 
against affordability, with total 
estimated costs for construction 
considered to reach £2,477,600 for 
the OCC section(s).

Commercial: the option has 
scored low against flexibility.

Page 638



Watlington
Option Assessment Report  

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
56

Results: Short list of options
5.14.1 Following the analysis and score of each of the 8 route section options against all 

relevant criteria, the options can be ranked as follows in Table 5.17. It is important to 
repeat that ranking is based on a high-level score of the options. At this stage of 
developing scheme options, there remain many uncertainties that will not be entirely 
resolved until the schemes are developed in more detail. Taking this into account, it 
is not possible to fully differentiate between options against some of the criteria and 
therefore in some respects the scoring of options is closely matched. 

5.14.2 The option ranking and more detailed discussion with scores is contained in 
Appendix E and summarised in Appendix E.

Table 5.17. Indicative ranking of route section options

Rank Route Section A-B Score Route Section C-P Score

1st A1-B1  /  A2&4-B4 50 C2-P6 49

2nd A5-B5  /  A2&4-B3 49 C2-P7 47

3rd C1-P2 46

4th C1-P1 43

6. Conclusions and Next Steps
Summary

6.1.1 This OAR for Watlington has provided evidence to support the need for a potential 
new infrastructure scheme as a response to a number of transport-related challenges 
related to future housing growth and regional and local aspirations for the area.

6.1.2 A high level list of different modal options was considered at first, including Heavy 
Rail, Light Rail, Bus Network, New Road, as well as options to do nothing and to do 
a minimum set of improvements. Their best fit against the wider objectives and 
challenges in the area was assessed as part of Stage 1 – High Level Sift Part 1, and 
through a high level comparison, a new road of lower speed configuration which is 
integral to housing development (Option E) was selected.

6.1.3 Progressing to Stage 1 – High Level Sift Part 2, Option E was expanded out to a 
number of possible broad corridor options that could potentially accommodate the 
new road link. The results of this process showcased that a road corridor to the west 
and north of Watlington seemed the most appropriate. 

6.1.4 Progressing to Stage 1 – High Level Sift Part 3, corridor options in Part 2 were divided 
into more detailed route sections with sub-option alignments defined through each 
development site to the west and north of Watlington. 

6.1.5 Each option was outlined, and potential benefits and issues were identified. Some 
options were discounted due to them being unfeasible. The remaining options were 
analysed and compared further, using the DfT EAST tool. Criteria and subcategories 
of criteria relating to the five case business model as defined by HM Treasury 
(strategic, economic, financial, management and commercial) were scored resulting 
in a list of shortlisted options of possible alignment. 

Page 639



Watlington
Option Assessment Report  

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
57

6.1.6 The highest ranking option(s) (A1-B1 or A2&4-B4 within sites A and B and C2-P6 
within sites PYR1 and PYR2) scored highly on feasibility and public acceptability, 
comply with national, regional and local objectives and are considered to respond 
appropriately to current and future traffic-related challenges in Watlington.

6.1.7 With regard to affordability, the cost estimates for each option have been compared, 
and although the two options within sites A-B have obtained the highest score overall 
based on the Detailed Sift, it is important to note that option A1-B1 represents the 
second most expensive of all the A-B options. 

6.1.8 Analysis on affordability considered the cost of construction only for alignment 
sections that OCC is responsible for. The costs for the remaining alignment sections 
would be covered by the developer, and were therefore excluded from the cost 
estimates. It is worth noting that the affordability of a complete alignment should 
consider the combination of costs from the two parties, which could potentially alter 
the ranking of the examined options and result in a different preferred alignment.

Next Steps
6.2.1 In line with the TAG guidance on option appraisal, further assessment of the 

shortlisted options is required. The options will be assessed through modelling, using 
microsimulation and strategic transport modelling where appropriate. The method for 
assessing the schemes should be investigated as part of an Appraisal Specification 
Report as recommended by the DfT. The preferred scheme options will undergo a 
process of public consultation to seek local stakeholders and community views. The 
feedback from the public consultation exercise in conjunction with new transport 
modelling evidence will be used to inform the preliminary design of the scheme which 
will consider all aspects in more detail than have been considered to date. It is 
envisaged that in late 2021 a planning application will be submitted for the scheme, 
which will be supported by more detailed evidence. 

6.2.2 It is important to note that whilst the alignment options considered as part of the Stage 
2 Detailed Sift have been defined to a reasonable level of detail, they remain 
indicative having been based on an early assessment of engineering feasibility. The 
alignment(s) taken forward to public consultation and subsequently the preliminary 
design stage may therefore vary from the options considered in this OAR. It is not 
however expected that the alignments will significantly differ from those considered 
in this OAR, and therefore the report’s assessment and conclusions should remain 
relevant. 

Page 640



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
58

Appendix A : Stage 1 - High Level Sift: Part 1

Sift
ID Option Name

Option
Description

Objective 1 - Facilitate
local housing growth
around Watlington

Objective 2 - Manage
traffic growth across an
expanded Watlington

Objective 3 - Facilitate
active travel within and
around an expanded
Watlington Affordability Feasibility Acceptability

Total
Score Rank Summary

Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary

A Heavy Rail Link

A new railway,
potentially taking
the alignment of
the former
Watlington and
Princes
Risborough
Railway, with an
intermediate
station at
Chinnor, or a
new alignment to
the nearest
larger settlement
on the existing
national rail
network such as
Didcot 1

Heavy rail link
would help
facilitate
planned growth,
although it
could be
considered
disproportionate
to the level of
growth
proposed and
may still lead to
pressure placed
on local roads. -2

Heavy rail link may
influence some
traffic movements
through
Watlington,
however it is
unlikely to cater for
all journeys, taking
into consideration
the dispersed
pattern of trips
across a wide
catchment area
which roads
through Watlington
are assumed to
cater for. -2

Heavy rail link may
not facilitate active
travel, except for
accessing a
station. It may
cause severance
(cutting off existing
public rights of
way, diverting
roads) and
therefore create
longer routes for
pedestrians,
cyclists and
equestrians. -2

Heavy rail link would
be very expensive. It
may be feasible to
reopen an old rail
alignment between
Watlington and
Chinnor from which
point a railway line
exists towards Princes
Risborough but for
leisure/heritage use
only. Evidence does
not indicate that
Princes Risborough or
destination served
along the Chiltern
Main Line are a key
direction of travel for
Watlington residents
and would not
therefore generate
sufficient passenger
demand or revenue to
justify high
implementation and
maintenance costs. A
new rail alignment
could be more
expensive. -2

Heavy rail link may be
feasible to introduce
along the former railway
alignment between
Watlington and Chinnor.
New structures and some
land purchase would be
required along the closed
section. Disruption and
renewal costs would be
required to upgrade the
Chinnor and Princes
Risborough heritage
railway. A commercial
service may or may not
be able to operate
alongside heritage
services. Upgrades to
Chiltern Main Line
connection and Princes
Risborough Station would
be required. An
alternative new alignment
e.g. towards Didcot via
Wallingford and/or
Cholsey, potentially
taking a section of the
Wallingford-Cholsey
heritage line could also
be considered, but could
potentially be even more
challenging as it will
require more land
acquisition and new
structures. Whilst
Wallingford is identified
as a key origin/destination
for trips to/from
Watlington, onward
destinations served on
the Great Western Main
Line are not considered
major destinations with
the exception of Oxford. A
new station would most
likely be located some
distance outside of
Watlington. 0

Heavy rail link
would promote
more sustainable
journeys and may
be perceived as
more acceptable
than road-based
options but could
largely depend on
the composition of
service and
destinations
served. High cost,
disruption during
construction,
visual and noise
intrusion during
construction and
when operational
may make this
option less
acceptable. Its
potential minimal
impact on traffic
issues in
Watlington may
also increase the
perception the rail
link is not
effective. -7 6

In summary, this option
is not considered
proportionate to the level
of housing growth in
Watlington. Whilst it may
encourage more
sustainable travel, it
would be an extremely
expensive and inflexible
option. It is therefore not
recommended to take
this option forward to the
High Level Sift Part 2.

P
age 641



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
59

Sift
ID Option Name

Option
Description

Objective 1 - Facilitate
local housing growth
around Watlington

Objective 2 - Manage
traffic growth across an
expanded Watlington

Objective 3 - Facilitate
active travel within and
around an expanded
Watlington Affordability Feasibility Acceptability

Total
Score Rank Summary

Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary

B Light Rail Link

A new light rail
system linking
Watlington to the
nearest larger
settlement and
service centre,
e.g. Princes
Risborough,
Wallingford
and/or Thame 1

Light rail / tram
link would help
facilitate
planned growth,
although it
could be
considered
disproportionate
to the level of
growth
proposed and
may still lead to
pressure placed
on local roads. -1

Light rail / tram link
may influence
some traffic
movements
through
Watlington,
however it is
unlikely to cater for
all journeys, taking
into consideration
the dispersed
pattern of trips
across a wide
catchment area
which roads
through Watlington
are assumed to
cater for. -2

Light rail link may
not facilitate active
travel, except for
accessing a
station. It may
cause severance
(cutting off existing
public rights of
way, diverting
roads) and
therefore create
longer routes for
pedestrians,
cyclists and
equestrians. -2

Light rail link would be
very expensive. It will
require a new
alignment therefore
requiring significant
land acquisition. It may
not be compatible with
the Chinnor-Princes
Risborough Railway. It
may not be efficient to
operate it further than
the nearest key town.
Evidence does not
indicate that Princes
Risborough is a key
direction of travel for
Watlington residents
and would not
therefore generate
sufficient passenger
demand and revenue
to justify high
implementation and
maintenance costs.  A
new light rail alignment
could be more
expensive. -2

Light rail link likely to
require new alignment.
New structures and
significant land purchase
would be required. It may
not be feasible to route
light rail close enough to
the nearest mainline
railway to facilitate
interchange therefore a
separate interchange may
be required.  A new
station would most likely
be located some distance
outside of Watlington. -1

Light rail link
would promote
more sustainable
journeys and may
be perceived as
more acceptable
than road-based
options. High cost,
disruption during
construction,
visual and noise
intrusion during
construction and
when operational
may make this
option less
acceptable. Its
potential minimal
impact on traffic
issues in
Watlington may
also increase the
perception the rail
link is not
effective. -7 6

In summary, this option
may be considered not
proportionate to the level
of housing growth in
Watlington. Whilst it may
encourage sustainable
travel, it would be an
expensive option and is
unlikely to cater for all
journeys. It is therefore
not recommended to
take this option forward
to the High Level Sift
Part 2.

C
Enhanced Bus
Link or Network

A single route or
system of
enhanced bus
services linking
Watlington to at
least one larger
settlement or
multiple
destinations
including
Wallingford,
Didcot, Princes
Risborough,
Thames and/or
Oxford 1

Enhanced bus
link or network
would help
facilitate
planned growth,
and be better
connected with
homes 0

Enhanced bus link
or network may
influence some
traffic movements
through Watlington
and could cater for
a selection of
journeys, taking
into consideration
the dispersed
catchment area
which roads
through Watlington
cater for. -1

Enhanced bus link
or network may
not facilitate active
travel but should
not create
severance if using
existing roads. 0

Enhanced bus link or
network could
potentially be
affordable if it can be
supported by
development (pump
priming the funding of
new vehicles and
supporting
infrastructure). To be a
more flexible service, it
would need to connect
to different locations in
multiple directions
which could increase
costs and may not
generate sufficient
demand. A Demand
Responsive Transit
system may be more
affordable and
proportionate as
service levels and
patterns would adjust
according to the level
of demand. A
prominent direction of
travel is desirable for
such services to
operate effectively.
Wallingford or Oxford
could be considered
key destinations. -1

Enhanced bus link or
network could be very
feasible to introduce
depending on
configuration, for example
number of vehicles and
supporting infrastructure.
Services operating on
dedicated routes or
corridors, e.g. bus lanes,
bus only roads or guided
busway tracks, will be
less feasible and likely to
require land acquisition
and additional mitigation
costs. It is uncertain
however that such
infrastructure would be
warranted, therefore
services could mix with
general traffic on public
road with new, enhanced
stops provided at key
locations. Demand
Responsive Transit
typically operates using
smaller vehicles which
could be more easily
accommodated on rural
roads and narrow streets
through Watlington. It
may however dilute
patronage on existing bus 1

Enhanced bus link
or network would
promote more
sustainable
journeys and may
be perceived as
more acceptable
than private
vehicle-based
options.
Depending on
configuration, a
potential high cost,
disruption during
construction
(required), visual
and noise intrusion
during
construction and
when operational
may make this
option less
acceptable. Its
potential minimal
impact on traffic
issues in
Watlington may
also increase the
perception bus
services are not
fully effective.
However, a
Demand 0 2

In summary, this option
is considered
proportionate to the level
of housing growth in
Watlington. It is
potentially an affordable
option although creating
a flexible service will
increase the price.
Services operating on
dedicated routes will be
less feasible and likely to
require land acquisition
and additional mitigation.
It is uncertain that such
infrastructure would be
warranted.  It is therefore
not recommended to
take this option forward
to the High Level Sift
Part 2.

P
age 642



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
60

Sift
ID Option Name

Option
Description

Objective 1 - Facilitate
local housing growth
around Watlington

Objective 2 - Manage
traffic growth across an
expanded Watlington

Objective 3 - Facilitate
active travel within and
around an expanded
Watlington Affordability Feasibility Acceptability

Total
Score Rank Summary

Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary
services as there may not
be sufficient overall
demand in such a rural
location.

Responsive
Transit type
system may offer
the flexibility and
proportionality
required.

D
Road Link - higher
speed bypass

A new road
designed to
DMRB
standards, e.g.
40-60mph speed
limit, single
carriageway with
limited junctions
along its length
to improve flow
and maintain
vehicle speeds,
limited or no
NMU provision 0

Road Link of
high-speed
bypass
configuration
would help
facilitate
development,
however it may
not enhance
local
connections as
development
traffic may still
need to route
through
Watlington. It
would not be
considered
proportionate to
the problem
and
opportunities in
Watlington -1

Road Link of high-
speed bypass
configuration may
not enhance local
connections as
development
traffic may still
need to route
through
Watlington. It may
induce traffic from
across a wide area
including trips
which would not
occur by car or
take a different
route. Potentially
transfer of traffic
from less
appropriate rural
routes as well as
through Watlington -1

Road Link of high-
speed bypass
configuration could
increase
severance for
pedestrians,
cyclists and
equestrians,
depending on
frequency and
quality of
crossings. This
could be slightly
offset by a
reduction in
severance through
the centre of
Watlington where
traffic volumes
may reduce. -1

High speed bypass
would be expensive,
but more affordable
with developer
contributions. As it
would only benefits car
users and not NMU's,
other schemes would
need to be
implemented in
conjunction in order to
facilitate all road users,
which could result in
higher costs. In order
to serve all new
developments, it would
need to be positioned
very carefully near Site
A and at the end of
PYR1, meaning it
would also require
rural land purchase. 0

Being a bypass, this
would mean it would not
need to be built through
the town and would
preserve the character of
the town.  New structures
and significant land
purchase would be
required. There may not
be sufficient space to
accommodate sufficient
structures such as
bridges and grade
separated junctions to
facilitate a straight, faster
alignment for traffic. -2

As the new bypass
would result in
higher car use and
no NMU facilities,
this would not be
accepted by all
road users and
does not support
sustainable travel.
Could also lead to
air quality issues
with high speed
limit. The
construction would
result in noise,
high costs, and the
final structure
could also result in
a lot of noise from
fast travelling
vehicles and
visually it would
not be pleasing or
fitting with the
local environment. -5 5

In summary, this option
is not considered
proportionate to the level
of housing growth in
Watlington. It is
expensive and there may
not be sufficient space to
accommodate for a
straight, faster
alignment. The option
could decrease
severance through the
Watlington centre while it
might increase
severance for
pedestrians, cyclists and
equestrians around the
bypass. The option does
not encourage
sustainable travel and
could lead to air quality
and noise issues. It is
therefore not
recommended to take
this option forward to the
High Level Sift Part 2.

P
age 643



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
61

Sift
ID Option Name

Option
Description

Objective 1 - Facilitate
local housing growth
around Watlington

Objective 2 - Manage
traffic growth across an
expanded Watlington

Objective 3 - Facilitate
active travel within and
around an expanded
Watlington Affordability Feasibility Acceptability

Total
Score Rank Summary

Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary

E

Road Link - lower
speed
distributor/edge
road

A new road
designed to MfS
standards, e.g.
max 30mph mph
speed limit,
single
carriageway with
potential interim
junctions along
its length and
NMU provision
including
crossing points
and footways or
shared us
footways/cycle
routes alongside
it 2

Road link/edge
road of lower
speed would
help facilitate
planned
development
growth for both
vehicle and
NMU. Junctions
would also
allow for
enhanced local
connections. 2

Road link / edge
road would
enhance local
connections with
junctions to
facilitate
movements at
different places
along the road.
Potentially transfer
of traffic from less
appropriate rural
routes as well as
through
Watlington. Would
also help facilitate
traffic growth 0

Edge road with
NMU provisions
does facilitate
active travel and
reduces
severance. The
road may also
take traffic away
from Watlington
centre and could
improve
environment for
NMUs in the town
centre. 1

Edge road would be
expensive but costs
would be less than
other options. The
alignment and route of
the edge road would
have an impact on the
costs of the road.
Edge road going
through or near the
planned development
sites could secure
funding through
developer
contributions. Some
land purchase may be
necessary but could
be covered by routing
through development
sites, therefore clear
opportunity for
developers to help
fund it. 1

An edge road would
potentially require land
purchase, most likely
rural or agricultural to be
used for the construction
of the road around the
edge of the town,
however proposed
developments in the area
could facilitate this due to
where they are situated 0

A new road would
likely encourage
higher car use in
an already high
car dependant
town, however
with NMU
provisions such as
crossings and
cycle routes these
could open up
connections for all
road users in
Watlington and
also to further
destinations. 6 1

In summary, this option
is considered
proportionate to the level
of housing growth in
Watlington. The option is
expensive but the
alignment near the
planned development
sites could secure
funding through
developer contributions.
The option would
enhance local
connections and while it
is likely to encourage car
travel the NMU
provisions such as
crossings and cycling
routes cater for all road
users and reduces
severance. It is therefore
recommended to take
this option forward to the
High Level Sift Part 2.

A Do Nothing

No
improvements
(planned
development
load onto
existing roads
but no wider
improvements) -2

A do nothing
option would
not help
facilitate
housing
development,
and may in fact
hinder the
development.
No
improvements
would result in
more traffic
travelling
through the
streets of
Watlington and
the current road
infrastructure
would be
required to
facilitate the
growing number
of vehicle trips
from
developments. -2

A do nothing
option would
worsen traffic
management
across Watlington
as the current road
infrastructure
would be required
to facilitate traffic
growth. -2

A do nothing
option would not
improve active
travel around
Watlington. It also
may worsen active
travel and traffic
growth will mean
more vehicle trips,
increasing
severance and a
potentially unsafe
active mode
environment 2

A do nothing option
would be affordable. 2

A do nothing option would
mean no infrastructure
needs to be built or
planned -2

A do nothing
option would mean
current issues
such as
congestion and air
quality will worsen. -4 4

In summary, a do
nothing option would
worsen traffic
management across
Watlington and not
improve active travel. It
would be an affordable
option as no
infrastructure needs to
be built but current
issues as congestion
and air quality will
worsen. It is therefore
not recommended to
take this option forward
to the High Level Sift
Part 2.

P
age 644



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
62

Sift
ID Option Name

Option
Description

Objective 1 - Facilitate
local housing growth
around Watlington

Objective 2 - Manage
traffic growth across an
expanded Watlington

Objective 3 - Facilitate
active travel within and
around an expanded
Watlington Affordability Feasibility Acceptability

Total
Score Rank Summary

Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary

H

Do Minimum
highway
improvement

Minimal
improvements to
facilitate
movements
through
Watlington
including
localised
improvements to
footways,
additional
crossings and
some limited bus
service
enhancements
(e.g. increased
frequency during
peak hours). -1

Minimal
improvements
could potentially
facilitate a small
amount of
growth,
however it does
not facilitate the
scale of
planned
housing growth
developments
in Watlington. -1

Minimal
improvements
would not manage
the traffic growth
fully and would not
address current
issues such as
congestion that
are likely to
intensify in the
future. -1

Minimal
improvements
such as additional
crossings may
slightly improve
the current
environment for
active travel,
however it is
unlikely that it will
make a huge
difference and will
not encourage
further active
travel 2

Minimal improvements
would not cost a lot of
money nor would the
maintenance costs be
high. Additional bus
services would create
income and so some
of those costs may be
covered if demand is
high enough. 2

Minimal improvements
would not require a lot of
construction or land use,
as it would be within the
existing highway -1

Do minimum
would results in
only slight if any
improvement to
current issues like
congestion and air
quality and may be
perceived as being
ineffective and
poor value for
money given the
scale of
development
proposed. 0 2

In summary, a do
minimum option does not
facilitate the planned
housing developments in
Watlington. It is an
affordable option as no a
lot of construction or land
purchase Is needed.
However, the option
would result only to slight
if any improvements to
current issues like
congestion and air
quality.

P
age 645



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
63

Appendix B : Stage 1 - High Level Sift Part 2

Sift
ID Option Name

Option
Description

Objective 1 - Facilitate local
housing growth around
Watlington

Objective 2 - Manage traffic
growth across an expanded
Watlington

Objective 3 - Facilitate active
travel within and around an
expanded Watlington Affordability Feasibility Acceptability

Total
Score Rank Summary

Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary

E1

New Road -
lower speed
distributor/edge
road - full ring
around
Watlington

A new road
designed to MfS
standards, e.g.
max 30mph
speed limit,
single
carriageway with
potential interim
junctions along
its length and
NMU provision
including
crossing points,
footways or
shared us
footways/cycle
routes alongside
it. Completely
encircling
Watlington with
junction links
onto the
B4009S,
B480W,
B4009N, Hil
Road, B480E 1

A new road all
around Watlington
would help facilitate
housing development
by providing
additional transport
capacity although it
could be considered
disproportionate to
the scale and
location of growth. 1

A new road would
provide additional road
capacity around
Watlington, linking
together each key
radial route leading
into/out of the town. By
providing additional
capacity, it could serve
to induce traffic around
Watlington. -1

A new road encircling
Watlington could
increase severance,
making it more difficult
for people to cross
roads on foot and by
bike to access the
countryside or
Watlington. -2

A new road all around
Watlington would be
considered less
affordable and not in
proportion to the defined
problem and level of
housing growth proposed
on the edges of
Watlington. It would
require significant land
purchase and potentially
purchase and demolition
of properties particularly
on the eastern side of the
town. 0

A new road all
around
Watlington might
be feasible in
engineering
terms, assuming
all required land
could be secured
to achieve a
sensible
alignment. -2

A new road
encircling
Watlington is
unlikely to be
acceptable as it
will likely have
significant
detrimental
impacts on the
environment,
and is
considered a
disproportionate
solution to the
problem. -4 3

In summary, the
option is not
proportionate to
the level of housing
growth in
Watlington. Whilst
it would provide
additional road
capacity it is likely
to increase
severance and
have significant
detrimental
impacts on the
environment. It is
therefore not
recommended to
take this option
forward to the High
Level Sift Part 3.

E2

New Road -
lower speed
distributor/edge
road - west of
Watlington

A new road
designed to MfS
standards, e.g.
max 30mph mph
speed limit,
single
carriageway with
potential interim
junctions along
its length and
NMU provision
including
crossing points
and footways or
shared us
footways/cycle
routes alongside
it. Routes
around the west
of Watlington
only, with
junction links
onto the
B4009S, B480W
and B4009N 2

A new road west of
Watlington would
help facilitate
housing development
by providing
additional transport
capacity. 1

A new road would
provide additional road
capacity west of
Watlington, linking
together B4009 north
and south of
Watlington and B480
leading into/out of the
town from the west
(the main rural route
towards Oxford) 0

A new road is likely to
relieve some traffic
within Watlington and
therefore in turn could
facilitate an increase
in active travel if roads
are quieter and safer.
However, overall a
relief road could
encourage car use
and not active or
sustainable travel
(sustainable travel –
NPPF and
government climate
change objectives).  A
new road could
increase severance
for active travel
outside of Watlington,
depending on
frequency and quality
of crossings. 2

A new road west of
Watlington would be
relatively affordable and
in proportion to the
defined problem and
level of housing growth
proposed on the edges
of Watlington. Due to the
positioning to the west of
Watlington, it would
potentially travel through
development sites
meaning strong
likelihood for
contributions from
developers (either
through reserving land or
construction of sections
themselves). 2

A new road west
of Watlington is
likely to be
feasible in
engineering
terms, assuming
all required land
could be secured
to achieve a
sensible
alignment which
complies with
standards. 1

A new road
west of
Watlington is
more likely to be
acceptable as it
is a
proportionate
solution to the
problem and
has less
impacts on
environmentally
sensitive areas.
There are likely
to be concerns
regarding
potential knock-
on impacts,
including
induced traffic,
noise and visual
intrusion which
could make the
scheme less
acceptable. 5 1

In summary, the
option is
proportionate to
the level of housing
growth in
Watlington and has
less detrimental
impacts on the
environment. The
option is more
affordable and
developer
contribution to the
cost is likely. It is
not likely to
encourage active
travel and it might
increase
severance for
active travel
outside of
Watlington
depending on
frequency and
quality of
crossings. It is
therefore
recommended to
take this option
forward to the High
Level Sift Part 3.

P
age 646



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
64

Sift
ID Option Name

Option
Description

Objective 1 - Facilitate local
housing growth around
Watlington

Objective 2 - Manage traffic
growth across an expanded
Watlington

Objective 3 - Facilitate active
travel within and around an
expanded Watlington Affordability Feasibility Acceptability

Total
Score Rank Summary

Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary

E3

New Road -
lower speed
distributor/edge
road - east of
Watlington

A new road
designed to MfS
standards, e.g.
max 30mph mph
speed limit,
single
carriageway with
potential interim
junctions along
its length and
NMU provision
including
crossing points
and footways or
shared us
footways/cycle
routes alongside
it. Routes
around the east
of Watlington
only, with
junction links
onto the
B4009S, B480E
(Howe Road),
Hill Road and
B4009N 0

A new road east of
Watlington would not
help facilitate
housing development
located west of
Watlington -1

A new road east of
Watlington may relieve
some pressure on
roads in Watlington,
although development
traffic may not be
attracted to use it and
would instead use
existing roads through
Watlington and Pyrton. 0

A new road is likely to
relief the traffic within
Watlington and
therefore encourage
active travel.
However, overall a
relief road can be
seen encouraging car
use and not active or
sustainable travel
(sustainable travel –
NPPF and
government climate
change objectives).  A
new road could
increase severance
for active travel
outside of Watlington,
depending on
frequency and quality
of crossings. -1

A new road east of
Watlington would be
relatively affordable and
in proportion to the
defined problem and
level of housing growth
proposed on the edges
of Watlington. It would
require land purchase
and potentially purchase
and demolition of
properties. There would
be limited opportunity to
directly fund the full link
through planned
developments 0

A new road west
of Watlington is
likely to be
feasible in
engineering
terms, assuming
all required land
could be secured
to achieve a
sensible
alignment which
complies with
standards. -1

A new road east
of Watlington is
likely to have a
low level of
acceptability as
it would impact
on areas
classified as
"area of
outstanding
natural beauty"
east of
Watlington
(Landscape
Figure.pdf) and
is on the
opposite side of
town to
development -2 2

In summary, the
option is
proportionate to
the level of housing
growth in
Watlington and has
less detrimental
impacts on the
environment.
However, it would
require land
purchase and
demolition of
properties while
developer
contribution to the
cost would be
limited. The option
is not likely to
encourage active
travel and it might
increase
severance for
active travel
outside of
Watlington
depending on
frequency and
quality of
crossings. It is
therefore not
recommended to
take this option
forward to the High
Level Sift Part 3.

P
age 647



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
65

Appendix C : Stage 1 - High Level Sift Part 3

Sift ID Section Option Option Description Affordability Feasibility Acceptability
Total
Score Rank Summary

Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary

Note:
ranking
considers
each
section (A,
B, C and P)
separately)

E2.1 A A1

B4009 Britwell Road
(priority give way -
Junction 1) through
Site A on most
northerly alignment
to B480 Cuxham
Road (new
roundabout -
Junction 2) 0

Awaiting cost estimation for
section(s) to be funded by OCC.

Likely to be more expensive that
other A-section options as it
requires numerous structures
(conveyance structures through
flood plain for cross drainage, and
single span structure across
Charlgrove Brook) 1

The option is considered
reasonably feasible, subject to EA
approval and sufficient structures
capable of addressing flooding
risks. 1

The option’s acceptability is
considered positive given that it will
have benefits in terms of
connectivity and knock-on
improvements on existing roads,
however crossing an
environmentally sensitive area
could reduce its acceptability. 2 2

The option is likely to be relatively
expensive as it requires numerous
structures to address flooding risk. Its
acceptability is considered positive and
it is likely reasonably feasible.
Therefore, it is recommended to take
this option forward to the Detailed
Assessment.

E2.2 A A2&4

B4009 Britwell Road
(priority give way -
Junction 1) through
southern part of Site
A and Watlington
Industrial Estate
access road to B480
Cuxham Road
(upgraded
roundabout at
Willow Close -
Junction 2) 2

Awaiting cost estimation for
section(s) to be funded by OCC.

Utilises a section of existing road
(access to Watlington Industrial
Estate) which could reduce costs.
Cuxham Roundabout will require
levels being raised due to flooding
but no floodplain storage or
conveyance structures would be
required. Possible impact on
existing utilities. 1

The option is considered
reasonably feasible, subject to
sufficient structures capable of
addressing flooding risks. 1

The option’s acceptability is
considered positive given that it will
have benefits in terms of
connectivity and knock-on
improvements on existing roads.
The option may cause congestion
on the Cuxham Road roundabout
which may have an adverse effect
on the acceptability.
(Environmental Baseline Report). It
may cause more disruption to
businesses although conversely,
they may benefit from improved
connectivity (quicker journey times
by car around Watlington) 4 1

The option is likely to be more
affordable due to utilisation of existing
road. Its acceptability is considered
positive and it is likely reasonably
feasible. Therefore it is recommended
to take this option forward to the
Detailed Assessment.

E2.3 A A3

B4009 Britwell Road
(priority give way -
Junction 1) through
Site A , taking a
more northerly
alignment before
routing southwards
to meet an upgraded
roundabout at
Cuxham
Road/Willow Close -
Junction 2) -1

Awaiting cost estimation for
section(s) to be funded by OCC.

Cuxham Rbt will require levels
being raised due to flooding.
Possible impact on existing utilities
which would need to be mitigated
with conveyance structures and
floodplain storage. -2

The option is considered not
feasible given the issues around
flood protection, land ownership
and access. 0

The option’s acceptability is
considered neutral given that it will
have benefits in terms of
connectivity and knock-on
improvements on existing roads,
but conversely it may cause
congestion on Cuxham Road
roundabout which may have an
adverse effect on its acceptability.
(Environmental Baseline Report). -3 4

The option is likely to be relatively
expensive due to required flood
protection structures. It is not
considered feasible given the problems
around flood protection, land
ownership and access. Therefore it is
recommended not to take this option
forward to the Detailed Assessment.

P
age 648



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
66

Sift ID Section Option Option Description Affordability Feasibility Acceptability
Total
Score Rank Summary

Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary

Note:
ranking
considers
each
section (A,
B, C and P)
separately)

E2.4 A A5

B4009 Britwell Road
(priority give way -
Junction 1) through
Site A on a northerly
alignment to B480
Cuxham Road (new
roundabout -
Junction 2) 0

Awaiting cost estimation for
section(s) to be funded by OCC.

Expensive as requires numerous
structures (conveyance structures
through flood plain for cross
drainage, and single span structure
across Charlgrove Brook) but less
costly compared to A3 and A1. 1

The option is considered
reasonably feasible, subject to EA
approval and sufficient structures
capable of addressing flooding
risks. 1

The option’s acceptability is
considered positive given that it will
have benefits in terms of
connectivity and knock-on
improvements on existing roads,
however crossing an
environmentally sensitive area
could reduce its acceptability. 2 2

The option is likely to be relatively
expensive as it requires numerous
structures to address flooding risk. Its
acceptability is considered positive and
it is likely reasonably feasible.
Therefore it is recommended to take
this option forward to the Detailed
Assessment.

E2.5 B B1

Linking Cuxham
Road (at a priority
give way junction -
Junction 1) through
Site B on a northerly
alignment 2

Awaiting cost estimation for
section(s) to be funded by OCC.

Requires construction of compact
roundabout with 28m ICD 2

The option is considered feasible.
The option has been safeguarded
in the Watlington Neighbourhood
Plan as well as the emerging South
Oxfordshire District Local Plan. 2

The option’s acceptability is
considered positive given that it will
have benefits in terms of
connectivity and knock-on
improvements on existing roads.
The option may cause congestion
on the Cuxham Road roundabout
which may have an adverse effect
on the acceptability.
(Environmental Baseline Report). 6 1

The option is likely to be relatively
affordable. The option's acceptability
and feasibility are considered positive
given it is safeguarded in the
Watlington Neighbourhood Plan as
well as the emerging South
Oxfordshire District Local Plan.
Therefore it is recommended to take
this option forward to the Detailed
Assessment.

E2.6 B B2

Linking Cuxham
Road (at an existing,
upgraded
roundabout with
Willow Close),
taking the alignment
of Willow Close,
through Site B on a
southerly alignment 2

Awaiting cost estimation for
section(s) to be funded by OCC. 0

The option is considered less
feasible given the close alignment
to Willow Close. The option has
been safeguarded in the emerging
South Oxfordshire District Local
Plan. -2

The option’s acceptability is
considered low given the close
proximity to the residential
properties on Willow Close. The
option may cause congestion on
the Cuxham Road roundabout
which may have an adverse effect
on the acceptability.
(Environmental Baseline Report). 0 5

The option is likely to be relatively
affordable. The option is likely to be
less acceptable and feasible given its
close proximity to residential properties
on Willow Close and adverse affect on
traffic on Cuxham Road. Therefore it is
recommended not to take this option
forward to the Detailed Assessment.

E2.7 B B3

Linking Cuxham
Road (at an existing,
upgraded
roundabout with
Willow Close) then
through Site B on a
more central
alignment 2

Awaiting cost estimation for
section(s) to be funded by OCC.

Land purchase required at
roundabout. Levels of existing
roundabout will need to be raised. 2

The option is considered
reasonably feasible, subject to land
purchase at roundabout. 0

The option’s acceptability is
considered neutral given that it will
have benefits in terms of
connectivity and knock-on
improvements on existing roads.
The option may cause congestion
on the Cuxham Road roundabout
which may have an adverse effect
on the acceptability. It would also
be more disruptive to Willow Close
residents (Environmental Baseline
Report). 4 3

The option is likely to be more
disruptive to the residents on Willow
Close and it may affect traffic on
Cuxham Road. However, it is likely to
be relatively affordable and feasible
option. Therefore it is recommended to
take this option forward to the Detailed
Assessment.

P
age 649



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
67

Sift ID Section Option Option Description Affordability Feasibility Acceptability
Total
Score Rank Summary

Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary

Note:
ranking
considers
each
section (A,
B, C and P)
separately)

E2.8 B B4

Taking the
alignment of
Cuxham Road
between the existing
roundabout junction
with Willow
Close/Watlington
Industrial Estate
access to a priority
give way junction
(Junction 1) NOTE -
B4 would need to be
combined with either
B1 or B5 options) 1

Awaiting cost estimation for
section(s) to be funded by OCC.

Likely more costly than Options B2
and B3. Will require construction of
compact roundabout with 28m ICD.
It would need to be combined with
either B1 or B5 therefore reducing
affordability. 2

The option is considered
reasonably feasible as
improvements could be secured
within the existing highway
boundary or through adjacent
development land. 1

The option’s acceptability is
considered positive given that it will
have benefits in terms of
connectivity and knock-on
improvements on existing roads.
The option may cause congestion
on the Cuxham Road roundabout
which may have an adverse effect
on the acceptability.
(Environmental Baseline Report). 4 3

The option is likely to be relatively
affordable although it would need to be
combined with either B1 or B5
reducing affordability. The option's
acceptability and feasibility are
considered positive although the option
may affect the traffic on Cuxham Road.
It is recommended to take this option
forward to the Detailed Assessment.

E2.9 B B5

Linking Cuxham
Road (at a priority
give way junction -
Junction 1) through
Site B on a more
central alignment 2

Awaiting cost estimation for
section(s) to be funded by OCC.

Requires construction of compact
roundabout with 28m ICD 2 The option is considered feasible. 2

The option’s acceptability is
considered positive given that it will
have benefits in terms of
connectivity and knock-on
improvements on existing roads.
The option may cause congestion
on the Cuxham Road roundabout
which may have an adverse effect
on the acceptability.
(Environmental Baseline Report). 6 1

The option is likely to be relatively
affordable. The option's acceptability
and feasibility are considered positive
although the option may affect the
traffic on Cuxham Road. It is
recommended to take this option
forward to the Detailed Assessment.

E2.10 C C1

Through Site C on a
more central
alignment, taking a
short section of the
existing alignment of
Pyrton Lane to the
north of Icknield
Community College 2

Awaiting cost estimation for
section(s) to be funded by OCC. 2

The option is considered feasible,
subject to purchase or CPO of the
Icknield college playing fields.
Issue regarding reserved land on
PYR2 - safeguarded for possible
expansion of Icknield College. This
route is safeguarded in the
Watlington Neighbourhood Plan as
well as the emerging South
Oxfordshire District Local Plan 2

The option’s acceptability is
considered positive given that it will
have benefits in terms of
connectivity and knock-on
improvements on existing roads. It
is aligned the furthest from the
residential properties on Willow
Close which is likely to improve the
acceptability. (Environmental
Baseline Report). 6 1

The option is likely to be relatively
affordable. The option's acceptability is
considered positive although the option
may affect the traffic on Cuxham Road.
It is likely a feasible option subject to
purchase or CPO of the Icknield
college playfields. It is recommended
to take this option forward to the
Detailed Assessment.

E2.11 C C2

Through Site C on a
more northerly
alignment, crossing
the existing Pyrton
Lane at the northern
most corner of the
Icknield Community
College site 2

Awaiting cost estimation for
section(s) to be funded by OCC. 1

The option is considered
reasonably feasible, subject to
purchase or CPO of the Icknield
college playing fields. Issue
regrading reserved land on PYR2 -
safeguarded for possible
expansion of Icknield College. The
option is not aligned with the
Providence masterplan which is
currently awaiting determination 1

The option’s acceptability is
considered positive given that it will
have benefits in terms of
connectivity and knock-on
improvements on existing roads
(Environmental Baseline Report). 4 2

The option is likely to be relatively
affordable. It is likely a feasible option
subject to purchase or CPO of the
Icknield college. The option's
acceptability is likely positive although
it may affect the traffic on Cuxham
Road. It is recommended to take this
option forward to the Detailed
Assessment.

P
age 650



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
68

Sift ID Section Option Option Description Affordability Feasibility Acceptability
Total
Score Rank Summary

Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary

Note:
ranking
considers
each
section (A,
B, C and P)
separately)

E2.12 C C3

Through Site C on a
more southerly
alignment, taking a
longer section of the
existing alignment of
Pyrton Lane to the
north of Icknield
Community College 2

Awaiting cost estimation for
section(s) to be funded by OCC. -1

Issue regrading reserved land on
PYR2 - safeguarded for possible
expansion of Icknield College. Not
aligned with the Providence
masterplan which is currently
awaiting determination -1

The option will have benefits in
terms of connectivity and knock-on
improvements on existing roads.
However, the option is close to
Watlington Primary School and
Icknield college which may have an
adverse effect on the acceptability.
(Environmental Baseline Report). 0 3

The option is likely to be relatively
affordable. However, its feasibility and
acceptability are considered low given
the close proximity to educational
properties and issues with reserved
land on PYR2. Therefore, it is
recommended not to take this option
forward to the Detailed Assessment.

E2.13 P P1

Taking the existing
alignment of Pyrton
Lane and Station
Road to a new
roundabout
(Junction 3) on the
B4009 Shirburn
Road at the current
location of the
crossroads. An
upgraded junction
between Pyrton
Lane and Station
Road also likely as
will widening along
the length of both
roads to facilitate
two-way traffic and
footway and
cycleway provision 1

Awaiting cost estimation for
section(s) to be funded by OCC.

Widening along Pyrton Lane would
require land purchase. Compact rbt
would require land purchase of
private lane in norther corner.
Although widening of existing road
may initially seem to provide cost
savings, two 28m ICD roundabout
likely to be required (1x at Station
Road / Pyrton Lane and 1x Station
Lane/Station Road/ B4009) 2

The option is considered feasible,
subject to land purchase to widen
Pyrton Lane. Widening of Station
Road may not be possible due to
presence of private residence. -2

The option will have benefits in
terms of connectivity and knock-on
improvements on existing roads.
The option is likely to affect the
environment and is close to Pyrton
Conservation Area which may have
an adverse effect on the
acceptability. (Environmental
Baseline Report). 1 3

The option is likely to be relatively
affordable given the utilisation of
existing roadway. However,
construction work to widen Pyrton
Lane is needed. In addition, the option
may have an adverse affect on the
Pyrton Conservation Area. It is
recommended not to take this option
forward to the Detailed Assessment.

E2.14 P P2

A new alignment
across PYR2 site to
a new roundabout
(Junction 3) on the
B4009 Shirburn
Road at the current
location of the
crossroads. 2

Awaiting cost estimation for
section(s) to be funded by OCC. 2

The option is considered feasible,
subject to development of PYR1
proceeding with the planning
permission whereby land will be
transferred to OCC. The route is
safeguarded in the emerging South
Oxfordshire District Local Plan. 1

The option’s acceptability is
considered neutral given that it will
have benefits in terms of
connectivity and knock-on
improvements on existing roads
however it would reduce the green
gap between Watlington and
Pyrton and may therefore be
considered less acceptable to
Pyrton residents. 5 1

The option is likely to be affordable and
feasible. The option's acceptability is
considered positive although the option
may be considered less acceptable to
Pyrton residents. It is recommended to
take this option forward to the Detailed
Assessment.

P
age 651



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
69

Sift ID Section Option Option Description Affordability Feasibility Acceptability
Total
Score Rank Summary

Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary

Note:
ranking
considers
each
section (A,
B, C and P)
separately)

E2.15 P P3

A new alignment
across PYR2 site to
a new roundabout
(Junction 3) on the
B4009 Shirburn
Road, taking an
alignment through
the southern side of
PYR1 site 1

Awaiting cost estimation for
section(s) to be funded by OCC.
Proposals will require 28m ICD
compact roundabout at junction with
B4009 (furthering loss of playing
fields and potentially impacting
PYR1). Would require third party
land acquisition or CPO. -1

Alignment would require land from
PYR1 site which would rely on the
redesign of the Masterplan and the
resubmission of the Planning
Application (at the developers cost,
which is likely to draw objection).
OCC are reliant on the landowner
releasing land to OCC, which is
likely to be difficult if the developer
has to bear the cost of the renewed
Masterplan and Planning
Application 0

The option’s acceptability is
considered neutral given that it will
have benefits in terms of
connectivity and knock-on
improvements on existing roads
however it would reduce the green
gap between Watlington and
Pyrton and may therefore be
considered less acceptable to
Pyrton residents. It would also
create an additional junction on the
B4009 which could cause more
disruption and inconvenience. 0 4

The option is likely to be affordable. It
is not considered feasible due to need
to redesign the Masterplan and
resubmit the planning application.  The
option may be considered less
acceptable to Pyrton residents and
would require creation of additional
junction. It is recommended not to take
this option forward to the Detailed
Assessment.

E2.16 P P4

A new alignment
across PYR2 site to
a new roundabout
(Junction 3) on the
B4009 Shirburn
Road, taking an
alignment through
the northern side of
the Watlington
Recreation Ground 1

Awaiting cost estimation for
section(s) to be funded by OCC.

Proposals will require 28m ICD
compact roundabout at junction with
B4009 (furthering loss of playing
fields and potentially impacting
PYR1). Would require third party
land acquisition or CPO. -1

Alignment would require land from
the existing cricket ground/playing
fields, which is potentially difficult to
argue in planning policy terms. -1

The option’s acceptability is
considered neutral given that it will
have benefits in terms of
connectivity and knock-on
improvements on existing roads
however it would reduce the green
gap between Watlington and
Pyrton and may therefore be
considered less acceptable to
Pyrton residents. It would require
land from the Recreation Ground
which could impact local
communities. It would also create
an additional junction on the B4009
which could cause more disruption
and inconvenience. -1 6

The option is likely to be affordable. It
is not considered feasible due to
utilisation of land from the existing
playing fields.  The option may be
considered less acceptable to Pyrton
residents and would require creation of
additional junction. It is recommended
not to take this option forward to the
Detailed Assessment.

E2.17 P P5

A new alignment
across PYR2 site to
a new roundabout
(Junction 3) on the
B4009 Shirburn
Road, taking an
alignment through 1

Awaiting cost estimation for
section(s) to be funded by OCC. -1

Alignment would require land from
PYR1 site which would rely on the
redesign of the Masterplan and the
resubmission of the Planning
Application (at the developers cost,
which is likely to draw objection).
OCC are reliant on the landowner
releasing land to OCC, which is
likely to be difficult if the developer
has to bear the cost of the renewed
Masterplan and Planning
Application 0

The option’s acceptability is
considered neutral given that it will
have benefits in terms of
connectivity and knock-on
improvements on existing roads
however it would reduce the green
gap between Watlington and
Pyrton and may therefore be
considered less acceptable to
Pyrton residents. It would also
create an additional junction on the
B4009 which could cause more
disruption and inconvenience. 0 4

The option is likely to be affordable. It
is reliant on the landowner releasing
land which might be difficult. The
option may be considered less
acceptable to Pyrton residents and
would require creation of additional
junction. It is recommended not to take
this option forward to the Detailed
Assessment.

P
age 652



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
70

Sift ID Section Option Option Description Affordability Feasibility Acceptability
Total
Score Rank Summary

Score Commentary Score Commentary Score Commentary

Note:
ranking
considers
each
section (A,
B, C and P)
separately)

E2.18 P P6

A new alignment
across PYR2 site to
a new roundabout
(Junction 3) on the
B4009 Shirburn
Road at the current
location of the
crossroads. 2

Awaiting cost estimation for
section(s) to be funded by OCC. 2

The option is considered feasible,
subject to development of PYR1
proceeding with the planning
permission whereby land will be
transferred to OCC. The route is
safeguarded in the emerging South
Oxfordshire District Local Plan. 1

The option’s acceptability is
considered positive given that it will
have benefits in terms of
connectivity and knock-on
improvements on existing roads
however it would reduce the green
gap between Watlington and
Pyrton and may therefore be
considered less acceptable to
Pyrton residents. 5 1

The option is likely to be affordable and
feasible. The option's acceptability is
considered positive although the option
may be considered less acceptable to
Pyrton residents. It is recommended to
take this option forward to the Detailed
Assessment.

E2.19 P P7

A new alignment
around settlement
edge of Watlington
and along the
southern edge of
PR1 to a new
roundabout
(Junction 3) on the
B4009 Shirburn
Road 1

Awaiting cost estimation for
section(s) to be funded by OCC. -1

Alignment would require land from
PYR1 site which would rely on the
redesign of the Masterplan and the
resubmission of the Planning
Application (at the developers cost,
which is likely to draw objection).
OCC are reliant on the landowner
releasing land to OCC, which is
likely to be difficult if the developer
has to bear the cost of the renewed
Masterplan and Planning
Application -1

The option’s acceptability is
considered low that it will route
close to Watlington and route
through PYR1 thus requiring an
additional junction on the B4009
which could cause more disruption
and inconvenience. -1 6

The option is likely to be affordable. It
is not considered feasible due to need
to redesign the Masterplan and
resubmit the planning application.  The
option may be considered less
acceptable due to close alignment to
Watlington and need for an additional
junction. It is recommended not to take
this option forward to the Detailed
Assessment.

E2.20 P P8

A new alignment
around settlement
edge of Watlington
and across the
Watlington
Recreation Ground
(adjacent to
Watlington Pavilion. 2

Awaiting cost estimation for
section(s) to be funded by OCC.

Proposals will require 28m ICD
compact roundabout at junction with
B4009 (furthering loss of playing
fields). Would require third party
land acquisition or CPO -1

Alignment would require land from
the existing cricket ground/playing
fields (including separating
clubhouse from playing fields),
which is potentially difficult to argue
in planning policy terms. -2

The option’s acceptability is
considered very low as it will
dissect Watlington Recreation
Ground -1 6

The option is likely to be affordable. It
is not considered feasible due to need
to redesign the Masterplan and
resubmit the planning application.  The
option is likely not to be accepted as it
will dissect Watlington Recreation
Ground. It is recommended not to take
this option forward to the Detailed
Assessment.

P
age 653



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
71

P
age 654



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
72

Appendix D : Stage 2 - Detailed Sift
Score Categories (as defined in DfT EAST)

1 Very Poor
2 Poor/Low
3 Negligible/No Change
4 Good/High
5 Very Good/Very High

Strategic Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description

Identified problems
and objectives of the
option

Scale
of
impact Scale of impact - Comments

Fit with wider
transport
and
government
objectives

Wider transport and
government objectives -
Comments

Fit with
other
objectives

Fit with other objectives -
Comments Key uncertainties

Degree of
consensus
over
outcomes?

Degree of consensus
over outcomes? -
Comments

E2.1.1.1 A-B A1-B1-

B4009 Britwell
Road (priority
give way
junction -
Junction 1)
through Site A
on most
northerly
alignment to
B480 Cuxham
Road (new
roundabout -
Junction 2) and
into Site B

The key identified
problem (opportunity) is
to provide a transport
solution which unlocks
housing development
around Watlington
which is identified in the
South Oxfordshire
Local Plan and the
Watlington
Neighbourhood Plan.
The following objectives
are identified for this
option:

1. To unlock
development and
increase the availability
of affordable homes   2.
To relieve congestion in
the Watlington centre
and make alternative
provision for some
through traffic
3. To improve air
quality and to reduce
the risk of flooding
4. To protect the
character of Watlington
as the town grows
5. To support the
viability of the Town
Centre shops and local
businesses and to
optimise opportunities
for local employment 5

This alignment option would unlock
development in sites A and B and in
turn help facilitate an alignment through
Sites C and PYR1 & 2. Both A1 and B1
links are situated farthest away from the
edge of the town so could mean less
disruption to the local community
although they would be closer to a
traveller’s site on Cuxham Road. The
link will divert some through traffic from
the town centre and potentially reduce
congestion. This alignment could
improve air quality in the town centre
of Watlington (environmental report).
The site of this link will be built in a flood
zone 1, meaning there will be low to
very low risk of flooding, however this
link will also need to be built crossing
the main river (Environmental report
appendix E). Removing traffic from the
centre and redirecting it through the link
would help protect the character of
the town. Through increasing
connectivity it will support the viability
of local businesses. 4

In no particular order:

1. Supports rural economy
with the aid of new
infrastructure (Industrial
strategy).
2. Supports the creation of
new housing (white
paper).
3. Aids in creating a more
reliable, less congested
and better connected
network (DfT Transport
Investment Strategy).
4. Helps build a stronger,
more balanced economy
by responding to local
growth priorities. (DfT
Transport Investment
Strategy).
5. Conversely, however, it
could be seen as
encouraging car use and
not encouraging active or
sustainable travel
(sustainable travel –
NPPF, government
climate change objectives
including the Ten Point
Plan for a Green Industrial
Revolution, Walking and
Cycling Investment
Strategy, Gear Change - a
bold vision for cycling and
walking). 4

1. Enhances social inclusion and
tackles increasing congestion
(OxLEP’s SEP). However, it could be
seen as encouraging car use and not
encouraging active or sustainable
travel (sustainable travel - OxLEP
SEP).
2. Takes traffic away from key AQMA
streets in the town centre (Defra).
3. OCC Transport Plan 2015 - 2031:
3a. Maintains and improves transport
connections to support economic
growth and vitality across the county
3b. Makes most efficient use of all
available transport capacity through
innovative management of the
network
3b. Increases journey time reliability
3c. Develops a high-quality, resilient
integrated transport system that is
attractive to customers and
generates inward investment
3d. Improves public health and
reduces transport emissions (town
centre).
4. Watlington Neighbourhood plan:
4a. Protects and enhances the
special features of Watlington, such
as its historic character, natural
beauty, landscape and rural setting
4b. Resolves traffic issues, such as
safety by reducing traffic speeds,
reduction of the impact of traffic
generated by new development,
reduction of the number of
unauthorised HGVs using the town
centre as a through route, reduction
of congestion by better managing
through traffic including the
development of an edge road to the
north and west of the town
4c.Makes good provision for new and
existing residents by providing a well-
balanced mix of housing to meet
identified local needs and affordable
homes, by making sure that there is
good access for all from new housing

The main uncertainties include:

1. Impacts on air quality and
noise: although the alignment
has the potential to improve air
quality (environmental report),
the actual environmental impacts
are uncertain and could depend
on the eventual composition of
development, the attractiveness
of the entire scheme (not only for
local traffic but also its wider
impacts)
2. Impact on journey times: this
will depend on the volume of
traffic attracted onto the road and
the operation of junctions
(although initial modelling
indicates that they should
operate within capacity). The
level of active frontage onto the
road may influence reliability.
Less active frontage from side
roads and properties will reduce
the potential for disruption.
3. Level of trips diverted away
from Watlington town centre:
although this is not the primary
purpose of the scheme, the
volume of traffic switching routes
will influence the function,
performance and impacts of the
proposed scheme.
4.Planning permission unlikely to
be achieved without support from
Environment Agency.
5.Expensive as requires
numerous structures
(conveyance structures through
flood plain for cross drainage,
and single span structure across
Charlgrove Brook). 3

The broad concept of
the scheme and
indicative alignment
corridor has gone
through public
consultation (through
South OX local plan
and Watlington
neighbourhood plan).
Local relevant councils
have been engaged
(Watlington, Pyrton
and Shirburn) in road
alignment discussions,
as have developers.
However there is less
consensus over the
need for the overall
(all sections through
sites A, B, C and PYR)
scheme which has
been expressed by
Pyrton Parish Council,
or on the preferred
alignments (differing
views from all parties)

P
age 655



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
73

Strategic Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description

Identified problems
and objectives of the
option

Scale
of
impact Scale of impact - Comments

Fit with wider
transport
and
government
objectives

Wider transport and
government objectives -
Comments

Fit with
other
objectives

Fit with other objectives -
Comments Key uncertainties

Degree of
consensus
over
outcomes?

Degree of consensus
over outcomes? -
Comments

development into the town centre, to
other services and facilities and into
the surrounding countryside, by
creating a network of cycling and
walking paths and routes and by
supporting initiatives to improve
public transport
4d. Helps the local economy to grow
and
4e. Ensures that local infrastructure
is in place to meet the needs of a
growing population

P
age 656



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
74

Strategic Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description

Identified problems
and objectives of the
option

Scale
of
impact Scale of impact - Comments

Fit with wider
transport
and
government
objectives

Wider transport and
government objectives -
Comments

Fit with
other
objectives

Fit with other objectives -
Comments Key uncertainties

Degree of
consensus
over
outcomes?

Degree of consensus
over outcomes? -
Comments

E2.1.1.2 A-B A5-B5-

B4009 Britwell
Road (priority
give way
junction -
Junction 1)
through Site A
on more
northerly
alignment to
B480 Cuxham
Road (new
roundabout -
Junction 2) and
into Site B

The key identified
problem (opportunity) is
to provide a transport
solution which unlocks
housing development
around Watlington
which is identified in the
South Oxfordshire
Local Plan and the
Watlington
Neighbourhood Plan.
The following objectives
are identified for this
option:

1. To unlock
development and
increase the availability
of affordable homes
2. To relieve congestion
in the Watlington centre
and make alternative
provision for some
through traffic
3. To improve air
quality and to reduce
the risk of flooding
4. To protect the
character of Watlington
as the town grows
5. To support the
viability of the Town
Centre shops and local
businesses and to
optimise opportunities
for local employment 5

This alignment would unlock
development in sites A and B and in
turn help facilitate an alignment through
Sites C and PYR1 & 2. Links A5 and B5
are closer to the town edge but still a
distance away that could mean less
disruption to the local community
although they would be closer to a
traveller’s site on Cuxham Road (but not
as close as A1-B1). The link will divert
some through traffic from the town
centre and potentially reduce
congestion. This link could improve air
quality in the town centre of Watlington
(environmental report). The site of this
link will be built in a flood zone 1,
meaning there will be low to very low
risk of flooding, however this
alignment will also need to be built
crossing the main river (Environmental
report appendix E). Removing traffic
from the centre and redirecting it
through the link would help protect the
character of the town. Through
increasing connectivity it will support
the viability of local businesses. 4

In no particular order:

1. Supports rural economy
with the aid of new
infrastructure (Industrial
strategy).
2. Supports the creation of
new housing (white
paper).
3. Aids in creating a more
reliable, less congested
and better connected
network (DfT Transport
Investment Strategy).
4. Helps build a stronger,
more balanced economy
by responding to local
growth priorities. (DfT
Transport Investment
Strategy).
5. Conversely, however, it
could be seen as
encouraging car use and
not encouraging active or
sustainable travel
(sustainable travel –
NPPF, government
climate change objectives
including the Ten Point
Plan for a Green Industrial
Revolution, Walking and
Cycling Investment
Strategy, Gear Change - a
bold vision for cycling and
walking). 4

1. Enhances social inclusion and
tackles increasing congestion
(OxLEP’s SEP). However, it could be
seen as encouraging car use and not
encouraging active or sustainable
travel (sustainable travel - OxLEP
SEP).
2. Takes traffic away from key AQMA
streets in town centre (Defra).
3. OCC Transport Plan 2015 - 2031
:
3a. Maintains and improves transport
connections to support economic
growth and vitality across the county
3b. Makes most efficient use of all
available transport capacity through
innovative management of the
network
3b. Increases journey time reliability
3c. Develops a high-quality, resilient
integrated transport system that is
attractive to customers and
generates inward investment
3d. Improves public health and
reduces transport emissions (town
centre).
4. Watlington Neighbourhood plan:
4a. Protects and enhances the
special features of Watlington, such
as its historic character, natural
beauty, landscape and rural setting
4b. Resolves traffic issues, such as
safety by reducing traffic speeds,
reduction of the impact of traffic
generated by new development,
reduction of the number of
unauthorised HGVs using the town
centre as a through route, reduction
of congestion by better managing
through traffic including the
development of an edge road to the
north and west of the town
4c.Makes good provision for new and
existing residents by providing a well-
balanced mix of housing to meet
identified local needs and affordable
homes, by making sure that there is
good access for all from new housing
development into the town centre, to
other services and facilities and into
the surrounding countryside, by
creating a network of cycling and
walking paths and routes and by
supporting initiatives to improve
public transport
4d. Helps the local economy to grow
and
4e. Ensures that local infrastructure
is in place to meet the needs of a
growing population

The main uncertainties include:

1. Impacts on air quality and
noise: although the alignment
has the potential to improve air
quality (environmental report),
the actual environmental impacts
are uncertain and could depend
on the eventual composition of
development, the attractiveness
of the entire scheme (not only for
local traffic but also its wider
impacts)
2. Impact on journey times: this
will depend on the volume of
traffic attracted onto the road and
the operation of junctions
(although initial modelling
indicates that they should
operate within capacity). The
level of active frontage onto the
road may influence reliability.
Less active frontage from side
roads and properties will reduce
the potential for disruption.
3. Level of trips diverted away
from Watlington town centre:
although this is not the primary
purpose of the scheme, the
volume of traffic switching routes
will influence the function,
performance and impacts of the
proposed scheme.
4.Planning permission unlikely to
be achieved without support from
Environment Agency.
5.Expensive as requires
numerous structures
(conveyance structures through
flood plain for cross drainage,
and single span structure across
Charlgrove Brook). 3

The broad concept of
the scheme and
indicative alignment
corridor has gone
through public
consultation (through
South OX local plan
and Watlington
neighbourhood plan).
Local relevant councils
have been engaged
(Watlington, Pyrton
and Shirburn) in road
alignment discussions,
as have developers.
However there is less
consensus over the
need for the scheme
the overall (all
sections through sites
A, B, C and PYR)
which has been
expressed by Pyrton
Parish Council, or on
the preferred
alignments (differing
views from all parties)

P
age 657



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
75

Strategic Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description

Identified problems
and objectives of the
option

Scale
of
impact Scale of impact - Comments

Fit with wider
transport
and
government
objectives

Wider transport and
government objectives -
Comments

Fit with
other
objectives

Fit with other objectives -
Comments Key uncertainties

Degree of
consensus
over
outcomes?

Degree of consensus
over outcomes? -
Comments

E2.1.1.3 A-B
A2&4-
B4-

B4009 Britwell
Road (priority
give way
junction -
Junction 1)
through
southern part
of Site A and
Watlington
Industrial
Estate access
road to B480
Cuxham Road
(existing
roundabout at
Willow Close)
then using an
existing
upgraded
section of the
B480 Cuxham
Road to a new
roundabout
(Junction 2)
and into Site B

The key identified
problem (opportunity) is
to provide a transport
solution which unlocks
housing development
around Watlington
which is identified in the
South Oxfordshire
Local Plan and the
Watlington
Neighbourhood Plan.
The following objectives
are identified for this
option:

1. To unlock
development and
increase the availability
of affordable homes
2. To relieve congestion
in the Watlington centre
and make alternative
provision for some
through traffic
3. To improve air
quality and to reduce
the risk of flooding
4. To protect the
character of Watlington
as the town grows
5. To support the
viability of the Town
Centre shops and local
businesses and to
optimise opportunities
for local employment 5

This alignment would unlock
development in sites A and B and in
turn help facilitate an alignment through
Sites C and PYR1 & 2.  Link A2&4 is
closer to the edge of the town partly on
an existing route through the industrial
estate. Alterations required on the
industrial estate access road, on
Cuxham Road and to the Willow Close
roundabout (if required) could
potentially disturb the local
community. The alignment through Site
A will not match the alignment through
Site B, therefore requiring a dog-leg
which could increase journey time,
reduce attractiveness and route
continuity, and could be more
disruptive to existing users of Cuxham
Road. The link will divert some through
traffic from the town centre and
potentially reduce congestion. This link
could improve air quality in the town
centre of Watlington (environmental
report). The site of this alignment will be
built in a flood zone 1, meaning there
will be low to very low risk of
flooding, however this link will also
need to be built crossing the main river
(Environmental report appendix E).
Removing traffic from the centre and
redirecting it through the link would help
protect the character of the town.
Through increasing connectivity it will
support the viability of local
businesses. 4

In no particular order:

1. Supports rural economy
with the aid of new
infrastructure (Industrial
strategy).
2. Supports the creation of
new housing (white
paper).
3. Aids in creating a more
reliable, less congested
and better connected
network (DfT Transport
Investment Strategy).
4. Helps build a stronger,
more balanced economy
by responding to local
growth priorities. (DfT
Transport Investment
Strategy).
5. Conversely, however, it
could be seen as
encouraging car use and
not encouraging active or
sustainable travel
(sustainable travel –
NPPF, government
climate change objectives
including the Ten Point
Plan for a Green Industrial
Revolution, Walking and
Cycling Investment
Strategy, Gear Change - a
bold vision for cycling and
walking). 4

1. Enhances social inclusion and
tackles increasing congestion
(OxLEP’s SEP). However, it could be
seen as encouraging car use and not
encouraging active or sustainable
travel (sustainable travel - OxLEP
SEP).
2. Takes traffic away from key AQMA
streets in town centre (Defra).
3. OCC Transport Plan 2015 - 2031
:
3a. Maintains and improves transport
connections to support economic
growth and vitality across the county
3b. Makes most efficient use of all
available transport capacity through
innovative management of the
network
3b. Increases journey time reliability
3c. Develops a high-quality, resilient
integrated transport system that is
attractive to customers and
generates inward investment
3d. Improves public health and
reduces transport emissions (town
centre).
4. Watlington Neighbourhood plan:
4a. Protects and enhances the
special features of Watlington, such
as its historic character, natural
beauty, landscape and rural setting
4b. Resolves traffic issues, such as
safety by reducing traffic speeds,
reduction of the impact of traffic
generated by new development,
reduction of the number of
unauthorised HGVs using the town
centre as a through route, reduction
of congestion by better managing
through traffic including the
development of an edge road to the
north and west of the town
4c.Makes good provision for new and
existing residents by providing a well-
balanced mix of housing to meet
identified local needs and affordable
homes, by making sure that there is
good access for all from new housing
development into the town centre, to
other services and facilities and into
the surrounding countryside, by
creating a network of cycling and
walking paths and routes and by
supporting initiatives to improve
public transport
4d. Helps the local economy to grow
and
4e. Ensures that local infrastructure
is in place to meet the needs of a
growing population

The main uncertainties include:

1. Impacts on air quality and
noise: although the alignment
has the potential to improve air
quality (environmental report),
the actual environmental impacts
are uncertain and could depend
on the eventual composition of
development, the attractiveness
of the entire scheme (not only for
local traffic but also its wider
impacts). The alignment contains
two roundabout junctions which
are likely to increase carbon
emissions with stopping/starting.
Also, the reduced route continuity
may reduce attractiveness over
alternative routes, e.g. through
Watlington. With the alignment
being close to  Willow Close and
Beech Close, traffic noise could
negatively impact residents. 2.
Impact on journey times: this
will depend on the volume of
traffic attracted onto the road and
the operation of junctions
(although initial modelling
indicates that they should
operate within capacity). The
level of active frontage onto the
road may influence reliability.
Less active frontage from side
roads and properties will reduce
the potential for disruption.
 . Also, reduced route

continuity which may
reduce attractiveness
over alternative routes,
e.g. through Watlington

3. Level of trips diverted away
from Watlington town centre:
although this is not the primary
purpose of the scheme, the
volume of traffic switching routes
will influence the function,
performance and impacts of the
proposed scheme.
4.General impacts: Cuxham
roundabout will require levels
being raised due to flooding. This
alignment could have a possible
impact on existing utilities. 3

The broad concept of
the scheme and
indicative alignment
corridor has gone
through public
consultation (through
South OX local plan
and Watlington
neighbourhood plan).
Local relevant councils
have been engaged
(Watlington, Pyrton
and Shirburn) in road
alignment discussions,
as have developers.
However there is less
consensus over the
need for the overall
scheme (all sections
through sites A, B, C
and PYR) which has
been expressed by
Pyrton Parish Council,
or on the preferred
alignments (differing
views from all parties)

P
age 658



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
76

Strategic Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description

Identified problems
and objectives of the
option

Scale
of
impact Scale of impact - Comments

Fit with wider
transport
and
government
objectives

Wider transport and
government objectives -
Comments

Fit with
other
objectives

Fit with other objectives -
Comments Key uncertainties

Degree of
consensus
over
outcomes?

Degree of consensus
over outcomes? -
Comments

E2.1.1.4 A-B
A2&4-
B3-

B4009 Britwell
Road (priority
give way
junction -
Junction 1)
through
southern part
of Site A and
Watlington
Industrial
Estate access
road to B480
Cuxham Road
(upgraded
roundabout at
Willow Close -
Junction 2)
then into Site B
on a more
southerly
alignment.

The key identified
problem (opportunity) is
to provide a transport
solution which unlocks
housing development
around Watlington
which is identified in the
South Oxfordshire
Local Plan and the
Watlington
Neighbourhood Plan.
The following objectives
are identified for this
option:

1. To unlock
development and
increase the availability
of affordable homes 2.
To relieve congestion in
the Watlington centre
and make alternative
provision for some
through traffic
3. To improve air
quality and to reduce
the risk of flooding
4. To protect the
character of Watlington
as the town grows
5. To support the
viability of the Town
Centre shops and local
businesses and to
optimise opportunities
for local employment 5

This alignment would unlock
development in sites A and B and in
turn help facilitate an alignment through
Sites C and PYR1 & 2.  Link A2&4 runs
closer to the edge of the town on an
existing route through Watlington
Industrial Estate. Alterations required on
this road and at the roundabout with
Cuxham Road and Willow Close could
potentially disturb the local
community. The alignment will divert
some through traffic from the town
centre and reduce congestion.  This
link could improve air quality in the
town centre of Watlington
(environmental report). The site of this
link will be built in a flood zone 1,
meaning there will be low to very low
risk of flooding (Environmental report
appendix E). Removing traffic from the
centre and redirecting it through the link
would help protect the character of
the town. Through increasing
connectivity it will support the viability
of local businesses. 4

In no particular order:

1. Supports rural economy
with the aid of new
infrastructure (Industrial
strategy).
2. Supports the creation of
new housing (white
paper).
3. Aids in creating a more
reliable, less congested
and better connected
network (DfT Transport
Investment Strategy).
4. Helps build a stronger,
more balanced economy
by responding to local
growth priorities. (DfT
Transport Investment
Strategy).
5. Conversely, however, it
could be seen as
encouraging car use and
not encouraging active or
sustainable travel
(sustainable travel –
NPPF, government
climate change objectives
including the Ten Point
Plan for a Green Industrial
Revolution, Walking and
Cycling Investment
Strategy, Gear Change - a
bold vision for cycling and
walking). 4

1. Enhances social inclusion and
tackles increasing congestion
(OxLEP’s SEP). However, it could be
seen as encouraging car use and not
encouraging active or sustainable
travel (sustainable travel - OxLEP
SEP).
2. Takes traffic away from key AQMA
streets in town centre (Defra).
3. OCC Transport Plan 2015 - 2031
:
3a. Maintains and improves transport
connections to support economic
growth and vitality across the county
3b. Makes most efficient use of all
available transport capacity through
innovative management of the
network
3b. Increases journey time reliability
3c. Develops a high-quality, resilient
integrated transport system that is
attractive to customers and
generates inward investment
3d. Improves public health and
reduces transport emissions (town
centre).
4. Watlington Neighbourhood plan:
4a. Protects and enhances the
special features of Watlington, such
as its historic character, natural
beauty, landscape and rural setting
4b. Resolves traffic issues, such as
safety by reducing traffic speeds,
reduction of the impact of traffic
generated by new development,
reduction of the number of
unauthorised HGVs using the town
centre as a through route, reduction
of congestion by better managing
through traffic including the
development of an edge road to the
north and west of the town
4c.Makes good provision for new and
existing residents by providing a well-
balanced mix of housing to meet
identified local needs and affordable
homes, by making sure that there is
good access for all from new housing
development into the town centre, to
other services and facilities and into
the surrounding countryside, by
creating a network of cycling and
walking paths and routes and by
supporting initiatives to improve
public transport
4d. Helps the local economy to grow
and
4e. Ensures that local infrastructure
is in place to meet the needs of a
growing population

The main uncertainties include:

1. Impacts on air quality and
noise: although the alignment
has the potential to improve air
quality (environmental report),
the actual environmental impacts
are uncertain and could depend
on the eventual composition of
development, the attractiveness
of the entire scheme (not only for
local traffic but also its wider
impacts)
2. Impact on journey times: this
will depend on the volume of
traffic attracted onto the road and
the operation of junctions
(although initial modelling
indicates that they should
operate within capacity). The
level of active frontage onto the
road may influence reliability.
Less active frontage from side
roads and properties will reduce
the potential for disruption.
3. Level of trips diverted away
from Watlington town centre:
although this is not the primary
purpose of the scheme, the
volume of traffic switching routes
will influence the function,
performance and impacts of the
proposed scheme.
4.General impacts: Cuxham
roundabout will require levels
being raised due to flooding. This
alignment could have a possible
impact on existing utilities. 3

The broad concept of
the scheme and
indicative alignment
corridor has gone
through public
consultation (through
South OX local plan
and Watlington
neighbourhood plan).
Local relevant councils
have been engaged
(Watlington, Pryton
and Shirburn) in road
alignment discussions,
as have developers.
However there is less
consensus over the
need for the overall
scheme (all sections
through sites A, B, C
and PYR) which has
been expressed by
Pyrton Parish Council,
or on the preferred
alignments (differing
views from all parties)

P
age 659



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
77

Strategic Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description

Identified problems
and objectives of the
option

Scale
of
impact Scale of impact - Comments

Fit with wider
transport
and
government
objectives

Wider transport and
government objectives -
Comments

Fit with
other
objectives

Fit with other objectives -
Comments Key uncertainties

Degree of
consensus
over
outcomes?

Degree of consensus
over outcomes? -
Comments

E2.1.1.5 C-P -C1-P1

Through Site C
on a more
southerly
alignment,
taking part of
the existing
alignment of
Pyrton Lane to
the north of
Icknield
Community
College and
then taking the
alignment of
Pyrton Lane
and Station
Road to a new
roundabout
(Junction 3) on
the B4009
Shirburn Road
at the current
location of the
crossroads.

The key identified
problem (opportunity) is
to provide a transport
solution which unlocks
housing development
around Watlington
which is identified in the
South Oxfordshire
Local Plan and the
Watlington
Neighbourhood Plan.
The following objectives
are identified for this
option:

1. To unlock
development and
increase the availability
of affordable homes   2.
To relieve congestion in
the Watlington centre
and make alternative
provision for some
through traffic
3. To improve air
quality and to reduce
the risk of flooding
4. To protect the
character of Watlington
as the town grows
5. To support the
viability of the Town
Centre shops and local
businesses and to
optimise opportunities
for local employment 5

This alignment would unlock
development in sites C, PYR2 and
PYR1 and in turn help facilitate
development in Sites A and B. The
alignment is situated farthest away from
the edge of the town so could mean
less disruption to the local
community. It will divert through traffic
from the town centre and could reduce
congestion. This alignment could
improve air quality in the town centre
of Watlington however it would increase
traffic in close proximity to schools. Due
to the positioning of P1 this will mean
the current road will need to be
altered and hedges to be removed.
The existing route is not the most direct
one so may lack continuity and could
be less attractive. Removing traffic from
the centre and redirecting it through the
link would help protect the character
of the town. Through increasing
connectivity it will support the viability
of local businesses. 3

In no particular order:

1. Supports rural economy
with the aid of new
infrastructure (Industrial
strategy).
2. Supports the creation of
new housing (white
paper).
3. Aids in creating a more
reliable, less congested
and better connected
network (DfT Transport
Investment Strategy).
4. Helps build a stronger,
more balanced economy
by responding to local
growth priorities. (DfT
Transport Investment
Strategy).
5. Conversely, however, it
could be seen as
encouraging car use and
not encouraging active or
sustainable travel
(sustainable travel –
NPPF, government
climate change objectives
including the Ten Point
Plan for a Green Industrial
Revolution, Walking and
Cycling Investment
Strategy, Gear Change - a
bold vision for cycling and
walking). 3

1. Enhances social inclusion and
tackles increasing congestion
(OxLEP’s SEP). However, it could be
seen as encouraging car use and not
encouraging active or sustainable
travel (sustainable travel - OxLEP
SEP).
2. Takes traffic away from key AQMA
streets in town centre (Defra).
3. OCC Transport Plan 2015 - 2031
:
3a. Maintains and improves transport
connections to support economic
growth and vitality across the county
3b. Makes most efficient use of all
available transport capacity through
innovative management of the
network
3b. Increases journey time reliability
3c. Develops a high-quality, resilient
integrated transport system that is
attractive to customers and
generates inward investment
3d. Improves public health and
reduces transport emissions (town
centre).
4. Watlington Neighbourhood plan:
4a. Protects and enhances the
special features of Watlington, such
as its historic character, natural
beauty, landscape and rural setting
4b. Resolves traffic issues, such as
safety by reducing traffic speeds,
reduction of the impact of traffic
generated by new development,
reduction of the number of
unauthorised HGVs using the town
centre as a through route, reduction
of congestion by better managing
through traffic including the
development of an edge road to the
north and west of the town
4c.Makes good provision for new and
existing residents by providing a well-
balanced mix of housing to meet
identified local needs and affordable
homes, by making sure that there is
good access for all from new housing
development into the town centre, to
other services and facilities and into
the surrounding countryside, by
creating a network of cycling and
walking paths and routes and by
supporting initiatives to improve
public transport
4d. Helps the local economy to grow
and
4e. Ensures that local infrastructure
is in place to meet the needs of a
growing population
5. Pyrton Neighbourhood Plan:
5a. Protects heritage features by
avoiding traffic moving through PYR1
site

The main uncertainties include:

1. Impacts on air quality and
noise: although the alignment
has the potential to improve air
quality (environmental report),
the actual environmental impacts
are uncertain and could depend
on the eventual composition of
development, the attractiveness
of the entire scheme (not only for
local traffic but also its wider
impacts)
2. Impact on journey times: this
will depend on the volume of
traffic attracted onto the road and
the operation of junctions
(although initial modelling
indicates that they should
operate within capacity). The
level of active frontage onto the
road may influence reliability.
Less active frontage from side
roads and properties will reduce
the potential for disruption.
3. Level of trips diverted away
from Watlington town centre:
although this is not the primary
purpose of the scheme, the
volume of traffic switching routes
will influence the function,
performance and impacts of the
proposed scheme.
4. Level of impact on Pyrton
Village: this option runs close to
Pyrton village as it will use
existing roads which will be
upgraded. This could have more
of an immediate impact on local
communities, causing additional
disruption, noise and severance.
5.Generalimpacts: Opportunities
to widen Station Road limited
due to residential property and
the new junction required at the
intersection of Pyrton Lane with
Station Road, requiring additional
landtake. 3

The broad concept of
the scheme and
indicative alignment
corridor has gone
through public
consultation (through
South OX local plan
and Watlington
neighbourhood plan).
Local relevant councils
have been engaged
(Watlington, Pyrton
and Shirburn) in road
alignment discussions,
as have developers.
However there is less
consensus over the
need for the overall
scheme (all sections
through sites A, B, C
and PYR) which has
been expressed by
Pyrton Parish Council,
or on the preferred
alignments (differing
views from all parties)

P
age 660



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
78

Strategic Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description

Identified problems
and objectives of the
option

Scale
of
impact Scale of impact - Comments

Fit with wider
transport
and
government
objectives

Wider transport and
government objectives -
Comments

Fit with
other
objectives

Fit with other objectives -
Comments Key uncertainties

Degree of
consensus
over
outcomes?

Degree of consensus
over outcomes? -
Comments

5b. Manages sensitively any
redevelopment or re-use of the
former Ministry of Defence (MoD) site
(PYR1) at the junction of the Shirburn
Road (B4009) with the unnamed road
leading down to Pyrton
5c. Establishes the principles for the
future of planning policy for Pyrton
charity lands and PYR2;
5d. However, it could be seen as not
managing and minimising traffic
movements, nor safeguarding Pyrton
from any adverse impact from
increased levels of through-traffic

E2.1.1.6 C-P -C1-P2

Through Site C
on a more
southerly
alignment,
taking part of
the existing
alignment of
Pyrton Lane
and Station
Road to the
north of
Icknield
Community
College and
then taking a
new alignment
across PYR2
site to a new
roundabout
(Junction 3) on
the B4009
Shirburn Road
at the current
location of the
crossroads.

The key identified
problem (opportunity) is
to provide a transport
solution which unlocks
housing development
around Watlington
which is identified in the
South Oxfordshire
Local Plan and the
Watlington
Neighbourhood Plan.
The following objectives
are identified for this
option:

1. To unlock
development and
increase the availability
of affordable homes
2. To relieve congestion
in the Watlington centre
and make alternative
provision for some
through traffic
3. To improve air
quality and to reduce
the risk of flooding
4. To protect the
character of Watlington
as the town grows
5. To support the
viability of the Town
Centre shops and local
businesses and to
optimise opportunities
for local employment 5

This alignment would unlock
development in sites C, PYR2 and
PYR1 and in turn help facilitate
development in Sites A and B. The
alignment is situated farthest away from
the edge of the town so could mean
less disruption to the local
community in Watlington but higher
disruption to residents in Pyrton. It
will divert through traffic from the town
centre and could reduce congestion.
This link could improve air quality in
the town centre of Watlington however it
would increase traffic in close proximity
to schools. Removing traffic from the
centre and redirecting it through the link
would help protect the character of
the town. Through increasing
connectivity it will support the viability
of local businesses. There should be a
higher degree of route continuity
therefore it should perform better for its
intended purpose. 4

In no particular order:

1. Supports rural economy
with the aid of new
infrastructure (Industrial
strategy).
2. Supports the creation of
new housing (white
paper).
3. Aids in creating a more
reliable, less congested
and better connected
network (DfT Transport
Investment Strategy).
4. Helps build a stronger,
more balanced economy
by responding to local
growth priorities. (DfT
Transport Investment
Strategy).
5. Conversely, however, it
could be seen as
encouraging car use and
not encouraging active or
sustainable travel
(sustainable travel –
NPPF, government
climate change objectives
including the Ten Point
Plan for a Green Industrial
Revolution, Walking and
Cycling Investment
Strategy, Gear Change - a
bold vision for cycling and
walking). 3

1. Enhances social inclusion and
tackles increasing congestion
(OxLEP’s SEP). However, it could be
seen as encouraging car use and not
encouraging active or sustainable
travel (sustainable travel - OxLEP
SEP).
2. Takes traffic away from key AQMA
streets in town centre (Defra).
3. OCC Transport Plan 2015 - 2031
:
3a. Maintains and improves transport
connections to support economic
growth and vitality across the county
3b. Makes most efficient use of all
available transport capacity through
innovative management of the
network
3b. Increases journey time reliability
3c. Develops a high-quality, resilient
integrated transport system that is
attractive to customers and
generates inward investment
3d. Improves public health and
reduces transport emissions (town
centre).
4. Watlington Neighbourhood plan:
4a. Protects and enhances the
special features of Watlington, such
as its historic character, natural
beauty, landscape and rural setting
4b. Resolves traffic issues, such as
safety by reducing traffic speeds,
reduction of the impact of traffic
generated by new development,
reduction of the number of
unauthorised HGVs using the town
centre as a through route, reduction
of congestion by better managing
through traffic including the
development of an edge road to the
north and west of the town
4c.Makes good provision for new and
existing residents by providing a well-
balanced mix of housing to meet
identified local needs and affordable
homes, by making sure that there is
good access for all from new housing
development into the town centre, to
other services and facilities and into

The main uncertainties include:

1. Impacts on air quality and
noise: although the alignment
has the potential to improve air
quality (environmental report),
the actual environmental impacts
are uncertain and could depend
on the eventual composition of
development, the attractiveness
of the entire scheme (not only for
local traffic but also its wider
impacts). Queueing is likely to
have greater effect on air quality.
2. Impact on journey times: this
will depend on the volume of
traffic attracted onto the road and
the operation of junctions
(although initial modelling
indicates that they should
operate within capacity). The
level of active frontage onto the
road may influence reliability.
Less active frontage from side
roads and properties will reduce
the potential for disruption.
3. Level of trips diverted away
from Watlington town centre:
although this is not the primary
purpose of the scheme, the
volume of traffic switching routes
will influence the function,
performance and impacts of the
proposed scheme.
4. Level of impact on Pyrton
Village: this option runs fairly
close to Pyrton village which the
existing Pyrton Lane and Station
Road expected to feed into the
new road as minor side arms.
This could have some impact on
local communities, causing
additional disruption, noise and
severance. 3

The broad concept of
the scheme and
indicative alignment
corridor has gone
through public
consultation (through
South OX local plan
and Watlington
neighbourhood plan).
Local relevant councils
have been engaged
(Watlington, Pyrton
and Shirburn) in road
alignment discussions,
as have developers.
However there is less
consensus over the
need for the overall
scheme (all sections
through sites A, B, C
and PYR) which has
been expressed by
Pyrton Parish Council,
or on the preferred
alignments (differing
views from all parties)

P
age 661



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
79

Strategic Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description

Identified problems
and objectives of the
option

Scale
of
impact Scale of impact - Comments

Fit with wider
transport
and
government
objectives

Wider transport and
government objectives -
Comments

Fit with
other
objectives

Fit with other objectives -
Comments Key uncertainties

Degree of
consensus
over
outcomes?

Degree of consensus
over outcomes? -
Comments

the surrounding countryside, by
creating a network of cycling and
walking paths and routes and by
supporting initiatives to improve
public transport
4d. Helps the local economy to grow
and
4e. Ensures that local infrastructure
is in place to meet the needs of a
growing population
5. Pyrton Neighbourhood Plan:
5a. Protects heritage features by
avoiding traffic moving through PYR1
site
5b. Manages sensitively any
redevelopment or re-use of the
former Ministry of Defence (MoD) site
(PYR1) at the junction of the Shirburn
Road (B4009) with the unnamed road
leading down to Pyrton
5c. Establishes the principles for the
future of planning policy for Pyrton
charity lands and PYR2;
5d. However, it could be seen as not
managing and minimising traffic
movements, nor safeguarding Pyrton
from any adverse impact from
increased levels of through-traffic

E2.1.1.7 C-P -C2-P6

Through Site C
on a more
central
alignment,
crossing the
existing Pyrton
Lane at the
northern most
corner of the
Icknield
Community
College site
and then taking
a new
alignment
across PYR2
site to a new
roundabout
(Junction 3) on
the B4009
Shirburn Road
at the current
location of the
crossroads.

The key identified
problem (opportunity) is
to provide a transport
solution which unlocks
housing development
around Watlington
which is identified in the
South Oxfordshire
Local Plan and the
Watlington
Neighbourhood Plan.
The following objectives
are identified for this
option:

1. To unlock
development and
increase the availability
of affordable homes
2. To relieve congestion
in the Watlington centre
and make alternative
provision for some
through traffic
3. To improve air
quality and to reduce
the risk of flooding
4. To protect the
character of Watlington
as the town grows
5. To support the
viability of the Town
Centre shops and local
businesses and to
optimise opportunities
for local employment 5

This alignment would unlock
development in sites C, PYR2 and
PYR1 and in turn help facilitate
development in Sites A and B. The
alignment is situated farthest away from
the edge of the town so could mean
less disruption to the local
community of Watlington and to
Pyrton (in comparison to Options P1
and P2). It will divert some through
traffic from the town centre and could
reduce congestion. This link could
improve air quality in the town centre
of Watlington. Removing traffic from the
centre and redirecting it through the link
would help protect the character of
the town. Through increasing
connectivity it will support the viability
of local businesses. There should be a
higher degree of route continuity
therefore it should perform better for its
intended purpose. 4

In no particular order:

1. Supports rural economy
with the aid of new
infrastructure (Industrial
strategy).
2. Supports the creation of
new housing (white
paper).
3. Aids in creating a more
reliable, less congested
and better connected
network (DfT Transport
Investment Strategy).
4. Helps build a stronger,
more balanced economy
by responding to local
growth priorities. (DfT
Transport Investment
Strategy).
5. Conversely, however, it
could be seen as
encouraging car use and
not encouraging active or
sustainable travel
(sustainable travel –
NPPF, government
climate change objectives
including the Ten Point
Plan for a Green Industrial
Revolution, Walking and
Cycling Investment
Strategy, Gear Change - a
bold vision for cycling and
walking). 3

1. Enhances social inclusion and
tackles increasing congestion
(OxLEP’s SEP). However, it could be
seen as encouraging car use and not
encouraging active or sustainable
travel (sustainable travel - OxLEP
SEP).
2. Takes traffic away from key AQMA
streets in town centre (Defra).
3. OCC Transport Plan 2015 - 2031
:
3a. Maintains and improves transport
connections to support economic
growth and vitality across the county
3b. Makes most efficient use of all
available transport capacity through
innovative management of the
network
3b. Increases journey time reliability
3c. Develops a high-quality, resilient
integrated transport system that is
attractive to customers and
generates inward investment
3d. Improves public health and
reduces transport emissions (town
centre).
4. Watlington Neighbourhood plan:
4a. Protects and enhances the
special features of Watlington, such
as its historic character, natural
beauty, landscape and rural setting
4b. Resolves traffic issues, such as
safety by reducing traffic speeds,
reduction of the impact of traffic
generated by new development,
reduction of the number of

The main uncertainties include:

1. Impacts on air quality and
noise: although the alignment
has the potential to improve air
quality (environmental report),
the actual environmental impacts
are uncertain and could depend
on the eventual composition of
development, the attractiveness
of the entire scheme (not only for
local traffic but also its wider
impacts). Queueing is likely to
have greater effect on air quality.
2. Impact on journey times: this
will depend on the volume of
traffic attracted onto the road and
the operation of junctions
(although initial modelling
indicates that they should
operate within capacity). The
level of active frontage onto the
road may influence reliability.
Less active frontage from side
roads and properties will reduce
the potential for disruption.
3. Level of trips diverted away
from Watlington town centre:
although this is not the primary
purpose of the scheme, the
volume of traffic switching routes
will influence the function,
performance and impacts of the
proposed scheme.
4. Level of impact on Pyrton
Village: this option runs fairly 3

The broad concept of
the scheme and
indicative alignment
corridor has gone
through public
consultation (through
South OX local plan
and Watlington
neighbourhood plan).
Local relevant councils
have been engaged
(Watlington, Pyrton
and Shirburn) in road
alignment discussions,
as have developers.
However there is less
consensus over the
need for the overall
scheme (all sections
through sites A, B, C
and PYR) which has
been expressed by
Pyrton Parish Council,
or on the preferred
alignments (differing
views from all parties)

P
age 662



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
80

Strategic Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description

Identified problems
and objectives of the
option

Scale
of
impact Scale of impact - Comments

Fit with wider
transport
and
government
objectives

Wider transport and
government objectives -
Comments

Fit with
other
objectives

Fit with other objectives -
Comments Key uncertainties

Degree of
consensus
over
outcomes?

Degree of consensus
over outcomes? -
Comments

unauthorised HGVs using the town
centre as a through route, reduction
of congestion by better managing
through traffic including the
development of an edge road to the
north and west of the town
4c.Makes good provision for new and
existing residents by providing a well-
balanced mix of housing to meet
identified local needs and affordable
homes, by making sure that there is
good access for all from new housing
development into the town centre, to
other services and facilities and into
the surrounding countryside, by
creating a network of cycling and
walking paths and routes and by
supporting initiatives to improve
public transport
4d. Helps the local economy to grow
and
4e. Ensures that local infrastructure
is in place to meet the needs of a
growing population
5. Pyrton Neighbourhood Plan:
5a. Protects heritage features by
avoiding traffic moving through PYR1
site
5b. Manages sensitively any
redevelopment or re-use of the
former Ministry of Defence (MoD) site
(PYR1) at the junction of the Shirburn
Road (B4009) with the unnamed road
leading down to Pyrton
5c. Establishes the principles for the
future of planning policy for Pyrton
charity lands and PYR2;
5d. However, it could be seen as not
managing and minimising traffic
movements, nor safeguarding Pyrton
from any adverse impact from
increased levels of through-traffic

close to Pyrton village which the
existing Pyrton Lane and Station
Road expected to feed into the
new road as minor side arms.
This could have some impact on
local communities, causing
additional disruption, noise and
severance.

E2.1.1.8 C-P -C2-P7

Through Site C
on a more
central
alignment,
crossing the
existing Pyrton
Lane at the
northern most
corner of the
Icknield
Community
College site
and then taking
a new
alignment
across broadly
around the
edge of
Watlington and
joining the
B4009
Shirburn Road

The key identified
problem (opportunity) is
to provide a transport
solution which unlocks
housing development
around Watlington
which is identified in the
South Oxfordshire
Local Plan and the
Watlington
Neighbourhood Plan.
The following objectives
are identified for this
option:

1. To unlock
development and
increase the availability
of affordable homes 2.
To relieve congestion in
the Watlington centre
and make alternative 5

This alignment would unlock
development in sites C, PYR2 and
PYR1 and in turn help facilitate
development in Sites A and B. P7 link
runs close to the edge of Watlington,
near schools and on the edge of the
recreation ground, so likely to cause
disruption. The link will divert some
through traffic from the town centre and
could reduce congestion.  This
alignment would improve air quality in
the town centre of Watlington but could
create new air quality issues around the
edge of the town. Removing traffic from
the centre and redirecting it through the
link would help protect the character
of the town. Through increasing
connectivity it will support the viability
of local businesses. The more
circuitous alignment may make the
route less attractive and effective for its
intended purpose. 3

In no particular order:

1. Supports rural economy
with the aid of new
infrastructure (Industrial
strategy).
2. Supports the creation of
new housing (white
paper).
3. Aids in creating a more
reliable, less congested
and better connected
network (DfT Transport
Investment Strategy).
4. Helps build a stronger,
more balanced economy
by responding to local
growth priorities. (DfT
Transport Investment
Strategy).
5. Conversely, however, it
could be seen as 3

1. Enhances social inclusion and
tackles increasing congestion
(OxLEP’s SEP). However, it could be
seen as encouraging car use and not
encouraging active or sustainable
travel (sustainable travel - OxLEP
SEP).
2. Takes traffic away from key AQMA
streets in town centre (Defra).
3. OCC Transport Plan 2015 - 2031
:
3a. Maintains and improves transport
connections to support economic
growth and vitality across the county
3b. Makes most efficient use of all
available transport capacity through
innovative management of the
network
3b. Increases journey time reliability
3c. Develops a high-quality, resilient
integrated transport system that is
attractive to customers and

The main uncertainties include:

1. Impacts on air quality and
noise: although the alignment
has the potential to improve air
quality (environmental report),
the actual environmental impacts
are uncertain and could depend
on the eventual composition of
development, the attractiveness
of the entire scheme (not only for
local traffic but also its wider
impacts).  Queueing modelled on
Station Road is likely to have
greater effect on air quality.

2. Impact on journey times: this
will depend on the volume of
traffic attracted onto the road and
the operation of junctions
(although initial modelling
indicates that they should 3

The broad concept of
the scheme and
indicative alignment
corridor has gone
through public
consultation (through
South OX local plan
and Watlington
neighbourhood plan).
Local relevant councils
have been engaged
(Watlington, Pyrton
and Shirburn) in road
alignment discussions,
as have developers.
However there is less
consensus over the
need for the overall
scheme (all sections
through sites A, B, C
and PYR) which has
been expressed by

P
age 663



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
81

Strategic Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description

Identified problems
and objectives of the
option

Scale
of
impact Scale of impact - Comments

Fit with wider
transport
and
government
objectives

Wider transport and
government objectives -
Comments

Fit with
other
objectives

Fit with other objectives -
Comments Key uncertainties

Degree of
consensus
over
outcomes?

Degree of consensus
over outcomes? -
Comments

to the south of
PYR1 and
north of the
Watlington
Recreation
Ground at a
new
roundabout
junction
(Junction 3)

provision for some
through traffic
3. To improve air
quality and to reduce
the risk of flooding
4. To protect the
character of Watlington
as the town grows
5. To support the
viability of the Town
Centre shops and local
businesses and to
optimise opportunities
for local employment

encouraging car use and
not encouraging active or
sustainable travel
(sustainable travel –
NPPF, government
climate change objectives
including the Ten Point
Plan for a Green Industrial
Revolution, Walking and
Cycling Investment
Strategy, Gear Change - a
bold vision for cycling and
walking).

generates inward investment
3d. Improves public health and
reduces transport emissions (town
centre).
4. Watlington Neighbourhood plan:
4a. Protects and enhances the
special features of Watlington, such
as its historic character, natural
beauty, landscape and rural setting
4b. Resolves traffic issues, such as
safety by reducing traffic speeds,
reduction of the impact of traffic
generated by new development,
reduction of the number of
unauthorised HGVs using the town
centre as a through route, reduction
of congestion by better managing
through traffic including the
development of an edge road to the
north and west of the town
4c.Makes good provision for new and
existing residents by providing a well-
balanced mix of housing to meet
identified local needs and affordable
homes, by making sure that there is
good access for all from new housing
development into the town centre, to
other services and facilities and into
the surrounding countryside, by
creating a network of cycling and
walking paths and routes and by
supporting initiatives to improve
public transport
4d. Helps the local economy to grow
and
4e. Ensures that local infrastructure
is in place to meet the needs of a
growing population
5. Pyrton Neighbourhood Plan:
5a. Protects heritage features by
avoiding traffic moving through PYR1
site
5b. Manages sensitively any
redevelopment or re-use of the
former Ministry of Defence (MoD) site
(PYR1) at the junction of the Shirburn
Road (B4009) with the unnamed road
leading down to Pyrton
5c. Establishes the principles for the
future of planning policy for Pyrton
charity lands and PYR2;
5d. However, it could be seen as not
managing and minimising traffic
movements, nor safeguarding Pyrton
from any adverse impact from
increased levels of through-traffic

operate within capacity). The
level of active frontage onto the
road may influence reliability.
Less active frontage from side
roads and properties will reduce
the potential for disruption.
3. Level of trips diverted away
from Watlington town centre:
although this is not the primary
purpose of the scheme, the
volume of traffic switching routes
will influence the function,
performance and impacts of the
proposed scheme.

Pyrton Parish Council,
or on the preferred
alignments (differing
views from all parties)

P
age 664



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
82

Economic Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description

Economic
Growth

Economic growth -
Comments

Carbon
emissions

Carbon emissions -
Comments

Socio-
distribu
tional
impact
s and
the
regions

Socio-distributional
impacts and the
regions - Comments

Local
environ
ment Local environment - Comments Well being Wellbeing - Comments

Expected VfM
Category

Expected VfM
Category -
Comments

E2.1.1.1 A-B A1-B1-

B4009 Britwell
Road (priority
give way
junction -
Junction 1)
through Site A
on most
northerly
alignment to
B480 Cuxham
Road (new
roundabout -
Junction 2) and
into Site B 5

1. Connectivity: the
scheme will provide
faster connections
between new
developments and
areas south of
Watlington as well as
the M40
2. Reliability: the
scheme junctions will
operate within
capacity and
acceptable queueing
will be observed.
Journey times will be
improved (transport
modelling report).
However, as it is a
new road, accidents
may occur.
3. Wider Economic
Impacts: this can only
be assessed at a later
stage. An area of
influence (AoI) will
have to be defined so
this alignment is
assessed.
4. Resilience: the
alignment will be built
for flood resistance
would increase
resilience of the local
network. It is unlikely
to be affected by
terrorism, however
climate change, such
as extreme
snow/ice/adverse
weather, may have an
effect.
4. Delivery of
housing: the scheme
will directly aid the
delivery of housing as
it is essential for the
connection of local
development sites A,
B, C, PYR1 and PYR2 3

1. Activity: New link
road likely to facilitate
car traffic and therefore
potentially an increase in
emissions will occur.
2. Embedded Carbon:
No evidence found.
3. Carbon Efficiency:
There is no clear
indication that the option
would lead to increased
carbon efficiencies 5

The proposed scheme is
expected to increase
accessibility between
areas and will increase
attraction for previously
undeveloped parts of
Watlington. As any new
construction, it is
expected to reduce
affordability, however,
Watlington's objective to
develop affordable
housing will alleviate this
risk. 3

1. Air quality: The residential area
on Willow Close is less likely to be
impacted. Traffic associated with
Site A will not congest the existing
roundabout on Cuxham Road.
(Environmental Baseline Report)
2. Noise: Given the distance of the
properties from the proposed route
and the intervening housing
development noise increases are
not likely to be large
(Environmental Baseline Report).
May result in some noise
increases at the traveller site to the
west of Site A (Noise
Comments.docx).
3. Natural environment, heritage
and landscape: Proposed
roundabout in the western part of
Site A would reduce the visibility of
the proposed road for residents in
Watlington and retain the
vegetated boundary adjacent to
Willow Close (Environmental
Baseline Report). The alignment of
A1 is through poor semi-improved
grassland whereas B1 is aligned
through arable field. (Wood
Ecology Plans.pdf)
In terms of heritage, alignment A1-
B1 is a preferable option due to
moving the main junction further
away from the Watlington
Conservation Area and the Church
of St Leonard (Environmental
Baseline Report)
In terms of water environment,
alignment A1-B1 requires a large
increase in impermeable area
close to Chalgrove Brook, has
watercourse crossings and
crosses a substantial area of Flood
Zone 3. (Environmental Baseline
Report, Water Environment
Comments.docx and https://flood-
map-for-
planning.service.gov.uk/confirm-
location?easting=468633&northing
=194858&placeOrPostcode=watlin
gton)
4. Streetscape and urban
environment:
No significant impact on
streetscape and urban
environment (Based on own
judgment; no evidence found from
reports). 4

1. Severance: No interference
with Public Rights of Way are
expected for this option
(https://publicrightsofway.oxfor
dshire.gov.uk/Web/standardm
ap.aspx)
2. Physical activity: New
relief road will provide an
alternative route to cars, LGVs
and HGVs, which will help
create better conditions for
walking and cycling and
improve bus journey times in
Watlington. However, the new
link road will likely encourage
car travel elsewhere.
3. Injury or deaths: As for
every new road, local road
users will require a period of
adjustment, which could
possibly result in creating new
risks, such as accidents.
However, these risks would be
expected to reduce as local
people get familiar with the
new road system.
4. Crime: No evidence found.
5. Enjoying access: A1 will
provide access to an activity
centre and to the existing
residential area of Watlington.
B1 will provide access to the
existing residential area of
Watlington.

Medium - 1.5-
2

Value for Money
cannot be fully judged
at this stage therefore
a mid-estimate has
been made. Value for
money could be higher
as the private sector is
completing part of the
route therefore costs
to the UK tax payer
will be lowered.

P
age 665



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
83

Economic Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description

Economic
Growth

Economic growth -
Comments

Carbon
emissions

Carbon emissions -
Comments

Socio-
distribu
tional
impact
s and
the
regions

Socio-distributional
impacts and the
regions - Comments

Local
environ
ment Local environment - Comments Well being Wellbeing - Comments

Expected VfM
Category

Expected VfM
Category -
Comments

E2.1.1.2 A-B A5-B5-

B4009 Britwell
Road (priority
give way
junction -
Junction 1)
through Site A
on more
northerly
alignment to
B480 Cuxham
Road (new
roundabout -
Junction 2) and
into Site B 5

1. Connectivity: the
scheme will provide
faster connections
between new
developments and
areas south of
Watlington as well as
the M40
2. Reliability: the
scheme junctions will
operate within
capacity and
acceptable queueing
will be observed.
Journey times will be
improved (transport
modelling report).
However, as it is a
new road, accidents
may occur.
3. Wider Economic
Impacts: this can only
be assessed at a later
stage. An area of
influence (AoI) will
have to be defined so
this alignment is
assessed.
4. Resilience: the
alignment will be built
for flood resistance
would increase
resilience of the local
network. It is unlikely
to be affected by
terrorism, however
climate change, such
as extreme
snow/ice/adverse
weather, may have an
effect.
4. Delivery of
housing: the scheme
will directly aid the
delivery of housing as
it is essential for the
connection of local
development sites A,
B, C, PYR1 and PYR2 3

1. Activity: New link
road likely to facilitate
car traffic and therefore
potentially an increase in
emissions will occur.
2. Embedded Carbon:
No evidence found.
3. Carbon Efficiency:
There is no clear
indication that the option
would lead to increased
carbon efficiencies 5

The proposed scheme is
expected to increase
accessibility between
areas and will increase
attraction for previously
undeveloped parts of
Watlington. As any new
construction, it is
expected to reduce
affordability, however,
Watlington's objective to
develop affordable
housing will alleviate this
risk. 3

1. Air quality: The residential area
on Willow Close is less likely to be
impacted. Traffic associated with
Site A will not congest the existing
roundabout on Cuxham Road.
(Environmental Baseline Report)
2. Noise: Given the distance of the
properties from the proposed route
and the intervening housing
development noise increases are
not likely to be large
(Environmental Baseline Report).
May result in some noise
increases at the traveller site to the
west of Site A (Noise
Comments.docx).
3. Natural environment, heritage
and landscape: Proposed
roundabout in the western part of
Site A would reduce the visibility of
the proposed road for residents in
Watlington and retain the
vegetated boundary adjacent to
Willow Close (Environmental
Baseline Report). However, B5 is a
preferred option on the Site B as it
provides a direct alignment across
the Site without the loss of key
vegetation and is sited away from
the residents. (Landscape
Comments.docx).
In terms of heritage, alignment A5-
B5 is preferable due to moving the
main junction further away from
the Watlington Conservation Area
and the Church of St Leonard
(Environmental Baseline Report).
In terms of water environment,
alignment A5-B5 requires a large
increase in impermeable area
close to Chalgrove Brook, has
watercourse crossings and
crosses a substantial area of Flood
Zone 3. (Water Environment
Comments.docx and https://flood-
map-for-
planning.service.gov.uk/confirm-
location?easting=468633&northing
=194858&placeOrPostcode=watlin
gton)
4. Streetscape and urban
environment:
No significant impact on
streetscape and urban
environment (Based on own
judgment; no evidence found from
reports). 4

1. Severance: No interference
with Public Rights of Way are
expected for this option
(https://publicrightsofway.oxfor
dshire.gov.uk/Web/standardm
ap.aspx)
2. Physical activity: New
relief road will provide an
alternative route to cars, LGVs
and HGVs, which will help
create better conditions for
walking and cycling and
improve bus journey times in
Watlington. However, the new
link road will likely encourage
car travel elsewhere.
3. Injury or deaths: As for
every new road, local road
users will require a period of
adjustment, which could
possibly result in creating new
risks, such as accidents.
However, these risks would be
expected to reduce as local
people get familiar with the
new road system.
4. Crime: No evidence found.
5. Enjoying access: A1 will
provide access to an activity
centre and to the existing
residential area of Watlington.
B1 will provide access to the
existing residential area of
Watlington and religious
centres.

Medium - 1.5-
2

Value for Money
cannot be fully judged
at this stage therefore
a mid-estimate has
been made. Value for
money could be higher
as the private sector is
completing part of the
route therefore costs
to the UK tax payer
will be lowered.

P
age 666



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
84

Economic Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description

Economic
Growth

Economic growth -
Comments

Carbon
emissions

Carbon emissions -
Comments

Socio-
distribu
tional
impact
s and
the
regions

Socio-distributional
impacts and the
regions - Comments

Local
environ
ment Local environment - Comments Well being Wellbeing - Comments

Expected VfM
Category

Expected VfM
Category -
Comments

E2.1.1.3 A-B
A2&4-

B4-

B4009 Britwell
Road (priority
give way
junction -
Junction 1)
through
southern part of
Site A and
Watlington
Industrial Estate
access road to
B480 Cuxham
Road (existing
roundabout at
Willow Close)
then using an
existing
upgraded
section of the
B480 Cuxham
Road to a new
roundabout
(Junction 2) and
into Site B 5

1. Connectivity: the
scheme will provide
faster connections
between new
developments and
areas south of
Watlington as well as
the M40
2. Reliability: the
scheme junctions will
operate within
capacity and
acceptable queueing
will be observed.
Journey times will be
improved. Additional
traffic from the
proposed residential
development will not
cause any major
concerns for the
existing roundabout
(transport modelling
report). However, as it
is a new road,
accidents may occur.
3. Wider Economic
Impacts: this can only
be assessed at a later
stage. An area of
influence (AoI) will
have to be defined so
this alignment is
assessed.
4. Resilience: the
alignment will be built
for flood resistance
would increase
resilience of the local
network. It is unlikely
to be affected by
terrorism, however
climate change, such
as extreme
snow/ice/adverse
weather, may have an
effect.
4. Delivery of
housing: the scheme
will directly aid the
delivery of housing as
it is essential for the
connection of local
development sites A,
B, C, PYR1 and PYR2 2

1. Activity: New link
road likely to facilitate
car traffic and therefore
potentially an increase in
emissions will occur.
2. Embedded Carbon:
No evidence found.
3. Carbon Efficiency:
Use of the existing
industrial estate road for
access to Site A may
cause congestion on the
existing Cuxham Road
roundabout
(Environmental Baseline
Report). The route
contains two roundabout
junctions which are likely
to reduce the average
speed and increase
carbon emissions
through the
starting/stopping car
phases (Own judgment). 5

The proposed scheme is
expected to increase
accessibility between
areas and will increase
attraction for previously
undeveloped parts of
Watlington. 3

1. Air quality: Use of the existing
industrial estate road for access to
Site A may cause congestion on
the existing Cuxham Road
roundabout which could affect air
quality. The road also brings
vehicles closer to new residential
properties within Site B
development. (Environmental
Baseline Report)
2. Noise: This option would result
in adverse traffic noise impacts for
residents on Willow Close and
Beech Close. It would also likely
result in adverse construction
noise impacts at these locations
during the works.
3. Natural environment, heritage
and landscape: The alignment is
mainly through plain ground and
arable fields (A2&4) and on the
existing Cuxham Road (B4).
(Wood Ecology Plans.pdf)
The option is closer to the
Watlington Conservation Area and
the Church of St Leonard
compared to A1-B1 and A5-B5
(Environmental Baseline Report).
In terms of water environment,
A2&4 includes little change in
impermeable area at the south of
the scheme south (Environmental
Baseline Report)
4. Streetscape and urban
environment: No significant
impact on streetscape and urban
environment (Based on own
judgment; no evidence found from
reports). 4

1. Severance: No interference
with Public Rights of Way are
expected for this option
(https://publicrightsofway.oxfor
dshire.gov.uk/Web/standardm
ap.aspx)
2. Physical activity: New
relief road will provide an
alternative route to cars, LGVs
and HGVs, which will help
create better conditions for
walking and cycling and
improve bus journey times in
Watlington. However, the new
link road will likely encourage
car travel elsewhere.
3. Injury or deaths: As for
every new road, local road
users will require a period of
adjustment, which could
possibly result in creating new
risks, such as accidents.
However, these risks would be
expected to reduce as local
people get familiar with the
new road system.
4. Crime: No evidence found.
5. Enjoying access: A1 will
provide access to an activity
centre and to the existing
residential area of Watlington.
B1 will provide access to the
existing residential area of
Watlington

Medium - 1.5-
2

Value for Money
cannot be fully judged
at this stage therefore
a mid-estimate has
been made. Value for
money could be higher
as the private sector is
completing part of the
route therefore costs
to the UK tax payer
will be lowered.

P
age 667



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
85

Economic Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description

Economic
Growth

Economic growth -
Comments

Carbon
emissions

Carbon emissions -
Comments

Socio-
distribu
tional
impact
s and
the
regions

Socio-distributional
impacts and the
regions - Comments

Local
environ
ment Local environment - Comments Well being Wellbeing - Comments

Expected VfM
Category

Expected VfM
Category -
Comments

E2.1.1.4 A-B
A2&4-

B3-

B4009 Britwell
Road (priority
give way
junction -
Junction 1)
through
southern part of
Site A and
Watlington
Industrial Estate
access road to
B480 Cuxham
Road (upgraded
roundabout at
Willow Close -
Junction 2) then
into Site B on a
more southerly
alignment. 5

1. Connectivity: the
scheme will provide
faster connections
between new
developments and
areas south of
Watlington as well as
the M40
2. Reliability: the
scheme junctions will
operate within
capacity and
acceptable queueing
will be observed.
Journey times will be
improved (transport
modelling report).
However, as it is a
new road, accidents
may occur.
3. Wider Economic
Impacts: this can only
be assessed at a later
stage. An area of
influence (AoI) will
have to be defined so
this alignment is
assessed.
4. Resilience: the
alignment will be built
for flood resistance
would increase
resilience of the local
network. It is unlikely
to be affected by
terrorism, however
climate change, such
as extreme
snow/ice/adverse
weather, may have an
effect.
4. Delivery of
housing: the scheme
will directly aid the
delivery of housing as
it is essential for the
connection of local
development sites A,
B, C, PYR1 and PYR2 2

1. Activity: New link
road likely to facilitate
car traffic and therefore
potentially an increase in
emissions will occur.
2. Embedded Carbon:
No evidence found.
3. Carbon Efficiency:
Use of the existing
industrial estate road for
access to Site A may
cause congestion on the
existing Cuxham Road
roundabout
(Environmental Baseline
Report). The route
contains two roundabout
junctions which are likely
to reduce the average
speed and could
increase carbon
emissions through the
starting/stopping car
phases 5

The proposed scheme is
expected to increase
accessibility between
areas and will increase
attraction for previously
undeveloped parts of
Watlington. 3

1. Air quality: Use of the existing
industrial estate road for access to
Site A may cause congestion on
the existing Cuxham Road
roundabout which could affect air
quality. The road also brings
vehicles closer to new residential
properties within Site B
development. (Environmental
Baseline Report)
2. Noise: This option would result
in adverse traffic noise impacts for
residents on Willow Close and
Beech Close. It would also likely
result in adverse construction
noise impacts at these locations
during the works.
3. Natural environment, heritage
and landscape: The alignment of
A2&4 is mainly through plain
ground and arable fields while B3
is aligned through arable fields.
(Wood Ecology Plans.pdf)
The option is closer to the
Watlington Conservation Area and
the Church of St Leonard
compared to A1-B1 and A5-B5
(Environmental Baseline Report).
In terms of water environment,
A2&4 includes little change in
impermeable area at the south of
the scheme south (Environmental
Baseline Report)
4. Streetscape and urban
environment: No significant
impact on streetscape and urban
environment (Based on own
judgment; no evidence found from
reports). 4

1. Severance: No interference
with Public Rights of Way are
expected for this option
(https://publicrightsofway.oxfor
dshire.gov.uk/Web/standardm
ap.aspx)
2. Physical activity: New
relief road will provide an
alternative route to cars, LGVs
and HGVs, which will help
create better conditions for
walking and cycling and
improve bus journey times in
Watlington. However, the new
link road will likely encourage
car travel elsewhere.
3. Injury or deaths: As for
every new road, local road
users will require a period of
adjustment, which could
possibly result in creating new
risks, such as accidents.
However, these risks would be
expected to reduce as local
people get familiar with the
new road system.
4. Crime: No evidence found.
5. Enjoying access: A1 will
provide access to an activity
centre and to the existing
residential area of Watlington.
B1 will provide access to the
existing residential area of
Watlington

Medium - 1.5-
2

Value for Money
cannot be fully judged
at this stage therefore
a mid-estimate has
been made. Value for
money could be higher
as the private sector is
completing part of the
route therefore costs
to the UK tax payer
will be lowered.

P
age 668



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
86

Economic Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description

Economic
Growth

Economic growth -
Comments

Carbon
emissions

Carbon emissions -
Comments

Socio-
distribu
tional
impact
s and
the
regions

Socio-distributional
impacts and the
regions - Comments

Local
environ
ment Local environment - Comments Well being Wellbeing - Comments

Expected VfM
Category

Expected VfM
Category -
Comments

E2.1.1.5 C-P -C1-P1

Through Site C
on a more
southerly
alignment,
taking part of
the existing
alignment of
Pyrton Lane to
the north of
Icknield
Community
College and
then taking the
alignment of
Pyrton Lane and
Station Road to
a new
roundabout
(Junction 3) on
the B4009
Shirburn Road
at the current
location of the
crossroads. 4

1. Connectivity: the
scheme will provide
faster connections
between new
developments and
areas south of
Watlington as well as
the M40
2. Reliability: the
scheme junctions will
operate within
capacity and
acceptable queueing
will be observed.
Journey times will be
improved, however
there will likely be
queuing along Pyrton
Lane. It is anticipated
that this junction will
be converted to a
roundabout, which
would resolve the
issues predicted at
present.  (transport
modelling report).
However, as it is a
new road, accidents
may occur.
3. Wider Economic
Impacts: this can only
be assessed at a later
stage. An area of
influence (AoI) will
have to be defined so
this alignment is
assessed.
4. Resilience: the
alignment will be built
for flood resistance
would increase
resilience of the local
network. It is unlikely
to be affected by
terrorism, however
climate change, such
as extreme
snow/ice/adverse
weather, may have an
effect.
4. Delivery of
housing: the scheme
will directly aid the
delivery of housing as
it is essential for the
connection of local
development sites A,
B, C, PYR1 and PYR2 2

1. Activity: New link
road likely to facilitate
car traffic and therefore
potentially an increase in
emissions will occur.
2. Embedded Carbon:
No evidence found.
3. Carbon Efficiency:
P1 is slightly longer
compared to other P
options and run along
Pyrton Ln for which
queueing has been
modelled. The sharp
right turn it includes will
require significant
change of speed for safe
manoeuvring, thus this
alignment is likely to
increase carbon
emissions. (Own
judgment) 5

The proposed scheme is
expected to increase
accessibility between
areas and will increase
attraction for previously
undeveloped parts of
Watlington. 3

1. Air quality: Queueing modelled
on Pyrton Lane is likely to have
greater effect on air quality. P1
utilizes the existing Pyrton Lane
and is aligned the farthest from
Watlington and educational activity
south and south-west to the Site
PYR2 development. (Based on
own judgment; no evidence found
from reports for C1-P1).
2. Noise: The alignment of C1 is
closer to Pyrton Lane than C2 and
therefore is likely to have slightly
greater adverse effect on noise for
residents of Pyrton. P1 is aligned
the farthest from the residential
and educational activity south and
south-west to the Site PYR2
development. (Based on own
judgment; no evidence found from
reports for C1-P1).
3. Natural environment, heritage
and landscape: The alignment is
mainly through arable fields and
existing Pyrton Lane. (Wood
Ecology Plans.pdf). Potential loss
of vegetation due to widening of
Pyrton Lane. (Based on own
judgment). P1 is located close to
Pyrton Conservation Area and
Shirburn Castle Conservation
Area. (F1 - HER Assets.pdf)
4. Streetscape and urban
environment: No significant
impact on streetscape and urban
environment (Based on own
judgment; no evidence found from
reports). 3

1. Severance: Some
interference with Public Rights
of Way are expected for this
option
(https://publicrightsofway.oxfor
dshire.gov.uk/Web/standardm
ap.aspx)
2. Physical activity: New
relief road will provide an
alternative route to cars, LGVs
and HGVs, which will help
create better conditions for
walking and cycling and
improve bus journey times in
Watlington. However, the new
link road will likely encourage
car travel elsewhere.
3. Injury or deaths: As for
every new road, local road
users will require a period of
adjustment, which could
possibly result in creating new
risks, such as accidents.
However, these risks would be
expected to reduce as local
people get familiar with the
new road system.
4. Crime: No evidence found.
5. Enjoying access: This
section will provide access to
educational institutions such
as the Watlington Primary
school and the Icknield
Community College, a
Recreation Centre and to other
residential areas around
Watlington.

Medium - 1.5-
2

Value for Money
cannot be fully judged
at this stage therefore
a mid-estimate has
been made. Value for
money could be higher
as the private sector is
completing part of the
route therefore costs
to the UK tax payer
will be lowered.

P
age 669



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
87

Economic Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description

Economic
Growth

Economic growth -
Comments

Carbon
emissions

Carbon emissions -
Comments

Socio-
distribu
tional
impact
s and
the
regions

Socio-distributional
impacts and the
regions - Comments

Local
environ
ment Local environment - Comments Well being Wellbeing - Comments

Expected VfM
Category

Expected VfM
Category -
Comments

E2.1.1.6 C-P -C1-P2

Through Site C
on a more
southerly
alignment,
taking part of
the existing
alignment of
Pyrton Lane to
the north of
Icknield
Community
College and
then taking a
new alignment
across PYR2
site to a new
roundabout
(Junction 3) on
the B4009
Shirburn Road
at the current
location of the
crossroads. 4

1. Connectivity: the
scheme will provide
faster connections
between new
developments and
areas south of
Watlington as well as
the M40
2. Reliability: the
scheme junctions will
operate within
capacity and
acceptable queueing
will be observed.
Journey times will be
improved, however
there will likely be
queuing along Pyrton
Lane and Station
Road. It is anticipated
that this junction will
be converted to a
roundabout, which
would resolve the
issues predicted at
present.  (transport
modelling report).
However, as it is a
new road, accidents
may occur.
3. Wider Economic
Impacts: this can only
be assessed at a later
stage. An area of
influence (AoI) will
have to be defined so
this alignment is
assessed.
4. Resilience: the
alignment will be built
for flood resistance
would increase
resilience of the local
network. It is unlikely
to be affected by
terrorism, however
climate change, such
as extreme
snow/ice/adverse
weather, may have an
effect.
4. Delivery of
housing: the scheme
will directly aid the
delivery of housing as
it is essential for the
connection of local
development sites A,
B, C, PYR1 and PYR2 3

1. Activity: New link
road likely to facilitate
car traffic and therefore
potentially an increase in
emissions will occur.
2. Embedded Carbon:
No evidence found.
3. Carbon Efficiency:
There is no clear
indication that the option
would lead to increased
carbon efficiencies 5

The proposed scheme is
expected to increase
accessibility between
areas and will increase
attraction for previously
undeveloped parts of
Watlington. 4

1. Air quality: Queueing modelled
on Pyrton Lane is likely to have
greater effect on air quality,
however this alignment is utilising
Pyrton Lane partially. P2 is aligned
closer to the residential and
educational activities south and
south-west to the Site PYR2
development compared to P1 but
noticeably farther than P6 or P7.
(Based on own judgment; no
evidence found from reports for
C1-P2).
2. Noise: The alignment of C1 is
closer to Pyrton Lane than C2 and
therefore is likely to have slightly
greater adverse effect on noise
around Pyrton Lane. P2 is closer
to the residential and educational
activities south and south-west to
the Site PYR2 development
compared to P1 but noticeably
farther than P6 or P7. (Based on
own judgment; no evidence found
from reports for C1-P2).
3. Natural environment, heritage
and landscape: The alignment is
mainly through arable fields.
(Wood Ecology Plans.pdf)
4. Streetscape and urban
environment: No significant
impact on streetscape and urban
environment (Based on own
judgment; no evidence found from
reports). 3

1. Severance: Some
interference with Public Rights
of Way are expected for this
option
(https://publicrightsofway.oxfor
dshire.gov.uk/Web/standardm
ap.aspx)
2. Physical activity: New
relief road will provide an
alternative route to cars, LGVs
and HGVs, which will help
create better conditions for
walking and cycling and
improve bus journey times in
Watlington. However, the new
link road will likely encourage
car travel elsewhere.
3. Injury or deaths: As for
every new road, local road
users will require a period of
adjustment, which could
possibly result in creating new
risks, such as accidents.
However, these risks would be
expected to reduce as local
people get familiar with the
new road system.
4. Crime: No evidence found.
5. Enjoying access: This
section will provide access to
educational institutions such
as the Watlington Primary
school and the Icknield
Community College, a
Recreation Centre and to other
residential areas around
Watlington.

Medium - 1.5-
2

Value for Money
cannot be fully judged
at this stage therefore
a mid-estimate has
been made. Value for
money could be higher
as the private sector is
completing part of the
route therefore costs
to the UK tax payer
will be lowered.

P
age 670



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
88

Economic Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description

Economic
Growth

Economic growth -
Comments

Carbon
emissions

Carbon emissions -
Comments

Socio-
distribu
tional
impact
s and
the
regions

Socio-distributional
impacts and the
regions - Comments

Local
environ
ment Local environment - Comments Well being Wellbeing - Comments

Expected VfM
Category

Expected VfM
Category -
Comments

E2.1.1.7 C-P -C2-P6

Through Site C
on a more
central
alignment,
crossing the
existing Pyrton
Lane at the
northern most
corner of the
Icknield
Community
College site and
then taking a
new alignment
across PYR2
site to a new
roundabout
(Junction 3) on
the B4009
Shirburn Road
at the current
location of the
crossroads. 4

1. Connectivity: the
scheme will provide
faster connections
between new
developments and
areas south of
Watlington as well as
the M40
2. Reliability: the
scheme junctions will
operate within
capacity and
acceptable queueing
will be observed.
Journey times will be
improved, however
there will likely be
queuing along Pyrton
Lane. It is anticipated
that this junction will
be converted to a
roundabout, which
would resolve the
issues predicted at
present.  (transport
modelling report).
However, as it is a
new road, accidents
may occur.
3. Wider Economic
Impacts: this can only
be assessed at a later
stage. An area of
influence (AoI) will
have to be defined so
this alignment is
assessed.
4. Resilience: the
alignment will be built
for flood resistance
would increase
resilience of the local
network. It is unlikely
to be affected by
terrorism, however
climate change, such
as extreme
snow/ice/adverse
weather, may have an
effect.
4. Delivery of
housing: the scheme
will directly aid the
delivery of housing as
it is essential for the
connection of local
development sites A,
B, C, PYR1 and PYR2 3

1. Activity: New link
road likely to facilitate
car traffic and therefore
potentially an increase in
emissions will occur.
2. Embedded Carbon:
No evidence found.
3. Carbon Efficiency:
There is no clear
indication that the option
would lead to increased
carbon efficiencies 5

The proposed scheme is
expected to increase
accessibility between
areas and will increase
attraction for previously
undeveloped parts of
Watlington. 4

1. Air quality: Queueing modelled
on Pyrton Lane is likely to have
greater effect on air quality,
however this alignment is utilising
Pyrton Lane the least. P6 is
aligned closer to the residential
and educational activities south
and south-west to the Site PYR2
development compared to P1 and
P2 but slightly farther compared to
P7. (Based on own judgment; no
evidence found from reports for
C2-P6).
2. Noise: The alignment of C2 is
further from Pyrton Lane than C1.
P6 is closer to the residential and
educational activities south and
south-west to the Site PYR2
development compared to P7.
(Based on own judgment; no
evidence found from reports).
3. Natural environment, heritage
and landscape: The alignment is
mainly through arable fields.
(Wood Ecology Plans.pdf)
4. Streetscape and urban
environment: No significant
impact on streetscape and urban
environment (Based on own
judgment; no evidence found from
reports). 3

1. Severance: Some
interference with Public Rights
of Way are expected for this
option
(https://publicrightsofway.oxfor
dshire.gov.uk/Web/standardm
ap.aspx)
2. Physical activity: New
relief road will provide an
alternative route to cars, LGVs
and HGVs, which will help
create better conditions for
walking and cycling and
improve bus journey times in
Watlington. However, the new
link road will likely encourage
car travel elsewhere.
3. Injury or deaths: As for
every new road, local road
users will require a period of
adjustment, which could
possibly result in creating new
risks, such as accidents.
However, these risks would be
expected to reduce as local
people get familiar with the
new road system.
4. Crime: No evidence found.
5. Enjoying access: This
section will provide access to
educational institutions such
as the Watlington Primary
school and the Icknield
Community College, a
Recreation Centre and to other
residential areas around
Watlington.

Medium - 1.5-
2

Value for Money
cannot be fully judged
at this stage therefore
a mid-estimate has
been made. Value for
money could be higher
as the private sector is
completing part of the
route therefore costs
to the UK tax payer
will be lowered.

P
age 671



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
89

Economic Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description

Economic
Growth

Economic growth -
Comments

Carbon
emissions

Carbon emissions -
Comments

Socio-
distribu
tional
impact
s and
the
regions

Socio-distributional
impacts and the
regions - Comments

Local
environ
ment Local environment - Comments Well being Wellbeing - Comments

Expected VfM
Category

Expected VfM
Category -
Comments

E2.1.1.8 C-P -C2-P7

Through Site C
on a more
central
alignment,
crossing the
existing Pyrton
Lane at the
northern most
corner of the
Icknield
Community
College site and
then taking a
new alignment
across broadly
around the edge
of Watlington
and joining the
B4009 Shirburn
Road to the
south of PYR1
and north of the
Watlington
Recreation
Ground at a new
roundabout
junction
(Junction 3) 4

1. Connectivity: the
scheme will provide
faster connections
between new
developments and
areas south of
Watlington as well as
the M40
2. Reliability: the
scheme junctions will
operate within
capacity and
acceptable queueing
will be observed along
Pyrton Lane  and
Station Road. Journey
times will be
improved, however
there will likely be
queuing along Pyrton
Lane. It is anticipated
that this junction will
be converted to a
roundabout, which
would resolve the
issues predicted at
present.  (transport
modelling report).
However, as it is a
new road, accidents
may occur.
3. Wider Economic
Impacts: this can only
be assessed at a later
stage. An area of
influence (AoI) will
have to be defined so
this alignment is
assessed.
4. Resilience: the
alignment will be built
for flood resistance
would increase
resilience of the local
network. It is unlikely
to be affected by
terrorism, however
climate change, such
as extreme
snow/ice/adverse
weather, may have an
effect.
4. Delivery of
housing: the scheme
will directly aid the
delivery of housing as
it is essential for the
connection of local
development sites A,
B, C, PYR1 and PYR2 3

1. Activity: New link
road likely to facilitate
car traffic and therefore
potentially an increase in
emissions will occur.
2. Embedded Carbon:
No evidence found.
3. Carbon Efficiency:
There is no clear
indication that the option
would lead to increased
carbon efficiencies 5

The proposed scheme is
expected to increase
accessibility between
areas and will increase
attraction for previously
undeveloped parts of
Watlington. 3

1. Air quality: Queueing modelled
on Pyrton Lane is likely to have
greater effect on air quality,
however this alignment is utilising
Pyrton Lane the least. P7 reaches
the southern border of the Site
PYR2 development and is aligned
closest to the residential and
educational activities south and
south-west to the Site PYR2
development. (Based on own
judgment; no evidence found from
reports for C2-P7).
2. Noise: The alignment of C2 is
farther from Pyrton Lane than C1
and therefore is likely to have
slightly smaller effect on noise
around Pyrton Lane. P7 reaches
the southern border of the Site
PYR2 development and is aligned
closest to the residential and
educational activities south and
south-west to the Site PYR2
development. (Based on own
judgment; no evidence found from
reports for C2-P7).
3. Natural environment, heritage
and landscape: The alignment is
mainly through arable fields. The
alignment of P7 is close to the
southern border of site PYR2 with
rich hedge and trees vegetation.
(Wood Ecology Plans.pdf)
4. Streetscape and urban
environment: No significant
impact on streetscape and urban
environment (Based on own
judgment; no evidence found from
reports). 3

1. Severance: Some
interference with Public Rights
of Way are expected for this
option
(https://publicrightsofway.oxfor
dshire.gov.uk/Web/standardm
ap.aspx)
2. Physical activity: New
relief road will provide an
alternative route to cars, LGVs
and HGVs, which will help
create better conditions for
walking and cycling and
improve bus journey times in
Watlington. However, the new
link road will likely encourage
car travel elsewhere.
3. Injury or deaths: As for
every new road, local road
users will require a period of
adjustment, which could
possibly result in creating new
risks, such as accidents.
However, these risks would be
expected to reduce as local
people get familiar with the
new road system.
4. Crime: No evidence found.
5. Enjoying access: This
section will provide access to
educational institutions such
as the Watlington Primary
school and the Icknield
Community College, a
Recreation Centre and to other
residential areas around
Watlington.

Medium - 1.5-
2

Value for Money
cannot be fully judged
at this stage therefore
a mid-estimate has
been made. Value for
money could be higher
as the private sector is
completing part of the
route therefore costs
to the UK tax payer
will be lowered.

P
age 672



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
90

Managerial Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description

Implementation
timetable Implementation timetable - Comments

Public
acceptability Public acceptability - Comments

Practical
feasibility

Practical
feasibility -
Comments

What is the
quality of the
supporting
evidence?

What is the
quality of the
supporting
evidence? -
Comments Key risks

E2.1.1.1 A-B A1-B1-

B4009 Britwell
Road (priority
give way
junction -
Junction 1)
through Site A
on most
northerly
alignment to
B480 Cuxham
Road (new
roundabout -
Junction 2)
and into Site B 1-5 years

Whole scheme is aimed to be completed by
March 2023. Scheme will be developed in
advance of or in conjunction with planned
development in Site A and Site B. 2023 is a
reasonable estimate for completion as
development sites surrounding scheme to
be completed by 2025 -
https://www.oxfordshiregrowthboard.org/wp-
content/uploads/2018/12/OGB-projects-
years-1-2-5-OCC-V2_jasedit.pdf 3

Scheme has been through some level of
public consultation as it is acknowledged in
both the Watlington Neighbourhood Plan and
South Oxfordshire local plan. In a consultation
carried out in March 2014, in which the main
topics for the Watlington Neighbourhood
Development Plan were defined, local people
expressed that a relief road is the 4th most
vitally important improvement needed for
Watlington under the Traffic and Environment
topic - https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-
content/uploads/sites/2/2020/10/WNDP1-
Watlington-Neighbourhood-Development-
Plan-MADE-VERSION.pdf
The scheme also does not require any
behavioural changes and so public
acceptability is not expected to be an issue.
There may be a slightly higher level of public
acceptability for more northerly alignments
such as A1-B1 which have less effect on
existing roads on the edge of Watlington and
in terms of noise, air quality and visual
intrusion, although it may be viewed as less
acceptable from an environmental perspective
as it will route through countryside.

The option has
been determined
as being feasible
in engineering
terms. More
detailed feasibility
work will be
required to fully
determine the
option's feasibility
and any
mitigation
requirements. 3

The option has
been assessed
in relation to
constraints and
engineering
feasibility. More
detailed
engineering
feasibility and
impacts
assessment will
be required for
subsequent
stages where
options will be
further refined.
Transport
modelling
evidence is
limited to
junction models
and Transport
Assessments
prepared for
individual sites.
The overall
transport
network effects
of the scheme
are not fully
understood
therefore more
detailed, wider-
scale transport
modelling
evidence is
required to
support the
development of
the scheme and
further
refinement of
options. The
level of
evidence
available for
section A-B is
considered
slightly higher
than section C-
P.

Key risks for Site A involve the following:
- If the discharge conditions aren’t approved, that the
developer won’t implement and therefore their section
of road does not get built. OCC would need to consider
whether to purchase the land to directly build the
additional section of road or determine that the project
is partly/fully disbanded
- The developer doesn’t get approval for their first
application and submits an alternative planning
application, which delays any start on site and
instigates fresh negotiations regarding land
- If OCC needs more land for Link 3 (alignment in Site
A) than is currently safeguarded (e.g. for flood
compensation storage), that the developer isn’t
required to dedicate land outside the safeguarded area
and they don’t agree to dedicate for a peppercorn.
OCC may have to purchase the extra land for a higher
cost, CPO the land or deem this highway section as
unfeasible
- If a technically viable option is not possible at Link 3
(alignment in Site A), options are too expensive, or
technically viable options are not supported by
stakeholders due to other impacts
Key risks for Sites B and C involve the following:
- There may only be a short turn-around time to write
the s106 if the applications go to committee on 4th
November and OCC have yet to agree internally the
preferred wording agreement. If agreement takes
longer this may delay the application going to
committee.
- That the s106 is agreed at outline before the detailed
access arrangements are agreed upon and that the
clauses won’t sufficiently allow for the eventual
preferred design or the access arrangements are pre-
determined by the s106 before detailed work is
complete.
- That the s106 doesn’t allow for the developer to build
the junction, with a compensation mechanism. Thus
requiring OCC to build and synchronise works with both
the WAT A (Site A) and WAT B (Site B) developers. If
OCC were to build instead of the developer, this may
increase the cost of this section.
- Developer does not receive full planning consent,
does not therefore implement and their section of road
is not built. OCC would need to consider whether to
purchase the land to directly build the additional section
of road or determine that the project is partly/fully
disbanded
- A viable option at Link 3 (alignment in Site A) is
delayed, which the access to WAT B (Site B) relies
upon to a certain degree, and this impacts being able to
make a decision on this site.
- Stakeholders object strongly to the route off Willow
Close, leaving only a new roundabout as a possible
option. If the option for Link 3 (alignment in Site A) was
found to be that via the industrial estate road rather
than across the safeguarded land, the new roundabout
may be more than is required. (Evidence taken from
"2020 10 02 - Land acquisition and site status_updated
2020 10 22.docx" provide by OCC)

P
age 673



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
91

Managerial Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description

Implementation
timetable Implementation timetable - Comments

Public
acceptability Public acceptability - Comments

Practical
feasibility

Practical
feasibility -
Comments

What is the
quality of the
supporting
evidence?

What is the
quality of the
supporting
evidence? -
Comments Key risks

E2.1.1.2 A-B A5-B5-

B4009 Britwell
Road (priority
give way
junction -
Junction 1)
through Site A
on more
northerly
alignment to
B480 Cuxham
Road (new
roundabout -
Junction 2)
and into Site B 1-5 years

Whole scheme is aimed to be completed by
March 2023. Scheme will be developed in
advance of or in conjunction with planned
development in Site A and Site B. 2023 is a
reasonable estimate for completion as
development sites surrounding scheme to
be completed by 2025 -
https://www.oxfordshiregrowthboard.org/wp-
content/uploads/2018/12/OGB-projects-
years-1-2-5-OCC-V2_jasedit.pdf 3

Scheme has been through public consultation
in being included in both Watlington
Neighbourhood Plan and South Oxfordshire
local plan. In a consultation carried out in
March 2014, in which the main topics for the
Watlington Neighbourhood Development Plan
were defined, local people expressed that a
relief road is the 4th most vitally important
improvement needed for Watlington under the
Traffic and Environment topic -
https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-
content/uploads/sites/2/2020/10/WNDP1-
Watlington-Neighbourhood-Development-
Plan-MADE-VERSION.pdf
The scheme also does not require any
behavioural changes and so public
acceptability is not expected to be an issue.
There may be a slightly higher level of public
acceptability for more northerly alignments
such as A5-B5 which have less effect on
existing roads on the edge of Watlington and
in terms of noise, air quality and visual
intrusion, although it may be viewed as less
acceptable from an environmental perspective
as it will route through countryside. 2

The option has
been determined
as being feasible
in engineering
terms. More
detailed feasibility
work will be
required to fully
determine the
option's feasibility
and any
mitigation
requirements. 3

The option has
been assessed
in relation to
constraints and
engineering
feasibility. More
detailed
engineering
feasibility and
impacts
assessment will
be required for
subsequent
stages where
options will be
further refined.
Transport
modelling
evidence is
limited to
junction models
and Transport
Assessments
prepared for
individual sites.
The overall
transport
network effects
of the scheme
are not fully
understood
therefore more
detailed, wider-
scale transport
modelling
evidence is
required to
support the
development of
the scheme and
further
refinement of
options. The
level of
evidence
available for
section A-B is
considered
slightly higher
than section C-
P.

Key risks for Site A involve the following:
- If the discharge conditions aren’t approved, that the
developer won’t implement and therefore their section
of road does not get built. OCC would need to consider
whether to purchase the land to directly build the
additional section of road or determine that the project
is partly/fully disbanded
- The developer doesn’t get approval for their first
application and submits an alternative planning
application, which delays any start on site and
instigates fresh negotiations regarding land
- If OCC needs more land for Link 3 (alignment in Site
A) than is currently safeguarded (e.g. for flood
compensation storage), that the developer isn’t
required to dedicate land outside the safeguarded area
and they don’t agree to dedicate for a peppercorn.
OCC may have to purchase the extra land for a higher
cost, CPO the land or deem this highway section as
unfeasible
- If a technically viable option is not possible at Link 3
(alignment in Site A), options are too expensive, or
technically viable options are not supported by
stakeholders due to other impacts
Key risks for Sites B and C involve the following:
- There may only be a short turn-around time to write
the s106 if the applications go to committee on 4th
November and OCC have yet to agree internally the
preferred wording agreement. If agreement takes
longer this may delay the application going to
committee.
- That the s106 is agreed at outline before the detailed
access arrangements are agreed upon and that the
clauses won’t sufficiently allow for the eventual
preferred design or the access arrangements are pre-
determined by the s106 before detailed work is
complete.
- That the s106 doesn’t allow for the developer to build
the junction, with a compensation mechanism. Thus
requiring OCC to build and synchronise works with both
the WAT A (Site A) and WAT B (Site B) developers. If
OCC were to build instead of the developer, this may
increase the cost of this section.
- Developer does not receive full planning consent,
does not therefore implement and their section of road
is not built. OCC would need to consider whether to
purchase the land to directly build the additional section
of road or determine that the project is partly/fully
disbanded
- A viable option at Link 3 (alignment in Site A) is
delayed, which the access to WAT B (Site B) relies
upon to a certain degree, and this impacts being able to
make a decision on this site.
- Stakeholders object strongly to the route off Willow
Close, leaving only a new roundabout as a possible
option. If the option for Link 3 (alignment in Site A) was
found to be that via the industrial estate road rather
than across the safeguarded land, the new roundabout
may be more than is required. (Evidence taken from
"2020 10 02 - Land acquisition and site status_updated
2020 10 22.docx" provide by OCC)

P
age 674



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
92

Managerial Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description

Implementation
timetable Implementation timetable - Comments

Public
acceptability Public acceptability - Comments

Practical
feasibility

Practical
feasibility -
Comments

What is the
quality of the
supporting
evidence?

What is the
quality of the
supporting
evidence? -
Comments Key risks

E2.1.1.3 A-B
A2&4-
B4-

B4009 Britwell
Road (priority
give way
junction -
Junction 1)
through
southern part
of Site A and
Watlington
Industrial
Estate access
road to B480
Cuxham Road
(existing
roundabout at
Willow Close)
then using an
existing
upgraded
section of the
B480 Cuxham
Road to a new
roundabout
(Junction 2)
and into Site B 1-5 years

Whole scheme is aimed to be completed by
March 2023. Scheme will be developed in
advance of or in conjunction with planned
development in Site A and Site B. 2023 is a
reasonable estimate for completion as
development sites surrounding scheme to
be completed by 2025 -
https://www.oxfordshiregrowthboard.org/wp-
content/uploads/2018/12/OGB-projects-
years-1-2-5-OCC-V2_jasedit.pdf 3

Scheme has been through public consultation
in being included in both Watlington
Neighbourhood Plan and South Oxfordshire
local plan. In a consultation carried out in
March 2014, in which the main topics for the
Watlington Neighbourhood Development Plan
were defined, local people expressed that a
relief road is the 4th most vitally important
improvement needed for Watlington under the
Traffic and Environment topic -
https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-
content/uploads/sites/2/2020/10/WNDP1-
Watlington-Neighbourhood-Development-
Plan-MADE-VERSION.pdf
The scheme also does not require any
behavioural changes and so public
acceptability is not expected to be an issue.
There may be a lower level of public
acceptability for more southerly alignments
such as A2&4-B4 which could have more
effects on existing roads on the edge of
Watlington and in terms of noise, air quality
and visual intrusion, although it may be
viewed as slightly more acceptable from an
environmental perspective as it will route
through less countryside. 2

The option has
been determined
as being feasible
in engineering
terms. More
detailed feasibility
work will be
required to fully
determine the
option's feasibility
and any
mitigation
requirements.
Assessment of
the condition of
the culvert
structure
(Number 1076),
located above
Willow Close
roundabout, will
be required
before
proceeding. No
additional work is
expected to be
carried out due to
the specifications
of the structure,
however this
needs to be
validated. 3

The option has
been assessed
in relation to
constraints and
engineering
feasibility. More
detailed
engineering
feasibility and
impacts
assessment will
be required for
subsequent
stages where
options will be
further refined.
Transport
modelling
evidence is
limited to
junction models
and Transport
Assessments
prepared for
individual sites.
The overall
transport
network effects
of the scheme
are not fully
understood
therefore more
detailed, wider-
scale transport
modelling
evidence is
required to
support the
development of
the scheme and
further
refinement of
options. The
level of
evidence
available for
section A-B is
considered
slightly higher
than section C-
P.

Key risks for Site A involve the following:
- If the discharge conditions aren’t approved, that the
developer won’t implement and therefore their section
of road does not get built. OCC would need to consider
whether to purchase the land to directly build the
additional section of road or determine that the project
is partly/fully disbanded
- The developer doesn’t get approval for their first
application and submits an alternative planning
application, which delays any start on site and
instigates fresh negotiations regarding land
- If OCC needs more land for Link 3 (alignment in Site
A) than is currently safeguarded (e.g. for flood
compensation storage), that the developer isn’t
required to dedicate land outside the safeguarded area
and they don’t agree to dedicate for a peppercorn.
OCC may have to purchase the extra land for a higher
cost, CPO the land or deem this highway section as
unfeasible
- If a technically viable option is not possible at Link 3
(alignment in Site A), options are too expensive, or
technically viable options are not supported by
stakeholders due to other impacts
Key risks for Sites B and C involve the following:
- There may only be a short turn-around time to write
the s106 if the applications go to committee on 4th
November and OCC have yet to agree internally the
preferred wording agreement. If agreement takes
longer this may delay the application going to
committee.
- That the s106 is agreed at outline before the detailed
access arrangements are agreed upon and that the
clauses won’t sufficiently allow for the eventual
preferred design or the access arrangements are pre-
determined by the s106 before detailed work is
complete.
- That the s106 doesn’t allow for the developer to build
the junction, with a compensation mechanism. Thus
requiring OCC to build and synchronise works with both
the WAT A (Site A) and WAT B (Site B) developers. If
OCC were to build instead of the developer, this may
increase the cost of this section.
- Developer does not receive full planning consent,
does not therefore implement and their section of road
is not built. OCC would need to consider whether to
purchase the land to directly build the additional section
of road or determine that the project is partly/fully
disbanded
- A viable option at Link 3 (alignment in Site A) is
delayed, which the access to WAT B (Site B) relies
upon to a certain degree, and this impacts being able to
make a decision on this site.
- Stakeholders object strongly to the route off Willow
Close, leaving only a new roundabout as a possible
option. If the option for Link 3 (alignment in Site A) was
found to be that via the industrial estate road rather
than across the safeguarded land, the new roundabout
may be more than is required. (Evidence taken from
"2020 10 02 - Land acquisition and site status_updated
2020 10 22.docx" provide by OCC)
- The culvert structure (Number 1076), located above
Willow Close roundabout, was designed and built by
Rendell and Sons in 1984. It is a 40T/44T HA loading
and 30 units of HB abnormal loading, that has not had
any detailed inspection since built. Inspections will be
required to assess its condition before proceeding.

P
age 675



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
93

Managerial Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description

Implementation
timetable Implementation timetable - Comments

Public
acceptability Public acceptability - Comments

Practical
feasibility

Practical
feasibility -
Comments

What is the
quality of the
supporting
evidence?

What is the
quality of the
supporting
evidence? -
Comments Key risks

E2.1.1.4 A-B
A2&4-
B3-

B4009 Britwell
Road (priority
give way
junction -
Junction 1)
through
southern part
of Site A and
Watlington
Industrial
Estate access
road to B480
Cuxham Road
(upgraded
roundabout at
Willow Close -
Junction 2)
then into Site
B on a more
southerly
alignment. 1-5 years

Whole scheme is aimed to be completed by
March 2023. Scheme will be developed in
advance of or in conjunction with planned
development in Site A and Site B. 2023 is a
reasonable estimate for completion as
development sites surrounding scheme to
be completed by 2025 -
https://www.oxfordshiregrowthboard.org/wp-
content/uploads/2018/12/OGB-projects-
years-1-2-5-OCC-V2_jasedit.pdf 2

Scheme has been through public consultation
in being included in both Watlington
Neighbourhood Plan and South Oxfordshire
local plan. In a consultation carried out in
March 2014, in which the main topics for the
Watlington Neighbourhood Development Plan
were defined, local people expressed that a
relief road is the 4th most vitally important
improvement needed for Watlington under the
Traffic and Environment topic -
https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-
content/uploads/sites/2/2020/10/WNDP1-
Watlington-Neighbourhood-Development-
Plan-MADE-VERSION.pdf
The scheme also does not require any
behavioural changes and so public
acceptability is not expected to be an issue.
There may be a lower level of public
acceptability for more southerly alignments
such as A2&4-B3 which could have more
effects on existing roads on the edge of
Watlington and in terms of noise, air quality
and visual intrusion, although it may be
viewed as slightly more acceptable from an
environmental perspective as it will route
through less countryside. 2

The option has
been determined
as being feasible
in engineering
terms. More
detailed feasibility
work will be
required to fully
determine the
option's feasibility
and any
mitigation
requirements.
Assessment of
the condition of
the culvert
structure
(Number 1076),
located above
Willow Close
roundabout, will
be required
before
proceeding. No
additional work is
expected to be
carried out due to
the specifications
of the structure,
however this
needs to be
validated. 3

The option has
been assessed
in relation to
constraints and
engineering
feasibility. More
detailed
engineering
feasibility and
impacts
assessment will
be required for
subsequent
stages where
options will be
further refined.
Transport
modelling
evidence is
limited to
junction models
and Transport
Assessments
prepared for
individual sites.
The overall
transport
network effects
of the scheme
are not fully
understood
therefore more
detailed, wider-
scale transport
modelling
evidence is
required to
support the
development of
the scheme and
further
refinement of
options. The
level of
evidence
available for
section A-B is
considered
slightly higher
than section C-
P.

Key risks for Site A involve the following:
- If the discharge conditions aren’t approved, that the
developer won’t implement and therefore their section
of road does not get built. OCC would need to consider
whether to purchase the land to directly build the
additional section of road or determine that the project
is partly/fully disbanded
- The developer doesn’t get approval for their first
application and submits an alternative planning
application, which delays any start on site and
instigates fresh negotiations regarding land
- If OCC needs more land for Link 3 (alignment in Site
A) than is currently safeguarded (e.g. for flood
compensation storage), that the developer isn’t
required to dedicate land outside the safeguarded area
and they don’t agree to dedicate for a peppercorn.
OCC may have to purchase the extra land for a higher
cost, CPO the land or deem this highway section as
unfeasible
- If a technically viable option is not possible at Link 3
(alignment in Site A), options are too expensive, or
technically viable options are not supported by
stakeholders due to other impacts
Key risks for Sites B and C involve the following:
- There may only be a short turn-around time to write
the s106 if the applications go to committee on 4th
November and OCC have yet to agree internally the
preferred wording agreement. If agreement takes
longer this may delay the application going to
committee.
- That the s106 is agreed at outline before the detailed
access arrangements are agreed upon and that the
clauses won’t sufficiently allow for the eventual
preferred design or the access arrangements are pre-
determined by the s106 before detailed work is
complete.
- That the s106 doesn’t allow for the developer to build
the junction, with a compensation mechanism. Thus
requiring OCC to build and synchronise works with both
the WAT A (Site A) and WAT B (Site B) developers. If
OCC were to build instead of the developer, this may
increase the cost of this section.
- Developer does not receive full planning consent,
does not therefore implement and their section of road
is not built. OCC would need to consider whether to
purchase the land to directly build the additional section
of road or determine that the project is partly/fully
disbanded
- A viable option at Link 3 (alignment in Site A) is
delayed, which the access to WAT B (Site B) relies
upon to a certain degree, and this impacts being able to
make a decision on this site.
- Stakeholders object strongly to the route off Willow
Close, leaving only a new roundabout as a possible
option. If the option for Link 3 (alignment in Site A) was
found to be that via the industrial estate road rather
than across the safeguarded land, the new roundabout
may be more than is required. (Evidence taken from
"2020 10 02 - Land acquisition and site status_updated
2020 10 22.docx" provide by OCC)
- The culvert structure (Number 1076), located above
Willow Close roundabout, was designed and built by
Rendell and Sons in 1984. It is a 40T/44T HA loading
and 30 units of HB abnormal loading, that has not had
any detailed inspection since built. Inspections will be
required to assess its condition before proceeding.

P
age 676



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
94

Managerial Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description

Implementation
timetable Implementation timetable - Comments

Public
acceptability Public acceptability - Comments

Practical
feasibility

Practical
feasibility -
Comments

What is the
quality of the
supporting
evidence?

What is the
quality of the
supporting
evidence? -
Comments Key risks

E2.1.1.5 C-P -C1-P1

Through Site
C on a more
southerly
alignment,
taking part of
the existing
alignment of
Pyrton Lane to
the north of
Icknield
Community
College and
then taking the
alignment of
Pyrton Lane
and Station
Road to a new
roundabout
(Junction 3) on
the B4009
Shirburn Road
at the current
location of the
crossroads. 1-5 years

Whole scheme is aimed to be completed by
March 2023. Scheme will be developed in
following or in conjunction with Site B, and
in conjunction or in advance of development
in Site C, PYR1 and PYR2. 2023 is a
reasonable estimate for completion as
development sites surrounding scheme to
be completed by 2025 -
https://www.oxfordshiregrowthboard.org/wp-
content/uploads/2018/12/OGB-projects-
years-1-2-5-OCC-V2_jasedit.pdf 2

Scheme has been through public consultation
in being included in both Watlington
Neighbourhood Plan and South Oxfordshire
local plan. In a consultation carried out in
March 2014, in which the main topics for the
Watlington Neighbourhood Development Plan
were defined, local people expressed that a
relief road is the 4th most vitally important
improvement needed for Watlington under the
Traffic and Environment topic -
https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-
content/uploads/sites/2/2020/10/WNDP1-
Watlington-Neighbourhood-Development-
Plan-MADE-VERSION.pdf
The scheme also does not require any
behavioural changes and so public
acceptability is not expected to be an issue.
The scheme also does not require any
behavioural changes and so public
acceptability is not expected to be an issue.
There may be a lower level of public
acceptability for the C1-P1 alignment as it will
adapt existing quiet rural lanes into a through
route, running close to the village of Pyrton. 2

The option has
been determined
as being
potentially
feasible in
engineering
terms. More
detailed feasibility
work will be
required to fully
determine the
option's feasibility
and any
mitigation
requirements. 2

The option has
been assessed
in relation to
constraints and
engineering
feasibility. More
detailed
engineering
feasibility and
impacts
assessment will
be required for
subsequent
stages where
options will be
further refined.
Transport
modelling
evidence is
limited to
junction models
and Transport
Assessments
prepared for
individual sites.
The overall
transport
network effects
of the scheme
are not fully
understood
therefore more
detailed, wider-
scale transport
modelling
evidence is
required to
support the
development of
the scheme and
further
refinement of
options. The
level of
evidence
available for
section C-P is
considered
slightly lower
than for section
A-B.

 Key risks for Site C involve the following:
- There may only be a short turn-around time to write
the s106 if the applications go to committee on 4th
November and OCC have yet to agree internally the
preferred wording agreement. If agreement takes
longer this may delay the application going to
committee.
- That the s106 is agreed at outline before the detailed
access arrangements are agreed upon and that the
clauses won’t sufficiently allow for the eventual
preferred design or the access arrangements are pre-
determined by the s106 before detailed work is
complete.
- That the s106 doesn’t allow for the developer to build
the junction, with a compensation mechanism. Thus
requiring OCC to build and synchronise works with both
the WAT A and WAT B developers. If OCC were to
build instead of the developer, this may increase the
cost of this section.
- Developer does not receive full planning consent,
does not therefore implement and their section of road
is not built. OCC would need to consider whether to
purchase the land to directly build the additional section
of road or determine that the project is partly/fully
disbanded
- A viable option at Link 3 (alignment in Site A) is
delayed, which the access to WAT B (Site B) relies
upon to a certain degree, and this impacts being able to
make a decision on this site.
- Stakeholders object strongly to the route off Willow
Close, leaving only a new roundabout as a possible
option. If the option for Link 3 (alignment in Site A) was
found to be that via the industrial estate road rather
than across the safeguarded land, the new roundabout
may be more than is required.
Key risks for Site PRY1 involve the following:
- If OCC needs more land for Junction 3 than is
currently safeguarded (e.g. for a larger roundabout),
that the developer isn’t required to dedicate land
outside the safeguarded area and they don’t agree to
dedicate for a peppercorn. OCC may have to purchase
the extra land for a higher cost, CPO the land, design a
roundabout that departs from standard and get
agreement from assets team, redesign the junction as
signal controlled or other or deem this highway section
as unfeasible
- The developer does not implement and therefore the
land for the junction does not get transferred
- The parish community of Pyrton and Shirburn are not
in favour of a new road or housing development. They
would likely object to any alternative planning
application if one was made.
- The developer is not able to secure a care provider to
take on the care unit component and they resubmit a
planning application for an alternative scheme, which
would require refreshed negotiations for the land and
would delay the land being dedicated to OCC for the
purposes of a junction
- Opportunity: if the developer does submit a fresh
application, the road alignment options and land area
required could be renegotiated and might support any
new route options that are developed through the
Parish option exercise.
Key risks for Site PRY2 involve the following:
-Given the current planning context, there is very little
chance that the housing developer will get permission

P
age 677



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
95

Managerial Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description

Implementation
timetable Implementation timetable - Comments

Public
acceptability Public acceptability - Comments

Practical
feasibility

Practical
feasibility -
Comments

What is the
quality of the
supporting
evidence?

What is the
quality of the
supporting
evidence? -
Comments Key risks

for houses prior to the road being built. Therefore OCC
may have to fund and build a larger section of road
than initially budgeted for, that creates a connection
from the outskirts of site WAT C (Site C) to
B4009/Shirburn Road
- The parish community of Pyrton and Shirburn are not
in favour of a new road. They would likely object to the
planning application. They don’t support the current
road alignment option and have requested other routes
should be explored but these are limited and would
require additional 3rd party land or take land from other
community uses.
- Opportunity: To explore other route options with the
Parishes. More options would enable comparisons of
the benefits and disbenefits to be made and may result
in a more agreeable alignment being found.
 - Opportunity: If the developer sought permission for
the road themselves, this may increase their chance of
gaining permission for the houses and would mean
OCC would not need to make the application. However
it may be unaffordable for the developer to build – this
would raise the question if OCC could contribute funds
towards the road or build it using the developer’s
permission but this could trigger legal issues.
- Opportunity: The Chalgrove Airfield development
have shown through highway modelling that their
development needs the Watlington Relief Road. If OCC
were to take on the road at risk, this risk might be
lowered if Chalgrove Airfield were to start their
development and there was agreement that they would
contribute additional funding. (Evidence taken from
"2020 10 02 - Land acquisition and site status_updated
2020 10 22.docx" provide by OCC)

P
age 678



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
96

Managerial Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description

Implementation
timetable Implementation timetable - Comments

Public
acceptability Public acceptability - Comments

Practical
feasibility

Practical
feasibility -
Comments

What is the
quality of the
supporting
evidence?

What is the
quality of the
supporting
evidence? -
Comments Key risks

E2.1.1.6 C-P -C1-P2

Through Site
C on a more
southerly
alignment,
taking part of
the existing
alignment of
Pyrton Lane to
the north of
Icknield
Community
College and
then taking a
new alignment
across PYR2
site to a new
roundabout
(Junction 3) on
the B4009
Shirburn Road
at the current
location of the
crossroads. 1-5 years

Whole scheme is aimed to be completed by
March 2023. Scheme will be developed in
following or in conjunction with Site B, and
in conjunction or in advance of development
in Site C, PYR1 and PYR2. 2023 is a
reasonable estimate for completion as
development sites surrounding scheme to
be completed by 2025 -
https://www.oxfordshiregrowthboard.org/wp-
content/uploads/2018/12/OGB-projects-
years-1-2-5-OCC-V2_jasedit.pdf 3

Scheme has been through public consultation
in being included in both Watlington
Neighbourhood Plan and South Oxfordshire
local plan. In a consultation carried out in
March 2014, in which the main topics for the
Watlington Neighbourhood Development Plan
were defined, local people expressed that a
relief road is the 4th most vitally important
improvement needed for Watlington under the
Traffic and Environment topic -
https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-
content/uploads/sites/2/2020/10/WNDP1-
Watlington-Neighbourhood-Development-
Plan-MADE-VERSION.pdf
The scheme also does not require any
behavioural changes and so public
acceptability is not expected to be an issue.
There may be a lower level of public
acceptability for the C1-P2 alignment as it will
run closer to the village of Pyrton although not
on the existing alignment of Pyrton Lane and
Station Road. 2

The option has
been determined
as being
potentially
feasible in
engineering
terms. More
detailed feasibility
work will be
required to fully
determine the
option's feasibility
and any
mitigation
requirements. 2

The option has
been assessed
in relation to
constraints and
engineering
feasibility. More
detailed
engineering
feasibility and
impacts
assessment will
be required for
subsequent
stages where
options will be
further refined.
Transport
modelling
evidence is
limited to
junction models
and Transport
Assessments
prepared for
individual sites.
The overall
transport
network effects
of the scheme
are not fully
understood
therefore more
detailed, wider-
scale transport
modelling
evidence is
required to
support the
development of
the scheme and
further
refinement of
options. The
level of
evidence
available for
section C-P is
considered
slightly lower
than for section
A-B.

 Key risks for Site C involve the following:
- There may only be a short turn-around time to write
the s106 if the applications go to committee on 4th
November and OCC have yet to agree internally the
preferred wording agreement. If agreement takes
longer this may delay the application going to
committee.
- That the s106 is agreed at outline before the detailed
access arrangements are agreed upon and that the
clauses won’t sufficiently allow for the eventual
preferred design or the access arrangements are pre-
determined by the s106 before detailed work is
complete.
- That the s106 doesn’t allow for the developer to build
the junction, with a compensation mechanism. Thus
requiring OCC to build and synchronise works with both
the WAT A and WAT B developers. If OCC were to
build instead of the developer, this may increase the
cost of this section.
- Developer does not receive full planning consent,
does not therefore implement and their section of road
is not built. OCC would need to consider whether to
purchase the land to directly build the additional section
of road or determine that the project is partly/fully
disbanded
- A viable option at Link 3 (alignment in Site A) is
delayed, which the access to WAT B (Site B) relies
upon to a certain degree, and this impacts being able to
make a decision on this site.
- Stakeholders object strongly to the route off Willow
Close, leaving only a new roundabout as a possible
option. If the option for Link 3 (alignment in Site A) was
found to be that via the industrial estate road rather
than across the safeguarded land, the new roundabout
may be more than is required.
Key risks for Site PRY1 involve the following:
- If OCC needs more land for Junction 3 than is
currently safeguarded (e.g. for a larger roundabout),
that the developer isn’t required to dedicate land
outside the safeguarded area and they don’t agree to
dedicate for a peppercorn. OCC may have to purchase
the extra land for a higher cost, CPO the land, design a
roundabout that departs from standard and get
agreement from assets team, redesign the junction as
signal controlled or other or deem this highway section
as unfeasible
- The developer does not implement and therefore the
land for the junction does not get transferred
- The parish community of Pyrton and Shirburn are not
in favour of a new road or housing development. They
would likely object to any alternative planning
application if one was made.
- The developer is not able to secure a care provider to
take on the care unit component and they resubmit a
planning application for an alternative scheme, which
would require refreshed negotiations for the land and
would delay the land being dedicated to OCC for the
purposes of a junction
- Opportunity: if the developer does submit a fresh
application, the road alignment options and land area
required could be renegotiated and might support any
new route options that are developed through the
Parish option exercise.
Key risks for Site PRY2 involve the following:
-Given the current planning context, there is very little
chance that the housing developer will get permission

P
age 679



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
97

Managerial Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description

Implementation
timetable Implementation timetable - Comments

Public
acceptability Public acceptability - Comments

Practical
feasibility

Practical
feasibility -
Comments

What is the
quality of the
supporting
evidence?

What is the
quality of the
supporting
evidence? -
Comments Key risks

for houses prior to the road being built. Therefore OCC
may have to fund and build a larger section of road
than initially budgeted for, that creates a connection
from the outskirts of site WAT C (Site C) to
B4009/Shirburn Road
- The parish community of Pyrton and Shirburn are not
in favour of a new road. They would likely object to the
planning application. They don’t support the current
road alignment option and have requested other routes
should be explored but these are limited and would
require additional 3rd party land or take land from other
community uses.
- Opportunity: To explore other route options with the
Parishes. More options would enable comparisons of
the benefits and disbenefits to be made and may result
in a more agreeable alignment being found.
 - Opportunity: If the developer sought permission for
the road themselves, this may increase their chance of
gaining permission for the houses and would mean
OCC would not need to make the application. However
it may be unaffordable for the developer to build – this
would raise the question if OCC could contribute funds
towards the road or build it using the developer’s
permission but this could trigger legal issues.
- Opportunity: The Chalgrove Airfield development
have shown through highway modelling that their
development needs the Watlington Relief Road. If OCC
were to take on the road at risk, this risk might be
lowered if Chalgrove Airfield were to start their
development and there was agreement that they would
contribute additional funding. (Evidence taken from
"2020 10 02 - Land acquisition and site status_updated
2020 10 22.docx" provide by OCC)

P
age 680



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
98

Managerial Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description

Implementation
timetable Implementation timetable - Comments

Public
acceptability Public acceptability - Comments

Practical
feasibility

Practical
feasibility -
Comments

What is the
quality of the
supporting
evidence?

What is the
quality of the
supporting
evidence? -
Comments Key risks

E2.1.1.7 C-P -C2-P6

Through Site
C on a more
central
alignment,
crossing the
existing Pyrton
Lane at the
northern most
corner of the
Icknield
Community
College site
and then
taking a new
alignment
across PYR2
site to a new
roundabout
(Junction 3) on
the B4009
Shirburn Road
at the current
location of the
crossroads. 1-5 years

Whole scheme is aimed to be completed by
March 2023. Scheme will be developed in
following or in conjunction with Site B, and
in conjunction or in advance of development
in Site C, PYR1 and PYR2. 2023 is a
reasonable estimate for completion as
development sites surrounding scheme to
be completed by 2025 -
https://www.oxfordshiregrowthboard.org/wp-
content/uploads/2018/12/OGB-projects-
years-1-2-5-OCC-V2_jasedit.pdf 4

Scheme has been through public consultation
in being included in both Watlington
Neighbourhood Plan and South Oxfordshire
local plan. In a consultation carried out in
March 2014, in which the main topics for the
Watlington Neighbourhood Development Plan
were defined, local people expressed that a
relief road is the 4th most vitally important
improvement needed for Watlington under the
Traffic and Environment topic -
https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-
content/uploads/sites/2/2020/10/WNDP1-
Watlington-Neighbourhood-Development-
Plan-MADE-VERSION.pdf
The scheme also does not require any
behavioural changes and so public
acceptability is not expected to be an issue.
There may be a slightly higher level of public
acceptability for the C2-P6 alignment as it will
run further away from Pyrton village and also
from Watlington. 2

The option has
been determined
as being feasible
in engineering
terms. More
detailed feasibility
work will be
required to fully
determine the
option's feasibility
and any
mitigation
requirements. 2

The option has
been assessed
in relation to
constraints and
engineering
feasibility. More
detailed
engineering
feasibility and
impacts
assessment will
be required for
subsequent
stages where
options will be
further refined.
Transport
modelling
evidence is
limited to
junction models
and Transport
Assessments
prepared for
individual sites.
The overall
transport
network effects
of the scheme is
not fully
understood
therefore more
detailed, wider-
scale transport
modelling
evidence is
required to
support the
development of
the scheme and
further
refinement of
options. The
level of
evidence
available for
section C-P is
considered
slightly lower
than for section
A-B.

 Key risks for Site C involve the following:
- There may only be a short turn-around time to write
the s106 if the applications go to committee on 4th
November and OCC have yet to agree internally the
preferred wording agreement. If agreement takes
longer this may delay the application going to
committee.
- That the s106 is agreed at outline before the detailed
access arrangements are agreed upon and that the
clauses won’t sufficiently allow for the eventual
preferred design or the access arrangements are pre-
determined by the s106 before detailed work is
complete.
- That the s106 doesn’t allow for the developer to build
the junction, with a compensation mechanism. Thus
requiring OCC to build and synchronise works with both
the WAT A and WAT B developers. If OCC were to
build instead of the developer, this may increase the
cost of this section.
- Developer does not receive full planning consent,
does not therefore implement and their section of road
is not built. OCC would need to consider whether to
purchase the land to directly build the additional section
of road or determine that the project is partly/fully
disbanded
- A viable option at Link 3 (alignment in Site A) is
delayed, which the access to WAT B (Site B) relies
upon to a certain degree, and this impacts being able to
make a decision on this site.
- Stakeholders object strongly to the route off Willow
Close, leaving only a new roundabout as a possible
option. If the option for Link 3 (alignment in Site A) was
found to be that via the industrial estate road rather
than across the safeguarded land, the new roundabout
may be more than is required.
Key risks for Site PRY1 involve the following:
- If OCC needs more land for Junction 3 than is
currently safeguarded (e.g. for a larger roundabout),
that the developer isn’t required to dedicate land
outside the safeguarded area and they don’t agree to
dedicate for a peppercorn. OCC may have to purchase
the extra land for a higher cost, CPO the land, design a
roundabout that departs from standard and get
agreement from assets team, redesign the junction as
signal controlled or other or deem this highway section
as unfeasible
- The developer does not implement and therefore the
land for the junction does not get transferred
- The parish community of Pyrton and Shirburn are not
in favour of a new road or housing development. They
would likely object to any alternative planning
application if one was made.
- The developer is not able to secure a care provider to
take on the care unit component and they resubmit a
planning application for an alternative scheme, which
would require refreshed negotiations for the land and
would delay the land being dedicated to OCC for the
purposes of a junction
- Opportunity: if the developer does submit a fresh
application, the road alignment options and land area
required could be renegotiated and might support any
new route options that are developed through the
Parish option exercise.
Key risks for Site PRY2 involve the following:
-Given the current planning context, there is very little
chance that the housing developer will get permission

P
age 681



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
99

Managerial Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description

Implementation
timetable Implementation timetable - Comments

Public
acceptability Public acceptability - Comments

Practical
feasibility

Practical
feasibility -
Comments

What is the
quality of the
supporting
evidence?

What is the
quality of the
supporting
evidence? -
Comments Key risks

for houses prior to the road being built. Therefore OCC
may have to fund and build a larger section of road
than initially budgeted for, that creates a connection
from the outskirts of site WAT C (Site C) to
B4009/Shirburn Road
- The parish community of Pyrton and Shirburn are not
in favour of a new road. They would likely object to the
planning application. They don’t support the current
road alignment option and have requested other routes
should be explored but these are limited and would
require additional 3rd party land or take land from other
community uses.
- Opportunity: To explore other route options with the
Parishes. More options would enable comparisons of
the benefits and disbenefits to be made and may result
in a more agreeable alignment being found.
 - Opportunity: If the developer sought permission for
the road themselves, this may increase their chance of
gaining permission for the houses and would mean
OCC would not need to make the application. However
it may be unaffordable for the developer to build – this
would raise the question if OCC could contribute funds
towards the road or build it using the developer’s
permission but this could trigger legal issues.
- Opportunity: The Chalgrove Airfield development
have shown through highway modelling that their
development needs the Watlington Relief Road. If OCC
were to take on the road at risk, this risk might be
lowered if Chalgrove Airfield were to start their
development and there was agreement that they would
contribute additional funding. (Evidence taken from
"2020 10 02 - Land acquisition and site status_updated
2020 10 22.docx" provide by OCC)

P
age 682



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
100

Managerial Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description

Implementation
timetable Implementation timetable - Comments

Public
acceptability Public acceptability - Comments

Practical
feasibility

Practical
feasibility -
Comments

What is the
quality of the
supporting
evidence?

What is the
quality of the
supporting
evidence? -
Comments Key risks

E2.1.1.8 C-P -C2-P7

Through Site
C on a more
central
alignment,
crossing the
existing Pyrton
Lane at the
northern most
corner of the
Icknield
Community
College site
and then
taking a new
alignment
across broadly
around the
edge of
Watlington
and joining the
B4009
Shirburn Road
to the south of
PYR1 and
north of the
Watlington
Recreation
Ground at a
new
roundabout
junction
(Junction 3) 1-5 years

Whole scheme is aimed to be completed by
March 2023. Scheme will be developed in
following or in conjunction with Site B, and
in conjunction or in advance of development
in Site C, PYR1 and PYR2. 2023 is a
reasonable estimate for completion as
development sites surrounding scheme to
be completed by 2025 -
https://www.oxfordshiregrowthboard.org/wp-
content/uploads/2018/12/OGB-projects-
years-1-2-5-OCC-V2_jasedit.pdf 3

Scheme has been through public consultation
in being included in both Watlington
Neighbourhood Plan and South Oxfordshire
local plan. In a consultation carried out in
March 2014, in which the main topics for the
Watlington Neighbourhood Development Plan
were defined, local people expressed that a
relief road is the 4th most vitally important
improvement needed for Watlington under the
Traffic and Environment topic -
https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-
content/uploads/sites/2/2020/10/WNDP1-
Watlington-Neighbourhood-Development-
Plan-MADE-VERSION.pdf
The scheme also does not require any
behavioural changes and so public
acceptability is not expected to be an issue.
There may be a slightly higher level of public
acceptability for the C2-P6 alignment as it will
run further away from Pyrton village and also
from Watlington. 2

The option has
been determined
as being
potentially
feasible in
engineering
terms. More
detailed feasibility
work will be
required to fully
determine the
option's feasibility
and any
mitigation
requirements. 2

The option has
been assessed
in relation to
constraints and
engineering
feasibility. More
detailed
engineering
feasibility and
impacts
assessment will
be required for
subsequent
stages where
options will be
further refined.
Transport
modelling
evidence is
limited to
junction models
and Transport
Assessments
prepared for
individual sites.
The overall
transport
network effects
of the scheme is
not fully
understood
therefore more
detailed, wider-
scale transport
modelling
evidence is
required to
support the
development of
the scheme and
further
refinement of
options. The
level of
evidence
available for
section C-P is
considered
slightly lower
than for section
A-B.

 Key risks for Site C involve the following:
- There may only be a short turn-around time to write
the s106 if the applications go to committee on 4th
November and OCC have yet to agree internally the
preferred wording agreement. If agreement takes
longer this may delay the application going to
committee.
- That the s106 is agreed at outline before the detailed
access arrangements are agreed upon and that the
clauses won’t sufficiently allow for the eventual
preferred design or the access arrangements are pre-
determined by the s106 before detailed work is
complete.
- That the s106 doesn’t allow for the developer to build
the junction, with a compensation mechanism. Thus
requiring OCC to build and synchronise works with both
the WAT A and WAT B developers. If OCC were to
build instead of the developer, this may increase the
cost of this section.
- Developer does not receive full planning consent,
does not therefore implement and their section of road
is not built. OCC would need to consider whether to
purchase the land to directly build the additional section
of road or determine that the project is partly/fully
disbanded
- A viable option at Link 3 (alignment in Site A) is
delayed, which the access to WAT B (Site B) relies
upon to a certain degree, and this impacts being able to
make a decision on this site.
- Stakeholders object strongly to the route off Willow
Close, leaving only a new roundabout as a possible
option. If the option for Link 3 (alignment in Site A) was
found to be that via the industrial estate road rather
than across the safeguarded land, the new roundabout
may be more than is required.
Key risks for Site PRY1 involve the following:
- If OCC needs more land for Junction 3 than is
currently safeguarded (e.g. for a larger roundabout),
that the developer isn’t required to dedicate land
outside the safeguarded area and they don’t agree to
dedicate for a peppercorn. OCC may have to purchase
the extra land for a higher cost, CPO the land, design a
roundabout that departs from standard and get
agreement from assets team, redesign the junction as
signal controlled or other or deem this highway section
as unfeasible
- The developer does not implement and therefore the
land for the junction does not get transferred
- The parish community of Pyrton and Shirburn are not
in favour of a new road or housing development. They
would likely object to any alternative planning
application if one was made.
- The developer is not able to secure a care provider to
take on the care unit component and they resubmit a
planning application for an alternative scheme, which
would require refreshed negotiations for the land and
would delay the land being dedicated to OCC for the
purposes of a junction
- Opportunity: if the developer does submit a fresh
application, the road alignment options and land area
required could be renegotiated and might support any
new route options that are developed through the
Parish option exercise.
Key risks for Site PRY2 involve the following:
-Given the current planning context, there is very little
chance that the housing developer will get permission

P
age 683



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
101

Managerial Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description

Implementation
timetable Implementation timetable - Comments

Public
acceptability Public acceptability - Comments

Practical
feasibility

Practical
feasibility -
Comments

What is the
quality of the
supporting
evidence?

What is the
quality of the
supporting
evidence? -
Comments Key risks

for houses prior to the road being built. Therefore OCC
may have to fund and build a larger section of road
than initially budgeted for, that creates a connection
from the outskirts of site WAT C (Site C) to
B4009/Shirburn Road
- The parish community of Pyrton and Shirburn are not
in favour of a new road. They would likely object to the
planning application. They don’t support the current
road alignment option and have requested other routes
should be explored but these are limited and would
require additional 3rd party land or take land from other
community uses.
- Opportunity: To explore other route options with the
Parishes. More options would enable comparisons of
the benefits and disbenefits to be made and may result
in a more agreeable alignment being found.
 - Opportunity: If the developer sought permission for
the road themselves, this may increase their chance of
gaining permission for the houses and would mean
OCC would not need to make the application. However
it may be unaffordable for the developer to build – this
would raise the question if OCC could contribute funds
towards the road or build it using the developer’s
permission but this could trigger legal issues.
- Opportunity: The Chalgrove Airfield development
have shown through highway modelling that their
development needs the Watlington Relief Road. If OCC
were to take on the road at risk, this risk might be
lowered if Chalgrove Airfield were to start their
development and there was agreement that they would
contribute additional funding. (Evidence taken from
"2020 10 02 - Land acquisition and site status_updated
2020 10 22.docx" provide by OCC)

P
age 684



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
102

Financial Case Commercial Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description Affordability

Affordability -
Comments Capital Cost (£m)

Capital Cost (£m) -
Comments

Revenue
Costs
(£m)?

Revenue
Costs
(£m)? -
Details Cost Profile

Overall
cost
risk

Other
costs

Flexibility
of option

Flexibility of option -
Comments

Where is funding
coming from?

Any
income
generated?
(Y/N)

If yes, how
much
income
generated
(£m)?

E2.1.1.1 A-B A1-B1-

B4009 Britwell
Road (priority give
way junction -
Junction 1) through
Site A on most
northerly alignment
to B480 Cuxham
Road (new
roundabout -
Junction 2) and into
Site B 3

1.Cost for sections to
be funded by OCC is
estimated at
£3,949,100
2.Affordability needs to
be put in the context of
the available
budget for the overall
scheme and relevant
budget period
3.May be relevant to
consider what sort of
package of
options is being put
forward alongside the
option under
consideration
4.For this assessment,
we consider that both
the OCC and
developers can afford
construction of relevant
road parts (eliminates
weight of this score in
total evaluation)

£3,949,100 – OCC
funded section(s)
only

This excludes the cost
of sections to be funded
by developers through
their sites.  N/A  N/A

The estimated cost
includes costs regarding
building works,
contractor’s overheads
and profit, design fee,
land acquisition costs,
statutory and other
charges and risk
allowance costs  N/A  N/A 3

Due to the scheme being
made up of new road
links split into different
sections, with each
section there is
potentially some room for
amendments to fit with
changing circumstances.
The A1-B1 alignment is
fairly well fixed however
and therefore less
flexible.

Feasibility and design
work has been funded
through Oxfordshire
Growth Board. Developers
will fund the majority of
sections through their sites
with remaining sections
funded through the
Oxfordshire Housing and
Growth Deal.  N/A  N/A

E2.1.1.2 A-B A5-B5-

B4009 Britwell
Road (priority give
way junction -
Junction 1) through
Site A on more
northerly alignment
to B480 Cuxham
Road (new
roundabout -
Junction 2) and into
Site B 2

1. Cost for sections to
be funded by OCC is
estimated at
£4,243,000
2.Affordability needs to
be put in the context of
the available
budget for the overall
scheme and relevant
budget period
3.May be relevant to
consider what sort of
package of
options is being put
forward alongside the
option under
consideration
4.For this assessment,
we consider that both
the OCC and
developers can afford
construction of relevant
road parts (eliminates
weight of this score in
total evaluation)

£4,243,000 – OCC
funded section(s)
only

This excludes the cost
of sections to be funded
by developers through
their sites.  N/A  N/A

The estimated cost
includes costs regarding
building works,
contractor’s overheads
and profit, design fee,
land acquisition costs,
statutory and other
charges and risk
allowance costs  N/A  N/A 3

Due to the scheme being
made up of new road
links split into different
sections, with each
section there is
potentially some room for
amendments to fit with
changing circumstances.
The A5-B5 alignment is
fairly well fixed however
and therefore less
flexible.

Feasibility and design
work has been funded
through Oxfordshire
Growth Board. Developers
will fund the majority of
sections through their sites
with remaining sections
funded through the
Oxfordshire Housing and
Growth Deal.  N/A  N/A

P
age 685



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
103

Financial Case Commercial Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description Affordability

Affordability -
Comments Capital Cost (£m)

Capital Cost (£m) -
Comments

Revenue
Costs
(£m)?

Revenue
Costs
(£m)? -
Details Cost Profile

Overall
cost
risk

Other
costs

Flexibility
of option

Flexibility of option -
Comments

Where is funding
coming from?

Any
income
generated?
(Y/N)

If yes, how
much
income
generated
(£m)?

E2.1.1.3 A-B
A2&4-
B4-

B4009 Britwell
Road (priority give
way junction -
Junction 1) through
southern part of
Site A and
Watlington
Industrial Estate
access road to
B480 Cuxham
Road (existing
roundabout at
Willow Close) then
using an existing
upgraded section of
the B480 Cuxham
Road to a new
roundabout
(Junction 2) and
into Site B 5

1. Cost for sections to
be funded by OCC is
estimated at
£2,838,900
2.Affordability needs to
be put in the context of
the available
budget for the overall
scheme and relevant
budget period
3.May be relevant to
consider what sort of
package of
options is being put
forward alongside the
option under
consideration
4.For this assessment,
we consider that both
the OCC and
developers can afford
construction of relevant
road parts (eliminates
weight of this score in
total evaluation)

£2,838,900 – OCC
funded section(s)
only

This excludes the cost
of sections to be funded
by developers through
their sites.  N/A  N/A

The estimated cost
includes costs regarding
building works,
contractor’s overheads
and profit, design fee,
land acquisition costs,
statutory and other
charges and risk
allowance costs  N/A  N/A 2

Due to the scheme being
made up of new road
links split into different
sections, with each
section there is
potentially some room for
amendments to fit with
changing circumstances.
The A2&4-B4- alignment
is quite fixed as it takes
the alignment of some
existing roads and
therefore is less flexible.

Feasibility and design
work has been funded
through Oxfordshire
Growth Board. Developers
will fund the majority of
sections through their sites
with remaining sections
funded through the
Oxfordshire Housing and
Growth Deal.  N/A  N/A

E2.1.1.4 A-B
A2&4-
B3-

B4009 Britwell
Road (priority give
way junction -
Junction 1) through
southern part of
Site A and
Watlington
Industrial Estate
access road to
B480 Cuxham
Road (upgraded
roundabout at
Willow Close -
Junction 2) then
into Site B on a
more southerly
alignment. 4

1. Cost for sections to
be funded by OCC is
estimated at
£3,031,200
2.Affordability needs to
be put in the context of
the available
budget for the overall
scheme and relevant
budget period
3.May be relevant to
consider what sort of
package of
options is being put
forward alongside the
option under
consideration
4.For this assessment,
we consider that both
the OCC and
developers can afford
construction of relevant
road parts (eliminates
weight of this score in
total evaluation)

£3,031,200 – OCC
funded section(s)
only

This excludes the cost
of sections to be funded
by developers through
their sites.  N/A  N/A

The estimated cost
includes costs regarding
building works,
contractor’s overheads
and profit, design fee,
land acquisition costs,
statutory and other
charges and risk
allowance costs  N/A  N/A 3

Due to the scheme being
made up of new road
links split into different
sections, with each
section there is
potentially some room for
amendments to fit with
changing circumstances.
The A2&4-B3 alignment
is fairly well fixed as it
takes the alignment of
some existing roads
however there is some
flexibility with the
alignment of the B3
section.

Feasibility and design
work has been funded
through Oxfordshire
Growth Board. Developers
will fund the majority of
sections through their sites
with remaining sections
funded through the
Oxfordshire Housing and
Growth Deal.  N/A  N/A

P
age 686



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
104

Financial Case Commercial Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description Affordability

Affordability -
Comments Capital Cost (£m)

Capital Cost (£m) -
Comments

Revenue
Costs
(£m)?

Revenue
Costs
(£m)? -
Details Cost Profile

Overall
cost
risk

Other
costs

Flexibility
of option

Flexibility of option -
Comments

Where is funding
coming from?

Any
income
generated?
(Y/N)

If yes, how
much
income
generated
(£m)?

E2.1.1.5 C-P -C1-P1

Through Site C on
a more southerly
alignment, taking
part of the existing
alignment of Pyrton
Lane to the north of
Icknield Community
College and then
taking the
alignment of Pyrton
Lane and Station
Road to a new
roundabout
(Junction 3) on the
B4009 Shirburn
Road at the current
location of the
crossroads. 2

1. Cost for sections to
be funded by OCC is
estimated at
£4,440,000
2.Affordability needs to
be put in the context of
the available
budget for the overall
scheme and relevant
budget period
3.May be relevant to
consider what sort of
package of
options is being put
forward alongside the
option under
consideration
4.For this assessment,
we consider that both
the OCC and
developers can afford
construction of relevant
road parts (eliminates
weight of this score in
total evaluation)

£4,440,000 – OCC
funded section(s)
only

This excludes the cost
of sections to be funded
by developers through
their sites.  N/A  N/A

The estimated cost
includes costs regarding
building works,
contractor’s overheads
and profit, design fee,
land acquisition costs,
statutory and other
charges and risk
allowance costs  N/A  N/A 2

Due to the scheme being
made up of new road
links split into different
sections, with each
section there is
potentially some room for
amendments to fit with
changing circumstances.
The C1-P1 option is less
flexible as it takes an
existing alignment and
will have to adapt to the
constraints of this
alignment. The transition
between Sites C and
PYR2 is very constrained
with little room for
flexibility.

Feasibility and design
work has been funded
through Oxfordshire
Growth Board. Developers
will fund the majority of
sections through their sites
with remaining sections
funded through the
Oxfordshire Housing and
Growth Deal.  N/A  N/A

E2.1.1.6 C-P -C1-P2

Through Site C on
a more southerly
alignment, taking
part of the existing
alignment of Pyrton
Lane to the north of
Icknield Community
College and then
taking a new
alignment across
PYR2 site to a new
roundabout
(Junction 3) on the
B4009 Shirburn
Road at the current
location of the
crossroads. 3

1. Cost for sections to
be funded by OCC is
estimated at
£2,770,300
2.Affordability needs to
be put in the context of
the available
budget for the overall
scheme and relevant
budget period
3.May be relevant to
consider what sort of
package of
options is being put
forward alongside the
option under
consideration
4.For this assessment,
we consider that both
the OCC and
developers can afford
construction of relevant
road parts (eliminates
weight of this score in
total evaluation)

£2,770,300  –
OCC funded
section(s) only

This excludes the cost
of sections to be funded
by developers through
their sites.  N/A  N/A

The estimated cost
includes costs regarding
building works,
contractor’s overheads
and profit, design fee,
land acquisition costs,
statutory and other
charges and risk
allowance costs  N/A  N/A 3

Due to the scheme being
made up of new road
links split into different
sections, with each
section there is
potentially some room for
amendments to fit with
changing circumstances.
The C1-P2 option is
reasonably flexible as it
takes a new alignment
across PYR2 although
the transition between
Sites C and PYR2 is very
constrained with little
room for flexibility.

Feasibility and design
work has been funded
through Oxfordshire
Growth Board. Developers
will fund the majority of
sections through their sites
with remaining sections
funded through the
Oxfordshire Housing and
Growth Deal.  N/A  N/A

P
age 687



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
105

Financial Case Commercial Case

Sift ID Section
Option
Name

Option
Description Affordability

Affordability -
Comments Capital Cost (£m)

Capital Cost (£m) -
Comments

Revenue
Costs
(£m)?

Revenue
Costs
(£m)? -
Details Cost Profile

Overall
cost
risk

Other
costs

Flexibility
of option

Flexibility of option -
Comments

Where is funding
coming from?

Any
income
generated?
(Y/N)

If yes, how
much
income
generated
(£m)?

E2.1.1.7 C-P -C2-P6

Through Site C on
a more central
alignment, crossing
the existing Pyrton
Lane at the
northern most
corner of the
Icknield Community
College site and
then taking a new
alignment across
PYR2 site to a new
roundabout
(Junction 3) on the
B4009 Shirburn
Road at the current
location of the
crossroads. 4

1. Cost for sections to
be funded by OCC is
estimated at
£2,517,600
2.Affordability needs to
be put in the context of
the available
budget for the overall
scheme and relevant
budget period
3.May be relevant to
consider what sort of
package of
options is being put
forward alongside the
option under
consideration
4.For this assessment,
we consider that both
the OCC and
developers can afford
construction of relevant
road parts (eliminates
weight of this score in
total evaluation)

£2,517,600- OCC
funded section(s)
only

This excludes the cost
of sections to be funded
by developers through
their sites.  N/A  N/A

The estimated cost
includes costs regarding
building works,
contractor’s overheads
and profit, design fee,
land acquisition costs,
statutory and other
charges and risk
allowance costs  N/A  N/A 3

Due to the scheme being
made up of new road
links split into different
sections, with each
section there is
potentially some room for
amendments to fit with
changing circumstances.
The C2-P6 option is
reasonably flexible as it
takes a new alignment
across PYR2 although
the transition between
Sites C and PYR2 is very
constrained with little
room for flexibility.

Feasibility and design
work has been funded
through Oxfordshire
Growth Board. Developers
will fund the majority of
sections through their sites
with remaining sections
funded through the
Oxfordshire Housing and
Growth Deal.  N/A  N/A

E2.1.1.8 C-P -C2-P7

Through Site C on
a more central
alignment, crossing
the existing Pyrton
Lane at the
northern most
corner of the
Icknield Community
College site and
then taking a new
alignment across
broadly around the
edge of Watlington
and joining the
B4009 Shirburn
Road to the south
of PYR1 and north
of the Watlington
Recreation Ground
at a new
roundabout junction
(Junction 3) 5

1. Cost for sections to
be funded by OCC is
estimated at
£2,477,600
2.Affordability needs to
be put in the context of
the available
budget for the overall
scheme and relevant
budget period
3.May be relevant to
consider what sort of
package of
options is being put
forward alongside the
option under
consideration
4.For this assessment,
we consider that both
the OCC and
developers can afford
construction of relevant
road parts (eliminates
weight of this score in
total evaluation)

£2,477,600 – OCC
funded section(s)
only

This excludes the cost
of sections to be funded
by developers through
their sites.  N/A  N/A

The estimated cost
includes costs regarding
building works,
contractor’s overheads
and profit, design fee,
land acquisition costs,
statutory and other
charges and risk
allowance costs  N/A  N/A 2

Due to the scheme being
made up of new road
links split into different
sections, with each
section there is
potentially some room for
amendments to fit with
changing circumstances.
The C2-P7 option is less
flexible. Whilst it takes a
new alignment across
PYR2 (close to the edge
of Watlington) it needs to
meet an alignment
between the recreation
ground and site PYR1.
Furthermore, the
transition between Sites
C and PYR2 is very
constrained with little
room for flexibility.

Feasibility and design
work has been funded
through Oxfordshire
Growth Board. Developers
will fund the majority of
sections through their sites
with remaining sections
funded through the
Oxfordshire Housing and
Growth Deal.  N/A  N/A

P
age 688



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
106

Appendix E : Stage 2 - Detailed Sift Summary
Sift ID Section Option Name Option Description Total Score Ranking Summary

(Note: EAST does not provide a total
score. This represents the total score for
all score values entered. This does not
take into account non-scored criteria and
should not therefore be used as the sole
basis for determining a preferred option)

(Note: The ranking, which is expressed
separately for A-B and C-P sections, is
based on the indicative scoring - see notes
under Total Score)

E2.1.1.1 A-B A1-B1-

B4009 Britwell Road (priority give way - Junction 1) through
Site A on most northerly alignment to B480 Cuxham Road
(new roundabout - Junction 2) and into Site B 50 1

Strategic: the option is predicted to have a high scale  of impact. Sscoresing well against government
and local objectives, with a medium degree of consensus.
Economic: the option highly supports economic growth and scores highly for socio-distributional
impacts and wellbeing. However, carbon emissions have scored in the middle and local environment
has scored low.
Managerial: the option scored in the middle for public acceptability and supporting evidence, however
has scored low for practical feasibility.
Financial: the option scored highly lower against affordability compared to other options, with total
estimated costs for construction considered to reach £3,949,100 for the OCC section(s).
Commercial: the option scored in the middle for flexibility.

E2.1.1.2 A-B A5-B5-

B4009 Britwell Road (priority goive way - Junction 1) through
Site A on more northerly alignment to B480 Cuxham Road
(new roundabout - Junction 2) and into Site B 49 3

Strategic: the option scores is predicted to have a high scale of impact. Scoring highly against
government objectives and well against local objectives, with a medium degree of consensus over
outcomes.
Economic: the option highly supports economic growth and scores highly for socio distributional
impacts, it has also scored well against wellbeing. However, carbon emissions have scored in the
middle and local environment has scored low.
Managerial: the option has scored in the middle for public acceptability and quality of supporting
evidence.
Financial: the option scored highlylower against  against afaffordability compared to other options, with
total estimated costs for construction considered to reach £4,243,000   for the OCC section(s).
Commercial: the option has scored in the middle for flexibility.

E2.1.1.3 A-B A2&4-B4-

B4009 Britwell Road (priority give way - Junction 1) through
southern part of Site A and Watlington Industrial Estate
access road to B480 Cuxham Road (existing roundabout at
Willow Close) then using an existing upgraded section of the
B480 Cuxham Road to a new roundabout (Junction 2) and
into Site B 50 1

Strategic: the option scores the option is predicted to have a high scale of impact. Scoring in the
middle against government objectives and scoring well against local objectives, with a medium degree
of consensus over outcomes.

Economic: the option highly supports economic growth and scores highly for socio distributional
impacts, it also scores well against wellbeing. However, scores low on carbon emissions and scores in
the middle for local environment.

Managerial: the option has scored in the middle for public acceptability and supporting evidence,
however, has scored low for practical feasibility.
Financial: the option scored highly against affordability, with total estimated costs for construction
considered to reach £2,838,900 for the OCC section(s).
Commercial: the option scored low on flexibility of option

E2.1.1.4 A-B A2&4-B3-

B4009 Britwell Road (priority give way - Junction 1) through
southern part of Site A and Watlington Industrial Estate
access road to B480 Cuxham Road (upgraded roundabout at
Willow Close - Junction 2) then into Site B on a more
southerly alignment. 49 3

Strategic: the option scores the option is predicted to have a high scale of impact. Scoring well against
government and local objectives, with a medium degree of consensus over outcomes.

Economic: the option highly supports economic growth and scores highly for socio distributional
impacts, it also scores we against wellbeing. However, scores low on carbon emissions and scores in
the middle for local environment.

Managerial: the option has scored low for public acceptability and also scored low for practical
feasibility, however has scored in the middle for quality of supporting evidence.

Financial: the option scored highly against affordability, with total estimated costs for construction
considered to reach £3,031,200 for the OCC section(s).
Commercial: the option has scored low for flexibility of option.

E2.1.1.5 C-P -C1-P1

Through Site C on a more southerly alignment, taking part of
the existing alignment of Pyrton Lane to the north of Icknield
Community College and then taking the alignment of Pyrton
Lane and Station Road to a new roundabout (Junction 3) on
the B4009 Shirburn Road at the current location of the
crossroads. 43 4

Strategic: the option is predicted to have a high scale of impact, however has scored in the middle
against both government and local objectives., with a medium degree over consensus over outcomes.

Economic: the option has scored well in supporting economic growth and has scored highly for socio
distributional impacts. It has scored in the middle against local environment and wellbeing, however
scored low for carbon emissions.

Managerial: the option have scored low for public acceptability, practical feasibility and quality of
supporting evidence.

Financial:  the option scored highly lower against affordability compared to other options, with total
estimated costs for construction considered to reach £4,440,000 for the OCC sections(s).
Commercial: the option has scored low for flexibility of option.

P
age 689



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
107

Sift ID Section Option Name Option Description Total Score Ranking Summary

(Note: EAST does not provide a total
score. This represents the total score for
all score values entered. This does not
take into account non-scored criteria and
should not therefore be used as the sole
basis for determining a preferred option)

(Note: The ranking, which is expressed
separately for A-B and C-P sections, is
based on the indicative scoring - see notes
under Total Score)

E2.1.1.6 C-P -C1-P2

Through Site C on a more southerly alignment, taking part of
the existing alignment of Pyrton Lane to the north of Icknield
Community College and then taking a new alignment across
PYR2 site to a new roundabout (Junction 3) on the B4009
Shirburn Road at the current location of the crossroads. 46 3

Strategic: the option is predicted to have a high scale of impact. It has scoreds well against
government objectives and had scored in the middle for local objectives with a medium degree of
consensus over outcomes.

Economic: the option has scored well in supporting economic growth and has scored highly for socio
distributional impacts. It has scored well for local environment but scored in the middle for carbon
emissions and wellbeing.

Managerial: the option scored in the middle for public acceptability but scored low for practical
feasibility and quality of supporting information.

Financial: the option scored lower highly against affordability compared to other options, with total
estimated costs for construction considered to reach £2,770,300 for the OCC section(s).

Commercial: the option has scored in the middle for flexibility of option.

E2.1.1.7 C-P -C2-P6

Through Site C on a more central alignment, crossing the
existing Pyrton Lane at the northern most corner of the
Icknield Community College site and then taking a new
alignment across PYR2 site to a new roundabout (Junction
3) on the B4009 Shirburn Road at the current location of the
crossroads. 49 1

Strategic: the option is predicted to have a high scale of impact. It scoredscores well against
government objectives but scored in the middle against local objectives, with a medium degree of
consensus over outcomes.

Economic: the option has scored well in supporting economic growth and local environment. It has
scored very highly with socio distributional impacts. However had scored in the middle for carbon
emissions and wellbeing.

Managerial: the option has scored well with public acceptability but has scored low for practical
feasibility and the quality of supporting evidence.
Financial: the option scored highly against affordability, with total estimated costs for construction
considered to reach £2,517,600 for the OCC section(s).
Commercial: the option has scored in the middle for flexibility of option.

E2.1.1.8 C-P -C2-P7

Through Site C on a more central alignment, crossing the
existing Pyrton Lane at the northern most corner of the
Icknield Community College site and then taking a new
alignment across broadly around the edge of Watlington and
joining the B4009 Shirburn Road to the south of PYR1 and
north of the Watlington Recreation Ground at a new
roundabout junction (Junction 3) 47 2

Strategic: the option is predicted to have a high scale of impact. It scored in the middle against
government objectives and local objectives, with a medium degree of consensus over outcomes.
Economic: the option has scored well in supporting economic growth, and highly against socio
distributional impacts. However, has scored in the middle for carbon emissions, local environment and
wellbeing.
Managerial: the option scored in the middle for public acceptability but scored low for practical
feasibility and quality of supporting evidence.
Financial: the option scored highly against affordability, with total estimated costs for construction
considered to reach £2,477,600 for the OCC section(s).
Commercial: the option has scored low against flexibility.

P
age 690



Watlington
Option Assessment Report

Project Number: 60635885

Prepared for: Oxfordshire County Council AECOM
108

Page 691



This page is intentionally left blank



Division(s):   N/A 

 
CABINET – 21 SEPTEMBER 2021 

 

FORWARD PLAN AND FUTURE BUSINESS 
 

Items identified from the Forward Plan for Forthcoming Decision 
 

Cabinet, 19 October 2021 
 
Topic/Decision Portfolio/Ref 

 
 Review of the Oxfordshire Minerals & Waste Local 

Plan Part 1 - Core Strategy 

To accept the review of the Core Strategy Review. 
 

Cabinet, 
2021/083 - 

Cabinet Member 
for Climate 
Change Delivery 

& Environment 
 

 Minerals & Waste Development Scheme 

To seek approval of the Minerals and Waste Development 
Scheme. 
 

Cabinet, 

2021/154 - 
Cabinet Member 
for Climate 

Change Delivery 
& Environment 

 
 Local Transport and Connectivity Plan (LTCP) 

To seek agreement of the LTCP document and supporting 
strategies for public consultation. 

 

Cabinet, 
2021/101 - 
Cabinet Member 

for Highway 
Management 

 
 National Bus Strategy - Proposal for an Oxfordshire 

Bus Improvement Plan 

To seek approval of the BIP proposals. 

 

Cabinet, 
2021/072 - 
Cabinet Member 

for Highway 
Management 

 
 Capital Programme Monitoring Report - August 2021 

Financial Report on capital spending against budget allocations, 

including any necessary capital programme approvals. 
 

Cabinet, 
2021/078 - 

Cabinet Member 
for Finance 
 

 Oxfordshire's Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 

Strategy 

To seek approval of the final version of Oxfordshire’s 

Homelessness Strategy which, has been out for public 
consultation and amended as a result of the public’s feedback. 
 

Cabinet, 

2021/157 - 
Cabinet Member 

for Adult Social 
Care 

Page 693

Agenda Item 14



CA 
 

 
 Delegated Powers - August 2021 

To report on a quarterly basis any executive decisions taken 

under the specific powers and functions delegated under the 
terms of Part 7.1 (Scheme of Delegation to Officers) of the 
Council’s Constitution – Paragraph 6.3(c)(i).  It is not for 

Scrutiny call-in. 
 

Cabinet, 
2021/080 - 

Leader 

 Countywide 20mph Approach 

To seek approval of a new countywide 20mph policy and 
procedure. 

 

Cabinet, 

2021/135 - 
Cabinet Member 

for Highway 
Management 
 

 Business Management & Monitoring Report - August 

2021 

To note and seek agreement of the report. 

 

Cabinet, 

2021/079 - 
Cabinet Member 

for Finance 
 

 Budget & Business Planning Report - 2022/23 - 
October 2021 

To provide background and context to the budget and business 
planning process for 2022/23. 

 

Cabinet, 
2021/047 - 

Cabinet Member 
for Finance 

 
 

Cabinet Member for Highway Management, 14 October 2021 
 
Topic/Decision Portfolio/Ref 

 
 Oxford: Iffley Village - Proposed No Waiting at Any 

Time Restrictions 

To seek approval of the proposals. 
 

Cabinet Member 
for Highway 

Management, 
2021/115 
 

 Watlington: B480 Cuxham Road/B4009 Britwell Road 

- Proposed Bus Stop Clearway 

To seek approval of the proposals. 

 

Cabinet Member 

for Highway 
Management, 

2021/093 
 

 Use of Queen Street by Cargo Bikes 

To seek approval whether to allow cargo bikes to use Queen 
Street 24 hours a day on a permanent bases. 
 

Cabinet Member 

for Highway 
Management, 
2021/070 

 
 Long Wittenham: Didcot Road - Proposed 

Amendment to Traffic Calming Build Out 

To seek approval of the proposals. 
 

Cabinet Member 
for Highway 

Management, 
2021/043 
 

Page 694



CA 
 

 
 Ambrosden: Graven Hill - Proposed 20mph Speed 

Limit and Parking Places 

To seek approval of the proposals. 
 

Cabinet Member 
for Highway 

Management, 
2021/091 
 

 Aston Rowant Village - Proposed 20mph Speed Limit 

To seek approval of the proposals. 
 

Cabinet Member 
for Highway 
Management, 

2021/140 
 

 Benson: A4074 by Church Road - Proposed Toucan 

Crossing 

To seek approval of the proposals. 
 

Cabinet Member 

for Highway 
Management, 
2021/141 

 
 Barton Park Residential Development - Proposed 

20mph Speed Limit 

To seek approval of the proposals. 
 

Cabinet Member 
for Highway 

Management, 
2021/142 
 

 Oxford: Bourne Close - Proposed Waiting 

Restrictions 

To seek approval of the proposals. 

 

Cabinet Member 

for Highway 
Management, 

2021/149 
 

 Oxford: Pay and Display Parking Places 

To seek approval of the proposals. 
 

Cabinet Member 

for Highway 
Management, 
2021/150 

 
 Witney: Corn Street - Proposed Shared Use 

Footway/Cycletrack 

To seek approval of the proposals. 
 

Cabinet Member 
for Highway 

Management, 
2021/158 
 

 

Page 695



CA 
 

 

Corporate Director of Public Health & Wellbeing, 5 October 2021 
 
Topic/Decision Portfolio/Ref 

 

 Dynamic Approved Provider List (DAPL) Agreement 
for the Provision of Detoxification and/or 
Rehabilitation Services for Adults with Problematic 

Substance Use 

To seek approval for the procurement of a DAPL for the 

Provision of Detoxification and/or Rehabilitation Services for 
Adults with Problematic Substance Use from 1 May 2022 for a 
period of two years, with an option to extend for a further 2 

years, and to issue new Call-Off Contracts for the services 
within the DAPL for up to the same period. This is to replace the 

current Approved Provider List Framework for these services 
with expires on 30 April 2022.  
 

Corporate 
Director of Public 
Health & 

Wellbeing, 
2021/156 - 

Cabinet Member 
for Public Health 
& Equality 

Page 696


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes of Previous Meeting

	4 Questions from County Councillors
	6 Business Management & Monitoring Report - July 2021
	IC Bus Management  Monitoring July 2021
	APPENDIX 1 - CABINET REPORT
	Report by Corporate Director for Customers and Organisational Development and Director of Finance

	Executive Summary
	Introduction
	Progress towards delivery of Oxfordshire County Council’s Corporate Plan
	We listen to our diverse residents to ensure that we can continuously improve our services
	Performance highlights
	Areas for improvement
	 The 2021/22 budget includes planned directorate savings of £16.1m.  £12.1m or 75% are expected to be delivered by year end. £3.8m or 24% are rated amber and £0.2m or 1% are rated red. Directorates are working to ensure that these are achieved as pla...

	We tackle inequality, help people live safe & healthy lives & enable everyone to play an active part in their community
	Performance highlights
	Areas for improvement

	We provide services that enhance quality of life and we take action to reduce the impact of climate change & protect the local environment
	Performance highlights
	Areas for improvement

	We strive to give every child a good start in life and protect everyone from neglect
	Performance highlights
	Areas for improvement

	We enable older and disabled people to live independently and care for those in greatest need
	Performance highlights
	Areas for improvement

	We support a thriving & inclusive local economy that recovers strongly from the COVID crisis
	Performance highlights
	Areas for improvement
	 Participation in innovation funding bids or new projects in support of Living Oxfordshire achieved one new project against the target 2.5 projects per month. this month (HySPERT), which is the 8-month feasibility project funded by Innovate UK, in co...
	Financial Management


	Annex A - Performance July 21
	Table 1
	Table 2
	Table 3
	Table 4
	Table 5
	Table 6

	Annex B -  OCC Leadership Risk Reg July 21
	Annex C - Finance July 21
	Annex C post CEDR
	Annex C Tables post CEDR
	Annex C - 1
	Annex C - 1a
	Annex C - 1b
	Annex C - 1c
	Annex C - 1d
	Annex C - 1e
	Annex C - 1f
	Annex C - 2a - Childrens
	Annex C - 2a - Adults
	Annex C - 2a - PH 
	Annex C - 2a E&P
	Annex C - 2a CODR
	Annex C - 2a CDAI
	Annex C - 2b
	Annex C - 2c
	Annex C - 3
	Annex C - 4
	Annex C - 5


	CA_SEP2121R06 - Annex A - Performance July 21
	Table 1
	Table 2
	Table 3
	Table 4
	Table 5
	Table 6

	CA_SEP2121R06 - Annex B -  OCC Leadership Risk Reg July 21 (1)
	Blank Page

	CA_SEP2121R06 - Annex C - Summary of Financial Position July 21
	Annex C post CEDR
	Annex C Tables post CEDR
	Annex C - 1
	Annex C - 1a
	Annex C - 1b
	Annex C - 1c
	Annex C - 1d
	Annex C - 1e
	Annex C - 1f
	Annex C - 2a - Childrens
	Annex C - 2a - Adults
	Annex C - 2a - PH 
	Annex C - 2a E&P
	Annex C - 2a CODR
	Annex C - 2a CDAI
	Annex C - 2b
	Annex C - 2c
	Annex C - 3
	Annex C - 4
	Annex C - 5



	7 Workforce Report and Staffing Data - Quarter 1 - April - July 2021
	CA_SEP2121R07 - Appendix 1 Workforce Profile FINAL
	CA_SEP2121R07 - Appendix 2 Apprenticeship Note final

	8 Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Reg 18 (Stage 2) Consultation Response
	CA_SEP2121R08 - Annex 1 OX2050 - PLAN FULL TEXT V30
	CA_SEP2121R08 - Annex 2 Letter OP2050 consultation

	9 Community Risk Management Plan (CRMP) 2022-2026 - Public Consultation
	CA_SEP2121R09 - Annex 1 - Community Safety CRMP 2022-26
	Opening statements
	Community Safety Services Vision 2026
	Strategic Objectives
	Values and behaviours
	Oxfordshire
	Your Fire and Rescue Service
	Requirement of the Community Risk Management Plan
	Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS)
	Strategic priorities  
	Response
	Prevention
	Protection
	People and wellbeing
	How we will monitor our improvements and the level of risk


	10 Voluntary Sector Infrastructure Contract
	11 Oxfordshire Street Design Guide
	CA_SEP2121R11 - Annex 1 - Draft 05365 OCC Street Design Guide v4
	CA_SEP2121R11 - Annex 2 - Policy Hierarchy
	CA_SEP2121R11 - Annex 3 - Equality and Climate Impact Assessment
	CA_SEP2121R11 - Annex 4 - Summary of Stakeholder Engagement Approach
	CA_SEP2121R11 - Annex 5 - Summary of online consultation

	12 England's Economic Heartland (EEH) Governance - Endorsement to New Framework
	CA_SEP2121R12 - Annex 1_EEH Governance Framework July 2021
	CA_SEP2121R12 - Annex 2 Letter to Cllr Liz Leffman, Oxfordshire County Council

	13 Watlington Relief Road - Preferred Options and In Principle Use of Statutory Powers
	CA_SEP2121R13 - Annex A_OAR Amalgamated Consultation Response
	CA_SEP2121R13 - Annex B_Revised Alignment Plan
	Sheets and Views
	AECOM General


	CA_SEP2121R13 - Annex C_OAR Report

	14 Forward Plan and Future Business



